
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
UNIVERSITY OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

UDC RESOLUTION NO. 2024 -  03

SUBJECT: APPROVAL OF PROPOSED CONTRACT NO. GF-2023-C-0029 FOR PHASE 
I OF THE DESIGN-BUILD SERVICES FOR THE LAMOND-RIGGS 
COMMUNITY COLLEGE MODERNIZATION PROJECT BY AND 
BETWEEN SMOOT CONSTRUCTION COMPANY OF WASHINGTON, 
D.C. AND THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE UNIVERSITY OF THE
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA (“CONTRACT”)

WHEREAS, in accordance with the D.C. Official Code §38-1202.01(a)(8), the Board of Trustees 
(“Board”) is charged with the responsibility of governing the University of the District of 
Columbia (“University”) and possesses all of the powers necessary or convenient to make contracts 
and procure and contract for goods and services; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to 8B DCMR §3000.4, specific approval of the President is required for 
contracts totaling two hundred fifty thousand dollars ($250,000) or more; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to 8B DCMR §205.4(e), specific authorization of the Board is required for 
any commitment greater than one million dollars ($1,000,000) in a single fiscal year; and 

WHEREAS, in accordance with the D.C. Official Code §1-204.51(b)(1), approval of the Council 
of the District of Columbia (“Council”) is required for all contracts involving expenditures in excess 
of one million dollars ($1,000,000) during a 12-month period; and 

WHEREAS, Smoot Construction Company of Washington, D.C. and the University desire to 
enter into the proposed Contract for Phase I of the design-build services for the Lamond-Riggs 
Community College Modernization project, in the total amount of five million sixty thousand six 
hundred eighty-one dollars ($5,060,681.00) for the design and pre-construction phase (Phase I) of 
the project; and 

WHEREAS, the President has approved the Contract; and 

WHEREAS, the Board is satisfied that the Contract represents the proper culmination of the 
University’s procurement process and represents the best value to the University; and 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that, subject to the required approval of the Council, 
the Board of Trustees approves the Contract and each the President and the University’s Chief 
Contracting Officer are authorized to execute the Contract in substantially the form attached hereto 
as Attachment A. 

Smoot Construction Company of Washington, D.C. - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization Project 



BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
UNIVERSITY OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

UDC RESOLUTION NO. 2024 - 

Smoot Construction Company of Washington, D.C. - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization Project 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that as soon as practicable, the President is hereby directed to 
transmit the Contract to the Council for its approval. 

Submitted by the Operations Committee:   February 5, 2024 

Approved by the Board of Trustees:     February 6, 2024 

Christopher D. Bell 
Chairperson of the Board 



Legal Package 
GF-2023-R-0029, Design-Build-Services-Lamond-Riggs-Community- 

College-Modernization 

No. Table of Contents Pages 
1 Contract/Construction Contract 2 - 4 

1a Solicitation (entire copy, with attachments) 
Attachments 

5 – 53 
54 - 300 

1b Amendments to the Solicitation 301 - 309 
2 Certificate of Clean Hands 310 - 311 
3 First Source Agreement approval 312 - 313 
4 Office of Human Rights approval 314 - 315 

5 Business License 316 -317 

6 Performance & Payment Bonds 318 - 330 
7 SBE Subcontracting Plan 331 - 335 
8 Certificate of Liability Insurance 336 - 338 

9 Bidder Certification Form 339 - 346 
10 Living Wage Fact Sheet 347 - 349 

11 Living Wage Notice 350 - 351 
12 Wage Determination 352-361
13 The Contractor’s Proposal/Bid/Response to Solicitation 

(Original and/or Best and Final Offer) 
362 - 487 



1 

GOVERNMENT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
University of the District of Columbia 

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 

CONTRACT NO. 
GF-2023-C-0029 
DATE OF CONTRACT 

NAME AND ADDRESS OF CONTRACTOR 

Smoot Construction Company of Washington, D.C. 
3939 Wisconsin Avenue, NW 
2nd Floor 
Washington, DC 20016 

TYPE OF ORGANIZATION (“x”) 

 INDIVIDUAL  PARTNERSHIP 

JOINT VENTURE X CORPORATION 
STATE OF INCORPORATION 

Washington, DC 
CONTRACT FOR (work to be performed) 

Smoot Construction Company of Washington, D.C., hereinafter referred to as “the Contractor,” and The 
Board of Trustees for the University of the District of Columbia, hereinafter referred to as the “University,” 
mutually agree as follows: 

The University, in consideration of the proposal price in the amount of five million sixty thousand six 
hundred eighty-one dollars and zero cents ($5,060,681.00) for design and pre-construction services (Phase 
I), enters into this firm fixed price with a guaranteed maximum price (GMP) contract with Smoot 
Construction Company of Washington, D.C., for Design Build Services Lamond-Riggs Community College 
Modernization. 

The University, represented by the Office of Contracting and Procurement, in executing this contract, and the 
Contractor, mutually agree to perform this contract in strict accordance with this contract document, including 
the Solicitation (RFP No. GF-2023-R-0029), and the Contractor's proposal. These documents are 
incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof. 

The following addition to the contract is hereby stipulated and agreed to by the parties hereto: 

A. General Provisions

1. Time for Completion

Work shall commence on the date specified in a written Notice to Proceed to be issued by the Office of 
Contracting and Procurement and shall continue WITHOUT INTERRUPTION until completion and 
acceptance. The contract, which includes Phase I and Phase II (construction), shall be completed within 
seven hundred and sixty (760) calendar days after such notice. 

2. Occupant Access/Emergency Egress

The contractor shall perform all work in a manner that allows full access to adjoining academic spaces 
and emergency egress from the occupied administration offices and adjacent classrooms including 
but not limited to providing signage, striping, temporary ramps, temporary walls, temporary egress 
doors and barricades as needed to safely direct all occupants and visitors to and from the entrances 
and emergency exits. Access to the first floor may be temporarily routed to the nearest alternate 
entrance if required but emergency egress to all stairwells MUST be maintained to ensure the safety of 
the occupants. The contractor will provide access means as necessary to provide and maintain 
uninterrupted access to the building elevator. All work that requires temporary blocking of the egress 
paths or elevator area from access shall be completed during University off hours. To ensure 
compliance with the access/egress requirements, the contractor shall submit an access, egress plan as 



2 

part of the mandatory safety plan. The safety plan shall be submitted after award but at least 7 days 
prior to start of construction activities. Access to and use of elevators is restricted to personnel only 
during regular business hours. Elevators shall not be use for transport of materials from 8AM thru 
9:30PM on weekdays. University off-hours and weekend Elevator use for material delivery must be 
requested 48 hours in advance and shall be granted if it does not conflict with building occupants use 
schedule. ALL CONTRACTORS ARE TO DIRECT CONSTRUCTION TRAFFIC TO AVOID 
ALL ROUTES THROUGH ANY ADJACENT RESIDENTIAL NEIGHBORHOODS. 

3. Liquidated Damages

Partial acceptance shall not preclude LIQUIDATED DAMAGES for failure to complete the 
Contract within the required time limits established under TIME FOR COMPLETION in Section F.1. for 
each day after the phased completion date outlined in the period of performance, LIQUIDATED 
DAMAGES in the amount of $1,850.00 will be levied against the Contractor. This amount 
represents the cost associated with Project Management, Construction Management and Inspection. 

4. Living Wage Act

Effective January 1, 2024, until June 30, 2024, the living wage rate is $17.05 per hour. Effective July 1, 
2024, the District’s Minimum Wage and Living Wage will increase to $17.50. 

5. Labor Wage Determinations

All references to Wage Determination No. DC20230002 dated June 30, 2023, and Wage Determination 
DC20220002 dated September 30, 2022, shall be replaced with General Decision Number: DC20240002 
dated January 12, 2024. 

6. GMP Approval

The amount mutually agreed upon for the GMP shall be incorporated into a change order signed by the 
CCO, which shall be incorporated into the terms and provisions of this contract. The change order shall 
include additional documents as required by the CCO, which shall include the basis for the GMP and 
supporting documents including, but not limited to, updated insurance and payment and performance bonds. 

B. Order Of Precedence And Documents Incorporated By Reference

The following documents are hereby incorporated into and made a part of this Contract. Any 
inconsistency in this contract shall be resolved by giving precedence in the following order: 

1. Sections A and B of this contract;

2. RFP No. GF-2023-R-0029, all attachments and amendments;

3. Standard Contract Provisions (SCP) For Use with Specifications for the District of Columbia

Government Construction Projects, March 2011;

4. General Provisions Architect-Engineer Contracts, October 2018;

5. The Contractor’s Best and Final Offer (BAFO); and

6. The Contractor’s proposal.



3 

In witness whereof, the parties hereto have executed this Contract as of the date entered on the first page hereof. 

AWARD (The Contractor is not required to sign this document). Your proposal on this solicitation 
is hereby accepted. 

By 
Mary Ann Harris 
Chief Contracting Officer 
Office of Contracting and Procurement 

Rev. July 1986 86-p4005-2 wd-206 



Solicitation and Attachments



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

1 

1. Solicitation No. 

GF-2023-R-0029 

2. Type

[ ] Sealed Bid 
[ X] Sealed Proposal

3. Date
Issued 

7/17/2023 

Page 

1 of 48 

4. Contract Number 5. Requisition/Purchase Request No. 6. 
[] Open Market with set aside for SBE subcontracting (see 
Section M.1.6 

[ X] CBE Set-Aside (See B.2 & Sec. M) 
Mandatory 35% SBE subcontracting with Section M.2.5
and M.1.6

7. Issued By: 

University of the District of Columbia 
Office of Contracting and Procurement 
4200 Connecticut Avenue NW Bldg. 39 Suite 200C 
Washington, DC 20008 

8. Address Offer To:

Mary Ann Harris, Chief Contracting 
Officer c/o Michiko Gadson, Contract 
Specialist University of the District of 
Columbia Office of Contracting and 
Procurement 
4200 Connecticut Avenue NW Bldg. 39 Suite 200C 
Washington, DC 20008 

9.FOR 
INFORMATION 
CONTACT 

A. Name 

Michiko Gadson 

B Telephone 

202-274-5191 

C. E-Mail Address 

mgadson@udc.edu 

IMPORTANT – The “Offeror” Section of this form must be completed by the Offeror 
SOLICITATION 

NOTE: In sealed bid solicitations “offer” and Offeror” mean “bid” and bidder” 
10. Sealed offers in “original plus 6 copies to perform the work required shall be received at the place specified in item 8, or hand carried to the bid
counter located at address shown in item 8 not less than 2:00 p.m. local time on August 14, 2023.
11.The University requires performance of work described in strict accordance with the following:

DESCRIPTION SECTION PAGE
Solicitation Offer/Award Form A 1-2 
Schedule for Construction, Alterations, Repair, Price B 3-4 
Scope/Specifications/Drawings C 5-11
Packaging and Markings D 12 
Inspection and Acceptance E 13 
Deliveries and Performance F 14 
Contract Administration Data G 15-18 
Special Contract Requirements H 19-22 
Contract Clauses I 23-32 
List of Attachments J 33 
Representations, Certifications and Other Statements of Bidders K 34 
Instructions to Bidders L 35-43 
Evaluation Preference Points M 44-48 
Attachments J.1, J.2, J.3, J.4, J.5, J.6, J.7, J.8, J.9, J.10, J.11, J.12, J.13, J.14,  J.15. J.16, & J.17
12. The contractor shall begin performance on the date specified in the written [] Award [ X] NTP and complete all work in Wing A & B by Fall
2024, and in Wing C by January 2025 from the start date specified in NTP. This period of performance is [ x] Mandatory [] Negotiable.
13. The contractor SHALL furnish a bid bond with bid submission, and performance and payment bonds (Attachment J.11) within 10 calendar
days after receiving the UDC Notice of Intent to Award.

14. Additional Solicitation Considerations
A. All bids are subject to the work requirements, provisions and clauses incorporated in this solicitation in full text or by reference.
B. A BID GUARANTEE [ X] is required [] is not required.

PERFORMANCE AND PAYMENT BONDS are also required pursuant to Article 12 Sections A, B, and C of the Government of the District
of Columbia Standard Contract Provisions for use with Specifications for District of Columbia Government Construction Projects (Revised January
2007).

UNIVERSITY OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA OFFICE OF STRATEGIC SOURCING AND PROCUREMENT



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

2 

BID (MUST BE FULLY COMPLETED BY BIDDER PRIOR TO SUBMISSION TO UDC) 
15. Name, Company Name and Address of Bid or/Bidder
(with zip code)

16. Telephone No.
( ) 

18. Remittance Address (if
different than item 15)

17. E-mail address

19. The bid or/bidder agrees to perform the work required at the prices specified herein and according to the BID
SCHEDULE (Section B) and in strict accordance with the terms of this solicitation, if this bid/bid is accepted by the
University within  calendar days after the date bids/bids are due. 
20. The bid or/bidder agrees to furnish any required performance and payment bonds.

21. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF AMENDMENTS
The bid or/bidder acknowledges receipt of amendments to the solicitation (number and date each) See 
Section L.11 

Amendment 
Number 
Date 

22. Name and Title of Person authorized
to sign bid/bid (Type of Print)

22A. Signature 22B. Bid/Bid Date 

AWARD (To be completed by the University)
23. Amount 24. Accounting and Appropriations data

25. PAYMENT WILL BE MADE BY:
University of the District of 
Columbia Office of the 
Controller/Agency CFO 4200 
Connecticut Avenue, NW 
Washington, DC 20008 

26. Submit invoices as instructed in Section G of this
solicitation (Contract Administration Data)

CONTRACTING OFFICER WILL COMPLETE ITEM 27 OR 28 AS APPLICABLE
27. [] NEGOTIATED AGREEMENT (The Contractor is required to
sign this document and return copies to the issuing office. The
Contractor agrees to furnish and deliver all items or perform all work
requirements for the consideration stated in this contract. The rights
and obligations of the parties of this contract shall be governed by (a)
this contract award, (b) the solicitation, and (c) clauses, representations,
certifications, and specifications incorporated by reference in or
attached to this contract.

28. [] AWARD (The contractor is not required to sign
this document). Your bid on this solicitation is hereby
accepted. This award consummates the contract which
consists of (a) the solicitation and your bid, and (b) this
contract award. No further contractual document is
necessary.

29. Name and Title of Contractor of Person Authorized to sign (Type or
Print)

30. Name of CO (Type of Print)

29A. Signature 29B. Date 30A. Signature 30B. Date 

UNIVERSITY OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA OFFICE OF CONTRACTING AND PROCUREMENT 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

3 

SECTION B: SCHEDULE FOR CONSTRUCTION, ALTERATIONS, REPAIRS PRICE 

B.1 The University District of Columbia Office of Contracting and Procurement, on behalf of (the
“District”) is seeking a qualified Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College
Modernization Project.

B.2 The District contemplates award of competitive sealed contract as authorized by the District of Columbia
Procurement Practices Reform Act of 2010 (PPRA) Section 403 and the District of Columbia Municipal 
Regulations (DCMR) Title 8B Section 3017. 

B.3 [PRICE SCHEDULE] 

Contract Line 
Item No. 
(CLIN) 

ITEM DESCRIPTION Total Price 

B3.001 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College 
Modernization Project 

The Bidder’s Price Bid shall include a detailed breakdown in Sections B.6 of the total cost proposed 

B.4 PROJECT BUDGET AND FUNDING LIMITATIONS

Project Construction Cost Budget for 3 Wings = $24,456,179.00 

B.5 DESIGNATION OF SOLICITATION FOR THE OPEN MARKET\ WITH 35%
SUBCONTRACTING TO DSLBD CERTIFIED SMALL BUSINESS REQUIREMENT 

This RFP is designated only for certified small business enterprise (CBE) offerors under the provisions of 
the “Small and Certified Business Enterprise Development and Assistance Act of 2014”, D.C. Official Code 
§ 2-218.01 et seq., as amended.

An offeror responding to this solicitation that is required to subcontract shall be required to submit, with its 
proposal, any subcontracting plan required by law. Proposals responding to this RFP may be rejected if the 
offeror fails to submit a subcontracting plan that is required by law. 

Mandatory Subcontracting Plan and Requirements (Section H.9). 

The Contractor shall comply with the terms of the mandatory subcontracting requirements as 
follows: 

Unless the Director of the Department of Small and Local Business Development (DSLBD) has approved a waiver 
in writing in accordance with D.C. Official Code § 2-218.51, for all contracts in excess of $250,000, at least 35% 
of the dollar volume of the contract shall be subcontracted to qualified small business enterprises (SBEs). Bidders 
and their subcontractors may apply for DSLBD certification online by going to https://dslbd.dc.gov and 
selecting “Get Certified.” Questions about certification email should be directed to: cbe.info@dc.gov. 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

4 

B.6 PRICE BREAKDOWN FORM 

B.6.1 The bidder must complete this breakdown of prices and submit them with their bid. The “Total
Price” is the sum of all components. In case of any discrepancy in the total entered here, the lump sum price
in B.3.001 shall govern.

Anticipated Total Construction Costs
$24,456,179.00 

Mark‐ups Unit Calculated 
Cost 

General Conditions Ea. $0 
Design-Build Fee 0.00% $0.00 

Design Contingency 0.00% $0.00 
Construction Contingency 0.00% $0.00 

Total Escalation Allowance 0.00% $0.00 
P&P Bonds 0.00% $0.00 

Sub-Guard Insurance 0.00% $0.00 
Builder's Risk Insurance 0.00% $0.00 

Other 0.00% $0.00 
Other 0.00% $0.00 
Other 0.00% $0.00 

TOTAL PRICE CLIN 0001 $0.00 

Total Mark-up relative to current budgets and schedules:  $0 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

5 

SECTION C: SPECIFICATIONS/ STATEMENT OF WORK 

C.1 SCOPE OF WORK:

The University of the District of Columbia is issuing this request for proposal (RFP) to solicit design-build
proposals from offerors interested in serving as the design-builder for the modernization of The University of
The District of Columbia, Lamond-Riggs Community College located at 5171 South Dakota Ave NE,
Washington, DC 20017.

C.2 APPLICABLE DOCUMENTS

The following documents are applicable to this procurement and are hereby incorporated by 
this reference: 

Item No. Document Type Title Date 
1 Law District of Columbia Procurement Practices 

Reform Act 
2010 

2 Regulation District of Columbia Municipal Regulations Title 
8B Chapter 30 

3 Contract Clauses Government of the District of Columbia Standard 
Contract Provisions for Use with District of 
Columbia Government Construction Projects 
(Revised March 2011). 

March 2011 

4 Contract Clauses Government of the District of Columbia Standard 
Contract Provisions for Use with District of 
Columbia Government Construction Projects 
(Released October 2018). 

October 2018 

5 Wage 
Determination 

General Decision Number: DC20230002 
Superseded General Decision Number: 
DC2022002 

June 30, 2023 

6 Living Wage Act Effective July 1, 2023, the District’s Minimum 
Wage and Living Wage will increase to 
$17.00. 

July 1, 2023 

C.3 SCOPE OF SERVICES

The University of the District of Columbia (UNIVERSITY) anticipates awarding a design-build contract to the 
Offeror whose proposal is advantageous to the university pursuant to the evaluation and award criteria set forth in 
Sections ‘L’ and ‘M’ of this RFP. The project includes preconstruction, full design, and construction services for 
approximately 119,029 square feet of facilities for university use to include making necessary exterior 
improvements, interior fit-out, and building system upgrades to support the programming efforts and sustainability 
requirements for the University. The Design-Builder shall provide all labor, materials, equipment, swing space 
accommodations, and supervision for the complete design, renovation, and modernization to provide operational 
buildings in accordance with all applicable laws, permits, codes, and standards for educational facilities in the 
District of Columbia.  The work will include obtaining all necessary regulatory approvals, testing, commissioning, 
and facility training as required by the scope of work. In addition, some of the wings will remain occupied during 
construction (further defined in Section 2), and any necessary swing space will need to be taken into consideration 
and reflected in the price as appropriate. The project is located on the University’s Lamond-Riggs Campus in 
Northeast Washington, DC. The following description of the work pertains. 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

6 

1. PROJECT IDENTIFICATION

1.1. Wing A – Floors 1-3, with a combined total of approximately 40,284 gross square feet.
1.2. Wing B – Floors 1-3 with a combined total of approximately 39,052 gross square feet.
1.3. Wing C – Floors 2-3, with a combined total of approximately 39,693 gross square feet.

2. SCOPE OF WORK

2.1. Scope Summary. Design-Builder shall provide a “turnkey” project, including design, all
necessary equipment, materials, manufacturing, and installation services for the modernization and
renovation of all three buildings based on the scope defined below.

This project shall meet all requirements of this Scope of Work, and other specifications included that
apply. Design-Builder is expected to submit a comprehensive proposal, allowing for obtaining all
necessary permits, including but not limited to permits required by the District of Columbia and
associated regulatory agencies, and shall pay all taxes and regulatory fees, including interconnecting
processing costs. In addition, their price shall include all costs associated with investigatory services
required for work, including but not limited to an Asbestos Containing Materials (ACM) analysis.

This project requires design and construction sustainability adherence for LEED certification for all
facilities as required by DCRA. This must be included in the Design-Builder’s proposal.

3. GENERAL PERFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS

3.1. General. The Design-Builder shall perform all professional services as necessary to provide the
University with a complete design and construction package, including the requirements outlined in this
Scope of Work. The Design-Builder shall install the project such that it is operational and compliant
with all applicable standards, building codes, and District of Columbia (State) requirements.

The University envisions a highly collaborative design/build delivery approach for this project. The
expectation is that the Design-Builder will meet with the stakeholders weekly to provide progress
updates and review stakeholder comments to ensure the delivery of a project that meets the expectations
and needs of the University. The meetings will keep all parties apprised of the design progress/status
and impending activities. Minutes for all meetings will be recorded by the Design-Builder and
distributed to all parties within 48 hours of the conclusion of the meeting.

3.2. Safety Plan. The Design-Builder shall submit for acceptance by the Capital Planning and
Construction Project Manager a Safety Plan detailing the potential hazards that will be encountered

Wings Scope Final 
Completion 

Design-to-
Budget 
(Construction) 

Total Space 
(sqft) 

A B Wings A & B to include minimal interior Fit out to support 
programming needs, MEP replacement, access control 
augmentation, new elevator, PV ready roof replacement, 
and efficient lighting. Programming will consist of offices, 
classrooms, labs, and student lounge.  

Fall  2024 TBD 79,336 

C Interior Fit out to support programming needs, structural 
remediation, MEP replacement, IT Infrastructure, access 
control, roof replacement, window replacement, and façade 
remediation. Programming will consist of offices, 
classrooms, gymnasium, and labs. Swing space to support 
programming shifts in occupied wings A & B (offices, 
classrooms, labs, etc.).  

Beginning 
2025 

TBD 39,693 

Total $24,456,179 119,029 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

7 

 

 

during the execution of the work for this specific project and how the Design-Builder intends to prevent 
accidents or injuries that might result from those hazards. Include in the Safety Plan an emergency 
response plan indicating the steps that the Design-Builder will take in the event of an emergency or 
accident on the job site. Include emergency contact numbers and the person on the job site designated 
by the Design-Builder as the Site Safety Representative. The Design-Builder shall conduct “toolbox” 
safety meetings with the entire work crew at the project site. The safety meetings shall be documented 
(by attendance and topic) in the Design-Builder’s daily logs. 

 
3.3. Communications Plan. The Design-Builder shall direct all questions and requests from building 
occupants and users as well as local community interests to the University. 

 
The Design-Builder shall not release any oral, written or graphic information regarding this project to 
outside sources without obtaining prior consent from the University. All requests for information 
concerning the project shall be referred to the University. 

 
3.4. Schedule. The Design-Builder shall be responsible for the development and maintenance of the 
project schedule. The initial project schedule shall be submitted to and approved by the University after 
award; subsequent schedule updates must conform to the initially approved milestones and durations. 
The Design- Builder shall provide monthly schedule updates, showing progress on and completion of 
all required design stage services and construction stage work. The Design-Builder shall immediately 
notify the University of any anticipated delay in the performance of the work. 

 
3.5. Budget Reporting. The Design-Builder shall provide a complete schedule of values that includes 
a cost breakdown of each component of this project. The schedule of values shall show separate labor, 
material, equipment, and overhead costs. The Design-Builder shall update the construction schedules 
monthly prior to each payment request and provide an advance copy of the construction progress report. 
The Design-Builder shall provide documentation evidencing the cost of work performed (including 
updated certified payrolls) to be included in the payment request. 

 
Before submitting each payment request, the Design-Builder shall meet with the University to review 
an advance copy of the payment request. The Design-Builder shall ensure that the University agrees to 
the progress of the construction work and the value of the work completed. 

 
Based upon the agreed value of work completed, the Design-Builder shall submit monthly payment requests. 

 
3.6. Contract Documents. The Design-Builder shall maintain onsite the working record drawings of 
all changes/deviations from the original design including but not limited to RFIs and ASIs. In addition, 
a record copy of all approved submittals and shop drawings must always reside in physical form onsite. 
Notations on 
record drawings shall be made in erasable red pencil or other color to correspond to different changes or 
categories of work. Marked-up drawings shall always be maintained at the Design-Builder’s on-site 
location, available for the University to review. Record drawings shall note related change order 
designations on impacted work. When shop drawings indicate significant variations over design 
drawings, shop drawings may be incorporated as part of record drawings. 

 
3.7. Code Compliance. All design, construction and equipment shall comply with all applicable 
building, mechanical, fire, seismic, structural, and electrical codes. 

 
3.8. Sustainable Construction. The Design-Builder shall use project components that are or are 
made of materials that are recyclable, contain recycled materials, and that are EPA or Energy Star rated 
if they are available on the market. 

 
3.9. Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) Formation. 

 
3.9.1. General. The Design Build Agreement will be a cost-plus fixed fee with a GMP type 
contract, with the fee to be negotiated and agreed upon prior to contract execution. The GMP is 
not required to be submitted with Design-Builder’s proposals and will be developed later in the 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

8 

 

 

project based on the 50% Construction Documents. 
 
 

3.9.2. GMP Submission. The Design-Builder shall submit a GMP to the University based on 
the trade bids and include the following elements: 

 
• A list of drawings, specifications, addenda, general, supplementary, and other conditions on 

which the GMP is based. 
• Assumptions and clarifications made in preparing the GMP Proposal, noting any exclusions. 

The assumptions and clarifications shall take precedence over the drawings and specifications. 
The Design-Builder shall prepare a separate memorandum that highlights any differences 
between the then approved drawings and the modifications made in the assumptions and 
clarifications. Such memorandum shall specifically address any changes in the Project 
aesthetics, functionality, or performance. 

• The proposed GMP, including a statement of the detailed cost estimate organized by trade 
categories, allowances, contingency, and other items and the fees that comprise the GMP. 

• An update to the Project’s schedule to which the Design-Builder will agree to be bound. This 
update shall be prepared in the same level of detail and in the same manner as the Baseline 
Schedule, and without any change, to the Substantial and Final Completion Dates unless 
approved by the University. 

• The GMP may include an agreed-upon sum as the Design-Builder’s Contingency and the 
University’s Contingency, each of which shall be identified as a separate line item in the GMP's 
Schedule of Values. 

 
3.9.3. GMP Approval. The University and Design-Builder shall meet to negotiate the terms 

of the proposed GMP. In the event that both parties are unable to agree upon the GMP or the 
schedule for the Project, the University shall have the right to terminate the Agreement and 
assume any trade subcontracts held by the Design-Builder. In such an event, the Design-Builder 
shall only be entitled to Fifty percent (50%) of the Preconstruction Fee. 

 
3.10. Roles and Responsibilities. 

 
3.10.1. The Design-Builder is required to provide services, materials and labor required to 
deliver a complete project, including but not limited to: 

 
• Submittals for materials and products 
• Construction materials, equipment, and labor 
• Design and construction supervision / contract management 
• Quality Control Plan (QCP) 
• Safety plan 
• Inspections and tests (per QCP) 
• Manuals (design calculations, operation/maintenance, shop drawing, etc.) 
• Commissioning of project 
• Training University building facilities management staff for operations, and maintenance 
• LEED Certification as Required by DCRA 

 
3.10.2. The University will: 

• Review for design intent and material selection, any design submittals and the QCP 
• Make progress payments for payment requests as approved. 

 
4. DESIGN REQUIREMENTS 

 
4.1. Drawings. 30% Bridging Documents covering buildings # 39, #44, and $71 will be provided 
which the Design-Builder will be required to base their 50%, 85%, and 100% Construction Documents 
on. The Design- Builder shall provide the University with 50% and 100% Construction Documents. All 
Construction Documents and engineering calculations must be signed and sealed by a licensed architect 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

9 

 

 

or engineering firm. The drawings must indicate the proposed scope of work, and any approved alterations. 
In addition, drawings must include code compliance and regulatory information, as well as stakeholder 
information. All drawings shall be submitted with dimensions shown in English units. 

 
 

4.2. Design Information. Provide a narrative explaining your underlying philosophy and approach 
to the design and provide examples of how this philosophy was implemented on other projects. Provide 
a narrative regarding the project opportunities to achieve LEED Certification as required by DCRA. All 
products shall comply with the technical requirements accompanying this RFP. 

 
4.3. Design Reviews. For each design / drawing submission, the University reserves the right to make 
comments and request changes after the receipt of the submission. Reviews will be made by the 
University. As part of its review, the University may offer submission reviews to local code officials. 
The University shall provide review comments within ten (10) business days of receipt. 

 
The University will review the Design-Builder design submissions to verify adherence to contract 
requirements. Design reviews by the University are not to be interpreted as resulting in an approval, only 
for conformance to project goals and planning. The Design-Builder shall remain completely responsible 
for designing, constructing, operating, and maintaining the project in accordance with the requirements 
of this Scope of Work. 

 
4.4. Resolution of Comments. The Design-Builder shall respond to all design review comments in 
writing, indicating one of the following: (1) adoption and action taken, (2) adoption with modifications 
and action taken, (3) alternative resolution and action taken, or (4) rejection. In cases other than qualified 
adoption, the Design- Builder shall provide a statement as to why the reviewer's comment is 
inappropriate. If the Design-Builder believes that any of the University design comments or requested 
changes will result in a change in the contract cost, they shall notify the University within seven calendar 
days of receiving the comment(s) and provide a detailed cost estimate of anticipated contract 
modifications. Rejection items shall not go forward to the construction phase until adequate resolution 
to the rejected item has been approved by the University. Design review comments shall not relieve the 
Design-Builder from compliance with terms and conditions of the contract. The Design-Builder's 
comment resolution shall be transmitted to the University within seven (7) calendar days of comment 
receipt and incorporate discussions from the scheduled design comment review meetings. 

 

4.5. Submittals. The Design-Builder shall submit shop drawings, product data, catalog cuts, etc. as 
stipulated for approval by the architect and engineer. The Design-Builder shall combine all submittals 
into hard copy for reference and kept onsite during all phases of construction. 

 
4.6. Reviews. The University reserves the right to review all submittals. Submittal reviews by the 
University are not to be interpreted as an approval of the Design-Builder's work. The Design-Builder 
shall remain completely responsible for construction in accordance with all contract performance 
requirements. 

 
5. Quality Control 

 
5.1. Content. For each performance and installation requirement, the Quality Control Plan (QCP) 
shall identify item/system to be tested, exact test(s) to be performed, measured parameters, 
inspection/testing organization, and the stage of construction development when tests are to be 
performed. Each inspection/test shall be included in the overall construction schedule. The Design-
Builder is not relieved from required performance tests should these not be included in the plan. All 
systems proposed under this RFP must conform to industry best practices and the requirements set forth 
in this Scope of Work. Each offeror must demonstrate how their proposal will meet these technical 
requirements, and its pricing must be based on these specifications. 

 
The QCP is intended to document those inspections and tests necessary to assure the University that 
product delivery, quality and performance are as required. It also serves as an inspection coordination  



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

10 

 

 

 
tool between the Design-Builder and the University. An example of these inspections/tests is the final 
test/inspection for overall performance compliance of the system. Results from tests and inspections shall 
be submitted within 24 hours of performing the tests and inspections. Performance tests will be conducted 
at the final commissioning/acceptance testing, and one year after the acceptance date. 

 
5.2. Submission. The QCP shall be prepared and submitted within 21 calendar days of the post 
award conference meeting and prior to any construction on-site. The QCP may be rejected as 
incomplete and returned for resubmission if there is any performance, condition or operating test that 
is not covered therein. 

 
5.3. Updating. During construction, the Design-Builder shall update QCP if any changes are 
necessary due to any changes or schedule constraints. the University shall be notified immediately of 
any schedule and/or procedural changes. 

 
6. INSPECTIONS AND TESTS 

 
6.1. General. The Design-Builder shall perform inspections and tests throughout the construction 
process, including existing conditions/needs assessments, construction installation 
placement/qualification measurements and final inspections/tests performance certification. Periodic 
“quality” inspections shall also be conducted to support progress payments as identified in the Design-
Builder’s QCP. 

 
6.2. Final Inspections and Tests. To ensure compliance with local code, an inspection by a licensed, 
DCRA approved inspector is mandatory during and after construction is complete. Unless otherwise 
identified, manufacturer recommendations shall be followed for all inspection and test procedures. 
Provide qualifications of the proposed third-party inspector for review and approval prior to conducting 
any inspections. A representative of the University shall be present for system startups and 
commissioning; however, their attendance is not required for DCRA inspections. 

 
6.3. Documentation. Inspections/tests required in the QCP shall result in a written record of 
data/observations. The Design-Builder shall provide a copy of documents containing all test 
reports/findings. Test results shall typically include item/system tested, location, date of test, test 
parameters/measured data, state of construction completion, operating mode, Design-Builder 
inspector, test equipment description and measurement technique. 

 

7. PROJECT CLOSEOUT 
 

7.1. General. The Design-Builder shall complete all applicable paperwork pertaining to LEED 
registration, satisfy all permitting and inspection closeout requirements, and produce a complete 
turnover package (as-built drawings, specifications, warranty, operation and maintenance manuals, 
training videos). The Design-Builder shall provide the industry standard warranties consistent with the 
design. 

 
7.2. As-Built Drawings and Specifications. The Design-Builder shall provide "as-built drawings" 
and documents based upon actual site installation. Should the University determine that variations exist 
between finished construction and the as-built drawings, the Design-Builder shall correct the drawings 
to the satisfaction of the University. 

 
The Design-Builder shall submit three (3) hard copies and three (3) USB devices containing the “as-
built” drawings and specifications as CAD, PDF, and WORD files. 

 
7.3. Warranties. Submit specific warranties and guarantees, final certifications and similar 
documents to the University upon substantial completion and prior to final payment. Include copies 
with the operations and maintenance manual. All warranties shall be signed by a principal of the 
Design-Builder’s firm and sealed if a corporation. 

 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

11 

 

 

7.4. Operation and Maintenance Manuals. Provide a detailed operation and maintenance manual 
including diagram of system components, description of normal operation; description of operational 
indicators and normal status of each, table of modes of operation, safety considerations, preventative 
maintenance requirements, troubleshooting and corrective actions; sources of spare parts and cut sheets 
for all components. The Design-Builder shall prepare four (3) tabbed & ring bound hardcopies and four 
(3) USB devices containing the detailed Maintenance Manual. Submit to the University. 

 
7.5. Demonstration and Training. Provide the University with one (1) training session per system 
for designated personnel in the operation of the systems constructed as requested by the University. 
Instruct the designated University personnel in the operation and maintenance of all applicable systems. 
Provide the University with individually written instructions and procedures for shutdown and start-up 
activities for all  

 
components of the system. The Design-Builder shall video record these trainings for official use and 
provide all recordings as part of the close-out package. All recording shall be of sufficient and of high 
enough quality to determine the instructor’s voice, and visually determine details of the instructions. In 
addition, instruction shall be in sufficient enough detail to explain all aspects of the system’s function so 
that the recording can be used as a future tutorial by the University staff. The University shall have up to 
6 months from substantial completion to complete all training sessions. 

  



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

12 

 

 

 
SECTION D: PACKAGING AND MARKING 

 
 

D.1 MATERIAL DELIVERY, HANDLING AND STORAGE: 
 

D.1.1 The Contractor shall deliver materials and equipment in the original, properly labeled, 
unbroken packages, containers, cartridges or bundles and in such quantities and such ample 
time that progress of work will not be delayed. 

 
D.1.2 The Contractor shall protect materials and products against any damage or deterioration 

during transit to the site, unloading, delivering and storing at site, installation or erection, 
and during period between installation or erection and final acceptance by the University, 
that shall include, but not limited to: 

 
D.1.2.1 Minimum exposure to weather during delivery. 

 
D.1.2.2 Storage off ground in dry, well-ventilated spaces. 

 
D.1.2.3 Covering, as necessary, for adequate protection from 

soiling and wetting. 
 

D.1.3 The Contractor shall provide storage methods that will facilitate inspection and testing 
before and during the use as follows: 

 
D.1.3.1 Space for storage of materials and equipment will be approved 

by the University’s Inspector. 
 

D.1.3.2 The Contractor shall not occupy more space at the site than is necessary for 
proper execution of the work. 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

13 

SECTION E: INSPECTION AND ACCEPTANCE 

E.1 The inspection and acceptance requirements for this contract shall be governed by clause number eleven (11),
Inspection and Acceptance of the Government of the District of Columbia's Standard Contract Provisions for use 
with Specifications for District of Columbia Construction Projects (Revised March 2011). 

In addition, the acceptance criteria for different parts of the work, described in other sections of this RFP and the 
University’s Specifications and Drawings shall apply. 

E.2 PARTIAL ACCEPTANCE:

E.2.1 The Contract Administrator (CA) may, at his/her option, accept part of the work under the contract
in writing prior to the CA’s final acceptance of all the work under 
the contract, when the CA considers it beneficial to the University. 

E.2.2 Partial acceptance shall not preclude LIQUIDATED DAMAGES for failure to complete the
contract within the required time limits established under TIME FOR COMPLETION in Section F.1. For
each day after the phased completion date outlined in the period of performance, LIQUIDATED
DAMAGES in the amount of $1,850.00 will be levied against the General Contractor. This amount
represents the cost associated with Project Management, Construction Management and Inspection.

Liquidated Damages 
Liquidated damages for the “Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization” 
project will be assessed as follows: 

Item Item Rate Amount 
Project Manger 2 $125.00 $250.00 
Construction Manger 8 $105.00 $840.00 
Project Inspector 8 $ 95.00 $760.00 
Total $1,850.00 

E.3 FINAL INSPECTION:

E.3.1 The Contractor shall give the CA written notice at least fourteen (14) days in advance of date on which the
project will be 100% complete and ready for final inspection. Prior to final inspection date, the Contractor 
shall verify in writing that in the Contractor’s best judgment no deficiencies exist. 

E.3.2 The Contractor, CA and District Inspector shall jointly prepare a Punch List of deficiencies found on final
inspection that does not prevent the building or area(s) within the building from being occupied. The 
Contractor shall correct the deficiencies within (14) days after the building or area(s) within the building has 
been occupied and submit to the CA a report of the corrections as a condition of final acceptance. 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

14 

 

 

 
SECTION F: PERIOD OF PERFORMANCE AND DELIVERABLES 

 
F.1 TERM OF CONTRACT 

 
   Each Offeror shall provide a schedule as part of their Design-Build approach to meet the required final 

completion dates in Section 2.1 Appendix “A”. This schedule will include any necessary swing space 
     moves, construction workflows, and necessary phasing.  

Projects scope summary and required project final completion: 
 

Wing Scope Final Completion 

A & B Wings A & B to include minimal interior Fit out 
to support programming needs, MEP 
replacement, access control augmentation, 
new elevator, PV ready roof replacement, and 
efficient lighting. Programming will consist of 
offices, classrooms, labs, and student lounge. 

Fall 2024 

C Interior Fit out to support programming needs, 
structural remediation, MEP replacement, IT 
Infrastructure, access control, roof 
replacement, window replacement, and 
façade remediation. Programming will consist 
of offices, classrooms, gymnasium, and labs. 
Swing space to support programming shifts in 
occupied wings A & B. 

January 2025 

 
F.2 DELIVERABLES 

 
The Contractor shall perform the activities required to successfully complete the University’s 
requirements and submit each deliverable to the Contract Administrator (CA) as scheduled by the CA. 

 
F.2.1 The Contractor shall submit to the University, as a deliverable, the report described in section 

H.5.5 that is required by the 51% District Residents New Hires Requirements and First Source 
Employment Agreement. If the Contractor does not submit the report as part of the deliverables, 
final payment to the Contractor shall not be paid pursuant to section G.3.2. 

 
F.2.2 The Contractor shall prepare and submit to the CA, as a deliverable, the summary of progress 

payment breakdown form, progress payment request form and schedule of values form. 
 

F.2.2 The contractor shall submit to the Contract Administrator a complete list of all samples, catalogue 
cuts and shop drawings within 10 days of notice to proceed (ntp). 

 
F.2.3 The contractor shall submit all the schedules and reports for approval to the CA. 

 
F.2.4  Prior to final acceptance of the project, the contractor shall submit to the Contract Administrator 

three (3) copies of operation manuals or instruction manuals for each piece of equipment, 
mechanical or electrical system. 

 
F.2.5 The contractor shall submit to the university, as a deliverable, the report described in section 

H.5 of this contract that is required by the 51% district residents’ new hires requirement and first 
source employment agreement. If the contractor does not submit the report as part of the deliverables, 
final payment to the contractor may not be paid. 

 
F.2.6 After final inspection, the contractor shall provide a punch list and report of corrections as specified 

in section E.3.2. 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

15 

SECTION G: CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION 

G.1 INVOICE PAYMENT

G.1.1 The University shall make payments to the Contractor, upon the submission of proper 
invoices, at the prices stipulated in this contract, for supplies delivered and accepted or 
services performed and accepted, less any discounts, allowances or adjustments provided 
for in this contract. 

G.1.2 The University shall pay the Contractor on or before the 30th day after receiving a proper
invoice from the Contractor. 

G.2 INVOICE SUBMITTAL

G.2.1 The Contractor shall submit proper invoices on a monthly basis or as otherwise specified 
in Section G.4. Invoices shall be prepared in duplicate and submitted to the agency Chief Financial 
Officer with concurrent copies to the CA specified in Section G.9 below. The address of the CFO 
is: 

University of the District of Columbia Office of 
the Controller/Agency CFO 
4200 Connecticut Avenue NW Bldg. 39 Suite 200B 
Washington, DC 20008 
202-274-5488

G.2.2 To constitute a proper invoice, the Contractor shall submit the following information 
on the invoice: 

G.2.2.1 Contractor’s name, federal tax ID and invoice date (date invoices as of the date of
mailing or transmittal); 

G.2.2.2 Contract number and invoice number;

G.2.2.3 Description, price, quantity and the date(s) that the supplies or services were
delivered or performed; 

G.2.2.4 Other supporting documentation or information, as required by the Contracting
Officer; 

G.2.2.5 Name, title, telephone number and complete mailing address of the responsible
official to whom payment is to be sent; 

G.2.2.6 Name, title, phone number of people preparing the invoice;

G.2.2.7 Name, title, phone number and mailing address of person (if different from the person 
identified in G.2.2.6 above) to be notified in the event of a defective invoice; and 

G.2.2.8 Authorized signature. 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

16 

G.3 FIRST SOURCE AGREEMENT REQUEST FOR FINAL PAYMENT

G.3.1 For contracts subject to the 51% District Residents New Hires Requirements and First 
Source Employment Agreement requirements, final request for payment must be 
accompanied by the report or a waiver of compliance discussed in section H.5.5. 

G.3.2 The University shall not make final payment to the Contractor until the agency CFO has 
received the CO’s final determination or approval of waiver of the Contractor’s compliance 
with 51% District Residents New Hires Requirements and First Source Employment 
Agreement requirements. 

G.4 ASSIGNMENT OF CONTRACT PAYMENTS 

G.4.1 The Contractor may assign to a bank, trust company, or other financing institution funds 
due or to become due as a result of the performance of this contract. 

G.4.2 Any assignment shall cover all unpaid amounts payable under this contract and shall not 
be made to more than one party. 

G.4.3 Notwithstanding an assignment of contract payments, the Contractor, not the assignee, is 
required to prepare invoices. Where such an assignment has been made, the original copy 
of the invoice must refer to the assignment and must show that payment of the invoice is 
to be made directly to the assignee as follows: 

G.5 THE QUICK PAYMENT CLAUSE

G.5.1 Interest Penalties to Contractors 

G.5.1.1 The University will pay interest penalties on amounts due to the Contractor under the
Quick Payment Act, D.C. Official Code §2-221.01 et seq., for the period beginning on the day after
the required payment date and ending on the date on which payment of the amount is made. Interest
shall be calculated at the rate of 1% per month. No interest penalty shall be paid if payment for the
completed delivery of the item of property or service is made on or before:

a) the 3rd day after the required payment date for meat or a meat product;
b) the 5th day after the required payment date for an agricultural commodity; or
c) the 15th day after the required payment date for any other item.

G.5.1.2 Any amount of an interest penalty which remains unpaid at the end of any 30- day
period shall be added to the principal amount of the debt and thereafter interest penalties 
shall accrue on the added amount. 

G.5.2 Payments to Subcontractors 

G.5.2.1 The Contractor must take one of the following actions within seven (7) days of receipt
of any amount paid to the Contractor by the University for work performed by any 
subcontractor under this contract: 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

17 

 

 

 
a) Pay the subcontractor for the proportionate share of the total payment received from the 

University that is attributable to the subcontractor for work performed under the contract; or 
 

b) Notify the University and the subcontractor, in writing, of the Contractor’s intention to 
withhold all or part of the subcontractor’s payment and state the reason for the nonpayment. 

 
G.5.2.2 The Contractor must pay any subcontractor or supplier interest penalties on amounts due to the 

subcontractor or supplier beginning on the day after the payment is due and ending on the date 
on which the payment is made. Interest shall be calculated at the rate of 1% per month. No 
interest penalty shall be paid on the following if payment for the completed delivery of the 
item of property or service is made on or before: 

 
a) the 3rd day after the required payment date for meat or a meat product; 
b) the 5th day after the required payment date for an agricultural commodity; or 

c) the 15th day after the required payment date for any other item. 
 

G.5.2.3 Any amount of an interest penalty which remains unpaid by the Contractor at the end of any 
30-day period shall be added to the principal amount of the debt to the subcontractor and 
thereafter interest penalties shall accrue on the added amount. 

 
G.5.2.4 A dispute between the Contractor and subcontractor relating to the amounts or entitlement of 

a subcontractor to a payment or a late payment interest penalty under the Quick Payment Act 
does not constitute a dispute to which the District of Columbia is a party. The District of 
Columbia may not be interpleaded in any judicial or administrative proceeding involving such 
a dispute. 

 
G.5.3 Subcontract requirements 

 
G.5.3.1 The Contractor shall include in each subcontract under this contract a provision  requiring the 

subcontractor to include in its contract with any lower-tier subcontractor or supplier the payment 
and interest clauses required under paragraphs (1) and (2) of D.C. Official Code § 2- 221.02(d). 

 
G.6 CONTRACTING OFFICER (CO) 

 
Contracts will be entered into and signed on behalf of the University only by contracting officers. The 
contact information for the Contracting Officer is: 

 
Mary Ann Harris/Eddie Whitaker Office of 
Contracting and Procurement 
4200 Connecticut Avenue NW Suite Bldg. 39 Suite 200C Washington, 
DC 20008 
Telephone: 202-274-5181 

 
G.7 AUTHORIZED CHANGES BY THE CONTRACTING OFFICER 

 
G.7.1 The CO is the only person authorized to approve changes in any of the requirements of this 

contract. 
G.7.2 The Contractor shall not comply with any order, directive or request that changes or 

modifies the requirements of this contract, unless issued in writing and signed by the CO. 
 

G.7.3 In the event the Contractor effects any change at the instruction or request of any person 
other than the CO, the change will be considered to have been made without authority and 
no adjustment will be made in the contract price to cover any cost increase incurred as a 
result thereof. 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

18 

 

 

 
G.8 CONTRACT ADMINSTRATOR (CA) 

 
G.8.1 The CA is responsible for general administration of the contract and advising the CO as to 

the Contractor’s compliance or noncompliance with the contract. The CA has the 
responsibility of ensuring the work conforms to the requirements of the contract and such 
other responsibilities and authorities as may be specified in the contract. These include: 

 
G.8.1.1 Keeping the CO fully informed of any technical or contractual difficulties encountered 

during  the performance period and advising the CO of any potential problem areas under 
the contract; 

 
G.8.1.2 Coordinating site entry for Contractor personnel, if applicable; 

 
G.8.1.3  Reviewing invoices for completed work and recommending approval by the CO if the 

Contractor’s costs are consistent with the negotiated amounts and progress is satisfactory 
and commensurate with the rate of expenditure; 

 
G.8.1.4  Reviewing and approving invoices for deliverables to ensure receipt of goods and services. 

This includes the timely processing of invoices and vouchers in accordance with the 
District’s payment provisions; and 

 
G.8.1.5  Maintaining a file that includes all contract correspondence, modifications, records of 

inspections (site, data, equipment) and invoice or vouchers. 
 

G.8.2 The address and telephone number of the CA shall be provided to the awarded contractor. 
 

G.8.3 The CA shall NOT have the authority to: 
 

1. Award, agree to, or sign any contract, delivery order or task order. Only the CO shall make 
contractual agreements, commitments or modifications; 

2. Grant deviations from or waive any of the terms and conditions of the contract; 
3. Increase the dollar limit of the contract or authorize work beyond the dollar limit of the 

contract, 
4. Authorize the expenditure of funds by the Contractor; 
5. Change the period of performance; or 
6. Authorize the use of University property, except as specified under the contract. 

 
G.8.4 The Contractor will be fully responsible for any changes not authorized in advance, in 

writing, by the CO; may be denied compensation or other relief for any additional work performed 
that is not so authorized; and may also be required, at no additional cost to the University, to take 
all corrective action necessitated by reason of the unauthorized changes. 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

19 

 

 

 
 

SECTION H: SPECIAL CONTRACT REQUIREMENTS 
 

H.1 HIRING OF DISTRICT RESIDENTS AS APPRENTICES AND TRAINEES 
 

H.1.1 For all new employment resulting from this contract or subcontracts hereto, as defined in Mayor’s Order 83-265 
and implementing instructions, the Contractor shall use its best efforts to comply with the following basic goal and 
objectives for utilization of bona fide residents of the District of Columbia in each project’s labor force: 

 
H.1.1.1 At least fifty-one (51) percent of apprentices and trainees employed shall be residents of the District 
of Columbia registered in programs approved by the District of Columbia Apprenticeship Council. 

H.1.2 The Contractor shall negotiate an Employment Agreement with the Department of Employment Services (DOES) 
for jobs created as a result of this contract. The DOES shall be the Contractor’s first source of referral for qualified 
apprentices and trainees in the implementation of employment goals contained in this clause. 

H.2 DEPARTMENT OF LABOR WAGE DETERMINATIONS 
 

The Contractor shall be bound by the DC20220002, dated 09/30/2022 Superseded General Decision Number: 
DC20210002 issued by the U.S. Department of Labor in accordance with the Davis Bacon Act, and incorporated 
herein as Section J.2. The Contractor shall be bound by the wage rates for the term of the contract subject to revision 
as stated herein and in accordance with Article 1of the SCP. 

 
H.3 PREGNANT WORKERS FAIRNESS 

H.3.1 The Contractor shall comply with the Protecting Pregnant Workers Fairness Act of 2016, D.C. Official Code § 32-
1231.01 et seq. (PPWF Act). 

 
H.3.2 The Contractor shall not: 

 
(a) Refuse to make reasonable accommodations to the known limitations related to pregnancy, childbirth, 
related medical conditions, or breastfeeding for an employee, unless the Contractor can demonstrate that 
the accommodation would impose an undue hardship; 

 
(b) Take an adverse action against an employee who requests or uses a reasonable accommodation in regard to 
the employee's conditions or privileges of employment, including failing to reinstate the employee when the 
need for reasonable accommodations ceases to the employee's original job or to an equivalent position with 
equivalent: 

 
(1) Pay; 
(2) Accumulated seniority and retirement; 
(3) Benefits; and 
(4) Other applicable service credits; 

 
(c) Deny employment opportunities to an employee, or a job applicant, if the denial is based on the need 
of the employer to make reasonable accommodations to the known limitations related to pregnancy, 
childbirth, related medical conditions, or breastfeeding; 

 
(d) Require an employee affected by pregnancy, childbirth, related medical conditions, or breastfeeding 
to accept an accommodation that the employee chooses not to accept if the employee does not have a known 
limitation related to pregnancy, childbirth, related medical conditions, or breastfeeding or the accommodation 
is not necessary for the employee to perform her duties; 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

20 

 

 

 
 

(e) Require an employee to take leave if a reasonable accommodation can be provided; or 
 

(f) Take adverse action against an employee who has been absent from work as a result of a pregnancy- related 
condition, including a pre-birth complication. 

 
H.3.3 The Contractor shall post and maintain in a conspicuous place a notice of rights in both English and Spanish and 

provide written notice of an employee's right to a needed reasonable accommodation related to pregnancy, 
childbirth, related medical conditions, or breastfeeding pursuant to the PPWF Act to: 

 
(a) New employees at the commencement of employment; 

 
(b) Existing employees; and 

 
(c) An employee who notifies the employer of her pregnancy, or other condition covered by the PPWF Act, 
within 10 days of the notification. 

 
H.3.4 The Contractor shall provide an accurate written translation of the notice of rights to any non-English or non- 

Spanish speaking employee. 
 

H.3.5 Violations of the PPWF Act shall be subject to civil penalties as described in the Act. 
 

H.4 UNEMPLOYED ANTI-DISCRIMINATION 
 

H.4.1 The Contractor shall comply with the Unemployed Anti-Discrimination Act of 2012, D.C. Official Code 
§ 32-1361 et seq. 

 
H.4.2 The Contractor shall not: 

 
(a) Fail or refuse to consider for employment, or fail or refuse to hire, an individual as an employee because 

of the individual's status as unemployed; or 
 

(b) Publish, in print, on the Internet, or in any other medium, an advertisement or announcement for any vacancy 
in a job for employment that includes: 

 
(1) Any provision stating or indicating that an individual's status as unemployed disqualifies the 
individual for the job; or 

 
(2) Any provision stating or indicating that an employment agency will not consider or hire an 
individual for employment based on that individual's status as unemployed. 

 
H.4.3 Violations of the Unemployed Anti-Discrimination Act shall be subject to civil penalties as described in the Act. 

 
H.5  51% DISTRICT RESIDENTS NEW HIRES REQUIREMENTS AND FIRST SOURCE 

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 
H.5.1 For contracts for services in the amount of $300,000 or more, the Contractor shall comply with the First Source 

Employment Agreement Act of 1984, as amended, D.C. Official Code § 2-219.01 et seq. (First Source Act). 
 

H.5.2 The Contractor shall enter into and maintain during the term of the contract, a First Source Employment Agreement 
(Employment Agreement) with the District of Columbia Department of Employment Service’s (DOES), in which 
the Contractor shall agree that: 

 
(a) The first source for finding employees to fill all jobs created in order to perform the contract shall be the 

First Source Register; and 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

21 

 

 

 
(b) The first source for finding employees to fill any vacancy occurring in all jobs covered by the Employment 

Agreement shall be the First Source Register. 

H.5.3 The Contractor shall not begin performance of the contract until its Employment Agreement has been accepted 
by DOES. Once approved, the Employment Agreement shall not be amended except with the approval of DOES. 

H.5.4 The Contractor agrees that at least 51% of the new employees hired to perform the contract shall be District 
residents. 

H.5.5 The Contractor’s hiring and reporting requirements under the First Source Act and any rules promulgated 
thereunder shall continue for the term of the contract. 

H.5.6 The CO may impose penalties, including monetary fines of 5% of the total amount of the direct and indirect labor 
costs of the contract, for a willful breach of the Employment Agreement, failure to submit the required hiring 
compliance reports, or deliberate submission of falsified data. 

 
H.5.7 If the Contractor does not receive a good faith waiver, the CO may also impose an additional penalty equal to 1/8 

of 1% of the total amount of the direct and indirect labor costs of the contract for each percentage by which the 
Contractor fails to meet its hiring requirements. 

 
H.5.8 Any contractor which violates, more than once within a 10-year timeframe, the hiring or reporting requirements of 

the First Source Act shall be referred for debarment for not more than five (5) years. 
 

H.5.9 The contractor may appeal any decision of the CO pursuant to this clause to the D.C. Contract Appeals Board as 
provided in Article 7 after following Title 8B DCMR Section 3066. 

 
H.5.10 The provisions of the First Source Act do not apply to nonprofit organizations which employ 50 employees or less. 

 
H.6 RESERVED 

 
H.7 RESERVED 

 
H.8 RESERVED 

 
H.9 SUBCONTRACTING REQUIREMENTS 

 
H.9.1 Mandatory Subcontracting Requirements 

 
H.9.1.1 For all contracts in excess of $250,000, at least 35% of the dollar volume of the contract shall be 

subcontracted to qualified small business enterprises (SBEs). 
 

H.9.1.2 If there are insufficient SBEs to completely fulfill the requirement of paragraph H.9.1.1, then the subcontracting 
may be satisfied by subcontracting 35% of the dollar volume to any qualified certified business enterprises 
(CBEs); provided, however, that all reasonable efforts shall be made to ensure that SBEs are significant 
participants in the overall subcontracting work. 

 
H.9.1.3 A prime contractor that is certified by DSLBD as a small, local or disadvantaged business enterprise shall not be 

required to comply with the provisions of sections H.9.1.1 and H.9.1.2. 
 

H.9.1.4 Except as provided in H.9.1.5 and H.9.1.7, a prime contractor that is a CBE and has been granted a bid preference 
pursuant to D.C. Official Code § 2-218.43, or is selected through a set-aside program, shall perform at least 35% 
of the contracting effort with its own organization and resources and, if it subcontracts, 35% of the subcontracting 
effort shall be with CBEs. A CBE prime contractor that performs less than 35% of the contracting effort shall 
be subject to enforcement actions under D.C. Official Code § 2-218.63. 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

22 

 

 

 

H.9.1.5 A prime contractor that is a certified joint venture and has been granted a bid preference pursuant to 
D.C. Official Code § 2-218.43, or is selected through a set-aside program, shall perform at least 50% of the 
contracting effort with its own organization and resources and, if it subcontracts, 35% of the subcontracting 
effort shall be with CBEs. A certified joint venture prime contractor that performs less than 50% of the 
contracting effort shall be subject to enforcement actions under D.C. Official Code § 2-218.63. 

 
H.9.1.6 Each CBE utilized to meet these subcontracting requirements shall perform at least 35% of its contracting effort 

with its own organization and resources. 
 

H.9.1.7 A prime contractor that is a CBE and has been granted a bid preference pursuant to D.C. Official Code 
§ 2-218.43, or is selected through a set-aside program, shall perform at least 50% of the on-site work with its 
own organization and resources if the contract is $1 million or less. 

 
H.10 FAIR CRIMINAL RECORD SCREENING 

 
H.10.1 The Contractor shall comply with the provisions of the Fair Criminal Record Screening Amendment Act of 

2014, effective December 17, 2014 (D.C. Law 20-152) (the “Act” as used in this section). This section applies 
to any employment, including employment on a temporary or contractual basis, where the physical location of 
the employment is in whole or substantial part within the District of Columbia. 

 
H.10.2 Prior to making a conditional bid of employment, the Contractor shall not require an applicant for employment, 

or a person who has requested consideration for employment by the Contractor, to reveal or disclose an arrest 
or criminal accusation that is not then pending or did not result in a criminal conviction. 

 
H.10.3 After making a conditional bid of employment, the Contractor may require an applicant to disclose or reveal a 

criminal conviction. 
 

H.10.4 The Contractor may only withdraw a conditional bid of employment, or take adverse action against an applicant, 
for a legitimate business reason as described in the Act. 

 
H.10.5 This section and the provisions of the Act shall not apply: 

 
(a) Where a federal or District law or regulation requires the consideration of an applicant’s 
criminal history for the purposes of employment; 

 
(b) To a position designated by the employer as part of a federal or District government program or 
obligation that is designed to encourage the employment of those with criminal histories; 

 
(c) To any facility or employer that provides programs, services, or direct care to, children, youth, or 
vulnerable adults; or 

 
(d) To employers that employ less than 11 employees. 

 
H.10.6 A person claiming to be aggrieved by a violation of the Act may file an administrative complaint with the 

District of Columbia Office of Human Rights, and the Commission on Human Rights may impose monetary 
penalties against the Contractor. 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

23 

SECTION I: CONTRACT CLAUSES 

I.1 APPLICABILITY OF STANDARD CONTRACT PROVISIONS 

The Government of the District of Columbia Standard Contract Provisions for use with 
Specifications for District of Columbia Government Construction Projects Revised March 2011 
(“SCP”) are incorporated as part of the contract. 

I.2 CONTRACTS THAT CROSS FISCAL YEARS 

Continuation of this contract beyond the current fiscal year is contingent upon future fiscal 
appropriations. 

I.3 CONFIDENTIALITY OF INFORMATION 

The Contractor shall keep all information relating to any employee or customer of the University 
in absolute confidence and shall not use the information in connection with any other matters; nor 
shall it disclose any such information to any other person, firm or corporation, in accordance 
with the District and federal laws governing the confidentiality of records. 

I.4 TIME 

Time, if stated in a number of days, will include Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays, unless 
otherwise stated herein. 

I.5 RIGHTS IN DATA 

A. Definitions

1. “Products” - A deliverable under any contract that may include commodities, services and/or
technology furnished by or through Contractor, including existing and custom Products, such as,
but not limited to: a) recorded information, regardless of form or the media on which it may be
recorded; b) document research; c) experimental, developmental, or engineering work;
d) licensed software; e) components of the hardware environment; f) printed materials (including
but not limited to training manuals, system and user documentation, reports, drawings); g) third
party software; h) modifications, customizations, custom programs, program listings,
programming tools, data, modules, components; and i) any intellectual property embodied
therein, whether in tangible or intangible form, including but not limited to utilities, interfaces,
templates, subroutines, algorithms, formulas, source code, and object code.

2. “Existing Products” - Tangible Products and intangible licensed Products that exist prior to
the commencement of work under the contract. Existing Products must be identified on the
Product prior to commencement of work or else will be presumed to be Custom Products.

3. “Custom Products” - Products, preliminary, final or otherwise, which are created or
developed by Contractor, its subcontractors, partners, employees, resellers or agents for the
University under the contract.

4. “District” – The District of Columbia and its agencies.



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

24 

 

 

 
B. Title to Project Deliverables 

 
The Contractor acknowledges that it is commissioned by the University to perform services detailed 
in the contract. The University shall have ownership and rights for the duration set forth in the 
contract to use, copy, modify, distribute, or adapt Products as follows: 

 
1. Existing Products: Title to all Existing Licensed Product(s), whether or not embedded in, 
delivered or operating in conjunction with hardware or Custom Products, shall remain with 
Contractor or third party proprietary owner, who retains all rights, title and interest (including patent, 
trademark or copyrights). Effective upon payment, the University shall be granted an irrevocable, 
non-exclusive, worldwide, paid-up license to use, execute, reproduce, display, perform, adapt 
(unless Contractor advises the University as part of Contractor’s proposal that adaptation will violate 
existing agreements or statutes and Contractor demonstrates such to the University’s satisfaction), 
and distribute Existing Product to University users up to the license capacity stated in the contract 
with all license rights necessary to fully effect the general business purpose of the project or work 
plan or contract. Licenses shall be granted in the name of the University. The University agrees to 
reproduce the copyright notice and any other legend of ownership on any copies authorized under 
this paragraph. 

 
2. Custom Products: Effective upon Product creation, Contractor hereby conveys, assigns, and 
transfers to the University the sole and exclusive rights, title and interest in Custom Product(s), 
whether preliminary, final or otherwise, including all patents, trademark and copyrights. Contractor 
hereby agrees to take all necessary and appropriate steps to ensure that the Custom Products are 
protected against unauthorized copying, reproduction and marketing by or through Contractor. 

 
C. Transfers or Assignments of Existing or Custom Products by the University 

 
The University may transfer or assign Existing or Custom Products and the licenses thereunder to 
another University agency. Nothing herein shall preclude the Contractor from otherwise using the 
related or underlying general knowledge, skills, ideas, concepts, techniques and experience 
developed under a project or work plan in the course of Contractor’s business. 

 
D. Subcontractor Rights 

 
Whenever any data, including computer software, are to be obtained from a subcontractor under the 
contract, the Contractor shall use this clause, Rights in Data, in the subcontract, without alteration, 
and no other clause shall be used to enlarge or diminish the University’s or the Contractor’s rights 
in that subcontractor data or computer software which is required for the University. 

 
E. Source Code Escrow 

1. For all computer software furnished to the University with the rights specified in section B.2, the 
Contractor shall furnish to the University, a copy of the source code with such rights of the scope as 
specified in section B.2 of this clause. For all computer software furnished to the University with the 
restricted rights specified in section B.1 of this clause, the University, if the Contractor either directly 
or through a successor or affiliate shall cease to provide the maintenance or warranty services 
provided the University under the contract or any paid-up maintenance agreement, or if the 
Contractor should be declared insolvent by a court of competent jurisdiction, shall have the right to 
obtain, for its own and sole use only, a single copy of the current version of the source code supplied 
under the contract, and a single copy of the documentation associated therewith, upon payment to 
the person in control of the source code the reasonable cost of making each copy. 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

25 

 

 

 
 

2. If the Contractor or Product manufacturer/developer of software furnished to the University with 
the rights specified in section B.1 of this clause proposals the source code or source code escrow to 
any other commercial customers, the Contractor shall either: (1) provide the University with the 
source code for the Product; (2) place the source code in a third-party escrow arrangement with a 
designated 

 
escrow agent who shall be named and identified to the University, and who shall be directed to 
release the deposited source code in accordance with a standard escrow arrangement acceptable to 
the University; or (3) will certify to the University that the Product manufacturer/ developer has 
named the University as a named beneficiary of an established escrow arrangement with its 
designated escrow agent who shall be named and identified to the University, and who shall be 
directed to release the deposited source code in accordance with the terms of escrow. 

 
3. The Contractor shall update the source code, as well as any corrections or enhancements to the 
source code, for each new release of the Product in the same manner as provided above and certify 
such updating of escrow to the University in writing. 

 
F. Indemnification and Limitation of Liability 

 
The Contractor shall indemnify and save and hold harmless the University, its officers, agents and 
employees acting within the scope of their official duties against any liability, including costs and 
expenses, (i) for violation of proprietary rights, copyrights, or rights of privacy, arising out of the 
publication, translation, reproduction, delivery, performance, use or disposition of any data furnished 
under this contract, or (ii) based upon any data furnished under this contract, or based upon libelous 
or other unlawful matter contained in such data. 

 
I.6 OTHER CONTRACTORS 

 
The Contractor shall not commit or permit any act that will interfere with the performance of work by 
another University contractor or by any University employee. 

 
I.7 SUBCONTRACTS 

 
The Contractor hereunder shall not subcontract any of the Contractor’s work or services to any 
subcontractor without the prior written consent of the CO. Any work or service so subcontracted shall 
be performed pursuant to a subcontract agreement, which the University will have the right to review 
and approve prior to its execution by the Contractor. Any such Subcontract shall specify that the 
Contractor and the subcontractor shall be subject to every provision of this contract. 

 
Notwithstanding any such subcontract approved by the University, the Contractor shall remain liable 
to the University for all Contractor's work and services required hereunder. 

 

I.8 INSURANCE 
 

A.  GENERAL REQUIREMENTS. The Contractor at its sole expense shall procure and maintain, during the 
entire period of performance under the Contract, the types of insurance specified below. The Contractor shall 
have its insurance broker or insurance company submit a Certificate of Insurance to the CO giving evidence of 
the required coverage prior to commencing performance under the Contract. In no event shall any work be 
performed until the required Certificates of Insurance signed by an authorized representative of the insurer(s) 
have been provided to, and accepted by, the CO. All insurance shall be written with financially responsible 
companies authorized to do business in the District of Columbia or in the jurisdiction where the work is to be 
performed and have an A.M. Best Company rating of A- / VII or higher. Should the Contractor decide to engage 
a subcontractor for segments of the work under the Contract and wish to propose different insurance requirements 
than outlined below, then, prior to commencement of work by the subcontractor, the Contractor shall submit in 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

26 

 

 

writing the name and brief description of work to be performed by the subcontractor to the UDC Office of Risk 
Management (ORM) who will determine the insurance requirements applicable to the subcontractor and 
promptly deliver such requirements in writing to the Contractor and the CA. The Contractor must provide proof 
of the subcontractor's required insurance prior to commencement of work by the subcontractor. If the Contractor 
decides to engage a subcontractor without such approval, such subcontractor shall have the same insurance 
requirements as the Contractor. 

 
All required policies shall contain a waiver of subrogation provision in favor of the Government of the District 
of Columbia and the University. 

 
The Government of the District of Columbia and the University shall be included in all policies required 
hereunder to be maintained by the Contractor and its subcontractors (except for workers’ compensation and 
professional liability insurance) as an additional insureds for claims against The Government of the District of 
Columbia (“District”) or the University relating to the Contract, with the understanding that any affirmative 
obligation imposed upon the insured Contractor or its subcontractors (including without limitation the liability 
to pay premiums) shall be the sole obligation of the Contractor or its subcontractors, and not the additional 
insured. The additional insured status under the Contractor’s and its subcontractors’ Commercial General 
Liability insurance policies shall be affected using the ISO Additional Insured Endorsement form CG 20 10 11 
85 (or CG 20 10 07 04 and CG 20 37 07 04) or such other endorsement or combination of endorsements 
providing coverage at least as broad and approved by the CO in writing. All of the Contractor’s and its 
subcontractors’ liability policies (except for workers’ compensation and professional liability insurance) shall be 
endorsed using ISO form CG 20 01 04 13 or its equivalent so as to indicate that such policies provide primary 
coverage (without any right of contribution by any other insurance, reinsurance or self-insurance, including any 
deductible or retention, maintained by an Additional Insured) for all claims against the additional insured arising 
out of the performance of this Statement of Work by the Contractor or its subcontractors, or anyone for whom 
the Contractor or its subcontractors may be liable. These policies shall include a separation of insureds clause 
applicable to the additional insured. 

 
If the Contractor and/or its subcontractors maintain broader coverage and/or higher limits than the minimums 
shown below, the District and University require and shall be entitled to the broader coverage and/or the higher 
limits maintained by the Contractor and subcontractors. 

 
1. Commercial General Liability Insurance (“CGL”) - The Contractor shall provide evidence satisfactory to the 

CO with respect to the services performed that it carries a CGL policy, written on an occurrence (not claims- 
made) basis, on Insurance Services Office, Inc. (“ISO”) form CG 00 01 04 13 (or another occurrence-based 
form with coverage at least as broad and approved by the CO in writing), covering liability for all ongoing 
and completed operations of the Contractor, including ongoing and completed operations under all 
subcontracts, and covering claims for bodily injury, including without limitation sickness, disease or death 
of any persons, injury to or destruction of property, including loss of use resulting therefrom, personal and 
advertising injury, and including coverage for liability arising out of an the Contract (including the tort 
liability of another assumed in a contract) and acts of terrorism (whether caused by a foreign or domestic 
source). Such coverage shall have limits of liability of not less than $1,000,000 each occurrence, a $2,000,000 
general aggregate (including a per location or per project aggregate limit endorsement, if applicable) limit, 
a $1,000,000 personal and advertising injury limit, and a 
$2,000,000 products-completed operations aggregate limit including explosion, collapse and underground 
hazards. 

 
The Contractor should be named as an additional insured on the applicable manufacturer’s/distributer’s 
Commercial General Liability policy using Insurance Services Office, Inc. (“ISO”) form CG 20 15 04 13 (or 
another occurrence-based form with coverage at least as broad). 

 
The University should collect, review for accuracy and maintain all warranties for goods and services. 

 
2. Automobile Liability Insurance - The Contractor shall provide evidence satisfactory to the CO of commercial 

(business) automobile liability insurance written on ISO form CA 00 01 10 13 (or another form with coverage 
at least as broad and approved by the CO in writing) including coverage for all owned, hired, borrowed and 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

27 

 

 

non-owned vehicles and equipment used by the Contractor, with minimum per accident limits equal to the 
greater of (i) the limits set forth in the Contractor’s commercial automobile liability policy or (ii) $1,000,000 
per occurrence combined single limit for bodily injury and property damage. Form CA 99 48 03 06 Pollution 
Liability - Broadened Coverage for Covered Autos - Business Auto, Motor Carrier and Truckers must be 
endorsed onto the policy 

 
3. Workers’ Compensation Insurance - The Contractor shall provide evidence satisfactory to the CO of 

Workers’ Compensation insurance in accordance with the statutory mandates of the District of Columbia or 
the jurisdiction in which the Contract is performed. 

 
Employer’s Liability Insurance - The Contractor shall provide evidence satisfactory to the CO of employer’s 
liability insurance as follows: $500,000 per accident for injury; $500,000 per employee for disease; and 
$500,000 for policy disease limit. 

 
All insurance required by this subsection shall include a waiver of subrogation endorsement for the benefit 
of Government of the District of Columbia and the University. 

 
4. Crime Insurance (3rd Party Indemnity) - The Contractor shall provide a Crime policy including 3rd party 

fidelity to cover the dishonest acts of Contractors, its employees and/or volunteers which result in a loss to 
the District or the University. The Government of the District of Columbia and University shall be included 
as loss payees. The policy shall provide a limit of $10,000 per occurrence. 

 
5. Cyber Liability Insurance - The Contractor shall provide evidence satisfactory to the CO of Cyber Liability 

Insurance, with limits not less than $2,000,000 per occurrence or claim, $2,000,000 aggregate. Coverage 
shall be sufficiently broad to respond to the duties and obligations as is undertaken by Contractor in this 
solicitation and in the Contract and shall include, but not limited to, claims involving infringement of 
intellectual property, including but not limited to infringement of copyright, trademark, trade dress, invasion 
of privacy violations, information theft, damage to or destruction of electronic information, release of 
private information, alteration of electronic information, extortion and network security. The policy 
shall provide coverage for breach response costs as well as regulatory fines and penalties as well as credit 
monitoring expenses with limits sufficient to respond to these obligations. Limits may not be shared with 
other lines of coverage. A copy of the cyber liability policy must be submitted to the University ORM for 
compliance review. 

 
6. Environmental Liability/Contractors Pollution Liability Insurance - The Contractor shall provide evidence 

satisfactory to the CO of environmental liability insurance covering losses caused by pollution or other 
hazardous conditions arising from ongoing or completed operations of the Contractor. Such insurance shall 
apply to bodily injury, property damage (including loss of use of damaged property or of property that has 
been physically injured), clean-up costs, transit and non- owned disposal sites. Coverage shall extend to 
defense costs and expenses incurred in the investigation, civil fines, penalties and damages or settlements. 
There shall be neither an exclusion nor a sublimit for mold or fungus-related claims. The minimum limits 
required under this paragraph shall be equal to the greater of (i) the limits set forth in the Contractor’s 
pollution liability policy or (ii) $2,000,000 per occurrence and $2,000,000 in the annual aggregate. If 
such coverage is written on a claims-made basis, the Contractor warrants that any retroactive date applicable 
to coverages under the policy precedes the Contractor’s performance of any work under the Contract and 
that continuous completed operations coverage will be maintained for at least ten (10) years or an extended 
reporting period shall be purchased for no less than ten 
(10) years after completion. 

 
The Contractor also must furnish to CO certificates of insurance evidencing environmental liability insurance 
maintained by third party transportation and disposal site operators(s) used by the Contractor for losses 
arising from facility(ies) accepting, storing or disposing hazardous materials or other waste as a result of the 
Contractor’s operations. Such coverages must be maintained with limits of at least the amounts set forth 
above. 

 
7. Employment Practices Liability - The Contractor shall provide evidence satisfactory to the CO with respect 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

28 

 

 

to the operations performed to cover the defense of claims arising from employment related wrongful acts 
including but not limited to: Discrimination, Sexual Harassment, Wrongful Termination, Workplace Torts, 
"Bullying" in "any location" and "by any means," including the Internet, whether between employees of 
Contractor or against third parties. Employment Practices Liability coverage must specifically state Third 
Party Liability coverage is included. Contractor will indemnify and defend the District of Columbia and the 
University should one or both be named co- defendant or be subject to or party of any claim. Coverage shall 
also extend to temporary help firms and independent contractors hired by Contractor. The policy shall 
provide limits of not less than 
$1,000,000 for each wrongful act and $2,000,000 annual aggregate for each wrongful act. 

 
8. Installation-Floater Insurance - For projects not involving structural alterations, the Contractor shall provide 

an installation floater policy with a limit equal to the property values being installed as part of the project. 
The policy shall cover property while located at the project site, at temporary locations, or in transit; 
deductibles will be the sole responsibility of the Contractor. 

 
9. Professional Liability Insurance (Errors & Omissions) - The Contractor shall provide Professional Liability 

Insurance (Errors and Omissions) to cover liability resulting from any error or omission in the performance 
of professional services under the Contract. The policy shall provide limits of 
$1,000,000 per claim or per occurrence for each wrongful act and $2,000,000 annual aggregate. The 
Contractor warrants that any applicable retroactive date precedes the date the Contractor first performed any 
professional services for the University and that continuous coverage will be maintained or an extended 
reporting period will be exercised for a period of at least ten years after the completion of the professional 
services. Limits may not be shared with other lines of coverage. 

10. Sexual/Physical Abuse & Molestation - The Contractor shall provide evidence satisfactory to the CO with 
respect to the services performed that it carries $1,000,000 per occurrence limits; $2,000,000 aggregate of 
affirmative abuse and molestation liability coverage. Coverage should include physical abuse, such as sexual 
or other bodily harm and non-physical abuse, such as verbal, emotional or mental abuse; any actual, 
threatened or alleged act; errors, omission or misconduct. This insurance requirement will be considered 
met if the general liability insurance includes an affirmative sexual abuse and molestation endorsement for 
the required amounts. So called “silent” coverage or “shared” limits under a commercial general liability or 
professional liability policy will not be acceptable. Limits may not be shared with other lines of coverage. 
The applicable policy may need to be submitted to the University ORM for compliance review. 

 
11. Commercial Umbrella or Excess Liability - The Contractor shall provide evidence satisfactory to the CO of 

commercial umbrella or excess liability insurance with minimum limits equal to the greater of 
(i) the limits set forth in the Contractor’s umbrella or excess liability policy or (ii) $10,000,000 per occurrence 
and $10,000,000 in the annual aggregate, following the form and in excess of all liability policies. All liability 
coverages must be scheduled under the umbrella and/or excess policy. The insurance required under this 
paragraph shall be written in a form that annually reinstates all requiredlimits. Coverage shall be primary to 
any insurance, self-insurance or reinsurance maintained by the District and the University and the “other 
insurance” provision must be amended in accordance with this requirement and principles of vertical 
exhaustion. 

 
B. PRIMARY AND NONCONTRIBUTORY INSURANCE 

The insurance required herein shall be primary to and will not seek contribution from any other insurance, reinsurance 
or self-insurance including any deductible or retention. 

 
C. DURATION. The Contractor shall carry all required insurance until all Contract work is accepted by the 

University and shall carry listed coverages for ten years for construction projects following final acceptance of 
the work performed under the Contract and two years for non-construction related contracts. 

 
D. LIABILITY. These are the required minimum insurance requirements. However, the required minimum 

insurance requirements provided above will not in any way limit the Contractor’s liability under the Contract. 
 

E. CONTRACTOR’S PROPERTY. Contractor and subcontractors are solely responsible for any loss or damage 
to their personal property, including but not limited to tools and equipment, scaffolding and temporary structures, 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

29 

 

 

rented machinery, or owned and leased equipment. A waiver of subrogation shall apply in favor of the District 
of Columbia and the University. 

 
F. MEASURE OF PAYMENT. The University shall not make any separate measure or payment for the cost of 

insurance and bonds. The Contractor shall include all of the costs of insurance and bonds in the contract price. 
 

G. NOTIFICATION.  The Contractor shall ensure that all policies provide that the CO shall be given thirty 
(30) days prior written notice in the event of coverage and / or limit changes or if the policy is canceled prior to 
the expiration date shown on the certificate. The Contractor shall provide the CO with ten (10) days prior written 
notice in the event of non-payment of premium. The Contractor will also provide the CO with an updated 
Certificate of Insurance should its insurance coverages renew during the Contract. 

H. CERTIFICATES OF INSURANCE. The Contractor shall submit certificates of insurance giving evidence of 
the required coverage as specified in this section prior to commencing work. Certificates of insurance must 
reference the corresponding contract number. Evidence of insurance shall be submitted to: 

 
The University of the District of Columbia And mailed to the attention of: 

Eddie Whitaker 
Contracting Officer 
University of the District of Columbia 
4200 Connecticut Avenue, NW Building 
39, Suite 200C 
Washington, DC 20008 
(202) 274-5181 
Email to: Michiko Gadson at mgadson@udc.edu 

 

The CO may request and the Contractor shall promptly deliver updated certificates of insurance, endorsements 
indicating the required coverages, and/or certified copies of the insurance policies. If the insurance initially 
obtained by the Contractor expires prior to completion of the Contract, renewal certificates of insurance and 
additional insured and other endorsements shall be furnished to the CO prior to the date of expiration of all such 
initial insurance. For all coverage required to be maintained after completion, an additional certificate of 
insurance evidencing such coverage shall be submitted to the CO on an annual basis as the coverage is renewed 
(or replaced). 

 
I. DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION. The Contractor agrees that the District or University may disclose the 

name and contact information of its insurers to any third party which presents a claim against the District or the 
University for any damages or claims resulting from or arising out of work performed by the Contractor, its 
agents, employees, servants or subcontractors in the performance of the Contract. 

 
J. CARRIER RATINGS. All Contractor’s and its subcontractors’ insurance required in connection with the 

Contract shall be written by insurance companies with an A.M. Best Insurance Guide rating of at least A- VII 
(or the equivalent by any other rating agency) and licensed in the District. 

 
I.9 EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY 

 
In accordance with the District of Columbia Administrative Issuance System, Mayor’s Order 85-85 dated 
June 10, 1985, the forms for completion of the Equal Employment Opportunity Information Report are 
incorporated herein as Section J.3. An award cannot be made to any offer who has not satisfied the equal 
employment requirements. 

 
I.10 ORDER OF PRECEDENCE 

The contract awarded as a result of this RFP will contain the following clause: 
 

A conflict in language shall be resolved by giving precedence to the document in the highest order of priority 
that contains language addressing the issue in question. The following documents are incorporated into the 
contract by reference and made a part of the contract in the following order of precedence: 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

30 

(1) An applicable Court Order, if any
(2) Contract document
(3) Government of the District of Columbia Standard Contract Provisions for Construction

Projects
(4) Contract attachments other than the Standard Contract Provisions
(5) RFP, as amended
(6) BAFOs (in order of most recent to earliest)
(7) Proposal

I.11 DISPUTES

All disputes arising under or relating to the contract shall be resolved as provided herein 

(a) Claims by the Contractor against the District: Claim, as used in paragraph (a) of this clause,
means a written assertion by the Contractor seeking, as a matter of right, the payment of money
in a sum certain, the adjustment or interpretation of contract terms, or other relief arising under
or relating to the contract. A claim arising under a contract, unlike a claim relating to that contract,
is a claim that can be resolved under a contract clause that provides for the relief sought by the
claimant.

(1) All claims by a Contractor against the University arising under or relating to a contract shall be
in writing and shall be submitted to the CO for a decision. The Contractor’s claim shall contain
at least the following:

(i) A description of the claim and the amount in dispute;
(ii) Data or other information in support of the claim;
(iii) A brief description of the Contractor’s efforts to resolve the dispute prior to filing the claim; and
(iv) The Contractor’s request for relief or other action by the CO.

(2) The CO may meet with the Contractor in a further attempt to resolve the claim by agreement.

(3) The CO shall issue a decision on any claim within 120 calendar days after receipt of the claim.
Whenever possible, the CO shall consider factors such as the size and complexity of the claim
and the adequacy of the information in support of the claim provided by the Contractor.

(4) The CO’s written decision shall do the following:

(i) Provide a description of the claim or dispute;
(ii) Refer to the pertinent contract terms;
(iii) State the factual areas of agreement and disagreement;
(iv) State the reasons for the decision, including any specific findings of fact, although specific

findings of fact are not required and, if made, shall not be binding in any subsequent proceeding;
(v) If all or any part of the claim is determined to be valid, determine the amount of monetary

settlement, the contract adjustment to be made, or other relief to be granted;
(vi) Indicate that the written document is the CO’s final decision; and
(vii) Inform the Contractor of the right to seek further redress by appealing the decision to the

Contract Appeals Board.
(5) Failure by the CO to issue a decision on a contract claim within 120 days of receipt of the claim

will be deemed to be a denial of the claim, and will authorize the commencement of an appeal
to the Contract Appeals Board as provided by D.C. Official Code § 2-360.04.

(6) If a contractor is unable to support any part of its claim and it is determined that the inability is
attributable to a material misrepresentation of fact or fraud on the part of the Contractor, the



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

31 

 

 

Contractor shall be liable to the District for an amount equal to the unsupported part of the claim 
in addition to all costs to the District attributable to the cost of reviewing that part of the 
Contractor’s claim. Liability under this paragraph (a) (6) shall be determined within six (6) years 
of the commission of the misrepresentation of fact or fraud. 

 
(6.1)  Pending final decision of an appeal, action, or final settlement, the Contractor shall proceed 

diligently with performance of the contract in accordance with the decision of the CO. 

(b) Claims by the District against the Contractor: Claim as used in paragraph (b) of this clause, 
means a written demand or written assertion by the District seeking, as a matter of right, the 
payment of money in a sum certain, the adjustment of contract 
terms, or other relief arising under or relating to the contract. A claim arising under a contract, 
unlike a claim relating to that contract, is a claim that can be resolved under a contract clause 
that provides for the relief sought by the claimant. 

 
(1) The CO shall decide all claims by the University against a contractor arising under or relating to 

a contract. 
 

(2) The CO shall send written notice of the claim to the contractor. The CO’s written decision shall 
do the following: 

(i) Provide a description of the claim or dispute; 
(ii) Refer to the pertinent contract terms; 
(iii) State the factual areas of agreement and disagreement; 
(iv) State the reasons for the decision, including any specific findings of 

fact, although specific findings of fact are not required and, if 
made, shall not be binding in any subsequent proceeding; 

(v) If all or any part of the claim is determined to be valid, determine the amount 
of monetary settlement, the contract adjustment to be made, or other relief to be granted; 

(vi) Indicate that the written document is the CO’s final decision; and 
(vii) Inform the Contractor of the right to seek further redress by 

appealing the decision to the Contract Appeals Board. 
 

(3) The CO shall support the decision by reasons and shall inform the Contractor of its rights as 
provided herein. 

 
(4) Before or after issuing the decision, the CO may meet with the Contractor to attempt to resolve 

the claim by agreement. 
 

(5) The authority contained in this paragraph (b) shall not apply to a claim or dispute for penalties 
or forfeitures prescribed by statute or regulation which another District agency is specifically 
authorized to administer, settle or determine. 

 
(6) This paragraph shall not authorize the CO to settle, compromise, pay, or otherwise adjust any 

claim involving fraud. 
 

(c) Decisions of the CO shall be final and not subject to review unless the Contractor timely 
commences an administrative appeal for review of the decision, by filing a complaint with the 
Contract Appeals Board, as authorized by D.C. Official Code § 2-360.04. 

 
(d) Pending final decision of an appeal, action, or final settlement, the Contractor shall proceed 

diligently with performance of the contract in accordance with the decision of the CO. 
 
  



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

32 

 

 

 
I.12 BONDING (SECURITY) REQUIREMENTS 

 
I.12.1 Proposal Bond – A proposal bond is required and must be submitted with all proposals over 

$100,000.00 pursuant to Article 12 of the SCP. The proposal bond must be a minimum of 5% 
of the proposed proposal price at proposal submission and shall be effective for as long as the 
proposal is effective (Attachment J.13). 

 
I.12.2 Payment Bond – A payment bond in the amount of not less than 50% of the total contract 

amount is required and must be submitted within 10 calendar days from the proposed 
contractor’s receipt of the University’s Notice of Intent to Award and prior to award. 

 
I.12.3 Performance Bond – A performance bond in the amount of 100% of the original contract price 

amount is required and must be submitted within 10 calendar days from the proposed 
contractor’s receipt of the University’s Notice of Intent to Award and prior to award. 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

33 

SECTION J: ATTACHMENTS 

The following list of attachments is incorporated into the solicitation by reference. 

Attachment 
Number 

Document 

J.1 Scope of Work 
J.2 Procurement Practices Reform Act of 2010 (PPRA) (Attached) 
J.3 General Provisions Architectural & Engineering Services Contract (Attached) 

J.4 
Government of the District of Columbia Standard Contract Provisions for Use 
with Specifications for District of Columbia Government Construction Projects (Revised 
March 2011). (Attached) 

J.5 Bond Forms (MUST BE NOTARIZED) 
J.6 Proposal Offer Letter: (Attached) 

Contact Michiko Gadson mgadson@udc.edu for soft copy 

J.7 
General Decision Number: DC20230002 06/30/2023 Superseded General Decision Number: 
DC20220002 (Attached) 

For access to the fillable documents J.7- J.15 below, please use the link below: http://ocp.dc.gov, under 
Quick Links click on “Required Solicitation Documents 

J.8 Way to Work Amendment Act of 2006 - Living Wage Notice (Attached) 
Living Wage Fact Sheet (Attached) 

J.9 Tax Certification Affidavit 
J.10   Subcontracting Plan: SBE Subcontracting Plan, Vendor Verification Form Template, Outreach 

Activities - Construction 
J.11 Equal Employment Opportunity Employer Information Report and Mayor’s Order 85-85 
J.12 Department of Employment Service s First Source Employment Agreement 
J.13 Revised First Source Employment Plan-Contracts Over $5 Million-February 2018 
J.14  Past Performance Evaluation Form 
J.15 Cost Price Disclosure Certification Form (section K) 
J.16 Contractor Experience Questionnaire Form (section K) 
J.17     Bidder /Offeror Certification Form (section K)



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

34 

SECTION K: REPRESENTATIONS, CERTIFICATIONS AND OTHER STATEMENTS OF 
OFFERS 

Offer Certification Form 

Available at http://ocp.dc.gov, 
Under Quick Links click on “Required Solicitation Documents” 

Complete and Include the following with Proposal: 

• Bidder /Offeror Certification Form
• Three Past Performance Evaluations
• Contractor’s Experience Questionnaire Form



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

35 

 

 

 
 

SECTION L: INSTRUCTIONS, CONDITIONS AND NOTICES TO OFFERS 
 
 

L.1 PRE-PROPOSAL CONFERENCE 
 

A pre-proposal conference will be held at 11:00 a.m. on July 20, 2023. Please join the pre-proposal 
conference by dialing 1-206-413-8593, Phone Conference ID: 219 953 121# Prospective offers will be 
given an opportunity to ask questions regarding this solicitation at the conference. The purpose of the 
conference is to provide a structured and formal opportunity for the University to accept questions from 
offers on the solicitation document as well as to clarify the contents of the solicitation. Attending offers 
must complete and sign the pre-proposal conference Attendance Roster at the conference so that their 
attendance can be properly recorded. 

 
Impromptu questions will be permitted, and spontaneous answers will be provided at the University’s 
discretion. Verbal answers given at the pre-proposal conference are only intended for general discussion 
and do not represent the University’s final position. All oral questions must be submitted in writing 
following the close of the pre-proposal conference but no later than five working days after the pre- proposal 
conference in order to generate an official answer. The University will furnish responses via a written 
amendment to the solicitation which will be posted on the University’s website. An amendment to the 
solicitation will be issued if the CO decides that information is necessary in submitting proposals, or if the 
lack of it would be prejudicial to any prospective offer. Oral explanations or instructions given by 
University officials before the award of the contract will not be binding. Please contact Alan Walsh at 
awalsh@udc.edu to schedule a site visit. 

 
L.2 CONTRACT AWARD 

 
The University will award a single contract resulting from this solicitation to the responsive and responsible 
offer whose proposal conforming to the solicitation will be most advantageous to the University, cost or 
price, and other factors, specified elsewhere in this solicitation considered. Therefore, each initial proposal 
should contain the offer’s best terms from a standpoint of cost or price and other factors. 

 
A late proposal, late modification or late request for withdrawal of a proposal that is not considered shall be 
held unopened, unless opened for identification, until after award and then retained with unsuccessful 
proposals resulting from this solicitation. 

 
L.2.1 Most Advantageous to the District 

 
The University intends to award a single (one) contract resulting from this solicitation to the responsive and 
responsible offer whose proposal conforming to the solicitation will be most advantageous to the University, 
cost or price, and other factors, specified elsewhere in this solicitation considered. 

 
L.3 SELECTION OF NEGOTIATION PROCESS 

 
In accordance with 8B DCMR § 3017, after evaluation of the proposals using only the criteria stated in the 
RFP and in accordance with weightings provided in the RFP, the CO may elect to proceed with any 
method of negotiations, discussions or award of the contract without negotiations, which is set forth in 
subsections of 8B DCMR § 3017 & 3018. If the CO elects to proceed with negotiations the CO may limit, 
for purposes of efficiency, the number of proposals in the competitive range to the greatest number that will 
permit an efficient competition among the most highly rated proposals. 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

36 

 

 

 
 

L.4 PROPOSAL ORGANIZATION AND CONTENT 
 

L.4.1 This solicitation will be conducted through electronic copy of its proposal only. To be considered, 
an offeror must submit the required attachments via mail or hand deliver and receive verifiable 
receipt at the designated location for submission before the closing date and time. 

 
L.4.2 All attachments shall be submitted. The University will not be responsible for corruption of any 

file submitted. If the submitted file is not legible as submitted, it will not be considered. 
 

L.4.3 The offeror shall submit two (2) attachments in its submittal: (1) a technical proposal, and 
(2) a price proposal. 

 
L.4.4 The offeror shall label each attachment, i.e., “Technical Proposal”, or “Price Proposal.” 

 
L.4.5 Offerors are directed to the specific proposal evaluation criteria found in Section M of this 

solicitation, Evaluation Factors. The offeror shall respond to each factor in a way that will allow 
the University to evaluate the offeror’s response. The offeror shall submit information in a clear, 
concise, factual and logical manner providing a comprehensive description of program supplies and 
services and delivery thereof. The information requested for the technical proposal shall facilitate 
evaluation for all proposals. The technical proposal must contain sufficient detail to provide a clear 
and concise response fully reflecting the manner in which the offeror proposes to fully meet the 
requirements in Section C. 

 
L.4.6 Offeror shall complete, sign and submit all Representations, Certifications and Acknowledgments 

as appropriate. 
 

L.4.7 The University will reject any offer that fails to include a subcontracting plan that is required by 
law. 

 
L.4.8 Executive Summary 

 
Each Offer should provide a summary of no more than three pages of the information contained in 
the following sections. 

 
L.4.9 General Team Information and Firm(s) Data 

 
Each Offeror should provide the following information for the principal design build firm and each of its sub 
consultants: 

 
A. Name(s), address (es), and role(s) of each firm (including all sub-consultants and subcontractors) 

 
B. Firm profile(s), including: 

i. Age 
ii. Firm history(ies) 
iii. Firm size(s) 
iv. Areas of specialty/concentration 
v. Current firm workload(s) projected over the next year 
vi. Provide a list of any contract held by the Offeror where the contract was terminated (either for 

default or convenience). This list should also identify any contracts that resulted in litigation or 
arbitration between the Owner and the Offeror. If the Offeror has multiple offices, only contracts 
held by the office submitting this proposal need be listed. 

 
C. Description of the team organization and personal qualifications of key staff, including: 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

37 

 

 

i. Identification of the single point of contact for the Design-Build Team. 
ii. Organizational chart illustrating reporting lines and names and titles for key participants 

proposed by the team. 
iii. A list or chart of all personnel proposed for the Project. Such list or chart should include the 

following information for each individual: 
 

1. The individual’s name 
2. The individual’s role 
3. Whether the individual’s involvement in the Project is funded from the General 

Conditions Budget or the Design-Build Fee. 
4. The percentage of time that will be devoted by the individual to the Project. This should 

be identified for each phase of the Project. 
5. The individual’s resume. Resumes should indicate the individual’s experience on at least four 

(4) relevant projects and identify the role of the individual in each past project noted on the 
resume. The resume should also clearly identify how long the individual has worked in the 
construction industry and should indicate the number of years of experience in his or her 
current role as well as prior roles. 

6. The individual’s current workload over the next year 
7. The chart should indicate the experience that the key team members have working 

together. 
L.4.10 TECHNICAL PROPOSAL 

 
A. Design-Build Team Relevant Experience and Capabilities 

The University desires to engage a Design-Build Contractor with the experience necessary to realize the objectives 
set forth in the RFP. This component of each Offeror will be evaluated based on their demonstrated experience: 

Similar Projects - Offerors are to provide information to demonstrate successful experience as the Design-
Builder or Joint Venture Team on (3) similar projects completed within the past (7) years.  A “similar 
project” is a project that is comparable in nature, type, and complexity as defined by the following 
characteristics: 
 

i. The project involved a new building or renovation of an existing building at a University, modern 
education facility, multi-building campus or for a government agency. Preferably 40,000 square-feet or 
larger.  

ii. The total project construction cost at award of the construction contract was greater than $25 million. 
iii. The project involved working within occupied buildings or included a phased occupancy 
iv. The project involved a restricted site with limited space for material staging plus requirements for 

maintaining pedestrian and vehicular traffic flow around site 
v. The project achieved LEED Silver or higher Certification.    

 
B. Project Design-Build Approach 

 
Offerors shall include with their proposals a Design-Build Approach that complies with the scope of work and 
final completion dates in Exhibit A. The approach will be used to determine whether it is responsive (i.e. 
whether it supports all of the required programmatic elements described in Exhibit A). The responsiveness 
determination will be made on a pass/fail basis. In addition, the technical evaluation panel (“TEP”) will 
undertake a normative assessment of how well the proposed approach addresses the following: 

i. plan for work in the occupied buildings inclusive of necessary swing spaces, 
ii. plan for identifying and addressing any environmental risks at the site,  

iii. proposed schedule to meet required final completion dates 
 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

38 

 

 

 
C. Design-Build Team Key Personnel 

1. The University desires that the Design-Build Team assign the appropriate number of personnel having the 
necessary seniority to implement a project of this type. The personnel should have experience working 
together and each such individual should have relevant experience on similar projects and the necessary 
level of experience and education for his or her proposed role. They should have a resume demonstrated 
ability to deliver fast-track projects on-time and on-budget. Proposals should identify, at a minimum the 
following: 

a)   Project Executive 
b) Field Superintendent 

c) Project Manager 

d) Project Engineer 

e) Project Architect 

f) MEP Engineer / Engineer of Record 

2. The availability and experience of the key individuals assigned to this project will be evaluated as part of this 
element. The Offeror shall submit resumes of all submitted key personnel and (2) past performance reference 
letters for each ley personnel.  Provide an availability matrix table that identifies the specific key personnel 
that will be assigned to this project. The table should include for every team member that will be assigned to 
the project: 

a. Name 
b. Title / Role 
c. Level of effort (the percentage of time committed to this project) Time period /  

duration assigned to the project. 
 

L.5 REQUIREMENT FOR AN ELECTRONIC COPY OF PROPOSALS TO BE MADE 
AVAILABLE TO THE PUBLIC 

 
In addition to the proposal submission requirements in Section L.2 and L.3 above, the offer must 
submit an electronic copy of its proposal, redacted in accordance with any applicable exemptions 
from disclosure under D.C. Official Code § 2-534. Redacted copies of the offer’s proposal must be 
submitted by e-mail attachment to the contact person designated in the solicitation. D.C. Official 
Code § 2-536(b) requires the District to make available electronically copies of records that must 
be made public. The District’s policy is to release documents relating to District proposals 
following award of the contract, subject to applicable Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) 
exemption under § 2-534(a)(1). Successful proposals will be published on the OCP website in 
accordance with D.C. Official Code § 2-361.04, subject to applicable FOIA exemptions. 

 
L.6 PROPOSAL SUBMISSION DATE AND TIME, AND LATE SUBMISSIONS, LATE 

MODIFICATIONS, WITHDRAWAL OR MODIFICATION OF PROPOSALS AND LATE 
PROPOSALS 

 
L.6.1 PROPOSAL SUBMISSION, FORM, ORGANIZATION AND CONTENT: 

 
L.6.1.1 Proposals must be submitted no later than 2:00 p.m. local time on August 14, 2023. 
Proposals, modifications to proposals, or requests for withdrawals that are received in the 
designated office after the exact local time specified above, are "late" and shall be considered only 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

39 

if they are received before the award is made. 

L.6.1.2 Postmarks (Not applicable)

L.6.1.3 Offers shall submit one (1) signed original and (1) copy redacted of the proposal.
Submissions should be emailed to Michiko Gadson at mgadson@udc.edu.

L.6.1.4 Proposals shall be submitted referencing the following:
Proposal in Response to Solicitation No. and Caption 
GF-2023-R-0029, Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization Project. 

L.6.1.5 Proposal Letter (Submit with Price Proposal ONLY)

Each Offer shall submit a proposal letter substantially in the form of Attachment J.5. Material 
deviations, in the opinion of the University, from the proposal form shall be enough to render the 
proposal non-responsive. 

L.6.2 Late Bids

L.6.2.1 Proposals must be submitted not later than the closing date and exact time due. Late proposals
and/or modifications thereto will be marked and held by the University as evidence of their lateness 
(time received), and not considered for award unless the only proposal received. 

L.6.2.2 Paper, telephonic, telegraphic, and facsimile proposals may not be accepted or considered for
award. 

L.6.2.3 It is solely the offer’ s responsibility to ensure that its proposal is received and recorded in the
University Office of Contracting and Procurement not later than the exact date and time due 
according to this solicitation. 

L.6.3 Withdrawal or Modification of Proposals

An offer may modify or withdraw its proposal any time before the closing date and time for receipt of 
proposals. However, the modified or withdrawn proposal must be resubmitted prior to the proposals exact 
due date and time to be considered. 

L.6.4 Late Proposals

The University will not accept for consideration of award late proposals or modifications to proposals after 
the closing date and time for receipt of proposals. They will be date and time stamped and retained by the 
University as documentation of the date and time received. A receipt will be given to the carrier if hand 
delivered. 

L.6.5 Late Modifications

A late modification of a successful proposal, which makes its terms more favorable to the District, shall be 
considered at any time it is received and may be accepted. However, the original proposal submission must 
have been on time. 

L.7 EXPLANATION TO PROSPECTIVE OFFERS

If a prospective offer has any questions relating to this solicitation, the prospective offer shall submit 
the question electronically via e-mail to the contact person identified in this solicitation. The prospective 
offer shall submit questions no later than seven (7) days after the pre-proposal conference date and time 
indicated for this solicitation. The University may not consider any questions received more than fifteen 
calendar (15) days before the date set for submission of proposals. The University will furnish 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

40 

responses via email and posting on its web site. An amendment to the solicitation will be issued if the 
CO decides that information is necessary in submitting proposals, or if the lack of it would be 
prejudicial to any prospective offer. Oral explanations or instructions given by University officials before 
the award of the contract will not be binding. 

L.7.1 RESTRICTION ON DISCLOSURE AND USE OF DATA

L.7.1.1 Offers who include in their proposal data that they do not want disclosed to the public or used by
the District except for use in the procurement process shall mark the title page with the following 
legend: 

"This proposal includes data that shall not be disclosed outside the District and shall not be 
duplicated, used or disclosed in whole or in part for any purpose except for use in the procurement 
process. 

If, however, a contract is awarded to this offer as a result of or in connection with the submission 
of this data, the District will have the right to duplicate, use, or disclose the data to the extent 

consistent with the District’s needs in the procurement process. This restriction does not limit 
the District’s rights to use, without restriction, information contained in this proposal if it is obtained 
from another source. The data subject to this restriction are contained in sheets (insert page numbers 
or other identification of sheets).” 

L.8 PROPOSAL PROTESTS

Any actual or prospective offer or contractor, who is aggrieved in connection with the solicitation or award 
of a contract, must file with the University’s Chief Contracting Officer not later than seven (7) business 
days after the basis of protest is known or should have been known, whichever is earlier pursuant to DCMR 
Title 8B Section 3066. The Chief Contracting Officer shall issue a written decision on the protest 
within ten (10) working days after receipt of the protest. The protestor may appeal the written decision of 
the University Chief Contracting Officer to the University Contract Review Board within ten (10) 
working days after receipt of the decision of the Chief Contracting Officer. Any failure of the Contracts 
Review Board to issue a written decision within 30 calendar days shall constitute a denial of the protest 
and shall authorize the contractor to appeal the protest to the Contract Appeals Board. The protest shall 
then be filed in writing, with the Contract Appeals Board, 441 4th Street, N.W., Suite 350N, Washington, 
D.C. 20001. The aggrieved person shall also mail a copy of the protest to the CO for the solicitation.

L.9 UNNECESSARILY ELABORATE PROPOSALS

Unnecessarily elaborate brochures or other presentations beyond those enough to present a complete and 
effective response to this solicitation are not desired and may be construed as an indication of the offer’s 
lack of cost consciousness. Elaborate artwork, expensive visual and other presentation aids are neither 
necessary nor desired. 

L.10 RETENTION OF PROPOSALS

All proposal documents will be the property of the District and retained by the District, and therefore will 
not be returned to the offer. 

L.11 PROPOSAL COSTS

The University is not liable for any costs incurred by the offer in submitting proposals in response to this 
solicitation. 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

41 

 

 

 
L.12 CERTIFICATES OF INSURANCE 

 
Prior to commencing work, the Contractor shall have its insurance broker or insurance company submit 
certificates of insurance giving evidence of the required coverages as specified in Section I.8 to: 

 
Eddie Whitaker, Contracting Officer 
University of the District of Columbia 
Office of Strategic Sourcing and Procurement 
4200 Connecticut Avenue NW Bldg. 39 Suite 200C 
Washington, DC 20008 
Re: Contract: GF-2023-C-0029, 

     Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization Project 
 

L.13 ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF AMENDMENTS 
 

The offer shall acknowledge receipt of any amendment to this solicitation electronically via email to the 
University’s contact person identified in this solicitation, and by submitting the amendment(s) with their 
proposal. The University must receive the acknowledgment by the date and time specified for receipt of 
proposals. A offer’s failure to acknowledge an amendment may result in rejection of its offer. 

 
L.14 LEGAL STATUS OF OFFER 

 
Each proposal must provide the following information: 

 
L.14.1 Name, address, telephone number and federal tax identification number of offer; 

 
L.14.2 A copy of each District of Columbia license, registration or certification that the offer is required 

by law to obtain. If the offer is a corporation or partnership and does not provide a copy of its 
license, registration or certification to transact business in the District of Columbia, the proposal 
shall certify its intent to obtain the necessary license, registration or certification prior to contract  

 
award or its exemption from such requirements; and 

 

L.14.3 If the offer is a partnership or joint venture, the names and addresses of the general partners or 
individual members of the joint venture, and copies of any joint venture or teaming agreements. 

 
L.15 FAMILIARIZATION WITH CONDITIONS 

 
Offers shall thoroughly familiarize themselves with the terms and conditions of this solicitation, acquainting 
themselves with all available information regarding difficulties which may be encountered, and the 
conditions under which the work is to be accomplished. The contractor will not be relieved from assuming 
all responsibility for properly estimating the difficulties and the cost of performing the services required 
herein due to their failure to investigate the conditions or to become acquainted with all information, 
schedules and liability concerning the services to be performed. 

 
L.16 BEST AND FINAL OFFERS 

 
If, subsequent to receiving original proposals, negotiations are conducted under 8B DCMR § 3017.12 & 
3017.13, all offerors within the competitive range will be so notified and will be provided an opportunity 
to submit written best and final offers at a designated date and time. Best and final offers will be subject to 
the Late Submissions, Late Modifications and Late Withdrawals of Proposals provisions of the solicitation. 
After evaluation of best and final offers, the CO may award the contract to the highest-ranked offeror or 
negotiate with the highest ranked offeror. 

 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

42 

 

 

 
L.17 GENERAL STANDARDS OF RESPONSIBILITY 

 
The prospective contractor must demonstrate to the satisfaction of the University its capability in all 
respects to perform fully the contract requirements; therefore, the prospective contractor must submit 
relevant documentation with its proposal submission and additional information within five 
(5) days of the request by the University. 

 
L.17.1 To be determined responsible, a prospective contractor must demonstrate that it: 

 
(a) Has adequate financial resources, or the ability to obtain such resources, required to perform the 

contract; 
 

(b) Can comply with the required or proposed delivery or performance schedule, taking into 
consideration all existing commercial and government contract commitments; 

 
(c) Has a satisfactory performance record; 

 
(d) Has a satisfactory record of integrity and business ethics; 

 
(e) Has a satisfactory record of compliance with the applicable District licensing and tax laws and 

regulations; 
 

(f) Has a satisfactory record of compliance with the law, including labor and civil rights laws and 
rules, and the First Source Employment Agreement Act of 1984, as amended, D.C. Official Code 
§ 2-219.01 et seq. 

 
(g) Has the ability to obtain, the necessary organization, experience, accounting, and operational 

control, and technical skills; 
 

(h) Has the ability to obtain, the necessary production, construction, technical equipment, and 
facilities; 

(i) Has not exhibited a pattern of overcharging the District; 
 

(j) Does not have an outstanding debt with the District or the federal government in a delinquent 
status; and 

 
(k) Is otherwise qualified and is eligible to receive an award under applicable laws and regulations. 

 
(l) SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITY STANDARD: The Offeror shall warrant that it will only assign employees 

who have passed a criminal background check to perform work under this contract. The background checks 
must demonstrate the worker has no convictions or pending criminal charges that would render the worker 
unsuitable for regular contact with children. 

 
L.17.2 If the prospective contractor fails to supply the information requested, the CO shall make the 
determination of responsibility or non-responsibility based upon available information. If the available 
information is insufficient to make a determination of responsibility, the CO shall determine the 
prospective contractor to be non-responsible. 

 
L.18 KEY PERSONNEL 

 
L.18.1 The University shall approve specific contractor personnel listed in the offer’s proposal to be key 
personnel for this contract. 

 
L.18.2 The offer shall set forth in its proposal the names and reporting relationships of the 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

43 

 

 

key personnel the offer will use to perform the work under the proposed contract. Their resumes shall be 
included. The hours that each will devote to the contract shall be provided in total and broken down by task. 

 
L.19 CONTRACT AWARD: 

 
The University will award a single contract resulting from this solicitation to the responsive and responsible bidder 
whose bid conforming to the solicitation will be most advantageous to the University, cost or price, and other 
factors, specified elsewhere in this solicitation considered. Therefore, each initial bid should contain the bidder’s 
best terms from a standpoint of cost or price and other factors. 

 
A late bid, late modification or late request for withdrawal of a bid that is not considered shall be held unopened, 
unless opened for identification, until after award and then retained with unsuccessful bids resulting from this 
solicitation. 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

44 

 

 

 
SECTION M - PREFERENCES FOR CERTIFIED BUSINESS ENTERPRISES 

 
M.1. EVALUATION FOR AWARD 

 
The contract will be awarded to the responsible offeror whose offer is most advantageous to the University, 
based upon evaluation criteria specified below. Thus, while points in the evaluation criteria indicate their 
relative importance, the total scores will not necessarily be determinative of the award. Rather, the total 
scores will guide the University in making an intelligent award decision based upon the evaluation criteria. 

 
M.2 TECHNICAL RATING 

 
M.2.1 The Technical Rating Scale is as follows: 

 
Numeric 
Rating 

Adjective Description 

0 Unacceptable Fails to meet minimum requirements, e.g. no 
demonstrated capacity, major deficiencies 
which are not correctable; offeror did not 
address the factor. 

1 Poor Marginally meets minimum requirements; 
major deficiencies which may be correctable. 

2 Minimally 
Acceptable 

Marginally meets minimum requirements; 
minor deficiencies which may be correctable. 

3 Acceptable Meets requirements; no deficiencies. 
4 Good Meets requirements and exceeds 

some requirements; no deficiencies. 
5 Excellent Exceeds most, if not all requirements; no 

deficiencies. 
 

M.2.2 The technical rating is a weighting mechanism that will be applied to the point of value for each evaluation 
factor to determine the Offerors score for each factor. The Offerors total technical score will be determined 
by adding the Offerors score in each evaluation factor. For example, if an evaluation factor has a port value 
range of zero (0) to forty (40) points, using the Technical Rating Scale above, if the University evaluates 
the offeror’ s response as “Good,” then the score for that evaluation factor is 4/5 of 40 or 32. 

 
If sub factors are applied, the Offerors total technical score will be determined by adding the offer’s score 
for each sub factor. For example, if an evaluation factor has a point value range of zero (0) to forty (40) 
points, with two sub factors of twenty (20) points each, using the Technical Rating Scale above, if the 
University evaluates the offer’s response as “Good” for the first sub factor and “Poor” for the second sub 
factor, then the total score for that evaluation factor is 4/5 of 20 or 16 for the first sub factor plus 1/5 of 20 
or 4 for the second sub factor, for a total of 20 for the entire factor. 



GF-2023-R-0029 Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

45 

 

 

 
M.3 EVALUATION CRITERIA TECHNICAL PROPOSAL CONTENTS: 

 
The Technical proposal shall be prepared in accordance with the instructions and format given in this section. Failure 
to provide a Technical proposal may render an Offeror’s proposal incomplete and unacceptable for award. In order 
for the University to evaluate the Offeror’s understanding of the contract requirements, offerors are required to 
discuss their capabilities in a manner that demonstrates these are adequate to meet contract requirements. Offerors 
are strongly cautioned to follow the format below in preparing their proposals. This will allow for ease of evaluation. 
Proposals will be evaluated in accordance with the evaluation criteria listed in Section M.3, Evaluation Criteria. The 
total sum of the maximum points for Technical Criteria and Key Certifications is 80 points. Proposals shall be 
evaluated based on the following evaluation factors in the manner described below: 

 
M.3.1 TECHNICAL CAPABILITY INFORMATION 

 
Factor 1 - Relevant Experience and Past Performance (35 points) 

The University desires to engage a Design – Build contractor with the experience necessary to perform the scope 
of work set forth in Section C of this RFP. Offeror’s will be evaluated based on their demonstrated experience (as 
required in section L.4.10. If the Offeror is a team or joint venture of multiple companies, the Evaluation Panel 
will consider the experience of each member of the team or joint venture in light of their role in the proposed team 
or joint venture. This element of the evaluation will be worth up to thirty-five (35) points. 

 
Sub-factor 1 Similar projects (3) in the last seven years (20 points) 

 
Sub-factor 2 Completed similar projects on-time & on-budget (10 points) 

 
Sub-factor 3 Past Performance Evaluations/Reference (1) for each of the submitted projects 

(5 points) 
 

Factor 2 • Project Design Build Approach (25 points) 

The preliminary design is not part of this RFP, and Bridging documents showing initial design elements for each building 
are pending and will be issued at a future date, however each Offeror shall include with their proposal a design approach 
for Schematic Verification, Design Development, Construction Documentation, and Issued For Construction completion 
to reach the project goal that is based on program, scope, and assumptions stated in Section 2 of Exhibit A. The proposal 
and approach will be evaluated based on how responsive it is to the required programmatic elements. The responsiveness 
determination will be made on a pass/fail basis. In addition, the technical evaluation panel (“TEP”) will undertake a 
normative assessment of how well the preliminary design addresses the requirements as detailed in section 
L.4.1.7. This element of the evaluation is worth twenty-five (25) points. 

 
Sub-factor 1 Comprehensiveness and Practicality of design approach and schedule to meet the programmatic 
requirements and project final completion dates. (25 points 

 
Factor 3ꞏ Key Personnel (20 points) 
The University desires that personnel be assigned to these projects that have experience in completing design build 
construction projects on-time and on-budget. The Offeror shall submit resumes of all submitted key personnel and an 
availability matrix for this project. The experience of the key individuals 
assigned to this project will be evaluated as part of this element. This element of the evaluation will be worth up 
to twenty (20) points. 

 
Sub-factor 1 Key Personnel Experience (10 points) 

 
Sub-factor 2 Key Personnel's Availability Matrix for Project (5 points) 

 
Sub-factor 3 Past performance reference letters (2) for each Key Personnel (5 points) 



 

 

 
Factor 4ꞏ Cost Proposal (20 points) 

 
Each Offeror shall include a rate / fee cost proposal. Proposal must define how markups are calculated relative 
to the project’s hard and soft costs. Assuming the construction costs stated below, provide general conditions as 
a dollar amount, base fee, design contingency, construction contingency, total escalation through completion, 
insurance, bonds, and any other anticipated soft costs as a percentage. 
 

• Project Construction Cost Budget for 3 Wings = $24,456,179 
 

The detailed cost breakdown shall be submitted on the accompanying Bid Form.  
 

M.3.2 MAXIMUM TECHNICAL POINTS = 80 
 

Total points shall be the cumulative total of the Offerors technical criteria points, qualifications criteria 
points and key certifications criteria points, if any. 

 
M.3.3 EVALUATION CRITERIA 

 
The total sum of the maximum points for Technical Criteria and Price Criterion must not exceed 100 
points. 
Proposals will be evaluated based on the following evaluation factors in the manner described below: 

 
M.3.4 TECHNICAL CRITERIA (80 Points Maximum) 

 
M.3.5 PRICE CRITERION (20 Points Maximum) 

 
The price evaluation will be objective. The offeror with the lowest price will receive the maximum price 
points. All other proposals will receive a proportionately lower total score. The following formula will be 
used to determine each offeror’s evaluated price score: 

 
Lowest price proposal 
--------------------------------------- x weight (20) =  Evaluated price score Price of 
proposal being evaluated 

 
M.3.6 PREFERENCE POINTS AWARDED PURSUANT TO SECTION M.5.2 (12 Points 

Maximum) 
 

M.3.7 TOTAL POINTS (100 Points Maximum) 
 

Total points shall be the cumulative total of the offeror’s technical criteria points, price criterion points and 
preference points, if any. 

 
M.4 Intentionally left blank. 

 
M.5. PREFERENCES FOR CERTIFIED BUSINESS ENTERPRISES 

 
Under the provisions of the “Small and Certified Business Enterprise Development and Assistance 
Act of 2014”, D.C. Official Code § 2-218.01 et seq., as amended (“Act”, as used in this section), the 
University shall apply preferences in evaluating proposals from businesses that are certified by the 
Department of Small and Local Business Development (DSLBD) pursuant to Part D of the Act. 

  



 

 

M.5.1 Application of Preferences 
 

For evaluation purposes, the allowable preferences under the Act shall be applicable to prime 
contractors as follows: 

 
M.5.1.1 Any prime contractor that is a small business enterprise (SBE) certified by the DSLBD will receive 

the addition of three points on a 100-point scale added to the overall score. 
 

M.5.1.2 Any prime contractor that is a resident-owned business (ROB) certified by DSLBD will receive the 
addition of five points on a 100-point scale added to the overall score. 

 
M.5.1.3 Any prime contractor that is a longtime resident business (LRB) certified by DSLBD will receive 

the addition of five points on a 100-point scale added to the overall score. 
 
 

M.5.1.4 Any prime contractor that is a local business enterprise (LBE) certified by DSLBD will receive the 
addition of two points on a 100-point scale added to the overall score. 

 
M.5.1.5 Any prime contractor that is a local business enterprise with its principal offices located in an 

enterprise zone (DZE) certified by DSLBD will receive the addition of two points on a 100- point 
scale added to the overall score. 

 
M.5.1.6 Any prime contractor that is a disadvantaged business enterprise (DBE) certified by DSLBD will 

receive the addition of two points on a 100-point scale added to the overall score. 
M.5.1.7 Any prime contractor that is a veteran-owned business (VOB) certified by DSLBD will receive the 

addition of two points on a 100-point scale added to the overall score. 
 

M.5.1.8 Any prime contractor that is a local manufacturing business enterprise (LME) certified by DSLBD 
will receive the addition of two points on a 100-point scale added to the overall score. 

 
M.5.2 Maximum Preference Awarded 

 
Notwithstanding the availability of the preceding preferences, the maximum total preference to which a 
certified business enterprise is entitled under the Act is the equivalent of twelve (12) points for proposals 
submitted in response to this RFP. There will be no preference awarded for subcontracting by the prime 
contractor with certified business enterprises. 

 
M.5.3 Preferences for Certified Joint Ventures 

 
A certified joint venture will receive preferences as determined by DSLBD in accordance with 
D.C. Official Code § 2-218.39a (h). 

 
M.5.4 Verification of Offeror’s Certification as a Certified Business Enterprise 

M.5.4.1 Any vendor seeking to receive preferences on this solicitation must be certified at the time of 
submission of its proposal. The CO will verify the offeror’s certification with DSLBD, and the 
offeror should not submit with its proposal any additional documentation regarding its 
certification as a certified business enterprise. 

  



 

 

 
M.5.4.2 Any vendor seeking certification in order to receive preferences under this solicitation should 

contact the: 
 

Department of Small and Local Business Development ATTN: CBE 
Certification Program 
441 Fourth Street, NW, Suite 850N 
Washington DC 20001 

 
M.5.4.3 All vendors are encouraged to contact DSLBD at (202) 727-3900 if additional information is 

required on certification procedures and requirements. 
 

M.6 EVALUATION OF PROMPT PAYMENT DISCOUNT 

M.6.1 Prompt payment discounts shall not be considered in the evaluation of offers. However, any 
discount offered will form a part of the award and will be taken by the University if payment 
is made within the discount period specified by the offeror. 

M.6.2 In connection with any discount offered, time will be computed from the date of delivery of 
the supplies to carrier when delivery and acceptance are at point of origin, or from date of 
delivery at destination when delivery, installation and acceptance are at that, or from the date 
correct invoice or voucher is received in the office specified by the University, if the latter date 
is later than date of delivery. Payment is deemed to be made for the purpose of earning the 
discount on the date of mailing of the University check. 

 





APPENDIX “A” 
SCOPE OF WORK 

DESIGN-BUILD SERVICES FOR THE UNIVERSITY OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,  
LAMOND-RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE MODERNIZATION 

 
 

1 
 

Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
 

Request for Proposal 
 

The University of the District of Columbia is issuing this request for proposal (RFP) to solicit 
design-build proposals from offerors interested in serving as the design-builder for the 
modernization of The University of The District of Columbia, Lamond-Riggs Community College 
located at 5171 South Dakota Ave NE, Washington, DC 20017. 

Project Description 
 

The University of the District of Columbia (UNIVERSITY) anticipates awarding a design-build 
contract to the Offeror whose proposal is advantageous to the university pursuant to the evaluation 
and award criteria set forth in Sections ‘L’ and ‘M’ of this RFP. The project includes preconstruction, 
full design, and construction services for approximately 119,029 square feet of facilities for 
university use to include making necessary exterior improvements, interior fit-out, and building 
system upgrades to support the programming efforts and sustainability requirements for the 
University. The Design-Builder shall provide all labor, materials, equipment, swing space 
accommodations, and supervision for the complete design, renovation, and modernization to 
provide operational buildings in accordance with all applicable laws, permits, codes, and standards 
for educational facilities in the District of Columbia.  The work will include obtaining all necessary 
regulatory approvals, testing, commissioning, and facility training as required by the scope of work. 
In addition, some of the wings will remain occupied during construction (further defined in Section 
2), and any necessary swing space will need to be taken into consideration and reflected in the 
price as appropriate. The project is located on the University’s Lamond-Riggs Campus in Northeast 
Washington, DC. The following description of the work pertains. 
 
 
1. PROJECT IDENTIFICATION 
 

1.1. Wing A – Floors 1-3, with a combined total of approximately 40,284 gross square feet.  
 

1.2. Wing B – Floors 1-3 with a combined total of approximately 39,052 gross square feet.  
 

1.3. Wing C – Floors 2-3, with a combined total of approximately 39,693 gross square feet. 
 

2. SCOPE OF WORK 
 
 
2.1. Scope Summary. Design Builder shall provide a “turnkey” project including 

preconstruction, design, all necessary equipment, materials, manufacturing, and 
installation services for the modernization and renovation of all three buildings based on 
the scope defined below. 



APPENDIX “A” 
SCOPE OF WORK 

DESIGN-BUILD SERVICES FOR THE UNIVERSITY OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,  
LAMOND-RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE MODERNIZATION 

 
 

2 
 

 
This project shall meet all requirements of this Scope of Work and other specifications 
included that apply. Design Builder is expected to submit a comprehensive proposal, 
allowing for obtaining all necessary permits, including but not limited to permits required 
by the District of Columbia and associated regulatory agencies, and shall pay all taxes 
and regulatory fees including interconnect processing cost. In addition, their price shall 
include all costs associated with investigatory services required for work, including but 
not limited to an Asbestos Containing Materials (ACM) analysis.  
 
This project requires design and construction sustainability adherence for LEED 
certification for all facilities as required by DCRA. This must be included in the Design 
Builder’s proposal.   

 
Wings Scope Final 

Completion 
Design-to-
Budget 
(Construction) 

Total Space 
(sqft) 

A B Wings A & B to include minimal interior Fit out to support 
programming needs, MEP replacement, access control 
augmentation, new elevator, PV ready roof replacement, and 
efficient lighting. Programming will consist of offices, classrooms, 
labs, and student lounge.  

Fall  2024 TBD 79,336 

C Interior Fit out to support programming needs, structural 
remediation, MEP replacement, IT Infrastructure, access control, 
roof replacement, window replacement, and façade remediation. 
Programming will consist of offices, classrooms, gymnasium, and 
labs. Swing space to support programming shifts in occupied wings 
A & B (offices, classrooms, labs, etc.).  

Beginning 2025 TBD 39,693 

Total   $24,456,179 119,029 

 
  
 

3. GENERAL PERFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS 
 
 
3.1. General. The Design Builder shall perform all professional services as necessary to 

provide the University with a complete design and construction package including the 
requirements outlined in this Scope of Work. The Design Builder shall construct the 
project such that it is operational and compliant with all applicable standards, building 
codes, and District of Columbia (State) requirements.  

 
The University envisions a highly collaborative design/build delivery approach for this 
project. The expectation is that the Design Builder will meet with the stakeholders 
weekly to provide progress updates and review stakeholder comments to ensure 
delivery of a project that meets the expectations and needs of the University. The 
meetings will keep all parties apprised of the design progress/status and impending 
activities. Minutes for all meetings will be recorded by the Design Builder and distributed 
to all parties within 48 hours of the conclusion of the meeting.  

 



APPENDIX “A” 
SCOPE OF WORK 

DESIGN-BUILD SERVICES FOR THE UNIVERSITY OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,  
LAMOND-RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE MODERNIZATION 

 
 

3 
 

3.2. Safety Plan. The Design Builder shall submit for acceptance by the Capital Planning and 
Construction Project Manager, a Safety Plan detailing the potential hazards that will be 
encountered during the execution of the work for this specific project, and how the Design 
Builder intends to prevent accidents or injuries that might result from those hazards.  
Include in the Safety Plan an emergency response plan indicating the steps that the 
Design Builder will take in the event of an emergency or accident on the job site.  Include 
emergency contact numbers and the person on the job site designated by the Design 
Builder as the Site Safety Representative.  The Design Builder shall conduct “toolbox” 
safety meetings with the entire work crew at the project site.  The safety meetings shall 
be documented (by attendance and topic) in the Design Builder’s daily logs. 
 

3.3. Communications Plan. The Design Builder shall direct all questions and requests from 
building occupants and users as well as local community interests to the University.  
 
The Design Builder shall not release any oral, written, or graphic information regarding 
this project to outside sources without obtaining prior consent from the University. All 
requests for information concerning the project shall be referred to the University. 
 

3.4. Schedule. The Design Builder shall be responsible for the development and 
maintenance of the project schedule. The initial project schedule shall be submitted to 
and approved by the University after award; subsequent schedule updates must 
conform to the initially approved milestones and durations. The Design Builder shall 
provide monthly schedule updates, showing progress on and completion of all required 
design stage services and construction stage work. The Design Builder shall 
immediately notify the University of any anticipated delay in performance of the work. 
 
 

3.5. Budget Reporting. The Design Builder shall provide a complete schedule of values 
that includes a cost breakdown of each component of this project.  The schedule of 
values shall show separate labor, material, equipment, and overhead costs.  The 
Design Builder shall update the construction schedules monthly prior to each payment 
request and provide an advance copy of the construction progress report. The Design 
Builder shall provide documentation evidencing the cost of work performed (including 
updated certified payrolls) to be included in the payment request.  
 
Before submitting each payment request, the Design Builder shall meet with the 
University to review an advance copy of the payment request. The Design Builder shall 
ensure that the University agrees as to the progress of the construction work and the 
value of the work completed.  
 
Based upon agreed value of work completed, the Design Builder shall submit monthly 
payment requests.  

 
3.6. Contract Documents. The Design Builder shall maintain onsite the working record 

drawings of all changes/deviations from the original design to include but not limited to 



APPENDIX “A” 
SCOPE OF WORK 

DESIGN-BUILD SERVICES FOR THE UNIVERSITY OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,  
LAMOND-RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE MODERNIZATION 

 
 

4 
 

RFIs and ASIs. In addition, a record copy of all approved submittals and shop drawings 
must always reside in physical form onsite. Notations on record drawings shall be made 
in erasable red pencil or other color to correspond to different changes or categories of 
work. Marked-up drawings shall always be maintained at the Design Builder’s on-site 
location, available for the University to review. Record drawings shall note related 
change order designations on impacted work. When shop drawings indicate significant 
variations over design drawings, shop drawings may be incorporated as part of record 
drawings. 
 

3.7. Code Compliance. All design, construction and equipment shall comply with all 
applicable building, mechanical, fire, seismic, structural, and electrical codes.  

 

3.8. Sustainable Construction. The Design Builder shall use project components that are or 
are made of materials that are recyclable, contain recycled materials, and that are EPA or 
Energy Star rated if they are available on the market.  

 
 

3.9. Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) Formation.  
 
3.9.1. General. The Design Build Agreement will be a cost-plus fixed fee with a GMP 

type contract, with the fee to be negotiated and agreed upon prior to contract 
execution. The GMP is not required to be submitted with Design Builder’s 
proposals and will be developed later in the project based on the 50% 
Construction Documents.  
 
 

3.9.2. GMP Submission. The Design Builder shall submit a GMP to the University 
based on the trade bids and include the following elements: 
 

• A list of drawings, specifications, addenda, general, supplementary, and 
other conditions on which the GMP is based. 

• Assumptions and clarifications made in preparing the GMP Proposal, 
noting any exclusions. The assumptions and clarifications shall take 
precedence over the drawings and specifications. The Design Builder shall 
prepare a separate memorandum that highlights any differences between 
the then approved drawings and the modifications made in the 
assumptions and clarifications. Such memorandum shall specifically 
address any changes in the Project aesthetics, functionality, or 
performance. 

• The proposed GMP, including a statement of the detailed cost estimate 
organized by trade categories, allowances, contingency, and other items 
and the fees that comprise the GMP. 

• An update to the Project’s schedule to which the Design-Builder will agree 
to be bound. This update shall be prepared in the same level of detail and 
in the same manner as the Baseline Schedule, and without any change, to 



APPENDIX “A” 
SCOPE OF WORK 

DESIGN-BUILD SERVICES FOR THE UNIVERSITY OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,  
LAMOND-RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE MODERNIZATION 

 
 

5 
 

the Substantial and Final Completion Dates unless approved by the 
University. 

• The GMP may include an agreed-upon sum as the Design Builder’s 
Contingency and the University’s Contingency, each of which shall be 
identified as a separate line item in the GMP's Schedule of Values. 

 
 

3.9.3. GMP Approval. The University and Design Builder shall meet to negotiate the 
terms of the proposed GMP. In the event the Department and the Design-Builder 
are unable to agree upon the GMP or the schedule for the Project, the 
Department shall have the right to terminate the Agreement and assume any 
trade subcontracts held by the Design-Builder.  In such an event, the Design-
Builder shall only be entitled to Fifty percent (50%) of the Preconstruction Fee. 
 

 
3.10. Roles and Responsibilities. 

 
 

3.10.1. The Design Builder is required to provide services, materials and labor required to 
deliver a complete project, including but not limited to: 

• Submittals for materials and products 
• Construction materials, equipment, and labor 
• Design and construction supervision / contract management 
• Quality Control Plan (QCP) 
• Safety plan  
• Inspections and tests (per QCP) 
• Manuals (design calculations, operation/maintenance, shop drawing, etc.) 
• Commissioning of project  
• Training University building facilities management staff for operations, and 

maintenance 
• LEED Certification as Required by DCRA 

 
 

3.10.2. The University will: 
• Review for design intent and material selection, any design submittals and 

the QCP 
• Make progress payments for payment requests as approved.  

 
4. DESIGN REQUIREMENTS 

 
 

4.1. Drawings. 30% Bridging Documents will be provided which the Design Builder will be 
required to base their 50%, 85%, and 100% Construction Documents on. The Design 
Builder shall provide the University with 50% and 100% Construction Documents. All 
Construction Documents and engineering calculations must be signed and sealed by a 
licensed architect or engineer. The drawings must indicate the proposed scope of work, 



APPENDIX “A” 
SCOPE OF WORK 

DESIGN-BUILD SERVICES FOR THE UNIVERSITY OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,  
LAMOND-RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE MODERNIZATION 

 
 

6 
 

and any approved alterations. In addition, drawing must include code compliance and 
regulatory information, as well as stakeholder information. All drawings shall be submitted 
with dimensions shown in English units.   
 
 

4.2. Design Information. Provide a narrative explaining your underlying philosophy and 
approach to the design and provide examples of how this philosophy was implemented 
on other projects. Provide a narrative regarding the project opportunities to achieve LEED 
Certification as required by DCRA. All products shall comply with the technical 
requirements accompanying this RFP.  

 
   

4.3. Design Reviews. For each design / drawing submission, the University reserves the right 
to make comments and request changes after the receipt of the submission. Reviews will 
be made by the University. As part of its review, the University may offer submission 
reviews to local code officials. The University shall provide review comments within ten 
(10) business days of receipt.  
 
The University will review the Design Builder design submissions to verify adherence to 
contract requirements. Design reviews by the University are not to be interpreted as 
resulting in an approval, only for conformance to project goals and planning. The Design 
Builder shall remain completely responsible for designing, constructing, operating, and 
maintaining the project in accordance with the requirements of this Scope of Work. 

 

4.4. Resolution of Comments. The Design Builder shall respond to all design review 
comments in writing, indicating one of the following: (1) adoption and action taken, (2) 
adoption with modifications and action taken, (3) alternative resolution and action taken, 
or (4) rejection. In cases other than qualified adoption, the Design Builder shall provide a 
statement as to why the reviewer's comment is inappropriate. If the Design Builder 
believes that any of the University design comments or requested changes will result in a 
change in the contract cost, they shall notify the University within seven calendar days of 
receiving the comment(s) and provide a detailed cost estimate of anticipated contract 
modifications. Rejection items shall not go forward to the construction phase until 
adequate resolution to the rejected item has been approved by the University. Design 
review comments shall not relieve the Design Builder from compliance with terms and 
conditions of this contract. The Design Builder's comment resolution shall be transmitted 
to the University within seven (7) calendar days of comment receipt and incorporate 
discussions from the scheduled design comment review meetings. 
 
 

4.5. Submittals. The Design Builder shall submit shop drawings, product data, catalog cuts, 
etc. as stipulated for approval by the architect and engineer. The Design Builder shall 
combine all submittals into hard copy for reference and kept onsite during all phases of 
construction.  

 
 



APPENDIX “A” 
SCOPE OF WORK 

DESIGN-BUILD SERVICES FOR THE UNIVERSITY OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,  
LAMOND-RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE MODERNIZATION 

 
 

7 
 

4.6. Reviews. The University reserves the right to review all submittals. Submittal reviews by 
the University are not to be interpreted as an approval of the Design Builder's work. The 
Design Builder shall remain completely responsible for construction in accordance with all 
contract performance requirements. 

 
 
 

5. Quality Control 
 
 

5.1. Content. For each performance and installation requirement, the Quality Control Plan 
(QCP) shall identify item/system to be tested, exact test(s) to be performed, measured 
parameters, inspection/testing organization, and the stage of construction development 
when tests are to be performed. Each inspection/test shall be included in the overall 
construction schedule. The Design Builder is not relieved from required performance 
tests should these not be included in the plan.  All systems proposed under this RFP must 
conform to industry best practices and the requirements set forth in this Scope of Work.  
Each offeror must demonstrate how their proposal will meet these technical requirements, 
and its pricing must be based on these specifications. 
 
The QCP is intended to document those inspections and tests necessary to assure the 
University that product delivery, quality and performance are as required. It also serves as 
an inspection coordination tool between the Design Builder and the University. An 
example of these inspections/tests is the final test/inspection for overall performance 
compliance of the system. Results from tests and inspections shall be submitted within 24 
hours of performing the tests and inspections. Performance tests will be conducted at the 
final commissioning/acceptance testing, and one year after the acceptance date.  
 

5.2. Submission. The QCP shall be prepared and submitted within 21 calendar days of the 
post award conference meeting and prior to any construction on-site. The QCP may be 
rejected as incomplete and returned for resubmission if there is any performance, 
condition or operating test that is not covered therein.  
 
 

5.3. Updating. During construction, the Design Builder shall update QCP if any changes are 
necessary due to any changes or schedule constraints. the University shall be notified 
immediately of any schedule and/or procedural changes. 

 

 

6. INSPECTIONS AND TESTS 
 
 

6.1. General. The Design Builder shall perform inspections and tests throughout the 
construction process, including existing conditions/needs assessments, construction 
installation placement/qualification measurements and final inspections/tests performance 



APPENDIX “A” 
SCOPE OF WORK 

DESIGN-BUILD SERVICES FOR THE UNIVERSITY OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,  
LAMOND-RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE MODERNIZATION 

 
 

8 
 

certification. Periodic “quality” inspections shall also be conducted to support progress 
payments as identified in the Design Builder’s QCP. 
 
 

6.2. Final Inspections and Tests. To ensure compliance with local code, an inspection by a 
licensed, DCRA approved inspector is mandatory during and after construction is 
complete. Unless otherwise identified, manufacturer recommendations shall be followed 
for all inspection and test procedures. Provide qualifications of the proposed third-party 
inspector for review and approval prior to conducting any inspections. A representative of 
the University shall be present for system startups and commissioning; however, their 
attendance is not required for DCRA inspections. 

 

6.3. Documentation. Inspections/tests required in the QCP shall result in a written record of 
data/observations. The Design Builder shall provide a copy of documents containing all 
test reports/findings. Test results shall typically include item/system tested, location, date 
of test, test parameters/measured data, state of construction completion, operating mode, 
Design Builder inspector, test equipment description and measurement technique. 

 
 
7. PROJECT CLOSEOUT 

  
 

7.1. General. The Design Builder shall complete all applicable paperwork pertaining to LEED 
registration, satisfy all permitting and inspection closeout requirements, and produce a 
complete turnover package (as-built drawings, specifications, warranty, operation and 
maintenance manuals, training videos). The Design Builder shall provide the industry 
standard warranties consistent with the design.  
 
 

7.2. As-Built Drawings and Specifications. The Design Builder shall provide "as-built 
drawings" and documents based upon actual site installation. Should the University 
determine that variations exist between finished construction and the as-built drawings, 
the Design Builder shall correct the drawings to the satisfaction of the University. 
 
The Design Builder shall submit three (3) hard copies and three (3) USB devices 
containing the “as-built” drawings and specifications as CAD, PDF, and WORD files. 
 
 

7.3. Warranties. Submit specific warranties and guarantees, final certifications and similar 
documents to the University upon substantial completion and prior to final payment. 
Include copies with the operations and maintenance manual. All warranties shall be 
signed by a principal of the Design Builder’s firm and sealed if a corporation. 
 
 

7.4. Operation and Maintenance Manuals. Provide a detailed operation and maintenance 
manual including diagram of system components, description of normal operation; 



APPENDIX “A” 
SCOPE OF WORK 

DESIGN-BUILD SERVICES FOR THE UNIVERSITY OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,  
LAMOND-RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE MODERNIZATION 

 
 

9 
 

description of operational indicators and normal status of each, table of modes of 
operation, safety considerations, preventative maintenance requirements, troubleshooting 
and corrective actions; sources of spare parts and cut sheets for all components. The 
Design Builder shall prepare four (3) tabbed & ring bound hardcopies and four (3) USB 
devices containing the detailed Maintenance Manual. Submit to the University.  

 
 

7.5. Demonstration and Training. Provide the University with one (1) training session per 
system for designated personnel in the operation of the systems constructed as 
requested by the University. Instruct the designated University personnel in the operation 
and maintenance of all applicable systems. Provide the University with individually written 
instructions and procedures for shutdown and start-up activities for all components of the 
system. The Design Builder shall video record these trainings for official use and provide 
all recordings as part of the close-out package. All recording shall be of sufficient and of 
high enough quality to determine the instructor’s voice, and visually determine details of 
the instructions. In addition, instruction shall be in sufficient enough detail to explain all 
aspects of the system’s function so that the recording can be used as a future tutorial by 
the University staff. The University shall have up to 6 months from substantial completion 
to complete all  training sessions.  

 
 



Page 1 

Government of the District of Columbia 
 

STANDARD CONTRACT 
PROVISIONS 

 
 

For Use With 
Specifications for 

District of Columbia Government 
Construction Projects 
(Revised March 2011) 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PLEASE RETAIN FOR YOUR REFERENCE 
 



Page 2 

 INDEX 
 

INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS         
 

   PAGE 
Qualification of Bidders …………………………………………………………………………… .......... 5  

Bid Documents …………………………………………………………………………………… .... …….5 

 Examination of Bid ………………………………………………………………….…..…………… .. …5  

 Preparation for Bids…………………………………………………………………… .................. …….5 

 Error in Bids …………………………………………………………………………… ... ……………..…5 

 Labor and Material Not Furnished by District ……………………………………… .. ………………..5 

 Addenda and Interpretations ………………………………………………………… .. ………………..6 

Alternate Bids …………………………………………………………………………… .... ……………...6 

Bids for All or Part ……………………………………………………………………… .... ………………6 

Price Schedule Interpretation ………………………………………………………… .... ………………6 

 Corrections …… ... ……………………………………………………………………...…………………6 

 Bond Requirements………………………………………………………............ ………………………6 

A. Bid Guaranty …………………….….……………………………………………… ................ ………6 

B. Performance Bond ……………….………….…………………………………..… ................. ……...7 

C. Payment Bond ……………………..…………………………………………… ................ ………….7 

D. Bond Source ……………………………………………………………………… ................ ………..7 

Signature to Bids…………………………………………………………………………………… ......... .7  

Marking and Mailing Bids .……………………………………………………………………………. .... .8 

Receiving Bids, Modifications or Withdrawals .………………………………………………… ........... 8 

Withdrawal of Bids …….……….………………………………………………………………… ........... .8 

Opening of Bids ………..…………………………………………………………………………… ... …..8 

Award or Rejection………..……………………………………………………………………… .... …….8 

Cancellation of Award…………………………………………………………………………… .... ……..9 

Contract and Bond ……………………………………………………………………………… ..... ……..9 

 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Definitions ………………………………………………………………………………………………10 

 Specifications and Drawings …………………………………………………………………………10 

Changes ………………………………………………………………………………………………..11 

A. Designated Change Orders …………………………………..……………………….11 

B. Other Change Orders ………………………………………………………………….11 

C. General Requirements ………………………………………………………………...11 

D. Change Order Breakdown …………………………………………………………….11 

EQUITABLE ADJUSTMENT OF CONTRACT TERMS      

Differing Site Conditions ……………………………………………………………………………..12 

Suspension of Work   …………………………………………………………………………………13 



Page 3 

 

INDEX (Continued) 
  

PAGE 
Significant Changes in Character of Work   ……………………………… ... ………………………...13 

Termination-Delays……..………………………………………………... ... ....………………………...14 

Termination for Convenience...………………………………………… ... ………………………….…15 

Disputes…………….. …...……………………………………………… .... ………………………....….19 

Payments to Contractor..…………..…………………………………… ... …………………………….21 

Transfer or Assignment...……………………………………… .... ……………………………21 

Material and Workmanship. …………………………………… .... …………………………...21 

Surplus Material Use…………….……………………………… .... …………………………..22 

District Material………………………………………………… .... …………………………….22 

Plant……………………… …………………………………… .... ……………………………..22 

Capability of Workers……………….. ……………………… .... ……………………………...22 

Conformity of Work and Materials……..…………………………………… .... ……………...23 

Unauthorized Work and Materials…………………………………………… .... …………….23 

Inspection and Acceptance ………………………………………………………… ... …………….….23 

Superintendence by Contractor …………………………………………………… ... ………………...24 

Permits and Responsibilities ……………………………………………………… ... ………………....24 

Indemnification …………………………………………………………………… ... ……………….…..24 

Protection Against Trespass ……...………..……………………………… ... …...……………………24 

Conditions Affecting the Work …………………………………………… ...... ………………………..24 

A. General ……………………………………………… .... ……………………………………24 

B. Work and Storage Space ………………………………………… .... ……………………..24 

C. Work on Sundays, Legal Holidays and at Night …………… .... …………………………24 

 D. Existing Features ……………………………….... …………………………………………24 

E. Utilities and Vaults …………………………………… .... …………………………………..25 

F. Site Maintenance …………………………………… .... ……………………………………25 

 G. Private Work ……………………………………… ....………………………………………25 

H. District of Columbia Noise Control Act of 1977.………… ….………………………….25 

Other Contracts ….……………………………………………………… .. ……………………………..25 

Patent Indemnity. ………………………………………………………… ... ……………………………26 

Additional Bond Security .………………………………………………… ... …………………………..26 

Covenant Against Contingency Fees. …………………………………… ... ………………………….26 

Appointment of Attorney.. ………………………………………………… ... …………………………..26 

District Employees Not to Benefit...……………………………………… ... …………………………..26 

Waiver...……………………………………………………………………… .... …………………………27 

Buy American.. ……………………………………………………………… ... …………………………27 
A. Agreement…………………………………………… .... ……………………………………27 
B. Domestic Construction Material ……………………… ... …………………………………27 
C. Domestic Component ………………………………… ... ………………………………….27 



Page 4 

D. Foreign Material……………… .......... ………………………………………………………27 

 

Taxes  
A. Federal Excise Taxes …… ... ……………………………………………………………….27 
B. Sales and Use Taxes ……………………………………………… .. ……………………..27 

Suspension of Work ..... …………………………………………………………………………………..28 

Safety Program………………… . ………………………………………………………………………..28 

             A. General  ...... …………………………………………………………………………………..28 

             B. Contractor‘s Program Submission ... ……………………………………………………….29 

Retention of Records …………… .... ……………………………………………………………………29 

Recovery of Debts Owed the District   ………………………………………………………………29 

 

LABOR PROVISIONS Davis-Bacon Act….…………………………………………………… ………30 

Minimum Wages …………………… .. ………………………………………………………….............30 

B. Withholding …………………………………………………………………………… .. …...30 

C. Payroll and Basic Records ……………………………………………………… ............... ……….30 

Convict Labor  ..................................................................... ………………………………………….31 

Apprentices and Trainees .  ……………………………………………………………………………...31 

A. Apprentices ……………………………… .... ………………………………………………..31 

B. Trainees …………………………………… ... ………………………………………………31 

C. Requirements……………………………… ... ………………………………………………31 

Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act  . …………………………………………………….32 

A. Overtime Basis …………………… .... ………………………………………………………32 

B. Liability for Unpaid Wages ……… .... ………………………………………………………33 

C. Disputes ………………………… .... ………………..……………………………………….33 

D. Violation Penalty ……………… ... ………………………………………………………….34 

E. Health and Safety Standards … ....... ………………………………………………………34 

Copeland Act — . ………………………………………………………………………………………….34 

A. Definition ………………… .... ………………………………………………………………..34 

B. Weekly Compliance Statement … .... ………………………………………………………34 

C. Payrolls and Records ……………………… ... …………………………………………….34 

D. Payroll Deductions Not Subject to Secretary of Labor Approval … ....…………………35 

E. Payroll Deductions Subject to Secretary of Labor Approval ……… .... ………………...36 

F. Applications for Secretary of Labor Approval …………………… .... ……………………36 

G. Action by Secretary of Labor Upon Applications ……………… .... ……………………..36 

H. Prohibited Payroll Deductions ………………………………… .... ……………………….36 

I. Methods of Payment of Wages ………………………………… ..... ………………………37 

Non-segregated Facilities — Termination and Debarment ……………… .. ………………………..37 

 
Form - Weekly Statement of Compliance………………………………. .... ..………………………...38 

 
Form – Fringe Benefits Statement ………………………………… .... …………………………….…39 

 



Page 5 

INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 
(Construction) 

 
ARTICLE 1. QUALIFICATIONS OF BIDDERS—Bidders shall have the capability to perform 
classes of work contemplated, have the necessary plant and sufficient capital to execute the work 
properly within specified time. 
 
Any Bidder who has not performed comparable work for the District within the last 5 years shall 
submit, at the Contracting Officer‘s discretion, a certified statement of his organization, plant, 
manpower, financial resources, and construction experience that he considers will qualify him for 
proposed contract. This information shall be certified by a Certified Public Accountant for 
contracts over $25,000 and submitted on the AGC Form ―Standard Questionnaires and Financial 
Statement for Bidders‖, obtainable from the Associated General Contractors of America, Inc.., at 
1957 ―B‖ Street, N. W., Washington, D. C., 20008, or on an approved equivalent form. This 
requirement is not needed if the bidder has submitted such a statement to the District within a 
year prior to bid opening date, but will be required if bidder has previously submitted such a 
statement under-one company name or organization or joint venture and is now bidding under 
another company name or organization or joint venture. A certified statement of prequalification 
approval by another jurisdiction may be considered as an alternative to foregoing procedure. A 
bidder shall submit a supplemental statement if requested by the District. 
 
ARTICLE 2. BID DOCUMENTS—The Specifications (including all documents referenced therein 
and all documents attached thereto), drawings and addenda which form the basis of any bid shall 
be considered as part thereof and will form part of the bid. Copies of these documents will be 
furnished to or made available for the inspection of prospective bidders by that office indicated in 
the advertisement or invitation. 
 
ARTICLE 3. EXAMINATION OF BID DOCUMENTS AND SITE OF WORK—Each Bidder shall 
carefully examine the site of the proposed work and the bid documents and fully acquaint himself 
with conditions relating to construction and labor so that he may fully understand the facilities, 
difficulties and restrictions attending the execution of the work under the bid documents, and he 
shall judge for and satisfy himself as to conditions to be encountered affecting the character, 
quality and quantity of the work to be performed and materials to be furnished arid to the 
requirements of the bid documents. Failure to do so will be at the Bidder‘s own risk and shall not 
relieve him from any obligation under his bid or contract. 
 
ARTICLE 4. PREPARATION FOR BIDS—The bid form furnished in the bid proposal and 
specifications shall be used in strict compliance with the requirements of the Invitation and 
Supplemental Instructions to Bidders in the specifications. Special care shall be exercised in the 
preparation of bids. Bidders must make their own estimates of the facilities and difficulties to be 
anticipated upon execution of the contract, including local conditions, uncertainty of weather and 
all other contingencies. All designations and prices shall be fully and clearly set forth in the bid 
submission. ALL PRICES SHALL BE INSERTED IN FIGURES TYPED OR PRINTED LEGIBLY 
ON THE BID FORM. All corrections on the bid documents must be initialed by the person signing 
the bid form. 
 
ARTICLE 5. ERROR IN BIDS—Bidders or their authorized agents are expected to examine all 
bid documents and any addenda thereto, and all other instructions pertaining to the work which 
will be open to their inspection. Failure to do so will be at the bidder‘s own risk, and will not 
constitute reason for relief on plea of error in the bid. IN CASE OF ERROR IN THE EXTENSION 
OF PRICES IN THE BID, UNIT PRICES WILL GOVERN. 
 
The bidder must submit his plea of error in writing to the Contracting Officer and must be 
prepared to document and prove his error. 
 
ARTICLE 6. LABOR AND MATERIAL NOT FURNISHED BY DISTRICT—The District will not 
furnish any labor, material or supplies unless a provision to do so is included in the contract 
documents. 
 



Page 6 

ARTICLE 7. ADDENDA AND INTERPRETATIONS—No oral interpretations of the meaning of 
the drawings, specifications or other bid documents will be made to any bidder. Verbal 
clarification will not be binding on the District. All requests must be in writing and addressed to the 
Contracting Officer responsible for administering the contract. Requests for interpretations of bid 
documents must be received by the Contracting Officer not later than 10 days prior to bid opening 
date. All changes to the bid documents will be made by addenda mailed to all prospective 
bidders, who have obtained copies of the bid documents, not later than 7 days before bid opening 
date. In case of discrepancy among addenda, a later dated addendum has priority over earlier 
dated addenda. It shall be the bidder‘s responsibility to make inquiry as to any or all addenda 
issued, and failure of any prospective bidder to receive any such addenda issued by the 
Contracting Officer shall not relieve the bidder from any obligation under his bid as submitted. 
Bidders must acknowledge receipt of all addenda on the Bid Form; failure to do so may result in 
rejection of bid.. All addenda issued shall become part of the bid and contract documents. - 
 
ARTICLE 8. ALTERNATE BIDS—Alternate bids will not be considered unless called for in the 
Bid Form. 
 
ARTICLE 9. BIDS FOR ALL OR PART—Where bids are not qualified by specific limitations, the 
District reserves the right to award all or any of the items according to its best interests. 
 
ARTICLE 10. PRICE SCHEDULE INTERPRETATION—Quantities appearing in the Price 
Schedule are approximate only and are prepared for the comparison of bids. Payment will be 
made only for actual material requirements accepted and for work performed and accepted. 
Schedule quantities may be increased., decreased or omitted and there shall be no adjustment in 
contract unit prices except as provided, and except for such materials actually purchased or work 
actually performed prior to notification of the change in items affected. 
 
The price for any item, unless otherwise specified, shall include full compensation for all 
materials, tests, samples, manufacturers‘ guaranties, tools, equipment, labor and incidental work 
needed to complete specified items. Prices without exception shall be net, not subject to discount, 
and shall include all royalties and costs arising from patents, proprietary items, trademarks and 
copyrights. 
 
ARTICLE 11. CORRECTIONS—Erasures and other changes in bids must be explained or noted 
over the signature of the bidder. 
 
ARTICLE 12. BOND REQUIREMENTS 
 

A. BID GUARANTY—On all bids of $100,000.00 or more, security is required to insure 
the execution of the contract. No bid will be considered unless it is so guaranteed. 
Each bidder must furnish with his bid either a Bid Bond (Form No. DC 2640-5), with 
good and sufficient sureties, a certified check payable to the order of the Treasurer of 
the District of Columbia (uncertified check will not be accepted), negotiable United 
States bonds (at par value), or an irrevocable letter of credit in an amount not less 
than five percent (5%) of the amount of his bid, as a guaranty that he Will not 
withdraw said bid within the period specified therein after the opening of the same; or, 
if no period be specified, within ninety (90) days after said opening, and will, within 
the period specified therefore, or, if no period be specified, within ten (10) days, after 
the prescribed forms are forwarded to him for execution (or within any extension of 
time which may be granted by the officer to whom the bid was addressed) execute 
and deliver a written contract on the standard District form in accordance with bid as 
accepted and give bond with good and sufficient sureties, as specified below for the 
faithful performance and proper fulfillment of such contract and payment of laborers 
and material men as required by law or, in the event of the withdrawal of said bid 
within the period above stated, or the failure to enter into such contract and give such 
bond within the time above stated, that he will pay to the District the difference 
between the amount specified in said bid and the amount for which the District may 
procure the required work, if the latter amount be in excess of the former. 

           
In case security is in the form of a certified check or United States bonds, the District 
may make such disposition of the same as will accomplish the purpose for which 



Page 7 

submitted. Certified checks may be held uncollected at the bidder‘s risk. Certified 
checks and United States bonds will be returned to the unsuccessful bidders after 
award of contract and to successful bidders after the signing of prescribed forms of 
contract and bonds. Guaranty bonds will be returned only upon written application. 

 
B. PERFORMANCE BOND—For any construction contract exceeding $100,000.00, a 

Performance Bond (Form No. DC 2640-7) shall be required in a penal amount equal 
to one hundred percent (100%) of the contract price at time of award.  Additional 
performance bond protection shall be required in connection with any modification 
effecting an increase in price under any contract for which a bond is required 
pursuant to the above if: 

 
1. The modification is for new or additional work which is beyond the scope of the 

existing contract; or, 
 
2. The modification is pursuant to an existing provision of the contract and is 

expected to increase the contract price by $50,000 or twenty-five percent (25%) 
of the original total contract price, whichever is less. 
 
The penal amount of the bond protection shall be increased so that the total 
performance bond protection is one hundred percent (100%) of the contract price 
as revised by both the modification requiring such additional protection and the 
aggregate of any previous modification. The increased penal amount may be 
secured either by increasing the bond protection provided by existing surety or 
sureties or by obtaining an additional performance bond from a new surety.  

 
 

C.  PAYMENT BOND— In accordance with the provisions of Section 504(b) of the 
District of Columbia Procurement Practices Act of 1985, payment bonds shall be 
required in an amount not less than fifty percent (50%) of the total amount payable by 
the terms of the contract.  

 
Additional payment protection shall be required in connection with any notification  
effecting an increase in price under any contract for which a bond is required 
pursuant to the above if — 

 
1. The modification is for new or additional work which is beyond the scope of the 

existing contract; or 
 

2. The modification is pursuant to an existing provision of the contract and is 
expected to increase the contract price by $50,000 or twenty-five percent (25%) 
of the original total contract price, whichever is less. 

 
The penal amount of the additional bond protection shall generally be such that the 
total payment bond protection is fifty percent (50%) of the contract price as revised by 
both the modification requiring such additional protection, and the aggregate of any 
previous modifications. The additional protection may be secured either by increasing 
the bond protection provided by the existing surety or sureties or by obtaining an 
additional payment bond from a new surety. 

 
D.  BOND SOURCE—The bonds may be obtained from any surety company authorized 

by the U.S. Treasury Department as acceptable sureties on Federal Bonds and 
authorized to transact business in the District of Columbia by the Director, 
Department of Insurance, Securities and Banking. 

 
 
ARTICLE 13. SIGNATURE TO BIDS—Each bid must show the full business address of the 
bidder and be signed by him with his usual signature. Bids by partnerships must be signed with 
the partnership name by one of the members of the partnership or by an authorized 
representative, followed by the signature and designation of the person signing. Bids by 
corporations must be signed with the name of the corporation, followed by the signature and 



Page 8 

designation of the President or Vice President and attested by the Secretary of the corporation or 
other persons authorized to bind the corporation and the corporate seal affixed thereto. If bid is 
signed by other than the President or Vice President, evidence of authority to so sign must be 
furnished in the form of an extract of minutes. of a meeting of the Board of Directors or extract of 
bylaws certified by the Corporate Secretary and corporate seal affixed thereto. The names of all 
persons signing shall be typed or printed below the signatures. A bid by a person who affixes to 
his signature the word ―President‖, ―Vice President‖, ―Secretary‖, ―Agent‖, or other designation, 
without disclosing his principal, may be held personally to the bid. Bids submitted by a joint 
venture must be signed by all authorized parties to the joint venture. 
 
ARTICLE 14. MARKING AND MAILING BIDS—Bids, addenda acknowledgment, and bid 
guaranty must be securely sealed in suitable envelopes, addressed and marked on the outside 
with the name of the bidder, invitation number and date of opening. 
 
ARTICLE 15. RECEIVING BIDS, MODIFICATIONS OR WITHDRAWALS—Bids received prior to 
the time set for opening will be securely kept unopened. The officer whose duty it is to open them 
will decide when the specified time has arrived and no bid received thereafter will be considered 
unless: (1) they are sent by registered mail or by certified mail for which an official dated post 
office stamp (postmark) on the original Receipt for Certified Mail has been obtained and it is 
determined by the District that the late receipt was due solely to delay in the mails for which the 
bidder was not responsible; or (2) if submitted by mail (or by telegram if authorized by the 
Contracting Officer), it is determined by the District that the late receipt was due solely to 
mishandling by the District after receipt at the District agency: Provided, that timely receipt. at 
such agency is established upon examination of an appropriate date or time stamp or other 
documentary evidence of receipt within the control of such agency. 
 
Bidders using certified mail are cautioned to obtain a receipt for certified mail showing legible, 
dated postmark and to retain such receipt against the chance that it will be required as evidence 
that a late bid was timely mailed. The only evidence acceptable in this matter is as follows: (1) 
where the Receipt of Certified Mail identifies the post office station of mailing, evidence furnished 
by the bidder which establishes, that the business day of the station ended at an earlier time, in 
which case the time of mailing shall be deemed to be last minute of the business day; or (2) an 
entry in ink on the Receipt for Certified Mail showing the time of mailing and the initials of postal 
employee receiving the item and making the entry, with appropriate written verification of such 
entry from the post office station of mailing, in which case the time of mailing, shall be the time 
shown in the entry. If the postmark on the original Receipt for Certified Mail does not show a date, 
the bid shall not be considered. 
 
The time of mailing of late bids submitted by registered or certified mail shall be deemed to be the 
last minute of the date shown in the postmark on the registered mail receipt or registered mail 
wrapper or on the Receipt for Certified Mail unless the bidder furnishes evidence from the post 
office station of mailing which establishes an earlier time. 
 
No responsibility will attach to the District or any of its officers or employees for the premature 
opening of a bid not properly addressed and identified. Unless specifically authorized, telegraphic 
bids will not be considered, but modifications, by telegram, of bids already submitted will be 
considered if received prior to the hour set for opening, but should not reveal the amount of the 
original or revised bid. 
 
ARTICLE 16. WITHDRAWAL OF BIDS—Bids may be withdrawn on written or telegraphic 
request received from bidders prior to the time fixed for opening, provided the name of the bidder 
appears on the outside of the envelope containing the bid. Negligence on the part of the bidder in 
preparing the bid confers no right for the withdrawal of the bid after it has been opened. 
 
ARTICLE 17. OPENING OF BIDS—At the time fixed for the opening of bids, their contents will be 
made public by the Office of Contracting and Procurement for the information of bidders and 
other properly interested persons. 
 
ARTICLE 18. AWARD OR REJECTION—The Contract will be awarded to the lowest responsible 
Bidder complying with conditions of the bid documents, provided his bid is reasonable and it is in 
the best interest of the District to accept it. The Bidder, to whom award is made, will be notified by 



Page 9 

the Contracting Officer at the earliest possible date. The District, however, reserves the right to 
reject any and all bids and to waive any informality in bids received whenever such rejection or 
waiver is in the best interest of the District. 
 
If more than one bid be offered by any one party, by or in the name of his or their clerk, partner, 
or other person, all such bids may be rejected. This shall not prevent a Bidder from proceeding 
under Article 8 hereof, nor from quoting different prices on different qualities of material or 
different conditions of delivery. A supplier or material man who has quoted prices on materials to 
a Bidder is not thereby disqualified from quoting to other bidders or from submitting a bid directly 
for the materials or work. 
 
Each Bidder shall submit a bid on all items in the Price Schedule; failure to bid on all items may 
result in bid rejection. 
 
In addition to requirements for qualification of bidders as set forth in Article 1 hereof, and as 
determined by the District, proposals will be considered irregular and may be rejected by the 
Contracting Officer for any of, but not limited to, the following reasons: 

 
A. Incompetency, inadequate plant or insufficient capital as revealed by Bidder‘s 

statement on AGC or equivalent form. 
 
B. Evidence of collusion. 

 
C. Uncompleted work which might hinder or prevent proper and prompt execution and   

                  completion of work contemplated. 
 

D. Evidence that Bidder has not adequately considered all aspects of contemplated 
work. 

 
E. Failure to settle bills satisfactorily, claims and judgments due for labor and material 

on  Bidder‘s contracts in force on bid opening date. 
 

F. Default under previous contracts. 
 

G. Unacceptable rating as listed on published government lists. 
 

H. Proposal submission on form other than that form furnished by District, or altered or 
partially detached form. 

 
I. Unauthorized additions, deletions, omissions, conditional bids, or irregularities which 

may make proposal incomplete or ambiguous in meaning. 
 

J. Failure to acknowledge all addenda issued. 
 

K. Failure to submit bid in the properly labeled receptacle at that location designated as 
the Office of Contracting and Procurement, Bid Room, Suite 700, 441 4th St., N.W.,  
Washington, D.C. 20001 and prior to the time set for opening as governed  by the 
Official Clock designated as such in that Bid Room. 

 
ARTICLE 19. CANCELLATION OF AWARDS—The right is reserved to the District, without any 
liability upon the District, to cancel the award of any contract at any time prior to approval of a 
formal written contract signed by the Contractor and the Contracting Officer. 
 
ARTICLE 20. CONTRACT AND BOND—The Bidder to whom award is made must, when 
required, enter into a written contract on the standard District form, with satisfactory security in 
the amount required (see Article 12) within the period specified, or no period be specified, within  
10 days alter the prescribed forms are presented to him for signature. 



Page 10 

 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 
(Construction Contract) 

ARTICLE 1. DEFINITIONS 
 

A. ―District‖ as used herein means the District of Columbia, a municipal corporation. 
 
B. ―Mayor‖ as used herein means the elected head of the District as set forth in Public Law 

93-198 dated December 24, 1973, Title 4, Part B, Section 422(1). 
 

C. ―Contracting Officer‖ as used herein means the District official authorized to  
execute and administrate the Contract on behalf of the District. 

 
D. ―Contract Documents‖ or ―Contract‖ as. used herein means Addenda, Contract Form,  

Instructions to Bidders, General Provisions, Labor Provisions, Performance and Payment 
Bonds, Specifications, Special Provisions, Contract Drawings, approved written Change 
Orders and Agreements required to acceptably complete the Contract, including 
authorized extensions thereof. 

 
ARTICLE 2. SPECIFICATIONS AND DRAWINGS—The Contractor shall keep on the work site a 
copy of Contract drawings and specifications and shall at all times give the Contracting Officer 
access thereto. Anything mentioned in the specifications and not shown on the Contract 
drawings, or shown on the Contract drawings and not mentioned in the specifications, shall be of 
like effect as if shown or mentioned in both. 
 
All Contract requirements are equally binding. Each Contract requirement, whether or not omitted 
elsewhere in the Contract, is binding as though occurring in any or all parts of the Contract. In 
case of discrepancy: 
 

1. The Contracting Officer shall be promptly notified in writing of any error, 
discrepancy or omission, apparent or otherwise. 

 
2. Applicable Federal and D. C. Code requirements have priority over: the Contract 

form, General Provisions,  Change Orders, Addenda, Contract drawings, Special 
Provisions and Specifications. 

 
3. The Contract form, General Provisions and Labor Provisions have priority over: 

Change Orders, Addenda, Contract drawings, Special Provisions and 
Specifications. 

 
4. Change Orders have priority over: Addenda, Contract drawings and 

Specifications. 
 

5. Addenda have priority over: Contract drawings, Special Provisions and 
Specifications. A later dated Addendum has priority over earlier dated Addenda. 

 
6. Special Provisions have priority over: Contract drawings and other specifications. 

 
7. Shown and indicated dimensions have priority over scaled dimensions. 

 
8. Original scale drawings and details have priority over any other different scale 

drawings and details. 
 

9. Large scale drawings and details have priority over small scale drawings and 
details.   

 
10. Any adjustment by the Contractor without a prior determination by the 

Contracting Officer shall be at his own risk and expense. The Contracting Officer 
will furnish from time to time such detail drawings and other information as he 
may consider necessary, unless otherwise provided. 

 



Page 11 

 
ARTICLE 3. CHANGES 
 

A. DESIGNATED CHANGE ORDERS—The Contracting Officer may, at any time, without 
notice to the sureties, by written order designated or indicated to be a change order, 
make any change in the work within the general scope of the Contract, including but not 
limited to changes 

 
1. In the Contract drawings and specifications; 

 
2. In the method or manner of performance of the work; 

 
3. In the District furnished facilities, equipment, materials or services; or 

 
4. Directing acceleration in the performance of the work. 

 
Nothing provided in this Article shall excuse the Contractor from proceeding with the 
prosecution of the work so changed.  

 
B. OTHER CHANGE ORDERS—Any other written order or an oral order (which term as 

used in this Section (B) shall include direction, instruction, interpretation, or 
determination) from the Contracting Officer which causes any such change, shall be 
treated as a Change Order under this Article, provided that the Contractor gives the 
Contracting Officer written notice stating the date, circumstances and sources of the 
order and that the Contractor regards the order as a Change Order. 

 
C. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS—Except as herein provided, no order, statement or 

conduct of the Contracting Officer shall be treated as a change under this Article or 
entitle the Contractor to an equitable adjustment hereunder. If any change under this 
Article causes an increase or decrease in the Contract‘s cost of, or the time required for, 
the performance of any part of the work under this Contract whether or not changed by 
any order, an equitable adjustment shall be made and the Contract modified in writing 
accordingly; provided, however, that except for claims based on defective specifications, 
no claim for any change under (B) above shall be allowed for any cost incurred more 
than 20 days before the Contractor gives written notice as therein required unless this 20 
days is extended by the Contracting Officer and provided further, that in case of defective 
drawings and specifications, the equitable adjustment shall include any increased cost 
reasonably incurred by the Contractor in attempting to comply with such defective 
drawings and specifications. 

 
If the Contractor intends to assert a claim for an equitable adjustment under this Article, 
he must, within 30 days after receipt of a written Change Order under (A) above or the 
furnishing of a written notice under (B) above, submit to the Contracting Officer a written 
statement setting forth the general nature and monetary extent of such claim, unless this 
period is extended by the Contracting Officer. The statement of claim hereunder may be 
included in the notice under (B) above. 

 
No claim by the Contractor for an equitable adjustment hereunder shall be allowed if 
asserted after final payment under the Contract. 

 
D. CHANGE ORDER BREAKDOWN—Contract prices shall be used for Change Order 

work where work is of similar nature; no other costs, overhead or profit will be allowed.   
 

Where Contract prices are not appropriate and the nature of the change is known in 
advance of construction, the parties shall attempt to agree on a fully justifiable price 
adjustment and/or adjustment of completion time. 

 
When Contract prices are not appropriate, or the parties fail to agree on equitable 
adjustment, or in processing claims, equitable adjustment for Change Order work shall be 
per this Article and Article 4 and shall be based upon the breakdown shown in following 



Page 12 

subsections 1. through 7. The Contractor shall assemble a complete cost breakdown that 
lists and substantiates each item of work and each item of cost. 

 
1. Labor—Payment will be made for direct labor cost plus indirect labor cost such 

as insurance, taxes, fringe benefits and welfare provided such costs are 
considered reasonable. Indirect costs shall be itemized and verified by receipted 
invoices. If verification is not possible, up to 18 percent of direct labor costs may 
be allowed. In addition, up to 20 percent of direct plus indirect labor costs may be 
allowed for overhead and profit. 

 
2. Bond—Payment for additional bond cost will be made per bond rate schedule 

submitted to the Office of Contracting and Procurement with the executed 
Contract. 

 
3. Materials—Payment for cost of required materials will be F.O.B. destination (the 

job site) with an allowance for overhead and profit. 
 

4. Rented Equipment—Payment for required equipment rented from an outside 
company that is neither an affiliate of, nor a subsidiary of, the Contractor will be 
based on receipted invoices which shall not exceed rates given in the current 
edition of the Rental Rate Blue Book for Construction Equipment published by 
Data Quest.   If actual rental rates exceed manual rates, written justification shall 
be furnished to the Contracting Officer for consideration. No additional allowance 
will be made for overhead and profit. The Contractor shall submit written 
certification to the Contracting Officer that any required rented equipment is 
neither owned by nor rented from the Contractor or an affiliate of or subsidiary of 
the Contractor. 

 
5. Contractor’s Equipment— Payment for required equipment owned by the 

Contractor or an affiliate of the Contractor will be based solely on an hourly rate 
derived by dividing the current appropriate monthly rate by 176 hours. No 
payment will be made under any circumstances for repair costs, freight and 
transportation charges, fuel, lubricants, insurance, any other costs and expenses, 
or overhead and profit. Payment for such equipment made idle by delays 
attributable to the District will be based on one-half the derived hourly rate under 
this subsection. 

 
6. Miscellaneous—No additional allowance will be made for general 

superintendence, use of small tools and other costs for which no specific 
allowance is herein provided. 

 
7. Subcontract Work—Payment for additional necessary subcontract work will be 

based on applicable procedures in 1. through 6., to which total additional 
subcontract work up to an additional 10 percent may be allowed for the 
Contractor‘s overhead and profit.  

 
ARTICLE 4. EQUITABLE ADJUSTMENT OF CONTRACT TERMS 
 
The Contractor is entitled to an equitable adjustment of the contract terms whenever the following 
situations develop: 
 
Differing Site Conditions: 
 

(1) During the progress of the work, if subsurface or latent physical conditions are 
encountered at the site differing materially from those indicated in the contract or 
if unknown physical conditions of an unusual nature, differing materially from 
those ordinarily encountered and generally recognized as inherent in the work 
provided for in the contract, are encountered at the site, the Contractor, upon 
discovering such conditions, shall promptly notify the Contracting Officer in 
writing of the specific differing conditions before they are disturbed and before 
the affected work is performed. 



Page 13 

 
(2) Upon written notification, the Contracting Officer will investigate the conditions, 

and if he/she determines that the conditions materially differ and cause an 
increase or decrease in the cost or time required for the performance of any work 
under the contract, an adjustment, excluding loss of anticipated profits, will be 
made and the contract modified in writing accordingly.  The Contracting Officer 
will notify the Contractor of his/her determination whether or not an adjustment of 
the contract is warranted. 

 
(3) No contract adjustment which results in a benefit to the Contract will be allowed 

unless the Contractor has provided the required written notice. 
 

(4) No contract adjustment will be allowed under this clause for any effects caused 
on unchanged work. 

 
Suspension of Work Ordered by the Contracting Officer: 
 

(1) If the performance of all or any portion of the work is suspended or delayed by 
the Contracting Officer in writing for an unreasonable period of time (not originally 
anticipated, customary, or inherent to the construction industry) and the 
Contractor believes that additional compensation and/or contract time is due as a 
result of such suspension or delay, the Contractor shall submit to the Contracting 
Officer in writing a request for equitable adjustment within seven (7) calendar 
days of receipt of the notice to resume work.  The request shall set forth the 
reasons and support for such adjustment. 

 
(2) Upon receipt, the Contracting Officer will evaluate the Contractor‘s request.  If the 

Contracting Officer agrees that the cost and/or time required for the performance 
of the contract has increased as a result of such suspension and the suspension 
was caused by conditions beyond the control or and not the fault of the 
contractor, its suppliers, or subcontractors at any approved tier, and not caused 
by weather, the Contracting Officer will make an adjustment (excluding profit) 
and modify the contract in writing accordingly.  The Contracting Officer will notify 
the Contract of his/her determination whether or not an adjustment of the 
contract is warranted. 

 
(3) No contract adjustment will be allowed unless the Contractor has submitted the 

request for adjustment within the time prescribed. 
 

(4) No contract adjustment will be allowed under this clause to the extent that 
performance would have been suspended or delayed by any other cause, or for 
which an adjustment is provided for or excluded under any other term of 
condition of this contract. 

 
Significant Changes in the Character of Work: 
 

(1) The Contracting Officer reserves the right to make, in writing, at any time during 
the work, such changes in quantities and such alterations in the work as are 
necessary to satisfactorily complete the project.  Such changes in quantities and 
alterations shall not invalidate the contract nor release the surety, and the 
Contractor agrees to perform the work as altered. 

 
(2) If the alterations or changes in quantities significantly change the character of the 

work under the contract, whether or not changed by any such different quantities 
or alterations, an adjustment, excluding loss of anticipated profits, will be made to 
the contract.  The basis for the adjustment shall be agreed upon prior to the 
performance of the work.  If a basis cannot be agreed upon, then an adjustment 
will be made either for or against the Contractor in such amount as the 
Contracting Officer may determine to be fair and reasonable. 

 



Page 14 

(3) If the alterations or changes in quantities significantly change the character of the 
work to be performed under the contract, the altered work will be paid for as 
provided elsewhere in the contract. 

 
(4) The term ―significant change‖ shall be construed to apply only to the following 

circumstances: 
 

(a) When the character of the work as altered differs materially in kind or 
nature from that involved or included in the original proposed 
construction; or 

 
(b) When an item of work is increased in excess of 125 percent or 

decreased below 75 percent of the original contract quantity.  Any 
allowance for an increase in quantity shall apply only to that portion in 
excess of 125 percent of original contract item quantity, or in the case of 
a decrease below 75 percent, to the actual amount of work performed. 

 
  
ARTICLE 5. TERMINATION-DELAYS—If the Contractor refuses or fails to prosecute the work, 
or any separable part thereof, with such diligence as will insure its completion within the time 
specified in the Contract, or any extension thereof, or fails to complete said work within specified 
time, the District may, by written notice to the Contractor, terminate his right to proceed with the 
work or such part of the work involving the delay. In such event the District may take over the 
work and prosecute the same to completion, by contract or otherwise, and may take possession 
of and utilize in completing the work such materials, appliances, and plant as may have been paid 
for by the District or may be on the site of the work and necessary therefore. Whether or not the 
Contractor‘s right to proceed with the work is terminated, he and his sureties shall be liable for 
any liability to the District resulting from his refusal or failure to complete the work within the 
specified time. 

 
If fixed and agreed liquidated damages are provided in the Contract and if the District does not so 
terminate the Contractor‘s right to proceed, the resulting damage will consist of such liquidated 
damages until the work is completed or accepted. 

 
The Contractor‘s right to proceed shall not be so terminated nor the Contractor charged with 
resulting damage if: 

 
1. The delay in the completion the work arises from unforeseeable causes beyond the 

control and without the fault or negligence of the Contractor, including but not restricted to 
acts of God, acts of the public enemy, acts of the District in either its sovereign or 
contractual capacity, acts of another contractor in the performance of a contract with the 
District, fires, floods, epidemics, quarantine restrictions, strikes, freight embargoes, 
climatic conditions beyond the normal which could be anticipated, or delays of 
subcontractors or suppliers arising from unforeseeable causes beyond the control and 
without the fault or negligence of both the Contractor and such subcontractors or 
suppliers (the term subcontractors or suppliers shall mean subcontractors or suppliers at 
any tier); and 

 
2. The Contractor, within 10 days from the beginning of any such delay, (unless the 

Contracting Officer grants a further period of time before the date of final payment under  
the Contract) notifies the Contracting Officer in writing of the causes of delay. 

 
The Contracting Officer shall ascertain the facts and the extent of the delay and extend the time 
far completing the work when, in his judgment, the findings of fact justify such an extension, and 
his findings of fact shall be final and conclusive on the parties, subject only to appeal as provided 
in Article 7 herein. 

 
If, after notice of termination of the Contractor‘s right to proceed under the provisions of this 
Article, it is determined for any reason that the Contractor was not in default under the provisions 
of this Article, or that the delay was excusable under the provisions of this Article, the rights and 



Page 15 

obligations of the parties shall be in accordance with Article 6 herein. Failure to agree to any such 
adjustment shall be a dispute concerning a question of fact within the meaning of Article 7 herein. 

 
The rights and remedies of the District provided in this Article are in addition to any other rights 
and remedies provided by law or under the Contract. 
 
The District may, by written notice, terminate the Contract or a portion thereof as a result of an 
Executive Order of the President of the United States with respect to the prosecution of war or in 
the interest of national defense. When the Contract is so terminated, no claim for loss of 
anticipated profits will be permitted. 

 
ARTICLE 6. TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE OF THE DISTRICT 

 
A. The performance of work under the Contract may be terminated by the District in 

accordance with this Article in whole, or in part, whenever the Contracting Officer shall 
determine that such termination is in the best interest of the District. Any such 
termination shall be effected by delivery to the Contractor of a Notice of Termination 
specifying the extent to which performance of work under the Contract is terminated, 
and the date upon which such termination becomes effective. 

 
B. After receipt of a Notice of Termination, and except as otherwise directed by the  

Contracting Officer, the Contractor shall: 
 

1. Stop work under the Contract on the date and to the extent specified in the Notice of 
Termination. 

 
2. Place no further orders or subcontracts for materials, services, or facilities except as 

may be necessary for completion of such portion of the work under the Contract as 
is not terminated. 

 
3. Terminate all orders and subcontracts to the extent that they relate to the 

performance of work terminated by the Notice of Termination. 
 

4. Assign to the District, in the manner, at the times, and to the extent directed by the 
Contracting Officer, all of the right, title and interest of the Contractor under the 
orders and subcontracts so terminated, in which case the District shall have the 
right, in its discretion, to settle or pay any or all claims arising out of the termination 
of such orders and subcontracts. 

 
5. Settle all outstanding liabilities and all claims arising out of such termination of 

orders or subcontracts, with the approval or ratification of the Contracting Officer to 
the extent he may require, which approval or ratification shall be final for all 
purposes of this Article. 

 
6. Transfer title to the District and deliver in the manner, at the times, and to the 

extent, if any, directed by the Contracting Officer 
: 

a. The fabricated or unfabricated parts, work in progress, completed work, 
supplies, and other material procured as a part of, or acquired in connection 
with, the performance of the work terminated by the Notice of Termination, 
and 

 
b. The completed, or partially completed plans, drawings information and other 

property which, if the Contract bad been completed, would have been 
required to be furnished to the District. 

 
   7.   Use his best efforts to sell, in the manner, at the terms, to the extent, and at the 
         price or prices directed or authorized by the Contracting Officer, any property of the   
         types referred to in 6 above provided, however, that the Contractor: 

  
a. Shall not be required to extend credit to any purchaser, and 



Page 16 

 
b. May acquire any property under the conditions prescribed and at a price or 

prices approved by the Contracting Officer, and 
 

c. Provided further, that the proceeds of any such transfer or disposition shall be 
applied in reduction of any payments to be made by the District to the 
Contractor under the Contract or shall otherwise be credited to the price or 
cost of the work covered by the Contract or paid in such other manner as the 
Contracting Officer may direct. 

 
8. Complete performance of such part of the work as shall not have been terminated 

by the Notice of Termination. 
 

9.  Take such action as may be necessary, or as the Contracting Officer may direct, 
for the protection and preservation of the property related to the Contract which is 
in the possession of the Contractor and in which the District has or may acquire 
an interest. 
 

10.    The Contractor shall proceed immediately with the performance of the above   
obligations notwithstanding any delay in determining or adjusting the cost, or any  
item of reimbursable cost, under this Article. 

 
  11.   ―Plant clearance period‖ means, for each particular property classification (such as  

raw materials, purchased parts and work in progress) at any one plant or location, 
a period beginning with the effective date of the termination for convenience and 
ending 90 days after receipt by the Contracting Officer of acceptable inventory 
schedules covering all items of that particular property classification in the 
termination inventory at that plant or location, or ending on such later date as may 
be agreed to by the Contracting Officer and the Contractor. Final phase of a plant 
clearance period means that part of a plant clearance period which occurs alter 
the receipt of acceptable inventory schedules covering all items of the particular 
property classification at the plant or location. 
 
At any time after expiration of the plant clearance period, as defined above, the 
Contractor may submit to the Contracting Officer a list, certified as to quantity and 
quality, of any or all items of termination inventory not previously disposed of, 
exclusive of items the disposition of which has been directed or authorized by the 
Contracting Officer, and may request the District to remove such items or enter 
into a storage agreement covering them. Not later than 15 days thereafter, the 
District will accept title to such items and remove them or enter into a storage 
agreement covering the same; provided, that the list submitted shall be subject to 
verification by the Contracting Officer upon removal of the items or, if the items 
are stored, within 45 days from the date of submission of the list, and any 
necessary adjustments to correct the list as submitted, shall be made prior to final 
settlement. 

 
C. After receipt of a Notice of Termination, the Contractor shall submit to the Contracting 

Officer his termination claim, in the form with the certification prescribed by the 
Contracting Officer.  Such claim shall be submitted promptly but in no event later than 
one year from the effective date of termination, unless one or more extensions in 
writing are granted by the Contracting Officer upon request of the Contractor made in 
writing within such one year period or authorized extension thereof. However, if the 
Contracting Officer determines that the facts justify such action, he may receive and act 
upon any such termination claim at any time after such one year period or extension 
thereof. Upon failure of the Contractor to submit his termination claim within the time 
allowed, the Contracting Officer may, subject to any review required by the District‘s 
procedures in effect as of the date of execution of the Contract, determine, on the basis 
of information available to him, the amount, if any, due to the Contractor by reason of 
the termination and shall thereupon pay to the Contractor the amount so determined. 

 



Page 17 

D. Subject to the provisions of C above, and subject to any review required by the 
District‘s procedures in effect as of the date of execution of the Contract, the Contractor 
and Contracting Officer may agree upon the whole or any part of the amount or 
amounts to be paid to the Contractor by reason of the total or partial    termination of 
work pursuant to this Article, which amount or amounts may include a reasonable 
allowance for profit on work done; provided, that such agreed amount or amounts, 
exclusive of settlement costs, shall not exceed the total Contract price as reduced by 
the amount of payments otherwise made and as further reduced by the Contract price 
of work not terminated. The Contract shall be amended accordingly, and the Contractor 
shall be paid the agreed amount. Nothing in E below prescribing the amount to be paid 
to the Contractor in the event of failure of the Contractor and the Contracting Officer to 
agree upon the whole amount to be paid to the Contractor by reason of the termination 
of work pursuant to this Article, shall be deemed to limit, restrict or otherwise determine 
or effect the amount or amounts which may be agreed upon to be paid to the 
Contractor pursuant to this paragraph. 

 
E. In the event of the failure of the Contractor and the Contracting Officer to agree as 

provided in D above upon the whole amount to be paid to the Contractor by reason of 
the termination of work pursuant to this Article, the Contracting Officer shall, subject to 
any review required by the District‘s procedures in effect as of the date of execution of 
the Contract, determine, on the basis of information available to him, the amount, if 
any, due the Contractor by reason of the termination and shall pay to the Contractor the 
amounts determined by the Contracting Officer, as follows, but without duplication of 
any amounts agreed upon in accordance with D above: 

 
1. With respect to all Contract work performed prior to the effective date of the 

Notice of Termination, the total (without duplication of any items) of: 
 

a. The cost of such work; 
 

b. The cost of settling and paying claims arising out of the 
termination of work under subcontracts or orders as provided in 
B 5. above, exclusive of the amounts paid or payable on 
account of supplies or materials delivered or services furnished 
by the subcontractor prior to the effective date of the Notice of 
Termination of work under the Contract, which amounts shall 
be included in the cost on account of which payment is made 
under E1.a. above; and 

 
c.   A sum, as profit on E.1.a. above, determined by the Contracting    

Officer to be fair and reasonable; provided however, that if it  
appears that the Contractor would have sustained a loss on the 
entire Contract had it been completed, no profit shall be 
included or allowed under this subparagraph and an 
appropriate adjustment shall be made reducing the amount of 
the settlement to reflect the indicated rate of loss; and provided 
further that profit shall be allowed only on preparations made 
and work done by the Contractor for the terminated portion of 
the Contract but may not be allowed on the Contractor‘s 
settlement expenses. Anticipatory profits and consequential 
damages will not be allowed. Any reasonable method may be 
used to arrive at a fair profit, separately or as part of the whole 
settlement. 

 
                    2.   The reasonable cost of the preservation and protection of property incurred    
                          pursuant to B.9; and any other reasonable cost incidental to termination of work    

                under the Contract including expense incidental to the determination of the    
                amount due to the Contractor as the result of the termination of work under the   
                Contract. 

 



Page 18 

F.   The total sum to be paid to me Contractor under E.1. above shall not exceed the total  
      Contract price as reduced by the amount of payments otherwise made and as further    
      reduced by the Contract price of work not terminated. Except for normal spoilage, and  
      except to the extent that the District shall have otherwise expressly assumed the risk    
      of loss, there shall be excluded from the amounts payable to the Contractor under   
      E.1. above, the fair value, as determined by the Contracting Officer, of property which  
      is destroyed, lost, stolen or damaged so as to become undeliverable to the District, or      
      to a buyer pursuant to B.7 above. 
 

G. The Contractor shall have the right of appeal, under Article 7 herein, from any  
determination made by the Contracting Officer under C. or E. above, except that, if 
the Contractor has failed to submit his claim within the time provided in C above and 
has failed to request extension of such time, he shall have no such right of appeal. In 
any case where the Contracting Officer has made a determination of the amount due 
under C. or E. above, the District shall pay to the Contractor the following: 

 
1. If there is no right of appeal hereunder or if no timely appeal has been taken, 

the amount so determined by the Contracting Officer, or 
 

2. If an appeal had been taken, the amount finally determined on such appeal. 
 

H. In arriving at the amount due the Contractor under this Article there shall be 
deducted: 

 
1. all unliquidated advance or other payments on account theretofore made to 

the Contractor, applicable to the terminated portion of the Contract; 
 

2. any claim which the District may have against the Contractor in connection 
with the Contract; and 

 
3. the agreed price for, or the proceeds of sale of, any materials, supplies or 

other things kept by the Contractor or sold, pursuant to the provisions of this 
Article and not otherwise recovered by or credited to the District. 

 
I. If the termination hereunder be partial, prior to the settlement of the terminated 

portion of the Contract, the Contractor may file with the Contracting Officer a request 
in writing for an equitable adjustment of the price or prices specified in the Contract 
relating to the continued portion of the Contract (the portion not terminated by the 
Notice of Termination), and such equitable adjustment as may be agreed upon shall 
be made at such price or prices; however, nothing contained herein shall limit the 
right of the District and the Contractor to agree upon the amount or amounts to be 
paid to the Contractor for the completion of the continued portion of the Contract 
when said Contract does not contain an established Contract price for such continued 
portion. 

 
J. The District may from time to time, under such terms and conditions as it may 

prescribe, make partial payments against costs incurred by the Contractor in 
connection with the terminated portion of the Contract whenever in the opinion of the 
Contracting Officer the aggregate of such payments shall be within the amount to 
which the Contractor will be entitled hereunder. If the total of such payments is in 
excess of the amount finally agreed or determined to be due under this Article, such 
excess Shall be payable by the Contractor to the District upon demand, together with 
interest computed at the rate of 6 percent per annum for the period from the date 
such excess is received by the Contractor to the date on which such excess is repaid 
to the District; provided however, that no interest shall be charged with respect to any 
such excess payment attributable to a reduction in the Contractor‘s claim by reason 
of retention or other disposition of termination inventory until ten days after the date of 
such retention or disposition, or such later date as determined by the Contracting 
Officer by reason of the circumstances. 

 



Page 19 

K. Unless otherwise provided in the Contract or by applicable statute, the Contractor, 
from the effective date of termination and for a period of three years after final 
settlement under the Contract, shall preserve and make available to the District at all 
reasonable times at the office of the Contractor, but without direct charge to the 
District, all his books, records, documents and other evidence bearing on the costs 
and expenses of the Contractor under the Contract and relating to the work 
terminated hereunder, or, to the extent approved by the Contracting Officer, 
photographs and other authentic reproductions thereof. 

 
ARTICLE 7. DISPUTES  
 
             A.    All disputes arising under or relating to this contract shall be resolved as provided 

herein. 
 

B. Claims by a Contractor against the District. 
 
  ―Claim‖, as used in Section B of this clause, means a written assertion by the 

Contractor seeking, as a matter of right, the payment of money in a sum certain, the 
adjustment or interpretation of contract terms, or other relief arising under or relating 
to this contract. A claim arising under a contract, unlike a claim relating to that 
contract, is a claim that can be resolved under a contract clause that provides for the 
relief sought by the claimant.   

 
  (a)   All claims by a Contractor against the District arising under or relating to a 

contract shall be in writing and shall be submitted to the Contracting Officer for a 
decision. The contractor‘s claim shall contain at least the following: 

 
(1) A description of the claim and the amount in dispute; 
(2) Any data or other information in support of the claim; 
(3) A brief description of the Contractor‘s efforts to resolve the dispute prior 
to filing the claim; and 
(4) The Contractor‘s request for relief or other action by the Contracting 
Officer. 
(b) The Contracting Officer may meet with the Contractor in a further attempt to resolve 
the claim by agreement. 
November (2004) 
SCP. 9 
(c) For any claim of $50,000 or less, the Contracting Officer shall issue a decision 
within sixty (60) days from receipt of a written request from a Contractor that a 
decision be rendered within that period. 
(d) For any claim over $50,000, the Contracting Officer shall issue a decision within 
ninety (90) days of receipt of the claim. Whenever possible, the Contracting 
Officer shall take into account factors such as the size and complexity of the 
claim and the adequacy of the information in support of the claim provided by 
the Contractor. 
(e) The Contracting Officer‘s written decision shall do the following: 
(1) Provide a description of the claim or dispute; 
(2) Refer to the pertinent contract terms; 
(3) State the factual areas of agreement and disagreement; 
(4) State the reasons for the decision, including any specific findings of fact, 
although specific findings of fact are not required and, if made, shall not 
be binding in any subsequent proceeding; 
(5) If all or any part of the claim is determined to be valid, determine the 
amount of monetary settlement, the contract adjustment to be made, or 
other relief to be granted; 
(6) Indicate that the written document is the contracting officer‘s final 
decision; and 
(7) Inform the Contractor of the right to seek further redress by appealing the 
decision to the Contract Appeals Board. 
(f) Any failure by the Contracting Officer to issue a decision on a contract claim 
within the required time period will be deemed to be a denial of the claim, and 



Page 20 

will authorize the commencement of an appeal to the Contract Appeals Board 
as authorized by D.C. Official Code § 2-309.04. 
(g) (1) If a Contractor is unable to support any part of his or her claim and it is 
determined that the inability is attributable to a material 
misrepresentation of fact or fraud on the part of the Contractor, the 
Contractor shall be liable to the District for an amount equal to the 
unsupported part of the claim in addition to all costs to the District 
attributable to the cost of reviewing that part of the Contractor‘s claim. 
(2) Liability under paragraph (g)(1) shall be determined within six (6) 
years of the commission of the misrepresentation of fact or fraud. 
(h) The decision of the Contracting Officer shall be final and not subject to review 
unless an administrative appeal or action for judicial review is timely 
commenced by the Contractor as authorized by D. C. Official Code § 2-309.04. 
(i) Pending final decision of an appeal, action, or fina l settlement, a Contractor 
shall proceed diligently with performance of the contract in accordance with 
the decision of the Contracting Officer. 
November (2004) 
SCP. 10 
C. Claims by the District against a Contractor 
(a) Claim as used in Section C of this clause, means a written demand or written 
assertion by the District seeking, as a matter of right, the payment of money 
in a sum certain, the adjustment of contract terms, or other relief arising 
under or relating to this contract. A claim arising under a contract, unlike a 
claim relating to that contract, is a claim that can be resolved under a contract 
clause that provides for the relief sought by the claimant. 
(b) (1) All claims by the District against a Contractor arising under or 
relating to a contract shall be decided by the Contracting Officer. 
(2) The Contracting Officer shall send written notice of the claim to the 
Contractor. The Contracting Officer‘s written decision shall do the 
following: 
(a) Provide a description of the claim or dispute; 
(b) Refer to the pertinent contract terms; 
(c) State the factual areas of agreement and disagreement; 
(d) State the reasons for the decision, including any specific findings of 
fact, although specific findings of fact are not required and, if made, 
shall not be binding in any subsequent proceeding; 
(e) If all or any part of the claim is determined to be valid, determine the 
amount of monetary settlement, the contract adjustment to be made, 
or other relief to be granted; 
(f) Indicate that the written document is the Contracting Officer‘s final 
decision; and 
(g) Inform the Contractor of the right to seek further redress by 
appealing the decision to the Contract Appeals Board. 
(3) The decision shall be supported by reasons and shall inform the 
Contractor of its rights as provided herein. 
(4) The authority contained in this clause shall not apply to a claim or dispute 
for penalties or forfeitures prescribed by statute or regulation which 
another District agency is specifically authorized to administer, settle, or 
determine. 
(5) This clause shall not authorize the Contracting Officer to settle, 
compromise, pay, or otherwise adjust any claim involving fraud. 
(c) The decision of the Contracting Officer shall be final and not subject to 
review unless an administrative appeal or action for judicial review is timely 
commenced by the Contractor as authorized by D.C. Official Code §2- 
309.04. 
(d) Pending final decision of an appeal, action, or final settlement, the Contractor 
shall proceed diligently with performance of the contract in accordance with 
the decision of the Contracting Officer. 

 
 



Page 21 

ARTICLE 8. PAYMENTS TO CONTRACTOR—The District will pay the contract price or prices 
as hereinafter provided in accordance with District and Federal regulations. 

The District will make progress payments monthly as the work proceeds, or at more frequent 
intervals as determined by the Contracting Officer, on estimates approved by the Contracting 
Officer. The Contractor shall furnish a breakdown of the total Contract price showing the amount 
included therein for each principal category of the work, in such detail as requested, to provide a 
basis for determining progress payments. In the preparation of estimates the Contracting 
Officer, at his discretion, may authorize material delivered on the site and preparatory work done 
to be taken into consideration. Material delivered to the Contractor at locations other than the 
site may also be taken into consideration: 

1. If such consideration is specifically authorized by the Contract;

2. If the Contractor furnishes satisfactory evidence that he has acquired title to such
material, that it meets Contract requirements and that it will be utilized on the work
covered by the Contract; and

3. If the Contractor furnishes to the Contracting Officer an itemized list.

The Contracting Officer at his/her discretion shall cause to be with held retention in an amount 
sufficient to protect the interest of the District of Columbia.  The amount shall not exceed ten 
percent (10%) of the partial payment. However, if the Contracting Officer, at any time after 50 
percent of the work has been completed, finds that satisfactory progress is being made, he may 
authorize any of the remaining progress payments to be made in full or may retain from such 
remaining partial payments less than 10 percent thereof. Also, whenever work is substantially 
complete, the Contracting Officer, if he considers the amount retained to be in excess of the 
amount adequate for the protection of the District, at his discretion, may release to the 
Contractor all or a portion of such excess amount. Furthermore, on completion and acceptance 
of each separate building, public work, or other division of the Contract, on which the price is 
stated separately in the Contract, payment may be made therefore without retention of a 
percentage, less authorized deductions. 

All material and work covered by progress payments made shall thereupon become the sole 
property of the District, but this provision shall not be construed as relieving the Contractor from 
the sole responsibility for all material and work upon which payments have been made or the 
restoration of any damaged work, or as waiving the right of the District to require the fulfillment 
of all of the terms of the Contract. 

Upon completion and acceptance of all work, the amount due the Contractor under the Contract 
shall be paid upon presentation at a properly executed voucher and after the Contractor shall 
have furnished the District with a release, if required, of all claims against the District arising by 
virtue of the Contract, other than claims in stated amounts as may be specifically excepted by 
the Contractor from the operation of the release. 

ARTICLE 9. TRANSFER OR ASSIGNMENT—Unless otherwise provided by law, neither the 
Contract nor any interest therein may be transferred or assigned by the Contractor to any other 
party without the written consent of the Contracting Officer nor without the written acceptance by 
the surety on the performance and payment bond securing the Contract of the assignee as the 
Contractor and the principal on such bond; and any attempted transfer or assignment not 
authorized by this Article shall constitute a breach of the Contract and the District may for such 
cause terminate the right of the Contractor to proceed in the same manner as provided in Article 
5 herein, and the Contractor and his sureties shall be liable to the District for any excess cost 
occasioned the District thereby. 

ARTICLE 10. MATERIAL AND WORKMANSHIP 

A. GENERAL—Unless otherwise specifically provided in the Contract, all equipment,
material and articles incorporated in the work covered by the Contract shall be new and
of the most suitable grade for the purpose intended. Unless otherwise specifically
provided in the Contract, reference to any equipment, material, article or patented



Page 22 

process, by trade name, make or catalog number, shall be regarded as establishing a 
standard of quality and shall not be construed as limiting competition., and the Contractor 
may use any equipment, material, article or process which, in the judgment of the 
Contracting Officer, is equivalent to that named unless otherwise specified. The 
Contractor shall furnish to the Contracting Officer for his approval the name of the 
manufacturer, the model number, and other identifying data and information respecting 
the performance, capacity, nature and rating of the mechanical and other equipment 
which the Contractor contemplates incorporating in the work. Machinery and equipment 
shall be in proper condition. When required by the Contract or when called for by the 
Contracting Officer, the Contractor shall furnish to the Contracting Officer for approval full 
information concerning the material or articles which he contemplates incorporating in the 
work. When so directed, samples shall be submitted for approval at the Contractor‘s 
expense, with all shipping charges prepaid. Machinery, equipment, material, and articles 
installed or used without required approval shall be at the risk of subsequent rejection 
and subject to satisfactory replacement at Contractor‘s expense. 

 
B. SURPLUS MATERIALS USE—Whenever specified in the Contract or authorized by the  

         Contracting Officer that materials become the property of the Contractor, which by   
          reference or otherwise shall include disposal of materials, it is understood that the  

Contractor accepts such materials ―as is‖ with no further expense or liability to the 
District.  If such material specified in the Contract will have a potential or real interest of 
value, the Contractor shall make allowance in the Contract to show such value. 
 

C. DISTRICT MATERIAL—No materials furnished by the District shall be applied to any 
other use, public or private, than that for which they are issued to the Contractor. The full 
amount of the cost to the District of all materials furnished by the District to the Contractor 
and for which no charge is made, which are not accounted for by the Contractor to the 
satisfaction of the Contracting Officer, will be charged against the Contractor and his 
sureties and may be deducted from any monies due the Contractor, and this charge shall 
be in addition to and not in lieu of any other liabilities of the Contractor whether civil or 
criminal. Materials furnished by the District for which a charge is made at a rate 
mentioned in the specifications will be delivered to the Contractor upon proper 
requisitions therefore and will be charged to his account. 

 
D. Plant —The Contractor shall at all times employ sufficient tools and equipment for 

prosecuting the various classes of work to full completion in the manner and time 
required. The Contractor shall at all times perform work in sufficient light and shall 
provide proper illumination, including lighting required for night work as directed, as a 
Contract requirement. All equipment, tools, formwork and staging used on the project 
shall be of sufficient size and in proper mechanical and safe condition to meet work 
requirements, to produce satisfactory work quality and to prevent injury to persons, the 
project or adjacent property. When methods and equipment are not prescribed in the 
Contract, the Contractor is free to use tools, methods and equipment that he satisfactorily 
demonstrates will accomplish the work in conformity with Contract requirements. 

 
If the Contractor desires to use a method or type of tool or equipment other than specified 
in the Contract, he shall request approval to do so; the request shall be in writing and 
shall include a full description of proposed methods, tools and equipment and reason for 
the change or substitution. Approval of substitutions and changed methods will be on 
condition that the Contractor will be fully responsible for producing work meeting Contract 
requirements. If after trial use of the substituted methods, tools and equipment, the 
Contracting Officer determines that work produced does not meet Contract requirements, 
the Contractor shall complete remaining work with specified methods, tools and 
equipment. 

 
E. CAPABILITY OF WORKERS- All work under the Contract shall be performed in a skillful 

and workmanlike manner. The Contracting Officer may require the Contractor to remove 
from the work any such employees as the Contracting Officer deems incompetent, 
careless, insubordinate, or otherwise objectionable, or whose continued employment on 
the work is deemed by the Contracting Officer to be contrary to the public interest. Such 
request will be in writing: 



Page 23 

 
F. CONFORMITY OF WORK AND MATERIALS—All work performed and materials and 

products furnished shall be in conformity, within indicated tolerances, with lines, grades, 
cross sections, details, dimensions, material and construction requirements shown or 
intended by the drawings arid specifications. 

 
When materials, products or work cannot be corrected, written notice of rejection will be 
issued. Rejected materials, products and work shall be eliminated form the project and 
acceptably replaced at Contractor‘s expense. The Contracting Officer‘s failure to reject 
any portion of the project shall not constitute implied acceptance nor in any way release 
the Contractor from Contract requirements. 

 
    G.  UNAUTHORIZED WORK AND MATERIALS—Work performed or materials ordered or  

furnished for the project deviating from requirements without written authority, will be 
considered unauthorized and at Contractor‘s expense. The District is not obligated to pay 
for unauthorized work. Unauthorized work and materials may be ordered removed and 
replaced at Contractor‘s expense. 

 
ARTICLE 11. INSPECTION AND ACCEPTANCE—Except as otherwise provided in the Contract, 
inspection and test by the District of material and workmanship required by the Contract shall be 
made at reasonable times and at the site of the work, unless the Contracting Officer determines 
that such inspection or test of material which is to be incorporated in the work shall be made at 
the place of production, manufacture or shipment of such material.  To the extent specified by the 
Contracting Officer at the time of determining to make off-site inspection or test, such inspection 
or test shall be conclusive as to whether the material involved conforms to Contract requirements. 
Such off-site inspection or test shall not relieve the Contractor of responsibility for damage to or 
loss of the material prior to acceptance, nor in any way affect the continuing rights of the District 
after acceptance of the completed work under the terms of the last paragraph of this Article, 
except as herein above provided. 
 
The Contractor shall, without charge, replace any material and correct any workmanship found by 
the District not to conform to Contract requirements, unless in the public interest the District 
consents to accept such material or workmanship with an appropriate adjustment in Contract 
price. The Contractor shall promptly segregate and remove rejected material from the premises at 
Contractor‘s expense. 
 
If the Contractor does not promptly replace rejected material or correct rejected workmanship, the 
District: 
 

1.   May, by contract or otherwise, replace such material and correct such workmanship and   
           charge the cost thereof to the Contractor, or  
 

2.   May terminate the Contractor‘s right to proceed in accordance with Article 5 herein. 
  

The Contractor shall furnish promptly, without additional cost to the District, all facilities, 
labor and material reasonably needed for performing such safe and convenient 
inspection and  test as may be required by the Contracting Officer. All inspections and 
tests by the District shall be performed in such manner as not unnecessarily to delay the 
work. Special, full size, and performance tests shall be performed as described in the 
Contract. The Contractor shall be charged with any additional cost of inspection when 
material and workmanship are not ready for inspection at the time specified by the 
Contractor.  
 
Should it be considered necessary or advisable by the Contracting Officer at any time 
before acceptance of the work, either in part or in its entirety, to make an examination of 
work completed, by removing or tearing out same, the Contractor shall, on request, 
promptly furnish all necessary facilities, labor and material to do same. If such work is 
found to be defective or nonconforming in any material respect, due to the fault of the 
Contractor or his subcontractors, he shall defray all the expenses of such examination 
and of satisfactory reconstruction. If, however, such work is found to meet the 
requirements of the Contract, an equitable adjustment shall be made in the Contract price 



Page 24 

to compensate the Contractor for the additional services involved in such examination 
and reconstruction and, if completion of the work has been delayed thereby, he shall, in 
addition, be granted an equitable extension of time.   
 
Unless otherwise provided in the Contract, acceptance by the District will be made as 
promptly as practicable after completion and inspection of all work required by the 
Contract. Acceptance shall be final and conclusive except as regards to latent defects, 
fraud, or such gross mistakes as may amount to fraud, or as regards the District‘s rights 
under any warranty or guaranty. 

 
ARTICLE 12. SUPERINTENDENCE BY CONTRACTOR—The Contractor shall give his personal 
superintendence to the performance of the work or have a competent foreman or superintendent, 
satisfactory to the Contracting Officer, on the work site at all times during progress, with authority 
to act for him. 
 
ARTICLE 13. PERMITS AND RESPONSIBILITIES—The Contractor shall, without expense to 
the District, be responsible for obtaining any necessary licenses, certificates and permits, and for 
complying with any applicable Federal, State, and Municipal laws, codes and regulations, in 
connection with the prosecution of the work. He shall be similarly responsible for all damages to 
persons or property that occurs as a result of his fault or negligence. He shall take proper safety, 
health and environmental precautions to protect the work, the workers, the public, and the 
property of others. He shall also be responsible for all materials delivered and work performed 
until completion and acceptance of the entire construction work, except for any completed unit of 
construction thereof which theretofore may have been accepted. 
 
ARTICLE 14. INDEMNIFICATION—The Contractor shall indemnify and save harmless the 
District and all of its officers, agents and servants against any and all claims or liability arising 
from or based on, or as a consequence or result of, any act, omission or default of the Contractor, 
his employees, or his subcontractors, in the performance of, or in connection with, any work 
required, contemplated or performed under the Contract. 
 
ARTICLE l5. PROTECTION AGAINST TRESPASS—Except as otherwise expressly provided in 
the Contract, the Contractor is authorized to refuse admission either to the premises or to the 
working space covered by the Contract to any person whose admission is not specifically 
authorized in writing by the Contracting Officer. 
 
ARTICLE 16. CONDITIONS AFFECTING THE WORK 
 

A. GENERAL—The Contractor shall be responsible for having taken steps reasonably  
necessary to ascertain the nature and location of the work, and the general and local  
conditions which can affect the work and the cost thereof. Any failure by the Contractor to 
do so will not relieve him from responsibility for successfully performing the work as 
specified without additional expense to the District. The District assumes no responsibility 
for any understanding or representation concerning conditions made by any of its officers 
or agents prior to the execution of the Contract, unless such understanding or 
representation by the District is expressly stated in the Contract. 
 

B. WORK AND STORAGE SPACE—Available work and storage space designated by the 
District shall be developed as required by the Contract or restored at completion of the 
project by the Contractor to a condition equivalent to that existing prior to construction. No 
payment will be made for furnishing or restoration of any work and storage space.  If no 
area is designated or the area designated is not sufficient for the Contractor‘s operations, 
he shall obtain necessary space elsewhere at no expense or liability to the District. 

 
C. WORK ON SUNDAYS, LEGAL HOLIDAYS AND AT NIGHT—No work shall be done at 

any time on Sundays or legal holidays or on any other day before 7 a.m. or after 7 p.m., 
except with the written permission of the Contracting Officer and pursuant to the 
requirements of the Police Requirements of the District. 

 
D. EXISTING FEATURES—Subsurface and topographic information including borings data, 

utilities data and other physical data contained in the Contract or otherwise available, are 



Page 25 

not intended as representations or warranties but are furnished as available information. 
The District assumes no expense or liability for the accuracy of, or interpretations made 
from, existing features. The Contractor shall be responsible for reasonable consideration of 
existing features above and below ground which may affect the project. 

 
E. UTILITIES AND VAULTS—The Contractor shall take necessary measures to prevent 

interruption of service or damage to existing utilities within or adjacent to the project. It 
shall be the Contractor‘s responsibility to determine exact locations of all utilities in the 
field. 

 
For any underground utility or vault encountered, the Contractor shall immediately notify 
the Contracting Officer and take necessary measures to protect the utility or vault and 
maintain the service until relocation by owner is accomplished.  No additional payment will 
be made for the encountering of these obstructions. 

 
In case of damage to utilities by the Contractor, either above or below ground, the 
Contractor shall restore such utilities to a condition equivalent to that which existed prior to 
the damage by repairing, rebuilding or otherwise restoring as may be directed, at the 
Contractor‘s sole expense. Damaged utilities shall be repaired by the Contractor or, when 
directed by the Contracting Officer, the utility owner will make needed repairs at the 
Contractor‘s expense. 

 
No compensation, other than authorized time extensions, will be allowed the Contractor for 
protective measures, work interruptions, changes in construction sequence, changes in 
methods of handling excavation and drainage or changes in types of equipment used, 
made necessary by existing utilities, imprecise utility or vault information or by others 
performing work within or adjacent to the project. 

 
F. SITE MAINTENANCE—The Contractor shall maintain the project site in a neat and 

presentable manner throughout the course of all operations, and shall be responsible for 
such maintenance until final acceptance by the District Trash containers shall be furnished, 
maintained and emptied by the Contractor to the satisfaction of the Contracting Officer. 
Excavated earthwork, stripped forms and all other materials and debris not scheduled for 
reuse in the project shall be promptly removed from the site. 

 
The Contracting Officer may order the Contractor to clean up the project site at any stage 
of work at no added expense to the District If the Contractor fails to comply with this order, 
the Contracting Officer may require the work to be done by others and the costs will be 
charged to the Contractor. 

 
Upon completion of all work and prior to final inspection, the Contractor shall clean up and 
remove from the project area and adjacent areas all excess materials, equipment, 
temporary structures, and refuse, and restore said areas to an acceptable condition. 

 
G. PRIVATE WORK—Except as specifically authorized by the Contracting Officer, the 

Contractor shall not perform any private work abutting District projects with any labor, 
materials, tools, equipment, supplies or supervision scheduled for the Contract until all 
work under the Contract has been completed. Contract materials used for any 
unauthorized purpose shall be subtracted from Contract amount. 

 
H. DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA NOISE CONTROL ACT OF 1977—The contractor shall be in 

strict compliance with D.C. Law 2-53, District of Columbia Noise Control Act of 1977 and 
all provisions thereof. Effective March 16, 1978. 24 D.C.Register 5293. 

 
ARTICLE 17. OTHER CONTRACTS—The District may undertake or award other contracts for 
additional work and the Contractor shall fully cooperate with such other contractors and District 
employees and carefully coordinate his own work with such additional work as may be directed 
by the Contracting Officer. The Contractor shall not commit or permit any act which will interfere 
with the performance of work by any other contractor or by District employees. The District 
assumes no liability, other than authorized time extensions, for Contract delays and damages 
resulting from delays and lack of progress by others. 



Page 26 

 
ARTICLE 18. PATENT INDEMNITY—Except as otherwise provided, the Contractor agrees to 
indemnify the District and its officers, agents, and employees against liability, including costs and 
expenses, for infringement upon any Letters Patent of the United States (except Letters Patent 
issued upon an application which is now or may hereafter be, for reasons of national security, 
ordered by the Federal Government to be kept classified or otherwise withheld from issue) arising 
out of the performance of the Contract or out of the use or disposal, by or for the account of the 
District, of supplies furnished or construction work performed hereunder. 
 
ARTICLE 19. ADDITIONAL BOND SECURITY—If any surety upon any bond furnished in 
connection with the Contract becomes unacceptable to the District, or if any such surety fails to 
furnish reports as to his financial condition from time to time as requested by the District, the 
Contractor shall promptly furnish such additional security as may be required from time to time to 
protect the interests of the District and of persons supplying labor or materials in the prosecution 
of the work contemplated by the Contract. Provided that upon the failure of the Contractor to 
furnish such additional security within ten (10) days after written notice so to do, all payments 
under the Contract will be withheld until such additional security is furnished. 
 
ARTICLE 20. COVENANT AGAINST CONTINGENT FEES—The Contractor warrants that no 
person or selling agency has been employed or retained to solicit or secure the Contract upon an 
agreement or understanding for a commission, percentage, brokerage or contingent fee, 
excepting bona fide employees or bona fide established commercial or selling agencies 
maintained by the Contractor for the purpose of securing business. For breach or violation of this 
warranty, the District shall have the right to terminate the Contract without liability or in its 
discretion to deduct from the Contract price or consideration, or otherwise recover, the full 
amount of such commission, percentage, brokerage or contingent fee. 
 
ARTICLE 21. APPOINTMENT OF ATTORNEY—The Contractor does hereby irrevocably 
designate and appoint the Clerk of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia and his 
successors in office as the true and lawful attorney of the Contractor for the purpose of receiving 
service of all notices and processes issued by any court in the District, as well as service of all 
pleadings and other papers, in relation to any action or legal proceeding arising out of or 
pertaining to the Contract or the work required or performed hereunder. 
 
The Contractor expressly agrees that the validity of any service upon the said Clerk as herein 
authorized shall not be affected either by the fact that the Contractor was personally within the 
District and otherwise subject to personal service at the time of such service upon the said Clerk 
or by the fact that the Contractor failed to receive a copy of such process, notice, pleading or 
other paper so served upon the said Clerk, provided that said Clerk shall have deposited in the 
United States mail, certified and postage prepaid, a copy of such process, notice, pleading or 
other papers addressed to the Contractor at the address stated in the Contract. 
 
ARTICLE 22. DISTRICT EMPLOYEES NOT TO BENEFIT — Unless a determination is made as 
provided herein, no officer or employee of the District will be admitted to any share or part of this 
contract or to any benefit that may arise therefrom, and any contract made by the Contracting 
Officer or any District employee authorized to execute contracts in which they or an employee of 
the District will be personally interested shall be void, and no payment shall be made thereon by 
the District or any officer thereof, but this provision shall not be construed to extend to this 
contract if made with a corporation for its general benefit. A District employee shall not be a party 
to a contract with the District and will not knowingly cause or allow a business concern or other 
organization owned or substantially owned or controlled by the employee to be a party to such a 
contract, unless a written determination has been made by the head of the procuring agency that 
there is a compelling reason for contracting with the employee, such as when the District‘s needs 
cannot reasonably otherwise be met. (DC Procurement Practices Act of l985, D.C. Law 6-85, 
D.C. Official Code, section 2-310.01, and Chapter 18 of the DC Personnel Regulations) The 
Contractor represents and covenants that it presently has no interest and shall not acquire any 
interest, direct or indirect, which would conflict in any manner or degree with the performance of 
its services hereunder. The Contractor further covenants not to employ any person having such 
known interests in the performance of the contract.  
 



Page 27 

ARTICLE 23. WAIVER—No waiver of any breach of any provision of the Contract shall operate 
as a waiver of such provision or of the Contract or as a waiver of subsequent or other breaches of 
the same or any other provision of the Contract; nor shall any action or non-action by the 
Contracting Officer or by the Mayor be construed as a waiver of any provision of the Contract or 
of any breach thereof unless the same has been expressly declared or recognized as a waiver by 
the Contracting Officer or the Mayor in writing. 
 
 
ARTICLE 24. BUY AMERICAN 
 

A. AGREEMENT—In accordance with the Buy American Act (41 USC l0a-l0d), and 
Executive Order 10582. December 17, 1954 (3 CFR, 1954-58 Comp., p. 230), as 
amended by Executive Order 11051, September 27,1962 (3 CFR, l059—63 Comp., p. 
635), the Contractor agrees that only domestic construction material will be used by the 
Contractor, subcontractors, material men and suppliers in the performance of the 
Contract, except for non-domestic material listed in the Contract. 

 
B. DOMESTIC CONSTRUCTION MATERIAL—‖Construction material‖ means any article, 

material or supply brought to the construction site for incorporation in the building or 
work. An unmanufactured construction material is a ―domestic construction material‖ if it 
has been mined or produced in the United States. A manufactured construction material 
is a ―domestic construction material‖ if it has been manufactured in the United States and 
if the cost of its components which have been mined, produced, or manufactured in the 
United States exceeds 50 percent of the cost of all its components. ―Component‖ means 
any article, material, or supply directly incorporated in a construction material. - 

 
C. DOMESTIC COMPONENT—A component shall be considered to have been ―mined, 

produced, or manufactured in the United States‖ regardless of its source, in fact, if the 
article, material or supply in which it is incorporated was manufactured in the United 
States and the component is of a class or kind determined by the District to be not mined, 
produced or manufactured in the United States in sufficient and reasonably available 
commercial quantities and of a satisfactory quality. 

 
D. FOREIGN MATERIAL – When steel materials are used in a project a minimal use of 

foreign steel is permitted.  The cost of such materials can not exceed on-tenth of one 
percent of the total project cost, or $2,500,000, whichever is greater. 

 
ARTICLE 25. TAXES 
 

A. FEDERAL EXCISE—Materials, supplies and equipment are not subject to the Federal 
Manufacturer‘s Excise Tax, if they are furnished or used in connection with the Contract 
provided that title to such materials, supplies and equipment passes to the District under 
the Contract. The Contractor shall in such cases furnish his subcontractors and suppliers 
with a purchaser‘s certificate in the form prescribed by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service. 

 
B. SALES AND USE TAXES—Materials which are physically incorporated as a permanent 

part of real property are not subject to District of Columbia Sales and Use Tax. The 
Contractor shall, when purchasing such materials, furnish his suppliers with a 
Contractor‘s Exempt Purchase Certificate in the form prescribed in the Sales and Use 
Tax Regulations of the District of Columbia. Where the Contractor, subcontractor or 
material man has already paid the Sales and Use Tax on material, as prescribed above, 
the Sales and Use Tax Regulations of the District of Columbia permit the Contractor, 
subcontractor or material man to deduct the sales or use tax on the purchase price of the 
same on his next monthly return as an adjustment. However, the Contractor, 
subcontractor or material man must satisfy the Chief Financial Officer for the District of 
Columbia that no sum in reimbursement of such tax was included in the Contract or else 
that the District has received a credit under the Contract in an amount equal to such tax. 

 
District of Columbia Sales and Use Tax shall be paid on any material and supplies, 
including equipment rentals, which do not become a physical part of the finished project. 
(See District of Columbia Sales and Use Tax Administration Ruling No. 6). 



Page 28 

 
The Contractor, subcontractor,or material supplier shall provide proof of compliance with 
the provisions of D.C. Law 9-260, as amended, codified in D.C. Code46-103, Employer 
Contributions, prior to award.  
 
Material and supplies required under contracts relating to Glenn Dale Hospital, Glenn 
Dale, Maryland, and Children‘s Center, Laurel, Maryland, are subject to the Maryland 
State Sales and Use Tax, effective July 1, 1968.  BIDDERS SHALL INCLUDE SUCH 
TAX IN THEIR BIDS.  Contracts relating to Department of Corrections, Lorton, Virginia, 
are subject to the Virginia Retail Sales and Use Tax, effective September 1, 1966, when 
incorporated in public works contracts ‗f the District. BIDDERS SHALL INCLUDE SUCH 
TAX IN THEIR BIDS. 
 
The Contractor, subcontractor, or material supplier shall provide proof of compliance with 
the applicable tax filing and licensing requirements set forth in D.C. Code, Title 47, 
Taxation and Fiscal Affairs, prior to contract award.  
 

 
ARTICLE 26. SUSPENSION OF WORK—The Contracting Officer may order the Contractor in 
writing to suspend, delay or interrupt all or any part of the work for such period of time as he may 
determine to be appropriate for the convenience of the District. 
 
If the performance of all or any part of the work is, for an unreasonable period of time, 
suspended, delayed or interrupted by an act of the Contracting Officer in the administration of the 
Contract, or by his failure to act within the time specified in the Contract (or if no time is specified, 
within a reasonable time), an adjustment will be made for an increase in the cost of performance 
of the Contract (excluding profit) necessarily caused by such unreasonable suspension, delay or 
interruption and the Contract modified in writing accordingly. However, no adjustment will be 
made under this Article for any suspension, delay or interruption to the extent: 
 

1. That performance would have been so suspended, delayed or interrupted by any 
other cause, including the fault or negligence of the contractor, or 

 
2. For which an equitable adjustment is provided or excluded under any other 

provision of the Contract. 
 

No claim under this Article shall be allowed: 
 

1. For any costs incurred more than 20 days before the Contractor shall have 
notified the Contracting Officer in writing of the act or failure to act involved (but 
this requirement shall no apply as to a claim resulting from a suspension order), 
and 

 
2. Unless the claim, in an amount stated, is asserted in writing as soon as 

practicable after the termination of such suspension, delay, or interruption, but 
not later than the date of final payment under the Contract. 

 
ARTICLE 27. SAFETY PROGRAM 
 

A. GENERAL—In order to provide safety controls for the protection of the life and health of 
District and Contract employees and the general public; prevention of damage to 
property, materials, supplies, and equipment; and for avoidance of work interruptions in 
the performance of the Contract, the Contractor shall comply with all applicable Federal 
and local laws governing safety, health and sanitation including the Safety Standards, 
Rules and Regulations issued by the American National Standards, U. S. Department of 
Labor, U. S. Department of Health and Human Services, D. C. Minimum Wage and 
Industrial Safety Board and the latest edition of ―Manual of Uniform Traffic Control 
Devices‖  issued by the Federal Highway Administration. 

 
The Contractor shall also take or cause to be taken such additional safety measures as 
the Contracting Officer may determine to be reasonably necessary. 



Page 29 

 
The Contractor shall designate one person to be responsible for carrying out the 
Contractor‘s obligation under this Article. 

 
The Contractor shall maintain an accurate record of all accidents resulting in death, 
injury, occupational disease, and/or damage to property, materials, supplies, and 
equipment incident to work performed under the Contract. Copies of these reports shall 
be furnished to the Contracting Officer within two working days after occurrence. 

 
 

The Contracting Officer will notify the Contractor of any noncompliance with the foregoing 
provisions and the action to be taken. The Contractor shall, after receipt of such notice, 
immediately take corrective action. Such notice, when delivered to the Contractor or his 
representative at the site of the work, shall be deemed sufficient for the purpose. If the 
Contractor fails or refuses to comply promptly, the Contracting Officer may issue an order 
stopping all or part of the work until satisfactory corrective action has been taken. No part 
of the time lost due to any such stop orders shall be made the subject of claim for 
extension of time or for excess costs or damages by the Contractor. 

 
This Article is applicable to all subcontractors used under the Contract and compliance 
with these provisions by the subcontractors will be the responsibility of the Contractor. 
 
(In Contracts involving work of short duration or of non-hazardous character, the following 
Section B. will be deleted by Special Provision) 

 
B. CONTRACTOR’S PROGRAM SUBMISSION—Prior to commencement of the work, the 

Contractor shall: 
 

1. Submit in writing to the Contracting Officer for his approval his program for complying 
with this Article for accident prevention. 

 
2. Meet with the Contracting Officer‘s Safety Representative after submission of the 

above program to develop a mutual understanding relative to the administration of 
the overall safety program. 

 
ARTICLE 28. RETENTION OF RECORDS—Unless otherwise provided in the Contract, or by 
applicable statute, the Contractor, from the effective date of Contract completion and for a period 
of three years after final settlement under the Contract, shall preserve and make available to the 
District at all reasonable times at the office of the Contractor but without direct charge to the 
District, all his books, records, documents, and other evidence bearing on the costs and 
expenses of the Contractor under the Contract. 
 
ARTICLE 29.   RECOVERY OF DEBTS OWED THE DISTRICT---The Contractor hereby agrees 
that the District may use all or any portion of any consideration or refund due the Contractor 
under the Contract to satisfy, in whole or part, any debt due the District. 



Page 30 

 
LABOR PROVISIONS 

(Construction Contract) 
 

ARTICLE 1. DAVIS-BACON ACT (40 USC 276a-276a 7) —Each Contractor and subcontractor 
at any tier contracting for any part of Contract work in excess of $2,000 for construction alteration, 
and/or repair, including painting and decorating of public buildings and public works and which 
requires or involves the employment of mechanics and/or laborers shall be subject to the Davis-
Bacon Act provisions as follows: 
 

A. MINIMUM WAGES— 
 

1. All mechanics and laborers employed or working upon the site of the work or 
under the United States Housing Act of 1937 or under the Housing Act of 1949 in 
the construction or development of the project, will be paid unconditionally and 
not less often than once a week, and without subsequent deduction or rebate on 
any account (except such payroll deductions as are permitted by regulations 
issued by the United States Department of Labor, hereinafter referred to as the 
Secretary of Labor under the Copeland Act (29 CFR Part 3)), the full amount of 
wages and bona fide fringe benefits (or cash equivalents thereof) due at time of 
payment computed at wage rates not less than those contained in the wage 
determination decision of the Secretary of Labor which is attached hereto and 
made a part hereof, regardless of any contractual relationship which may be 
alleged to exist between the contractor and such Laborers and mechanics; and 
the wage determination decision shall be posted by the contractor at the site of 
the work in a prominent place where it can be easily seen by the workers. For the 
purpose of this clause, contributions made or costs reasonably anticipated under 
section l(b)(2) of the Davis-Bacon Act on behalf of laborers or mechanics are 
considered wages paid to such laborers or mechanics, subject to the provisions 
of 29 CFR 5.5(a)(l)(iv).  Also for the purpose of this clause; regular contributions 
made or costs incurred for more than a weekly period under plans, funds, or 
programs, but covering the particular weekly period, are deemed to be 
constructively made or incurred during such weekly period. 

 
2. The contracting officer shall require that any class of laborers or mechanics, 

including apprentices and trainees, which is not listed in the wage determination 
and which is to be employed under the contract, shall be classified or reclassified 
conformably to the wage determination and a report of the action taken shall be 
sent by the Contracting Officer to the Secretary of Labor. In the event the 
interested parties cannot agree on the proper classification or reclassification of a 
particular class of laborers and mechanics, including apprentices and trainees, to 
be used, the question accompanied by the recommendation of the Contracting 
Officer shall be referred to the Secretary for final determination. 

 
3. The Contracting Officer shall require, whenever the minimum wage rate 

prescribed in the contract for a class of laborers or mechanics includes a fringe 
benefit which is not expressed as an hourly wage rate and the contractor is 
obligated to pay a cash equivalent of such a fringe benefit, an hourly cash 
equivalent thereof to be established. In the event the interested parties cannot 
agree upon a cash equivalent of the fringe benefit, the question, accompanied by 
the recommendation of the Contracting Officer, shall be referred to the Secretary 
of Labor for determination. 

 
4. If the Contractor does not make payments to a trustee or other third person, he 

may consider as part of the wages of any laborer or mechanic the amount o any 
costs reasonably anticipated in providing benefits under a plan or program of a 
type expressly listed in the wage determination decision of the Secretary of Labor 
which is a part of this contract: Provided, however, The Secretary of Labor has 
found, upon the written request of the Contractor, that the applicable standards of 
the Davis-Bacon Act have been met. The Secretary of Labor may require the 



Page 31 

contractor to set aside in a separate account assets for the meeting of obligations 
under the plan or program. 

 
B. WITHHOLDING.—The Contracting Officer may withhold or cause to be withheld from the 

contractor so much of the accrued payments or advances as may be considered 
necessary to pay laborers and mechanics, including apprentices and trainees, employed 
by the contractor or any subcontractor on the work the full amount of wages required by 
the contract. In the event of failure to pay any laborer or mechanic, including any 
apprentice or trainee, employed or working on the site of the work or under the United 
States Housing Act of 1937 or under the Housing Act of 1949 in the construction or 
development of the project, all or part of the wages required by the contract, the District 
may, after written notice to the contractor, sponsor, applicant, or owner, take such action 
as may be necessary to cause the suspension of any further payment, advance, or 
guarantee of funds until such violations have ceased. 

 
C. PAYROLLS AND BASIC RECORDS. —   

 
1. Payrolls and basic records relating thereto will be maintained during the 

course of the work and preserved for a period of three years thereafter for all 
laborers and mechanics working at the site of the work, or under the United 
States Housing Act of 1937, or under the Housing Act of 1949, in the 
construction or development of the project. Such records will contain the 
name and address of each such employee, his correct classification, rates of 
pay. (including rates of contributions or costs anticipated of the types 
described in section l(b)(2) of the Davis-Bacon Act), daily and weekly number 
of hours worked, deductions made and actual wages paid. Whenever the 
Secretary of Labor has found under 29 CFR 5.5(a)(l) (iv) that the wages of 
any laborer or mechanic include the amount of any costs reasonably 
anticipated in providing benefits under a plan or program described in section 
l(b)(2)(B) of the Davis-Bacon Act, the contractor shall maintain records which 
show that the commitment to provide such benefits in enforceable, that the 
plan or program is financially responsible, and that the plan or program has 
been communicated in writing, to the laborers or mechanics affected, and 
records which show the costs anticipated or the actual cost incurred in 
providing such benefits. 

 
2. The contractor will submit weekly a copy of all payrolls to the Contracting 

Officer if the agency is a party to the contract, but if the agency is not such a 
party the contractor will submit the payrolls to the applicant, sponsor, or 
owner, as the case may be, for transmission to the Contracting Officer. The 
copy shall be accompanied by a statement signed by the employer or his 
agent indicating that the payrolls are correct and complete, that the wage 
rates contained therein are not less than those determined by the Secretary 
of Labor and that the classifications set forth for each laborer or mechanic 
conform with the work he performed. A submission of a ―Weekly Statement 
of Compliance‖ which is required under this contract and the Copeland 
regulations of the Secretary of Labor (29 CFR, Part 3) and the filing with the 
initial payroll or any subsequent payroll of a copy of any findings by the 
Secretary of Labor under 29 CFR 5.5(a)(1)(iv) shall satisfy this requirement. 
The prime contractor shall be responsible for the submission of copies of 
payrolls of all subcontractors. The contractor will make the records required 
under the labor standards clauses of the contract available for inspection by 
authorized representatives of the District and the Department of Labor, and 
will permit such representatives to interview employees during working hours 
on the job. Contractors employing apprentices or trainees under approved 
programs shall include a notation on the first weekly certified payrolls 
submitted to the Contracting Officer that their employment is pursuant to an 
approved program and shall identify‘ the program. 

 
ARTICLE 2. CONVICT LABOR (18 USC 438)—Convict labor shall not be used on Contract work 
unless otherwise provided by law. 



Page 32 

 
ARTICLE 3. APPRENTICES AND TRAINEES 
 

A. APPRENTICES—Apprentices shall be permitted to work as such only when they are 
registered, individually, under a bona fide apprenticeship program registered with the 
Apprenticeship Council, D.C. Department of Labor. The allowance ratio of apprentices to 
journeymen in any craft classification shall not be greater than the ratio permitted to the 
Contractor a to his entire work force under the registered program.  Any employee listed 
on a payroll at an apprentice wage rate, who is not a trainee as defined in Section B. of 
this Article or is not registered as above, shall be paid the wage rate determined by the 
Secretary of Labor or the classifications of work he actually performed. The Contractor 
and Subcontractor shall furnish to the Contracting Officer written evidence of the 
registration of his appropriate ratios and wage rates for the areas of construction, prior to 
using any apprentice on the Contract. 

 
B. TRAINEES—Trainees will be permitted to work as such when they are bona fide trainees 

employed pursuant to a program approved by the Contracting Officer and Apprenticeship 
Council, D.C. Department of Labor. 

 
C. REQUIREMENTS—The Contractor agrees to hire for the performance of the Contract a 

number of apprentices or trainees or both, in each occupation, which bears to the 
average number of the journeymen in that occupation to be employed in the performance 
of the Contract the applicable ratios as determined by the Apprenticeship Council, 0. C. 
Department of Labor. 

 
1. The Contractor shall assure that 25 percent of such apprentices or trainees 

in each occupation are in their first year of training, when feasible. Feasibility 
here involves a consideration of: 
 

                           a. The availability of training opportunities for first year apprentices; 
 

 b. The hazardous nature of the work for beginning workers; 
 

 c. Excessive unemployment of apprentices in their second and   
     subsequent years of training. 

 
2. The Contractor shall maintain records of employment, by trade, of the 

number of apprentices and trainees, apprentices and trainees by first year of 
training, and of journeymen, and the wages paid and hours of work of such 
apprentices, trainees and journeymen. The Contractor shall make these 
records available for inspection upon request of the Contracting Officer and 
the Apprenticeship Council, 0. C. Department of Labor. 

 
3. The Contractor who claims compliance based on the criterion stated in 29 

CFR5.a. agrees to maintain records of employment as described in 29 
CFR5.a..3(a)(2) on non-governmental and non-governmentally assisted 
construction work done during the performance of the Contract in the same 
labor market area. The Contractor shall make these records available for 
inspection upon request of the Contracting Officer and the Apprenticeship 
Council, D. C. Department of Labor. 

 
4. The Contractor agrees to supply one copy of the written notices as required 

in accordance with 29 CFR. 5.a.4(c) at the request of the Contracting Officer. 
The Contractor shall supply at 3 month intervals during performance of the 
Contract and after completion of the Contract performance a statement 
containing a breakdown by craft of hours worked and wages paid for first 
year apprentices and trainees, other apprentices and trainees, and 
journeymen. Two copies of the statement shall be submitted to the 
Contracting Officer, who will submit a copy to the Apprenticeship Council, D. 
C. Department of Labor. 

 



Page 33 

5. Section 5, D. C. Law 2—156, AC] 2—325, dated December 29, 1978, is 
hereby incorporated as part of this Amendment as follows: 

 
―All prime contractors and subcontractors who contract with the District of 
Columbia Government to perform construction or renovation work with a 
single contract or cumulative contracts of at least $500,000, let within a 
twelve (12) month period, shall be required to register an apprentice.— 
ship program with the District of Columbia Apprenticeship Council.‖ 25 
D.C. Register 6991. 

 
ARTICLE 4. CONTRACT WORK HOURS AND SAFETY STANDARDS ACT (40 USC 327- 330) 
 

A. OVERTIME BASIS—Each Contractor and subcontractor at any tier contracting for any 
part of Contract work which may require or involve the employment of laborers, 
mechanics, watchmen or guards, apprentices or trainees shall not require or permit any 
laborer, mechanic, watchman or guard, apprentice or trainee in any workweek in which 
he is employed on such work, to work in excess of eight (8) hours in any calendar day or 
in excess of forty (40) hours in such workweek unless such laborer, mechanic, watchman 
or guard, apprentice or trainee receives compensation at a rate not less than one and 
one—half times his basic rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of eight (8) hours in 
any calendar day or in excess of forty (40) hours in such workweek, as the case may be. 

 
B. LIABILITY FOR UNPAID WAGES—In the event of violation of the provisions of Section 

A, the Contractor and any subcontractor responsible therefore shall be liable to any 
affected employee for his unpaid wages. In addition, such Contractor and subcontractor 
shall be liable to the District for Liquidated damages. Such liquidated damages shall be 
computed with respect to each individual laborer, mechanic, watchman or guard, 
apprentice or trainee employed in violation of any provision of Section A, in the awn of 
$10 for each calendar day on which such employee was required or permitted to work in 
excess of eight (8) hours or in excess of the standard workweek of forty (40) hours 
without payment of the overtime wages required by Section A. 

 
The Contracting Officer may withhold or cause to be withheld from the Contractor 

such sums as administratively determined to satisfy any liability of the Contractor and 
subcontractors for unpaid wages and liquidated damages as herein provided. In the 
event of failure to pay any laborer, mechanic, watchman, or guard, apprentice or trainee 
employed or working on the work site, all or part of the wages required by the Contract, 
the Contracting Officer may, after written notice to the Contractor, take such action as 
may be necessary to cause the suspension of any further payment, advance or 
guarantee of funds until such violations have ceased. 

 
C. DISPUTES—Any Contractor or subcontractor aggrieved by the withholding of a sum as 

liquidated damages as provided shall have the right, within sixty (60) days thereafter, to 
appeal to the Contracting Officer in the case of liquidated damages withheld for the use 
and benefit of the District. The Contracting Officer shall have authority to review the 
administrative determination of liquidated damages and to issue a final order affirming 
such determination; or if it is found that the sum determined is incorrect or that the 
Contractor or subcontractor violated these Labor Provisions inadvertently notwithstanding 
the exercise of due care on his part and that of his agents, recommendations may be 
made to the Secretary of Labor that an appropriate adjustment in liquidated damages be 
made, or that the Contractor or subcontractor be relieved of liability for such liquidated 
damages. The Secretary will review all pertinent facts in the matter and may conduct 
such investigation as he deems necessary so as to affirm or reject the recommendation. 
The decision of the Secretary shall be final. In all such cases in which a Contractor or 
subcontractor may be aggrieved by a final order for the withholding of liquidated 
damages as herein before provided, the Contractor or subcontractor may, within sixty 
(60) days after such final order, file a claim per Article 7 of the General Provisions, 
provided, however, that final orders of the Contracting Officer or the Secretary of Labor 
as the case may be, shall be conclusive with respect to findings of fact if such findings 
are supported by substantial evidence. 

 



Page 34 

D.  VIOLATION PENALTY—If the Contractor or subcontractor who employs, directs &  
controls any laborer or mechanic employed in the performance of any work contemplated 
by the Contract, shall intentionally violate any provision herein, he shall be deemed guilty 
of a misdemeanor, and for each and every such offense shall, upon conviction, be 
punished by a fine of not to exceed $1,000 or by imprisonment for not more than six (6) 
months, or by both such fine and imprisonment, in the discretion of the court having 
jurisdiction thereof (Section 106 Title 1, P.L. 87—851, 40 USC Sec. 332, 76 Stat. 359). 

 
E. HEALTH AND SAFETY STANDARDS—It is a condition. of the Contract, and shall be 

made a condition of each subcontract under the Contract, that the Contractor and any 
subcontractor shall not require any laborer or mechanic employed in performance of the 
Contract to work in surroundings or wider working condition which are unsanitary, 
hazardous, or dangerous to his health or safety, as determined under construction safety 
and health standards per 29 CFR Part 1518. 

 
The Secretary of Labor is authorized to make such inspections, hold such hearings, 

issue such orders, and make such decisions based on findings of fact, as are deemed 
necessary to gain compliance with this Section and any health and safety standard 
promulgated by the Secretary. In the event that the Secretary of Labor determines non-
compliance under the provisions of this Section after an opportunity for an adjudicatory 
hearing by the Secretary of any condition of the Contract, the District shall have the right 
to cancel the Contract, and to enter into other contracts for the completion of the Contract 
work, charging any additional cost to the Contractor. 

 
ARTICLE 5. COPELAND ACT (18 USC 874, and 40 USC 276c) - Each Contractor and 
subcontractor at any tier contracting for any part of Contract work in excess of $2,000.0O shall be 
subject to the Copeland Act provisions as follow: 
 

A. DEFINITION—As used in this Article, the term ―employee‖ shall not apply to persons in 
classifications higher than that of laborer or mechanic and those who are the immediate 
supervisors of such employees. 

 
B. WEEKLY COMPLIANCE STATEMENT—The Contractor and each subcontractor 

engaged in the construction, prosecution, completion or repair of any public building or 
public work shall furnish each week a statement with respect to the wages paid each of 
his employees engaged on work covered by these Labor Provisions during the preceding 
weekly payroll period. The statement shall be executed by the Contractor or 
subcontractor, or by an authorized officer or employee of the Contractor or subcontractor, 
who supervises the payment of wages, and shall be on the form attached at the end of 
these Labor Provisions and entitled ‗Weekly Statement of Compliance‖ (Form No. DC 
2640-11). 

 
Each weekly statement required shall be delivered by the Contractor or 

subcontractor, within seven (7) days after regular payment date of the payroll period, to a 
representative of the Contracting Officer in charge at the site of the building or work. After 
each examination and check as may be made, such statement, or copy thereof, shall be 
kept available, or shall be transmitted together with a report of any violation, in 
accordance with applicable procedures prescribed by the US. Department of Labor. 

 
Upon a written finding by the Contracting Officer, the Secretary of Labor may 

provide reasonable limitations, variations, tolerances and exemptions from the 
requirements of this Section subject to such conditions as the Secretary of Labor may 
specify. 

 
C. PAYROLLS AND RECORDS—The Contractor and each subcontractor shall preserve 

his weekly payroll records for a period of three (3) years from date of completion of the 
Contract. The payroll records shall set out accurately and completely the name, address- 
and Social Security Number of each laborer and mechanic, his correct classification, rate 
of pay, daily and weekly number of hours worked, deductions made, and actual wages 
paid. Such payroll records shall be made available at all times for inspection by the 
Contracting Officer, and by authorized representatives of the U.S. Department of Labor. 



Page 35 

 
D. PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS NOT SUBJECT TO SECRETARY OF LABOR APPROVAL—

Deductions made under the circumstances or in the situations described in paragraphs of 
this Section may be made without application to and approval at the Secretary of Labor: 

 
1. Any deduction made in compliance with the requirements of Federal, State, or 

local law, such as Federal or State withholding income taxes and Federal social 
security taxes. 

 
2. Any deduction of sums previously paid to the employee as a bona fide 

prepayment of wages when such prepayment is made without discount or 
interest. A ―bona fide prepayment of wages‖ is considered to have been made 
only when cash or its equivalent has been advanced to the person employed in 
such manner as to give him complete freedom of disposition of the advanced 
funds. 

 
3. Any deduction of amounts required by court process to be paid to another, 

unless the deduction is in favor of the Contractor, subcontractor, or any affiliated 
person, or when collusion or collaboration exists. 

 
4. Any deduction constituting a contribution on behalf of the person employed to 

funds established by the employer, or representatives of employees, or both, for 
the purpose of providing either from principal or income, or both, medical or 
hospital care, pensions or annuities or retirement, death benefits, compensation 
for injuries, illness, accidents, sickness, or disability, or for insurance to provide 
any of the foregoing, or unemployment benefits, vacation pay, savings accounts, 
or similar payments for the benefit of employees, their families and dependents: 
Provided, however, that the following standards are met: 

 
a. The deduction is not otherwise prohibited by law; 

 
b. it is either voluntarily consented to by the employee in writing and in 

advance of the period in which the work is to be done and such 
consent is not a condition either for the obtaining of or for the 
continuation of employment, or provided for in a bona fide collective 
bargaining agreement between the Contractor or subcontractor and 
representatives of his employees; 

 
c. No profit or other benefit is otherwise obtained, directly or indirectly, 

by the Contractor or subcontractor or any affiliated person in the form 
of commission, dividend, or otherwise; and 

 
d. The deductions - shall serve the convenience and interest of the 

employee. 
 

5. Any deduction contributing toward the purchase of United States Defense 
Stamps and Bonds when voluntarily authorized by the employee. 

 
6. Any deduction requested by the employee to enable him to repay loans to or to 

purchase shares in credit unions organized and operated in accordance with 
Federal, State and District credit union statutes. 

 
7. Any deduction voluntarily authorized by the employee for the making of 

contributions to governmental or quasi-governmental agencies, such as the 
American Red Cross. 

 
8. Any deduction voluntarily authorized by the employee for the making of 

contributions to Community Chests, United Givers Funds, and similar charitable 
organizations. 

 



Page 36 

9. Any deduction to pay regular union initiation fees and membership dues, not 
including fines or special assessments; provided, however, that a collective 
bargaining agreement between the Contractor or subcontractor and 
representatives of his employees provides for such deductions and the 
deductions are not otherwise prohibited by law. 

 
10. Any deduction not more than for the ―reasonable cost‖ of. board, lodging, or other 

facilities meeting the requirements of Section 3(m) of the Fair Labor Standards 
Act of 1938, as amended, and Part 531 of said title. When such a deduction is 
made the additional records required under 516.25(a) of this title shall be kept. 

 
E. PAYROLL. DEDUCTIONS SUBJECT TO SECRETARY OF LABOR APPROVAL—The 

Contractor and any subcontractor may apply to the Secretary of Labor for permission to 
make any deduction not permitted under Section D. The Secretary may grant permission 
whenever be finds that: 

 
1. The Contractor, subcontractor or any ai1iated person does not make a profit or 

benefit directly from the deduction, either in the form of a commission, dividend or 
otherwise; 

 
2. The deduction, is not otherwise prohibited by law; 

 
3. The deduction is either: 

 
a. voluntarily consented to by the employee in writing and in advance of the 

period in which the work is to be done and such consent is not a condition 
either for the obtaining of employment or its continuance, or 

 
b. provided for in a bona fide collective bargaining agreement between the 

Contractor or subcontractor and representatives of its employees; and 
 

4. The deduction services the convenience and interest of the employee. 
 

F. APPLICATIONS FOR SECRETARY OF LABOR APPROVAL—Any application for the 
making of payroll deductions under Section E. shall comply with the requirements 
prescribed in Paragraphs 1 through 5: 

 
1. The application shall be in writing and shall be addressed to the Secretary of Labor. 

 
2. The application shall identify the Contract under which the work in question is to be 

performed. Permission will be given for deductions only on specific, identified 
contracts, except upon a showing of exceptional circumstances. 

 
3. The application shall state affirmatively that there is compliance with the standards 

set forth in Section B. The affirmation shall be accompanied by a full statement of the 
facts indicating such compliance. 

 
4. The application shall include a description of the proposed deduction, the purpose to 

be served thereby, and the classes of laborers or mechanics front whose wages 
proposed deduction would be made. 

 
5. The application shall state the name and business of any third person to whom any 

funds obtained from the proposed deductions are to be transmitted and the affiliation 
of such person, if any, with the applicant. 

 
G. ACTION BY SECRETARY OF LABOR UPON APPLICATIONS—The Secretary will 

decide whether or not the requested deduction is permissible under provisions of Section 
B, and shall notify the applicant in writing of his decision. 

 
H. PROHIBITED PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS—Deductions not elsewhere stipulated and 

which are not found to be permissible under Section B are prohibited. 



Page 37 

 
I. METHODS OF PAYMENT OF WAGES—The payment of wages shall be by cash, 

negotiable instruments payable on demand, or the additional forms of compensation for 
which deductions are permissible. No other methods of payment shall be recognized on 
work subject to the Copeland Act. 

 
ARTICLE 6. RESERVED 
 
ARTICLE 7. NONSEGREGATED FACILITIES—The Contractor certifies that he does not and will 
not maintain or provide for his employees any segregated facility at any of his establishments; 
that he does not and will not permit his employees to perform their services at any location under 
his control where segregated facilities are maintained; and that he will obtain and retain identical 
certifications from proposed subcontractors prior to award or subcontracts. 
 
―Segregated facilities‖ shall mean any waiting room, work area, wash and rest rooms, restaurant 
and other eating area, time clock, locker room and other storage or dressing area, parking lot, 
drinking fountain, recreation or entertainment area, transportation and housing facility, provided 
for employees which is segregated by explicit directive or is segregated on the basis of race, 
color, age, sex, religion or national origin, because of habit, local custom or otherwise.  Penalty 
for violation or making false statements is prescribed in 18 USC 1001. 
 
 



Page 38 

 

 

( WEEKLY srATEMENT OF COMPUANCE 
(Constructjon) ~ .. , 

Project No. Contract No. D.te 

Invitation No. 

WAGES AND MOUltS 

TofOI ' Thii'POriod Total To DUe 

S~&ht Time Hours Worked 

Overtime Hours Worked 

Overtime and. Straight Time Houn CombiDed 

Wages Earnecl 

I, • (H_ .f .;p.Lory pan,.) (T .... , 

, do hereby stat. 
(I) .That 'I payor supena. the payment ot1:he persons employec1 by 

an !he ; 
(eo.uw&cw Of ~) (B~ or 'Work) 

that durin8' the payrOll period eOa:u;tendn.c on the ____ day of 
HI.~--t and endinl on the ____ day of • 10_ ..n person. 
employed on s&id project h.~ been paid. full weeldy _&.let ear:tl.ed. that ~ rebates have been or wUl ( 

.,. be made either c1iredJ.,. or indirectly io or on 'Qehalt' of .ald. _____ .'-;;-;;:;;;:;;;;;;:;; ___ _ 
(c:o.u-.r or "'b_~) 

from the full weekly wala earned by u.y penon and that no dedu.etioas ~ve been made dthrr di .. 
ndl,. or indirectly tram the full wa,a eamltd by an)' penon. other thar. permissible -deductions .. 
d.fined in 29 CFR Part 3 hsued. by the Secretary ~ Labor under the t::ope>l.and Act as amended. (48 
Stat. H8; 53 Stat. 108; 72 SLat. 967; 78 ·Stat. S37j .tQ USC 21Sc). a.tI;(i dac:ribed. below: 

(2) That an)' payroll otherwise under the Contract requind. to be submitted for the abo". period 
are correct and complete; that the ware ratle'l for l.borers or m<tehanic:::s eont..a.ined therein an not lest 
than the applicable wale ~t.es contained. in any w .... determination incorporated. into the Contract; 
that the da.ssifieatioru set forth the:rein lor eac:h laboroer or mecb.anie c:o=onn with tlHI wcrk btl per
formed. 
(3) That any apprentice employed. in the .. bow.period 11 duly resat.red. in ... bona. Ade approentiee
ship pr:oeram registered with the BUl"etIU at. Al)pI'enticeshJp Trainina. U.S. Depu:tment at. Labor. 

NO'I'E-Frince Renet!u Statement and S~.ture Bloek are on -reverse. 

,_ No. DC 2HO-11 
.' 



Page 39 

1'lUIfGE 1IENl:FlTS STATEMENT 

The Contractor, 01'- subcontractor u .PPl'D~te. hereby stateS tha~: . 

(WHPIE ALL OR A MAJORITY OF 'I1IE FRINGE BENEF.ITS ARE PAID TO APPROVED PLANS, 
( 

FUNDS, OR PROGRAMS) 

( ) Sedlon. I-In addition to the basic hourly wale rates paid to eaeh employee Iialed. in the abov~ 
relerenced payroll, paymenta ot trinK!! ~netlts as listed in the ConU-act havoe been. or will 
be made to appropriate programs tor the benefit 01 such employees,. except u noted in 
Section ! below. -•. ,," 

(WHPIE ALL OR A MAJORITY OF THE FRINGE BENEF1'TS ARE PAID IN CASH) 

( ) Section 2-Each IUnployee !bled in tae above referenced payroD hu been paid. .. ioclicated on the 
payroll. the · basic: hourly wage rate plus an additional: payment in the amount at. the re-
quired frina'e beneBts u U:s.ted. in the Contract. except as noted in Section 3 below. 

WHERE PART OF THE ·FRINGE BENEFITS ARE PAID IN CASH AND PART ARE PAID TO PLANS, 
FONDS, OR PROCRAMS) 

( , Section 3-All of the trlnee bene.tlt payments required by the Centrad bave been or will be m&de 'to 
approp.ru.te PJ"Q11'ams. or have been made by cash payment. In lieu tbueot, or both. to the 
classi1iea: tiODl and in the amounts let fcrth below: 

, HOURLY AloIOUNT 
CLASSIFICATION IDENTITY AND LOCATION OF 

(Or Cla.sdAc:ation Code) Paid To PakllzI. PLAN, FUND OR PROGRAM 
Pro""" Cub 

• , 

( 

-

, 

Sl .... tu:e I Tille 

The wi1ltul !alsi1leaUon of eithu of the siatemcnts which appear &beve may INbjed the Contractor to civil 
or c:rimi.tLal prosecution. &te 18 USC 1001 -¥- 1020 and 31 USC 23L 





ENROLLED ORIGINAL

1Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

AN ACT

                             

IN THE COUNCIL OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

_____________________

To establish statutory purposes and policies for the procurement of goods, services and
construction in the District of Columbia; to authorize supplementary general principles
of applicable law; to require an obligation of good faith; to establish the statutory
applicability of the delineated procurement requirements; to authorize severability of
statutory provisions; to establish the Office of Contracting and Procurement; to establish
criteria for review by the Council of multiyear contracts and contracts in excess of $1
million; to establish and authorize a Chief Procurement Officer of the Office of
Contracting and Procurement; to establish the duties of the Chief Procurement Officer;
to clarify the regulatory powers and authority of the Chief Procurement Officer; to
authorize the establishment of a procurement training institute; to delineate the source
selection methods; to establish the requirements for competitive sealed bids; to establish
the requirements for competitive sealed proposals; to regulate the use of sole source
procurements; to authorize emergency procurements; to authorize human care
agreements; to establish the requirements for small purchase procurements; to authorize
special procurements; to provide for and authorize exemptions for competition
requirements in District procurements; to establish requirements for the cancellation of
solicitations; to regulate and prohibit collusive bidding; to prohibit contingency contracts
and the improper disclosure of confidential or proprietary proposal or bid information; to
authorize the termination of improper contracts and establish what costs are payable and
what should be refunded; to establish the rights of the District to audit contract records
and data or to inspect the premises of District contractors; to authorize the contracting
officer to require a contractor to substantiate an offered price; to establish the types of
contracts authorized and prohibited in the District; to prohibit cost-plus-a-percentage-of-
cost contracts; to prohibit cost-reimbursement contracts, unless duly authorized in
accordance with the act; to authorize the use of other contract types; to regulate
multiyear contracts; to establish delivery methods for the procurement of infrastructure
facilities and services; to establish and require source selection methods for
infrastructure facilities and services project delivery methods; to establish additional
procedures and require their application to certain project delivery methods; to establish
requirements for the procurement of architectural and engineering services; to establish

Codification
District of
Columbia
Official Code

2001 Edition

2011 Summer
Supp.



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

2Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

the requirements for bonds and other forms of security in District procurements; to
require bid security for construction contracts in excess of $100,000 in an amount at
least equal to 5% of the bid price; to establish the requirements for performance and
payment bonds in construction contracts in excess of $100,000; to establish the forms of
bonds and how copies can be obtained; to authorize other forms of security; to establish
the fiscal responsibility requirements of contract modifications, change orders or
contract price adjustments in construction contracts; to establish the rules and
requirements for the management of District supplies; to authorize the donation of
surplus goods; to authorize the creation and establishment of the District of Columbia
Surplus Property Sales Revolving Fund and how the funds contained therein may be
retained and utilized; to prohibit the use of sovereign immunity defense, unless
otherwise authorized; to prohibit the liability for punitive damages for actions based on
written contracts; to authorize District claims against contractors; to establish debarment
and suspension requirements; to regulate and establish processes for claims by
contractors against the District under or relating to a contract; to establish when rates on
claims are payable and how they will be calculated; to establish and authorize the
creation of a Contract Appeals Board; to establish the terms and qualifications for
Contract Appeals Board members; to establish the jurisdiction of the Contract Appeals
Board; to authorize a contractor to appeal contracting officer decisions and the procedure
for doing so; to authorize appeals of Contract Appeals Board decisions; to authorize
Contract Appeals Board members to administer oaths, authorize deposition and
discovery procedures, and issue subpoenas; to establish the finality of Contract Appeals
Board decisions in the event of subsequent judicial review; to establish protest
procedures for the contest of a solicitation or award of a contract; to require that District
employees involved in procurements be subject to the District of Columbia
Comprehensive Merit Personnel Act of 1978; to authorize electronic transactions for
procurement solicitations or auctions or procurement systems; to authorize issuance of
electronic solicitations and responses; to establish a procurement transparency Internet
site; to provide for the purchase of environmental preferable products and services to the
maximum extent practicable; to authorize the usage of reverse and standard auctions; to
authorize the participation, sponsoring or administering of cooperative purchasing
agreements; to establish the District of Columbia Supply Schedule, under which
contracts may be awarded to certified business enterprises; to authorize the payment of
stipends by the Chief Procurement Officer to defray bid or proposal development costs;
to establish the District of Columbia Supply Schedule, Purchase Card, and Training
Fund; to establish procedures and requirements relating to contract privatization; to
provide rulemaking authority; to amend the District of Columbia Procurement Practices
Act of 1985 to repeal provisions which are superseded by this act; to repeal the
Excellence in Local Business Contract Grading act of 2008; and to provide for transition



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

3Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

and continuation regarding existing rules, contracts, and other actions taken under
current law.

BE IT ENACTED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, That this
act may be cited as the “Procurement Practices Reform Act of 2010”.

TITLE I.  GENERAL PROVISIONS.
Sec. 101.  Purposes and policies.
(a)  This act shall be liberally construed and applied to promote its underlying purposes

and policies.
(b)  In enacting this act, the Council supports the following statutory purposes:

(1)  To simplify, clarify, and modernize the law governing the procurement of
goods, services, and construction items by the District government;

(2)  To foster effective and equitably broad-based competition in the District by 
supporting the free enterprise system and the certified business enterprise program as set forth in
the Small, Local, and Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Development and Assistance Act of
2005, effective October 20, 2005 (D.C. Law 16-33; D.C. Official Code § 2-218.01 et seq.), and
its implementing rules;

(3)  To obtain full and open competition by providing that contractors are given
adequate opportunities to bid;

(4)  To ensure the fair and equitable treatment of all persons who deal with the
procurement system of the District government;

 (5)  To increase public confidence in the procedures followed in public
procurement;

(6)  To promote efficiency and eliminate duplication in the District government
procurement organization and operation to reduce costs;

(7)  To provide increased economy in procurement activities and maximize, to
the fullest extent practicable, the purchasing power of the District government;

(8)  To permit the continued development of procurement laws, policies, and
practices;

(9)  To provide for timely, effective, and efficient service to District agencies and
individuals doing business with the District government;

(10)  To promote the development of uniform procurement procedures District
government-wide;

(11)  To improve the understanding of procurement laws and policies within the
District government by organizations and individuals doing business with the District
government; and

(12)  To promote, to the maximum extent feasible, the purchase of
environmentally preferable products and services.



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

4Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

Sec. 102.   Supplementary general principles of law applicable.
Unless superseded by the particular provisions of this act, the principles of law and

equity, including Subtitle I of Title 28 of the District of Columbia Official Code, and laws
relative to capacity to contract, agency, fraud, misrepresentation, duress, coercion, mistake, or
bankruptcy, shall supplement the provisions of this act.

Sec. 103.   Obligation of good faith.
Every contract or duty within this act imposes an obligation of good faith in its

performance or enforcement.  For purposes of this act, the term “good faith” means honesty in
fact in the conduct or transaction concerned and the observance of reasonable commercial
standards of fair dealing.

Sec. 104.  Definitions.
For the purposes of this act, the term:

(1)  “Affiliate” means any business in which:
(A)  A suspended or debarred person is an officer or has a substantial

financial interest and any business that has a substantial direct or indirect ownership interest in
the suspended or debarred business; or

(B)  A suspended or debarred business has a substantial direct or indirect
ownership interest.

(2)  “Agency” means any agency, employee, or instrumentality of the District
government.

(3)  “Architectural and engineering services” means:
(A)  Professional services of an architectural or engineering nature:

(i)  Which are required to be performed or approved by a person
licensed, registered, or certified to provide the services as described in this paragraph; or 

(ii)  Performed by contract that are associated with research,
planning, development, design, construction, alteration, or repair of real property.

(B)  Other professional services of an architectural or engineering nature,
or incidental services, which members of the architectural and engineering professions (and
individuals in their employ) may logically or justifiably perform, including studies,
investigations, surveying, mapping, tests, evaluations, consultations, comprehensive planning,
program management, conceptual designs, plans and specifications, value engineering,
construction phase services, soils engineering, drawing reviews, preparation of operating and
maintenance manuals, and other related services.

(4)  “Bid bond” means a form of security assuring that the bidder will not
withdraw a bid within the period specified for acceptance and will execute a written contract



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

5Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

within the time specified in the bid.
(5)  “Bid price” means the dollar value of a price offering submitted in response

to an Invitation for Bids.
(6)  “Bidder” means any person who submits a price offering in response to an

Invitation for Bids. 
(7)  “Bond” means a written instrument executed by a contractor (principal) and

a second party (surety) to assure fulfillment of the contractor's obligations to a third party
(obligee or the District).  If the principal's obligations are not met, the bond assures payment, to
the extent stipulated, of any loss sustained by the obligee.

(8)  “Business” means any corporation, partnership, individual, sole
proprietorship, joint stock company, joint venture, or any other legal entity through which
business is conducted.

(9)  “Change order” means a written order signed by the contracting officer,
directing the contractor to make changes which the changes clause of the contract authorizes the
contracting officer to order without the consent of the contractor.

(10)  “Chief Financial Officer” or “CFO” means the Chief Financial Officer of
the District of Columbia.

(11)  “Chief Procurement Officer” or “CPO” means the director of the Office of
Contracting and Procurement established by section 201. 

(12)  “Competitive sealed proposals” means a process which includes the
submission of written technical and price proposals from one or more offerors and a written
evaluation of each proposal in accordance with evaluation criteria which consider price, quality
of the items, performance, and other relevant factors.

(13)  “Construction” means the process of building, altering, repairing,
improving, or demolishing any public infrastructure facility, including any public structure,
public building, or other public improvements of any kind to real property.  The term
“construction” shall not include the routine operation, routine repair, or routine maintenance of
an existing public infrastructure facility, including structures, buildings, or real property.

(14)  “Construction management at-risk” means a project delivery method in
which the purchasing agency awards a construction management services contract for a project
to a single firm, based on qualifications, and under which contract the construction manager
shall deliver the project within the GMP. 

 (15)  “Contract modification” means any written alteration in the specifications,
delivery point, rate of delivery, contract period, price, quantity, or other contract provisions of
any existing contract, whether accomplished by unilateral action in accordance with a contract
provision, or by mutual action of the parties to the contract.  

(16)  “Contracting officer” means the Mayor, the CPO, or the CPO's designee
vested with the authority to execute contracts on behalf of the District or otherwise bind the
District in compliance with the provisions of this act.



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

6Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

(17)  “Contractor” means a person that enters into a contract with the District.
(18)  “Cooperative purchasing” means a procurement conducted by the District

government with, or on behalf of, any government or public entity, including a state, county, or
municipal jurisdiction or the Federal government.

(19)  “Cost-plus incentive fee contract” means a type of contract that specifies a
target cost, a target fee, minimum and maximum fees, and a fee adjustment formula.

(20)  “Cost-reimbursement contract” means a contract under which the District
reimburses the contractor for those contract costs, within a stated ceiling, which are recognized
as allowable and allocated in accordance with cost principles, and a fee, if any.

(21)  “Default Environmental Preference Standard” shall mean materials,
supplies, services, or commodities that:

(A)  Are available through the most current version of the GSA
Environmental Specialty Category; or 

(B)  Meet or exceed applicable performance standards or requirements of:
(i)  The Federal Energy Management Program;
(ii)  The Electronic Products Environmental Assessment Tool

Bronze rating;
(iii)  The U.S. Department of Energy’s ENERGY STAR program;
(iv)  The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency’s

Comprehensive Procurement Guidelines; or
(v)  Verification of a project under the Leadership in Energy and

Environmental Design green building rating systems designed by the United States Green
Building Council.

(22)  “Definitive contract” means the contract executed pursuant to the letter
contract commitment.

(23)  “Design-bid-build” means a project delivery method in which the
purchasing agency sequentially awards separate contracts, the 1st for architectural and
engineering services to design the project and the 2nd for construction of the project according to
the design.  

(24)  “Design-build” means a project delivery method in which the purchasing
agency enters into a single contract for design and construction of an infrastructure facility. 

(25)  “Design-build-finance-operate-maintain” means a project delivery method
in which:

(A)  The purchasing agency enters into a single contract for design,
construction, finance, maintenance, and operation of an infrastructure facility over a
contractually defined period; and

(B)  No District funds are appropriated to pay for any part of the services
provided by the contractor during the contract period.  

(26)  “Design-build-operate-maintain” means a project delivery method in



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

7Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

which:
(A)  The purchasing agency enters into a single contract for design,

construction, maintenance, and operation of an infrastructure facility over a contractually
defined period; and

(B)  All or a portion of the funds required to pay for the services provided
by the contractor during the contract period are:

(i)  Either appropriated by the District prior to award of the
contract; or 

(ii)  Generated by the District through fare, toll, or user charges.
(27)(A)  “Design requirements” means the written description of the

infrastructure facility or service to be procured under this act, including:
(i)  Required features, functions, characteristics, qualities, and

properties that are required by the District;
(ii)  The anticipated schedule, including start, duration, and

completion; and
(iii)  Estimated budgets (as applicable to the specific

procurement) for design, construction, operation and maintenance.
(B)  The written description may, but need not, include drawings and

other documents illustrating the scale and relationship of the features, functions, and
characteristics of the infrastructure facility or service.

(28)  “Determinations and findings” means a form of written approval and
detailed explanation as a prerequisite to taking certain contract actions, including the rationale
for the method of procurement, the selection of contract type, contractor selection, and the basis
for contract price. 

(29)  “District of Columbia Supply Schedule” or “DCSS” means the District of
Columbia's multiple award schedule or other procurement program under which contracts may
be awarded to certified business enterprises, as defined in section 2302(1B) of the Small, Local,
and Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Development and Assistance Act of 2005, effective
October 20, 2005 (D.C. Law 16-33; D.C. Official Code § 2-218.02(1B)), providing goods,
services, or construction to District government agencies.

(30)  “Environmentally Preferable Product or Service” or “EPPS” means a good
or service that is less harmful to human health and the environment when compared with
competing goods or services that serve the same purpose. The factors to be compared include
raw materials acquisition, production, manufacturing, packaging, distribution, reuse, operation,
maintenance, or disposal of the product.

(31)  “Evaluated bid price” means the dollar amount of a bid after bid price
adjustments are made under objective measurable criteria, set forth in the Invitation for Bid,
which affect the economy and effectiveness in the operation or use of the product, including the
reliability, maintainability, useful life, and residual value.



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

8Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

(32)  “Fixed-price contract” means a contract where the price is not subject to
any adjustment on the basis of the contractor’s cost experience in the performance of the
contract.

(33)  “Fixed-price incentive contract” means a contract that: 
(A)  Provides for adjusting profit; and 
(B)  Subject to a ceiling, establishes the final contract price by a formula

based on the relationship of final negotiated price to total target cost.  
(34)  “Fully allocated cost” means the total direct and indirect costs of providing

a good, service, or function.  The term “fully allocated cost” includes:
(A)  Direct personal services costs, including wages, salaries, and fringe

benefits; 
(B) Non-personal services costs including materials, goods, equipment,

maintenance and repairs, utilities, insurance, travel, and capital and equipment depreciation
cost; and 

(C)  General and administrative overhead.
(35)  “Goods” means all personal property, tangible or intangible. 
(36)  “Guaranteed Maximum Price” or “GMP” means an amount beyond which

the District government is not obligated to compensate a contractor. 
(37)  “Human care agreement” means a written agreement for the procurement of

education, special education, health, human, or social services, pursuant to section 406, to be
provided directly to individuals who have disabilities or are disadvantaged, displaced, elderly,
indigent, mentally ill, physically ill, unemployed, or minors in the custody of the District.

(38)  “Invitation for Bids” means all documents, including documents attached or
incorporated by reference, used for soliciting bids pursuant to section 402.

(39)  “Letter contract” means a written preliminary contractual instrument that
authorizes the contractor to begin immediately manufacturing or delivering goods or performing
services prior to the execution of a definitive contract.

(40)  “Machine-readable and searchable” means electronic text that is stored as
strings of characters and that can be displayed in a variety of formats. 

(41)  “Negotiation” means discussions to determine the terms and conditions of a
contract or procurement.

(42) “OCP” means the Office of Contracting and Procurement established by
section 201.

(43)  “Offeror” means any person who submits a technical and price proposal in
response to a Request For Proposals or a response to a Request For Qualifications.

(44)  “Operations and maintenance” means a project delivery method whereby
the purchasing agency enters into a single contract for the routine operation, routine repair, and
routine maintenance of an infrastructure facility.

(45)  “Payment bond” means a bond to assure payment to all persons supplying



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

9Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

labor or material in the performance of the work provided in the contract.
(46)  “Performance bond” means a bond to secure performance and fulfillment of

the contractor’s obligations under the contract.
(47)  “Privatization contract” means a contract by which the District government

enters into an agreement with a person who is not part of the District government to provide a
good or service to or on behalf of the District government that is being provided by a District
government agency or instrumentality. 

(48)  “Procurement” means buying, purchasing, renting, leasing, or otherwise
acquiring any goods, services, or construction.  

(49)  “Proposal development” means documents, drawings, and other design-
related documents that are sufficient to fix and describe the size and character of an
infrastructure facility as to architectural, structural, mechanical, and electrical systems,
materials, and other elements as may be appropriate to the applicable project delivery method.

(50)  “Public notice” means the distribution or dissemination of information to
interested parties using methods that are reasonably available.  Methods may include publication
in newspapers, electronic or paper mailing lists, and websites designated by the District;
provided, that competitive sealed bids pursuant to section 402 and competitive sealed proposals
pursuant to section 403 for any solicitation in excess of $250,000 shall include publication in a
newspaper of general circulation and in trade publications considered to be appropriate by the
CPO to give adequate public notice.

(51)  “Purchase Card Program” means the credit card program under which
agencies are authorized to make purchases for goods or services.

(52)  “Request for Proposals” or “RFP” means all documents, whether attached
or incorporated by reference, used for soliciting proposals pursuant to section 403.

(53)  “Request for Qualifications” or “RFQ” means a written document inviting
prospective contractors to submit a statement of their qualifications to provide certain goods or
services.

(54)  “Reverse auction” means an online procurement method whereby pre-
qualified suppliers compete with one another to provide a good or service, typically
commodities, to a buyer or group of buyers.

(55)  “Responsible” or “responsibility” means that a prospective contractor has
been determined, under section 302, to have the necessary capacity to perform in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the contract.

(56)  “Responsive bidder or offeror” means a person who has submitted a bid or
offer which conforms in all material respects to the solicitation.

(57)  “Sanitize” means the process of removing data from a media source before
the item is reused in an environment that does not provide an acceptable level of protection for
the data.

(58)  “Services” means the furnishing of labor, time, or effort by a contractor not



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

10Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

involving the delivery of a specific end product other than reports which are merely incidental to
the required performance.  The term “services” shall not include the furnishing of time, labor, or
effort pursuant to employment agreements or collective bargaining agreements.

(59)  “Sole source” means that a single source in a competitive marketplace can
fulfill the specifications of a contract.

(60)  “Source selection” means the process of soliciting a bidder or offeror for
the awarding of a contract and the subsequent evaluative process, based on established award
criteria, delineated in the solicitation document.

(61)  “Special education services” means the services defined in 34 C.F.R. 
§ 300.24.

(62)  “Specification” means any description of physical or functional
characteristics or of the nature of a good, service, or construction item.  The term “specification”
includes a description of any requirement for inspecting, testing, or preparing a good, service, or
construction item for delivery.

(63)  “Statement of qualifications” means a written document, submitted to OCP
by a prospective contractor wishing to obtain a District government contract, which sets forth
the prospective contractor’s qualifications as requested by the CPO.

(64)  “Surety” means a business legally liable for the debt, default, or failure of a
principal to satisfy a contractual obligation.

(65)  “Surplus goods” means any goods no longer having any use to the District. 
The term “surplus goods” includes obsolete goods, scrap materials, and nonexpendable goods
that have completed their useful life cycle.

(66)  “Surplus Property Fund” means the District of Columbia Surplus Property
Sales Revolving Fund established by section 804.

(67)  “Term contract” means a contract established for a period of time for bulk
purchase of goods commonly used by the District.

(68)  “Voucher” means a written authorization to a human care agreement
service provider to provide the services authorized in the agreement to an individual identified
in the agreement.

(69)  “Written” or “in writing” means the product of any method of forming
characters on paper, other materials, or viewable screens, which can be read, retrieved, and
reproduced, including information that is electronically transmitted and stored, other electronic
media, and digital files.

Sec. 105.  Application; exemptions.
(a)  Except as provided in this section, this act shall apply to all subordinate agencies,

instrumentalities, and employees of the District government, independent agencies, boards, and
commissions.  

(b)  Only sections 102, 103, 104, and titles III, IV, V, VII, IX, X, XI, and XII shall apply



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

11Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

to the Council. The duties of the CPO shall be exercised by the Council for the purposes of the
application of those sections and titles to the Council.  Notwithstanding section 201, the Mayor
or the CPO shall not have the authority to monitor, review, or establish standards, procedures,
regulations, or rules for contracts or procurements of the Council, unless authorized by the
Council.

(c)  This act shall not apply to:
(1)  The acquisition, disposition, or transfer of a real property asset or interest in

a real property asset by lease, purchase, sale, or other method;
(2)  A transaction pursuant to the District of Columbia Public Space Rental Act,

approved October 17, 1968 (82 Stat. 1156; D.C. Official Code § 10-1101.01 et seq.);
(3)  The District of Columbia Housing Finance Agency;
(4)  The District of Columbia courts;
(5)  The District Public Defender Service;
(6)  The District of Columbia Advisory Neighborhood Commissions;
(7)  The District of Columbia Water and Sewer Authority; 
(8)  The Office of Public Education Facilities Modernization; 
(9)  The Washington Convention and Sports Authority; 
(10)  The District of Columbia Auditor;
(11)  The Not-for-Profit Hospital Corporation; and
(12)  A contract or agreement receiving or making grants or loans or for federal

financial assistance.

TITLE II.  PROCUREMENT ORGANIZATION.
Sec. 201.  Office of Contracting and Procurement; authority.
(a)(1)  There is established as an independent agency the Office of Contracting and

Procurement, which shall be administered by the Chief Procurement Officer. Except as
otherwise provided in this act, OCP, through the CPO, shall have the exclusive authority to
administer the provisions of this act.

(2)  Notwithstanding paragraph (1) of this subsection, until October 1, 2013, the
Police and Firefighter’s Retirement and Relief Board, through its chief procurement officers,
shall exercise the duties of the CPO.

(3)  Notwithstanding paragraph (1) of this subsection, until October 1, 2015, the
following agencies, through their chief procurement officers, shall exercise the duties of the
CPO for their respective agencies: 

(A)  The Department of Disability Services; and
(B)  The Department of Mental Health, if a court order no longer requires

the agency to be exempt from the CPO’s authority.
(4)  The CPO may delegate contracting authority to employees of an agency, 

including OCP, or another instrumentality.



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

12Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

(5)  Agencies and instrumentalities subject to this act shall determine their
requirements for goods and services and administering awarded contracts.

(b)  Notwithstanding subsection (a) of this section, the following agencies shall not be
subject to the authority of the CPO, but shall conduct procurements in accordance with the
provisions of this act:

(1)  The Office of the Chief Financial Officer;  
(2)  The University of the District of Columbia;
(3)  The District of Columbia Housing Authority; 
(4)  The District of Columbia Public Library; 
(5)  The District of Columbia Public Schools; 
(6)  The Child and Family Services Agency, until such time as a court order no

longer requires the agency to be exempt from the CPO’s authority; 
(7)  The District of Columbia Retirement Board;
(8)  The Public Service Commission;
(9)  The Office of the People’s Counsel; and
(10)  The Criminal Justice Coordinating Council.

(c)  The Office of the Attorney General and the Inspector General may contract for the
services of accountants, lawyers, and other experts when they determine and state in writing that
good reason exists why the services should be procured independently of the Chief Procurement
Officer.

(d)  Except regarding agencies exempted in sections 105(c) and 201(b) and roads and
bridges, the Department of Real Estate Services shall have procurement authority for
construction and related  services under Title VI. 

(e)  Except as otherwise provided in section 105(b), the CPO may review and monitor
procurements by any agency, instrumentality, employee, or official exempt under this act or
authorized to procure independently of OCP.

(f)  The CPO may conduct procurements and award contracts on behalf of any agency
exempt under this act or authorized to procure independently of OCP, when requested by the
agency to do so.  In conducting procurements or awarding contracts, the CPO shall comply with
the requirements of this act.

Sec. 202.  Criteria for Council review of multiyear contracts and contracts in excess of
$1 million.

(a)  Pursuant to section 451 of the District of Columbia Home Rule Act, approved
December 24, 1973 (87 Stat. 803; D.C. Official Code § 1-204.51), prior to the award of a
multiyear contract or a contract in excess of $1 million during a 12-month period, the Mayor or
executive independent agency or instrumentality shall submit the proposed contract to the
Council for review and approval in accordance with the criteria established in this section.

(b)(1)  A proposed multiyear contract shall be deemed disapproved by the Council



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

13Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

unless, during the 45-calendar-day review period beginning on the 1st day (excluding Saturdays,
Sundays, and holidays) following its receipt by the Office of the Secretary to the Council, the
Council adopts a resolution to approve the proposed multiyear contract.

(2)  A proposed contract in excess of $1 million during a 12-month period shall
be deemed approved by the Council if one of the following occurs:

(A)  During the 10-day period beginning on the 1st day (excluding
Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays) following its receipt by the Office of the Secretary to the
Council, no member of the Council introduces a resolution to approve or disapprove the
proposed contract; or

(B)  If a resolution has been introduced in accordance with subparagraph
(A) of this paragraph, and the Council does not disapprove the contract during the 45-day
review period beginning on the 1st day (excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays) following
its receipt by the Office of the Secretary to the Council.

(3)(A)  Council approval of contracts submitted pursuant to paragraph (2) of this
subsection shall expire 12 months after the award of the contract. 

(B)(i)  Council approval of a contract containing a provision that grants to
the District the option of continuing or amending the contract beyond the 12-month period of
Council approval shall not constitute Council approval of the exercise of the option contract.

(ii)  To exercise an option that meets the criteria for Council
review pursuant to this section, the Mayor shall submit the option contract to the Council
pursuant to this section.

(iii)  The exercise of an option that meets the criteria for Council
review under this subsection without Council review of the option contract is a violation of this
section and of section 451 of the District of Columbia Home Rule Act, approved December 24,
1973 (87 Stat. 803; D.C. Official Code § 1-204.51).

(c)  Proposed contracts submitted pursuant to this section may be submitted
electronically and shall contain a summary, including the following:

(1)  The proposed contractor, contract amount, unit and method of compensation,
contract term, and type of contract;

(2)  The goods or services to be provided, the methods of delivering goods or
services, and any significant program changes reflected in the proposed contract;

(3)  The selection process, including the number of offerors, the evaluation
criteria, and the evaluation results, including price and technical components;

(4)  The background and qualifications of the proposed contractor, including its
organization, financial stability, personnel, and prior performance on contracts with the District
government;

(5)  Performance standards and expected outcomes of the proposed contract;
(6)  A certification that the proposed contract is within the appropriated budget

authority for the agency for the fiscal year and is consistent with the financial plan and budget



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

14Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

adopted in accordance with D.C. Official Code §§ 47-392.01 and 47-392.02;
(7)  A certification that the proposed contract is legally sufficient, including

whether the proposed contractor has any currently pending legal claims against the District;
(8)  A certification that the proposed contractor is current with its District and

federal taxes or has worked out and is current with a payment schedule approved by the District
or federal government;

(9)  The status of the proposed contractor as a certified local, small, or
disadvantaged business enterprise, as defined in the Small, Local, and Disadvantaged Business
Enterprise Development and Assistance Act of 2005, effective October 20, 2005 (D.C. Law 16-
33; D.C. Official Code § 2-218.01 et seq.);

(10)  Other aspects of the proposed contract that the CPO considers significant; 
(11)  A statement indicating whether the proposed contractor is currently

debarred from providing services or goods to the District or federal government, the dates of the
debarment, and the reasons for debarment; and

(12)  Where the contract, if executed, will be made available online.
(d)  No proposed multiyear contract and no proposed contract in excess of $1 million for

a 12-month period shall be awarded until after the Council has reviewed and approved the
proposed contract as provided in this section.

(e)  Notwithstanding subsection (a) of this section, review and approval by the Council
of a definitive contract in excess of $1 million during a 12-month period shall constitute the
Council review and approval, required by section 451(b) of the District of Columbia Home Rule
Act, approved December 24, 1973 (87 Stat. 803; D.C. Official Code § 1-204.51(b)), of the
definitive contract and the merged letter contract contained therein.  

(f)  Any employee or agency head who shall knowingly or willfully enter into a proposed
multiyear contract or a proposed contract in excess of $1 million without prior Council review
and approval in accordance with this section shall be subject to suspension, dismissal, or other
disciplinary action under the procedures set forth in Title XVI-A of the District of Columbia
Government Comprehensive Merit Personnel Act of 1978, effective June 10, 1998 (D.C. Law
12-124; D.C. Official Code § 1-616.51 et seq.).  

(g)(1)  No contractor who knowingly or willfully performs on a contract with the District
in excess of $1 million for a 12-month period without prior Council approval shall be paid more
than $1 million for the products or services provided.

    (2)  No contractor who knowingly or willfully performs on a multiyear contract
with the District without prior Council approval of the multiyear contract shall be paid in more
than one calendar year for the products or services provided.

(h)  Review and approval by the Council of the annual capital program of federal
highway aid projects shall constitute the Council review and approval required by section
451(d)(3) of the Home Rule Act, approved December 24, 1973 (87 Stat. 803; D.C. Official
Code § 1-204.51(d)(3)), of individual federal-aid highway contracts that make up the annual



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

15Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

program.

Sec. 203.  Office of Contracting and Procurement.
(a)  The agency head of the Office of Contracting and Procurement shall be the Chief

Procurement Officer.
(b)  The CPO shall be appointed by the Mayor with the advice and consent of the

Council pursuant to the Confirmation Act of 1978, effective March 3, 1979 (D.C. Law 2-142;
D.C. Official Code § 1-523.01).

(c)  On the effective date of this act, the incumbent CPO shall continue to serve as the
CPO. If the incumbent CPO is unable to serve as the CPO, until a new CPO is appointed by the
Mayor pursuant to the Confirmation Act of 1978, effective March 3, 1979 (D.C. Law 2-142;
D.C. Official Code § 1-523.01), the highest ranking employee of OCP shall serve as acting
CPO.

(d)  The CPO shall have not less than 5 years of senior-level experience in procurement
and shall have demonstrated, through knowledge and experience, the ability to administer a
public procurement system of the size and complexity of the program established by this act.

(e)  The CPO shall serve for one 5-year term and may be reappointed pursuant to
subsection (b) of this section.

(f)  The CPO shall not be removed from office before the expiration of the 5-year term
except for cause, subject to the right of appeal as provided in Title VI of the District of
Columbia Government Comprehensive Merit Personnel Act of 1978, effective March 3, 1979
(D.C. Law 2-139; D.C. Official Code § 1-606.01 et seq.).

Sec. 204.  Duties of the Chief Procurement Officer.
(a)  The Chief Procurement Officer shall be the chief procurement official of the

District.
(b)  The CPO shall have the following authority and responsibility:

(1)  To serve as the central procurement and contracting officer for the District;
(2)  To identify gaps, omissions, or inconsistencies in procurement laws, rules,

and policies, or in laws, rules and policies affecting procurement-related activities, and to
recommend changes to laws, rules, and procedures;

(3)  To provide overall leadership in the implementation of procurement rules,
coordinate all procurement activities of the District government in accordance with the
provisions of the act, and develop a system of unified and simplified procurement procedures
and forms.

(4)  To prepare and issue standard specifications for goods, services, and
construction required by the District government;

(5)  To establish a standardization program for goods and services when it is
determined to be in the best interests of the District;



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

16Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

(6)  To review, monitor, and audit the procurement activities of the District;
(7)  To prepare, establish, and implement a periodic review process for the

evaluation of contractors who provide goods or services to the District;  
(8)  To identify and assess trends and developments in the field of government

contracting, including identifying best practices and innovation opportunities for the District;  
(9)  To operate and maintain an electronic procurement system;
(10)  To sell, trade, or otherwise dispose of surplus goods belonging to the

District government;
(11)  To establish procedures for the inspection, testing, and acceptance of goods,

services, and construction;
(12)  To develop guidelines for the recruitment, training, career development,

and performance evaluation of all procurement personnel; 
(13)  To staff OCP with procurement professionals, including attorneys,

dedicated to the formation and administration of contracts on behalf of the entities covered by
this act; 

(14)  To create and maintain a transparent Internet site, accessible to the public,
providing information on solicitations, contracts, and related laws, rules, and policies;

(15)  To promote to the purchase of environmentally preferable products and
services; and

(16)  To establish certification requirements for contracting personnel.

Sec. 205.  Privatization contracts and procedures requirements.
(a)  Before issuing a solicitation for a privatization contract pursuant to this section, the

District government agency on whose behalf the solicitation will be issued shall prepare an
estimate of the fully allocated cost associated with providing the relevant goods or services
using District government employees. The agency shall transmit this estimate to the contract
specialist responsible for the solicitation, who shall retain the estimate as part of the official
contract file.

(b)  A solicitation for a proposed privatization contract issued pursuant to this section
shall include information describing how current District government employees may exercise
the right to bid on the contracts.

(c)  Before awarding a privatization contract, and prior to modifying a contract, the
Mayor, instrumentality, or independent agency head shall transmit to the Council a
determination and findings that:

(1)  Compares the current fully allocated cost of providing the services using 
District government employees, departments, or agencies, using the estimate described in
subsection (a) of this section, to the fully allocated costs associated with contracting for the
service;

(2)  Demonstrates that the privatization contract will provide savings of at least



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

17Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

5% over the duration of the contract in terms of total cost or the unit cost of providing the goods
or services;

(3)  Describes the expected impact of the privatization contract on the quality of
goods or services provided to or on behalf of the District government, including performance
targets and requirements for the contractor; and

(4)  Includes a written confirmation of review by officials, including the Chief
Financial Officer, the Attorney General for the District of Columbia, and the CPO.

(d)  A privatization contract, or any contracting policies and procedures relating to these
contracts, to provide goods and services to or on behalf of the District government, including a
contract resulting from a process of managed competition, shall provide that:

(1)  The Mayor, instrumentality, or independent agency head shall complete the
determination and findings described in subsection (c) of this section and transmit the
determination and findings to the Council prior to the award of the contract;

(2)  A contractor who is awarded a contract that displaces District government
employees shall offer to the displaced employee a right of first refusal to employment by the
contractor, in a comparable available position for which the employee is qualified, for at least a
6-month period during which the employee shall not be discharged without cause;

(3)  Any District employee who is displaced as a result of a privatization
contract,  and is hired by the contractor who was awarded the privatization contract, shall be
entitled to the benefits provided by the Service Contract Act of 1965, approved October 22,
1965 (79 Stat. 1034; 41 U.S.C. § 351 et seq.); 

(4)  If the employee's performance during the 6-month transitional employment
period described in paragraph (2) of this subsection is satisfactory, the contractor shall offer the
employee continued employment under terms and conditions established by the contractor;

(5)  The privatization contract shall incorporate specific performance criteria and 
the contractor shall submit reports, as required by the contract, to the District government
contracting officer and the Chief Financial Officer on the contractor's compliance with the
specific performance criteria; and

(6)  The privatization contract may be canceled if the contractor fails to comply
with the performance criteria set out in the contract.

(e)  If a privatization contract is awarded, the Mayor, instrumentality, or the independent
agency head shall make efforts to assist affected District government employees and to promote
employment opportunities for District residents with the contractor. These efforts shall include:

(1)  Consulting with union representatives and District government employees
who would be affected by the privatization contract; 

(2)  Providing prior notification of at least 30 days of any adverse impact of a 
privatization contract to District government employees who would be affected by the contract,
including notification to a labor organization certified as the exclusive representative of
employees affected by the contract;



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

18Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

(3)  Providing alternative employment in the District government to displaced
District government employees if there are unfilled positions for which those employees are
qualified; and

(4)  Encouraging the contractor to offer employment to qualified District
residents  before offering employment to qualified nonresidents.

(f)  An agency shall not attempt to circumvent the requirements of this section by
eliminating the provision of goods or services by the agency before procuring substantially the
same goods or services from a person who is not part of the District government.

Sec. 206.  Procurement training institute.
(a)  The CPO shall establish and administer a procurement training institute to facilitate

a system of training, continuing education, and certification for District contracting personnel.
The procurement training institute may:

(1)  Conduct or participate in procurement education and training programs for
District employees and others, including persons not employed by the District;

(2)  Conduct, develop, or collaborate with established training or certification
programs for the express purpose of providing certifications of proficiency to all participants
who successfully complete the designated programs; 

(3)  Conduct research into existing and new methods of procurement; 
(4)  Establish and maintain a District procurement library; and
(5)(A)  Establish a tiered core curriculum that sets forth the minimum

procurement-related training courses to be completed by District procurement personnel.  
(B)  The tiered core curriculum shall be designed to develop procurement

competency along with a uniform training approach for personnel ranging from entry level
contract specialist to contracting officer.

(b)  The CPO may charge a fee for training conducted by the procurement training
institute in accordance with section 1103.

(c)  The CPO shall require that District contracting personnel be certified and that they
maintain a reasonable number of hours of continuing education to maintain their certification.

(d)  The CPO may allow attendance at a recognized institute to satisfy the certification
requirement and the number of hours for continuing education. 

TITLE III.  CONTRACTOR STANDARDS.
Sec. 301. Contractor standards.
The CPO shall establish a process to certify, on a solicitation-by-solicitation basis, the

responsibility of prospective contractors. The process shall ensure that the prospective
contractor:

(1)  Has adequate financial resources to perform the contract or the ability to



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

19Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

obtain those resources;
(2)  Is able to comply with the required or proposed delivery or performance

schedule, based upon the bidder's or offeror’s existing commercial and government contract
commitments;

(3)  Has a satisfactory performance record;
(4)  Has a satisfactory record of integrity and business ethics;
(5)  Has a satisfactory record of compliance with the law, including labor and

civil rights laws and rules and the First Source Employment Agreement Act of 1984, effective
June 29, 1984 (D.C. Law 5-93; D.C. Official Code § 2-219.01 et seq.);

(6)  Has, or has the ability to obtain, the necessary organization, experience,
accounting, operational control, and technical skills;

(7)  Has, or has the ability to obtain, the necessary production, construction,
technical equipment, and facilities; 

(8)  Has not exhibited a pattern of overcharging the District;
(9)  Does not have an outstanding debt with the District or the federal

government in a delinquent status; and
(10)  Is otherwise qualified and is eligible to receive an award under applicable

laws and rules.

Sec. 302.  Determination of contractor responsibility.
(a)  Prior to awarding a contract, the District shall make a determination, in accordance

with the process established under section 301, that the prospective contractor has the necessary
capacity to perform in accordance with the terms and conditions of the contract.

(b)  For all contracts to exceed $100,000, a potential contractor shall complete and
submit with its bid or offer a certification developed by OCP to provide information needed to
determine if a prospective contractor is responsible. The certification shall be signed under the
penalty of perjury. 

(c)  After the contract is awarded, if the District learns that the contractor certified false 
information, the District may terminate the contract. The contractor shall update its responses in
the certification during the term of the contract within 60 days of a material change in a
response to its prior questionnaire and prior to the exercise of an option year contract. The
District may consider failure of the contractor to update the certification with this information as
material breach of the contract and invoke remedies pursuant to the provisions of this act.
Information within the certification may be made available to the public, except to the extent
that any information is exempt from disclosure.

(d)  A determination by the CPO that a prospective contractor is non-responsible shall be
final. The determination of non-responsibility shall not be overturned unless arbitrary or
capricious.

(e)  Upon determining that a prospective contractor is non-responsible, the CPO shall



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

20Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

consider whether the contractor should be suspended or debarred pursuant to the procedure and
criteria of section 907. 

(f)  Contractors shall ensure that their subcontractors meet the criteria for responsibility
pursuant to section 301.

(g)  Information about a prospective or current contractor relevant to a contractor’s
responsibility, or lack thereof, may be submitted for consideration to the CPO by a member of
the general public.

TITLE IV.  SOURCE SELECTION AND CONTRACT FORMATION.
Sec. 401.  Source selection methods.
(a)(1)  Except as otherwise authorized by law, all District government contracts shall be

awarded by:
(A)  Competitive sealed bidding pursuant to section 402;  
(B)  Competitive sealed proposals pursuant to section 403;
(C)  Sole source procurements pursuant to section 404;
(D)  Emergency procurements pursuant to section 405;
(E)  Human care procurements pursuant to section 406;
(F)  Small purchase procurements pursuant to section 407;
(G)  Special pilot procurements pursuant to section 408;
(H)  Reverse auctions pursuant to section 409; 
(I)  Procurements through a General Services Administration schedule

pursuant to section 410;
(J)  Cooperative agreements pursuant to section 411;
(K)  Procurements through the DCSS pursuant to section 412; or
(L)  Infrastructure facilities and services pursuant to Title VI.

(2)  The CPO shall publish annually on the Internet a report on the number of and
dollar value of contracts executed under each source selection method.

(b)(1)  Except for members of a technical advisory group, a District employee or official 
shall not attempt to influence a procurement professional with respect to source selection;
provided, that an employee or official may attempt to prevent a procurement professional from
violating law or rules.

(2)  Any employee or official who violates this section shall be subject to
suspension, dismissal, or other disciplinary action under the procedures pursuant to Title XVI-A
of the District of Columbia Government Comprehensive Merit Personnel Act of 1978, approved
June 10, 1998 (D.C. Law 12-124; D.C. Official Code § 1-616.51 et seq.).



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

21Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

Sec. 402.  Competitive sealed bids.
(a)  Contracts exceeding $100,000 shall be awarded by competitive sealed bidding

unless the CPO issues a determination and findings that use of competitive sealed bidding is not
practicable or not in the best interests of the District. 

(b)  Bids shall be solicited through an Invitation for Bids.
(c)  The Invitation for Bids may include special standards of responsibility to ensure that

bidders are properly qualified to perform the work. 
(d)  The Invitation for Bids shall state whether an award shall be made on the basis of

the lowest bid price or the lowest evaluated bid price.  If the lowest evaluated bid price basis is
used, the objective measurable criteria to be utilized shall be set forth in the Invitation for Bids.

(e)(1)  The CPO shall provide public notice of the Invitation for Bids of not less than 14
days for contracts, unless the CPO issues a determination and findings that it is appropriate to
shorten the notice period to a period of not less than 3 days. In making the determination and
findings, the CPO shall consider factors including the complexity of the procurement, the type
of goods or services being purchased, and the impact of a shortened notice period on
competition. 

(2)(A)  The CPO shall maintain an Internet site that provides prospective
contractors with public notice of opportunities to bid, notice of contract awards, and other
relevant information about District procurements.

(B)  Public notice of an Invitation for Bids may include publication in
newspapers or trade publications considered to be appropriate by the CPO to give adequate
public notice.

(f)  Bids shall be opened publicly at the time and place designated in the Invitation for
Bids; provided, that the opening may be conducted in a publicly accessible electronic forum. 
Each bid, with the name of the bidder and price offering contained therein, shall be recorded and
be open to public inspection. 

(g)  The contract shall be awarded after completion of evaluation procedures for
competitive sealed bids. 

(h)  Correction or withdrawal of bids shall be allowed only to the extent permitted by
rules issued pursuant to this act.

Sec. 403.  Competitive sealed proposals.
(a) A contract may be entered into by competitive sealed proposal when the use of 

competitive sealed bidding is not practicable or not advantageous to the District.
(b)  Proposals shall be solicited from the maximum number of qualified sources and in a 

manner consistent with the nature of, and the need for, the goods, services, or construction being
acquired.

(c)  Proposals shall be solicited through a request for proposals. The CPO shall provide
public notice of the RFP of not less than 21 days, unless the CPO issues a determination and



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

22Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

findings that it is appropriate to shorten the notice period to a period of not less than 14 days. In
making the determination and findings, the CPO shall consider factors including the complexity
of the procurement, the type of goods or services being purchased, and the impact of a shortened
notice period on competition.

(d)(1)  An RFP shall set forth each evaluation factor and indicate the relative importance
of each evaluation factor.  Price shall be included as an evaluation factor.

(2)  Each RFP shall include a statement of work or other description of 
the District's specific needs, which shall be used as a basis for the evaluation of proposals.

(e)  The contract shall be awarded by written notice to the responsive and responsible
bidder whose bid will be most advantageous to the District.

(f)(1)  The contracting officer may issue an RFQ before an RFP if the CPO makes a
determination and findings that proceeding with an RFQ process would be advantageous to the
District and that establishes a reasonable price range for the procurement.  

(2)  The RFQ shall include a description of the statement of work to be solicited
by the RFP, the deadline for submission of information, and how prospective offerors may
apply for consideration. The RFQ shall require information only on the prospective contractor’s
qualifications, experience, and ability to perform the requirements of the contract. 

(3)  After receiving the responses to the RFQ from prospective contractors, the
contracting officer shall determine in writing the ranking of the prospective contractors from the
most qualified to the least qualified on the basis of the information provided. The contracting
officer shall then issue an RFP to at least the 3 highest-ranked prospective contractors. The
determination regarding how many proposals to solicit shall not be subject to review.

(g)  Upon receiving the responses to an RFP, the contracting officer shall:
(1)  Evaluate the proposals received using only the criteria stated in the RFP and

in accordance with weightings that have been provided in the RFP; and
(2)  Rank the prospective contractors from most advantageous to least

advantageous to the District.
(h)(1)  After ranking the prospective contractors, the contracting officer may elect to

proceed with negotiations in accordance with paragraph (2) of this subsection. The contracting
officer’s decision shall not be subject to review.

(2)  If the contracting officer elects to proceed with negotiations, the contracting
officer shall negotiate with the highest-ranked prospective contractor on price or matters
affecting the scope of the contract, so long as the terms of the final contract are within the scope
of the request for proposals.  If a satisfactory contract cannot be negotiated with the highest-
ranked prospective contractor, the contracting officer may negotiate the terms of the contract
with the 2nd most qualified prospective contractor or lower-ranked prospective contractors in
order of ranking until a satisfactory contract can be awarded.  

(3)  The contracting officer may reopen negotiations with any prospective
contractor with whom negotiations were terminated. 



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

23Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

(4)  The contracting officer may make changes within the general scope of the 
RFP but shall then provide all offerors an opportunity to submit their best and final offers. 

Sec. 404.  Sole source procurements.
(a)  A contract may be awarded through noncompetitive negotiations when there is only

one source for the required good or service.  
(b)  The CPO shall make a determination and findings justifying the sole source

procurement.
(c)  Notice of intent to enter into a sole source contract shall be posted on the Internet at

least 10 days prior to award. The notice shall include:
(1)  The determination and findings required by subsection (b) of this section;
(2)  A description of the item to be procured; and
(3)  The intended sole source contractor.

(d)  The contract shall be made available online within 7 days of the contract award.

Sec. 405.  Emergency procurements.
(a)  Notwithstanding any other provision of this act, a contract may be awarded through

an emergency procurement as defined by rules:
(1)  When there is an imminent threat to the public health, welfare, property, or

safety; or 
(2)  To prevent or minimize serious disruption in agency operations. 

(b)  Emergency procurements shall be made with as much competition as is practicable
under the circumstances, based on the judgment and determination of the contracting officer.

(c)  The contracting officer may issue oral orders or notices to proceed to contractors to
provide services or goods to the District; provided, that the directive shall be reduced to writing
within 3 business days after issuance and funding for the services or goods provided shall be
certified by the appropriate fiscal official.  

(d)  Emergency procurement procedures shall not be used for contracts exceeding 90 
days; provided, that if the development time for the good or service exceeds 90 days, the
contract shall not exceed 120 days. 

(e)  The CPO shall make a determination and findings justifying the emergency
procurement.

(f)  Notice of all emergency procurements shall be made available on the Internet no
more than 7 days after the contract is awarded. The notice shall include:

(1)  The determination and findings required by subsection (e) of this section;
(2)  A description of the item to be procured;
(3)  The designated contractor; and
(4)  A copy of the contract.



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

24Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

Sec. 406.  Human care procurements.
(a)  Notwithstanding any other provision of this act, the CPO may award a human care

agreement for a human care service if the human care service to be provided is:
(1)  Negotiated on a fee for service or unit-rate basis using benchmarks 

and quantifiable measurements that shall be uniformly applied to providers of the same service;
(2)  Purchased at rates adopted by rule; or
(3)  One that an agency typically purchases as needs arise, but for which the

quantity, rate of utilization, delivery areas, or specific beneficiaries of the service cannot be
accurately estimated at the outset of the procurement process.

(b)  If a human care agreement for a human care service is to be awarded, the CPO shall
publish a request for qualifications that:

(1)  States the general requirements for the service; and
(2)  Requests interested service providers to respond in writing with a statement

of their qualifications to perform the service on a form prescribed by the CPO. 
(c)  The CPO shall retain statements of qualifications submitted by providers for 3 years.
(d)  The CPO may conduct negotiations for a human care agreement with any

responsible service provider who has submitted a statement of qualifications, without any
additional public notice or solicitation required, to satisfy all or part of the District's anticipated
requirements for a particular human care service.

(e)  Before conducting negotiations with a service provider, the CPO shall issue a
determination and findings that the service provider is responsible in accordance with Title III.

(f)  The CPO may authorize the use of vouchers to authorize the delivery of service
provided by service providers who enter into human care agreements.

(g)  The CPO shall provide public notice of the award of a human care agreement
pursuant to this section on the Internet.

(h)  The human care agreement shall identify the services to be rendered during the term
of the agreement and shall set forth the terms and conditions of any purchases issued pursuant to
the agreement.  The contracting officer shall include in each human care agreement the
following information:

(1)  A statement that the human care agreement is not a commitment to purchase
any quantity of a particular good or service covered under the agreement; and

(2)  A statement that the District is obligated only to the extent that authorized
purchases are made pursuant to the human care agreement.

Sec. 407.   Small purchase procurements.
(a)  The CPO may establish a streamlined process for entering into contracts for goods

and services not exceeding $100,000.  The process shall set forth:
(1)  Requirements for basic competition, including solicitation of contracts or

orders from multiple vendors; 



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

25Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

(2)  A noncompetitive process for entering into contracts under a dollar threshold
established by the CPO not to exceed $10,000; and

(3)  Requirements that purchases be made transparent.
(b)  Procurement requirements shall not be parceled, split, divided, or purchased over a

period of time to avoid the $100,000 limitation of subsection (a) of this section.
(c)  The CPO shall implement standards to monitor small purchase procedures to ensure

compliance with applicable laws, rules, and policies.

Sec. 408.  Special pilot procurements.
(a)  The CPO may, with prior public notice and in accordance with rules issued pursuant

to this act, award a contract without competitive sealed bidding or competitive sealed proposals
if it is determined that an unusual or unique situation exists that makes the application of all
requirements of competitive sealed bidding or competitive sealed proposals not in the public
interest.

(b)  A special pilot procurement under this section shall be made with as much
competition as is practicable under the circumstances.

(c)  A special pilot procurement under this section shall require a determination and
findings setting forth the reasons warranting the special procurement and for the selection of the
particular contractor.

(d)  The CPO shall post the notice of award and the determination and findings on the
Internet within 7 days after the execution and approval of a special pilot procurement.

(e)  An unusual or unique situation justifying a special pilot procurement under this
section shall include a contract made to:

(1)  Satisfy a new and unique District requirement; or
(2)  Obtain a new technology.

 
Sec. 409.  Auctions.
(a)(1)  The CPO may procure goods or services through reverse auction via the Internet

when it is determined that the reverse auction bidding method is the most effective method for
the District.

(2)  The CPO may place any requirement for a good or service on an established
Internet reverse auction exchange that would allow any bidder to competitively bid down the
price of that good or service over a set period of time established by the CPO.

(3)  The CPO may establish an online auction for the purposes of executing
reverse auction transactions on behalf of the District.

(b)(1)  The CPO may dispose of or sell surplus goods through standard auction via the
Internet.

(2)  The CPO may place any surplus goods on an established standard auction
exchange on the Internet that would allow any person, excluding any employee of the disposing



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

26Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

District agency, to competitively acquire surplus personal property or goods from the District.
(3)  The CPO may establish a standard auction exchange on the Internet for the

purpose of executing standard auction transactions on behalf of the District government.

Sec. 410.  General Services Administration schedules.
(a)  The CPO may procure goods or services through a General Services Administration

schedule pursuant to 40 U.S.C. § 502(a)(3) and 40 U.S.C. § 602(c).
(b)  The CPO shall ensure that the price of any contract entered into under subsection (a)

of this section is reasonable. 

Sec. 411.  Cooperative purchasing.
(a)  The CPO may, and is encouraged to, participate in, sponsor, conduct, or administer

cooperative purchasing agreements for the procurement of goods, services, or construction.
(b)  Cooperative purchasing agreements entered into by the District government shall be

in accordance with, to the extent practicable, all laws and rules of the District government with
respect to contracting, and shall be consistent with laws and rules of the United States
government that apply specifically to the District.

(c)  An agency shall not enter into or participate in a cooperative purchasing agreement
unless that participation is authorized by the CPO or a designee pursuant to the delegated
contracting authority in section 201.

(d)  The CPO may charge and collect an administrative fee for serving as the lead
jurisdiction on a cooperative agreement and may receive any rebates or other fees for
participating in a cooperative agreement.  The CPO shall deposit such fees in the District of
Columbia Supply Schedule, Purchase Card, and Training Fund established in section 1103.

Sec. 412.  District of Columbia Supply Schedule.
(a)  There is established a District of Columbia Supply Schedule program under which 

contracts may be awarded to certified business enterprises. The DCSS program may consist of
multiple award schedules or other procurement programs established by the CPO.

(b)  A DCSS contract may be awarded by:
(1)   Any source selection method authorized by Title IV;
 (2)  A contract with a contractor who maintains a price agreement or schedule

with any federal agency so long as the contract does not authorize a price higher than is
contained in the contract between the federal agency and the contractor; or

(3)  A contract with a contractor who agrees to adopt the same pricing schedule
for the same goods or services as that of a contractor who maintains a price agreement or
schedule with any federal agency if the contract does not authorize a price higher than is



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

27Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

contained in the contract between the federal agency and the contractor.
(c)  An agency may refuse to award a contract or procurement set aside pursuant to the 

Small, Local, and Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Development and Assistance Act of 2005,
effective October 20, 2005 (D.C. Law 16-33; D.C. Official Code § 2-218.01 et seq.), and may
thereafter issue the contract or procurement in the open market if the agency determines in
writing that the bids for the contract or procurement set aside for a small business enterprise are
believed to be 12% or more above the likely price on the open market.

Sec. 413.  Competition exemptions.
Contracts for the following procurements shall be exempt from the competition

requirements established by this act:
(1)  Artistic services or works of art;
(2)  Commodities or contractual services if federal or District law prescribes with

whom the District must contract;
 (3)  Legal services or negotiation services in connection with proceedings before

administrative agencies or state or federal courts, including experts, attorneys, and mediators;
(4)  Copyrighted or patented materials, including technical pamphlets, published

books, maps, and testing or instructional materials; provided, that the materials are purchased
directly from the owner of the copyright or patent;

(5)  Memberships in trade or professional organizations;
(6)  Entertainers;
(7)  Job-related seminars and training for District employees;
(8)  Maintenance and support of existing software and technology to the extent

that the creator of the intellectual property is still protected and is the only source of the
maintenance and support of the existing software and technology;

(9)  Public transit farecards, passes, and tokens;
(10)  Personal property or services provided by another public entity, agency, or

authority;
(11)  Postage;
(12)  Purchases of advertising in all media, including electronic, print, radio, and

television; provided, that they are purchased directly from the media outlet;
(13)  Trade and career fairs for District employees;
(14)  Special event venues and related services as dictated by the establishment;
(15)  Subscriptions for periodicals and newspapers;
(16)  Ticket purchases for special events, tourist attractions, and amusement

parks; and
(17)  Professional development training which supports principal, teacher, and

student achievement pursuant to the District of Columbia Public Schools Master Education
Plan.



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

28Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

Sec. 414.  Cancellation of solicitations.
An Invitation for Bid, a Request for Proposals, or other solicitation may be cancelled if it

is determined in writing by the CPO that the action is taken in the best interests of the District
government. 

Sec. 415.  Collusion.
(a)  A person who enters into a contract with the District after engaging in collusion with

another person for the purpose of defrauding the District shall be liable for damages equal to 3
times the value of the loss to the District attributable to the collusion.

(b)  If there is a reasonable basis for believing that collusion has occurred among any
individuals or entities for the purpose of defrauding the District, the CPO shall send a written
notice of this belief to the Attorney General and to the Mayor.

(c)  All documents involved in any procurement in which collusion is suspected shall be
retained until the Attorney General gives notice that they may be destroyed. All documents shall
be made available to the Attorney General.

Sec. 416.  Contingent fees.
(a)  A contractor shall not offer to pay any fee or other consideration that is contingent

on the making of a contract.
(b)  Every contract shall contain the following prohibition against contingent fees: “The

contractor warrants that no person or selling agency has been employed or retained to solicit or
secure the contract upon an agreement or understanding for a commission, percentage,
brokerage fee, or contingent fee, except bona fide employees or bona fide established
commercial or selling agencies maintained by the contractor for the purpose of securing
business. For a breach or violation of this warranty, the District shall have the right to terminate
the contract without liability or in its discretion to deduct from the contract price or
consideration, or otherwise recover, the full amount of the commission, percentage, brokerage,
or contingent fee.

(c)  A District employee shall not solicit or secure, or offer to solicit or secure, a contract
for which the employee is paid or is to be paid any fee or other consideration contingent on the
making of the contract between the employee and any other person.

Sec. 417.  Confidentiality.
The CPO shall review information which has been designated as confidential or

proprietary by a person and which has been submitted in response to an Invitation for Bids or
Request for Proposals.  If the CPO determines that the designation is proper, the information
shall be treated by the CPO, and any other District employee, in a confidential manner, shall be
disclosed only to District employees for use in the procurement process, and shall not be



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

29Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

disclosed to other persons or parties without the prior written consent of the person, except as
provided by the Freedom of Information Act of 1976, effective March 25, 1977 (D.C. Law 1-96;
D.C. Official Code § 2-531 et seq.).

Sec. 418.  Right to audit records; right to inspect.
(a)  The District may, at reasonable times and places, audit the books and records of any

person who has submitted data to substantiate offered prices pursuant to section 419 to the
extent that the books and records relate to that data. A person who receives a contract, change
order, or contract modification for which the data is required, shall maintain books and records
that relate to the cost or pricing data for 3 years from the date of final payment under the
contract, unless a shorter period is otherwise authorized in writing.

(b)  The Inspector General, District of Columbia Auditor, or District shall be entitled to
audit the books and records of a contractor or any subcontractor under any negotiated contract
or subcontract, other than a firm fixed-price contract, to the extent that the books and records
relate to the performance of the contract or subcontract.  Books and records shall be maintained
by the contractor for a period of 3 years from the date of final payment under the prime contract
and by the subcontractor for a period of 3 years from the date of final payment under the
subcontract, unless a shorter period is otherwise authorized in writing.

(c)  The Inspector General, District of Columbia Auditor, or District may, at reasonable
times, inspect the part of the place of business of a contractor or any subcontractor which is
related to the performance of any contract awarded or to be awarded by the District.

Sec. 419.  Reasonable prices.
(a)  A contracting officer may request factual information reasonably available to the

contractor or prospective contractor to substantiate that the price or cost offered, or some
portion of it, is reasonable.

(b)  The CPO shall establish a process for determining the reasonableness of prices. 

Sec. 420.  Prequalification.
(a)  The CPO may establish a prequalification process to certify the financial and

professional qualifications of prospective bidders and offerors for District government contracts. 
The CPO may limit participation in certain procurements to prospective contractors who have
been prequalified under the process.

(b)  The use of the prequalification process under this section shall not nullify the
requirement for a determination of contractor responsibility under Title III.

(c)  Information about a prospective or current contractor relevant to a contractor’s
prequalification criteria may be submitted by a member of the general public to the CPO for
consideration in determining or verifying the contractor’s prequalified status.



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

30Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

TITLE V.  TYPES OF CONTRACTS.
Sec. 501.  Cost-plus-a-percentage-of-cost contract prohibited.
An agency shall not enter into a cost-plus-a-percentage-of-cost contract.

Sec. 502.  Cost-reimbursement contracts.
(a)  A cost-reimbursement contract shall not be awarded pursuant to section 402, section

403, or section 404 unless there is a determination and findings that:
(1)  The contract is likely to be less costly to the District than any other type of

contract; or 
(2)  It is impracticable to obtain goods or services of the kind or quality required 

except under a cost-reimbursement contract.
(b)  All cost-reimbursement contracts shall contain a provision that only costs

determined in writing to be reimbursable by the contracting officer, in accordance with cost
principles set forth in rules issued pursuant to this act, shall be reimbursable.

Sec. 503.  Use of other types of contracts.
Subject to the limitations of this act and this title, any type of contract which will

promote the best interests of the District may be used.

Sec. 504.  Multiyear contracts.
(a)  Unless otherwise provided in an appropriations act, or approved pursuant to section 

451 of the District of Columbia Home Rule Act, approved December 24, 1973 (87 Stat. 803;
D.C. Official Code § 1-204.51), a contract for goods or services shall not be entered into for
periods which extend beyond 12 months.

(b)  Before entering into a multiyear contract, the CPO shall determine in writing that:
(1)  Estimated requirements cover the period of the contract and are reasonably

firm and continuing; and
(2)  The contract would serve the best interests of the District, encourage

effective competition, or otherwise promote economies in District procurement.
(c)  If funds are not appropriated or otherwise made available for the continued

performance in a subsequent year of a multiyear contract, the contract for the subsequent year
shall be terminated, either automatically or in accordance with the termination clause of the
contract, if any.  Unless otherwise provided for in the contract, the effect of termination shall be
to discharge both the District and the contractor from future performance of the contract, but not
from their existing obligations. The contractor shall be reimbursed for the reasonable value of
any nonrecurring costs incurred but not amortized in the price of the goods or services delivered
under the contract.

TITLE VI.  PROCUREMENT OF CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS AND RELATED



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

31Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

SERVICES.
Sec. 601.  Project delivery methods authorized.
(a)  This title shall govern procurements for construction projects and related

management services in the District.
(b)  The following project delivery methods are authorized for procurements within the

scope of this title:
(1)  Architectural and engineering services; 
(2)  Construction management;
(3)  Construction management at risk; 
(4)  Design-bid-build;
(5)  Design-build;
(6)  Design-build-finance-operate-maintain; 
(7)  Design-build-operate-maintain; and
(8)  Operations and maintenance.

(c)  Participation in a report or study that is subsequently used in the preparation of
design requirements for a project shall not disqualify a firm from participating as a member of a
proposing team in a design-build, design-build-operate-maintain, or design-build-finance-
operate-maintain procurement unless the participation would provide the firm with a substantial
competitive advantage.

Sec. 602.  Source selection methods assigned to project delivery methods.
(a)  This section specifies the source selection methods applicable to procurements for

the project delivery methods identified in section 601, except as provided in sections 404, 405,
407, 408, 411, and 412.

(b)(1)  The qualifications-based selection process set forth in section 604 shall be used to
procure architectural and engineering services in design-bid-build procurements.

(2)  Competitive sealed bidding, as set forth in section 402, shall be used to
procure construction in design-bid-build procurements, except where rules authorize the use of
competitive sealed proposals, as set forth in section 403, for contracts for construction
management at-risk.

(c)  Contracts for operations and maintenance shall be procured as set forth in section
401. 

(d)  Contracts for design-build shall be procured by competitive sealed proposals, as set
forth in section 403. 

(e)  Contracts for design-build-operate-maintain shall be procured by competitive sealed
proposals, as set forth in section 403.

(f)  Contracts for design-build-finance-operate-maintain shall be procured by
competitive sealed proposals, as set forth in section 403. 



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

32Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

Sec. 603.  Prequalification process for construction.
(a)  Except for architectural and engineering services, prospective contractors for

procurements under this title may be selected through a prequalification process as set forth in
this section.  

(b)  The prequalification process shall provide for the annual publication of a list
describing specific types of solicitations for which the agency will seek prequalified contractors. 
Solicitations may be added to the list at any time; provided, that the addition of a solicitation to
the list shall be published for not less than 30 days before the solicitation is released. 

(c)  The prequalification criteria may include the following:
(1)  Experience and expertise of personnel;
(2)  Prior completion of similar work;
(3)  Receipt of favorable references from prior work;
(4)  A certified letter indicating a surety’s willingness to provide bonding to the

contractor for 100% of the proposed bid price;
(5)  Availability to complete the desired work;
(6)  Confirmation that the vendor is responsible;
(7)  Acceptable subcontracting plans; and
(8)  Any other criteria identified by the agency as relevant to evaluation of the

prospective contractor.
(d)  After an agency has prequalified prospective contractors, it may exclude from

competition for the ensuing solicitation any person that has not been prequalified.
(e)  The use of the prequalification process under this section shall not nullify the

requirement for a determination of contractor responsibility under Title III.

Sec. 604.  Architectural and engineering services.
(a)  The District shall announce all requirements for architectural and engineering

services and negotiate contracts for these services on the basis of demonstrated competence and
qualification and at fair and reasonable prices.

(b)  In the procurement of architectural and engineering services, the CPO shall:
(1)  Provide notice to firms to submit annually a statement of qualifications and

performance data;    
(2)  Appoint one or more permanent or ad hoc architect-engineer evaluation

boards, comprised of members with experience in architecture, engineering, construction, and
District and related procurement matters.  

(c)  These boards shall include highly qualified professional employees of the District
and may include private practitioners of architecture, engineering, or related professions.  The
members of a permanent or an ad hoc evaluation board shall be known as the architect-engineer
selection committee.  

(d)  For each architectural and engineering services contract over $100,000, the CPO



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

33Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

shall appoint an architect-engineer selection committee.  The selection committee for
architectural and engineering services contracts under this amount shall be established in
accordance with rules promulgated by the CPO.  The selection committee shall evaluate current
statements of qualifications and performance data on file with the District and those that may be
submitted by other firms regarding the proposed contract.  The selection committee shall
conduct discussions with no less than 3 firms regarding the contract and the relative utility of
alternative methods of approach for furnishing the required services, and then shall select
therefrom, in order of preference, based upon criteria established and published by the selection
committee, no less than 3 of the firms considered to be the most highly qualified to provide the
services required.

(e)  The contracting officer shall negotiate a contract with the highest qualified firm for
architectural and engineering services at compensation which the contracting officer determines
in writing to be fair and reasonable to the District.  The contracting officer shall take into
account the estimated value, the scope, the complexity, and the professional nature of the
services to be rendered.  A contracting officer shall proceed as follows:

(1)  If the contracting officer is unable to negotiate a satisfactory contract with
the 
firm considered to be the most qualified, negotiations with that firm shall be terminated and the
contracting officer shall then undertake negotiations with the 2nd most qualified firm. 

(2)  If the contracting officer is unable to negotiate a satisfactory contract with
the 
firm considered to be the 2nd most qualified firm, the contracting officer shall terminate
negotiations and shall undertake negotiations with the 3rd most qualified firm. 

(3)  If the contracting officer is unable to negotiate a satisfactory contract with
the 
firm considered to be the 3rd most qualified firm, the contracting officer shall terminate
negotiations.  

(4)  If the contracting officer is unable to negotiate a contract with any of the
selected firms, the contracting officer may select additional firms in order of their competence
and qualifications and shall continue negotiations in accordance with this section until an
agreement is reached.

TITLE VII.  BONDS AND OTHER FORMS OF SECURITY.
Sec. 701.  Bid security in construction contracts.
(a)  Bid security shall be required for all competitive sealed bidding and competitive

sealed proposals for construction contracts when the price is estimated by the contracting officer
to exceed $100,000.  Bid security shall be a bond provided by a surety company authorized to
do business in the District or the equivalent in cash, or otherwise supplied in a form satisfactory
to the District.  This section shall not prevent the requirement of such bonds on such contracts



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

34Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

under $100,000 or bid or proposal bonds on any other contracts when the circumstances
warrant.

(b)  Bid security shall be in an amount equal to at least 5% of the amount of the bid.
(c)  If the Invitation for Bids or Request for Proposals requires that a bid bond be

provided, a bidder that does not comply shall be rejected unless, pursuant to rule, it is
determined that the bid or offer fails to comply in a nonsubstantial manner with the security
requirements.

(d)  After bids are opened, they shall be irrevocable for the period specified in the
Invitation for Bids.   If a bidder is permitted to withdraw its bid or proposal before award, or is
excluded from the competition before award, no action shall be had against the bidder or the bid
security.

Sec. 702.  Contract performance and payment bonds in construction contracts.
(a)(1)  When a construction contract is awarded in excess of $100,000, the following

bonds or security shall be delivered to the District and shall become binding on the parties upon
the execution of the contract:

(A)  A performance bond satisfactory to the District, executed by a surety
company authorized to do business in the District or otherwise secured in a manner satisfactory
to the District, in an amount equal to 100% of the portion of the contract price that does not
include the cost of operation, maintenance, and finance; and

(B)  A payment bond satisfactory to the District, executed by a surety
company authorized to do business in the District or otherwise secured in a manner satisfactory
to the District, for the protection of all persons supplying labor and material to the contractor or
its subcontractors for the performance of the construction work provided for in the contract.  

(2)  The payment bond required by paragraph (1)(B) of this subsection shall be in
an amount equal to 100% of the portion of the contract price that does not include the cost of
operation, maintenance, and finance.

(b)  Pursuant to rules promulgated under this act, the CPO may reduce the amount of
performance and payment bonds to 50% of the amounts established in subsection (a) of this
section.

(c)  This section shall not limit the authority of the District to require a performance
bond or other security in addition to such bonds or in circumstances other than specified in
subsection (a) of this section.

(d)(1)  A person who has furnished labor or material to the contractor or its
subcontractors for the work provided in the construction contract, in respect of which a payment
bond is furnished under this section, and who has not been paid in full before the expiration of a
period of 90 days after the day on which the last of the labor was done or performed by such
person or material was furnished or supplied by such person for which claim is made, shall have
a right of action on the payment bond for the amount unpaid at the time of institution of the



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

35Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

action and to prosecute the action for the amount due to the person.
(2)  Any person having a direct contractual relationship with a subcontractor of

the contractor, but no contractual relationship express or implied with the contractor furnishing
the payment bond, shall have a right of action upon the payment bond upon giving written
notice to the contractor within 90 days after the date on which the person did or performed the
last of the labor or furnished or supplied the last of the material upon which the claim is made,
stating with substantial accuracy the amount claimed and the name of the party to whom the
material was furnished or supplied or for whom the labor was done or performed.  The notice
shall be personally served or served by other form of receipted transmittal that confirms actual
delivery to the contractor at any place the contractor maintains an office or conducts its business
or at the contractor’s residence.

(e)  An action instituted upon a payment bond shall be brought in a court of competent
jurisdiction within the District, but an action suit shall not be commenced after the expiration of
one year after the day on which the last of the labor was performed or material was supplied by
the person bringing the action.  The obligee named in the bond need not be joined as a party in
the action.

(f)  An action instituted under this section shall not be commenced after one year from
the date that the final labor was performed or the material was supplied.  

Sec. 703.  Bond forms and copies.
(a)  The CPO shall prescribe the form of the bonds required by this act.
(b)  Any person may request and obtain from the District a certified copy of a bond upon

payment of the cost of reproduction of the bond and postage, if any.  A certified copy of a bond
shall be prima facie evidence of the contents, execution, and delivery of the original.

Sec. 704.  Other forms of security.
Pursuant to rules promulgated under this act, the CPO may require a solicitation to

include one or more of the following forms of security to assure the timely, faithful, and
uninterrupted provision of operations and maintenance services, procured separately or as one
element of design-build-operate-maintain or design-build-finance-operate-maintain services:

(1)  Operations period surety bonds that secure the performance of the
contractor’s operations and maintenance obligations under the project delivery methods set forth
in section 601;

(2)  Letters of credit in an amount appropriate to cover the cost to the District of
preventing infrastructure service interruptions for a period up to 12 months under the project
delivery methods set forth in section 601; or



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

36Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

(3)  Appropriate written guarantees from the contractor (or depending upon the
circumstances, from parent corporations) to secure the recovery of procurement costs to the
District in the event of a default in performance by the contractor.

Sec. 705.  Authority to require bonds.
Pursuant to rules promulgated under this act, the CPO may require a bond for any

solicitation if the CPO determines that it would be in the best interests of the District.

Sec. 706. Fiscal responsibility.
(a)  Every contract modification, change order, or contract price adjustment under a

contract with the District shall be subject to prior written certification by the fiscal officer of the
entity responsible for funding the project or the contract, or other official responsible for
monitoring and reporting upon the status of the costs of the total project budget or contract
budget, as to the effect of the contract modification, change order, or adjustment in contract
price on the total project budget or the total contract budget.

(b)  If the certification of the fiscal officer or other responsible official discloses a
resulting increase in the total project budget or the total contract budget, the contracting officer
shall not execute or make the contract modification, change order, or adjustment in contract
price unless:

(1)  Sufficient funds are available therefor; or 
(2)  The scope of the project or contract is adjusted so as to permit the degree of

completion that is feasible within the total project budget or total contract budget as it existed
prior to the contract modification, change order, or adjustment in contract price under
consideration.

TITLE VIII.  SUPPLY MANAGEMENT.
Sec. 801.  Supply management rules.
The CPO shall issue rules governing:

(1)  The management of goods during their entire life cycle;
(2)  The sale, lease, disposal, or transfer of surplus goods by public auction,

competitive sealed bidding, competitive electronic sales, or other appropriate method designated
by rule; provided, that no employee of the disposing agency shall be entitled to purchase any
surplus goods.

Sec. 802.  Disposition of surplus goods.
(a)  The CPO may transfer District surplus goods to an organization qualified as tax-

exempt under section 501 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, approved August 16, 1954
(68A Stat. 163; 26 U.S.C. § 501), or state, county, or municipal jurisdictions after an attempt
has been made to:



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

37Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

(1)  Transfer property within an agency;
(2)  Transfer property between agencies; and
(3)  Auction the property for sale.

(b)  To qualify for the receipt of surplus goods, a tax-exempt organization shall: 
(1)  Demonstrate that it meets any approval, accreditation, or licensing

requirements for operation of its program; 
(2)  Certify and provide evidence that it is a nonprofit and tax-exempt

organization under section 501 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, approved August 16,
1954 (68A Stat. 163; 26 U.S.C. § 501); 

(3)  Certify that it is not debarred, suspended, or excluded from any federal or
District program, including procurement programs; and 

(4)  Operate in compliance with applicable Federal nondiscrimination law. 
(c)(1)  Prior to sale, lease, transfer, or disposal of surplus computer and other

information technology assets, the Chief Technology Officer shall certify that the equipment is
sanitized of any confidential data or personal indentifying information. 

(2)  The CPO shall ensure that all policies for the transfer of computers or other
information technology goods are consistent with data and information security policies
developed by the Chief Technology Officer.

(d)  The CPO may abandon, recycle, sell for scrap, or destroy undistributed surplus
goods upon making a written finding that the goods have no commercial value or the estimated
cost of their continued care and handling would exceed the estimated proceeds from their sale. 

(e)  The CPO shall publish on the Internet all forms used for the purpose of disposing of
surplus goods. The CPO may receive completed forms electronically.

(f)  OCP shall publish records of all transfers of surplus goods on the Internet. 
(g)  OCP shall develop written policies and procedures for advertisement of auctions to

ensure adequate public notice.

 Sec. 803.  Electronic Inventory Control System.
The CPO shall establish an Electronic Inventory Control System to monitor surplus

goods. The Electronic Inventory Control System shall contain the following information:
(1)  The date of receipt of goods;
(2)  The agency from which goods were received; 
(3)  A description of the property, including quantity and condition;
(4)  A photograph of the property; and
(5)  The estimated value of the property.

Sec. 804.  District of Columbia Surplus Property Sales Revolving Fund.
(a)  There is established as a nonlapsing fund the District of Columbia Surplus Property

Sales Revolving Fund (“Surplus Property Fund”), which shall be used to pay the costs of



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

38Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

conducting surplus property sales and operating and maintaining the Surplus Property Division
of OCP.  This section shall not prohibit or limit the allocation of funds from the revenues of the
District for the purposes designated in this subsection.

(b)  The CPO may collect and deposit in the Surplus Property Fund the proceeds from
the sale of surplus goods.

(c)   All funds deposited into the Surplus Property Fund, and any interest earned on those
funds, shall not revert to the unrestricted fund balance of the General Fund of the District of
Columbia at the end of a fiscal year, or at any other time, but shall be continually available for
the uses and purposes set forth in subsection (a) of this section without regard to fiscal year
limitation, subject to authorization by Congress.

(d)   All funds in the District of Columbia Surplus Property Sales Operating Fund shall
be transferred to the Surplus Property Fund.

TITLE IX.  PROHIBITED ACTIONS; REMEDIES.
Sec. 901.  Oral agreements.
(a)  A District employee shall not enter into an oral agreement with a contractor to

provide goods or services to the District government without a valid written contract. A
violation of this paragraph shall be cause for termination of employment of the District
employee.

(b)  A District employee shall not authorize payment for the value of goods or services
received without a valid written contract. This subsection shall not apply to a payment required
by court order, a final decision of the Contract Appeals Board, a settlement, or an approval by
the CPO in accordance with subsection (d) of this section.

(c)  Except as authorized under subsection (d) of this section, a contractor who enters
into an oral agreement with a District employee to provide goods or services to the District
government without a valid written contract shall not be paid. If the oral agreement was entered
into by a District employee at the direction of a supervisor, the supervisor shall be terminated. 

(d)(1)  The CPO shall review, verify, and either approve or disapprove a request
submitted by an agency director for authorization for payment for goods or services received
without a valid written contract.  A request shall not be approved without written notification of
the disciplinary action taken by the relevant personnel authority against the responsible
employee.

(2)  If the employee who authorized payment or delivery of goods or services
without a valid written contract is the CPO, the matter shall be referred to the Mayor for
appropriate disciplinary action and the Mayor shall state in writing the disciplinary action taken
before the CPO may approve or disapprove the request.

(3)  The disciplinary action prescribed by this paragraph shall be in accordance
with Title XVI-A of the District of Columbia Government Comprehensive Merit Personnel Act



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

39Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

of 1978, approved June 10, 1998 (D.C. Law 12-124; D.C. Official Code § 1-616.51 et seq.). 
 

Sec. 902.  Improper contracts.
(a)   A contract entered into in violation of this act or the rules issued pursuant to this act

shall be void. 
(b)  A contract entered into in violation of this act or the rules issued pursuant to this act

shall not be void if:
(1)  It is determined in a proceeding pursuant to this act or subsequent judicial

review that good faith has been shown by all parties; and
(2)  The violation of the provisions of this act and the rules issued pursuant to

this act was de minimis. 
(c)  If a contract is determined to be void under subsection (a) of this subsection, a

contractor who has entered into the contract in good faith, without directly contributing to a
violation and without knowledge of any violation of the act or rules issued pursuant to this act
prior to the awarding of the contract, shall be compensated for costs actually incurred until the
date that the contract was determined to be void.

Sec. 903.  Termination of contracts.
(a)  The CPO may terminate, without liability, any contract if:

(1)  The contractor has been convicted of a crime arising out of or in connection
with the procurement of any work to be done or any payment to be made under the contract; or

(2)  There has been a violation of this act.
(b)  If a contract is terminated pursuant to this section, the contractor shall:

(1)  Be paid only the actual costs of the work performed to the date of
termination, plus termination costs, if any; 

(2)  Refund, and the CPO shall recover, all profits or fixed fees realized under
the contract; and

(3)  Refund, and the CPO shall recover, any other fee, commission, percentage,
gift, compensation, or similar consideration paid, including contingent fees and brokerage fees.

(c)  The rights and remedies in this section shall be in addition to any other right or
remedy provided by law and the exercise of any of them shall not constitute a waiver of any
other right or remedy provided by law.

Sec. 904.  Sovereign immunity defense not available.
Unless otherwise specifically provided by law of the District, the District government

and every officer, department, agency, or other unit of the District government shall not raise the
defense of sovereign immunity in the courts of the District in an action based upon a written
procurement contract executed on behalf of the District government.



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

40Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

Sec. 905.  District government not liable for punitive damages.
In an action in contract based upon a written contract executed on behalf of the District

government, or by an official or employee acting within the scope of the official's or the
employee's authority, the District government, and its officers, departments, agencies, or other
units of government, shall not be liable for punitive damages.

Sec. 906.  Claims by District government against contractors.
(a)(1)  All claims by the District government against a contractor arising under or

relating to a contract shall be decided by the contracting officer, who shall issue a decision in
writing and furnish a copy of the decision to the contractor.

(2)  The decision shall be supported by reasons and shall inform the contractor of
his or her rights as provided in this Title. Specific findings of fact shall not be required, but, if
made, shall not be binding in any subsequent proceeding.

(3)  This subsection shall not apply to a claim or dispute for penalties or
forfeitures prescribed by a law or rule which another District government agency is specifically
authorized to administer, settle, or determine.

(4)  This subsection shall not authorize the contracting officer to settle,
compromise, pay, or otherwise adjust any claim involving fraud.

(b)  The decision of the contracting officer shall be final and not subject to review unless
an administrative appeal or action for judicial review is timely commenced as authorized by
section 1004.

(c)  This title shall not prohibit the contracting officer from including a clause in District
government contracts requiring that pending final decision of an appeal, action, or final
settlement, a contractor shall proceed diligently with performance of the contract in accordance
with the decision of the contracting officer.

Sec. 907.  Debarment and suspension.
(a)(1)  After reasonable notice to a person, and reasonable opportunity to be heard:

(A)  The CPO shall debar a person from consideration for award of
contracts or subcontracts for any conviction under subsection (c)(1) through (3) of this section,
for a judicial determination of a violation under subsection (c)(4) of this section, or for a CPO
determination of a violation under subsection (c)(5) through (7) of this section, unless the CPO
makes a finding in writing that it would be contrary to the best interests of the District to do so
or the present responsibility of the person is such that a debarment would not be warranted; and

(B)  The CPO may debar a person from consideration for award of
contracts or subcontracts if one or more of the causes listed in subsection (b) of this section
exist.

(2)  The debarment shall not be for a period of more than 5 years.
(b)(1)  The CPO shall suspend a person from consideration for award of contracts or



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

41Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

subcontracts for any conviction listed in subsection (c)(1) through (3) of this section, for a
judicial determination of a violation under subsection (c)(4) or (5) of this section, or for a CPO
determination of a violation under subsection (c)(5) through (7) of this section, unless the CPO
makes a finding in writing that it would be contrary to the best interests of the District to do so.

(2)  The CPO may suspend a person from consideration for award of contracts or
subcontracts if the person is charged with the commission of any offense described in
subsection (c) of this section and if the CPO makes a finding in writing that such suspension
would be in the best interests of the District unless the present responsibility of the person is
such that a suspension would not be warranted.

(c)  Causes for debarment or suspension include the following:
(1)  Conviction for the commission of a criminal offense incident to obtaining, or

attempting to obtain, a public or private contract or subcontract or in the performance of the
contract or subcontract;

(2)  Conviction under this act or under any other District, federal, or state law for
fraud, embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of records, receiving
stolen property, or any other offense indicating a lack of business integrity which currently
affects the contractor’s responsibility as a District government contractor;

(3)  Conviction under District, federal, or state antitrust laws arising out of the
submission of bids or proposals;

(4)  A violation under sections 813 through 821 of the District of Columbia
Procurement Practices Act of 1985, effective February 21, 1986 (D.C. Law 12-104; D.C.
Official Code §§ 2-308.13 through 2-308.21);

(5)  A false assertion of certified business enterprise status or eligibility as
defined in the Small, Local, and Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Development and
Assistance Act of 2005, effective October 20, 2005 (D.C. Law 16-33; D.C. Official Code § 2-
218.01 et seq.); or

(6)  A violation of contract provisions, as set forth below, of a character which is
regarded by the CPO to be sufficiently serious to justify debarment action:

(A)  Willful failure, without good cause, to perform in accordance with
the specifications or within the time limit provided in the contract; or

(B)  A recent record of failure to perform or of unsatisfactory
performance in accordance with the terms or conditions of one or more contracts; provided, that
failure to perform or unsatisfactory performance caused by acts beyond the control of the
contractor shall not be considered to be bases for debarment; or 

(7)  Any other cause the CPO determines to be sufficiently serious and
compelling to affect responsibility as a District government contractor, including debarment by
another governmental entity for any cause listed in rules.

(d)(1)  After reasonable notice to a person and reasonable opportunity to be heard, the
CPO may debar the person from consideration for award of any contract or subcontract if the



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

42Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

CPO receives written notification from the Chairman of the Council or the chairperson of a
Council committee that the person has willfully failed to cooperate in a Council or Council
committee investigation conducted pursuant to section 413 of the District of Columbia Home
Rule Act, approved December 24, 1973 (87 Stat. 774; D.C. Official Code § 1-204.13).

(2)  The debarment shall be for a period of 5 years, unless the CPO receives
written notification during the 5-year period from the Chairman of the Council or the
chairperson of a Council committee that the debarred business has cooperated in the
investigation referred to in paragraph (1) of this subsection.

(3)  For purpose of this subsection, the term “willfully failed to cooperate”
means:

(A)  Intentionally failed to attend and give testimony at a public hearing
convened in accordance with the Rules of Organization and Procedure for the Council; and

(B)  Intentionally failed to provide documents, books, papers, or other
information upon request of the Council or a Council committee.

(e)  The CPO shall issue a written decision to debar or suspend a person.  The decision
shall:

(1)  State the relevant facts and the reasons for the action taken;
(2)  Describe the present responsibility of the person;
(3)  Describe whether the debarment is in the best interests of the District; and
(4)  Inform the debarred or suspended person of the right to judicial or

administrative review as provided in this act.
(f)  A copy of the decision pursuant to subsection (e) of this section shall be final and

conclusive unless fraudulent or unless the debarred or suspended person appeals to the Contract
Appeals Board within 60 days of receipt of the CPO’s decision by the person.

(g)  The filing of an action pursuant to subsection (f) of this section shall not stay the
CPO’s decision.

(h)(1)  Unless otherwise indicated in the debarment or suspension decision, the
debarment or suspension of a person shall be effective for all District government agencies.

(2)  Unless otherwise indicated in the debarment or suspension decision, the
debarment or suspension of a person shall constitute a debarment or suspension of any affiliate
of that person. 

(i)  If a person is charged with or convicted of committing any offense listed in
subsection (c)(1) through (5) of this section, the Office of the Attorney General for the District
of Columbia or the United States Attorney, whoever is responsible for prosecuting the charge,
shall immediately notify the CPO of the charge or conviction and shall provide such information
to the CPO as may otherwise be permitted by law to enable the CPO to take any action
authorized by this section.  The CPO, in turn, shall immediately notify both the Office of the
Attorney General for the District of Columbia and the United States Attorney of any action
taken or finding made under this section.



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

43Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

Sec. 908.  Claims by contractors against the District government.
(a)  All claims by a contractor against the District government arising under or relating

to a contract shall be in writing and shall be submitted to the contracting officer for a decision.
(b)  Within 120 days after receipt of a claim, the contracting officer shall issue a

decision, whenever possible taking into account factors such as the size and complexity of the
claim and the adequacy of the information in support of the claim provided by the contractor.

(c)  Any failure by the contracting officer to issue a decision on a contract claim within
the required time period shall be deemed to be a denial of the claim and shall authorize the
commencement of an appeal on the claim as otherwise provided in this title.

(d)(1)  If a contractor is unable to support any part of his or her claim and it is
determined that the inability is attributable to a material misrepresentation of fact or fraud on the
part of the contractor, the contractor shall be liable to the District government for an amount
equal to the unsupported part of the claim in addition to all costs to the District government
attributable to the cost of reviewing that part of the contractor's claim.

(2)  Liability under this section shall be determined within 6 years of the
commission of the misrepresentation of fact or fraud.

Sec. 909. Interest.
Interest on amounts found due to a contractor on claims shall be payable at a rate set in

D.C. Official Code § 28-3302(b) applicable to judgments against the District government from
the date the contracting officer receives the claim until payment of the claim. Interest on
amounts found due to the District from a contractor on claims shall be payable at the rate set in
D.C. Official Code § 28-3302(b) applicable to judgments against the District government from
the date the contractor receives a contracting officer's written decision asserting the claim on
behalf of the District until payment of the claim.

Sec. 910.  Employees subject to employee conduct standards of Merit Personnel Act.
(a)  Except for those District government employees employed by agencies not subject

to the District of Columbia Government Comprehensive Merit Personnel Act of 1978, approved
March 3, 1979 (D.C. Law 2-139; D.C. Official Code § 1-601.01 et seq.), District government
employees who participate in the procurement process shall be subject to the provisions of Title
XVIII of the District of Columbia Government Comprehensive Merit Personnel Act of 1978,
approved March 3, 1979 (D.C. Law 2-139; D.C. Official Code § 1-618.01 et seq.).

(b)  Participation in the procurement process shall include involvement, either directly or
indirectly, in:

(1)  The decision, approval, disapproval, recommendation, or preparation of any
part of a purchase request;

(2)  Influencing the content of any specification or purchase standard;
(3)  Rendering of advice;



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

44Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

(4)  An investigation or audit; or
(5)  Any other advisory capacity pertaining to any contract, subcontract,

solicitation, or proposal.

TITLE X.  CONTRACT APPEALS BOARD.
Sec. 1001. Creation of Contract Appeals Board.
(a)(1)  There is established in the executive branch of the District government a Contract

Appeals Board (“Board”) to be composed of a chairperson and 2 other members.
(2)  The members shall be appointed as administrative judges in the Career

Service and shall not be removed except for cause.
(3)  The chairperson and members of the Board shall be appointed by the Mayor

with the advice and consent of the Council, and shall serve full-time.
(b)  The Board shall adopt operational procedures, not inconsistent with this act,

necessary to execute the Board's functions. The chairperson's authority may be delegated to the
Board's members and employees, but only members of the Board may hear appeals and issue
decisions on the appeals. The attendance of at least 2 members of the Board shall constitute a
quorum.

(c)(1)  The Office of the Attorney General may provide for the Board those goods,
materials, and administrative services that the chairperson requests, on a basis, reimbursable or
otherwise, agreed upon between the Office of the Attorney General and the chairperson.

(2)  All costs of hearings before the Board, including witness fees and costs of
transcripts, shall be borne by the agency from which the appeal originated through direct billing.

(3)  The Board shall use any fees received pursuant to section 1003 at the
discretion of the Chairperson to improve the Board's services and programs, including the
option to provide incentive awards to Board personnel consistent with Title XIX of the District
of Columbia Government Comprehensive Merit Personnel Act of 1978, approved March 3,
1979 (D.C. Law 2-139; D.C. Official Code § 1-619.01 et seq.).

Sec. 1002. Terms and qualifications of members.
(a)(1)  The term of office of the chairperson and other full-time members of the Board

shall be 4 years, except that in making the initial appointment, the Mayor shall appoint one
members for a term of one year, one member for a term of 2 years, and the chairperson for a
term of 3 years. The terms of the chairperson and members first appointed shall begin on the
date that a majority of the first members are sworn in, which shall become the anniversary date
for all subsequent appointments. Thereafter, their successors shall be appointed for terms of 4
years, or for the balance of any unexpired term, but members may continue to serve beyond
their terms until their successors take office.

(2)  The Mayor shall endeavor to nominate persons for appointment to the Board
at least 30 days before the expiration of a member's term.



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

45Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

(3)  Members may be reappointed for succeeding terms.
(4)  If there is no chairperson, or if the chairperson is absent or unable to serve,

the member senior in length of service shall be acting chairperson.
(b)  The chairperson and members of the Board shall be attorneys licensed to practice

law in the District who shall have no less than 5 years experience in public contract law. All
members of the Board shall have experience in the areas of procurement and contract law.

(c)  Notwithstanding the provisions of this section, current members of the Contract
Appeals Board, appointed pursuant to the District of Columbia Procurement Practices Act of
1985, effective February 21, 1986 (D.C. Law 6-85; D.C. Official Code § 2-301.01 et seq.),
serving on the effective date of this act, shall be considered qualified and may continue to serve
as members of the Board.

Sec. 1003.  Jurisdiction of Board.
(a)  The Board shall be the exclusive hearing tribunal for, and shall review and

determine de novo:
(1)  Any protest of a solicitation or award of a contract addressed to the Board by

any actual or prospective bidder, offeror, or the contractor who is aggrieved in connection with
the solicitation or award of a contract;

(2)  Any appeal by a contractor from a final decision by the contracting officer on
a claim by a contractor, when the claim arises under or relates to a contract; and

(3)  Any claim by the District against a contractor, when such claim arises under
or relates to a contract.

(b)  Jurisdiction of the Board shall be consistent with the coverage of this act as set forth
in section 105, except that the Board may enter into fee-for-service agreements with agencies,
departments, boards, commissions, and instrumentalities of the District or other public entities
that are not subject to the Board's jurisdiction. The agreements shall provide for the Board to
resolve contract disputes, including appeals and protests of those agencies, departments, boards,
commissions, and instrumentalities. With agreements of the parties, the Board may provide
alternate dispute resolution services. 

Sec. 1004.  Contractor's right of appeal to Board.
(a)  Except as provided in section 908, within 90 days after the date of receipt of a

decision of the contracting officer, the contractor may appeal the decision to the Board by filing
a complaint.

(b)  The Board shall provide, to the fullest extent practicable, informal, expeditious, and
inexpensive resolution of disputes, shall issue a decision in writing, or take other appropriate
action on each appeal submitted, and shall mail or otherwise furnish a copy of the decision to
the contractor and the Mayor. All decisions which constitute a final adjudication of appeal on
the merits shall be published in the District of Columbia Register.



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

46Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

(c)(1)  The rules of the Board shall include a procedure for the accelerated disposition of
any appeal from a decision of the contracting officer if the amount in dispute is $50,000 or less.

(2)  The procedure shall be applicable at the sole election of the contractor.
(3)  Appeals under the accelerated procedure shall be resolved within 180 days

from the date the contractor elects to utilize the procedure.
(d)(1)  The rules of the Board shall include a small claims procedure for the expedited

disposition of any appeal from a decision of the contracting officer if the amount in dispute is
$10,000 or less. The procedure shall be applicable at the sole election of the contractor.

(2)  The small claims procedure shall provide for simplified rules of procedure to
facilitate the decision of any appeal. The appeals may be decided by a single member of the
Board with any concurrences required by rule.

(3)  Appeals under the small claims procedure shall be resolved, whenever
possible, within 90 days from the date on which the contractor files an appeal.

(4)  A decision against the District government or the contractor reached under
the small claims procedure shall be final and conclusive and shall not be set aside except in
cases of fraud.

(5)  Administrative determinations and final decisions under the small claims
procedure shall have no value as precedent for future cases under this title.

Sec. 1005.  Appeal of Board decisions.
(a)  A contractor may appeal a Board decision to the District of Columbia Court of

Appeals within 120 days after the date of receipt of a copy of the decision.
(b)  If the CPO determines that an appeal should be taken, the CPO, with the prior

approval of the Office of the Attorney General, may appeal the Board's decision to the District
of Columbia Court of Appeals for judicial review within 120 days from the date of the receipt of
the Board's decision.

Sec. 1006.  Oaths, discovery, and subpoena power.
(a)  A member of the Board may administer oaths to witnesses, authorize depositions

and discovery proceedings, and require by subpoena the attendance of witnesses and production
of books and papers for the taking of testimony or evidence by deposition or in the hearing of an
appeal by the Board.

(b)  If any witness, having been personally served with a subpoena, shall neglect or
refuse to obey the subpoena issued, on written application, the Board may report the fact of the
neglect or refusal to a judge of the Superior Court for the District of Columbia who may compel
obedience to the subpoena.

Sec. 1007.  Actions in court; judicial review of Board decisions.
In the event of an appeal by a contractor or the CPO from a decision of the Board



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

47Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

pursuant to section 1005, notwithstanding any contract provision, rule, or rule of law to the
contrary, the decision of the Board on questions of fact shall be final and conclusive and shall
not be set aside unless the decision is fraudulent, arbitrary, capricious, or so grossly erroneous as
to necessarily imply bad faith, or if the decision is not supported by substantial evidence.

Sec. 1008.  Protest procedures.
(a)  This section shall apply to a protest of a solicitation or award of a contract addressed

to the Board by any actual or prospective bidder, offeror, or contractor who is aggrieved in
connection with the solicitation or award of a contract.

(b)(1)  A protest based upon alleged improprieties in a solicitation which are apparent
prior to bid opening or the time set for receipt of initial proposals shall be filed prior to bid
opening or the time set for receipt of initial proposals. In procurements where proposals are
requested, alleged improprieties which do not exist in the initial solicitation, but which are
subsequently incorporated into the solicitation, shall be protested not later than the next closing
time for receipt of proposals following the incorporation.

(2)  In cases other than those covered in paragraph (1) of this subsection, protests
shall be filed not later than 10 business days after the basis of protest is known or should have
been known, whichever is earlier.

(c)(1)  Within one business day of receipt of the protest, the Board shall notify the
contracting officer that the protest has been filed. Except as provided in this section, no contract
shall be awarded in any procurement after the contracting officer has received the notice and
while the protest is pending. If an award has already been made but the contracting officer
receives notice within 11 business days after the date of award, the contracting officer shall
immediately direct the awardee to cease performance under the contract and to suspend any
related activities that may result in additional obligations being incurred by the District under
the contract.  Except as provided in this section, performance and related activities suspended
pursuant to this section shall not be resumed while the protest is pending.

(2)  Performance under a protested procurement may proceed, or award may be
made, while a protest is pending only if the CPO makes a written determination, supported by
substantial evidence, that urgent and compelling circumstances that significantly affect interests
of the District will not permit waiting for the decision of the Board concerning the protest. A
copy of the determination shall be provided within one business day of issuance to both the
Board and the protester.  

(d)  On any direct protest pursuant to subsection (a) of this section, the Board shall
decide whether the solicitation or award was in accordance with the applicable law, rules, and
terms and conditions of the solicitation.  The proceeding shall be de novo and the decision of
the Board shall be issued within 60 business days from the date on which the protest is filed.
Any prior determinations by administrative officials shall not be final or conclusive.  If the
Board determines that a contract is void pursuant to section 902, the Board shall direct that the



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

48Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

contract be cancelled and cause a determination to be made pursuant to section 902.
(e)  A determination of an issue of fact by the Board under subsection (d) of this section

shall be final and conclusive unless arbitrary, capricious, fraudulent, or clearly erroneous.
(f)(1)  In addition to other relief, the Board may order, when a protest is sustained, that

the contract awarded under the solicitation be terminated for the convenience of the District;
provided, that the Board shall not direct the award of a contract to a particular person.  A
determination in this regard shall be based on considerations such as:

(A)  Best interests of the District government;
(B)  Seriousness of the procurement deficiency;
(C)  Existence of prejudice to other bidders;
(D)  Maintaining the integrity of the procurement system;
(E)  Good faith of District government officials and other parties;
(F)  Extent of contract performance; or
(G)  Impact of termination on the agency's activities and mission.

(2)  The Board may, when requested, award reasonable bid or proposal
preparation costs and costs of pursuing the protest, not including legal fees, if it finds that the
District government's actions toward the protester or claimant were arbitrary or capricious.

(g)(1)  The Board may dismiss, at any stage of the proceedings, any protest, or portion of
a protest, it considers frivolous.

(2)  In addition, the Board may require the protester to pay reasonable attorneys’
fees, for time counsel spent representing the agency in defending the frivolous protest or its
frivolous part.  If the entire protest is dismissed on frivolous grounds, it may also assess the
protester additional damages for each day the contract was suspended equal to the amount of
liquidated damages specified in the contract for late completion of the contract.

(3)  The Board shall not determine damages if liquidated damages are not
specified.

(4)  In addition, counsel for the protester may be suspended or barred from
practicing before the Board.

(h)  The Board shall adopt rules for exercising its authority under this section.

TITLE XI.  MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS.
Sec. 1101.  Green procurement.
(a)  Except for emergency procurements, before entering into any contract in excess of

$100,000, the District shall issue an environmental certification to demonstrate, to the
maximum extent practicable, the purchase of an EPPS. 

(b)  An environmental certification shall not be required for procurements that conform
to an applicable Default Environmental Preference Standard.

 (c)  The requirement shall be satisfied if a District solicitation included a requirement
that a contractor provide an EPPS.



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

49Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

(d)  Within one year after the effective date of this act, and annually thereafter, OCP
shall prepare and submit to the Council a report detailing the progress of this policy, including
the following elements:

(1)  Total contracting amount, and percentage of contracting amount, spent on
EPPS;

(2)  Successes and challenges to implementing the policy; and
(3)  Changes to policies or standards.

Sec. 1102.  Payment of stipends authorized.
(a)   The contracting officer may pay a stipend to cover a portion of bid or proposal

development costs to an unsuccessful responsible offeror that submits a responsive proposal to a
solicitation to generate meaningful competition and to ensure that small businesses are not
competitively disadvantaged.

(b)  The contracting officer shall determine the number and amount of the stipends, if
any.

(c)  In consideration for paying the stipend fee, the District may use any ideas or
information contained in the proposals in connection with any contract awarded for the project,
or in connection with a subsequent procurement, without any obligation to pay any additional
compensation to the unsuccessful offerors.

(d)(1)  Notwithstanding the other provisions of this section, an unsuccessful offeror may
elect to waive the stipend.

(2)  If an unsuccessful offeror elects to waive the stipend, the District shall not
use ideas and information contained in the offeror's proposal; provided, that this restriction shall
not prevent the District from using any idea or information if the idea or information is also
included in a proposal of an offeror that accepts the stipend.

Sec. 1103.  District of Columbia Supply Schedule, Purchase Card, and Training Fund.
(a)  The CPO may charge and collect a fee, in an amount to be determined by rule, on all

sales, purchase orders, delivery orders, task orders, and purchase card transactions made under
contracts awarded to contractors under the DCSS.

(b)  The CPO may charge a fee for training conducted by the procurement training
institute established pursuant to section 206.

(c)  Subject to the terms of any memoranda of understanding with the Chief Financial
Officer regarding adherence to the applicable requirements of federal grants, loans, or other
extensions of credit to the District, the Chief Procurement Officer shall collect any rebates
issued to the District by the purchase card issuers under the Purchase Card Program. 

(d)(1)  There is established as a nonlapsing fund the District of Columbia Supply
Schedule, Purchase Card, and Training Fund (“Fund”), which shall be used to pay the costs
associated with operating and maintaining the DCSS, the Purchase Card Program, cooperative



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

50Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition                                                       West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

purchasing agreements, the procurement training institute, or any other revenue, rebates, or fees
generated by programs administered by OCP.  All fees and amounts collected pursuant to
subsections (a) through (c) of this section shall be deposited in the Fund.

(2)  All funds deposited in the Fund, and any interest earned on those funds, shall
not revert to the unrestricted fund balance of the General Fund of the District of Columbia at the
end of a fiscal year, or at any other time, but shall be continually available for the uses and
purposed set forth in paragraph (1) of this section without regard to fiscal year limitation,
subject to authorization by Congress.

Sec. 1104.  Transparency in contracting. 
(a)  The CPO shall establish and maintain on the Internet publicly-available information

regarding District procurement.  The information shall be made available in machine-readable
and searchable format and shall include the following:

(1)  The legal authority and rules that govern procurement for all District
agencies and instrumentalities, including those exempt from the authority of the CPO;

(2)  The names of all personnel with delegated contracting authority; and
(3)  For contracts in excess of $100,000, a copy of the contract and any

determinations and findings, contract modifications, change orders, solicitations, or
amendments associated with the contract, including those made by District agencies exempt
from the authority of the CPO; provided, that the information required by this paragraph shall be
made available on the Internet for at least the duration of the underlying contract or 5 years,
whichever is longer. 

(b)  Agencies not subject to the authority of the CPO shall transmit the information
required by this section to the CPO for posting on the Internet. 

Sec. 1105.  Acquisition planning.
(a)  The CPO shall develop and implement a process by which each agency subject to

the CPO’s procurement authority shall prepare and submit to the CPO an acquisition plan
identifying the size and nature of the anticipated procurement workload for the following fiscal
year. 

(b)  Each agency shall submit its acquisition plan for the following fiscal year to the
Council no later than March 20 of each year. 

Sec. 1106.  Rules.
(a)(1)  The CPO, pursuant to Title 1 of the District of Columbia Administrative

Procedures Act, approved October 21, 1968 (82 Stat. 1204; D.C. Official Code § 2-501 et seq.),
shall issue rules to implement the provisions of this act, except Title VI.

(2)  The Department of Real Estate Services, pursuant to Title 1 of the District of
Columbia Administrative Procedures Act, approved October 21, 1968 (82 Stat. 1204; D.C.



ENROLLED ORIGINAL

51Codification District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition         West Publisher, 1-800-328-9378.

Official Code § 2-501 et seq.), shall issue rules to implement the provisions of Title VI.
(b) The existing procurement rules, to the degree that they are consistent with this act,

shall remain in effect until they are superseded by rules issued in accordance with subsection (a)
of this section. 

(c) A District government procurement rule or regulation promulgated pursuant to this
act shall not change in any way a contractual commitment by the District government or of a
contractor to the District government which was in existence on the effective date of the rule or
regulation.

TITLE XII.  REPEALED PROVISIONS; TRANSFERS AND CONTINUATION.
Sec. 1201.  Repealer.
(a) Title I, sections 201 through 207, Titles III through VII, sections 801 though 812,

and Titles IX through XI of the District of Columbia Procurement Practices Act of 1985,
effective February 21, 1986 (D.C. Law 6-85; D.C. Official Code § 2-301.01 passim), are
repealed.  Sections 208 and 813 through 821 shall continue in effect.

(b) The Excellence in Local Business Contract Grading Act of 2008, effective February
5, 2008 (D.C. Law 17-137; D.C. Official Code § 2-325.04 et seq.), is repealed.

Sec. 1202.  Transfers and continuation.
All rules, orders, obligations, determinations, grants, contracts, licenses, and agreements

shall continue in effect according to their terms until lawfully amended, repealed, or modified.

Sec. 1203.  Applicability.
Sections 206, 803, and 1101 shall apply upon the inclusion of their fiscal effect in an

approved budget and financial plan.

Sec. 1204.  Fiscal impact statement.
The Council adopts the fiscal impact statement in the committee report as the fiscal

impact statement required by section 602(c)(3) of the District of Columbia Home Rule Act,
approved December 24, 1973 (87 Stat. 813; D.C. Official Code § 1-206.02(c)(3)).

Sec. 1205.  Effective date.
This act shall take effect following approval by the Mayor (or in the event of veto by the

Mayor, action by the Council to override the veto), a 30-day period of Congressional review as
provided in section 602(c) (1) of the District of Columbia Home Rule Act, approved December 
24, 1973 (87 Stat. 813; D.C. Official Code § 1-206.02(c)(1)), and publication in the District of
Columbia Register.



          "General Decision Number: DC20230002 06/30/2023

Superseded General Decision Number: DC20220002

State: District of Columbia

Construction Type: Building

County: District of Columbia Statewide.

BUILDING CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS (does not include single family
homes or apartments up to and including 4 stories).

Note: Contracts subject to the Davis-Bacon Act are generally
required to pay at least the applicable minimum wage rate
required under Executive Order 14026 or Executive Order 13658.
Please note that these Executive Orders apply to covered
contracts entered into by the federal government that are
subject to the Davis-Bacon Act itself, but do not apply to
contracts subject only to the Davis-Bacon Related Acts,
including those set forth at 29 CFR 5.1(a)(2)-(60).

______________________________________________________________
|If the contract is entered    |. Executive Order 14026      |
|into on or after January 30,  |  generally applies to the   |
|2022, or the contract is      |  contract.                  |
|renewed or extended (e.g., an |. The contractor must pay    |
|option is exercised) on or    |  all covered workers at     |
|after January 30, 2022:       |  least $16.20 per hour (or  |
|                              |  the applicable wage rate   |
|                              |  listed on this wage        |
|                              |  determination, if it is    |
|                              |  higher) for all hours      |
|                              |  spent performing on the    |
|                              |  contract in 2023.          |
|______________________________|_____________________________|
|If the contract was awarded on|. Executive Order 13658      |
|or between January 1, 2015 and|  generally applies to the   |
|January 29, 2022, and the     |  contract.                  |
|contract is not renewed or    |. The contractor must pay all|
|extended on or after January  |  covered workers at least   |
|30, 2022:                     |  $12.15 per hour (or the    |
|                              |  applicable wage rate listed|
|                              |  on this wage determination,|
|                              |  if it is higher) for all   |
|                              |  hours spent performing on  |
|                              |  that contract in 2023.     |
|______________________________|_____________________________|



Attachment J.3

General Provisions Architectural & Engineering Services Contract



1 
 

Standard Contract Provisions 
 

General Provisions 
(Architectural & Engineering Services Contract) 

 
 

Released October 2018 



2 
 

ARTICLE 1. DEFINITIONS 
 

A. “Architect-Engineer” means the individual, individuals, and or firm identified as the “Architect- 
Engineer” in the preamble of Contract executed by and between the District and the Architect- 
Engineer for the Project. 

 
B. “Change Order” means a document signed by the District and the Architect-Engineer to 

authorize an addition, deletion or revision in the services, the Architect-Engineer’s cost of, or the 
time required for, the performance of any part of the services under the Contract, issued on or 
after the Effective Date of the Contract. 

 
C. “Contract” means the written contract for professional services between the University and 

the Architect-Engineer, including all exhibits, Standard Contract Provisions, and any duly 
executed amendments. 

 
D. “Contracting Officer” means the District official authorized to execute and administrate the Contract 

on behalf of the District. Within UNIVERSITY, the Director is the Chief Contracting Officer. The 
Director may make delegations of procurement authority to additional contracting officers within 
UNIVERSITY. 

 
E. “District” means the District of Columbia,” University” means the University of the District of 

Columbia, (the “District” or “UNIVERSITY”), a party to the Contract. 
 

F. “Project” means the District’s project identified in the Contract, of which Architect-Engineer's 
services under the Contract as a party. 

 
G. “Scope of Services” means any and all work done in any and all phases of the Project, pursuant 

to and as set forth by the Department in the Contract. 
 

H. “Day or Days” All references to day or days in these Standard Contract Provisions will be counted 
based on calendar days not business days. 

 
ARTICLE 2. GENERAL 

 
A. The Contracting Officer shall have authority to take any action provided for herein on behalf of 

the District, including approval, certifications, vouchers, acceptance and changes within the 
Scope of Services. 

 
B. The Architect-Engineer’s period of performance shall commence on the effective date as agreed 

and as specified in the Scope of Services or in each task order issued by the Contracting Officer 
and ends on the date all required services are satisfactorily completed in accordance with the 
terms of the Contract and Project close-out documents and all deliverables are delivered to the 
District. 

 
C. All services shall be prosecuted under the direction of a principal officer or responsible 

representative of the Architect-Engineer, approved by the Contracting Officer. The design of 
architectural, civil, structural, mechanical, plumbing, electrical, or other engineering features of 
the Project shall be accomplished in accordance with the terms of the Contract and reviewed and 
certified in accordance with applicable District of Columbia regulations by architects or engineers 
registered to practice in the District of Columbia in the particular professional field involved. 

 
 



3 
 

 
D. The Architect-Engineer shall furnish sufficient technical, supervisory and administrative personnel 

to ensure the efficient prosecution of the services in accordance with the approved Project 
Schedule. 

 
E. The Architect-Engineer agrees that duly authorized representatives of the District shall have 

access at all reasonable times to inspect and make copies of all notes, designs, drawings, 
specifications or other technical or non-technical data, including but not limited to payroll of 
company personnel, pertaining to the services performed under the Contract. 

 
F. The standard of care. The Architect-Engineer, its consultants and subcontractors shall 

perform the services consistent with the professional skill and care ordinarily provided by 
members of the same profession currently practicing under similar or same circumstances in 
the same or similar locality of the Project. The standard of care shall not be altered by the 
application, interpretation, or construction of this or any other provision of these Standard 
Contract Provisions or the Contract. 

 
ARTICLE 3. PROGRESS SCHEDULES AND REPORTS 

 
A. Generally. In addition to the requirements set forth in the Scope of Services and the requirements 

set forth elsewhere in the Contract, the Architect-Engineer shall furnish progress reports monthly, 
biweekly and with each payment request, describing accomplishments, decisions and overall 
progress made during the period covered by the report and including the most recent Project 
Schedule and as set forth in more detail in this Article 3. 

 
B. Monthly Reports. The Architect-Engineer shall provide written reports to the District, at a 

minimum on a monthly basis on the progress of the Project, including, but not limited to, a 
baseline schedule and schedule updates with narrative demonstrating the critical path of the 
services in Primavera format in the latest available version or as designated by the Contracting 
Officer. The monthly written reports shall also include, at a minimum, the services accomplished, 
problems encountered, cost updates, an economic inclusion report, cash flow updates, quality 
assurance reports and other similar relevant data as the District may reasonably require. 

 
C. Biweekly Updates. The Architect-Engineer shall also provide written update reports to the District 

on a biweekly basis, which shall reflect actual conditions of Project progress as of the date of the 
update. The update shall reflect the actual progress of designs or construction, as the case may 
be, identify developing delays, regardless of their cause, and reflect the Architect-Engineer's best 
projection of the actual date by which Substantial Completion and Final Completion of the Project 
will be achieved. Via a narrative statement (not merely a critical path method schedule), the 
Architect-Engineer shall identify the causes of any potential delay and state what, in the Architect- 
Engineer’s judgment, must be done to avoid or reduce that delay. The Architect-Engineer shall 
point out, in its narrative, changes that have occurred since the last update, including those related 
to major changes in the Scope of Services, activities modified since the last update, revised 
projections of durations, progress and completion, revisions to the schedule logic or assumptions, 
and other relevant changes. Any significant variance from the previous schedule or update shall 
also be identified in a narrative, together with the reasons for the variance and its impact on Project 
completion. All schedule updates shall be in the latest version of Primavera format and reasonably 
acceptable to the District. The District may make reasonable requests during the Project for 
changes to the format or for further explanation of information provided. Submission of updates 
showing that Substantial Completion or Final Completion of the Project will be achieved later than 
the applicable scheduled completion date shall not constitute requests for extension of time and 



4 
 

shall not operate to change the scheduled completion date. The District’s receipt of, and lack of 
objection to, any schedule update showing Substantial Completion or Final Completion later than 
the dates agreed upon shall not be regarded as the District’s agreement that the Architect- 
Engineer may have an extension of time, or as a waiver of any of the District’s rights, but merely 
as the Architect-Engineer’s representation that, in the Architect-Engineer's best projection, 
Substantial Completion or Final Completion of the Project may not be completed by the agreed 
upon date. Changes to the scheduled completion dates may be made only in the circumstances 
and only by the methods set forth in the Contract. 

 
D. Condition Precedent to Payment. All payments to Architect-Engineer are contingent upon 

satisfactory performance of the terms and conditions set forth in the Contract as determined by 
the Contracting Officer. Requisitions for payment shall be accompanied by a Project Progress 
Report which shall include the information set forth in this Article 3 and a statement indicating 
the percentage of completion of all required services for the Project. 

 
ARTICLE 4. RESPONSIBILITY OF THE ARCHITECT-ENGINEER 

 
A. Quality. The Architect-Engineer shall be responsible for the professional quality, technical 

accuracy and the coordination of all designs, drawing, specifications, and other services furnished. 
The Architect-Engineer shall, without additional compensation correct or revise any errors or 
deficiencies in its designs, drawings, specification and other services. 

 
B. Scope of Services. The Architect-Engineer shall accomplish the design services required pursuant 

to the Scope of Services or under each task order. The services, as set forth in the Contract, shall 
include but are not limited to the services required to enable the District to award the related 
construction contract pursuant to standard District procedures, for the construction of the facilities 
designed at a price that does not exceed the estimated construction contract price set forth in the 
Contract. 

 
1. If bids or proposals are not solicited within 180 days following the District’s acceptance of the 

services to be provided under the Scope of Services or task order, the Architect-Engineer shall, 
prepare an estimate of constructing the design submitted and such estimate will be used in lieu 
of bids or proposals to determine compliance with the funding limitation. 

 
2. If the bids or proposals for the construction contract received exceed such estimated price, the 

Architect-Engineer shall perform such redesign and other services as are necessary to permit 
contract award within such funding limitation. Such redesign services shall be performed at no 
increase in the price of the Contract. However, the Architect-Engineer shall not be required to 
perform such additional services at no cost to the District if the unfavorable bids or proposals 
are the results of unforeseeable causes beyond the control and without the fault and negligence 
of the Architect-Engineer. 

 
C. Designing to Budget. The Architect-Engineer shall promptly advise the Contracting Officer if the 

Architect-Engineer finds that the Project design will exceed or is likely to exceed the funding limitations 
and the Architect-Engineer is unable to design a usable facility within these limitations. Upon receipt 
of such information, the Contracting Officer will review the Architect- Engineer’s revised estimate of 
construction cost. The Contracting Officer may, if he determines that the estimated construction 
contract price set forth in the Scope of Services or task order is so low that award of a construction 
contract not in excess of such estimate is improbable, authorize a change in the scope, quality or type 
of materials, or both, as required to reduce the estimated construction cost to an amount within the 
estimated construction contract price set forth elsewhere in the Contract or he may adjust such 
estimated construction contract price. 

 



5 
 

D. Project Management and Inspection Entity. In the event the Contract requires the Architect- 
Engineer to provide construction period services, the Architect-Engineer shall also, at intervals of no 
less than once per week or as set forth in the Scope of Services, be responsible for: 

 
1. Visits to Site and Observation of Construction. An Architect-Engineer representative who is 

knowledgeable of the Project and competent in each discipline that has trade activities and 
stages of construction being performed shall visit the site at the agreed-to intervals to observe as 
an experienced and qualified design professional the progress and quality of the various aspects 
of the contractor’s work. Based on information obtained during such visits and on such 
observations, the Architect-Engineer shall endeavor to determine whether such work is 
proceeding in accordance with the Contract Documents and shall keep the District informed of 
the general progress of the work in relation to the overall schedule. The Architect-Engineer shall 
document the site visit in writing and shall submit his findings in accordance with the report 
requirements set forth in Article 3 herein. 

 
2. Inspections of Work in Progress by the Architect-Engineer. During his periodic visits to the site 

to observe the work in progress, the Architect-Engineer shall, as a minimum, spot check the 
work installed and in progress to determine compliance with the requirements of the Contract 
Documents and the codes and installation/workmanship standards listed therein. Defective and 
noncompliant work observed during such visits shall be noted in the Architect-Engineer’s reports 
and pointed out to the Contracting Officer and Program Manager. The Architect-Engineer shall 
identify for the Project Manager any specific checks or inspections to be made. The results of 
these inspections shall be made a part of the Project’s daily log and reports. The Architect- 
Engineer shall document the inspection in writing. 

 
3. Supplemental Inspections and Tests. For work not in compliance with the Contract Documents, 

the Architect-Engineer shall, with the District’s approval, require additional or supplemental 
inspection or testing. The Architect-Engineer shall receive and review all certificates of 
inspections, tests and approvals required by laws, rules, regulations, ordinances, codes, orders 
or the Contract Documents and shall determine whether, in its opinion as an Architect-Engineer, 
their content complies with the requirements of each. The Architect-Engineer shall also 
determine whether the results certified indicate compliance with the Contract Documents. The 
Architect-Engineer shall document the inspection in writing. 

 
4. Defective Work. During its site visits and based on its observation during such visits, the Architect- 

Engineer may disapprove the contractor’s work, or any portion thereof, while the work is in 
progress if Architect-Engineer believes that such work does not conform to the Contract 
Documents or the approved shop drawings or other submittals. The Architect-Engineer may also 
recommend that the District reject any work that the Architect-Engineer believes will not result in 
a completed Project that conforms generally to the Contract Documents or that it believes will 
prejudice the integrity of the design as reflected in the Contract Documents. The Architect- 
Engineer shall document the defective work in writing. 

 
E. Code and Regulatory Compliance. The Architect-Engineer is responsible for designing the project 

and administering the construction phase of the Project in accordance with applicable District of 
Columbia Codes and other regulatory requirements applicable to the Project. Nothing contained herein 
shall be construed as relieving the Architect-Engineer, any other professional design consultant, or any 
contractor, supplier or other participant from any professional or legal responsibility for performance. 
Reviews, comments and approvals by the University of the District of Columbia and its divisions, or 
any employee or official of the District, in no way absolve any other person, firm or corporation involved  

 



6 
 

the Project from their full responsibilities under the applicable laws, codes and professional practice 
as required in projects for the District of Columbia. Lack of comment by a District of Columbia reviewer 
does not relieve the Architect-Engineer from designing to meet the applicable code or Architect- 
Engineer Manual requirements or applicable regulations related to water, sewer, fire department 
service, and other utilities. 

 
1. Additional Costs. If the correction of a code or regulatory violation results in a Change Order 

during construction, any additional costs incurred shall be borne by the party responsible for 
the violation. The District shall bear only the costs attributable to the actual code or regulation- 
required enhancement of the Project. 

 
2. Code Interpretation. If the Architect-Engineer believes that a code or a regulation is unclear as 

to meaning, the Architect-Engineer shall request a written opinion as to the applicable 
interpretation from the applicable regulatory agency, as appropriate. The Architect-Engineer 
shall be entitled to rely on the written opinion, if any, received from such agency. 

 
F. As-Built Drawings. At completion of the Project, the Architect-Engineer shall prepare a full set of 

record drawings showing the "as-built" condition of the Project and including the locations of all 
utilities based on his own records and upon information supplied by the Construction Manager, 
Contractor or Design-Builder, as applicable, on which the Architect-Engineer may rely. These 
drawings will consist of the original working drawings and the original of supplemental drawings 
and details modified to show the "as built" conditions both in paper, tracings, and electronic media. 
"As-built" drawings shall be turned over to the District as a condition precedent to Substantial 
Completion; final payment of the Architect-Engineer's fees shall not be due until the building is 
accepted by the District, the final Application for Payment is made, in acceptable form, to and 
accepted by the District, and record drawings and "as-built" drawings in the form of paper, tracings, 
and electronic media in the form of Compact Discs in latest version of AutoCAD. The District 
reserves the right to occupy the building, or portions thereof, prior to final acceptance. 

 
G. No Waiver. Neither the District’s review, approval or acceptance of, nor payment for, any of the 

services required under the Contract shall be construed to operate as a waiver or any rights under 
the Contract or of any cause of action arising out of the performance of the Contract, and the 
Architect-Engineer shall be and remain liable to the District in accordance with applicable law for 
all damages to the District caused by the Architect-Engineer’s negligent or intentionally wrongful 
act, omission or default while performing any of the services under the Contract. 

 
H. Remedies Inclusive. The rights and remedies of the District and the Architect-Engineer provided 

for under the Contract are in addition to any other rights and remedies provided by law. 
 

ARTICLE 5. PAYMENTS 
 

A. Invoices. The Architect-Engineer shall submit an invoice to the District, along with District- 
required documentation. The invoice shall generally itemize the various phases or parts of the 
Total Contract Amount, the value of the various phases or parts, the previously invoiced and 
approved amounts for payment, and the amount of the current invoice. The invoice shall also 
include a certification statement signed by the Architect-Engineer stating that the Architect- 
Engineer has paid its consultants, subcontractors and suppliers their individual proportional share 
of all previous payments, including interest if applicable, received from the District in accordance 
with the terms of the Architect-Engineer’s subcontract with such persons or companies and these 
Standard Contract Provisions. Invoices for reimbursables shall include documentation of costs for 
which reimbursement is sought. Invoices for Architect-Engineer Services being performed on an 



7 
 

hourly rate basis shall show the technical classifications, names of the persons performing the 
Architect-Engineer services, man hours expended, marked up hourly rates for the classification, 
and the extended cost amount. 

 
B. Invoice Disputes. Unless there is a dispute about the compensation due the Architect-Engineer, 

including, but not limited to, claims by the District against the Architect-Engineer, then within thirty 
(30) days after receipt by the District of the Architect-Engineer's acceptable invoice, which shall 
be considered the invoice receipt date, the District shall pay to the Architect-Engineer the amount 
approved less any retainage and less any prior payments or advances made to Architect-Engineer. 
The date on which payment is due shall be referred to as the “payment date.” 

 
C. Frequency. Invoices prepared the Architect-Engineer relating to the amount and value of work 

and services performed by the Architect-Engineer under the Contract shall be made periodically 
(not more often than monthly) and sent to the District for payment, accompanied by such 
documentation and supporting data as may be required by the Contracting Officer. 

 
D. Retainage. Upon approval of such invoice amounts by the Contracting Officer and presentation of 

proper documentation by the Architect-Engineer, payment of the invoice amount as determined 
above less agreed upon retainage and all previous payments shall be made in accordance with 
the Quick Payment Act, D.C. Official Code §2-221.01 et seq. Unless otherwise provided for in the 
Contract, the retained payment percentage shall be 5%, provided, however, that if the Contracting 
Officer determines that the work is Substantially Complete and that the amount of retained 
percentages is in excess of the amount considered by him to be adequate for the protection of 
the District, he may in his discretion release to the Architect-Engineer such excess amount. 

 
E. Final Payment. Upon the satisfactory completion of the Architect-Engineer’s services and formal 

notification of its final acceptance by the Contracting Officer, the Architect-Engineer shall be paid 
the unpaid balance of any money due hereunder, including retained percentages. Prior to such 
final payment under the Contract or prior to settlement upon termination of the Contract and as a 
condition precedent thereto, the Architect-Engineer shall execute and deliver to the Contracting 
Officer a release of all claims against the District arising under or by virtue of the Contract other 
than such claims, if any, as may be specifically excepted by the Architect-Engineer from the 
operation of the release in stated amounts to be set forth therein. 

 
F. Document Ownership. All drawings, designs, specifications and other Architect-Engineer 

deliverables first produced solely for the District in the performance of the Contract, or in 
contemplation thereof, and all as-built drawings produced after completion of the work shall be 
and remain the sole property of the District and may be used on any other work without additional 
cost to the District. With respect thereto, the Architect-Engineer agrees not to assert any rights or 
to establish any claim under the design patent or copyright laws and not to publish or reproduce 
such matter in whole or in part or in any manner or form or authorize others so to do without the 
written consent of the District, until such time as the District may have released such matter to the 
public. Further, with respect to any architectural design which the District desires to protect by 
applying for and prosecuting a design patent application or otherwise, the Architect-Engineer 
agrees to furnish the Contracting Officer such duly executed instruments and other papers 
(prepared by the District) as are deemed necessary to vest in the District the rights granted it 
under this clause. The Architect-Engineer agrees to furnish and provide access to the originals 
or copies of all such materials on the request of the Contracting Officer for a period of three (3) 
years after completion for the project. 



8 
 

G. Corrections of Work Post-Payment. Notwithstanding the acceptance and approval by the District 
of any services performed or provided by the Architect-Engineer, the Architect-Engineer shall be 
responsible for the professional quality, technical accuracy and the coordination of all services 
furnished by the Architect-Engineer under the Contract. The Architect-Engineer shall, without 
additional compensation, correct or revise any errors or deficiencies or omissions in the Architect- 
Engineer’s services. 

 
H. Payment Not Waiver. The District’s review, approval or acceptance of, or payment for, any of the 

Materials and Services required under the Contract shall not constitute any representation, 
warranty or guaranty by the District as to the substance or quality of the matter reviewed, approved 
or accepted and shall not be construed to operate as a waiver or estoppel of any of the District's 
rights or privileges under the Contract or of any cause of action arising out of the performance of 
the Contract. No person or firm shall rely in any way on such review, approval or acceptance by 
the District. The Architect-Engineer shall be and remain liable in accordance with Applicable Law 
for all damages to the District caused by the Architect-Engineer. Review, approval or acceptance 
by the District or the Contracting Officer under the Contract shall not constitute approval otherwise 
required by any of the District departments, boards, commissions, or other regulatory agencies in 
the exercise of their independent regulatory authority. 

 
I. Errors and Omissions. Without limiting the Architect-Engineer’s responsibility set forth above, 

such responsibility, by way of illustration shall include the following: If any error or omission in the 
Construction Documents submitted by the Architect-Engineer requires a change in the Scope of 
Services or any portion thereof, the Architect-Engineer shall promptly complete such change at no 
additional cost to the District. 

 
J. Compensation Disputes. Disputes regarding the compensation due the Architect-Engineer may 

include, but are not limited to, the amount due, the value or percentage of the Architect- Engineer 
Services completed, defects or deficiencies in the Architect-Engineer Services, quality of the 
Architect-Engineer Services, compliance with the Contract Documents, completion itself, or 
negligent performance of professional services on the part of the Architect-Engineer. In the event 
of disputes, payment shall be mailed on or before the Payment Date for amounts and Architect- 
Engineer Services not in dispute, subject to any setoffs claimed by the District. 

 
K. Adjustments. All prior payments, whether based on estimates or otherwise, may be corrected 

and adjusted in any payment and shall be corrected and adjusted in the final payment. In the event 
that any invoice by the Architect-Engineer contains a defect or impropriety which would prevent 
payment by the Payment Date, the District shall notify the Architect-Engineer in writing of such 
defect or impropriety within ten (10) days after the invoice receipt date. Any disputed amounts 
determined by the District to be payable to the Architect-Engineer shall be due thirty (30) days from 
the date the dispute is resolved. Interest shall be paid by the District in accordance with the Quick 
Payment Act, D.C. Official Code §2-221.01 et seq. 

 
L. Payments to Subcontractors. The Architect-Engineer shall make a payment to each of its 

Consultants and Subcontractors, not later than seven (7) calendar days after receipt of amounts 
paid to the Architect-Engineer by the District, in an amount equal to the proportionate share of the 
total payment, including any interest, received from the District attributable to the Architect- 
Engineer Services performed by Consultants and Subcontractors less a retainage of not more than 
five percent (5%) if provided for in the applicable subcontract, said retainage being the same 
money, not additional money, retained by the District from the payment to the Architect-Engineer. 



9 
 

ARTICLE 6. CHANGES 
 

A. Generally. The Contracting Officer may at any time by written order make changes within the 
general scope of the Contract to the Scope of Services to be performed under each task order. If 
such changes cause an increase or decrease in the Architect-Engineer’s cost of or time required for 
performance of any service under the Contract, or both, upon approval of the Contracting Officer, 
an equitable adjustment shall be made and the Contract shall be modified in writing by the 
Contracting Officer accordingly. Any claim of the Architect-Engineer for adjustment under this clause 
must be made in writing to the Contracting Officer within ten (10) days from the date of receipt by 
the Architect-Engineer of the notification of change unless the Contracting Officer grants a further 
period of time before the date of final payment under this Contract. If the Architect-Engineer requests 
changes to the Scope of Services, the Architect-Engineer must demonstrate to the satisfaction of 
the District that the changes are necessary and not due to the acts or omissions of the Architect- 
Engineer. Generally, the time of performance of the Contract and/or any task order may be extended 
for the administrative convenience of the District or for other purposes whenever the Contracting 
Officer determines such action will not be a cause for additional fee or other related cost. 

 
B. Additional Compensation. Compensation to the Architect-Engineer beyond the monetary limits set 

forth in the Contract shall only be made if and when a Change Order to the Contract is duly executed 
by the Parties. Nothing herein shall limit the District’s ability to make changes to the Contract 
unilaterally. 

 
C. Designated Change Orders. The Contracting Officer may, at any time, by written order designated 

or indicated to be a change order, make any changes in the work within the general scope of the 
Contract, including but not limited to changes: 

 
1. In the Contract drawings and specifications; 

 
2. In the method or manner of performance of the services; 

 
3. In the District furnished facilities, equipment, materials or services; or 

 
4. Directing acceleration in the performance of the services. 

 
Nothing provided in this Article shall excuse the Architect-Engineer from proceeding with the 
prosecution of the services so changed. 

 
D. Other Change Orders. Any other written order or an oral order (which term as used in this 

Section shall include direction, instruction, interpretation, or determination) from the Contracting Officer 
which causes any such change, shall be treated as a Change Order under this Article, provided that 
the Architect-Engineer gives the Contracting Officer written notice stating the date, circumstances and 
sources of the order and that the Architect-Engineer regards the order as a Change Order. 

 
E. General Requirements. Except as herein provided, no order, statement or conduct of the Contracting 

Officer shall be treated as a change under this Article or entitle the Architect- Engineer to an 
equitable adjustment hereunder. If any change under this Article causes an increase or decrease 
in the Architect-Engineer’s cost of, or the time required for, the performance of any part of the 
services under the Contract whether or not changed by any order, an equitable adjustment shall be 
made and the Contract modified in writing accordingly; provided, however, that except for claims based 
on defective specifications, no claim for any change under (B) above shall 



10 
 

be allowed for any cost incurred more than thirty (30) days before the Architect-Engineer gives written 
notice as therein required unless this thirty (30) day period is extended by the Contracting Officer and 
provided further, that in case of defective drawings and specifications, the equitable adjustment shall 
include any increased cost reasonably incurred by the Architect- Engineer in attempting to comply with 
such defective drawings and specifications. 

 
1. If the Architect-Engineer intends to assert a claim for an equitable adjustment under this 

Article, the Architect-Engineer must, within thirty (30) days after receipt of a written Change 
Order under (A) above or the furnishing of a written notice under (D) above, submit to the 
Contracting Officer a written statement setting forth the general nature and monetary extent 
of such claim, unless this period is extended by the Contracting Officer. The statement of claim 
hereunder may be included in the notice under (D) above. 

 
2. With respect to the notification obligations of the Architect-Engineer hereunder, time is of 

the essence. A failure to provide timely notice constitutes waiver of the claim. No claim by 
the Architect-Engineer for an equitable adjustment hereunder shall be allowed if asserted 
after final payment under the Contract. 

 
F. Change Order Breakdown. Contract prices shall be used for Change Order work where the 

services, as changed, are of similar nature; no other costs, overhead or profit will be allowed. 
 

1. Where Contract prices are not appropriate and the nature of the change is known in advance 
of construction, the parties shall attempt to agree on a fully justifiable adjustment of the Architect-
Engineer’s compensation and time for performance. 

 
2. When Contract prices are not appropriate, or the parties fail to agree on equitable adjustment, or 

in processing claims, equitable adjustment for Change Order work shall be per this Article and 
Article 7 and shall be based upon the breakdown shown in following subsections a) through g). 
The Architect-Engineer shall assemble a complete cost breakdown that lists and substantiates 
each item of work and each item of cost. 

 
a) Labor—Payment will be made for direct labor cost plus indirect labor cost such as insurance, 

taxes, fringe benefits and welfare provided such costs are considered reasonable by the 
District. Indirect costs shall be itemized and verified by receipted invoices. If verification is 
not possible, up to 18 percent of direct labor costs may be allowed. In addition, up to 20 
percent of direct plus indirect labor costs may be allowed for overhead and profit. 

 
b) Rented Equipment—Payment for required equipment rented from a third party company 

that is neither an affiliate of, nor a subsidiary of, the Architect-Engineer will be based on 
receipted invoices, which shall not exceed rates given in the current edition of the 
Rental Rate Blue Book for Construction Equipment published by Data Quest. If actual rental 
rates exceed manual rates, written justification shall be furnished to the Contracting Officer 
for consideration. No additional allowance will be made for overhead and profit. The 
Architect-Engineer shall submit written certification to the Contracting Officer that any 
required rented equipment is neither owned by nor rented from the Architect-Engineer or 
an affiliate of or subsidiary of the Architect- Engineer. 

 
c) Architect-Engineer’s Equipment—Payment for required equipment owned by the Architect- 

Engineer or an affiliate of the Architect-Engineer will be based solely on an hourly rate 



11 
 

derived by dividing the current appropriate monthly rate by 176 hours. No payment will be 
made under any circumstances for repair costs, freight and transportation charges, fuel, 
lubricants, insurance, any other costs and expenses, or overhead and profit. Payment for 
such equipment made idle by delays attributable to the District will be based on one-half 
the derived hourly rate under this subsection. 

 
d) Miscellaneous—No additional allowance will be made for general superintendence, use of 

small tools and other costs for which no specific allowance is herein provided. 
 

e) Subcontract Work—Payment for additional necessary subcontract work will be based on 
applicable procedures in a) through f), to which total additional subcontract work, up to 
an additional 10 percent, may be allowed for the Architect-Engineer’s overhead and profit. 

 
G. Significant Changes in Character of Services. 

 
1. The Contracting Officer reserves the right to make, in writing, at any time during the performance 

of services, such changes in quantities and such alterations in the services as are necessary to 
satisfactorily complete the Project. Such changes in quantities and alterations shall not invalidate 
the Contract, and the Architect-Engineer agrees to perform the services as altered. 

 
2. If the alterations or changes in quantities significantly change the character of the services under 

the Contract, whether or not changed by any such different quantities or alterations, an adjustment, 
excluding loss of anticipated profits, will be made to the Contract. The basis for the adjustment 
shall be agreed upon prior to the performance of the services. If a basis cannot be agreed upon, 
then an adjustment will be made either for or against the Architect-Engineer in such amount as the 
Contracting Officer may determine to be fair and reasonable. 

 
3. If the alterations or changes in quantities significantly change the character of the services to be 

performed under the Contract, the altered services will be paid for as provided elsewhere in the 
Contract. 

 
4. The term “significant change” shall be construed to apply only to the following circumstances: 

 
a. When the character of the services as altered differs materially in kind or nature from that 

involved or included in the original proposed construction; or 
 

b. When an item of work is increased in excess of 125 percent or decreased below 75 percent 
of the original Contract quantity. Any allowance for an increase in quantity shall apply only 
to that portion in excess of 125 percent of original Contract item quantity, or in the case of 
a decrease below 75 percent, to the actual amount of services performed. 

 
5. If the parties fall to agree upon the adjustment to be made, the dispute shall be processed as provided 

in Article 10 hereof entitled “Disputes”. Nothing provided in this section shall excuse the Architect- 
Engineer from proceeding with the prosecution of services so changed. 

 
 

ARTICLE 7. EQUITABLE ADJUSTMENT OF CONTRACT TERMS 
 

The Architect-Engineer is entitled to an equitable adjustment of the contract terms whenever the following 
situations develop: 

 
A. Differing Site Conditions. 

 
1. During the progress of the work, if subsurface or latent physical conditions are encountered 

at the site differing materially from those indicated in the Contract or if unknown physical 



12 
 

conditions of an unusual nature, differing materially from those ordinarily encountered and 
generally recognized as inherent in the work provided for in the Contract, are encountered at 
the site, the Architect-Engineer, upon discovering such conditions, shall promptly notify the 
Contracting Officer in writing of the specific differing conditions before they are disturbed and 
before the affected work is performed. 

 
2. Upon written notification, the Contracting Officer will investigate the conditions, and if he/she 

determines that the conditions materially differ and cause an increase or decrease in the cost 
or time required for the performance of any work under the contract, or both, an adjustment, 
excluding loss of anticipated profits, will be made and the Contract modified in writing 
accordingly. The Contracting Officer will notify the Architect-Engineer of his/her determination 
whether or not an adjustment of the Contract is warranted. 

 
3. No contract adjustment which results in a benefit to the Architect-Engineer will be allowed 

unless the Architect-Engineer has provided the required written notice; a failure to notify the 
Contracting Officer of the changed conditions prior to work being disturbed by said conditions 
shall constitute a permanent waiver of all right to compensation related to the changed 
conditions by the Architect-Engineer. 

 
4. No contract adjustment will be allowed under this clause for any effects caused on 

unchanged work. 
 

B. Suspension of Work Ordered by Contracting Officer. 
 

1. If the performance of all or any portion of the work is suspended or delayed by the Contracting 
Officer in writing for an unreasonable period of time (not originally anticipated, customary, or 
inherent to the nature of the services) and the Architect-Engineer believes that additional 
compensation or contract time, or both, is due as a result of such suspension or delay, the 
Architect-Engineer shall submit to the Contracting Officer in writing a request for equitable 
adjustment within ten (10) days of receipt of the notice to resume work. The request shall set 
forth the reasons and support for such adjustment. 

 
2. Upon receipt, the Contracting Officer will evaluate the Architect-Engineer’s request. If the 

Contracting Officer agrees that the cost or time required for the performance of the Contract, 
or both, has increased as a result of such suspension and the suspension was caused by 
conditions beyond the control or and not the fault of the Architect-Engineer or its consultants 
or subcontractors at any approved tier, and not caused by weather, the Contracting Officer 
will make an adjustment (excluding profit) and modify the contract in writing accordingly. The 
Contracting Officer will notify the Architect-Engineer of his/her determination whether or not 
an adjustment of the Contract is warranted. 

 
3. No contract adjustment will be allowed unless the Architect-Engineer has submitted the 

request for adjustment within the time prescribed; a failure to submit a request for adjustment 
in the time prescribed shall constitute waiver of all right to compensation related to the 
suspension of work by the Architect-Engineer. 

 
ARTICLE 8. TERMINATION 

 
A. Termination for Default. Termination, whether for default or convenience is not a Government 

claim. The Contracting Officer may terminate the Contract, or any task order issued thereunder by 
the Contracting Officer, for default, in whole or in part, if the termination is in the best interests of 
the Government, and the Architect-Engineer does any of the following: 

 
1. Fails to complete the Services within the time specified in the Contract or any modification 

(including task orders); 
 

2. Fails to make sufficient progress on contract performance so as to endanger performance 



13 
 

of the Contract (including any task order) within the time specified or in the manner specified 
in the Contract; 

 
3. Fails or refuses to go forward with the services in accordance with the direction of the 

Contracting Officer; 
 

4. Expresses through word or conduct an intention not to complete the services in accordance 
with the directions of the Contracting Officer; 

 
5. Fails to perform any of the other provisions of the Contract (or any task order); 

 
6. Materially deviates from the representations and capabilities set forth in the Architect- 

Engineer’s response to the solicitation. 
 

B. Final Decision of Contracting Officer. A termination for default is a final decision of the 
Contracting Officer. In order to contest a termination for default, the Architect-Engineer must 
submit a certified request to convert the termination for default to a termination for convenience 
with all documents supporting such conversion and comply with all Contract provisions and laws 
relating to terminations for convenience, including the submission of a certified termination for 
convenience settlement proposal. The submission of the certified request for conversion to a 
termination for convenience and certified termination settlement proposal to the Contracting 
Officer must occur prior to ninety (90) days from the date of the Contracting Officer’s final decision. 

 
C. Delays. If the Architect-Engineer refuses or fails to prosecute the services, or any separable part 

thereof, with such diligence as will provide for its completion within the time specified in the 
Contract, or any extension thereof, or fails to complete said services within the specified time, the 
District may, by written notice to the Architect-Engineer, terminate its right to proceed with the 
services or such part of the services involving the delay. In such event, the District may take over 
the services and prosecute the same to completion, by contract or otherwise, and may take 
possession of and utilize in completing the services such materials as may have been paid for by 
the District. Whether or not the Architect- Engineer’s right to proceed with the services are 
terminated, the Architect-Engineer shall be liable for any liability to the District resulting from the 
Architect-Engineer’s refusal or failure to complete the services within the specified time. 

 
1. If fixed and agreed liquidated damages are provided in the Contract and if the District does 

not so terminate the Architect-Engineer’s right to proceed, the resulting damage will consist 
of such liquidated damages until the services are completed and accepted. 

 
2. The Architect-Engineer’s right to proceed shall not be so terminated nor the Architect- 

Engineer charged with resulting damage if: 

 
a) The delay in the completion the services arises from unforeseeable causes beyond the 

control and without the fault or negligence of the Architect-Engineer, including but not 
restricted to acts of God, acts of the public enemy, acts of the District in either its sovereign 
or contractual capacity, acts of another contractor in the performance of a contract with the 
District, fires, floods, epidemics, quarantine restrictions, strikes, freight embargoes, climatic 
conditions beyond the normal which could be anticipated, or delays of subcontractors or 
suppliers arising from unforeseeable causes beyond the control and without the fault or 
negligence of both the Architect-Engineer and such consultants or subcontractors at any 
tier; and 

 
b) The Architect-Engineer, within 72 hours from the beginning of any such delay, (unless the 



14 
 

Contracting Officer grants a further period of time before the date of final payment under 
the Contract) notifies the Contracting Officer in writing of the causes of delay. 

 
3. The Contracting Officer shall ascertain the facts and the extent of the delay and extend the time 

for completing the services when, in his/her judgment, the findings of fact justify such an 
extension, and his/her findings of fact shall be final and conclusive on the parties, subject only to 
appeal as provided in Article 7 herein. 

 
4. If, after notice of termination of the Architect-Engineer’s right to proceed under the provisions of 

this Article, it is determined for any reason that the Architect-Engineer was not in default under 
the provisions of this Article, or that the delay was excusable under the provisions of this Article, 
the rights and obligations of the parties shall be in accordance with Article 6 herein. Failure to 
agree to any such adjustment shall be a dispute concerning a question of fact within the meaning 
of Article 7 herein. 

 
5. The rights and remedies of the District provided in this Article are in addition to any other rights 

and remedies provided by law or under the Contract. 
 

6. The District may, by written notice, terminate the Contract or a portion thereof as a result of an 
Executive Order of the President of the United States with respect to the prosecution of war or in 
the interest of national defense. When the Contract is so terminated, no claim for loss of 
anticipated profits will be permitted. 

 
D. Opportunity to Cure. Notwithstanding the foregoing sections A and C, the Contract will not terminate 

as a result of the failure to perform if the Architect-Engineer begins, immediately upon receipt of such 
notice, to correct its failure to perform and proceeds diligently to cure such failure with no more than ten 
(10) days of receipt thereof. The Contracting Officer in its sole discretion, but is not obligated to, may 
extend the period to cure if the Department finds a legitimate reason for the extension. 

 
E. Termination for Convenience of the District Government 

 
1. The performance of services under the Contract, or any task order issued thereunder by the 

Contracting Officer, may be terminated by the District in accordance with this Article, in whole 
or in part, whenever the Contracting Officer shall determine that such termination is in the 
best interest of the District. Any such termination shall be effected by delivery to the Architect- 
Engineer of a Notice of Termination specifying the extent to which performance of services 
under the Contract (or task order) is terminated, and the date upon which such termination 
becomes effective. 

 
2. After receipt of a Notice of Termination, and except as otherwise directed by the 

Contracting Officer, the Architect-Engineer shall: 
 

a) Stop work under the Contract (or task order) on the date and to the extent specified in the 
Notice of Termination. 

 
b) Place no further orders or subcontracts for materials, services, or facilities except as may 

be necessary for completion of such portion of the services under the Contract (or task 
order) as is not terminated. 

 
c) Terminate all orders and subcontracts to the extent that they relate to the performance of 

the services terminated by the Notice of Termination. 



15 
 

d) Assign to the District, in the manner, at the times, and to the extent directed by the 
Contracting Officer, all of the right, title and interest of the Architect-Engineer under the 
orders and subcontracts so terminated, in which case the District shall have the right, in its 
discretion, to settle or pay any or all claims arising out of the termination of such orders and 
subcontracts. 

 
e) Settle all outstanding liabilities and all claims arising out of such termination of orders or 

subcontracts, with the approval or ratification of the Contracting Officer to the extent he/she 
may require, which approval or ratification shall be final for all purposes of this Article. 

 
f) Transfer title to the District and deliver in the manner, at the times, and to the extent, if any, 

directed by the Contracting Officer completed, or partially completed plans, drawings, 
information and other property which, if the Contract (or task order) had been completed, 
would have been required to be furnished to the District. 

 
g) Complete performance of such part of the services as shall not have been terminated by 

the Notice of Termination. 
 

h) Take such action as may be necessary, or as the Contracting Officer may direct, for the 
protection and preservation of the property related to the Contract that is in the possession 
of the Architect-Engineer and in which the District has or may acquire an interest. 

 
i) The Architect-Engineer shall proceed immediately with the performance of the above 

obligations notwithstanding any delay in determining or adjusting the cost, or any item of 
reimbursable cost, under this Article. 

 
3. After receipt of a Notice of Termination, the Architect-Engineer shall submit to the Contracting 

Officer its termination claim, in the form with the certification prescribed by the Contracting Officer. 
Such claim shall be submitted promptly but in no event later than ninety ( 90) days from the 
effective date of termination, unless one or more extensions in writing are granted by the 
Contracting Officer upon request of the Architect-Engineer made in writing within such ninety (90)-
day period or authorized extension thereof. In the event the Architect- Engineer was terminated 
for default and it asserts that it is entitled to a termination for convenience, its certified request for 
the conversion of the default termination to one for convenience and its certified termination 
settlement proposal must be submitted to the Contracting Officer prior to the expiration of ninety 
(90) days from the date of the default termination. With respect to a termination for convenience, 
if the Contracting Officer determines that the facts justify such action, he/she may receive and act 
upon any such termination claim at any time after such ninety (90)-day period or extension 
thereof. Nothing herein shall be construed to extend the time for the submission of a claim 
hereunder for a defaulted Architect-Engineer beyond ninety (90) days from the date of the default 
termination. Upon failure of the Architect- Engineer to submit his termination claim within the time 
allowed, the Contracting Officer may, subject to any review required by the District’s procedures 
in effect as of the date of execution of the Contract, determine, on the basis of information available 
to him/her, the amount, if any, due to the Architect-Engineer by reason of the termination and shall 
thereupon pay to the Architect-Engineer the amount so determined. 

 
4. Subject to the provisions of Section 3 above, and subject to any review required by the 

District’s procedures in effect as of the date of execution of the Contract, the Architect- 
Engineer and Contracting Officer may agree upon the whole or any part of the amount or amounts 
to be paid to the Architect-Engineer by reason of the total or partial termination of services 
pursuant to this Article, which amount or amounts may include a reasonable allowance for profit 
on services completed; provided, that such agreed amount or amounts, exclusive of settlement 
costs, shall not exceed the total Contract price as reduced by the amount of 



16 
 

payments otherwise made and as further reduced by the Contract price of any services not 
terminated. The Contract shall be amended accordingly, and the Architect-Engineer shall be paid 
the agreed amount. Nothing in Section 5 below prescribing the amount to be paid to the Architect-
Engineer in the event of failure of the Architect-Engineer and the Contracting Officer to agree 
upon the whole amount to be paid to the Architect-Engineer by reason of the termination of 
services pursuant to this Article, shall be deemed to limit, restrict or otherwise determine or effect 
the amount or amounts which may be agreed upon to be paid to the Architect-Engineer pursuant 
to this paragraph. 

 
5. In the event of the failure of the Architect-Engineer and the Contracting Officer to agree as 

provided in Section 4 above upon the whole amount to be paid to the Architect-Engineer by 
reason of the termination of services pursuant to this Article, the Contracting Officer shall, subject 
to any review required by the District’s procedures in effect as of the date of execution of 
the Contract, determine, on the basis of information available to him/her, the amount, if any, due 
the Architect-Engineer by reason of the termination and shall pay to the Architect-Engineer the 
amounts determined by the Contracting Officer, as follows, but without duplication of any amounts 
agreed upon in accordance with Section 4 above: 

 
a) With respect to all Contract work performed prior to the effective date of the Notice of 

Termination, the total (without duplication of any items) of: 
 

i) The cost of such services; 
 

ii) The cost of settling and paying claims arising out of the termination of services under 
subcontracts or orders as provided in Section 2(e) above, exclusive of the amounts 
paid or payable on account of supplies or materials delivered or services furnished 
by the subcontractor prior to the effective date of the Notice of Termination of work 
under the Contract, which amounts shall be included in the cost on account of which 
payment is made under on Section 5(a)(i) above; and 

 
iii) A sum, as profit on Section 5(a)(i) above, determined by the Contracting Officer to 

be fair and reasonable; provided however, that if it appears that the Architect- 
Engineer would have sustained a loss on the entire Contract had it been completed, 
no profit shall be included or allowed under this subparagraph and an appropriate 
adjustment shall be made reducing the amount of the settlement to reflect the 
indicated rate of loss; and provided further that profit shall be allowed only on 
preparations made and services performed by the Architect-Engineer for the 
terminated portion of the Contract (or task order) but may not be allowed on the 
Architect-Engineer’s settlement expenses. Anticipatory profits and consequential 
damages shall not be allowed. Any reasonable method may be used to arrive at a 
fair profit, separately or as part of the whole settlement. 

 
b) The reasonable cost of the preservation and protection of property incurred pursuant to 

Section 2(i); and any other reasonable cost incidental to termination of services under 
the Contract including expense incidental to the determination of amount due to the 
Architect-Engineer as the result of the termination of work under the Contract. 

 
6. The total sum to be paid to the Architect-Engineer under Section 5(a) above shall not exceed 

the total Contract price as reduced by the amount of payments otherwise made and as further 
reduced by the Contract price of services not terminated. Except for normal spoilage, and 
except to the extent that the District shall have otherwise expressly assumed the risk of loss, 
there shall be excluded from the amounts payable to the Architect-Engineer under Section 5(a) 
above, the fair value, as determined by the Contracting Officer, of property which is destroyed, 
lost, stolen or damaged so as to become undeliverable to the District 

 
7. The Architect-Engineer shall have the right of appeal, under Article 9 herein, from any 

determination made by the Contracting Officer under Sections 3 or 5, above, except that, if 



17 
 

the Architect-Engineer has failed to submit its claim within the time provided in Section 3 above 
and has failed to request extension of such time, the Architect-Engineer shall have no such 
right of appeal. In any case where the Contracting Officer has made a determination of the 
amount due under Sections 3 or 5, above, the District shall pay to the Architect-Engineer the 
following: 

 
a) If there is no right of appeal hereunder or if no timely appeal has been taken, the amount 

so determined by the Contracting Officer, or 
 

b) If an appeal had been taken, the amount finally determined on such appeal. 
 

8. In arriving at the amount due the Architect-Engineer under this Article there shall be deducted: 
 

a) all unliquidated advance or other payments on account theretofore made to the Architect- 
Engineer, applicable to the terminated portion of the Contract (or task order); 

 
b) any claim which the District may have against the Architect-Engineer in connection 

with the Contract; and 
 

c) the agreed price for, or the proceeds of sale of, any materials, supplies or other things 
kept by the Architect-Engineer or sold, pursuant to the provisions of this Article and not 
otherwise recovered by or credited to the District. 

 
9. If the termination hereunder be partial, prior to the settlement of the terminated portion of 

the Contract (or task order), the Architect-Engineer may file with the Contracting Officer a 
request in writing for an equitable adjustment of the price or prices specified in the Contract 
relating to the continued portion of the Contract (the portion not terminated by the Notice 
of Termination), and such equitable adjustment as may be agreed upon shall be made at 
such price or prices; however, nothing contained herein shall limit the right of the District 
and the Architect-Engineer to agree upon the amount or amounts to be paid to the Architect-
Engineer for the completion of the continued portion of the Contract when said Contract does 
not contain an established Contract price for such continued portion. 

 
10. The District may from time to time, under such terms and conditions as it may prescribe, make 

partial payments against costs incurred by the Architect-Engineer in connection with the 
terminated portion of the Contract (or task order) whenever in the opinion of the Contracting 
Officer the aggregate of such payments shall be within the amount to which the Architect-
Engineer will be entitled hereunder. If the total of such payments is in excess of the amount 
finally agreed or determined to be due under this Article, such excess shall be payable by the 
Architect-Engineer to the District upon demand, together with interest in accordance with the 
Quick Payment Act, D.C. Official Code §2-221.01 et seq. 

 
11. Unless otherwise provided in the Contract or by applicable statute, the Architect-Engineer, from 

the effective date of termination and for a period of three (3 ) years after final settlement under 
the Contract, shall preserve and make available to the District at all reasonable times at the 
office of the Architect-Engineer, but without direct charge to the District, all its books, records, 
documents and other evidence bearing on the costs and expenses of the Architect-Engineer 
under the Contract and relating to the services terminated hereunder, or, to the extent 
approved by the Contracting Officer, photographs and other authentic reproductions thereof. 

 
12. By virtue of a Termination for Convenience, the Architect-Engineer shall not become entitled 

to payment for defective services, deficient services, rejected services, or services not in 
accordance with the plans or specifications set forth in the Contract. 

 
ARTICLE 9. DISPUTES 



18 
 

A. Generally. All disputes arising under or relating to the Contract shall be resolved as provided 
herein. 

 
B. Claims by the Architect-Engineer against the District. 

 
1. Claim, as used in this Section B of Article 9, means a written assertion by the Architect- Engineer 

seeking, as a matter of right, the payment of money in a sum certain, the adjustment or 
interpretation of contract terms, or other relief arising under or relating to the Contract. A claim 
arising under a contract, unlike a claim relating to that contract, is a claim that can be resolved 
under a contract clause that provides for the relief sought by the claimant. 

 
a) All claims by the Architect-Engineer against the District arising under or relating to the 

Contract shall be in writing and shall be submitted to the Contracting Officer for a 
decision. 

 
b) Within 120 days after receipt of a claim, the Contracting Officer shall issue a decision, 

whenever possible taking into account factors such as the size and complexity of the 
claim and the adequacy of the information in support of the claim provided by the 
Architect-Engineer. 

 
c) Any failure by the Contracting Officer to issue a decision on a Contract claim within the 

required time period shall be deemed to be a denial of the claim and shall authorize the 
commencement of an appeal on the claim as otherwise provided. 

 
i) If the Architect-Engineer is unable to support any part of its claim and it is 

determined that the inability is attributable to a material misrepresentation of fact 
or fraud on the part of the Architect-Engineer, the Architect-Engineer shall be 
liable to the District for an amount equal to the unsupported part of the claim in 
addition to all costs to the District attributable to the cost of reviewing that part of 
the Architect-Engineer’s claim. 

 
ii) Liability under this section shall be determined within six (6) years of the 

commission of the misrepresentation of fact or fraud. 
 

d) All cost data, pricing data, and task data of claims hereunder must be certified as 
accurate, complete, required, and necessary to the best of the Architect-Engineer’s 
knowledge and belief. Further, all task or work data in the claim must be described 
therein to the smallest unit of work or task. The Contracting Officer may require any 
additional certifications, descriptions or explanations of the claim. 

 
e) The parties agree that time is of the essence and all claims hereunder must be presented 

to the Contracting Officer for a final decision within thirty (30) days of the occurrence of the 
circumstances giving rise to such claim or within thirty (30) days of when the Architect- 
Engineer knew or should have known of the circumstances giving rise to such claim, 
otherwise compensation for that claim is waived. 

 
f) The parties agree that there shall be no claims for unabsorbed home office overhead. 

 
2. The Architect-Engineer’s claim shall contain at least the following: 

 
a) A description of the claim and the amount in dispute; 



19 
 

b) Any data or other information in support of the claim; 
 

c) A brief description of the Architect-Engineer’s efforts to resolve the dispute prior to filing 
the claim; and 

 
d) The Architect-Engineer’s request for relief or other action by the Contracting Officer. 

 
e) The certification of the accuracy, completeness, requirement, and necessity of all 

aspects of the claim. 
 

3. The decision of the Contracting Officer shall be final and not subject to review unless an 
administrative appeal or action for judicial review is timely commenced by the Architect- 
Engineer. 

 
4. Pending final decision of an appeal, action, or final settlement, the Architect-Engineer shall 

proceed diligently with performance of the contract in accordance with the decision of the 
Contracting Officer. 

 
C. Claims by the District Against the Architect-Engineer. 

 
1. Claim as used in this Section C of Article 9, means a written demand or written assertion by the 

District, including the Contracting Officer, seeking, as a matter of right, the payment of money in 
a sum certain, the adjustment of contract terms, or other relief arising under or relating to the 
Contract. A claim arising under a contract, unlike a claim relating to that contract, is a claim that 
can be resolved under a contract clause that provides for the relief sought by the claimant. 
Nothing herein shall be construed to require the District to notify the Architect-Engineer prior to 
the issuance of the Contracting Officer’s final decision. 

 
2.  

 
a) All claims by the District against the Architect-Engineer arising under or relating to a 

contract shall be decided by the Contracting Officer, who shall issue a decision in writing 
and furnish a copy of the decision to the Architect-Engineer. 

 
b) The decision shall be supported by reasons and shall inform the Architect-Engineer of its 

rights. Specific findings of fact shall not be required. 

 
3. This clause shall not authorize the Contracting Officer to settle, compromise, pay, or 

otherwise adjust any claim involving fraud. 
 

4. The decision of the Contracting Officer shall be final and not subject to review unless an 
administrative appeal or action for judicial review is timely commenced by the Architect- 
Engineer. 

 
5. Pending final decision of an appeal, action, or final settlement, the Architect-Engineer shall 

proceed diligently with performance of the contract in accordance with the decision of the 
Contracting Officer. 

 
6. The Contracting Officer may enter into a voluntary exclusion agreement with the Architect- 

Engineer in order to settle any claim or dispute between the parties. 
 

ARTICLE 10. RETENTION AND EXAMINATION OF RECORDS 



20 
 

Unless otherwise provided in the Contract, or by applicable statute, the Architect-Engineer, from the 
effective date of Contract completion and for a period of three (3) years after final settlement under the 
Contract, shall preserve and make available to the District at all reasonable times at the office of the 
Architect-Engineer but without direct charge to the District, all its books, records, documents, and other 
evidence bearing on the costs and expenses of the Architect-Engineer under the Contract. 

 
ARTICLE 11.  COVENANT AGAINST CONTINGENT FEES 

 
The Architect-Engineer warrants that no person or selling agency has been employed or retained to solicit 
or secure the Contract upon an agreement or understanding for a commission, percentage, brokerage or 
contingent fee, excepting bona fide employees or bona fide established commercial or selling agencies 
maintained by the Architect-Engineer for the purpose of securing business. For breach or violation of this 
warranty, the District shall have the right to terminate the Contract without liability or in its discretion to 
deduct from the Contract price or consideration, or otherwise recover, the full amount of such commission, 
percentage, brokerage or contingent fee. 

 
ARTICLE 12.  OFFICIALS NOT TO BENEFIT 

 
A. District Employees Not To Benefit. Unless a determination is made as provided herein, no 

officer or employee of the District will be admitted to any share or part of the Contract or to any 
benefit that may arise therefrom, and any contract made by the Contracting Officer or any District 
employee authorized to execute contracts in which they or an employee of the District will be 
personally interested shall be void, and no payment shall be made thereon by the District or any 
officer thereof, but this provision shall not be construed to extend to the Contract if made with a 
corporation for its general benefit. A District employee shall not be a party to a contract with the 
District and will not knowingly cause or allow a business concern or other organization owned or 
substantially owned or controlled by the employee to be a party to such a contract, unless a written 
determination has been made by the head of the procuring agency that there is a compelling 
reason for contracting with the employee, such as when the District’s needs cannot reasonably 
otherwise be met in accordance with DC Procurement Practices Act of l985, D.C. Law 6-85, D.C. 
Official Code, section 2-310.01, and Chapter 18 of the DC Personnel Regulations. The Architect- 
Engineer represents and covenants that it presently has no interest and shall not acquire any 
interest, direct or indirect, which would conflict in any manner or degree with the performance of 
its services hereunder. The Architect-Engineer further covenants not to employ any person having 
such known interests in the performance of the Contract. 

 
B. Anti-Competitive Practices and Anti-Kickback Provisions. 

 
1. The Architect-Engineer recognizes the need for markets to operate competitively and shall 

observe and shall comply with all applicable law, rules, and regulations prohibiting anti- 
competitive practices. The Architect-Engineer shall not engage, directly or indirectly, in 
collusion or other anti-competitive practices that reduces or eliminates competition or 
restrains trade. The District shall report to the appropriate authority any activity that 
evidences a violation of the antitrust laws, and take such other further action to which it is 
entitled or obligated under the law. 

 
2. The Architect-Engineer shall observe and comply with all applicable law, rules, and 

regulations prohibiting kickbacks and, without limiting the foregoing, Architect-Engineer shall 
not (i) provide or attempt to provide or offer to provide any kickback; (ii) solicit, accept, or 
attempt to accept any kickback; or (iii) include, directly or indirectly, the amount of any 



21 
 

kickback in the contract price charged by Architect-Engineer or a Subcontractor of the 
Architect-Engineer to the District. The Architect-Engineer shall have in place and follow 
reasonable procedures designed to prevent and detect possible violations described in this 
subparagraph in its own operations and direct business relationships. The District may take 
any recourse available to it under the law for violations of this anti-kickback provision. 

 
ARTICLE 13. CONFLICT OF INTEREST AND ETHICS 

 
A. Former Employees Generally. Pursuant to Public Law 95-521, as amended, no former 

employee of the United States District or the District of Columbia: 
 

1. Shall knowingly represent the Architect-Engineer before any District agency through 
personal appearance or communication in connection with a matter involving specific 
parties to the Contract where the former District employee participated personally and 
substantially in this matter while employed with the District. 

 
2. Shall within two (2) years after terminating District employment knowingly represent the 

Architect-Engineer before any District agency through personal appearance or 
communication in connection with a matter involving specific parties to the Contract were 
the matter was pending under the official responsibility of the former employee within one 
(1) year prior to termination of District service. 

 
B. Former Senior Employees. Pursuant to Public Law 95-591, as amended, no former senior 

level officer or former senior level employee of the United States District or the District of 
Columbia District named in or designated by the Contracting Officer of the Office of District 
Ethics under Section 207(d) of Title 18 USC: 

 
1. Shall, within two (2) years after terminating District employment knowingly represent or aid 

counsel, advise, consult or assist in representing any other person by personal presence at 
any formal or informal appearance before any District agency in connection with a matter 
involving specific parties where the former employee participated personally aid substantially 
in that matter while employed with the District. 

 
2. Shall, within one (1) year after terminating District employment knowingly act as an agent or 

attorney for or otherwise represent anyone in any formal or informal appearance before or 
with the intent to influence make any written or oral communication on behalf of anyone to 
his or her former District or agency or any of its officers or employees or (2) in connection 
with any particular District matter, whether or not involving a specific party which is pending 
before such District or agency or in which it has a direct and substantial interest. 

 
C. Conflict of Interest. The Architect-Engineer represents and warrants that neither it nor any of its 

directors, officers, members, partners or employees, has any interest nor shall they acquire any 
interest, directly or indirectly, which would or may conflict in any manner or degree with the 
performance or rendering of the services herein provided. The Architect-Engineer represents and 
warrants that, in the performance of the Contract, no person having such interest or possible 
interest shall be employed by it. No elected official or other officer or employee of the District, nor 
any person whose salary is payable, in whole or in part, from the District Treasury, shall participate in 
any decision relating to the Contract which affects his/her personal interest or the interest of any 
corporation, partnership or association in which he/she is, directly or indirectly, interested; nor shall 
any such person have any interest, direct or indirect, in the Contract or in the proceeds 



22 
 

thereof. 
 

D. No Kick-Backs. The Architect-Engineer shall not offer or receive any kickbacks or inducements 
from any other offeror, supplier, manufacturer or subcontractor in connection with the Contract. 
The Architect-Engineer shall not confer on any public employee having official responsibility for 
the Contract any payment, loan, subscription, advance, deposit of money, services or anything of 
more than nominal value. 

 
E. No Contractor Employment. No official or employee of the District of Columbia whose duties 

as such official or employee include matters relating to or affecting the subject matter of the 
Contract shall, during the pendency and term of the Contract and/while serving as an official or 
employee of the District of Columbia, become or be an employee of the Architect-Engineer or 
any entity that is a subcontractor on the Contract. 

 
ARTICLE 14. DISMISSALS AND REPLACEMENT OF KEY PERSONNEL 

 
A. Dismissals by the District. Should the continued employment of any person or persons in the 

Architect-Engineer’s organization under the Contract be deemed by the Contracting Officer to be 
prejudicial to the interests of the District, such person or persona shall be immediately removed 
from the work hereunder. The Architect-Engineer shall make every effort in the selection of its 
employees and in the prosecution of the work under the Contract to safeguard all drawings and 
specifications and to prevent the theft conversion or unauthorized use of the same. 

 
B. Replacement of Key Personnel. No substitutions for Key Personnel shall be permitted unless 

approved by the Contracting Officer. Any proposed replacement for Key Personnel must possess 
qualifications substantially similar to those of the Key Personnel being replaced and are subject to 
the prior written approval of the Contracting Officer. In addition, at the Contracting Officer's request 
at any time, the Architect-Engineer shall remove any Key Personnel or other personnel and 
substitute another employee of the Architect-Engineer or its subcontractors reasonably 
satisfactory to the Contracting Officer. The Contracting Officer may request such substitution at 
any time, in his/her sole discretion. 

 
C. Liquidated Damages. In order to maintain project continuity the District expects that the Architect- 

Engineer will assign the same project managers to all phases of the Project and that such 
personnel will be available to oversee and coordinate the services throughout the Project. 
Accordingly, the Architect-Engineer’s designated Key Personnel shall be subject to liquidated 
damages for their removal or reassignment by the Architect-Engineer. In each instance where the 
Architect-Engineer removes or reassigns one of its Key Personnel (but excluding instances where 
such personnel become unavailable due to death, disability, or separation from the employment 
of the Architect-Engineer or any affiliate of the Architect-Engineer) without the prior written consent 
of the Contracting Officer, the Architect-Engineer shall pay to the District an amount set forth in 
the Contract as liquidated damages and not a penalty, to reimburse the District for its administrative 
costs arising from the Architect-Engineer’s failure to provide the Key Personnel. The foregoing 
liquidated damage amount shall not bar recovery of any other damages, costs or expenses other 
than the District’s internal administrative costs. In addition, the District shall have the right, to be 
exercised in its sole discretion, to remove, replace or to reduce the Scope of Services of the 
Architect-Engineer in the event that a member of the Key Personnel has been removed or replaced 
by the Architect-Engineer without the consent of the District. In the event the District exercises 
the right to remove, replace or to reduce the Scope of Services of the Architect-Engineer, the 
District shall have the right to enforce the terms of the Contract and to keep-in-place those 
members of the Architect-Engineer’s team not removed or replaced and the remaining members 



23 
 

shall complete the services required under the Contract in conjunction with the new members of 
the Architect-Engineer’s team approved by the District. 

 
ARTICLE 15. COMPLIANCE WITH FEDERAL AND DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA LAWS AND 

REGULATIONS 
 

A. Generally. The Architect-Engineer shall at all times exercise the professional skill and care 
required by Section 2.F of these Standard Contract Provisions in observing and complying with all 
laws, codes, regulations, orders and decree set forth by any department, agency or branch of the 
United States District, and the District of Columbia applicable to the services. 

 
B. Equal Opportunity: Non-Discrimination in Employment. During the performance of th e 

Contract the Architect-Engineer shall comply with the provisions of Mayor’s Order 85-85 as 
implemented by Title 4, Chapter 11 – Equal Employment Opportunity Requirements in 
Contracts, 33 DCR 4952 (August 15, 1986). 

 
C. Buy American Act. 

 
1. Agreement—In accordance with the Buy American Act (41 USC l0a-l0d), and Executive 

Order 10582. December 17, 1954 (3 CFR, 1954-58 Comp., p. 230), as amended by 
Executive Order 11051, September 27,1962 (3 CFR, l059—63 Comp., p. 635), the 
Architect-Engineer agrees that only domestic construction material will be used by the 
Architect-Engineer, subcontractors, material men and suppliers in the performance of the 
Contract, except for non-domestic material listed in the Contract. 

 
2. Domestic Construction Material—”Construction material” means any article, material or 

supply brought to the construction site for incorporation in the building or work. An 
unmanufactured construction material is a “domestic construction material” if it has been 
mined or produced in the United States. A manufactured construction material is a “domestic 
construction material” if it has been manufactured in the United States and if the cost of its 
components which have been mined, produced, or manufactured in the United States 
exceeds 50 percent of the cost of all its components. “Component” means any article, 
material, or supply directly incorporated in a construction material. 

 
3. Domestic Component—A component shall be considered to have been “mined, produced, or 

manufactured in the United States” regardless of its source, in fact, if the article, material or 
supply in which it is incorporated was manufactured in the United States and the component 
is of a class or kind determined by the District to be not mined, produced or manufactured in 
the United States in sufficient and reasonably available commercial quantities and of a 
satisfactory quality. 

 
4. Foreign Material – When steel materials are used in a project a minimal use of foreign steel 

is permitted. The cost of such materials cannot exceed on-tenth of one percent of the total 
project cost, or $2,500,000, whichever is greater. 

 
D. Service Contract Act. The Architect-Engineer agrees that the work performed under this 

Contract shall be subject to the Service Contract Act (41 U.S.C. 351 et seq.). The wage rates 
applicable to this Project shall be attached as an exhibit to the Contract. The Architect-Engineer 
further agrees that it and all of its subcontractors shall comply with the regulations implementing 
the Service Contract Act and such regulations are hereby incorporated by reference. 



24 
 

E. False Claims Act. The Architect-Engineer shall be governed by all laws and regulations 
prohibiting false or fraudulent statements and claims made to the government, including the 
prescriptions set forth in District of Columbia Code §22-2405 and §§2-381.01 et seq. 

 
ARTICLE 16.  APPOINTMENT OF ATTORNEY 

 
The Architect-Engineer does hereby irrevocably designate and appoint the Clerk of the Superior Court of 
the District and his successors in office as the true and lawful attorney of the Architect-Engineer for the 
purpose of receiving service of all notices and processes issued by any court in the District, as well as 
service of all pleadings and other papers, in relation to any action or legal proceeding arising out of or 
pertaining to the Contract or the work required or performed hereunder. 

 
The Architect-Engineer expressly agrees that the validity of any service upon the said Clerk as herein 
authorized shall not be affected either by the fact that the Architect-Engineer was personally within the 
District of Columbia and otherwise subject to personal service at the time of such service upon the said 
Clerk or by the fact that the Architect-Engineer failed to receive a copy of such process, notice, pleading 
or other paper so served upon the said Clerk, provided that said Clerk shall have deposited in the United 
States mail, certified and postage prepaid, a copy of such process, notice, pleading or other papers 
addressed to the Architect-Engineer at the address stated in the Contract. 

 
ARTICLE 17.  INDEMNIFICATION 

 
A. Violation of Laws, Regulations, Specifications, and Breach of Contract. If the Architect- 

Engineer violates any laws, regulations, codes or industry standards relating to the Project, the 
Architect-Engineer shall take prompt action to correct or abate such violation and shall indemnify 
and hold the District of Columbia and its officials, officers, agents, and employees, the Department 
and its consultants, representatives, agents, servants and employees harmless against any and 
all claims or liability, damages, fines, penalties, third party claims, suits, awards, actions, causes of 
action or judgments, including but not limited to reasonable attorney's fees and costs incurred 
thereunder, arising from or based on the violation of any such law, code, regulation, codes or 
industry standards, order or decree in performance of the Contract services whether by the 
Architect-Engineer, an employee or agent of the Architect-Engineer, any person, firm or 
corporation employee engaged by the Architect-Engineer or contractually associated with the 
Architect-Engineer in the performance of or in connection with the Services contemplated or 
performed under the Contract.. If the Architect-Engineer breaches the terms of this Contract, 
including the solicitation, letter contract, standard contract provisions, directives, specifications, 
manufacturer’s specifications, and the RFP, the Architect-Engineer shall indemnify and hold the 
Department and its consultants, representatives, agents, servants and employees harmless 
against any damages, fines, penalties, claims, suits, awards, actions, causes of action or 
judgments, including but not limited to reasonable attorney's fees and costs incurred thereunder, 
that result from such breach. 

 
B. Professional Services. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Architect-Engineer shall defend, 

indemnify and hold harmless the Department and the Department’s consultants and agents and 
employees from and against claims, damages, losses and expenses, including but not limited to 
reasonable attorneys’ fees, arising out of or resulting from performance of the services, provided 
that such claim, damage, loss or expense is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease or death, 
or to injury to or destruction of tangible property (other than the Work itself), but only to the extent 
caused by the negligent acts or omissions of the Architect-Engineer, a consultant or subcontractor, 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by them or anyone for whose acts they may be liable, 
regardless of whether or not such claim, damage, loss or expense is caused in part by a party 



25 
 

indemnified hereunder. 
 

C. Non-Professional Services. In addition, other than claims arising out of the performance of 
professional services, the Architect-Engineer shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the 
Department, its representatives, consultants, officers, agents, servants and employees, from and 
against claims, liabilities, demands, losses, damages, judgments, costs, or expenses, including 
reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses recoverable under applicable law, to the extent such 
claims are caused by acts or omissions of the Architect-Engineer, a consultant or subcontractor, 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by them or anyone for whose acts they may be liable, 
regardless of whether or not such claim, damage, loss or expense is caused in part by a party 
indemnified hereunder or arising out of the Contract services, provided that, such claims arise out 
of non-professional services required under the Contract. 

 
D. Third Party Disputes. Disputes between the Architect-Engineer and any subcontractors, 

material suppliers, or any other third parties over payments allegedly owed by the Architect- 
Engineer to a third party shall be resolved exclusively between the Architect-Engineer and the 
third party; the Architect-Engineer shall permit no pass-through suits to be brought against the 
District by a third party in the Architect-Engineer’s name. However, nothing herein shall be 
construed to prevent the Architect-Engineer from paying a subcontractor’s claim and seeking a 
timely equitable adjustment hereunder. 

 
ARTICLE 18. SUBCONTRACTORS AND/OR OUTSIDE ASSOCIATES AND CONSULTANTS 

 
A. Prior Consent Required. Except as otherwise provided in this Section 18 (A), the Architect-Engineer 

shall not delegate or enter into any Subcontracts for the performance of its obligations under the 
Contract, in whole or in part, without on each occasion obtaining the prior written consent of the 
Contracting Officer. Any subcontractors and/or outside associates or consultants required by the 
Architect-Engineer in connection with the Services covered by the Contract shall be limited to such 
individuals or firms as were specifically identified in the Architect-Engineer’s written proposal and 
approved by the District during negotiations. Any proposed changes in such subcontractors, 
associates, or consultants shall be subject to the prior written approval of the Contracting Officer. 

 
B. Requests. The Architect-Engineer shall submit to the Contracting Officer copies of all proposed 

subcontract(s) to be entered into by the Architect-Engineer, along with the Architect-Engineer’s written 
request for the District’s consent. All such subcontracts must specify that: 

 
1. work performed by the subcontractor shall be in accordance with the terms of the Contract; 

 
2. nothing contained in such subcontract shall be construed to impair the rights of the District under 

the Contract; 
 

3. the District’s consent to or approval of any subcontract shall not create any obligation of the 
District to any subcontractor; 

 
4. nothing contained in such subcontract, or under the Contract, shall create any obligation of the 

District to any subcontractor; 
 

5. the District shall be expressly designated a third party beneficiary of the subcontract; 
 

6. upon request by the District (at the District’s sole option) and upon receipt of written notice from 
the District stating that the Contract between the District and the Architect-Engineer has been 



26 
 

terminated, the subcontractor agrees that it will continue to perform its obligations under the 
subcontract for the benefit of the District in accordance with the terms and conditions of the 
Contract, provided the District pays the subcontractor for the services rendered and materials 
provided by the subcontractor from and after the date of the termination of the Contract between 
the District and the Architect-Engineer at the same rate or in the same amount as set forth in the 
subcontract for services and materials after such date of termination; 

 
7. the subcontractor shall be bound by the same requirements as the Architect-Engineer including 

confidentiality, maintenance and preservation of records, and audit by government 
representatives, under the Contract; and 

 
8. the subcontractor agrees (i) to assign and transfer to the District all of its rights to sales and use 

tax which may be refunded as a result of a claim for refund for any materials purchased in 
connection with the subcontract or the Contract, (ii) that, other than as directed by the District, it 
will not file a claim for refund for any sales or use tax which is the subject of this assignment; and 
(iii) that the District, in its own name or in the name of subcontractor, may file a claim for a refund 
of any sales or use tax covered by the assignment. 

 
C. No Relief of Obligations. No permitted subcontract shall relieve the Architect-Engineer of any 

obligation under the Contract. The Architect-Engineer shall be as fully responsible for the acts and 
omissions of its subcontractors or persons either directly or indirectly employed by them, as it is for the 
acts and omissions of the Architect-Engineer or persons directly or indirectly employed by the 
Architect-Engineer. 

 
D. No Effect. Any purported subcontract in violation of this Section or of any other section in the 

Contract shall be of no force and effect. 
 

E. Right to Reject. The District may, in its sole discretion, reject any or all bids and proposals received 
by the Architect-Engineer from any subcontractor for any portion of the services, and may require the 
Architect-Engineer to obtain new or revised bids or proposals or subcontractors. 

 
F. Incorporation by Reference. Any agreement the Architect-Engineer makes with a 

subcontractor, outside associate or consultant shall incorporate specifically or by reference 
thereto, each and every provision of the Contract, these Standard Contract Provisions, the 
Attachment(s) and Appendices hereto, and if applicable, the District’s Standard Contract 
Provisions for Construction Contracts. 

 
ARTICLE 19. WAIVER 

 
No waiver by the District or the Architect-Engineer of any breach of any provision of the Contract 
shall operate as a waiver of such provision or of the Contract or as a waiver of subsequent or other 
breaches of the same or any other provision of the Contract; nor shall any action or non-action by 
the Contracting Officer or by the District or the Architect-Engineer be construed as a waiver of 
any provision of the Contract or of any breach thereof unless the same has been expressly 
declared or recognized as a waiver by the Contracting Officer or the District or the Architect- 
Engineer, as applicable, in writing. 

 
ARTICLE 20. PATENTED AND PROPRIETARY ITEMS 

 
A. Prior Approval Required. The Architect-Engineer shall not, without the prior written approval of 

the Contracting Officer, specify for the Project, or necessarily imply the required use of any article, 
product, material, fixture or form of construction, the use of which is covered by a patent, or which 



27 
 

is otherwise exclusively controlled by a particular firm or group of firms. 
 

B. Indemnity. The Architect-Engineer shall be liable to and hereby agrees to defend, indemnify and 
hold harmless the District against any claim, action cost or judgment against the District for patent 
infringement, trademark violation, copyright violation or infringement of rights in technical data, in 
any systems, graphs, charts, designs, drawings or specifications furnished by the Architect- 
Engineer in the performance of the Contract. 

 
ARTICLE 21. TRANSFER OR ASSIGNMENT OF CONTRACT 

 
A. Prior Consent Required. Unless otherwise provided by law, neither the Contract nor any interest 

therein may be transferred or assigned by the Architect-Engineer to any other party without the 
written consent of the Contracting Officer; and any attempted transfer or assignment not 
authorized by this Article shall constitute a breach of the Contract and the District may for such 
cause terminate the Contract for default and terminate the right of the Architect-Engineer to 
proceed in the same manner as provided in Article 8.B. herein, and the Architect-Engineer shall be 
liable to the District for any excess cost occasioned the District thereby. 

 
B. Monies. The Architect-Engineer shall not assign any right to any monies to be paid under the 

Contract, without on each occasion obtaining the prior written consent of the Contracting Officer. 
In no case shall approval by the District of the assignment of any monies to be paid under the 
Contract relieve the Architect-Engineer from its obligations hereunder or change the remaining 
terms of the Contract. Any purported assignment in violation of this Article shall be of no effect. 

 
C. Applicability in Case of Bankruptcy or Insolvency. A receiver or trustee in any federal or state 

bankruptcy, insolvency or other proceedings shall comply with the requirements set forth in the 
Standard Contract Provisions. 

 
D. Obligation of Architect-Engineer. The Architect-Engineer acknowledges that the Services are 

the obligation of the Architect-Engineer and the District shall have no obligation to accept 
performance by a third party without the Contracting Officer’s prior and express written consent. 

 
E. Failure to Obtain Consent. Failure to obtain the previous written consent of the Contracting 

Officer to such an assignment, transfer or conveyance, shall justify, at the option of the Contracting 
Officer, the revocation and annulment of the Contract. The District shall thereupon be relieved 
and discharged from any further liability and obligation to the Architect-Engineer, his assignees 
or transfers, and the Architect-Engineer and his assignees shall forfeit and lose all monies 
theretofore earned under the Contract, except so much as may be required to pay the Architect- 
Engineer’s employees. 

 
F. Assignment by the District. This Contract may be assigned by the District to any corporation, 

agency or instrumentality of the District having authority to accept such assignment. 
 

ARTICLE 22. QUALIFICATIONS 
 

A. Signatory Authority and Qualifications. The Architect-Engineer hereby warrants that the 
signature or signatures herein before affixed are duly authorized further the Architect-Engineer 
warrants as a true statement any and all statements of qualification with respect to but not limited 
to professional status premises, employees experience and financial standing such as may be 
set forth in documents furnished by the Architect-Engineer or required by the District for the 
purpose of securing the District’s consent to enter into the Contract. Misrepresentation shall be 



28 
 

cause for termination for default of the Contract and such other action as may be appropriate 
including with limitation suspension and debarment and civil or criminal penalties. 

 
B. Good Standing. If the Architect-Engineer is an entity, the Architect-Engineer is either: (1) a not- 

for-profit corporation or other entity determined to be tax exempt pursuant to section 501(c) of the 
Internal Revenue Code by the Internal Revenue Service; or (2) a business corporation, partnership 
or other business entity duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the 
state of its incorporation or organization. The Architect-Engineer shall also be duly licensed, 
qualified and in good standing in the District of Columbia. The Architect-Engineer’s loss of good 
standing is grounds for Termination for Default without liability upon the Department. 

 
C. Authority to Act. The Architect-Engineer has full legal power and authority to enter and perform 

the Contract and provide the Services without resulting in a default under or a breach or violation 
of (1) the Architect-Engineer’s certificate or articles of incorporation or bylaws or other 
organizational documents, if applicable; (2) any applicable law, or any license, permit or other 
instrument or obligation to which the Architect-Engineer is now a party or by which the Architect- 
Engineer may be bound or affected; and (3) the Architect-Engineer’s tax exempt status, if 
applicable. 

 
D. Legal Obligation. The Contract has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the District 

and the Architect-Engineer, by and through persons authorized to execute the Contract on their 
respective behalf, and constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the District and the 
Architect-Engineer, enforceable against the District and the Architect-Engineer in accordance with its 
terms. 

 
E. No Litigation Preventing Performance. There is no litigation, claim, consent order, settlement 

agreement, investigation, challenge or other proceeding pending or threatened against the 
Architect-Engineer, its properties or business, or any individuals acting on the Architect-Engineer's 
behalf, including, without limitation, subcontractors, which seek to enjoin or prohibit the Architect- 
Engineer from entering into or performing its obligations under the Contract. 

 
F. Requisite Licensure and Qualifications. The Architect-Engineer and all of the entities and 

individuals acting on the Architect-Engineer’s behalf, including, without limitation, consultants and 
subcontractors, in connection with the Services under the Contract, possess and, at all times 
during the term of the Contract, shall possess all licenses, certifications, qualifications, or other 
credentials as required in accordance with all applicable laws, regulations and the terms of the 
Contract, to perform the Services. The Architect- Engineer shall provide the District with copies 
of all licenses, credentials, and/or certifications specified in this Section within five (5) days of 
request by the District. 

 
ARTICLE 23.  ARCHITECT-ENGINEER’S WARRANTY AGAINST DEBARMENT 

 
The Architect-Engineer certifies that it is not currently (i) debarred, suspended or excluded, (ii) a party to 
a voluntary exclusion agreement, or (iii) otherwise enjoined from submitting bids or proposals on contracts 
for the type of services covered by the Contract, nor is the Architect-Engineer an agent of any person or 
entity that is currently so debarred, suspended, excluded or otherwise enjoined. 

 
ARTICLE 24.  RECOVERY OF DEBTS OWED THE GOVERNMENT 

 
The Architect-Engineer hereby agrees that the Department may use all or any portion of any payment, 
consideration or refund due the Architect-Engineer under the Contract to satisfy, in whole or part, any 
debt due the District. 



29 
 

ARTICLE 25.  ADMINISTRATIVE LIQUIDATED DAMAGES 
 

In addition to any other liquidated damages provided for in the Contract, the Architect-Engineer hereby 
agrees that the Government may assess administrative liquidated damages for the Architect-Engineer’s 
failure to submit when due any deliverable required by the Contract. Unless otherwise prescribed by the 
Contracting Officer, the rate of the administrative liquidated damages shall be $250 per day until the 
required deliverable is received and accepted by the Department. The Department’s remedies for failure 
to comply with the Contract terms and conditions are cumulative and not exclusive. Nothing herein shall be 
construed to limit the Department’s ability to terminate the Architect-Engineer for the failure to submit 
Contract deliverables when due. 

 
ARTICLE 26.  FORCE MAJEURE 

 
If the Architect-Engineer, because of Force Majeure, is rendered wholly or partly unable to perform its 
obligations when due under this Contract, the Architect-Engineer may be excused from whatever 
performance is affected by the Force Majeure to the extent so affected. In order to be excused from its 
performance obligations under this Contract by reason of Force Majeure, within 72 hours of the occurrence 
or event, the Architect-Engineer must provide the Contracting Officer written notice of its inability to perform 
as well as a description of the Force Majeure and its effect on Contract performance. The Contracting Officer 
will have the right to cause the inspection of the work site to determine the validity of the Architect-Engineer’s 
assertion of its inability to perform. If the Contracting Officer agrees that the Architect-Engineer is wholly or 
partly unable to perform its obligations under the Contract a decision will be issued indicating the extent to 
which the Architect-Engineer is excused from its performance obligations. In no event will the Contractor 
be entitled to money damages from the Department due to Force Majeure. 



Attachment J.4

Government of the District of Columbia Standard Contract Provisions for Use
with Specifications for District of Columbia Government Construction Projects (Revised March) 

2011)



Page 1 

Government of the District of Columbia 
 

STANDARD CONTRACT 
PROVISIONS 

 
 

For Use With 
Specifications for 

District of Columbia Government 
Construction Projects 
(Revised March 2011) 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PLEASE RETAIN FOR YOUR REFERENCE 
 



Page 2 

 INDEX 
 

INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS         
 

   PAGE 
Qualification of Bidders …………………………………………………………………………… .......... 5  

Bid Documents …………………………………………………………………………………… .... …….5 

 Examination of Bid ………………………………………………………………….…..…………… .. …5  

 Preparation for Bids…………………………………………………………………… .................. …….5 

 Error in Bids …………………………………………………………………………… ... ……………..…5 

 Labor and Material Not Furnished by District ……………………………………… .. ………………..5 

 Addenda and Interpretations ………………………………………………………… .. ………………..6 

Alternate Bids …………………………………………………………………………… .... ……………...6 

Bids for All or Part ……………………………………………………………………… .... ………………6 

Price Schedule Interpretation ………………………………………………………… .... ………………6 

 Corrections …… ... ……………………………………………………………………...…………………6 

 Bond Requirements………………………………………………………............ ………………………6 

A. Bid Guaranty …………………….….……………………………………………… ................ ………6 

B. Performance Bond ……………….………….…………………………………..… ................. ……...7 

C. Payment Bond ……………………..…………………………………………… ................ ………….7 

D. Bond Source ……………………………………………………………………… ................ ………..7 

Signature to Bids…………………………………………………………………………………… ......... .7  

Marking and Mailing Bids .……………………………………………………………………………. .... .8 

Receiving Bids, Modifications or Withdrawals .………………………………………………… ........... 8 

Withdrawal of Bids …….……….………………………………………………………………… ........... .8 

Opening of Bids ………..…………………………………………………………………………… ... …..8 

Award or Rejection………..……………………………………………………………………… .... …….8 

Cancellation of Award…………………………………………………………………………… .... ……..9 

Contract and Bond ……………………………………………………………………………… ..... ……..9 

 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Definitions ………………………………………………………………………………………………10 

 Specifications and Drawings …………………………………………………………………………10 

Changes ………………………………………………………………………………………………..11 

A. Designated Change Orders …………………………………..……………………….11 

B. Other Change Orders ………………………………………………………………….11 

C. General Requirements ………………………………………………………………...11 

D. Change Order Breakdown …………………………………………………………….11 

EQUITABLE ADJUSTMENT OF CONTRACT TERMS      

Differing Site Conditions ……………………………………………………………………………..12 

Suspension of Work   …………………………………………………………………………………13 



Page 3 

 

INDEX (Continued) 
  

PAGE 
Significant Changes in Character of Work   ……………………………… ... ………………………...13 

Termination-Delays……..………………………………………………... ... ....………………………...14 

Termination for Convenience...………………………………………… ... ………………………….…15 

Disputes…………….. …...……………………………………………… .... ………………………....….19 

Payments to Contractor..…………..…………………………………… ... …………………………….21 

Transfer or Assignment...……………………………………… .... ……………………………21 

Material and Workmanship. …………………………………… .... …………………………...21 

Surplus Material Use…………….……………………………… .... …………………………..22 

District Material………………………………………………… .... …………………………….22 

Plant……………………… …………………………………… .... ……………………………..22 

Capability of Workers……………….. ……………………… .... ……………………………...22 

Conformity of Work and Materials……..…………………………………… .... ……………...23 

Unauthorized Work and Materials…………………………………………… .... …………….23 

Inspection and Acceptance ………………………………………………………… ... …………….….23 

Superintendence by Contractor …………………………………………………… ... ………………...24 

Permits and Responsibilities ……………………………………………………… ... ………………....24 

Indemnification …………………………………………………………………… ... ……………….…..24 

Protection Against Trespass ……...………..……………………………… ... …...……………………24 

Conditions Affecting the Work …………………………………………… ...... ………………………..24 

A. General ……………………………………………… .... ……………………………………24 

B. Work and Storage Space ………………………………………… .... ……………………..24 

C. Work on Sundays, Legal Holidays and at Night …………… .... …………………………24 

 D. Existing Features ……………………………….... …………………………………………24 

E. Utilities and Vaults …………………………………… .... …………………………………..25 

F. Site Maintenance …………………………………… .... ……………………………………25 

 G. Private Work ……………………………………… ....………………………………………25 

H. District of Columbia Noise Control Act of 1977.………… ….………………………….25 

Other Contracts ….……………………………………………………… .. ……………………………..25 

Patent Indemnity. ………………………………………………………… ... ……………………………26 

Additional Bond Security .………………………………………………… ... …………………………..26 

Covenant Against Contingency Fees. …………………………………… ... ………………………….26 

Appointment of Attorney.. ………………………………………………… ... …………………………..26 

District Employees Not to Benefit...……………………………………… ... …………………………..26 

Waiver...……………………………………………………………………… .... …………………………27 

Buy American.. ……………………………………………………………… ... …………………………27 
A. Agreement…………………………………………… .... ……………………………………27 
B. Domestic Construction Material ……………………… ... …………………………………27 
C. Domestic Component ………………………………… ... ………………………………….27 



Page 4 

D. Foreign Material……………… .......... ………………………………………………………27 

 

Taxes  
A. Federal Excise Taxes …… ... ……………………………………………………………….27 
B. Sales and Use Taxes ……………………………………………… .. ……………………..27 

Suspension of Work ..... …………………………………………………………………………………..28 

Safety Program………………… . ………………………………………………………………………..28 

             A. General  ...... …………………………………………………………………………………..28 

             B. Contractor‘s Program Submission ... ……………………………………………………….29 

Retention of Records …………… .... ……………………………………………………………………29 

Recovery of Debts Owed the District   ………………………………………………………………29 

 

LABOR PROVISIONS Davis-Bacon Act….…………………………………………………… ………30 

Minimum Wages …………………… .. ………………………………………………………….............30 

B. Withholding …………………………………………………………………………… .. …...30 

C. Payroll and Basic Records ……………………………………………………… ............... ……….30 

Convict Labor  ..................................................................... ………………………………………….31 

Apprentices and Trainees .  ……………………………………………………………………………...31 

A. Apprentices ……………………………… .... ………………………………………………..31 

B. Trainees …………………………………… ... ………………………………………………31 

C. Requirements……………………………… ... ………………………………………………31 

Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act  . …………………………………………………….32 

A. Overtime Basis …………………… .... ………………………………………………………32 

B. Liability for Unpaid Wages ……… .... ………………………………………………………33 

C. Disputes ………………………… .... ………………..……………………………………….33 

D. Violation Penalty ……………… ... ………………………………………………………….34 

E. Health and Safety Standards … ....... ………………………………………………………34 

Copeland Act — . ………………………………………………………………………………………….34 

A. Definition ………………… .... ………………………………………………………………..34 

B. Weekly Compliance Statement … .... ………………………………………………………34 

C. Payrolls and Records ……………………… ... …………………………………………….34 

D. Payroll Deductions Not Subject to Secretary of Labor Approval … ....…………………35 

E. Payroll Deductions Subject to Secretary of Labor Approval ……… .... ………………...36 

F. Applications for Secretary of Labor Approval …………………… .... ……………………36 

G. Action by Secretary of Labor Upon Applications ……………… .... ……………………..36 

H. Prohibited Payroll Deductions ………………………………… .... ……………………….36 

I. Methods of Payment of Wages ………………………………… ..... ………………………37 

Non-segregated Facilities — Termination and Debarment ……………… .. ………………………..37 

 
Form - Weekly Statement of Compliance………………………………. .... ..………………………...38 

 
Form – Fringe Benefits Statement ………………………………… .... …………………………….…39 

 



Page 5 

INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 
(Construction) 

 
ARTICLE 1. QUALIFICATIONS OF BIDDERS—Bidders shall have the capability to perform 
classes of work contemplated, have the necessary plant and sufficient capital to execute the work 
properly within specified time. 
 
Any Bidder who has not performed comparable work for the District within the last 5 years shall 
submit, at the Contracting Officer‘s discretion, a certified statement of his organization, plant, 
manpower, financial resources, and construction experience that he considers will qualify him for 
proposed contract. This information shall be certified by a Certified Public Accountant for 
contracts over $25,000 and submitted on the AGC Form ―Standard Questionnaires and Financial 
Statement for Bidders‖, obtainable from the Associated General Contractors of America, Inc.., at 
1957 ―B‖ Street, N. W., Washington, D. C., 20008, or on an approved equivalent form. This 
requirement is not needed if the bidder has submitted such a statement to the District within a 
year prior to bid opening date, but will be required if bidder has previously submitted such a 
statement under-one company name or organization or joint venture and is now bidding under 
another company name or organization or joint venture. A certified statement of prequalification 
approval by another jurisdiction may be considered as an alternative to foregoing procedure. A 
bidder shall submit a supplemental statement if requested by the District. 
 
ARTICLE 2. BID DOCUMENTS—The Specifications (including all documents referenced therein 
and all documents attached thereto), drawings and addenda which form the basis of any bid shall 
be considered as part thereof and will form part of the bid. Copies of these documents will be 
furnished to or made available for the inspection of prospective bidders by that office indicated in 
the advertisement or invitation. 
 
ARTICLE 3. EXAMINATION OF BID DOCUMENTS AND SITE OF WORK—Each Bidder shall 
carefully examine the site of the proposed work and the bid documents and fully acquaint himself 
with conditions relating to construction and labor so that he may fully understand the facilities, 
difficulties and restrictions attending the execution of the work under the bid documents, and he 
shall judge for and satisfy himself as to conditions to be encountered affecting the character, 
quality and quantity of the work to be performed and materials to be furnished arid to the 
requirements of the bid documents. Failure to do so will be at the Bidder‘s own risk and shall not 
relieve him from any obligation under his bid or contract. 
 
ARTICLE 4. PREPARATION FOR BIDS—The bid form furnished in the bid proposal and 
specifications shall be used in strict compliance with the requirements of the Invitation and 
Supplemental Instructions to Bidders in the specifications. Special care shall be exercised in the 
preparation of bids. Bidders must make their own estimates of the facilities and difficulties to be 
anticipated upon execution of the contract, including local conditions, uncertainty of weather and 
all other contingencies. All designations and prices shall be fully and clearly set forth in the bid 
submission. ALL PRICES SHALL BE INSERTED IN FIGURES TYPED OR PRINTED LEGIBLY 
ON THE BID FORM. All corrections on the bid documents must be initialed by the person signing 
the bid form. 
 
ARTICLE 5. ERROR IN BIDS—Bidders or their authorized agents are expected to examine all 
bid documents and any addenda thereto, and all other instructions pertaining to the work which 
will be open to their inspection. Failure to do so will be at the bidder‘s own risk, and will not 
constitute reason for relief on plea of error in the bid. IN CASE OF ERROR IN THE EXTENSION 
OF PRICES IN THE BID, UNIT PRICES WILL GOVERN. 
 
The bidder must submit his plea of error in writing to the Contracting Officer and must be 
prepared to document and prove his error. 
 
ARTICLE 6. LABOR AND MATERIAL NOT FURNISHED BY DISTRICT—The District will not 
furnish any labor, material or supplies unless a provision to do so is included in the contract 
documents. 
 



Page 6 

ARTICLE 7. ADDENDA AND INTERPRETATIONS—No oral interpretations of the meaning of 
the drawings, specifications or other bid documents will be made to any bidder. Verbal 
clarification will not be binding on the District. All requests must be in writing and addressed to the 
Contracting Officer responsible for administering the contract. Requests for interpretations of bid 
documents must be received by the Contracting Officer not later than 10 days prior to bid opening 
date. All changes to the bid documents will be made by addenda mailed to all prospective 
bidders, who have obtained copies of the bid documents, not later than 7 days before bid opening 
date. In case of discrepancy among addenda, a later dated addendum has priority over earlier 
dated addenda. It shall be the bidder‘s responsibility to make inquiry as to any or all addenda 
issued, and failure of any prospective bidder to receive any such addenda issued by the 
Contracting Officer shall not relieve the bidder from any obligation under his bid as submitted. 
Bidders must acknowledge receipt of all addenda on the Bid Form; failure to do so may result in 
rejection of bid.. All addenda issued shall become part of the bid and contract documents. - 
 
ARTICLE 8. ALTERNATE BIDS—Alternate bids will not be considered unless called for in the 
Bid Form. 
 
ARTICLE 9. BIDS FOR ALL OR PART—Where bids are not qualified by specific limitations, the 
District reserves the right to award all or any of the items according to its best interests. 
 
ARTICLE 10. PRICE SCHEDULE INTERPRETATION—Quantities appearing in the Price 
Schedule are approximate only and are prepared for the comparison of bids. Payment will be 
made only for actual material requirements accepted and for work performed and accepted. 
Schedule quantities may be increased., decreased or omitted and there shall be no adjustment in 
contract unit prices except as provided, and except for such materials actually purchased or work 
actually performed prior to notification of the change in items affected. 
 
The price for any item, unless otherwise specified, shall include full compensation for all 
materials, tests, samples, manufacturers‘ guaranties, tools, equipment, labor and incidental work 
needed to complete specified items. Prices without exception shall be net, not subject to discount, 
and shall include all royalties and costs arising from patents, proprietary items, trademarks and 
copyrights. 
 
ARTICLE 11. CORRECTIONS—Erasures and other changes in bids must be explained or noted 
over the signature of the bidder. 
 
ARTICLE 12. BOND REQUIREMENTS 
 

A. BID GUARANTY—On all bids of $100,000.00 or more, security is required to insure 
the execution of the contract. No bid will be considered unless it is so guaranteed. 
Each bidder must furnish with his bid either a Bid Bond (Form No. DC 2640-5), with 
good and sufficient sureties, a certified check payable to the order of the Treasurer of 
the District of Columbia (uncertified check will not be accepted), negotiable United 
States bonds (at par value), or an irrevocable letter of credit in an amount not less 
than five percent (5%) of the amount of his bid, as a guaranty that he Will not 
withdraw said bid within the period specified therein after the opening of the same; or, 
if no period be specified, within ninety (90) days after said opening, and will, within 
the period specified therefore, or, if no period be specified, within ten (10) days, after 
the prescribed forms are forwarded to him for execution (or within any extension of 
time which may be granted by the officer to whom the bid was addressed) execute 
and deliver a written contract on the standard District form in accordance with bid as 
accepted and give bond with good and sufficient sureties, as specified below for the 
faithful performance and proper fulfillment of such contract and payment of laborers 
and material men as required by law or, in the event of the withdrawal of said bid 
within the period above stated, or the failure to enter into such contract and give such 
bond within the time above stated, that he will pay to the District the difference 
between the amount specified in said bid and the amount for which the District may 
procure the required work, if the latter amount be in excess of the former. 

           
In case security is in the form of a certified check or United States bonds, the District 
may make such disposition of the same as will accomplish the purpose for which 



Page 7 

submitted. Certified checks may be held uncollected at the bidder‘s risk. Certified 
checks and United States bonds will be returned to the unsuccessful bidders after 
award of contract and to successful bidders after the signing of prescribed forms of 
contract and bonds. Guaranty bonds will be returned only upon written application. 

 
B. PERFORMANCE BOND—For any construction contract exceeding $100,000.00, a 

Performance Bond (Form No. DC 2640-7) shall be required in a penal amount equal 
to one hundred percent (100%) of the contract price at time of award.  Additional 
performance bond protection shall be required in connection with any modification 
effecting an increase in price under any contract for which a bond is required 
pursuant to the above if: 

 
1. The modification is for new or additional work which is beyond the scope of the 

existing contract; or, 
 
2. The modification is pursuant to an existing provision of the contract and is 

expected to increase the contract price by $50,000 or twenty-five percent (25%) 
of the original total contract price, whichever is less. 
 
The penal amount of the bond protection shall be increased so that the total 
performance bond protection is one hundred percent (100%) of the contract price 
as revised by both the modification requiring such additional protection and the 
aggregate of any previous modification. The increased penal amount may be 
secured either by increasing the bond protection provided by existing surety or 
sureties or by obtaining an additional performance bond from a new surety.  

 
 

C.  PAYMENT BOND— In accordance with the provisions of Section 504(b) of the 
District of Columbia Procurement Practices Act of 1985, payment bonds shall be 
required in an amount not less than fifty percent (50%) of the total amount payable by 
the terms of the contract.  

 
Additional payment protection shall be required in connection with any notification  
effecting an increase in price under any contract for which a bond is required 
pursuant to the above if — 

 
1. The modification is for new or additional work which is beyond the scope of the 

existing contract; or 
 

2. The modification is pursuant to an existing provision of the contract and is 
expected to increase the contract price by $50,000 or twenty-five percent (25%) 
of the original total contract price, whichever is less. 

 
The penal amount of the additional bond protection shall generally be such that the 
total payment bond protection is fifty percent (50%) of the contract price as revised by 
both the modification requiring such additional protection, and the aggregate of any 
previous modifications. The additional protection may be secured either by increasing 
the bond protection provided by the existing surety or sureties or by obtaining an 
additional payment bond from a new surety. 

 
D.  BOND SOURCE—The bonds may be obtained from any surety company authorized 

by the U.S. Treasury Department as acceptable sureties on Federal Bonds and 
authorized to transact business in the District of Columbia by the Director, 
Department of Insurance, Securities and Banking. 

 
 
ARTICLE 13. SIGNATURE TO BIDS—Each bid must show the full business address of the 
bidder and be signed by him with his usual signature. Bids by partnerships must be signed with 
the partnership name by one of the members of the partnership or by an authorized 
representative, followed by the signature and designation of the person signing. Bids by 
corporations must be signed with the name of the corporation, followed by the signature and 



Page 8 

designation of the President or Vice President and attested by the Secretary of the corporation or 
other persons authorized to bind the corporation and the corporate seal affixed thereto. If bid is 
signed by other than the President or Vice President, evidence of authority to so sign must be 
furnished in the form of an extract of minutes. of a meeting of the Board of Directors or extract of 
bylaws certified by the Corporate Secretary and corporate seal affixed thereto. The names of all 
persons signing shall be typed or printed below the signatures. A bid by a person who affixes to 
his signature the word ―President‖, ―Vice President‖, ―Secretary‖, ―Agent‖, or other designation, 
without disclosing his principal, may be held personally to the bid. Bids submitted by a joint 
venture must be signed by all authorized parties to the joint venture. 
 
ARTICLE 14. MARKING AND MAILING BIDS—Bids, addenda acknowledgment, and bid 
guaranty must be securely sealed in suitable envelopes, addressed and marked on the outside 
with the name of the bidder, invitation number and date of opening. 
 
ARTICLE 15. RECEIVING BIDS, MODIFICATIONS OR WITHDRAWALS—Bids received prior to 
the time set for opening will be securely kept unopened. The officer whose duty it is to open them 
will decide when the specified time has arrived and no bid received thereafter will be considered 
unless: (1) they are sent by registered mail or by certified mail for which an official dated post 
office stamp (postmark) on the original Receipt for Certified Mail has been obtained and it is 
determined by the District that the late receipt was due solely to delay in the mails for which the 
bidder was not responsible; or (2) if submitted by mail (or by telegram if authorized by the 
Contracting Officer), it is determined by the District that the late receipt was due solely to 
mishandling by the District after receipt at the District agency: Provided, that timely receipt. at 
such agency is established upon examination of an appropriate date or time stamp or other 
documentary evidence of receipt within the control of such agency. 
 
Bidders using certified mail are cautioned to obtain a receipt for certified mail showing legible, 
dated postmark and to retain such receipt against the chance that it will be required as evidence 
that a late bid was timely mailed. The only evidence acceptable in this matter is as follows: (1) 
where the Receipt of Certified Mail identifies the post office station of mailing, evidence furnished 
by the bidder which establishes, that the business day of the station ended at an earlier time, in 
which case the time of mailing shall be deemed to be last minute of the business day; or (2) an 
entry in ink on the Receipt for Certified Mail showing the time of mailing and the initials of postal 
employee receiving the item and making the entry, with appropriate written verification of such 
entry from the post office station of mailing, in which case the time of mailing, shall be the time 
shown in the entry. If the postmark on the original Receipt for Certified Mail does not show a date, 
the bid shall not be considered. 
 
The time of mailing of late bids submitted by registered or certified mail shall be deemed to be the 
last minute of the date shown in the postmark on the registered mail receipt or registered mail 
wrapper or on the Receipt for Certified Mail unless the bidder furnishes evidence from the post 
office station of mailing which establishes an earlier time. 
 
No responsibility will attach to the District or any of its officers or employees for the premature 
opening of a bid not properly addressed and identified. Unless specifically authorized, telegraphic 
bids will not be considered, but modifications, by telegram, of bids already submitted will be 
considered if received prior to the hour set for opening, but should not reveal the amount of the 
original or revised bid. 
 
ARTICLE 16. WITHDRAWAL OF BIDS—Bids may be withdrawn on written or telegraphic 
request received from bidders prior to the time fixed for opening, provided the name of the bidder 
appears on the outside of the envelope containing the bid. Negligence on the part of the bidder in 
preparing the bid confers no right for the withdrawal of the bid after it has been opened. 
 
ARTICLE 17. OPENING OF BIDS—At the time fixed for the opening of bids, their contents will be 
made public by the Office of Contracting and Procurement for the information of bidders and 
other properly interested persons. 
 
ARTICLE 18. AWARD OR REJECTION—The Contract will be awarded to the lowest responsible 
Bidder complying with conditions of the bid documents, provided his bid is reasonable and it is in 
the best interest of the District to accept it. The Bidder, to whom award is made, will be notified by 



Page 9 

the Contracting Officer at the earliest possible date. The District, however, reserves the right to 
reject any and all bids and to waive any informality in bids received whenever such rejection or 
waiver is in the best interest of the District. 
 
If more than one bid be offered by any one party, by or in the name of his or their clerk, partner, 
or other person, all such bids may be rejected. This shall not prevent a Bidder from proceeding 
under Article 8 hereof, nor from quoting different prices on different qualities of material or 
different conditions of delivery. A supplier or material man who has quoted prices on materials to 
a Bidder is not thereby disqualified from quoting to other bidders or from submitting a bid directly 
for the materials or work. 
 
Each Bidder shall submit a bid on all items in the Price Schedule; failure to bid on all items may 
result in bid rejection. 
 
In addition to requirements for qualification of bidders as set forth in Article 1 hereof, and as 
determined by the District, proposals will be considered irregular and may be rejected by the 
Contracting Officer for any of, but not limited to, the following reasons: 

 
A. Incompetency, inadequate plant or insufficient capital as revealed by Bidder‘s 

statement on AGC or equivalent form. 
 
B. Evidence of collusion. 

 
C. Uncompleted work which might hinder or prevent proper and prompt execution and   

                  completion of work contemplated. 
 

D. Evidence that Bidder has not adequately considered all aspects of contemplated 
work. 

 
E. Failure to settle bills satisfactorily, claims and judgments due for labor and material 

on  Bidder‘s contracts in force on bid opening date. 
 

F. Default under previous contracts. 
 

G. Unacceptable rating as listed on published government lists. 
 

H. Proposal submission on form other than that form furnished by District, or altered or 
partially detached form. 

 
I. Unauthorized additions, deletions, omissions, conditional bids, or irregularities which 

may make proposal incomplete or ambiguous in meaning. 
 

J. Failure to acknowledge all addenda issued. 
 

K. Failure to submit bid in the properly labeled receptacle at that location designated as 
the Office of Contracting and Procurement, Bid Room, Suite 700, 441 4th St., N.W.,  
Washington, D.C. 20001 and prior to the time set for opening as governed  by the 
Official Clock designated as such in that Bid Room. 

 
ARTICLE 19. CANCELLATION OF AWARDS—The right is reserved to the District, without any 
liability upon the District, to cancel the award of any contract at any time prior to approval of a 
formal written contract signed by the Contractor and the Contracting Officer. 
 
ARTICLE 20. CONTRACT AND BOND—The Bidder to whom award is made must, when 
required, enter into a written contract on the standard District form, with satisfactory security in 
the amount required (see Article 12) within the period specified, or no period be specified, within  
10 days alter the prescribed forms are presented to him for signature. 



Page 10 

 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 
(Construction Contract) 

ARTICLE 1. DEFINITIONS 
 

A. ―District‖ as used herein means the District of Columbia, a municipal corporation. 
 
B. ―Mayor‖ as used herein means the elected head of the District as set forth in Public Law 

93-198 dated December 24, 1973, Title 4, Part B, Section 422(1). 
 

C. ―Contracting Officer‖ as used herein means the District official authorized to  
execute and administrate the Contract on behalf of the District. 

 
D. ―Contract Documents‖ or ―Contract‖ as. used herein means Addenda, Contract Form,  

Instructions to Bidders, General Provisions, Labor Provisions, Performance and Payment 
Bonds, Specifications, Special Provisions, Contract Drawings, approved written Change 
Orders and Agreements required to acceptably complete the Contract, including 
authorized extensions thereof. 

 
ARTICLE 2. SPECIFICATIONS AND DRAWINGS—The Contractor shall keep on the work site a 
copy of Contract drawings and specifications and shall at all times give the Contracting Officer 
access thereto. Anything mentioned in the specifications and not shown on the Contract 
drawings, or shown on the Contract drawings and not mentioned in the specifications, shall be of 
like effect as if shown or mentioned in both. 
 
All Contract requirements are equally binding. Each Contract requirement, whether or not omitted 
elsewhere in the Contract, is binding as though occurring in any or all parts of the Contract. In 
case of discrepancy: 
 

1. The Contracting Officer shall be promptly notified in writing of any error, 
discrepancy or omission, apparent or otherwise. 

 
2. Applicable Federal and D. C. Code requirements have priority over: the Contract 

form, General Provisions,  Change Orders, Addenda, Contract drawings, Special 
Provisions and Specifications. 

 
3. The Contract form, General Provisions and Labor Provisions have priority over: 

Change Orders, Addenda, Contract drawings, Special Provisions and 
Specifications. 

 
4. Change Orders have priority over: Addenda, Contract drawings and 

Specifications. 
 

5. Addenda have priority over: Contract drawings, Special Provisions and 
Specifications. A later dated Addendum has priority over earlier dated Addenda. 

 
6. Special Provisions have priority over: Contract drawings and other specifications. 

 
7. Shown and indicated dimensions have priority over scaled dimensions. 

 
8. Original scale drawings and details have priority over any other different scale 

drawings and details. 
 

9. Large scale drawings and details have priority over small scale drawings and 
details.   

 
10. Any adjustment by the Contractor without a prior determination by the 

Contracting Officer shall be at his own risk and expense. The Contracting Officer 
will furnish from time to time such detail drawings and other information as he 
may consider necessary, unless otherwise provided. 

 



Page 11 

 
ARTICLE 3. CHANGES 
 

A. DESIGNATED CHANGE ORDERS—The Contracting Officer may, at any time, without 
notice to the sureties, by written order designated or indicated to be a change order, 
make any change in the work within the general scope of the Contract, including but not 
limited to changes 

 
1. In the Contract drawings and specifications; 

 
2. In the method or manner of performance of the work; 

 
3. In the District furnished facilities, equipment, materials or services; or 

 
4. Directing acceleration in the performance of the work. 

 
Nothing provided in this Article shall excuse the Contractor from proceeding with the 
prosecution of the work so changed.  

 
B. OTHER CHANGE ORDERS—Any other written order or an oral order (which term as 

used in this Section (B) shall include direction, instruction, interpretation, or 
determination) from the Contracting Officer which causes any such change, shall be 
treated as a Change Order under this Article, provided that the Contractor gives the 
Contracting Officer written notice stating the date, circumstances and sources of the 
order and that the Contractor regards the order as a Change Order. 

 
C. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS—Except as herein provided, no order, statement or 

conduct of the Contracting Officer shall be treated as a change under this Article or 
entitle the Contractor to an equitable adjustment hereunder. If any change under this 
Article causes an increase or decrease in the Contract‘s cost of, or the time required for, 
the performance of any part of the work under this Contract whether or not changed by 
any order, an equitable adjustment shall be made and the Contract modified in writing 
accordingly; provided, however, that except for claims based on defective specifications, 
no claim for any change under (B) above shall be allowed for any cost incurred more 
than 20 days before the Contractor gives written notice as therein required unless this 20 
days is extended by the Contracting Officer and provided further, that in case of defective 
drawings and specifications, the equitable adjustment shall include any increased cost 
reasonably incurred by the Contractor in attempting to comply with such defective 
drawings and specifications. 

 
If the Contractor intends to assert a claim for an equitable adjustment under this Article, 
he must, within 30 days after receipt of a written Change Order under (A) above or the 
furnishing of a written notice under (B) above, submit to the Contracting Officer a written 
statement setting forth the general nature and monetary extent of such claim, unless this 
period is extended by the Contracting Officer. The statement of claim hereunder may be 
included in the notice under (B) above. 

 
No claim by the Contractor for an equitable adjustment hereunder shall be allowed if 
asserted after final payment under the Contract. 

 
D. CHANGE ORDER BREAKDOWN—Contract prices shall be used for Change Order 

work where work is of similar nature; no other costs, overhead or profit will be allowed.   
 

Where Contract prices are not appropriate and the nature of the change is known in 
advance of construction, the parties shall attempt to agree on a fully justifiable price 
adjustment and/or adjustment of completion time. 

 
When Contract prices are not appropriate, or the parties fail to agree on equitable 
adjustment, or in processing claims, equitable adjustment for Change Order work shall be 
per this Article and Article 4 and shall be based upon the breakdown shown in following 



Page 12 

subsections 1. through 7. The Contractor shall assemble a complete cost breakdown that 
lists and substantiates each item of work and each item of cost. 

 
1. Labor—Payment will be made for direct labor cost plus indirect labor cost such 

as insurance, taxes, fringe benefits and welfare provided such costs are 
considered reasonable. Indirect costs shall be itemized and verified by receipted 
invoices. If verification is not possible, up to 18 percent of direct labor costs may 
be allowed. In addition, up to 20 percent of direct plus indirect labor costs may be 
allowed for overhead and profit. 

 
2. Bond—Payment for additional bond cost will be made per bond rate schedule 

submitted to the Office of Contracting and Procurement with the executed 
Contract. 

 
3. Materials—Payment for cost of required materials will be F.O.B. destination (the 

job site) with an allowance for overhead and profit. 
 

4. Rented Equipment—Payment for required equipment rented from an outside 
company that is neither an affiliate of, nor a subsidiary of, the Contractor will be 
based on receipted invoices which shall not exceed rates given in the current 
edition of the Rental Rate Blue Book for Construction Equipment published by 
Data Quest.   If actual rental rates exceed manual rates, written justification shall 
be furnished to the Contracting Officer for consideration. No additional allowance 
will be made for overhead and profit. The Contractor shall submit written 
certification to the Contracting Officer that any required rented equipment is 
neither owned by nor rented from the Contractor or an affiliate of or subsidiary of 
the Contractor. 

 
5. Contractor’s Equipment— Payment for required equipment owned by the 

Contractor or an affiliate of the Contractor will be based solely on an hourly rate 
derived by dividing the current appropriate monthly rate by 176 hours. No 
payment will be made under any circumstances for repair costs, freight and 
transportation charges, fuel, lubricants, insurance, any other costs and expenses, 
or overhead and profit. Payment for such equipment made idle by delays 
attributable to the District will be based on one-half the derived hourly rate under 
this subsection. 

 
6. Miscellaneous—No additional allowance will be made for general 

superintendence, use of small tools and other costs for which no specific 
allowance is herein provided. 

 
7. Subcontract Work—Payment for additional necessary subcontract work will be 

based on applicable procedures in 1. through 6., to which total additional 
subcontract work up to an additional 10 percent may be allowed for the 
Contractor‘s overhead and profit.  

 
ARTICLE 4. EQUITABLE ADJUSTMENT OF CONTRACT TERMS 
 
The Contractor is entitled to an equitable adjustment of the contract terms whenever the following 
situations develop: 
 
Differing Site Conditions: 
 

(1) During the progress of the work, if subsurface or latent physical conditions are 
encountered at the site differing materially from those indicated in the contract or 
if unknown physical conditions of an unusual nature, differing materially from 
those ordinarily encountered and generally recognized as inherent in the work 
provided for in the contract, are encountered at the site, the Contractor, upon 
discovering such conditions, shall promptly notify the Contracting Officer in 
writing of the specific differing conditions before they are disturbed and before 
the affected work is performed. 



Page 13 

 
(2) Upon written notification, the Contracting Officer will investigate the conditions, 

and if he/she determines that the conditions materially differ and cause an 
increase or decrease in the cost or time required for the performance of any work 
under the contract, an adjustment, excluding loss of anticipated profits, will be 
made and the contract modified in writing accordingly.  The Contracting Officer 
will notify the Contractor of his/her determination whether or not an adjustment of 
the contract is warranted. 

 
(3) No contract adjustment which results in a benefit to the Contract will be allowed 

unless the Contractor has provided the required written notice. 
 

(4) No contract adjustment will be allowed under this clause for any effects caused 
on unchanged work. 

 
Suspension of Work Ordered by the Contracting Officer: 
 

(1) If the performance of all or any portion of the work is suspended or delayed by 
the Contracting Officer in writing for an unreasonable period of time (not originally 
anticipated, customary, or inherent to the construction industry) and the 
Contractor believes that additional compensation and/or contract time is due as a 
result of such suspension or delay, the Contractor shall submit to the Contracting 
Officer in writing a request for equitable adjustment within seven (7) calendar 
days of receipt of the notice to resume work.  The request shall set forth the 
reasons and support for such adjustment. 

 
(2) Upon receipt, the Contracting Officer will evaluate the Contractor‘s request.  If the 

Contracting Officer agrees that the cost and/or time required for the performance 
of the contract has increased as a result of such suspension and the suspension 
was caused by conditions beyond the control or and not the fault of the 
contractor, its suppliers, or subcontractors at any approved tier, and not caused 
by weather, the Contracting Officer will make an adjustment (excluding profit) 
and modify the contract in writing accordingly.  The Contracting Officer will notify 
the Contract of his/her determination whether or not an adjustment of the 
contract is warranted. 

 
(3) No contract adjustment will be allowed unless the Contractor has submitted the 

request for adjustment within the time prescribed. 
 

(4) No contract adjustment will be allowed under this clause to the extent that 
performance would have been suspended or delayed by any other cause, or for 
which an adjustment is provided for or excluded under any other term of 
condition of this contract. 

 
Significant Changes in the Character of Work: 
 

(1) The Contracting Officer reserves the right to make, in writing, at any time during 
the work, such changes in quantities and such alterations in the work as are 
necessary to satisfactorily complete the project.  Such changes in quantities and 
alterations shall not invalidate the contract nor release the surety, and the 
Contractor agrees to perform the work as altered. 

 
(2) If the alterations or changes in quantities significantly change the character of the 

work under the contract, whether or not changed by any such different quantities 
or alterations, an adjustment, excluding loss of anticipated profits, will be made to 
the contract.  The basis for the adjustment shall be agreed upon prior to the 
performance of the work.  If a basis cannot be agreed upon, then an adjustment 
will be made either for or against the Contractor in such amount as the 
Contracting Officer may determine to be fair and reasonable. 

 



Page 14 

(3) If the alterations or changes in quantities significantly change the character of the 
work to be performed under the contract, the altered work will be paid for as 
provided elsewhere in the contract. 

 
(4) The term ―significant change‖ shall be construed to apply only to the following 

circumstances: 
 

(a) When the character of the work as altered differs materially in kind or 
nature from that involved or included in the original proposed 
construction; or 

 
(b) When an item of work is increased in excess of 125 percent or 

decreased below 75 percent of the original contract quantity.  Any 
allowance for an increase in quantity shall apply only to that portion in 
excess of 125 percent of original contract item quantity, or in the case of 
a decrease below 75 percent, to the actual amount of work performed. 

 
  
ARTICLE 5. TERMINATION-DELAYS—If the Contractor refuses or fails to prosecute the work, 
or any separable part thereof, with such diligence as will insure its completion within the time 
specified in the Contract, or any extension thereof, or fails to complete said work within specified 
time, the District may, by written notice to the Contractor, terminate his right to proceed with the 
work or such part of the work involving the delay. In such event the District may take over the 
work and prosecute the same to completion, by contract or otherwise, and may take possession 
of and utilize in completing the work such materials, appliances, and plant as may have been paid 
for by the District or may be on the site of the work and necessary therefore. Whether or not the 
Contractor‘s right to proceed with the work is terminated, he and his sureties shall be liable for 
any liability to the District resulting from his refusal or failure to complete the work within the 
specified time. 

 
If fixed and agreed liquidated damages are provided in the Contract and if the District does not so 
terminate the Contractor‘s right to proceed, the resulting damage will consist of such liquidated 
damages until the work is completed or accepted. 

 
The Contractor‘s right to proceed shall not be so terminated nor the Contractor charged with 
resulting damage if: 

 
1. The delay in the completion the work arises from unforeseeable causes beyond the 

control and without the fault or negligence of the Contractor, including but not restricted to 
acts of God, acts of the public enemy, acts of the District in either its sovereign or 
contractual capacity, acts of another contractor in the performance of a contract with the 
District, fires, floods, epidemics, quarantine restrictions, strikes, freight embargoes, 
climatic conditions beyond the normal which could be anticipated, or delays of 
subcontractors or suppliers arising from unforeseeable causes beyond the control and 
without the fault or negligence of both the Contractor and such subcontractors or 
suppliers (the term subcontractors or suppliers shall mean subcontractors or suppliers at 
any tier); and 

 
2. The Contractor, within 10 days from the beginning of any such delay, (unless the 

Contracting Officer grants a further period of time before the date of final payment under  
the Contract) notifies the Contracting Officer in writing of the causes of delay. 

 
The Contracting Officer shall ascertain the facts and the extent of the delay and extend the time 
far completing the work when, in his judgment, the findings of fact justify such an extension, and 
his findings of fact shall be final and conclusive on the parties, subject only to appeal as provided 
in Article 7 herein. 

 
If, after notice of termination of the Contractor‘s right to proceed under the provisions of this 
Article, it is determined for any reason that the Contractor was not in default under the provisions 
of this Article, or that the delay was excusable under the provisions of this Article, the rights and 



Page 15 

obligations of the parties shall be in accordance with Article 6 herein. Failure to agree to any such 
adjustment shall be a dispute concerning a question of fact within the meaning of Article 7 herein. 

 
The rights and remedies of the District provided in this Article are in addition to any other rights 
and remedies provided by law or under the Contract. 
 
The District may, by written notice, terminate the Contract or a portion thereof as a result of an 
Executive Order of the President of the United States with respect to the prosecution of war or in 
the interest of national defense. When the Contract is so terminated, no claim for loss of 
anticipated profits will be permitted. 

 
ARTICLE 6. TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE OF THE DISTRICT 

 
A. The performance of work under the Contract may be terminated by the District in 

accordance with this Article in whole, or in part, whenever the Contracting Officer shall 
determine that such termination is in the best interest of the District. Any such 
termination shall be effected by delivery to the Contractor of a Notice of Termination 
specifying the extent to which performance of work under the Contract is terminated, 
and the date upon which such termination becomes effective. 

 
B. After receipt of a Notice of Termination, and except as otherwise directed by the  

Contracting Officer, the Contractor shall: 
 

1. Stop work under the Contract on the date and to the extent specified in the Notice of 
Termination. 

 
2. Place no further orders or subcontracts for materials, services, or facilities except as 

may be necessary for completion of such portion of the work under the Contract as 
is not terminated. 

 
3. Terminate all orders and subcontracts to the extent that they relate to the 

performance of work terminated by the Notice of Termination. 
 

4. Assign to the District, in the manner, at the times, and to the extent directed by the 
Contracting Officer, all of the right, title and interest of the Contractor under the 
orders and subcontracts so terminated, in which case the District shall have the 
right, in its discretion, to settle or pay any or all claims arising out of the termination 
of such orders and subcontracts. 

 
5. Settle all outstanding liabilities and all claims arising out of such termination of 

orders or subcontracts, with the approval or ratification of the Contracting Officer to 
the extent he may require, which approval or ratification shall be final for all 
purposes of this Article. 

 
6. Transfer title to the District and deliver in the manner, at the times, and to the 

extent, if any, directed by the Contracting Officer 
: 

a. The fabricated or unfabricated parts, work in progress, completed work, 
supplies, and other material procured as a part of, or acquired in connection 
with, the performance of the work terminated by the Notice of Termination, 
and 

 
b. The completed, or partially completed plans, drawings information and other 

property which, if the Contract bad been completed, would have been 
required to be furnished to the District. 

 
   7.   Use his best efforts to sell, in the manner, at the terms, to the extent, and at the 
         price or prices directed or authorized by the Contracting Officer, any property of the   
         types referred to in 6 above provided, however, that the Contractor: 

  
a. Shall not be required to extend credit to any purchaser, and 



Page 16 

 
b. May acquire any property under the conditions prescribed and at a price or 

prices approved by the Contracting Officer, and 
 

c. Provided further, that the proceeds of any such transfer or disposition shall be 
applied in reduction of any payments to be made by the District to the 
Contractor under the Contract or shall otherwise be credited to the price or 
cost of the work covered by the Contract or paid in such other manner as the 
Contracting Officer may direct. 

 
8. Complete performance of such part of the work as shall not have been terminated 

by the Notice of Termination. 
 

9.  Take such action as may be necessary, or as the Contracting Officer may direct, 
for the protection and preservation of the property related to the Contract which is 
in the possession of the Contractor and in which the District has or may acquire 
an interest. 
 

10.    The Contractor shall proceed immediately with the performance of the above   
obligations notwithstanding any delay in determining or adjusting the cost, or any  
item of reimbursable cost, under this Article. 

 
  11.   ―Plant clearance period‖ means, for each particular property classification (such as  

raw materials, purchased parts and work in progress) at any one plant or location, 
a period beginning with the effective date of the termination for convenience and 
ending 90 days after receipt by the Contracting Officer of acceptable inventory 
schedules covering all items of that particular property classification in the 
termination inventory at that plant or location, or ending on such later date as may 
be agreed to by the Contracting Officer and the Contractor. Final phase of a plant 
clearance period means that part of a plant clearance period which occurs alter 
the receipt of acceptable inventory schedules covering all items of the particular 
property classification at the plant or location. 
 
At any time after expiration of the plant clearance period, as defined above, the 
Contractor may submit to the Contracting Officer a list, certified as to quantity and 
quality, of any or all items of termination inventory not previously disposed of, 
exclusive of items the disposition of which has been directed or authorized by the 
Contracting Officer, and may request the District to remove such items or enter 
into a storage agreement covering them. Not later than 15 days thereafter, the 
District will accept title to such items and remove them or enter into a storage 
agreement covering the same; provided, that the list submitted shall be subject to 
verification by the Contracting Officer upon removal of the items or, if the items 
are stored, within 45 days from the date of submission of the list, and any 
necessary adjustments to correct the list as submitted, shall be made prior to final 
settlement. 

 
C. After receipt of a Notice of Termination, the Contractor shall submit to the Contracting 

Officer his termination claim, in the form with the certification prescribed by the 
Contracting Officer.  Such claim shall be submitted promptly but in no event later than 
one year from the effective date of termination, unless one or more extensions in 
writing are granted by the Contracting Officer upon request of the Contractor made in 
writing within such one year period or authorized extension thereof. However, if the 
Contracting Officer determines that the facts justify such action, he may receive and act 
upon any such termination claim at any time after such one year period or extension 
thereof. Upon failure of the Contractor to submit his termination claim within the time 
allowed, the Contracting Officer may, subject to any review required by the District‘s 
procedures in effect as of the date of execution of the Contract, determine, on the basis 
of information available to him, the amount, if any, due to the Contractor by reason of 
the termination and shall thereupon pay to the Contractor the amount so determined. 

 



Page 17 

D. Subject to the provisions of C above, and subject to any review required by the 
District‘s procedures in effect as of the date of execution of the Contract, the Contractor 
and Contracting Officer may agree upon the whole or any part of the amount or 
amounts to be paid to the Contractor by reason of the total or partial    termination of 
work pursuant to this Article, which amount or amounts may include a reasonable 
allowance for profit on work done; provided, that such agreed amount or amounts, 
exclusive of settlement costs, shall not exceed the total Contract price as reduced by 
the amount of payments otherwise made and as further reduced by the Contract price 
of work not terminated. The Contract shall be amended accordingly, and the Contractor 
shall be paid the agreed amount. Nothing in E below prescribing the amount to be paid 
to the Contractor in the event of failure of the Contractor and the Contracting Officer to 
agree upon the whole amount to be paid to the Contractor by reason of the termination 
of work pursuant to this Article, shall be deemed to limit, restrict or otherwise determine 
or effect the amount or amounts which may be agreed upon to be paid to the 
Contractor pursuant to this paragraph. 

 
E. In the event of the failure of the Contractor and the Contracting Officer to agree as 

provided in D above upon the whole amount to be paid to the Contractor by reason of 
the termination of work pursuant to this Article, the Contracting Officer shall, subject to 
any review required by the District‘s procedures in effect as of the date of execution of 
the Contract, determine, on the basis of information available to him, the amount, if 
any, due the Contractor by reason of the termination and shall pay to the Contractor the 
amounts determined by the Contracting Officer, as follows, but without duplication of 
any amounts agreed upon in accordance with D above: 

 
1. With respect to all Contract work performed prior to the effective date of the 

Notice of Termination, the total (without duplication of any items) of: 
 

a. The cost of such work; 
 

b. The cost of settling and paying claims arising out of the 
termination of work under subcontracts or orders as provided in 
B 5. above, exclusive of the amounts paid or payable on 
account of supplies or materials delivered or services furnished 
by the subcontractor prior to the effective date of the Notice of 
Termination of work under the Contract, which amounts shall 
be included in the cost on account of which payment is made 
under E1.a. above; and 

 
c.   A sum, as profit on E.1.a. above, determined by the Contracting    

Officer to be fair and reasonable; provided however, that if it  
appears that the Contractor would have sustained a loss on the 
entire Contract had it been completed, no profit shall be 
included or allowed under this subparagraph and an 
appropriate adjustment shall be made reducing the amount of 
the settlement to reflect the indicated rate of loss; and provided 
further that profit shall be allowed only on preparations made 
and work done by the Contractor for the terminated portion of 
the Contract but may not be allowed on the Contractor‘s 
settlement expenses. Anticipatory profits and consequential 
damages will not be allowed. Any reasonable method may be 
used to arrive at a fair profit, separately or as part of the whole 
settlement. 

 
                    2.   The reasonable cost of the preservation and protection of property incurred    
                          pursuant to B.9; and any other reasonable cost incidental to termination of work    

                under the Contract including expense incidental to the determination of the    
                amount due to the Contractor as the result of the termination of work under the   
                Contract. 

 



Page 18 

F.   The total sum to be paid to me Contractor under E.1. above shall not exceed the total  
      Contract price as reduced by the amount of payments otherwise made and as further    
      reduced by the Contract price of work not terminated. Except for normal spoilage, and  
      except to the extent that the District shall have otherwise expressly assumed the risk    
      of loss, there shall be excluded from the amounts payable to the Contractor under   
      E.1. above, the fair value, as determined by the Contracting Officer, of property which  
      is destroyed, lost, stolen or damaged so as to become undeliverable to the District, or      
      to a buyer pursuant to B.7 above. 
 

G. The Contractor shall have the right of appeal, under Article 7 herein, from any  
determination made by the Contracting Officer under C. or E. above, except that, if 
the Contractor has failed to submit his claim within the time provided in C above and 
has failed to request extension of such time, he shall have no such right of appeal. In 
any case where the Contracting Officer has made a determination of the amount due 
under C. or E. above, the District shall pay to the Contractor the following: 

 
1. If there is no right of appeal hereunder or if no timely appeal has been taken, 

the amount so determined by the Contracting Officer, or 
 

2. If an appeal had been taken, the amount finally determined on such appeal. 
 

H. In arriving at the amount due the Contractor under this Article there shall be 
deducted: 

 
1. all unliquidated advance or other payments on account theretofore made to 

the Contractor, applicable to the terminated portion of the Contract; 
 

2. any claim which the District may have against the Contractor in connection 
with the Contract; and 

 
3. the agreed price for, or the proceeds of sale of, any materials, supplies or 

other things kept by the Contractor or sold, pursuant to the provisions of this 
Article and not otherwise recovered by or credited to the District. 

 
I. If the termination hereunder be partial, prior to the settlement of the terminated 

portion of the Contract, the Contractor may file with the Contracting Officer a request 
in writing for an equitable adjustment of the price or prices specified in the Contract 
relating to the continued portion of the Contract (the portion not terminated by the 
Notice of Termination), and such equitable adjustment as may be agreed upon shall 
be made at such price or prices; however, nothing contained herein shall limit the 
right of the District and the Contractor to agree upon the amount or amounts to be 
paid to the Contractor for the completion of the continued portion of the Contract 
when said Contract does not contain an established Contract price for such continued 
portion. 

 
J. The District may from time to time, under such terms and conditions as it may 

prescribe, make partial payments against costs incurred by the Contractor in 
connection with the terminated portion of the Contract whenever in the opinion of the 
Contracting Officer the aggregate of such payments shall be within the amount to 
which the Contractor will be entitled hereunder. If the total of such payments is in 
excess of the amount finally agreed or determined to be due under this Article, such 
excess Shall be payable by the Contractor to the District upon demand, together with 
interest computed at the rate of 6 percent per annum for the period from the date 
such excess is received by the Contractor to the date on which such excess is repaid 
to the District; provided however, that no interest shall be charged with respect to any 
such excess payment attributable to a reduction in the Contractor‘s claim by reason 
of retention or other disposition of termination inventory until ten days after the date of 
such retention or disposition, or such later date as determined by the Contracting 
Officer by reason of the circumstances. 

 



Page 19 

K. Unless otherwise provided in the Contract or by applicable statute, the Contractor, 
from the effective date of termination and for a period of three years after final 
settlement under the Contract, shall preserve and make available to the District at all 
reasonable times at the office of the Contractor, but without direct charge to the 
District, all his books, records, documents and other evidence bearing on the costs 
and expenses of the Contractor under the Contract and relating to the work 
terminated hereunder, or, to the extent approved by the Contracting Officer, 
photographs and other authentic reproductions thereof. 

 
ARTICLE 7. DISPUTES  
 
             A.    All disputes arising under or relating to this contract shall be resolved as provided 

herein. 
 

B. Claims by a Contractor against the District. 
 
  ―Claim‖, as used in Section B of this clause, means a written assertion by the 

Contractor seeking, as a matter of right, the payment of money in a sum certain, the 
adjustment or interpretation of contract terms, or other relief arising under or relating 
to this contract. A claim arising under a contract, unlike a claim relating to that 
contract, is a claim that can be resolved under a contract clause that provides for the 
relief sought by the claimant.   

 
  (a)   All claims by a Contractor against the District arising under or relating to a 

contract shall be in writing and shall be submitted to the Contracting Officer for a 
decision. The contractor‘s claim shall contain at least the following: 

 
(1) A description of the claim and the amount in dispute; 
(2) Any data or other information in support of the claim; 
(3) A brief description of the Contractor‘s efforts to resolve the dispute prior 
to filing the claim; and 
(4) The Contractor‘s request for relief or other action by the Contracting 
Officer. 
(b) The Contracting Officer may meet with the Contractor in a further attempt to resolve 
the claim by agreement. 
November (2004) 
SCP. 9 
(c) For any claim of $50,000 or less, the Contracting Officer shall issue a decision 
within sixty (60) days from receipt of a written request from a Contractor that a 
decision be rendered within that period. 
(d) For any claim over $50,000, the Contracting Officer shall issue a decision within 
ninety (90) days of receipt of the claim. Whenever possible, the Contracting 
Officer shall take into account factors such as the size and complexity of the 
claim and the adequacy of the information in support of the claim provided by 
the Contractor. 
(e) The Contracting Officer‘s written decision shall do the following: 
(1) Provide a description of the claim or dispute; 
(2) Refer to the pertinent contract terms; 
(3) State the factual areas of agreement and disagreement; 
(4) State the reasons for the decision, including any specific findings of fact, 
although specific findings of fact are not required and, if made, shall not 
be binding in any subsequent proceeding; 
(5) If all or any part of the claim is determined to be valid, determine the 
amount of monetary settlement, the contract adjustment to be made, or 
other relief to be granted; 
(6) Indicate that the written document is the contracting officer‘s final 
decision; and 
(7) Inform the Contractor of the right to seek further redress by appealing the 
decision to the Contract Appeals Board. 
(f) Any failure by the Contracting Officer to issue a decision on a contract claim 
within the required time period will be deemed to be a denial of the claim, and 



Page 20 

will authorize the commencement of an appeal to the Contract Appeals Board 
as authorized by D.C. Official Code § 2-309.04. 
(g) (1) If a Contractor is unable to support any part of his or her claim and it is 
determined that the inability is attributable to a material 
misrepresentation of fact or fraud on the part of the Contractor, the 
Contractor shall be liable to the District for an amount equal to the 
unsupported part of the claim in addition to all costs to the District 
attributable to the cost of reviewing that part of the Contractor‘s claim. 
(2) Liability under paragraph (g)(1) shall be determined within six (6) 
years of the commission of the misrepresentation of fact or fraud. 
(h) The decision of the Contracting Officer shall be final and not subject to review 
unless an administrative appeal or action for judicial review is timely 
commenced by the Contractor as authorized by D. C. Official Code § 2-309.04. 
(i) Pending final decision of an appeal, action, or fina l settlement, a Contractor 
shall proceed diligently with performance of the contract in accordance with 
the decision of the Contracting Officer. 
November (2004) 
SCP. 10 
C. Claims by the District against a Contractor 
(a) Claim as used in Section C of this clause, means a written demand or written 
assertion by the District seeking, as a matter of right, the payment of money 
in a sum certain, the adjustment of contract terms, or other relief arising 
under or relating to this contract. A claim arising under a contract, unlike a 
claim relating to that contract, is a claim that can be resolved under a contract 
clause that provides for the relief sought by the claimant. 
(b) (1) All claims by the District against a Contractor arising under or 
relating to a contract shall be decided by the Contracting Officer. 
(2) The Contracting Officer shall send written notice of the claim to the 
Contractor. The Contracting Officer‘s written decision shall do the 
following: 
(a) Provide a description of the claim or dispute; 
(b) Refer to the pertinent contract terms; 
(c) State the factual areas of agreement and disagreement; 
(d) State the reasons for the decision, including any specific findings of 
fact, although specific findings of fact are not required and, if made, 
shall not be binding in any subsequent proceeding; 
(e) If all or any part of the claim is determined to be valid, determine the 
amount of monetary settlement, the contract adjustment to be made, 
or other relief to be granted; 
(f) Indicate that the written document is the Contracting Officer‘s final 
decision; and 
(g) Inform the Contractor of the right to seek further redress by 
appealing the decision to the Contract Appeals Board. 
(3) The decision shall be supported by reasons and shall inform the 
Contractor of its rights as provided herein. 
(4) The authority contained in this clause shall not apply to a claim or dispute 
for penalties or forfeitures prescribed by statute or regulation which 
another District agency is specifically authorized to administer, settle, or 
determine. 
(5) This clause shall not authorize the Contracting Officer to settle, 
compromise, pay, or otherwise adjust any claim involving fraud. 
(c) The decision of the Contracting Officer shall be final and not subject to 
review unless an administrative appeal or action for judicial review is timely 
commenced by the Contractor as authorized by D.C. Official Code §2- 
309.04. 
(d) Pending final decision of an appeal, action, or final settlement, the Contractor 
shall proceed diligently with performance of the contract in accordance with 
the decision of the Contracting Officer. 

 
 



Page 21 

ARTICLE 8. PAYMENTS TO CONTRACTOR—The District will pay the contract price or prices 
as hereinafter provided in accordance with District and Federal regulations. 
 
The District will make progress payments monthly as the work proceeds, or at more frequent 
intervals as determined by the Contracting Officer, on estimates approved by the Contracting 
Officer. The Contractor shall furnish a breakdown of the total Contract price showing the amount 
included therein for each principal category of the work, in such detail as requested, to provide a 
basis for determining progress payments. In the preparation of estimates the Contracting 
Officer, at his discretion, may authorize material delivered on the site and preparatory work done 
to be taken into consideration. Material delivered to the Contractor at locations other than the 
site may also be taken into consideration: 

 
1. If such consideration is specifically authorized by the Contract; 

 
2. If the Contractor furnishes satisfactory evidence that he has acquired title to such 

material, that it meets Contract requirements and that it will be utilized on the work 
covered by the Contract; and 

 
3. If the Contractor furnishes to the Contracting Officer an itemized list. 

 
The Contracting Officer at his/her discretion shall cause to be with held retention in an amount 
sufficient to protect the interest of the District of Columbia.  The amount shall not exceed ten 
percent (10%) of the partial payment. However, if the Contracting Officer, at any time after 50 
percent of the work has been completed, finds that satisfactory progress is being made, he may 
authorize any of the remaining progress payments to be made in full or may retain from such 
remaining partial payments less than 10 percent thereof. Also, whenever work is substantially 
complete, the Contracting Officer, if he considers the amount retained to be in excess of the 
amount adequate for the protection of the District, at his discretion, may release to the 
Contractor all or a portion of such excess amount. Furthermore, on completion and acceptance 
of each separate building, public work, or other division of the Contract, on which the price is 
stated separately in the Contract, payment may be made therefore without retention of a 
percentage, less authorized deductions. 
 
All material and work covered by progress payments made shall thereupon become the sole 
property of the District, but this provision shall not be construed as relieving the Contractor from 
the sole responsibility for all material and work upon which payments have been made or the 
restoration of any damaged work, or as waiving the right of the District to require the fulfillment 
of all of the terms of the Contract. 
 
Upon completion and acceptance of all work, the amount due the Contractor under the Contract 
shall be paid upon presentation at a properly executed voucher and after the Contractor shall 
have furnished the District with a release, if required, of all claims against the District arising by 
virtue of the Contract, other than claims in stated amounts as may be specifically excepted by 
the Contractor from the operation of the release. 
 
ARTICLE 9. TRANSFER OR ASSIGNMENT—Unless otherwise provided by law, neither the 
Contract nor any interest therein may be transferred or assigned by the Contractor to any other 
party without the written consent of the Contracting Officer nor without the written acceptance by 
the surety on the performance and payment bond securing the Contract of the assignee as the 
Contractor and the principal on such bond; and any attempted transfer or assignment not 
authorized by this Article shall constitute a breach of the Contract and the District may for such 
cause terminate the right of the Contractor to proceed in the same manner as provided in Article 
5 herein, and the Contractor and his sureties shall be liable to the District for any excess cost 
occasioned the District thereby. 
 
ARTICLE 10. MATERIAL AND WORKMANSHIP 
 

A. GENERAL—Unless otherwise specifically provided in the Contract, all equipment, 
material and articles incorporated in the work covered by the Contract shall be new and 
of the most suitable grade for the purpose intended. Unless otherwise specifically 
provided in the Contract, reference to any equipment, material, article or patented 



Page 22 

process, by trade name, make or catalog number, shall be regarded as establishing a 
standard of quality and shall not be construed as limiting competition., and the Contractor 
may use any equipment, material, article or process which, in the judgment of the 
Contracting Officer, is equivalent to that named unless otherwise specified. The 
Contractor shall furnish to the Contracting Officer for his approval the name of the 
manufacturer, the model number, and other identifying data and information respecting 
the performance, capacity, nature and rating of the mechanical and other equipment 
which the Contractor contemplates incorporating in the work. Machinery and equipment 
shall be in proper condition. When required by the Contract or when called for by the 
Contracting Officer, the Contractor shall furnish to the Contracting Officer for approval full 
information concerning the material or articles which he contemplates incorporating in the 
work. When so directed, samples shall be submitted for approval at the Contractor‘s 
expense, with all shipping charges prepaid. Machinery, equipment, material, and articles 
installed or used without required approval shall be at the risk of subsequent rejection 
and subject to satisfactory replacement at Contractor‘s expense. 

 
B. SURPLUS MATERIALS USE—Whenever specified in the Contract or authorized by the  

         Contracting Officer that materials become the property of the Contractor, which by   
          reference or otherwise shall include disposal of materials, it is understood that the  

Contractor accepts such materials ―as is‖ with no further expense or liability to the 
District.  If such material specified in the Contract will have a potential or real interest of 
value, the Contractor shall make allowance in the Contract to show such value. 
 

C. DISTRICT MATERIAL—No materials furnished by the District shall be applied to any 
other use, public or private, than that for which they are issued to the Contractor. The full 
amount of the cost to the District of all materials furnished by the District to the Contractor 
and for which no charge is made, which are not accounted for by the Contractor to the 
satisfaction of the Contracting Officer, will be charged against the Contractor and his 
sureties and may be deducted from any monies due the Contractor, and this charge shall 
be in addition to and not in lieu of any other liabilities of the Contractor whether civil or 
criminal. Materials furnished by the District for which a charge is made at a rate 
mentioned in the specifications will be delivered to the Contractor upon proper 
requisitions therefore and will be charged to his account. 

 
D. Plant —The Contractor shall at all times employ sufficient tools and equipment for 

prosecuting the various classes of work to full completion in the manner and time 
required. The Contractor shall at all times perform work in sufficient light and shall 
provide proper illumination, including lighting required for night work as directed, as a 
Contract requirement. All equipment, tools, formwork and staging used on the project 
shall be of sufficient size and in proper mechanical and safe condition to meet work 
requirements, to produce satisfactory work quality and to prevent injury to persons, the 
project or adjacent property. When methods and equipment are not prescribed in the 
Contract, the Contractor is free to use tools, methods and equipment that he satisfactorily 
demonstrates will accomplish the work in conformity with Contract requirements. 

 
If the Contractor desires to use a method or type of tool or equipment other than specified 
in the Contract, he shall request approval to do so; the request shall be in writing and 
shall include a full description of proposed methods, tools and equipment and reason for 
the change or substitution. Approval of substitutions and changed methods will be on 
condition that the Contractor will be fully responsible for producing work meeting Contract 
requirements. If after trial use of the substituted methods, tools and equipment, the 
Contracting Officer determines that work produced does not meet Contract requirements, 
the Contractor shall complete remaining work with specified methods, tools and 
equipment. 

 
E. CAPABILITY OF WORKERS- All work under the Contract shall be performed in a skillful 

and workmanlike manner. The Contracting Officer may require the Contractor to remove 
from the work any such employees as the Contracting Officer deems incompetent, 
careless, insubordinate, or otherwise objectionable, or whose continued employment on 
the work is deemed by the Contracting Officer to be contrary to the public interest. Such 
request will be in writing: 



Page 23 

 
F. CONFORMITY OF WORK AND MATERIALS—All work performed and materials and 

products furnished shall be in conformity, within indicated tolerances, with lines, grades, 
cross sections, details, dimensions, material and construction requirements shown or 
intended by the drawings arid specifications. 

 
When materials, products or work cannot be corrected, written notice of rejection will be 
issued. Rejected materials, products and work shall be eliminated form the project and 
acceptably replaced at Contractor‘s expense. The Contracting Officer‘s failure to reject 
any portion of the project shall not constitute implied acceptance nor in any way release 
the Contractor from Contract requirements. 

 
    G.  UNAUTHORIZED WORK AND MATERIALS—Work performed or materials ordered or  

furnished for the project deviating from requirements without written authority, will be 
considered unauthorized and at Contractor‘s expense. The District is not obligated to pay 
for unauthorized work. Unauthorized work and materials may be ordered removed and 
replaced at Contractor‘s expense. 

 
ARTICLE 11. INSPECTION AND ACCEPTANCE—Except as otherwise provided in the Contract, 
inspection and test by the District of material and workmanship required by the Contract shall be 
made at reasonable times and at the site of the work, unless the Contracting Officer determines 
that such inspection or test of material which is to be incorporated in the work shall be made at 
the place of production, manufacture or shipment of such material.  To the extent specified by the 
Contracting Officer at the time of determining to make off-site inspection or test, such inspection 
or test shall be conclusive as to whether the material involved conforms to Contract requirements. 
Such off-site inspection or test shall not relieve the Contractor of responsibility for damage to or 
loss of the material prior to acceptance, nor in any way affect the continuing rights of the District 
after acceptance of the completed work under the terms of the last paragraph of this Article, 
except as herein above provided. 
 
The Contractor shall, without charge, replace any material and correct any workmanship found by 
the District not to conform to Contract requirements, unless in the public interest the District 
consents to accept such material or workmanship with an appropriate adjustment in Contract 
price. The Contractor shall promptly segregate and remove rejected material from the premises at 
Contractor‘s expense. 
 
If the Contractor does not promptly replace rejected material or correct rejected workmanship, the 
District: 
 

1.   May, by contract or otherwise, replace such material and correct such workmanship and   
           charge the cost thereof to the Contractor, or  
 

2.   May terminate the Contractor‘s right to proceed in accordance with Article 5 herein. 
  

The Contractor shall furnish promptly, without additional cost to the District, all facilities, 
labor and material reasonably needed for performing such safe and convenient 
inspection and  test as may be required by the Contracting Officer. All inspections and 
tests by the District shall be performed in such manner as not unnecessarily to delay the 
work. Special, full size, and performance tests shall be performed as described in the 
Contract. The Contractor shall be charged with any additional cost of inspection when 
material and workmanship are not ready for inspection at the time specified by the 
Contractor.  
 
Should it be considered necessary or advisable by the Contracting Officer at any time 
before acceptance of the work, either in part or in its entirety, to make an examination of 
work completed, by removing or tearing out same, the Contractor shall, on request, 
promptly furnish all necessary facilities, labor and material to do same. If such work is 
found to be defective or nonconforming in any material respect, due to the fault of the 
Contractor or his subcontractors, he shall defray all the expenses of such examination 
and of satisfactory reconstruction. If, however, such work is found to meet the 
requirements of the Contract, an equitable adjustment shall be made in the Contract price 



Page 24 

to compensate the Contractor for the additional services involved in such examination 
and reconstruction and, if completion of the work has been delayed thereby, he shall, in 
addition, be granted an equitable extension of time.   
 
Unless otherwise provided in the Contract, acceptance by the District will be made as 
promptly as practicable after completion and inspection of all work required by the 
Contract. Acceptance shall be final and conclusive except as regards to latent defects, 
fraud, or such gross mistakes as may amount to fraud, or as regards the District‘s rights 
under any warranty or guaranty. 

 
ARTICLE 12. SUPERINTENDENCE BY CONTRACTOR—The Contractor shall give his personal 
superintendence to the performance of the work or have a competent foreman or superintendent, 
satisfactory to the Contracting Officer, on the work site at all times during progress, with authority 
to act for him. 
 
ARTICLE 13. PERMITS AND RESPONSIBILITIES—The Contractor shall, without expense to 
the District, be responsible for obtaining any necessary licenses, certificates and permits, and for 
complying with any applicable Federal, State, and Municipal laws, codes and regulations, in 
connection with the prosecution of the work. He shall be similarly responsible for all damages to 
persons or property that occurs as a result of his fault or negligence. He shall take proper safety, 
health and environmental precautions to protect the work, the workers, the public, and the 
property of others. He shall also be responsible for all materials delivered and work performed 
until completion and acceptance of the entire construction work, except for any completed unit of 
construction thereof which theretofore may have been accepted. 
 
ARTICLE 14. INDEMNIFICATION—The Contractor shall indemnify and save harmless the 
District and all of its officers, agents and servants against any and all claims or liability arising 
from or based on, or as a consequence or result of, any act, omission or default of the Contractor, 
his employees, or his subcontractors, in the performance of, or in connection with, any work 
required, contemplated or performed under the Contract. 
 
ARTICLE l5. PROTECTION AGAINST TRESPASS—Except as otherwise expressly provided in 
the Contract, the Contractor is authorized to refuse admission either to the premises or to the 
working space covered by the Contract to any person whose admission is not specifically 
authorized in writing by the Contracting Officer. 
 
ARTICLE 16. CONDITIONS AFFECTING THE WORK 
 

A. GENERAL—The Contractor shall be responsible for having taken steps reasonably  
necessary to ascertain the nature and location of the work, and the general and local  
conditions which can affect the work and the cost thereof. Any failure by the Contractor to 
do so will not relieve him from responsibility for successfully performing the work as 
specified without additional expense to the District. The District assumes no responsibility 
for any understanding or representation concerning conditions made by any of its officers 
or agents prior to the execution of the Contract, unless such understanding or 
representation by the District is expressly stated in the Contract. 
 

B. WORK AND STORAGE SPACE—Available work and storage space designated by the 
District shall be developed as required by the Contract or restored at completion of the 
project by the Contractor to a condition equivalent to that existing prior to construction. No 
payment will be made for furnishing or restoration of any work and storage space.  If no 
area is designated or the area designated is not sufficient for the Contractor‘s operations, 
he shall obtain necessary space elsewhere at no expense or liability to the District. 

 
C. WORK ON SUNDAYS, LEGAL HOLIDAYS AND AT NIGHT—No work shall be done at 

any time on Sundays or legal holidays or on any other day before 7 a.m. or after 7 p.m., 
except with the written permission of the Contracting Officer and pursuant to the 
requirements of the Police Requirements of the District. 

 
D. EXISTING FEATURES—Subsurface and topographic information including borings data, 

utilities data and other physical data contained in the Contract or otherwise available, are 



Page 25 

not intended as representations or warranties but are furnished as available information. 
The District assumes no expense or liability for the accuracy of, or interpretations made 
from, existing features. The Contractor shall be responsible for reasonable consideration of 
existing features above and below ground which may affect the project. 

 
E. UTILITIES AND VAULTS—The Contractor shall take necessary measures to prevent 

interruption of service or damage to existing utilities within or adjacent to the project. It 
shall be the Contractor‘s responsibility to determine exact locations of all utilities in the 
field. 

 
For any underground utility or vault encountered, the Contractor shall immediately notify 
the Contracting Officer and take necessary measures to protect the utility or vault and 
maintain the service until relocation by owner is accomplished.  No additional payment will 
be made for the encountering of these obstructions. 

 
In case of damage to utilities by the Contractor, either above or below ground, the 
Contractor shall restore such utilities to a condition equivalent to that which existed prior to 
the damage by repairing, rebuilding or otherwise restoring as may be directed, at the 
Contractor‘s sole expense. Damaged utilities shall be repaired by the Contractor or, when 
directed by the Contracting Officer, the utility owner will make needed repairs at the 
Contractor‘s expense. 

 
No compensation, other than authorized time extensions, will be allowed the Contractor for 
protective measures, work interruptions, changes in construction sequence, changes in 
methods of handling excavation and drainage or changes in types of equipment used, 
made necessary by existing utilities, imprecise utility or vault information or by others 
performing work within or adjacent to the project. 

 
F. SITE MAINTENANCE—The Contractor shall maintain the project site in a neat and 

presentable manner throughout the course of all operations, and shall be responsible for 
such maintenance until final acceptance by the District Trash containers shall be furnished, 
maintained and emptied by the Contractor to the satisfaction of the Contracting Officer. 
Excavated earthwork, stripped forms and all other materials and debris not scheduled for 
reuse in the project shall be promptly removed from the site. 

 
The Contracting Officer may order the Contractor to clean up the project site at any stage 
of work at no added expense to the District If the Contractor fails to comply with this order, 
the Contracting Officer may require the work to be done by others and the costs will be 
charged to the Contractor. 

 
Upon completion of all work and prior to final inspection, the Contractor shall clean up and 
remove from the project area and adjacent areas all excess materials, equipment, 
temporary structures, and refuse, and restore said areas to an acceptable condition. 

 
G. PRIVATE WORK—Except as specifically authorized by the Contracting Officer, the 

Contractor shall not perform any private work abutting District projects with any labor, 
materials, tools, equipment, supplies or supervision scheduled for the Contract until all 
work under the Contract has been completed. Contract materials used for any 
unauthorized purpose shall be subtracted from Contract amount. 

 
H. DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA NOISE CONTROL ACT OF 1977—The contractor shall be in 

strict compliance with D.C. Law 2-53, District of Columbia Noise Control Act of 1977 and 
all provisions thereof. Effective March 16, 1978. 24 D.C.Register 5293. 

 
ARTICLE 17. OTHER CONTRACTS—The District may undertake or award other contracts for 
additional work and the Contractor shall fully cooperate with such other contractors and District 
employees and carefully coordinate his own work with such additional work as may be directed 
by the Contracting Officer. The Contractor shall not commit or permit any act which will interfere 
with the performance of work by any other contractor or by District employees. The District 
assumes no liability, other than authorized time extensions, for Contract delays and damages 
resulting from delays and lack of progress by others. 



Page 26 

 
ARTICLE 18. PATENT INDEMNITY—Except as otherwise provided, the Contractor agrees to 
indemnify the District and its officers, agents, and employees against liability, including costs and 
expenses, for infringement upon any Letters Patent of the United States (except Letters Patent 
issued upon an application which is now or may hereafter be, for reasons of national security, 
ordered by the Federal Government to be kept classified or otherwise withheld from issue) arising 
out of the performance of the Contract or out of the use or disposal, by or for the account of the 
District, of supplies furnished or construction work performed hereunder. 
 
ARTICLE 19. ADDITIONAL BOND SECURITY—If any surety upon any bond furnished in 
connection with the Contract becomes unacceptable to the District, or if any such surety fails to 
furnish reports as to his financial condition from time to time as requested by the District, the 
Contractor shall promptly furnish such additional security as may be required from time to time to 
protect the interests of the District and of persons supplying labor or materials in the prosecution 
of the work contemplated by the Contract. Provided that upon the failure of the Contractor to 
furnish such additional security within ten (10) days after written notice so to do, all payments 
under the Contract will be withheld until such additional security is furnished. 
 
ARTICLE 20. COVENANT AGAINST CONTINGENT FEES—The Contractor warrants that no 
person or selling agency has been employed or retained to solicit or secure the Contract upon an 
agreement or understanding for a commission, percentage, brokerage or contingent fee, 
excepting bona fide employees or bona fide established commercial or selling agencies 
maintained by the Contractor for the purpose of securing business. For breach or violation of this 
warranty, the District shall have the right to terminate the Contract without liability or in its 
discretion to deduct from the Contract price or consideration, or otherwise recover, the full 
amount of such commission, percentage, brokerage or contingent fee. 
 
ARTICLE 21. APPOINTMENT OF ATTORNEY—The Contractor does hereby irrevocably 
designate and appoint the Clerk of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia and his 
successors in office as the true and lawful attorney of the Contractor for the purpose of receiving 
service of all notices and processes issued by any court in the District, as well as service of all 
pleadings and other papers, in relation to any action or legal proceeding arising out of or 
pertaining to the Contract or the work required or performed hereunder. 
 
The Contractor expressly agrees that the validity of any service upon the said Clerk as herein 
authorized shall not be affected either by the fact that the Contractor was personally within the 
District and otherwise subject to personal service at the time of such service upon the said Clerk 
or by the fact that the Contractor failed to receive a copy of such process, notice, pleading or 
other paper so served upon the said Clerk, provided that said Clerk shall have deposited in the 
United States mail, certified and postage prepaid, a copy of such process, notice, pleading or 
other papers addressed to the Contractor at the address stated in the Contract. 
 
ARTICLE 22. DISTRICT EMPLOYEES NOT TO BENEFIT — Unless a determination is made as 
provided herein, no officer or employee of the District will be admitted to any share or part of this 
contract or to any benefit that may arise therefrom, and any contract made by the Contracting 
Officer or any District employee authorized to execute contracts in which they or an employee of 
the District will be personally interested shall be void, and no payment shall be made thereon by 
the District or any officer thereof, but this provision shall not be construed to extend to this 
contract if made with a corporation for its general benefit. A District employee shall not be a party 
to a contract with the District and will not knowingly cause or allow a business concern or other 
organization owned or substantially owned or controlled by the employee to be a party to such a 
contract, unless a written determination has been made by the head of the procuring agency that 
there is a compelling reason for contracting with the employee, such as when the District‘s needs 
cannot reasonably otherwise be met. (DC Procurement Practices Act of l985, D.C. Law 6-85, 
D.C. Official Code, section 2-310.01, and Chapter 18 of the DC Personnel Regulations) The 
Contractor represents and covenants that it presently has no interest and shall not acquire any 
interest, direct or indirect, which would conflict in any manner or degree with the performance of 
its services hereunder. The Contractor further covenants not to employ any person having such 
known interests in the performance of the contract.  
 



Page 27 

ARTICLE 23. WAIVER—No waiver of any breach of any provision of the Contract shall operate 
as a waiver of such provision or of the Contract or as a waiver of subsequent or other breaches of 
the same or any other provision of the Contract; nor shall any action or non-action by the 
Contracting Officer or by the Mayor be construed as a waiver of any provision of the Contract or 
of any breach thereof unless the same has been expressly declared or recognized as a waiver by 
the Contracting Officer or the Mayor in writing. 
 
 
ARTICLE 24. BUY AMERICAN 
 

A. AGREEMENT—In accordance with the Buy American Act (41 USC l0a-l0d), and 
Executive Order 10582. December 17, 1954 (3 CFR, 1954-58 Comp., p. 230), as 
amended by Executive Order 11051, September 27,1962 (3 CFR, l059—63 Comp., p. 
635), the Contractor agrees that only domestic construction material will be used by the 
Contractor, subcontractors, material men and suppliers in the performance of the 
Contract, except for non-domestic material listed in the Contract. 

 
B. DOMESTIC CONSTRUCTION MATERIAL—‖Construction material‖ means any article, 

material or supply brought to the construction site for incorporation in the building or 
work. An unmanufactured construction material is a ―domestic construction material‖ if it 
has been mined or produced in the United States. A manufactured construction material 
is a ―domestic construction material‖ if it has been manufactured in the United States and 
if the cost of its components which have been mined, produced, or manufactured in the 
United States exceeds 50 percent of the cost of all its components. ―Component‖ means 
any article, material, or supply directly incorporated in a construction material. - 

 
C. DOMESTIC COMPONENT—A component shall be considered to have been ―mined, 

produced, or manufactured in the United States‖ regardless of its source, in fact, if the 
article, material or supply in which it is incorporated was manufactured in the United 
States and the component is of a class or kind determined by the District to be not mined, 
produced or manufactured in the United States in sufficient and reasonably available 
commercial quantities and of a satisfactory quality. 

 
D. FOREIGN MATERIAL – When steel materials are used in a project a minimal use of 

foreign steel is permitted.  The cost of such materials can not exceed on-tenth of one 
percent of the total project cost, or $2,500,000, whichever is greater. 

 
ARTICLE 25. TAXES 
 

A. FEDERAL EXCISE—Materials, supplies and equipment are not subject to the Federal 
Manufacturer‘s Excise Tax, if they are furnished or used in connection with the Contract 
provided that title to such materials, supplies and equipment passes to the District under 
the Contract. The Contractor shall in such cases furnish his subcontractors and suppliers 
with a purchaser‘s certificate in the form prescribed by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service. 

 
B. SALES AND USE TAXES—Materials which are physically incorporated as a permanent 

part of real property are not subject to District of Columbia Sales and Use Tax. The 
Contractor shall, when purchasing such materials, furnish his suppliers with a 
Contractor‘s Exempt Purchase Certificate in the form prescribed in the Sales and Use 
Tax Regulations of the District of Columbia. Where the Contractor, subcontractor or 
material man has already paid the Sales and Use Tax on material, as prescribed above, 
the Sales and Use Tax Regulations of the District of Columbia permit the Contractor, 
subcontractor or material man to deduct the sales or use tax on the purchase price of the 
same on his next monthly return as an adjustment. However, the Contractor, 
subcontractor or material man must satisfy the Chief Financial Officer for the District of 
Columbia that no sum in reimbursement of such tax was included in the Contract or else 
that the District has received a credit under the Contract in an amount equal to such tax. 

 
District of Columbia Sales and Use Tax shall be paid on any material and supplies, 
including equipment rentals, which do not become a physical part of the finished project. 
(See District of Columbia Sales and Use Tax Administration Ruling No. 6). 



Page 28 

 
The Contractor, subcontractor,or material supplier shall provide proof of compliance with 
the provisions of D.C. Law 9-260, as amended, codified in D.C. Code46-103, Employer 
Contributions, prior to award.  
 
Material and supplies required under contracts relating to Glenn Dale Hospital, Glenn 
Dale, Maryland, and Children‘s Center, Laurel, Maryland, are subject to the Maryland 
State Sales and Use Tax, effective July 1, 1968.  BIDDERS SHALL INCLUDE SUCH 
TAX IN THEIR BIDS.  Contracts relating to Department of Corrections, Lorton, Virginia, 
are subject to the Virginia Retail Sales and Use Tax, effective September 1, 1966, when 
incorporated in public works contracts ‗f the District. BIDDERS SHALL INCLUDE SUCH 
TAX IN THEIR BIDS. 
 
The Contractor, subcontractor, or material supplier shall provide proof of compliance with 
the applicable tax filing and licensing requirements set forth in D.C. Code, Title 47, 
Taxation and Fiscal Affairs, prior to contract award.  
 

 
ARTICLE 26. SUSPENSION OF WORK—The Contracting Officer may order the Contractor in 
writing to suspend, delay or interrupt all or any part of the work for such period of time as he may 
determine to be appropriate for the convenience of the District. 
 
If the performance of all or any part of the work is, for an unreasonable period of time, 
suspended, delayed or interrupted by an act of the Contracting Officer in the administration of the 
Contract, or by his failure to act within the time specified in the Contract (or if no time is specified, 
within a reasonable time), an adjustment will be made for an increase in the cost of performance 
of the Contract (excluding profit) necessarily caused by such unreasonable suspension, delay or 
interruption and the Contract modified in writing accordingly. However, no adjustment will be 
made under this Article for any suspension, delay or interruption to the extent: 
 

1. That performance would have been so suspended, delayed or interrupted by any 
other cause, including the fault or negligence of the contractor, or 

 
2. For which an equitable adjustment is provided or excluded under any other 

provision of the Contract. 
 

No claim under this Article shall be allowed: 
 

1. For any costs incurred more than 20 days before the Contractor shall have 
notified the Contracting Officer in writing of the act or failure to act involved (but 
this requirement shall no apply as to a claim resulting from a suspension order), 
and 

 
2. Unless the claim, in an amount stated, is asserted in writing as soon as 

practicable after the termination of such suspension, delay, or interruption, but 
not later than the date of final payment under the Contract. 

 
ARTICLE 27. SAFETY PROGRAM 
 

A. GENERAL—In order to provide safety controls for the protection of the life and health of 
District and Contract employees and the general public; prevention of damage to 
property, materials, supplies, and equipment; and for avoidance of work interruptions in 
the performance of the Contract, the Contractor shall comply with all applicable Federal 
and local laws governing safety, health and sanitation including the Safety Standards, 
Rules and Regulations issued by the American National Standards, U. S. Department of 
Labor, U. S. Department of Health and Human Services, D. C. Minimum Wage and 
Industrial Safety Board and the latest edition of ―Manual of Uniform Traffic Control 
Devices‖  issued by the Federal Highway Administration. 

 
The Contractor shall also take or cause to be taken such additional safety measures as 
the Contracting Officer may determine to be reasonably necessary. 



Page 29 

 
The Contractor shall designate one person to be responsible for carrying out the 
Contractor‘s obligation under this Article. 

 
The Contractor shall maintain an accurate record of all accidents resulting in death, 
injury, occupational disease, and/or damage to property, materials, supplies, and 
equipment incident to work performed under the Contract. Copies of these reports shall 
be furnished to the Contracting Officer within two working days after occurrence. 

 
 

The Contracting Officer will notify the Contractor of any noncompliance with the foregoing 
provisions and the action to be taken. The Contractor shall, after receipt of such notice, 
immediately take corrective action. Such notice, when delivered to the Contractor or his 
representative at the site of the work, shall be deemed sufficient for the purpose. If the 
Contractor fails or refuses to comply promptly, the Contracting Officer may issue an order 
stopping all or part of the work until satisfactory corrective action has been taken. No part 
of the time lost due to any such stop orders shall be made the subject of claim for 
extension of time or for excess costs or damages by the Contractor. 

 
This Article is applicable to all subcontractors used under the Contract and compliance 
with these provisions by the subcontractors will be the responsibility of the Contractor. 
 
(In Contracts involving work of short duration or of non-hazardous character, the following 
Section B. will be deleted by Special Provision) 

 
B. CONTRACTOR’S PROGRAM SUBMISSION—Prior to commencement of the work, the 

Contractor shall: 
 

1. Submit in writing to the Contracting Officer for his approval his program for complying 
with this Article for accident prevention. 

 
2. Meet with the Contracting Officer‘s Safety Representative after submission of the 

above program to develop a mutual understanding relative to the administration of 
the overall safety program. 

 
ARTICLE 28. RETENTION OF RECORDS—Unless otherwise provided in the Contract, or by 
applicable statute, the Contractor, from the effective date of Contract completion and for a period 
of three years after final settlement under the Contract, shall preserve and make available to the 
District at all reasonable times at the office of the Contractor but without direct charge to the 
District, all his books, records, documents, and other evidence bearing on the costs and 
expenses of the Contractor under the Contract. 
 
ARTICLE 29.   RECOVERY OF DEBTS OWED THE DISTRICT---The Contractor hereby agrees 
that the District may use all or any portion of any consideration or refund due the Contractor 
under the Contract to satisfy, in whole or part, any debt due the District. 



Page 30 

 
LABOR PROVISIONS 

(Construction Contract) 
 

ARTICLE 1. DAVIS-BACON ACT (40 USC 276a-276a 7) —Each Contractor and subcontractor 
at any tier contracting for any part of Contract work in excess of $2,000 for construction alteration, 
and/or repair, including painting and decorating of public buildings and public works and which 
requires or involves the employment of mechanics and/or laborers shall be subject to the Davis-
Bacon Act provisions as follows: 
 

A. MINIMUM WAGES— 
 

1. All mechanics and laborers employed or working upon the site of the work or 
under the United States Housing Act of 1937 or under the Housing Act of 1949 in 
the construction or development of the project, will be paid unconditionally and 
not less often than once a week, and without subsequent deduction or rebate on 
any account (except such payroll deductions as are permitted by regulations 
issued by the United States Department of Labor, hereinafter referred to as the 
Secretary of Labor under the Copeland Act (29 CFR Part 3)), the full amount of 
wages and bona fide fringe benefits (or cash equivalents thereof) due at time of 
payment computed at wage rates not less than those contained in the wage 
determination decision of the Secretary of Labor which is attached hereto and 
made a part hereof, regardless of any contractual relationship which may be 
alleged to exist between the contractor and such Laborers and mechanics; and 
the wage determination decision shall be posted by the contractor at the site of 
the work in a prominent place where it can be easily seen by the workers. For the 
purpose of this clause, contributions made or costs reasonably anticipated under 
section l(b)(2) of the Davis-Bacon Act on behalf of laborers or mechanics are 
considered wages paid to such laborers or mechanics, subject to the provisions 
of 29 CFR 5.5(a)(l)(iv).  Also for the purpose of this clause; regular contributions 
made or costs incurred for more than a weekly period under plans, funds, or 
programs, but covering the particular weekly period, are deemed to be 
constructively made or incurred during such weekly period. 

 
2. The contracting officer shall require that any class of laborers or mechanics, 

including apprentices and trainees, which is not listed in the wage determination 
and which is to be employed under the contract, shall be classified or reclassified 
conformably to the wage determination and a report of the action taken shall be 
sent by the Contracting Officer to the Secretary of Labor. In the event the 
interested parties cannot agree on the proper classification or reclassification of a 
particular class of laborers and mechanics, including apprentices and trainees, to 
be used, the question accompanied by the recommendation of the Contracting 
Officer shall be referred to the Secretary for final determination. 

 
3. The Contracting Officer shall require, whenever the minimum wage rate 

prescribed in the contract for a class of laborers or mechanics includes a fringe 
benefit which is not expressed as an hourly wage rate and the contractor is 
obligated to pay a cash equivalent of such a fringe benefit, an hourly cash 
equivalent thereof to be established. In the event the interested parties cannot 
agree upon a cash equivalent of the fringe benefit, the question, accompanied by 
the recommendation of the Contracting Officer, shall be referred to the Secretary 
of Labor for determination. 

 
4. If the Contractor does not make payments to a trustee or other third person, he 

may consider as part of the wages of any laborer or mechanic the amount o any 
costs reasonably anticipated in providing benefits under a plan or program of a 
type expressly listed in the wage determination decision of the Secretary of Labor 
which is a part of this contract: Provided, however, The Secretary of Labor has 
found, upon the written request of the Contractor, that the applicable standards of 
the Davis-Bacon Act have been met. The Secretary of Labor may require the 



Page 31 

contractor to set aside in a separate account assets for the meeting of obligations 
under the plan or program. 

 
B. WITHHOLDING.—The Contracting Officer may withhold or cause to be withheld from the 

contractor so much of the accrued payments or advances as may be considered 
necessary to pay laborers and mechanics, including apprentices and trainees, employed 
by the contractor or any subcontractor on the work the full amount of wages required by 
the contract. In the event of failure to pay any laborer or mechanic, including any 
apprentice or trainee, employed or working on the site of the work or under the United 
States Housing Act of 1937 or under the Housing Act of 1949 in the construction or 
development of the project, all or part of the wages required by the contract, the District 
may, after written notice to the contractor, sponsor, applicant, or owner, take such action 
as may be necessary to cause the suspension of any further payment, advance, or 
guarantee of funds until such violations have ceased. 

 
C. PAYROLLS AND BASIC RECORDS. —   

 
1. Payrolls and basic records relating thereto will be maintained during the 

course of the work and preserved for a period of three years thereafter for all 
laborers and mechanics working at the site of the work, or under the United 
States Housing Act of 1937, or under the Housing Act of 1949, in the 
construction or development of the project. Such records will contain the 
name and address of each such employee, his correct classification, rates of 
pay. (including rates of contributions or costs anticipated of the types 
described in section l(b)(2) of the Davis-Bacon Act), daily and weekly number 
of hours worked, deductions made and actual wages paid. Whenever the 
Secretary of Labor has found under 29 CFR 5.5(a)(l) (iv) that the wages of 
any laborer or mechanic include the amount of any costs reasonably 
anticipated in providing benefits under a plan or program described in section 
l(b)(2)(B) of the Davis-Bacon Act, the contractor shall maintain records which 
show that the commitment to provide such benefits in enforceable, that the 
plan or program is financially responsible, and that the plan or program has 
been communicated in writing, to the laborers or mechanics affected, and 
records which show the costs anticipated or the actual cost incurred in 
providing such benefits. 

 
2. The contractor will submit weekly a copy of all payrolls to the Contracting 

Officer if the agency is a party to the contract, but if the agency is not such a 
party the contractor will submit the payrolls to the applicant, sponsor, or 
owner, as the case may be, for transmission to the Contracting Officer. The 
copy shall be accompanied by a statement signed by the employer or his 
agent indicating that the payrolls are correct and complete, that the wage 
rates contained therein are not less than those determined by the Secretary 
of Labor and that the classifications set forth for each laborer or mechanic 
conform with the work he performed. A submission of a ―Weekly Statement 
of Compliance‖ which is required under this contract and the Copeland 
regulations of the Secretary of Labor (29 CFR, Part 3) and the filing with the 
initial payroll or any subsequent payroll of a copy of any findings by the 
Secretary of Labor under 29 CFR 5.5(a)(1)(iv) shall satisfy this requirement. 
The prime contractor shall be responsible for the submission of copies of 
payrolls of all subcontractors. The contractor will make the records required 
under the labor standards clauses of the contract available for inspection by 
authorized representatives of the District and the Department of Labor, and 
will permit such representatives to interview employees during working hours 
on the job. Contractors employing apprentices or trainees under approved 
programs shall include a notation on the first weekly certified payrolls 
submitted to the Contracting Officer that their employment is pursuant to an 
approved program and shall identify‘ the program. 

 
ARTICLE 2. CONVICT LABOR (18 USC 438)—Convict labor shall not be used on Contract work 
unless otherwise provided by law. 



Page 32 

 
ARTICLE 3. APPRENTICES AND TRAINEES 
 

A. APPRENTICES—Apprentices shall be permitted to work as such only when they are 
registered, individually, under a bona fide apprenticeship program registered with the 
Apprenticeship Council, D.C. Department of Labor. The allowance ratio of apprentices to 
journeymen in any craft classification shall not be greater than the ratio permitted to the 
Contractor a to his entire work force under the registered program.  Any employee listed 
on a payroll at an apprentice wage rate, who is not a trainee as defined in Section B. of 
this Article or is not registered as above, shall be paid the wage rate determined by the 
Secretary of Labor or the classifications of work he actually performed. The Contractor 
and Subcontractor shall furnish to the Contracting Officer written evidence of the 
registration of his appropriate ratios and wage rates for the areas of construction, prior to 
using any apprentice on the Contract. 

 
B. TRAINEES—Trainees will be permitted to work as such when they are bona fide trainees 

employed pursuant to a program approved by the Contracting Officer and Apprenticeship 
Council, D.C. Department of Labor. 

 
C. REQUIREMENTS—The Contractor agrees to hire for the performance of the Contract a 

number of apprentices or trainees or both, in each occupation, which bears to the 
average number of the journeymen in that occupation to be employed in the performance 
of the Contract the applicable ratios as determined by the Apprenticeship Council, 0. C. 
Department of Labor. 

 
1. The Contractor shall assure that 25 percent of such apprentices or trainees 

in each occupation are in their first year of training, when feasible. Feasibility 
here involves a consideration of: 
 

                           a. The availability of training opportunities for first year apprentices; 
 

 b. The hazardous nature of the work for beginning workers; 
 

 c. Excessive unemployment of apprentices in their second and   
     subsequent years of training. 

 
2. The Contractor shall maintain records of employment, by trade, of the 

number of apprentices and trainees, apprentices and trainees by first year of 
training, and of journeymen, and the wages paid and hours of work of such 
apprentices, trainees and journeymen. The Contractor shall make these 
records available for inspection upon request of the Contracting Officer and 
the Apprenticeship Council, 0. C. Department of Labor. 

 
3. The Contractor who claims compliance based on the criterion stated in 29 

CFR5.a. agrees to maintain records of employment as described in 29 
CFR5.a..3(a)(2) on non-governmental and non-governmentally assisted 
construction work done during the performance of the Contract in the same 
labor market area. The Contractor shall make these records available for 
inspection upon request of the Contracting Officer and the Apprenticeship 
Council, D. C. Department of Labor. 

 
4. The Contractor agrees to supply one copy of the written notices as required 

in accordance with 29 CFR. 5.a.4(c) at the request of the Contracting Officer. 
The Contractor shall supply at 3 month intervals during performance of the 
Contract and after completion of the Contract performance a statement 
containing a breakdown by craft of hours worked and wages paid for first 
year apprentices and trainees, other apprentices and trainees, and 
journeymen. Two copies of the statement shall be submitted to the 
Contracting Officer, who will submit a copy to the Apprenticeship Council, D. 
C. Department of Labor. 

 



Page 33 

5. Section 5, D. C. Law 2—156, AC] 2—325, dated December 29, 1978, is 
hereby incorporated as part of this Amendment as follows: 

 
―All prime contractors and subcontractors who contract with the District of 
Columbia Government to perform construction or renovation work with a 
single contract or cumulative contracts of at least $500,000, let within a 
twelve (12) month period, shall be required to register an apprentice.— 
ship program with the District of Columbia Apprenticeship Council.‖ 25 
D.C. Register 6991. 

 
ARTICLE 4. CONTRACT WORK HOURS AND SAFETY STANDARDS ACT (40 USC 327- 330) 
 

A. OVERTIME BASIS—Each Contractor and subcontractor at any tier contracting for any 
part of Contract work which may require or involve the employment of laborers, 
mechanics, watchmen or guards, apprentices or trainees shall not require or permit any 
laborer, mechanic, watchman or guard, apprentice or trainee in any workweek in which 
he is employed on such work, to work in excess of eight (8) hours in any calendar day or 
in excess of forty (40) hours in such workweek unless such laborer, mechanic, watchman 
or guard, apprentice or trainee receives compensation at a rate not less than one and 
one—half times his basic rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of eight (8) hours in 
any calendar day or in excess of forty (40) hours in such workweek, as the case may be. 

 
B. LIABILITY FOR UNPAID WAGES—In the event of violation of the provisions of Section 

A, the Contractor and any subcontractor responsible therefore shall be liable to any 
affected employee for his unpaid wages. In addition, such Contractor and subcontractor 
shall be liable to the District for Liquidated damages. Such liquidated damages shall be 
computed with respect to each individual laborer, mechanic, watchman or guard, 
apprentice or trainee employed in violation of any provision of Section A, in the awn of 
$10 for each calendar day on which such employee was required or permitted to work in 
excess of eight (8) hours or in excess of the standard workweek of forty (40) hours 
without payment of the overtime wages required by Section A. 

 
The Contracting Officer may withhold or cause to be withheld from the Contractor 

such sums as administratively determined to satisfy any liability of the Contractor and 
subcontractors for unpaid wages and liquidated damages as herein provided. In the 
event of failure to pay any laborer, mechanic, watchman, or guard, apprentice or trainee 
employed or working on the work site, all or part of the wages required by the Contract, 
the Contracting Officer may, after written notice to the Contractor, take such action as 
may be necessary to cause the suspension of any further payment, advance or 
guarantee of funds until such violations have ceased. 

 
C. DISPUTES—Any Contractor or subcontractor aggrieved by the withholding of a sum as 

liquidated damages as provided shall have the right, within sixty (60) days thereafter, to 
appeal to the Contracting Officer in the case of liquidated damages withheld for the use 
and benefit of the District. The Contracting Officer shall have authority to review the 
administrative determination of liquidated damages and to issue a final order affirming 
such determination; or if it is found that the sum determined is incorrect or that the 
Contractor or subcontractor violated these Labor Provisions inadvertently notwithstanding 
the exercise of due care on his part and that of his agents, recommendations may be 
made to the Secretary of Labor that an appropriate adjustment in liquidated damages be 
made, or that the Contractor or subcontractor be relieved of liability for such liquidated 
damages. The Secretary will review all pertinent facts in the matter and may conduct 
such investigation as he deems necessary so as to affirm or reject the recommendation. 
The decision of the Secretary shall be final. In all such cases in which a Contractor or 
subcontractor may be aggrieved by a final order for the withholding of liquidated 
damages as herein before provided, the Contractor or subcontractor may, within sixty 
(60) days after such final order, file a claim per Article 7 of the General Provisions, 
provided, however, that final orders of the Contracting Officer or the Secretary of Labor 
as the case may be, shall be conclusive with respect to findings of fact if such findings 
are supported by substantial evidence. 

 



Page 34 

D.  VIOLATION PENALTY—If the Contractor or subcontractor who employs, directs &  
controls any laborer or mechanic employed in the performance of any work contemplated 
by the Contract, shall intentionally violate any provision herein, he shall be deemed guilty 
of a misdemeanor, and for each and every such offense shall, upon conviction, be 
punished by a fine of not to exceed $1,000 or by imprisonment for not more than six (6) 
months, or by both such fine and imprisonment, in the discretion of the court having 
jurisdiction thereof (Section 106 Title 1, P.L. 87—851, 40 USC Sec. 332, 76 Stat. 359). 

 
E. HEALTH AND SAFETY STANDARDS—It is a condition. of the Contract, and shall be 

made a condition of each subcontract under the Contract, that the Contractor and any 
subcontractor shall not require any laborer or mechanic employed in performance of the 
Contract to work in surroundings or wider working condition which are unsanitary, 
hazardous, or dangerous to his health or safety, as determined under construction safety 
and health standards per 29 CFR Part 1518. 

 
The Secretary of Labor is authorized to make such inspections, hold such hearings, 

issue such orders, and make such decisions based on findings of fact, as are deemed 
necessary to gain compliance with this Section and any health and safety standard 
promulgated by the Secretary. In the event that the Secretary of Labor determines non-
compliance under the provisions of this Section after an opportunity for an adjudicatory 
hearing by the Secretary of any condition of the Contract, the District shall have the right 
to cancel the Contract, and to enter into other contracts for the completion of the Contract 
work, charging any additional cost to the Contractor. 

 
ARTICLE 5. COPELAND ACT (18 USC 874, and 40 USC 276c) - Each Contractor and 
subcontractor at any tier contracting for any part of Contract work in excess of $2,000.0O shall be 
subject to the Copeland Act provisions as follow: 
 

A. DEFINITION—As used in this Article, the term ―employee‖ shall not apply to persons in 
classifications higher than that of laborer or mechanic and those who are the immediate 
supervisors of such employees. 

 
B. WEEKLY COMPLIANCE STATEMENT—The Contractor and each subcontractor 

engaged in the construction, prosecution, completion or repair of any public building or 
public work shall furnish each week a statement with respect to the wages paid each of 
his employees engaged on work covered by these Labor Provisions during the preceding 
weekly payroll period. The statement shall be executed by the Contractor or 
subcontractor, or by an authorized officer or employee of the Contractor or subcontractor, 
who supervises the payment of wages, and shall be on the form attached at the end of 
these Labor Provisions and entitled ‗Weekly Statement of Compliance‖ (Form No. DC 
2640-11). 

 
Each weekly statement required shall be delivered by the Contractor or 

subcontractor, within seven (7) days after regular payment date of the payroll period, to a 
representative of the Contracting Officer in charge at the site of the building or work. After 
each examination and check as may be made, such statement, or copy thereof, shall be 
kept available, or shall be transmitted together with a report of any violation, in 
accordance with applicable procedures prescribed by the US. Department of Labor. 

 
Upon a written finding by the Contracting Officer, the Secretary of Labor may 

provide reasonable limitations, variations, tolerances and exemptions from the 
requirements of this Section subject to such conditions as the Secretary of Labor may 
specify. 

 
C. PAYROLLS AND RECORDS—The Contractor and each subcontractor shall preserve 

his weekly payroll records for a period of three (3) years from date of completion of the 
Contract. The payroll records shall set out accurately and completely the name, address- 
and Social Security Number of each laborer and mechanic, his correct classification, rate 
of pay, daily and weekly number of hours worked, deductions made, and actual wages 
paid. Such payroll records shall be made available at all times for inspection by the 
Contracting Officer, and by authorized representatives of the U.S. Department of Labor. 



Page 35 

 
D. PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS NOT SUBJECT TO SECRETARY OF LABOR APPROVAL—

Deductions made under the circumstances or in the situations described in paragraphs of 
this Section may be made without application to and approval at the Secretary of Labor: 

 
1. Any deduction made in compliance with the requirements of Federal, State, or 

local law, such as Federal or State withholding income taxes and Federal social 
security taxes. 

 
2. Any deduction of sums previously paid to the employee as a bona fide 

prepayment of wages when such prepayment is made without discount or 
interest. A ―bona fide prepayment of wages‖ is considered to have been made 
only when cash or its equivalent has been advanced to the person employed in 
such manner as to give him complete freedom of disposition of the advanced 
funds. 

 
3. Any deduction of amounts required by court process to be paid to another, 

unless the deduction is in favor of the Contractor, subcontractor, or any affiliated 
person, or when collusion or collaboration exists. 

 
4. Any deduction constituting a contribution on behalf of the person employed to 

funds established by the employer, or representatives of employees, or both, for 
the purpose of providing either from principal or income, or both, medical or 
hospital care, pensions or annuities or retirement, death benefits, compensation 
for injuries, illness, accidents, sickness, or disability, or for insurance to provide 
any of the foregoing, or unemployment benefits, vacation pay, savings accounts, 
or similar payments for the benefit of employees, their families and dependents: 
Provided, however, that the following standards are met: 

 
a. The deduction is not otherwise prohibited by law; 

 
b. it is either voluntarily consented to by the employee in writing and in 

advance of the period in which the work is to be done and such 
consent is not a condition either for the obtaining of or for the 
continuation of employment, or provided for in a bona fide collective 
bargaining agreement between the Contractor or subcontractor and 
representatives of his employees; 

 
c. No profit or other benefit is otherwise obtained, directly or indirectly, 

by the Contractor or subcontractor or any affiliated person in the form 
of commission, dividend, or otherwise; and 

 
d. The deductions - shall serve the convenience and interest of the 

employee. 
 

5. Any deduction contributing toward the purchase of United States Defense 
Stamps and Bonds when voluntarily authorized by the employee. 

 
6. Any deduction requested by the employee to enable him to repay loans to or to 

purchase shares in credit unions organized and operated in accordance with 
Federal, State and District credit union statutes. 

 
7. Any deduction voluntarily authorized by the employee for the making of 

contributions to governmental or quasi-governmental agencies, such as the 
American Red Cross. 

 
8. Any deduction voluntarily authorized by the employee for the making of 

contributions to Community Chests, United Givers Funds, and similar charitable 
organizations. 

 



Page 36 

9. Any deduction to pay regular union initiation fees and membership dues, not 
including fines or special assessments; provided, however, that a collective 
bargaining agreement between the Contractor or subcontractor and 
representatives of his employees provides for such deductions and the 
deductions are not otherwise prohibited by law. 

 
10. Any deduction not more than for the ―reasonable cost‖ of. board, lodging, or other 

facilities meeting the requirements of Section 3(m) of the Fair Labor Standards 
Act of 1938, as amended, and Part 531 of said title. When such a deduction is 
made the additional records required under 516.25(a) of this title shall be kept. 

 
E. PAYROLL. DEDUCTIONS SUBJECT TO SECRETARY OF LABOR APPROVAL—The 

Contractor and any subcontractor may apply to the Secretary of Labor for permission to 
make any deduction not permitted under Section D. The Secretary may grant permission 
whenever be finds that: 

 
1. The Contractor, subcontractor or any ai1iated person does not make a profit or 

benefit directly from the deduction, either in the form of a commission, dividend or 
otherwise; 

 
2. The deduction, is not otherwise prohibited by law; 

 
3. The deduction is either: 

 
a. voluntarily consented to by the employee in writing and in advance of the 

period in which the work is to be done and such consent is not a condition 
either for the obtaining of employment or its continuance, or 

 
b. provided for in a bona fide collective bargaining agreement between the 

Contractor or subcontractor and representatives of its employees; and 
 

4. The deduction services the convenience and interest of the employee. 
 

F. APPLICATIONS FOR SECRETARY OF LABOR APPROVAL—Any application for the 
making of payroll deductions under Section E. shall comply with the requirements 
prescribed in Paragraphs 1 through 5: 

 
1. The application shall be in writing and shall be addressed to the Secretary of Labor. 

 
2. The application shall identify the Contract under which the work in question is to be 

performed. Permission will be given for deductions only on specific, identified 
contracts, except upon a showing of exceptional circumstances. 

 
3. The application shall state affirmatively that there is compliance with the standards 

set forth in Section B. The affirmation shall be accompanied by a full statement of the 
facts indicating such compliance. 

 
4. The application shall include a description of the proposed deduction, the purpose to 

be served thereby, and the classes of laborers or mechanics front whose wages 
proposed deduction would be made. 

 
5. The application shall state the name and business of any third person to whom any 

funds obtained from the proposed deductions are to be transmitted and the affiliation 
of such person, if any, with the applicant. 

 
G. ACTION BY SECRETARY OF LABOR UPON APPLICATIONS—The Secretary will 

decide whether or not the requested deduction is permissible under provisions of Section 
B, and shall notify the applicant in writing of his decision. 

 
H. PROHIBITED PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS—Deductions not elsewhere stipulated and 

which are not found to be permissible under Section B are prohibited. 



Page 37 

 
I. METHODS OF PAYMENT OF WAGES—The payment of wages shall be by cash, 

negotiable instruments payable on demand, or the additional forms of compensation for 
which deductions are permissible. No other methods of payment shall be recognized on 
work subject to the Copeland Act. 

 
ARTICLE 6. RESERVED 
 
ARTICLE 7. NONSEGREGATED FACILITIES—The Contractor certifies that he does not and will 
not maintain or provide for his employees any segregated facility at any of his establishments; 
that he does not and will not permit his employees to perform their services at any location under 
his control where segregated facilities are maintained; and that he will obtain and retain identical 
certifications from proposed subcontractors prior to award or subcontracts. 
 
―Segregated facilities‖ shall mean any waiting room, work area, wash and rest rooms, restaurant 
and other eating area, time clock, locker room and other storage or dressing area, parking lot, 
drinking fountain, recreation or entertainment area, transportation and housing facility, provided 
for employees which is segregated by explicit directive or is segregated on the basis of race, 
color, age, sex, religion or national origin, because of habit, local custom or otherwise.  Penalty 
for violation or making false statements is prescribed in 18 USC 1001. 
 
 



Page 38 

 

 

( WEEKLY srATEMENT OF COMPUANCE 
(Constructjon) ~ .. , 

Project No. Contract No. D.te 

Invitation No. 

WAGES AND MOUltS 

TofOI ' Thii'POriod Total To DUe 

S~&ht Time Hours Worked 

Overtime Hours Worked 

Overtime and. Straight Time Houn CombiDed 

Wages Earnecl 

I, • (H_ .f .;p.Lory pan,.) (T .... , 

, do hereby stat. 
(I) .That 'I payor supena. the payment ot1:he persons employec1 by 

an !he ; 
(eo.uw&cw Of ~) (B~ or 'Work) 

that durin8' the payrOll period eOa:u;tendn.c on the ____ day of 
HI.~--t and endinl on the ____ day of • 10_ ..n person. 
employed on s&id project h.~ been paid. full weeldy _&.let ear:tl.ed. that ~ rebates have been or wUl ( 

.,. be made either c1iredJ.,. or indirectly io or on 'Qehalt' of .ald. _____ .'-;;-;;:;;;:;;;;;;:;; ___ _ 
(c:o.u-.r or "'b_~) 

from the full weekly wala earned by u.y penon and that no dedu.etioas ~ve been made dthrr di .. 
ndl,. or indirectly tram the full wa,a eamltd by an)' penon. other thar. permissible -deductions .. 
d.fined in 29 CFR Part 3 hsued. by the Secretary ~ Labor under the t::ope>l.and Act as amended. (48 
Stat. H8; 53 Stat. 108; 72 SLat. 967; 78 ·Stat. S37j .tQ USC 21Sc). a.tI;(i dac:ribed. below: 

(2) That an)' payroll otherwise under the Contract requind. to be submitted for the abo". period 
are correct and complete; that the ware ratle'l for l.borers or m<tehanic:::s eont..a.ined therein an not lest 
than the applicable wale ~t.es contained. in any w .... determination incorporated. into the Contract; 
that the da.ssifieatioru set forth the:rein lor eac:h laboroer or mecb.anie c:o=onn with tlHI wcrk btl per
formed. 
(3) That any apprentice employed. in the .. bow.period 11 duly resat.red. in ... bona. Ade approentiee
ship pr:oeram registered with the BUl"etIU at. Al)pI'enticeshJp Trainina. U.S. Depu:tment at. Labor. 

NO'I'E-Frince Renet!u Statement and S~.ture Bloek are on -reverse. 

,_ No. DC 2HO-11 
.' 



Page 39 

 
 
 
 

1'lUIfGE 1IENl:FlTS STATEMENT 

The Contractor, 01'- subcontractor u .PPl'D~te. hereby stateS tha~: . 

(WHPIE ALL OR A MAJORITY OF 'I1IE FRINGE BENEF.ITS ARE PAID TO APPROVED PLANS, 
( 

FUNDS, OR PROGRAMS) 

( ) Sedlon. I-In addition to the basic hourly wale rates paid to eaeh employee Iialed. in the abov~ 
relerenced payroll, paymenta ot trinK!! ~netlts as listed in the ConU-act havoe been. or will 
be made to appropriate programs tor the benefit 01 such employees,. except u noted in 
Section ! below. -•. ,," 

(WHPIE ALL OR A MAJORITY OF THE FRINGE BENEF1'TS ARE PAID IN CASH) 

( ) Section 2-Each IUnployee !bled in tae above referenced payroD hu been paid. .. ioclicated on the 
payroll. the · basic: hourly wage rate plus an additional: payment in the amount at. the re-
quired frina'e beneBts u U:s.ted. in the Contract. except as noted in Section 3 below. 

WHERE PART OF THE ·FRINGE BENEFITS ARE PAID IN CASH AND PART ARE PAID TO PLANS, 
FONDS, OR PROCRAMS) 

( , Section 3-All of the trlnee bene.tlt payments required by the Centrad bave been or will be m&de 'to 
approp.ru.te PJ"Q11'ams. or have been made by cash payment. In lieu tbueot, or both. to the 
classi1iea: tiODl and in the amounts let fcrth below: 

, HOURLY AloIOUNT 
CLASSIFICATION IDENTITY AND LOCATION OF 

(Or Cla.sdAc:ation Code) Paid To PakllzI. PLAN, FUND OR PROGRAM 
Pro""" Cub 

• , 

( 

-

, 

Sl .... tu:e I Tille 

The wi1ltul !alsi1leaUon of eithu of the siatemcnts which appear &beve may INbjed the Contractor to civil 
or c:rimi.tLal prosecution. &te 18 USC 1001 -¥- 1020 and 31 USC 23L 



Attachments

J.5 Bond Forms



Page 1 of 2 

GOVERNMENT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

OFFER BOND 
(See Instructions on 2nd page) 

Date Bond Executed: 
(Must Not be Later Than Offer Opening Date) 

PRINCIPAL (Legal Name and Address) TYPE OF ORGANIZATION ("X") 
[ ] INDIVIDUAL      [ ] PARTNERSHIP 
[ ] JOINT VENTURE                [ ] CORPORATION 

STATE OF INCORPORATION 
PENAL SUM OF BOND 

SURETY(IES) (Name(s) and Address(es)) AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED 5% OF 
OFFERMILLION(S) THOUSAND(S) HUNDRED(S) CENTS 

OFFER IDENTIFICATION 
OFFER 

OPENING DATE 
INVITATION NO. 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that we, the Principal and Surety(ies) hereto are firmly bound to the District of Columbia Government, a 
municipal corporation, hereinafter called "the District", in the above penal sum for the payment of which we bind ourselves, our heirs, executors, and 
successors, jointly and severally; Provided that, where the Surety(ies) are corporations acting as co-sureties, we, the Sureties, bind ourselves in such sum 
"jointly" and "severally" only for the purpose of allowing a joint action against any or all of us, and for all other purposes each Surety bonds itself, jointly 
and severally with the Principal, for the payment of such sum only as is set forth opposite the name of such Surety, but if no limit of liability is indicated, 
the limit of liability shall be the full amount of the penal sum. 

THE CONDITION OF THIS OBLIGATION IS SUCH that whereas the Principal has submitted the offer identified above.  NOW THEREFORE, if the 
Principal shall not withdraw said offer within the period specified therein after the receipt of the same, or, no period be specified, within ninety (90) 
calendar days after said receipt, and shall within the period specified therefore, or, if no period be specified, within ten (10) calendar days after being called 
upon to do so, furnish Performance & Payment Bonds with good and sufficient surety, as may be required, for the faithful performance and proper 
fulfillment of the Contract, and for the protection of all persons supplying labor and material in the prosecution of the work provided for in such Contract 
or, in the event of withdrawal of said offer, within the period specified, or the failure to furnish such bond within the time specified, if the Principal shall 
pay the District the difference between the amount specified in said offer and the amount for which the District may procure the required work and/or 
supplies, if the latter amount be in excess of the former, then the above obligations shall be void and of no effect, otherwise to remain in full force and 
virtue.  Each Surety executing this bond hereby agrees that its obligation shall not be impaired by extension(s) of time for acceptance of the offer that the 
Principal may grant to the District, notice of which extension(s) to Surety (ies) being hereby waived: Provided that such waiver of notice shall apply only 
with respect to extensions aggregating not more than sixty (60) calendar days in addition to the period originally allowed for acceptance of the offer. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Principal and Surety (ies) have executed this offer bond and have affixed their seals on the date set forth above.

PRINCIPAL 
1. SIGNATURE

Seal 

1. ATTEST Corporate 
Seal 

Name & Title (typed) Name & Title (typed) 

2. SIGNATURE

Seal 

2. ATTEST Corporate 
Seal 

Name & Title (typed) Name & Title (typed) 



Page 2 of 2 
 

CERTIFICATE AS TO CORPORATION 

 

 
 
 
I, ____________________________________________, certify that I am____________________________________________, 
Secretary of the Corporation, named as Principal herein, that _________________________________, who signed this bond, on 
behalf of the Principal, was then of said Corporation; that I know his signature, and his signature thereto is genuine; that said bond 
was duly signed and sealed for and in behalf of said Corporation by authority of its governing body, and is within the scope of its 
corporate powers.  
                             _______________________________                                                  
                                            Secretary of Corporation  
 
 SURETY(IES) 
1.  Name & Address (typed) 
 
 

State of Inc. Liability 
Limit 

Corporate 
Seal 

 Signature of Attorney-in-Fact 
 
 

Attest (Signature) 

    Name & Address (typed) 
 

 Name & Address (typed) 
 
 

1.  Name & Address (typed) 
 

State of Inc. Liability 
Limit 
 

Corporate 
Seal 
 
 
 

 Signature of Attorney-in-Fact 
 

Attest (Signature) 
 
 

 Name & Address (typed) 
 

 Name & Address (typed) 
 
 

INSTRUCTIONS 
 
1.  This form shall be used whenever a offer guaranty is required in connection with construction, alteration and repair work. 
2.  Corporations name should appear exactly as it does on Corporate Seal and inserted in the space designated “Principal” on the 

face of this form.  If practicable, bond should be signed by the President or Vice President; if signed by other official, evidence 
of authority must be furnished.  Such evidence should be in the form of an Extract or Minutes of a Meeting of the Board of 
Directors,  or Extract of Bylaws, certified by the Corporate Secretary, or Assistant Secretary and Corporate Seal affixed 
thereto.  CERTIFICATE AS TO CORPORATION must be executed by Corporate Secretary or Assistant Secretary.  

3.  Corporations executing the bond as sureties must be among those appearing on the U. S. Treasury Department’s List of 
approved sureties and must be acting within the limitations set forth therein, and shall be licensed by the Insurance 
Administration,  Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs, to do business in the District of Columbia.  The surety shall 
attach hereto an adequate Power-Of-Attorney for each representative signing the bond.  

4.  Corporations executing the bond shall affix their Corporate Seals.  Individuals shall sign full first name, middle initial and last 
      name opposite the word “seal”, two witnesses must be supplied, and their addresses, under the word “attest”.  If executed in 
      Maine or New Hampshire, an adhesive seal shall be affixed.  
5.   Names of all partners must be set out in body of bond form, with the recital that they are partners composing a firm, naming it, 

and all members of the firm shall execute the bond as individuals.  Each signature must be witnessed by two persons and 
addresses supplied. 



Attachment J.6

Offer Letter



 [Contractor’s Letterhead] 

 

[Insert Date] 

University of the District of Columbia 
4200 Connecticut Avenue, NW 
Washington, DC 20008 
 
 Attn:             Contracting Officer  
Reference:   Request for Proposal No. (Insert Solicitation No.) “(Insert Project Name)”   

 
Dear Mr. Whitaker: 
 
On behalf of [insert name of bidder], I am pleased to submit this proposal in response to the University 
of the District of Columbia’s Request for Proposal (RFP) No. (Insert Solicitation No.) “(Insert Project 
Name)” for the University of the District of Columbia.  The Offeror has reviewed the RFP and the 
attachments thereto, any addenda thereto, and the proposed Form of Contract (collectively, the “Proposal 
Documents”) and has conducted such due diligence and analysis as the Offeror, in its sole judgment, has 
deemed necessary in order to submit its Proposal in response to the RFP. 
 
The Offeror’s Proposal including the Design Fee (as defined in paragraph A), the Design-Build Fee (as 
defined in paragraph B), and the Lump Sum General Conditions Cost (as defined in paragraph C) are 
based on the Proposal Documents as issued and assume no material alteration of the terms of the Proposal 
Documents (collectively, the Proposal, the Design Fee, Design-Build Fee, and the Lump Sum General 
Conditions Cost are referred to as the “Offeror’s Proposal”). 
 

The Offeror’s Proposal is as follows:  

A. Design Fee:     $_____________________  

B. Design-Build Fee:     $_____________________  

C. Lump Sum General Conditions Cost  $_____________________ 

 

The Offeror acknowledges and understands that Design-Build Fee and Lump Sum General Conditions 
Cost are firm, fixed prices and other than as permitted in the Form of Contract will not be subject to further 
adjustment.  

D. In addition, the Offeror hereby represents that, based on its current rating with its surety, the indicated 
cost of a payment and performance bond is [INSERT PERCENTAGE]. 

Authorized Signature 
Title 
 



Attachment  J.7

General Decision Number: DC20230002 06/30/2023 Superseded General Decision Number: DC20220002



          "General Decision Number: DC20230002 06/02/2023

Superseded General Decision Number: DC20220002

State: District of Columbia

Construction Type: Building

County: District of Columbia Statewide.

BUILDING CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS (does not include single family
homes or apartments up to and including 4 stories).

Note: Contracts subject to the Davis-Bacon Act are generally
required to pay at least the applicable minimum wage rate
required under Executive Order 14026 or Executive Order 13658.
Please note that these Executive Orders apply to covered
contracts entered into by the federal government that are
subject to the Davis-Bacon Act itself, but do not apply to
contracts subject only to the Davis-Bacon Related Acts,
including those set forth at 29 CFR 5.1(a)(2)-(60).

______________________________________________________________
|If the contract is entered    |. Executive Order 14026      |
|into on or after January 30,  |  generally applies to the   |
|2022, or the contract is      |  contract.                  |
|renewed or extended (e.g., an |. The contractor must pay    |
|option is exercised) on or    |  all covered workers at     |
|after January 30, 2022:       |  least $16.20 per hour (or  |
|                              |  the applicable wage rate   |
|                              |  listed on this wage        |
|                              |  determination, if it is    |
|                              |  higher) for all hours      |
|                              |  spent performing on the    |
|                              |  contract in 2023.          |
|______________________________|_____________________________|
|If the contract was awarded on|. Executive Order 13658      |
|or between January 1, 2015 and|  generally applies to the   |
|January 29, 2022, and the     |  contract.                  |
|contract is not renewed or    |. The contractor must pay all|
|extended on or after January  |  covered workers at least   |
|30, 2022:                     |  $12.15 per hour (or the    |
|                              |  applicable wage rate listed|
|                              |  on this wage determination,|
|                              |  if it is higher) for all   |
|                              |  hours spent performing on  |
|                              |  that contract in 2023.     |
|______________________________|_____________________________|

The applicable Executive Order minimum wage rate will be
adjusted annually. If this contract is covered by one of the
Executive Orders and a classification considered necessary for
performance of work on the contract does not appear on this
wage determination, the contractor must still submit a
conformance request.

Additional information on contractor requirements and worker
protections under the Executive Orders is available at
http://www.dol.gov/whd/govcontracts.

Modification Number     Publication Date
          0              01/06/2023
          1              01/13/2023



          2              04/07/2023
          3              05/05/2023
          4              06/02/2023

 ASBE0024-007 04/01/2021

                                  Rates          Fringes

ASBESTOS WORKER/HEAT & FROST   
INSULATOR........................$ 39.27          18.67+a

  Includes the application of all insulating materials,
  protective coverings, coatings and finishes to all types of
  mechanical systems

  a. PAID HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Martin Luther King Day,
  Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Veterans' Day,
  Thanksgiving Day,the day after Thanksgiving and Christmas
  Day provided the employee works the regular work day before
  and after the paid holiday.

----------------------------------------------------------------
 ASBE0024-008 04/01/2021

                                  Rates          Fringes

ASBESTOS WORKER:  HAZARDOUS   
MATERIAL HANDLER.................$ 24.46           8.69+a

  Includes preparation, wetting, stripping, removal, scrapping,
  vacuuming, bagging and disposing of all insulation
  materials, whether they contain asbestos or not, from
  mechanical systems

  a. PAID HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Martin Luther King Day,
  Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Veterans' Day,
  Thanksgiving Day,the day after Thanksgiving and Christmas
  Day provided the employee works the regular work day before
  and after the paid holiday.

----------------------------------------------------------------
 ASBE0024-014 04/01/2021

                                  Rates          Fringes

FIRESTOPPER......................$ 29.41           8.73+a

  Includes the application of materials or devices within or
  around penetrations and openings in all rated wall or floor
  assemblies, in order to prevent the pasage of fire, smoke
  of other gases. The application includes all components
  involved in creating the rated barrier at perimeter slab
  edges and exterior cavities, the head of gypsum board or
  concrete walls, joints between rated wall or floor
  components, sealing of penetrating items and blank openings.

  a. PAID HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Martin Luther King Day,
  Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Veterans' Day,
  Thanksgiving Day,the day after Thanksgiving and Christmas
  Day provided the employee works the regular work day before
  and after the paid holiday.

----------------------------------------------------------------
 BRDC0001-002 04/30/2023



                                  Rates          Fringes

BRICKLAYER.......................$ 36.50            13.47
----------------------------------------------------------------
 CARP0197-011 05/01/2022

                                  Rates          Fringes

CARPENTER, Includes Drywall   
Hanging, Form Work, and Soft   
Floor Laying-Carpet..............$ 31.40            13.86
----------------------------------------------------------------
 CARP0219-001 05/01/2022

                                  Rates          Fringes

MILLWRIGHT.......................$ 36.00            14.07
----------------------------------------------------------------
 CARP0441-001 05/01/2022

                                  Rates          Fringes

PILEDRIVERMAN....................$ 34.62            13.45
----------------------------------------------------------------
 ELEC0026-016 12/06/2021

                                  Rates          Fringes

ELECTRICIAN, Includes   
Installation of    
HVAC/Temperature Controls........$ 50.00            20.49
----------------------------------------------------------------
 ELEC0026-017 09/07/2022

                                  Rates          Fringes

ELECTRICAL INSTALLER  (Sound   
& Communication Systems).........$ 33.95            11.39

  SCOPE OF WORK: Includes low voltage construction,
  installation, maintenance and removal of teledata
  facilities (voice, data and video) including outside plant,
  telephone and data inside wire, interconnect, terminal
  equipment, central offices, PABX, fiber optic cable and
  equipment, railroad communications, micro waves, VSAT,
  bypass, CATV, WAN (Wide area networks), LAN (Local area
  networks) and ISDN (Integrated systems digital network).

  WORK EXCLUDED: The installation of computer systems in
  industrial applications such as assembly lines, robotics
  and computer controller manufacturing systems.  The
  installation of conduit and/or raceways shall be installed
  by Inside Wiremen. On sites where there is no Inside
  Wireman employed, the Teledata Technician may install
  raceway or conduit not greater than 10 feet. Fire alarm
  work is excluded on all new construction sites or wherever
  the fire alarm system is installed in conduit.  All HVAC
  control work.

----------------------------------------------------------------
 ELEV0010-001 01/01/2023

                                  Rates          Fringes

ELEVATOR MECHANIC................$ 52.49       37.335+a+b



  a. PAID HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Memorial Day, Independence
  Day, Labor Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas
  Day and the Friday after Thanksgiving.

  b. VACATIONS: Employer contributes 8% of basic hourly rate
  for 5 years or more of service; 6% of basic hourly rate for
  6 months to 5 years of service as vacation pay credit.

----------------------------------------------------------------
* IRON0005-005 06/01/2023

                                  Rates          Fringes

IRONWORKER, STRUCTURAL AND   
ORNAMENTAL.......................$ 36.10            25.19
----------------------------------------------------------------
* IRON0005-012 05/01/2023

                                  Rates          Fringes

IRONWORKER, REINFORCING..........$ 30.70            23.33
----------------------------------------------------------------
 LABO0011-009 06/01/2022

                                  Rates          Fringes

LABORER:  Skilled................$ 27.48             8.98

  FOOTNOTE:  Potmen, power tool operator, small machine
  operator, signalmen, laser beam operator, waterproofer
  (excluding roofing), open caisson, test pit, underpinning,
  pier hole and ditches, laggers and all work associated with
  lagging that is not expressly stated, strippers, operator
  of hand derricks, vibrator operators, pipe layers, or tile
  layers, operators of jackhammers, paving breakers, spaders
  or any machine that does the same general type of work,
  carpenter tenders, scaffold builders, operators of
  towmasters, scootcretes, buggymobiles and other machines of
  similar character, operators of tampers and rammers and
  other machines that do the same general type of work,
  whether powered by air, electric or gasoline, builders of
  trestle scaffolds over one tier high and sand blasters,
  power and chain saw operators used in clearing, installers
  of well points, wagon drill operators, acetylene burners
  and licensed powdermen, stake jumper,demolition.

----------------------------------------------------------------
 MARB0002-004 04/30/2023

                                  Rates          Fringes

MARBLE/STONE MASON...............$ 43.16            20.28

  INCLUDING pointing, caulking and cleaning of All types of
  masonry, brick, stone and cement EXCEPT pointing, caulking,
  cleaning of existing masonry, brick, stone and cement
  (restoration work)

----------------------------------------------------------------
 MARB0003-006 04/30/2023

                                  Rates          Fringes

TERRAZZO WORKER/SETTER...........$ 33.41            12.67



----------------------------------------------------------------
 MARB0003-007 04/30/2023

                                  Rates          Fringes

TERRAZZO FINISHER................$ 27.68            11.63
----------------------------------------------------------------
 MARB0003-008 04/30/2023

                                  Rates          Fringes

TILE SETTER......................$ 33.41            12.67
----------------------------------------------------------------
 MARB0003-009 04/30/2023

                                  Rates          Fringes

TILE FINISHER....................$ 27.68            11.63
----------------------------------------------------------------
 PAIN0051-014 06/01/2022

                                  Rates          Fringes

GLAZIER  
     Glazing Contracts $2 
     million and under...........$ 29.92            13.35
     Glazing Contracts over $2 
     million.....................$ 34.16            13.35
----------------------------------------------------------------
 PAIN0051-015 06/01/2022

                                  Rates          Fringes

PAINTER  
     Brush, Roller, Spray and 
     Drywall Finisher............$ 26.61            11.41
----------------------------------------------------------------
 PLAS0891-005 07/01/2021

                                  Rates          Fringes

PLASTERER (Including   
Fireproofing)....................$ 30.53             7.93
----------------------------------------------------------------
 PLAS0891-006 02/01/2020

                                  Rates          Fringes

CEMENT MASON/CONCRETE FINISHER...$ 28.82            11.68
----------------------------------------------------------------
 PLUM0005-010 08/01/2022

                                  Rates          Fringes

PLUMBER..........................$ 48.00          20.75+a

  a. PAID HOLIDAYS:  Labor Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day
  and the day after Thanksgiving, Christmas Day, New Year's
  Day, Martin Luther King's Birthday, Memorial Day and the
  Fourth of July.

----------------------------------------------------------------
 PLUM0602-008 08/01/2022

                                  Rates          Fringes



PIPEFITTER, Includes  HVAC   
Pipe Installation................$ 47.98          23.20+a

  a. PAID HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Martin Luther King's
  Birthday, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day,
  Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day and the day after
  Thanksgiving and Christmas Day.

----------------------------------------------------------------
 ROOF0030-016 07/01/2022

                                  Rates          Fringes

ROOFER...........................$ 32.26            14.71
----------------------------------------------------------------
 SFDC0669-002 04/01/2023

                                  Rates          Fringes

SPRINKLER FITTER (Fire   
Sprinklers)......................$ 40.46            25.22
----------------------------------------------------------------
 SHEE0100-015 11/01/2021

                                  Rates          Fringes

SHEET METAL WORKER (Including   
HVAC Duct Installation)..........$ 44.37          21.33+a

  a. PAID HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Martin Luther King's
  Birthday, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day,
  Veterans Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day

----------------------------------------------------------------
*  SUDC2009-003 05/19/2009

                                  Rates          Fringes

LABORER:  Common or General......$ 13.04 **          2.80
  
LABORER:  Mason Tender -   
Cement/Concrete..................$ 15.40 **          2.85
  
LABORER: Mason Tender for   
pointing, caulking, cleaning   
of existing masonry, brick,   
stone and cement structures   
(restoration work); excludes   
pointing, caulking and   
cleaning of new or   
replacement masonry, brick,   
stone and cement.................$ 11.67 **              
  
POINTER, CAULKER, CLEANER,   
Includes pointing, caulking,   
cleaning of existing masonry,   
brick, stone and cement   
structures (restoration   
work); excludes pointing,   
caulking, cleaning of new or   
replacement   
masonry, brick, stone or   
cement...........................$ 18.88                 
----------------------------------------------------------------



WELDERS - Receive rate prescribed for craft performing
operation to which welding is incidental.

================================================================

** Workers in this classification may be entitled to a higher
minimum wage under Executive Order 14026 ($16.20) or 13658
($12.15).  Please see the Note at the top of the wage
determination for more information.

Note: Executive Order (EO) 13706, Establishing Paid Sick Leave
for Federal Contractors applies to all contracts subject to the
Davis-Bacon Act for which the contract is awarded (and any
solicitation was issued) on or after January 1, 2017.  If this
contract is covered by the EO, the contractor must provide
employees with 1 hour of paid sick leave for every 30 hours
they work, up to 56 hours of paid sick leave each year.
Employees must be permitted to use paid sick leave for their
own illness, injury or other health-related needs, including
preventive care; to assist a family member (or person who is
like family to the employee) who is ill, injured, or has other
health-related needs, including preventive care; or for reasons
resulting from, or to assist a family member (or person who is
like family to the employee) who is a victim of, domestic
violence, sexual assault, or stalking.  Additional information
on contractor requirements and worker protections under the EO
is available at
https://www.dol.gov/agencies/whd/government-contracts.

Unlisted classifications needed for work not included within
the scope of the classifications listed may be added after
award only as provided in the labor standards contract clauses
(29CFR 5.5 (a) (1) (ii)).

----------------------------------------------------------------

The body of each wage determination lists the classification
and wage rates that have been found to be prevailing for the
cited type(s) of construction in the area covered by the wage
determination. The classifications are listed in alphabetical
order of ""identifiers"" that indicate whether the particular
rate is a union rate (current union negotiated rate for local),
a survey rate (weighted average rate) or a union average rate
(weighted union average rate).

Union Rate Identifiers

A four letter classification abbreviation identifier enclosed
in dotted lines beginning with characters other than ""SU"" or
""UAVG"" denotes that the union classification and rate were
prevailing for that classification in the survey. Example:
PLUM0198-005 07/01/2014. PLUM is an abbreviation identifier of
the union which prevailed in the survey for this
classification, which in this example would be Plumbers. 0198
indicates the local union number or district council number
where applicable, i.e., Plumbers Local 0198. The next number,
005 in the example, is an internal number used in processing
the wage determination. 07/01/2014 is the effective date of the
most current negotiated rate, which in this example is July 1,
2014.

Union prevailing wage rates are updated to reflect all rate



changes in the collective bargaining agreement (CBA) governing
this classification and rate.

Survey Rate Identifiers

Classifications listed under the ""SU"" identifier indicate that
no one rate prevailed for this classification in the survey and
the published rate is derived by computing a weighted average
rate based on all the rates reported in the survey for that
classification.  As this weighted average rate includes all
rates reported in the survey, it may include both union and
non-union rates. Example: SULA2012-007 5/13/2014. SU indicates
the rates are survey rates based on a weighted average
calculation of rates and are not majority rates. LA indicates
the State of Louisiana. 2012 is the year of survey on which
these classifications and rates are based. The next number, 007
in the example, is an internal number used in producing the
wage determination. 5/13/2014 indicates the survey completion
date for the classifications and rates under that identifier.

Survey wage rates are not updated and remain in effect until a
new survey is conducted.

Union Average Rate Identifiers

Classification(s) listed under the UAVG identifier indicate
that no single majority rate prevailed for those
classifications; however, 100% of the data reported for the
classifications was union data. EXAMPLE: UAVG-OH-0010
08/29/2014. UAVG indicates that the rate is a weighted union
average rate. OH indicates the state. The next number, 0010 in
the example, is an internal number used in producing the wage
determination. 08/29/2014 indicates the survey completion date
for the classifications and rates under that identifier.

A UAVG rate will be updated once a year, usually in January of
each year, to reflect a weighted average of the current
negotiated/CBA rate of the union locals from which the rate is
based.

----------------------------------------------------------------

                   WAGE DETERMINATION APPEALS PROCESS

1.) Has there been an initial decision in the matter? This can
be:

*  an existing published wage determination
*  a survey underlying a wage determination
*  a Wage and Hour Division letter setting forth a position on
   a wage determination matter
*  a conformance (additional classification and rate) ruling

On survey related matters, initial contact, including requests
for summaries of surveys, should be with the Wage and Hour
National Office because National Office has responsibility for
the Davis-Bacon survey program. If the response from this
initial contact is not satisfactory, then the process described
in 2.) and 3.) should be followed.

With regard to any other matter not yet ripe for the formal
process described here, initial contact should be with the
Branch of Construction Wage Determinations.  Write to:



            Branch of Construction Wage Determinations
            Wage and Hour Division
            U.S. Department of Labor
            200 Constitution Avenue, N.W.
            Washington, DC 20210

2.) If the answer to the question in 1.) is yes, then an
interested party (those affected by the action) can request
review and reconsideration from the Wage and Hour Administrator
(See 29 CFR Part 1.8 and 29 CFR Part 7). Write to:

            Wage and Hour Administrator
            U.S. Department of Labor
            200 Constitution Avenue, N.W.
            Washington, DC 20210

The request should be accompanied by a full statement of the
interested party's position and by any information (wage
payment data, project description, area practice material,
etc.) that the requestor considers relevant to the issue.

3.) If the decision of the Administrator is not favorable, an
interested party may appeal directly to the Administrative
Review Board (formerly the Wage Appeals Board).  Write to:

            Administrative Review Board
            U.S. Department of Labor
            200 Constitution Avenue, N.W.
            Washington, DC 20210

4.) All decisions by the Administrative Review Board are final.

================================================================

          END OF GENERAL DECISIO"

        



Attachment J.8

Way to Work Amendment Act of 2006 - Living Wage Notice 
Living Wage Fact Sheet



GOVERNMENT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
Department of Employment Services 

 

MURIEL BOWSER  DR. UNIQUE MORRIS-HUGHES 

MAYOR  DIRECTOR 

                      
 

4058 Minnesota Ave, N.E.  • Suite 3600 • Washington, D.C. 20019 • Office: 202.671.1900 

LIVING WAGE ACT FACT SHEET 
 

The Living Wage Act of 2006, D.C. Code §§ 2-220.01 – 2-220.11, provides that District of Columbia government 
contractors and recipients of government assistance (grants, loans, tax increment financing), in the amount of 
$100,000 or more, shall pay affiliated employees wages at no less than the current living wage rate. 

Effective January 1, 2023 until June 30, 2023, the living wage rate is $16.50 
per hour. 

 Effective July 1, 2023, the District’s Minimum Wage and Living Wage will 
increase to $17.00 per hour.  

 
Subcontractors of D.C. government contractors, who receive $15,000 or more from the contract, and subcontractors 
of the recipients of government assistance, who receive $50,000 or more from the assistance, are also required to pay 
their affiliated employees no less than the current living wage rate. 

“Affiliated employee” means any individual employed by a recipient who receives compensation directly from 
government assistance or a contract with the District of Columbia government, including any employee of a 
contractor or subcontractor of a recipient who performs services pursuant to government assistance or a contract.  
The term “affiliated employee” does not include those individuals who perform only intermittent or incidental 
services with respect to the government assistance or contract, or who are otherwise employed by the contractor, 
recipient or subcontractor. 

Exemptions – The following contracts and agreements are exempt from the Living Wage Act: 

1. Contracts or other agreements that are subject to higher wage level determinations required by federal 
law (i.e., if a contract is subject to the Service Contract Act and certain wage rates are lower than the 
District’s current living wage, the contractor must pay the higher of the two rates); 

 
2. Existing and future collective bargaining agreements, provided that the future collective bargaining 

agreement results in the employee being paid no less than the current living wage; 
 

3. Contracts for electricity, telephone, water, sewer or other services provided by a regulated utility; 
 

4. Contracts for services needed immediately to prevent or respond to a disaster or imminent threat to 
public health or safety declared by the Mayor; 

 
5. Contracts or other agreements that provide trainees with additional services including, but not limited 

to, case management and job readiness services, provided that the trainees do not replace employees 
subject to the Living Wage Act; 

 



  

6. An employee, under 22 years of age, employed during a school vacation period, or enrolled as full-time 
student, as defined by the respective institution, who is in high school or at an accredited institution of 
higher education and who works less than 25 hours per week; provided that students not replace 
employees subject to the Living Wage Act; 

 
7. Tenants or retail establishments that occupy property constructed or improved by receipt of 

government assistance from the District of Columbia; provided, that the tenant or retail establishment 
did not receive direct government assistance from the District of Columbia; 

 
8. Employees of nonprofit organizations that employ not more than 50 individuals and qualify for taxation 

exemption pursuant to Section 501 (c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, approved August 16, 
1954 (68 A Stat. 163; 26.  U.S.C. §501(c)(3)); 

 
9. Medicaid provider agreements for direct care services to Medicaid recipients, provided, that the direct 

care service is not provided through a home care agency, a community residence facility, or a group 
home for persons with intellectual disabilities as those terms are defined in section 2 of the Health-Care 
and Community Residence Facility, Hospice, and Home Care Licensure Act of 1983; D.C. Official 
Code § 44-501; and 

 
10. Contracts or other agreements between managed care organizations and the Health Care Safety Net 

Administration or the Medicaid Assistance Administration to provide health services. 
 

Enforcement 
The Department of Employment Services (DOES) Office of Wage-Hour and the D.C. Office of Contracting and 
Procurement share monitoring responsibilities. 

Home Care Final Rule: The Department of Labor extended overtime protections to home care workers 

and workers who provide companionship services.  Employers within this industry are now subject to 

recordkeeping provisions.   

If you learn that a contractor subject to this law is not paying at least the current living wage, you should report it to 
the contracting officer. If you believe that your employer is subject to this law and is not paying at least the current 
living wage, you may file a complaint with the DOES Office of Wage - Hour, located at 4058 Minnesota Avenue, 
N.E. Suite 3600, Washington, D.C.  20019, call (202) 671-1880, or file your claim on-line: www.does.dc.gov.  Go to 
“File a Claim” tab. 

For questions and additional information, contact the Office of Contracting and Procurement at (202) 727-0252 or the 
Department of Employment Services on (202) 671-1880. 

Please note: This fact sheet is for informational purposes only as required by Section 106 of the Living Wage Act.  It should not 

be relied on as a definitive statement of the Living Wage Act or any regulations adopted pursuant to the law. 



   THE LIVING WAGE ACT OF 2006  
D.C. Code §§ 2-220.01 – 2-220.11 

Recipients of new contracts or government assistance shall pay affiliated employees and subcontractors who 
perform services under the contracts no less than the current living wage.  

Effective January 1, 2023 until June 30, 2023, the living wage rate is $16.50 per hour. 
Effective July 1, 2023, the District’s Minimum Wage and Living Wage will increase to 

$17.00. 

The requirement to pay a living wage applies to: 
▪ All recipients of contracts in the amount of $100,000 or more, and all subcontractors that receive 

$15,000 or more from the funds received by the recipient from the District of Columbia, and 
▪ All recipients of government assistance in the amount of $100,000 or more, and all subcontractors of 

these recipients that receive $50,000 or more from the government assistance received by the 
recipient from the District of Columbia. 

“Contract” means a written agreement between a recipient and the District government. 
“Government assistance” means a grant, loan, or tax increment financing that result in a financial benefit 
from an agency, commission, instrumentality, or other entity of the District government. 
“Affiliated employee” means any individual employed by a recipient who received compensation directly 
from government assistance or a contract with the District of Columbia government, including employees of 
the District of Columbia, any employee of a contractor or subcontractor of a recipient who performs 
services pursuant to government assistance or contract.  The term “affiliated employee” does not include 
those individuals who perform only intermittent or incidental services with respect to the contract or 
government assistance or who are otherwise employed by the contractor, recipient, or subcontractor. 
 
Certain exemptions apply: 1) Contracts or agreements subject to wage determinations required by federal law 
which are higher than the wage required by this Act; 2) Existing and future collecting bargaining agreements, 
provided that the future agreement results in employees being paid no less than the current living wage; 3) 
contracts for electricity, telephone, water , sewer performed by regulated utilities; 4) contracts for services needed 
immediately to prevent or respond to a disaster or imminent threat declared by the Mayor; 5) contracts awarded to 
recipients that provide trainees with services, including but not limited to case management and job readiness 
services, provided the trainee does not replace employees; 6) employees under 22 years of age employed during a 
school vacation period, or enrolled as a full-time student who works less than 25 hours per week; 7) tenants or 
retail establishments that occupy property constructed or improved by government assistance, provided there is no 
receipt of direct District government assistance; 8) employees of nonprofit organizations that employ not more 
than 50 individuals and qualify for 501(c)(3) status; 9) Medicaid provider agreements for direct care services to 
Medicaid recipients, provided, that the direct care service is not provided through a home care agency, a 
community residence facility, or a group home for persons with intellectual disabilities as those terms are defined 
in section 2 of the Health-Care and Community Residence Facility, Hospice, and Home Care Licensure Act of 
1983; D.C. Official Code § 44-501; and 10) contracts or agreements between managed care organizations and the 
Health Care Safety Net Administration or the Medicaid Assistance Administration to provide health services.  
 
Home Care Final Rule: The Department of Labor extended overtime protections to home care workers and 
workers who provide companionship services.  Employers within this industry are now subject to recordkeeping 
provisions.  
 
Each recipient and subcontractor of a recipient shall provide this notice to each affiliated employee covered by this notice, and 
shall also post this notice in a conspicuous site in its place of business. All recipients and subcontractors shall retain payroll 
records created and maintained in the regular course of business under District of Columbia law for a period of at least 3 years. 
 
To file a claim, visit: Department of Employment Services , Office of Wage-Hour, 400 Virginia Ave., SW, 4th Flr, Washington, 
D.C. 20024; call: (202) 671-1880; or file your claim on-line: does.dc.gov. Go to “File a Claim” tab. 



Attachment  J.9



           GOVERNMENT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA  
                                 Office of the Chief Financial Officer 
                                                     Office of Tax and Revenue  
                

Authorized Agent 
Name of Organization/Entity 
Business Address (include zip code) 
Business Phone Number

I hereby authorize the District of Columbia, Office of the Chief Financial Officer, Office of Tax and Revenue  to 
release my tax information to an authorized representative of the District of Columbia agency with which I am 
seeking to enter into a contractual relationship.  I understand that the information released  will be limited to 
whether or not I am in compliance with the District of Columbia tax laws and regulations solely for the purpose of 
determining my eligibility to enter into a contractual relationship with a District of Columbia agency.  I further 
authorize that this consent be valid for one year from the date of  this authorization. 
  
I hereby certify that I am in compliance with the applicable tax filing and payment requirements of the District of 
Columbia. The Office of Tax and Revenue is hereby authorized to verify the above information with the appropriate 
government authorities.   
  
  
 

                                            
                       TAX CERTIFICATION AFFIDAVIT

Date

________________________________________________________________________________     
                                                   Office of Tax and Revenue, PO Box 37559, Washington, DC 20013

THIS AFFIDAVIT IS TO BE COMPLETED ONLY BY THOSE WHO ARE REGISTERED TO CONDUCT BUSINESS IN 
THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA.

  
Authorized Agent 
Principal Officer Name and Title 
Square and  Lot Information 
Federal Identification Number 
Contract Number 
Unemployment Insurance Account No. 
 

Signature of Authorizing Agent Title

The penalty for making false statement is a fine not to exceed $5,000.00, imprisonment for not more than 180 days, 
or both, as prescribed by D.C. Official Code §47-4106.                                      
                       



ATTACHMENT J.10

Subcontracting Plan: SBE Subcontracting Plan, Vendor Verification Form Template, Outreach Activities - 

Construction



 SBE SUBCONTRACTNG PLAN | Revised  March 2023 

SBE Subcontracting Plan 
FAQs & Checklist 

This Checklist and FAQs are being provided to assist you in completing the SBE Subcontracting Plan. You 
must submit the Subcontracting Plan for all construction and non-construction contracts for government-
assisted projects and for any application for a Class A Operator, Class B Operator, or Management Service 
Provider (MSP) license to be issued by the Office of Lottery & Gaming (OLG). You must adhere to all District 
laws regarding the requirements of Subcontracting Plans, the instructions on the SBE Subcontracting Plan 
(below), and any instructions provided by the procuring agency or OLG. 

FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS 

 Who is required to complete an SBE Subcontracting Plan?
o All beneficiaries of construction or non-construction contracts for government-assisted projects in

excess of $250,000 must submit an SBE Subcontracting Plan unless the subcontracting
requirement is otherwise fully waived by the Director of the Department of Small & Local Business
Development. A partial waiver still requires an SBE Subcontracting Plan.

 I am a CBE Prime Contractor doing 100% of the work under my contract, am I required to complete
the SBE Subcontracting Plan?

o If a CBE Prime is selected as a beneficiary of a construction or non-construction contract and will
perform 100% of the work, subcontracting is not required. If 100% of the work is performed by the
CBE Prime, it shall attest to completing 100% of the work. However, if a CBE Prime subcontracts
any portion of the work, 35% of the total amount subcontracted must be with anSBE. For example,
if a CBE Prime receives a contract for $1,000,000 and will perform only $900,000 of the contract,
35% of the remaining $100,000 (i.e., $35,000) must be subcontracted to qualified SBEs. The SBE
Subcontracting Plan, based on this example, should be completed.

 Will DSLBD credit 100% of a CBE’s subcontract towards my subcontracting goal?
o DSLBD will only provide credit towards your subcontracting goal for work whereby a SBE provides

a commercially useful function. For example, if a Prime contractor awards a $100,000 contract to
an SBE subcontractor to procure software licenses at $95,000, and the remaining $5,000 is paid
to the SBE for obtaining those software licenses, only the $5,000 will be credited towards the
subcontracting goal. Any pass-thru costs or other work where the SBE is not providing a
commercially useful function--with its own organization and resources--will not be credited.

 Does my SBE Subcontracting Plan have to cover all options periods of the contract or solely the
current performance period?

o The SBE Subcontracting Plan should only include information for the current period of
performance. Thus, the SBE Subcontracting Plan should not represent anticipated option periods.
A new subcontracting plan must be submitted and executed before the start of each period of
performance.

 The base period of my contract was awarded during the COVID-19 Public Health Emergency (i.e.,
March 11, 2020, through November 5, 2021). What is my subcontracting requirement for my
performance periods that fall outside of those dates?

o If the base period of your contract was awarded during the public health emergency, you are
required to maintain a 50% subcontracting requirement for all options and extensions associated
with that contract unless otherwise reduced or waived by the Director of DSLBD.

 I do not believe I can meet the required 35% or 50% subcontracting requirement. What must I do to
waive this requirement?

o If you believe you cannot achieve the required subcontracting requirements, you should
communicate this concern to the contracting officer or other procuring staff before signing your
contract. Only the Director of DSLBD can waive the subcontracting requirements, and DSLBD
does not retroactively approve waivers. For instance, if a contract is executed before a final
determination has been rendered by DSLBD’s Director, you will be required to achieve the
subcontracting requirement, or the contract may be voided, pursuant to District law.

o The contracting officer is required to submit a waiver request to DSLBD for the contract for each
period of performance. Beneficiaries are not permitted to submit a waiver request. DSLBD does
not approve waivers retroactively; therefore, contracting officers and beneficiaries should ensure
that the waiver is approved prior to executing the contract. Otherwise, the contract is voidable
pursuant to District law.



 

                                                 SBE SUBCONTRACTNG PLAN | Revised  March 2023 

 
 Can I utilize any CBE to meet my subconctrcting requirements or does it have to be an SBE 

specifically?  
If there are insufficient qualified SBEs to completely fulfill the subcontracting requirement, then the 
requirement may be satisfied by subcontracting a CBE; provided, that all reasonable efforts shall 
be made to ensure that qualified SBEs are significant participants in the overall subcontracting 
work. 



 

                                                 SBE SUBCONTRACTNG PLAN | Revised  March 2023 

 
SBE SUBCONTRACTING PLAN 

 
INSTRUCTIONS: All construction & non-construction contracts for government-assisted projects 
(agency contracts & private projects with a District subsidy) over $250,000, shall require at least 
35% of the total dollar volume of the contract (i.e., the total amount of agency contract or total private 
project development costs) be subcontracted to Small Business Enterprises (SBE), and if insufficient 
qualified SBEs to Certified Business Enterprises (CBE). The SBE Subcontracting Plan must list all SBE 
and CBE subcontracts at every tier. Once the SBE Subcontracting Plan is submitted for agency 
contracts, options, and extension, it can only be amended by the Director of the Department of Small & 
Local Business Development 
 
SUBMISSION OF CBE PLAN: 
◊ For agency solicitations – submit to the agency with bid/proposal. 
◊ For agency options & extensions – submit to the agency before an option or extension is 

exercised. 
◊ For public-private projects – submit to DSLBD, the agency project manager, and with each 

quarterly report. As private projects may not have awarded all contracts at the time the District 
subsidy is granted, the SBE Subcontracting Plan may be submitted simultaneously with each 
quarterly report and list all SBE/CBE subcontracts executed by the time of submission.  

 
CREDIT: For each subcontract listed on the SBE Subcontracting Plan, credit will only be given for the 
portion of the subcontract performed, at every tier, by an SBE/CBE using its own organization and 
resources. COPIES OF EACH FULLY EXECUTED SUBCONTRACT WITH SBEs AND CBEs (AT 
EVERY TIER) MUST BE PROVIDED TO RECEIVE CREDIT. 
 
CERTIFICATION INFORMATION: Certification as a Local Business Enterprise (LBE) is a prerequisite 
to be certified in any additional business enterprise category within the CBE Program.  
The Small Business Enterprise (SBE) is a category of the Certification. However, not all CBEs have a  
Small Business Enterprise (SBE) category. If the subcontracting plan is with a CBE without the SBE 
category, the contract may not receive credit towards the subcontracting goal for work provided by the 
CBE if there were qualified SBEs that could have been utilized to completely fulfill the subcontracting 
requirement.  
 
The certification number must include the Local Business Enterprise (LBE) and Small Business 
Enterprise (SBE) categories. i.e., Certification Number:LSXXXXXXXXX2026. 

 
SUBCONTRACTING CREDIT PURSUANT D.C. LAW 24-39:  
Pursuant to the Coronavirus Support Temporary Amendment Act of 2021 and the Public Emergency 
Extension and Eviction and Utility Moratorium Phasing Emergency Amendment Act of 2021, contracts 
awarded during the Public Health Emergency shall receive credit as follows: 

(1) For every dollar expended by a beneficiary with a resident-owned business, the beneficiary 
shall receive a credit for $1.10 against the CBE minimum expenditure. 

(2) For every dollar expended by a beneficiary with a disadvantaged business enterprise, the 
beneficiary shall receive a credit for $1.25 against the CBE minimum expenditure.    

(3) For every dollar expended by a beneficiary that uses a company designated as both a 
disadvantaged business enterprise and as a resident-owned business, the beneficiary shall 
receive a maximum credit for $1.30 against the CBE minimum expenditure. 

 
EXEMPTION: If the Beneficiary (e.g., the Prime Contractor or Developer) is a CBE and will perform 
the ENTIRE government-assisted project with its own organization and resources and will NOT 
subcontract any portion of the services and goods, then the CBE Beneficiary is not required to 
subcontract to SBEs. 



 

                                                 SBE SUBCONTRACTNG PLAN | Revised  March 2023 

SECTION 1.BENEFICIARY AND SOLICITATION/CONTRACT/SPORTS WAGERING 
APPLICANTINFORMATION 
 
Section 1A.      BENEFICIARY INFORMATION 
 

Company: ______________ Contact #: __________ Email address: ________________ 

Street Address: ____________________________ City/ State/ Zip Code: ____________________________ 

Company’s point of contact for agency contract, private project, or Sports Wagering Licensee: 

Point of Contact: ________________ Title: ________________ 

Contact #: _____________ Email address: _________________ 

Street Address: ____________________________________ 
 

 
Section 1B.     SOLICITATION/CONTRACT/SPORTS WAGERING APPLICANT INFORMATION 
 

Solicitation /Contract/ApplicantNo.: ________________ Solicitation Due Date: ________________ 

Agency: _____________ Total Dollar Amount of Contract: _________________ 

Please select all the applicable subcontracting requirements for this 
solicitation: 

 35% Subcontracting Requirement 
 50% Subcontracting Requirement 
 DSLBD approved an adjusted subcontracting requirement: 
 Adjusted Subcontracting Requirement: ____% 

 

Total Value of ALL CBE Subcontracts: _________________ 
 (Include all lower tiers) 
 
I affirm that the value of all my CBE Subcontracts meets or 
exceeds the subcontracting requirement required under this 
solicitation or contract. Further, I understand that DSLBD will 
only provide credit towards my SBE Subcontracting Requirement 
for work whereby a CBE provided a commercially useful function 
with its own organization and resources. 

 I AGREE 
 I DISAGREE 

 
 

 
Section 1C.      CBE BENEFICIARY (ONLY COMPLETE IF THE BENEFICIARY IS A CERTIFIED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE) 
 

If the Beneficiary is a Certified Business Enterprise, select all that apply and provide the following information: 
 I am a CBE that WILL perform 100% of the contracting effort with my own organization and resources and will not subcontract any 

portion of the contract. Therefore, I am NOT required to submit an SBE Subcontracting Plan that demonstrates subcontracting. 
 I am a CBE that WILL NOT perform 100% of the contracting effort with my own organization and resources and will subcontract a 

portion of the contract. Therefore, I understand I am required to submit an SBE Subcontracting Plan (located in Section on 2) that 
demonstrates that the required subcontracting amount, as indicated above, will go to qualified CBEs. 
 
Please include the percentage of the contract the CBE Prime will perform under the contract or project. 

 The CBE Prime will self-perform ____% of the contract’s total dollar volume of the contract or project. 
Please provide the current CBE Certification Number of the CBE Prime. 

 CBE Certification No. ______________ 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

                                                 SBE SUBCONTRACTNG PLAN | Revised  March 2023 

BENEFICIARY ATTESTATION 
 

I declare, certify, verify, attest, and state under penalty of perjury that the information provided above is 
true and correct to the best of my knowledge and belief. Pursuant to D.C. Official Code § 22-2402, I 
understand that a person convicted of perjury shall be fined not more than $5,000 or imprisoned for not 
more than 10 years, or both. I understand that any false or fraudulent statement that I provide or assert 
may be grounds for revocation of my CBE registration pursuant to D.C. Official Code § 2-218.63. Further, 
a Prime Contractor, Developer, CBE,  Certified Joint Venture, or Sports Wagering Licensee that fails to 
comply with the requirements of the Small and Certified Business Enterprise Development and Assistance 
Amendment Act of 2005, as amended, (D.C. Law 20-108) (the “Act”), shall be subject to penalties as 
outlined in the Act. 

 
PRINT NAME: ____________________________ SIGNATURE: ____________________________ 

JOB TITLE: ____________________________ DATE: ____________________________ 
 
 
 
 
Section 2.  SBE/CBE SUBCONTRACTORS (FOR EACH TIER): 
 

CBE Subcontractor  
Company Name Address Certification 

No. 
Price to be paid to the 

CBE Subcontractor 

Description of subcontract scope 
of work to be performed that shall 

be for a commercially useful 
function by the CBE 

___________________  _________________  ____ ________________ ________________ 

 
SBE/CBE Point of Contact: 
 

CBE Subcontractor Self-Performance Indicator: 

 
Name: _________ 
 
Title: _______ 
 
Telephone Number: ________ 
 
Email Address: ________ 
 

 This CBE will perform the ENTIRE subcontract with its 
own organization and resources.  

 This CBE will subcontract a portion of the subcontract and 
will perform ____% of the subcontract’s total dollar volume. 
NOTE: If the CBE will not self-perform 100% of the 
subcontract, it must list each lower-tier CBE 
subcontractor below. 

 

LOWER TIER 
CBE Subcontractor 

Name 
Address Certification No. Price to be paid to the 

CBE Subcontractor 

Description of 
subcontract scope of 
work to be performed 
that shall be for a 
commercially useful 
function by the CBE 

Tier 
(e.g., 1st, 
2nd, 3rd, 
4th, etc.) 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

 
 



 

                                                 SBE SUBCONTRACTNG PLAN | Revised  March 2023 

 
 
 

CBE Subcontractor  
Company Name Address Certification 

No. 
Price to be paid to the 

CBE Subcontractor 

Description of subcontract scope 
of work to be performed that shall 

be for a commercially useful 
function by the CBE 

___________________  _________________  ____ ________________ ________________ 

 
SBE/CBE Point of Contact: 
 

CBE Subcontractor Self-Performance Indicator: 

 
Name: _________ 
 
Title: _______ 
 
Telephone Number: ________ 
 
Email Address: ________ 
 

 This CBE will perform the ENTIRE subcontract with its 
own organization and resources.  

 This CBE will subcontract a portion of the subcontract and 
will perform ____% of the subcontract’s total dollar volume. 
NOTE: If the CBE will not self-perform 100% of the 
subcontract, it must list each lower-tier CBE 
subcontractor below. 

 

LOWER TIER 
CBE Subcontractor 

Name 
Address Certification No. Price to be paid to the 

CBE Subcontractor 

Description of 
subcontract scope of 
work to be performed 
that shall be for a 
commercially useful 
function by the CBE 

Tier 
(e.g., 1st, 
2nd, 3rd, 
4th, etc.) 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

 

CBE Subcontractor  
Company Name Address Certification 

No. 
Price to be paid to the 

CBE Subcontractor 

Description of subcontract scope 
of work to be performed that shall 

be for a commercially useful 
function by the CBE 

___________________  _________________  ____ ________________ ________________ 

 
SBE/CBE Point of Contact: 
 

CBE Subcontractor Self-Performance Indicator: 

 
Name: _________ 
 
Title: _______ 
 
Telephone Number: ________ 
 
Email Address: ________ 
 

 This CBE will perform the ENTIRE subcontract with its 
own organization and resources.  

 This CBE will subcontract a portion of the subcontract and 
will perform ____% of the subcontract’s total dollar volume. 
NOTE: If the CBE will not self-perform 100% of the 
subcontract, it must list each lower-tier CBE 
subcontractor below. 

 

LOWER TIER 
CBE Subcontractor 

Name 
Address Certification No. Price to be paid to the 

CBE Subcontractor 

Description of 
subcontract scope of 
work to be performed 
that shall be for a 
commercially useful 

Tier 
(e.g., 1st, 
2nd, 3rd, 
4th, etc.) 



 

                                                 SBE SUBCONTRACTNG PLAN | Revised  March 2023 

function by the CBE 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

 

CBE Subcontractor  
Company Name Address Certification 

No. 
Price to be paid to the 

CBE Subcontractor 

Description of subcontract scope 
of work to be performed that shall 

be for a commercially useful 
function by the CBE 

___________________  _________________  ____ ________________ ________________ 

 
SBE/CBE Point of Contact: 
 

CBE Subcontractor Self-Performance Indicator: 

 
Name: _________ 
 
Title: _______ 
 
Telephone Number: ________ 
 
Email Address: ________ 
 

 This CBE will perform the ENTIRE subcontract with its 
own organization and resources.  

 This CBE will subcontract a portion of the subcontract and 
will perform ____% of the subcontract’s total dollar volume. 
NOTE: If the CBE will not self-perform 100% of the 
subcontract, it must list each lower-tier CBE 
subcontractor below. 

 

LOWER TIER 
CBE Subcontractor 

Name 
Address Certification No. Price to be paid to the 

CBE Subcontractor 

Description of 
subcontract scope of 
work to be performed 
that shall be for a 
commercially useful 
function by the CBE 

Tier 
(e.g., 1st, 
2nd, 3rd, 
4th, etc.) 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

                                                 SBE SUBCONTRACTNG PLAN | Revised  March 2023 

AGENCY CONTRACT AWARD 
 
Agency: ________ 
Prime Contractor: ________ 
Contract Number: ________ 
Date SBE Subcontracting Plan Accepted: ________ 
Date agency contract signed: ________ 
 
Anticipated Start Date of Contract: ________ 
Anticipated End Date of Contract: ________ 
 
Total Dollar Amount of Contract: $________ 
 
*Design-Build must include total contract amount for both 
design and build phase of the project. 
 
35% of the Total Contract Amount: $________ 
 
50% of Total Dollar Amount of Contract: $______________  
(pursuant to D.C. Law 24-39) 
 
Total Amount of All SBE/CBE Subcontracts: $________ 
(include every tier) 
 
(✓ if applies) 

 Base Period Contract – Option/Extension Period: ________ 
 Multi-year Contract 

First Year (Period) of Contract: ________  
Current Year (Period) of Contract: ________ 

 Design-Build – Date of Guaranteed Contract: ________ 
 

 Check if prime contractor is a CBE and will perform the 
ENTIRE government-assisted project (agency contract) with its 
own organization and resources and NOT subcontract any portion 
of the services or goods.  
  

PRIVATE PROJECT SUBSIDY AWARD 
 

Agency Providing Subsidy: ________ 
District Subsidy: ________ 
Developer: ________ 
Amount of District Subsidy: ________ 
Date District Subsidy Provided/ contract signed: ________ 
 
Anticipated Start Date of Project: ________ 
Anticipated End Date of Project: ________ 
 
Project Name: ________ 
Project Address: ________ 
 
Total Development Project Budget: $________ 
(include pre-construction and construction costs) 
 
35% of the Total Development Project Budget: $________ 
 
50% of Total Dollar Amount of Contract: $______________ 
(pursuant to D.C. Law 24-39) 
 
Total Amount of All SBE/CBE Subcontracts: $________ 
(include every lower tier) 
 

 Check if developer is a CBE and will perform the ENTIRE 
government-assisted project (private project) with its own 
organization and resources and NOT subcontract any portion of 
services or goods. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 AGENCY CONTRACTING OFFICER’S AFFIRMATION OR  AGENCY PROJECT MANAGER’S AFFIRMATION 
(✓ which applies) 

 
The below Agency Contracting Officer or Agency Project Manager affirms the following (✓ to affirm):  

 If the Beneficiary is a CBE, DSLBD was contacted to confirm Beneficiary’s CBE certification. 
 

 The fully executed Contract (Base or Option or Extension or Multi-Year) or subsidy document, between the Beneficiary and Agency, was 
emailed to DSLBD at Compliance.Enforcement@dc.gov within five (5) days of signing: 
 

 FOR AGENCY CONTRACT the SBE Subcontracting Plan, submitted by Beneficiary, was emailed to DSLBD at 
Compliance.Enforcement@dc.gov within five (5) days of signing the contract between the Beneficiary and Agency. 
 
________ 
Name of Agency Contracting Officer or Agency Project Manager 
 
________ 
Title of Agency Contracting Officer or Agency Project Manager 
 
________ 
Signature 

________ 
Date 

 



Page 1 of 2 
VVF (Revised - January 19, 2017) 
 

 
 

VENDOR VERIFICATION FORM (“VVF”)  
 

Year:  Select   Quarter: Select    
 

PART I.  Agency Contract/ Project Details: 
 

Contract/Project Name:              
 
( one)   

  
   District Agency Contract:   Prime Contractor        District Agency       & Contract #       

 Private Project:   Beneficiary        
 
PART II.  SBE/ CBE Contractor/ Subcontractor & Lower Tier Subcontractor Details: 
 
Insert Company Name  is an ( one)   SBE/CBE Subcontractor   SBE/CBE Lower Tier Subcontractor   SBE/CBE 
General Contractor providing the following scope of work/ products using its own organization and resources (specify) 
:     .   The SBE/CBE Company’s CBE certification is active and the number is      .     
 
PART III. SBE/CBE Company’s Subcontracts to Lower Tier SBE/CBE or Non-CBE Companies: ( one) 
 

 a.   SBE/CBE Company provided 100% of all services and/or products provided for the Entire Project/Contract using its 
own organization and resources, and did not subcontract any portion to a lower tier subcontractor.  (Skip to Part IV.) 
 

 b.   SBE/CBE Company provided 100% of all services and/or products provided for the Entire Subcontract using its own 
organization and resources, and did not subcontract any portion to a lower tier subcontractor.  (Skip to Part IV.) 
 

 c.  SBE/CBE Company subcontracted a portion of the Contract/Subcontract to a lower tier subcontractor.  (List every 
CBE and non-CBE lower tier subcontractor.)      
 

Lower Tier 
Subcontractor 

Name 

Lower Tier 
Subcontractor 
is: SBE, CBE 
or Non-CBE  

Total 
Amount of 
Lower Tier   
Subcontract  

Amount Paid to 
Lower Tier 

Subcontractor 
This Quarter  

Amount Paid to 
Lower Tier 

Subcontractor 
to Date  

Detailed 
Description of 

lower tier 
subcontractor’s 
scope of work 

CBE 
Certification 

Number  

Fully 
Executed 

Lower Tier 
Subcontract 

provided 
with this 

VVF* 
1.       Select $      $      $                  Select 
2.       Select $      $      $                  Select 
3.       Select $      $      $                  Select 
4.       Select $      $      $                  Select 

 

*THIS VVF WILL NOT BE ACCEPTED, AND NO CREDIT GIVEN, UNTIL THE FULLY EXECUTED 
CONTRACTS/ SUBCONTRACTS AND VVFs FOR ALL SBEs & CBEs LISTED IN PART III c. ARE PROVIDED!  
 
SBE/ CBE Subcontracting Credit will only be assessed for the portion of services & goods provided by each SBE/ CBE 
Company AND each SBE/ CBE Lower Tier Subcontractor USING ITS OWN ORGANIZATION AND RESOURCES. 
 
 
 
 



Page 2 of 2 
VVF (Revised - January 19, 2017) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
PART IV:  Provide DETAILED Description of Scope of Work Provided by SBE/CBE Company: 
 
The total amount of the contract/subcontract =  $        (amount should include all change orders); the total amount 
subcontracted to SBE & CBE lower tier subcontractors = $        (amount should include all change orders).  SBE/CBE 
Company was paid total of $      , during this quarter. The total amount SBE/CBE has been paid to date for portion of 
contract/subcontract performed with its own organization and resources is $      . The remaining amount to be paid to the 
SBE/CBE Company for portion of contract/subcontract performed with its own organization and resources is $      . 
 
 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
 
I declare, certify, verify, attest or state under penalty of perjury that the information contained in this Vendor Verification Form, and any 
supporting documents submitted, are true and correct to the best of my knowledge and belief.  I further declare, certify, verify, attest or 
state under penalty of perjury that I have the authority and specific knowledge of the goods and services provided under each 
contract/subcontract contained in this Vender Verification Form.  I understand that pursuant to D.C. Official Code § 22-2402, any person 
convicted of perjury shall be fined not more than $5,000 or imprisoned for not more than 10 years, or both.  I understand that any false or 
fraudulent statement contained in this Vender Verification Form may be grounds for revocation of my CBE registration pursuant to D.C. 
Official Code § 2-218.63.  I also understand that failure to complete this Vender Verification Form properly will result in no credit 
towards the SBE and CBE Subcontracting Requirements.  Further, a Prime Contractor, Developer, CBE, or Certified Joint Venture, if 
subject to, that fails to comply with the requirements of the Small and Certified Business Enterprise Development and Assistance 
Amendment Act of 2014 (D.C. Law 20-108) (the “Act”), shall be subject to penalties as outlined in the Act. 
 
NOTARIZATION 

The undersigned, as a duly authorized representative of      , CBE/SBE Company, swears or affirms that the statements 

made herein are true and correct. 

 

Signature: _________________________      Title:       

Print Name:                Date:       

District of Columbia (or State/Commonwealth of ___________________); to wit: 

Signed and sworn to or affirmed before me on this       day of      ,  

     , by      , who is well known to me or has been  sufficiently verified as the person who executed the foregoing 

affidavit and who  acknowledged the same to be his/her free act and deed. 

Notary signature: __________________________________________ 

(Seal) 

 

My commission expires: ________________________ 



ATTACHMENT 6 

 

DOCUMENTATION OF ADDITIONAL OUTREACH EFFORTS 

 
The general contractor “GC” may submit the following written documentation of its 
certified business enterprise “CBE” outreach and involvement efforts: 
 

(a) A listing of specific work scopes on a trade specific basis identified by the 
GC in which there are subcontracting opportunities for CBEs; 

 
(b) Copies of written solicitations used to solicit CBEs for these 

subcontracting opportunities; 
 

(c) A description of the GC's attempts to personally contact the solicited 
CBEs including the names, addresses, dates and telephone numbers of the 
CBEs contacted, a description of the information provided to the CBEs 
regarding plans, specifications and anticipated schedules for the work to 
be performed, and the responses of the CBEs to the solicitation; 

 
(d) In the event CBE subcontractors are found to be unavailable, the GC must 

request a written Statement of CBE Unavailability from the DSLBD; 
 

(e) A description of the GC's efforts to seek waiver of bonding requirements 
for CBEs, if bonding is required;  

 
(f) A copy of the GC's request for reduction in or partial release of retainage 

for CBE; 
 
(g) A copy of the contract between the prime contractor and each CBE 

subcontractor if a contract is executed between the District and the prime 
Contractor. 

 



Attachment J.11

EEO Employer Information Report and Mayor's Order 85-85



 
 

 

 

 

BUSINESS LETTERHEAD HERE 

EEO POLICY COMMITMENT 

____________________ (NAME OF CONTRACTOR/BUSINESS) SHALL NOT DISCRIMINATE AGAINST ANY EMPLOYEE OR 

APPLICANT FOR EMPLOYMENT BECAUSE OF THEIR ACTUAL OR PERCEIVED:  RACE, COLOR, RELIGION, NATIONAL ORIGIN, 

SEX, AGE, MARITAL STATUS, PERSONAL APPEARANCE, SEXUAL ORIENTATION, GENDER IDENTITY OR EXPRESSION, 

FAMILY RESPONSIBILITIES, MATRICULATION, POLITICAL AFFILIATION, GENETIC INFORMATION, OR DISABILITY.1 2 

_____________________ (NAME OF CONTRACTOR/BUSINESS) AGREES TO EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY  FOR 

ALL APPLICANTS AND THAT ALL EMPLOYEES ARE TREATED EQUALLY DURING EMPLOYMENT, WITHOUT REGARD TO 

THEIR  ACTUAL OR PERCEIVED: RACE, COLOR, RELIGION, NATIONAL ORIGIN, SEX, AGE, MARITAL STATUS, PERSONAL 

APPEARANCE, SEXUAL ORIENTATION, GENDER IDENTITY OR EXPRESSION, FAMILY RESPONSIBILITIES, MATRICULATION, 

POLITICAL AFFILIATION, GENETIC INFORMATION, DISABILITY OR CREDIT INFORMATION.  THE EQUAL EMPLOYMENT 

OPPORTUNITY SHALL INCLUDE, BUT NOT BE LIMITED TO THE FOLLOWING: (A) EMPLOYMENT, UPGRADING, OR 

TRANSFER; (B) RECRUITMENT OR RECRUITMENT ADVERTISING; (C) DEMOTION, LAYOFF, OR TERMINATION; (D) RATES 

OF PAY, OR OTHER FORMS OF COMPENSATION; AND  (E) SELECTION FOR TRAINING AND APPRENTICESHIP. 

_____________________ (NAME OF CONTRACTOR/BUSINESS) AGREES TO POST IN CONSPICUOUS PLACES THE ABOVE 

PROVISIONS CONCERNING NON-DISCRIMINATION AND EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY. 

_____________________ (NAME OF CONTRACTOR/BUSINESS) SHALL STATE THAT ALL QUALIFIED APPLICANTS WILL 

RECEIVE CONSIDERATION FOR EMPLOYMENT PURSUANT TO MAYOR’S ORDER 85-85, “COMPLIANCE WITH EQUAL 

EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY OBLIGATIONS IN CONTRACTS” AND THE RULES IMPLEMENTING MAYORS ORDER 85-85, 

SUBSECTIONS 1103.2 THROUGH 1103.10 OF 33 DCR 4952 (PUBLISHED AUGUST 15, 1986).   

_____________________ (NAME OF CONTRACTOR/BUSINESS) AGREES TO PERMIT ACCESS TO ALL BOOKS, RECORDS, 

AND ACCOUNTS PERTAINING TO ITS EMPLOYMENT PRACTICES, AND TO REQUIRE EACH SUBCONTRACTOR TO PERMIT 

ACCESS TO BOOKS AND RECORDS. 

___________________ (NAME OF CONTRACTOR/BUSINESS) AGREES TO COMPLY WITH ALL GUIDELINES FOR EQUAL 

EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY APPLICABLE IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, INCLUDING MAYOR’S ORDER 85-85, THE 

RULES IMPLEMENTING MAYORS ORDER 85-85, AND THE DC HUMAN RIGHTS ACT OF 1977, AS AMENDED, D.C. OFFICIAL 

CODE § 2-1401.01, ET SEQ. 

___________________ (NAME OF CONTRACTOR/BUSINESS) SHALL INCLUDE AS EXPRESS CONTRACTUAL PROVISIONS 

THE LANGUAGE CONTAINED IN SUBSECTIONS 1103.2 THROUGH 1103.10 OF 33 DCR 4952 (PUBLISHED AUGUST 15, 

1986), SO THAT SUCH PROVISIONS SHALL BE BINDING UPON EACH SUBCONTRACTOR OR VENDOR. 

                                                      
1 Familial status, source of income, place of residence, and place of business are not currently protected under the 
employment section of the D.C. Human Rights Act, D.C. Code §2-1402.11.   
2 D.C. Code § 2-1401.03(b) does not prohibit any religious organization, from limiting employment, admission or giving 
preference to persons of the same religion if such act is calculated to promote religious principles for which the organization 
is established or maintained. This shall not be construed to  exempt such organizations from the general anti-discrimination 
provision under the D.C. Human Rights Act and Chapter 11 - Equal Employment Opportunity Requirements in DC 
Government Contracts, § 1103.2.  
 



 
 

 

___________________________________      ____________ 

NAME OF AUTHORIZED OFFICIAL AND TITLE     DATE 

 

_________________________________     __________________ 

SIGNATURE OF AUTHORIZED OFFICIAL      FIRM/ORGANIZATION 

 

  



 
 

 

BUSINESS LETTERHEAD HERE 

ASSURANCE OF COMPLIANCE WITH EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY REQUIREMENTS 

MAYOR’S ORDER 85-85, “COMPLIANCE WITH EQUAL OPPORTUNITY REQUIREMENTS IN CONTRACTS,” EFFECTIVE JUNE 10, 

1985, THE RULES IMPLEMENTING MAYORS ORDER 85-85, 33 DCR 4952 (PUBLISHED AUGUST 15, 1986), AND THE DC 

HUMAN RIGHTS ACT OF 1977, AS AMENDED, D.C. OFFICIAL CODE § 2-1401.01, ET SEQ. (“D.C. HUMAN RIGHTS ACT”) ARE 

HEREBY INCLUDED AS PART OF THIS BID/PROPOSAL. THEREFORE, EACH BIDDER/OFFEROR SHALL INDICATE BELOW THEIR 

WRITTEN COMMITMENT TO ASSURE COMPLIANCE WITH MAYOR’S ORDER 85-85, THE IMPLEMENTING RULES, AND THE 

D.C. HUMAN RIGHTS ACT.  FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THESE PROVISIONS SHALL RESULT IN REJECTION OF THE RESPECTIVE 

BID/PROPOSAL. 

I, ____________________________________________, THE AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF  

_____________________________ (VENDER/COMPANY), HEREINAFTER REFERRED TO AS “THE CONTRACTOR,” CERTIFY 

THAT THE CONTRACTOR IS FULLY AWARE OF ALL OF THE PROVISIONS OF MAYOR’S ORDER 85-85, EFFECTIVE JUNE 10, 

1985, THE RULES IMPLEMENTING MAYOR’S ORDER 85-85, AND THE D.C. HUMAN RIGHTS ACT. I FURTHER CERTIFY AND 

ASSURE THAT THE CONTRACTOR WILL FULLY COMPLY WITH ALL APPLICABLE PROVISIONS  REFERENCED HEREIN IF 

AWARDED THE D.C. GOVERNMENT CONTRACT REFERENCED BY THE CONTRACT NUMBER ENTERED BELOW. FURTHER, 

THE CONTRACTOR ACKNOWLEDGES AND UNDERSTANDS THAT THE AWARD OF SAID CONTRACT AND ITS CONTINUATION 

ARE SPECIFICALLY CONDITIONED UPON THE CONTRACTOR’S COMPLIANCE WITH THE ABOVE-CITED PROVISIONS. 

 

 

 

__________________________________________ 

NAME OF CONTRACTOR 

 

___________________________________________ 

NAME OF AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE  

 

___________________________________________ 

SIGNATURE OF AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE 

 

_________________________________________________ 

CONTRACT NUMBER/SOLICITATION NUMBER/BID NUMBER 

  

___________________________________ 

DATE  

 



 
 









EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY 
EMPLOYER INFORMATION REPORT 

 
GOVERNMENT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

DC Office of Contracting and Procurement 
Employer Information Report (EEO) 

Reply to: 
Office of Contracting and Procurement 441 4th 
Street, NW, Suite 700 South 
Washington, DC 20001 

Instructions: 
Two (2) copies of DAS 84-404 or Federal Form EEO-1 shall be submitted to the Office of Contracting and Procurement to 
comply with Section D of this report ONLY. One copy shall be retained by the Contractor. 

                                                                Section A – TYPE OF REPORT 
1. Indicate by marking in the appropriate box the type of reporting unit for which this copy of the form is submitted (MARK ONLY ONE BOX) 

Single Establishment Employer 
(1) ☐ Single-establishment Employer Report 

Multi-establishment Employer 
(2) ☐ Consolidated Report 
(3) ☐ Headquarters Report 
(4) ☐ Individual Establishment Report (submit one 

for each establishment with 25 or more employees) 
(5) ☐ Special Report 

2. Total number of reports being filed by this Company.    

Section B – COMPANY IDENTIFICATION OFFICIAL (To be answered by all employers)  OFFICIAL USE 
ONLY 

1. Name of Company which owns or controls the establishment for which this report is filed a. 

Address (Number and street) City or Town Country State Zip Code b. 

b. Employer 
Identification No. 

          

2. Establishment for which this report is filed. OFFICIAL USE 
ONLY 

a. Name of establishment c. 
Address (Number and street) City or Town Country State Zip Code d. 

b. Employer 
Identification No. 

          

3. Parent of affiliated Company 

a. Name of parent or affiliated Company b. Employer Identification No.          

Address (Number and street) City or Town Country State Zip Code 

Section C - ESTABLISHMENT INFORMATION 
1. Is the location of the establishment the same as that reported last 

year? 
 

☐ Yes ☐ No ☐ Did not report ☐ Report on combined 
last year basis 

2. Is the major business activity at this establishment the same 
as that reported last year?  

 
☐ Yes ☐ No ☐ Did not report ☐ Report on combined 

                               last year             basis 

OFFICIAL USE 
ONLY 

3. What is the major activity of this establishment? (Be specific, i.e., manufacturing steel castings, retail grocer, wholesale 
plumbing supplies, title insurance, etc. Include the specific type of product or service provided, as well as the principal 
business or industrial activity.) 
 

e. 

4. MINORITY GROUP MEMBERS: Indicate if you are a minority business enterprise (50% owned or 51% controlled by minority members). 
5.  
 

 
                                                                                                          ☐ YES     ☐ NO  

  DAS 84-404             (Replaces D.C. Form 2640.9 Sept. 74 which is Obsolete)  84-2P891 



 SECTION D – EMPLOYMENT DATA 
Employment at this establishment – Report all permanent, temporary, or part-time employees including apprentices and on-the-job trainees 

unless specifically excluded as set forth in the instructions. Enter the appropriate figures on all lines and in all columns. Blank spaces will be 
considered as zero. In columns 1, 2, and 3, include ALL employees in the establishment Including those in minority groups 

JOB 
CATEGORIES 

TOTAL EMPLOYEES IN 
ESTABLISHMENT 

MINORITY GROUP EMPLOYEES 
MALE FEMALE 

Total 
Employees 
Including 
Minorities 

(1) 

Total Male 
Including 
Minorities  

(2) 

Total 
Female 

Including 
Minorities 

(3) 

Black 

(4) 

Asian 

(5) 

American 
Indian 

(6) 

Hispanic 

(7) 

Black 

(8) 

Asian 

(9) 

American 
Indian 

(10) 

Hispanic 

(11) 
Officials and 
Managers 

Professionals 

Technicians 

Sales Workers 

Office and 
Clerical 

Craftsman 
(Skilled) 

Operative (Semi- 
Skilled) 

Laborers 
(Unskilled) 

Service Workers 

TOTAL 

Total employ 
reported 
in previous report 

(The trainee below should also be included in the figures for the appropriate occupation categories above) 
Formal 
On- 
The-Job 
Trainee 

White 
collar 

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8) (9) (10) (11) 

Production 

1. How was information as to race or ethnic group in Section D obtained? 2. Dates of payroll period used:  __________________
a.☐Visual Survey c.☐Other Specify 3. Pay period of last report submitted for this
b. ☐Employment Record establishment: _ 

Section E – REMARKS Use this Item to give any identification data appearing on last report which differs from that given above, explain major changes 
in composition or reporting units, and other pertinent information. 

Section F - CERTIFICATION 
Check one ☐ (1) All reports are accurate and were prepared in accordance with the instructions (check on consolidated only)

☐ (2) This report is accurate and was prepared in accordance with the instructions.

  Name of Authorized Official Title Signature Date 
Name of person contact regarding this report  Address (Number and Street) 

Title City and State Zip Code Telephone Number Extension 

INFORMATION CITED HEREIN SHALL BE HELD IN CONFIDENCE 



Attachment J.12

First Source Employment Plan-Contracts Over $5 million-February 2018



Page 1 of 11 First Source Employment Agreement, Revised February 15, 2 018 

GOVERNMENT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
FIRST SOURCE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT FOR 

CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS ONLY 

GOVERNMENT-ASSISTED PROJECT/CONTRACT INFORMATION 
CONTRACT/SOLICITATION NUMBER: ___________________________________________________ 
DISTRICT CONTRACTING AGENCY: ______________________________________________ ______  
CONTRACTING OFFICER: ________________________________________________________ 
TELEPHONE NUMBER:  _________________________________ 
TOTAL CONTRACT AMOUNT: _____________________________________________ 

THIS SECTION TO BE COMPLETED BY THE BENEFICIARY ONLY: 
TOTAL GOVERNMENT ASSISTED FUNDED AMOUNT:  DATE 

 CONTRACT    GRANT    LOAN    TAX ABATEMENT OR EXEMPTION    LAND TRANSFER 
 LAND DISPOSITION AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT   TAX INCREMENT FINANCING  
 ANY  ADDITIONAL  LEGISLATION, IF YES  ______ 

D.C. CODE#
GENERAL CONTRACTOR WILL MEET THE HIRING OR HOURS WORKED PERCENTAGES 
REQUIREMENTS FOR ENTIRE PROJECT         OR PER EACH SUBCONTRACTOR  

PROJECT NAME: ______________________________________________________________________ 
PROJECT ADDRESS: ___________________________________________________________________ 
CITY: ___________________________ STATE: ________________ ZIP CODE: ___________________ 
PROJECT START DATE: _____________________ PROJECT END DATE: ______________________ 
EMPLOYER START DATE: EMPLOYER END DATE: ___________________ 

EMPLOYER INFORMATION 
EMPLOYER NAME:   
EMPLOYER ADDRESS:   
CITY: ___________________________ STATE: ________________ ZIP CODE:   
TELEPHONE NUMBER: FEDERAL IDENTIFICATION NO.: 
CONTACT PERSON: _______________________________________________________________
TITLE: ___________ 
E-MAIL:____________________________________TELEPHONE NUMBER: ______________ 
CERTIFIED BUSINESS ENTERPRISES CERTIFICATION NUMBER: __________________________ 
D.C. APPRENTICESHIP COUNCIL REGISTRATION NUMBER: _____________________________
ARE YOU A SUBCONTRACTOR         YES     NO IF YES, NAME OF PRIME CONTRACTOR: 

______________________________________

This First Source Employment Agreement (Agreement), in accordance with Workforce Intermediary 
Establishment and Reform of the First Source Amendment Act of 2011 (D.C. Official Code §§ 2-219.01 
– 2.219.05), and relevant provisions of the Apprenticeship Requirements Amendment Act of 2004 (D.C.
Official Code § 2-219.03 and § 32-1431) is a required agreement between the District of Columbia
Department of Employment Services (DOES) and EMPLOYER.

EMPLOYER, which includes the Beneficiary and all contractors and subcontractors, is working on a 
contract or project that has received: 

D.C. Government assistance valued between $300,000 and $5 million dollars, required to make a
good faith effort to ensure that 51% of all new hires are District residents. (D.C. Official Code § 2-
219(e)(1)(A)) 

D.C. Government assistance valued at $5 million or more, required to have the following percentage
of hours worked in each classification by DC residents; 20% of journey worker hours; 60% of apprentice 
hours; 51% of skilled laborer hours; 70% of common laborer hours for all jobs created by the Project. 
(D.C. Official Code §2-219.03 (1A)(A)) 

[

[
T
y
p
e

a

q
u
o
t
e

f
r
o
m

t
h
e

d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t

o
r

t
h
e

[
T
y
p
e

a

q
u
o
t
e

f
r
o
m

t
h
e

d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t

o
r

t
h
e



Page 2 of 11 First Source Employment Agreement, Revised February 15, 2 018 

   
 

 

 
DOES is the first source for recruitment, referral, and placement of new hires or employees for all jobs 
created by the Government Assisted Project or Contract (Project). 
 
The Parties agree to the terms and conditions of the Agreement as follows: 

 
I. DEFINITIONS 

 
The following definitions shall govern the terms used in this Agreement. 

A. Apprentice means a worker who is employed to learn an apprenticeable occupation under the 
terms and conditions of approved apprenticeship standards. 

B. Beneficiary means: 
1. The signatory to a contract executed by the Mayor which involves any District of 

Columbia government funds, or funds which, in accordance with a federal grant or 
otherwise, the District government administers and which details the number and 
description of all jobs created by a government-assisted Project for which the 
beneficiary is required to use the First Source Register; 

 
2. A recipient of a District government economic development action including 

contracts, grants, loans, tax abatements, land transfers for redevelopment, or tax 
increment financing that results in a financial benefit of $300,000 or more from an 
agency, commission, instrumentality, or other entity of the District government, 
including a financial or banking institution which serves as the repository for $1 
million or more of District of Columbia funds. 

 
C. Contracting Agency means any District of Columbia agency that awarded a government 

assisted Project totaling $300,000 or more. 
 

D. Direct labor costs means all costs, including wages and benefits, associated with the hiring 
and employment of personnel assigned to a process in which payroll expenses are traced to 
the units of output and are included in the cost of goods sold. 

 
E. EMPLOYER means any entity awarded a government assisted Project totaling $300,000 or 

more, including all individual contractor and subcontractor entities at any tier who work 
on the Project. 

 
F. First Source Employer Portal is a website consisting of a connected group of static and 

dynamic web pages with the ability for Employers to enter data using the internet.  The 
website is accessible by a Uniform Resource Locator (URL) and is maintained by DOES.  
The website provides reporting information to First Source EMPLOYERS. 

 
G. First Source Register means the DOES Automated Applicant Files, which consists of the 

names of DC residents registered with DOES.  
 

H. Good faith effort means an EMPLOYER has exhausted all reasonable means to comply with 
any affirmative action, hiring, or contractual goal(s) pursuant to the First Source law and 
Agreement. 

 
I. Government-assisted project or contract (Project) means any construction or non- 

construction Project that receives funds or resources, valued at $300,000 or more, from the 
District of Columbia, or funds or resources which, in accordance with a federal grant or 
otherwise, the District of Columbia government administers, including contracts, grants, 
loans, tax abatements or exemptions, land transfers, land disposition and development 
agreements, tax increment financing, or any combination of the aforementioned. 



Page 3 of 11 First Source Employment Agreement, Revised February 15, 2 018 

   
 

 

 
J. Hard to employ means a District of Columbia resident who is confirmed by DOES as: 

1. An ex-offender who has been released from prison within the last 10 years; 
2. A participant of the Temporary Assistance for Needy Families program; 
3. A participant of the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program; 
4. Living with a permanent disability verified by the Social Security Administration or 

District vocational rehabilitation program; 
5. Unemployed for 6 months or more in the last 12-month period; 
6. Homeless; 
7. A participant or graduate of the Transitional Employment Program established by § 

32-1331; or 

8. An individual who qualified for inclusion in the Work Opportunity Tax Credit 
Program as certified by the Department of Employment Services. 

 
K. Indirect labor costs means all costs, including wages and benefits, that are part of operating 

expenses and are associated with the hiring and employment of personnel assigned to tasks 
other than producing products. 

 
L. Jobs means any union and non-union managerial, non-managerial, professional, 

nonprofessional, technical or nontechnical position including: clerical and sales occupations, 
service occupations, processing occupations, machine trade occupations, bench work 
occupations, structural work occupations, agricultural, fishery, forestry, and related 
occupations, and any other occupations as the Department of Employment Services may 
identify in the Dictionary of Occupational Titles, United States Department of Labor. 

 
M. New Hire: Individual(s) newly hired by the EMPLOYER to perform work on a government 

assisted Project. 
 

N. Transfer: Existing EMPLOYER employee who has been moved from one Project to another 
Project. 

 
O. Journeyman means a worker who has attained a level of skill, abilities and competencies 

recognized within an industry as having mastered the skills and competencies required for the 
occupation. 

 
P. Revised Employment Plan means a document prepared and submitted by the EMPLOYER 

that includes the following: 
 

1. A projection of the total number of hours to be worked on the Project by trade; 
 

2. A projection of the total number of journey worker hours, by trade, to be worked on 
the Project and the total number of journey worker hours, by trade, to be worked by 
DC residents; 

 
3. A projection of the total number of apprentice hours, by trade, to be worked on the 

Project and the total number of apprentice hours, by trade, to be worked by DC 
residents; 

 

4. A projection of the total number of skilled laborer hours, by trade, to be worked on 
the Project and the total number of skilled laborer hours, by trade, to be worked by 
DC residents; 

 
 

5. A projection of the total number of common laborer hours to be worked on the 



Page 4 of 11 First Source Employment Agreement, Revised February 15, 2 018 

   
 

 

Project and the total number of common laborer hours to be worked by DC residents; 
 

6. A timetable outlining the total hours worked by trade over the life of the Project and 
an associated hiring schedule; 

 
7. Descriptions of the skill requirements by job title or position, including industry- 

recognized certifications required for the different positions; 
 

8. A strategy to fill the hours required to be worked by DC residents pursuant to this 
paragraph, including a component on communicating these requirements to 
contractors and subcontractors and a component on potential community outreach 
partnerships with the University of the District of Columbia, the University of the 
District of Columbia Community College, the Department of Employment Services, 
Jointly Funded Apprenticeship Programs, the District of Columbia Workforce 
Intermediary, or other government-approved, community-based job training 
providers; 

 
9. A remediation strategy to ameliorate any problems associated with meeting these 

hiring requirements, including any problems encountered with contractors and 
subcontractors; 

 
10. The designation of a senior official from the EMPLOYER(S) or general contractor 

who will be responsible for implementing the hiring and reporting requirements; 
 

11. Descriptions of the health and retirement benefits that will be provided to DC 
residents working on the Project; 

 
12. A strategy to ensure that District residents who work on the Project receive ongoing 

employment and training opportunities after they complete work on the job for which 
they were initially hired and a review of past practices in continuing to employ DC 
residents from one Project to the next; 

 
13. A strategy to hire graduates of District of Columbia Public Schools, District of 

Columbia public charter schools, and community-based job training providers, and 
hard-to-employ residents; and 

 
14. A disclosure of past compliance with the Workforce Act and the Davis-Bacon Act, 

where applicable, and the bidder or offeror's general DC resident hiring practices on 
projects or contracts completed within the last 2 years. 

 
Q. Tier Subcontractor means any subcontractor selected by the primary contractor to perform 

portion(s) or all work related to the trade or occupation area(s) on a Project subject to this 
First Source Agreement. 

 
R. Washington Metropolitan Statistical Area means the District of Columbia; Virginia Cities 

of Alexandria, Fairfax, Falls Church, Fredericksburg, Manassas, and Manassas Park; the 
Virginia Counties of Arlington, Clarke, Fairfax, Fauquier, Loudon, Prince William, 
Spotsylvania, Stafford, and Warren; the Maryland Counties of Calvert, Charles, Frederick, 
Montgomery and Prince Georges; and the West Virginia County of Jefferson. 

 
S. Workforce Intermediary Pilot Program means the intermediary between employers and 

training providers to provide employers with qualified DC resident job applicants. See DC 
Official Code § 2-219.04b. 

 



Page 5 of 11 First Source Employment Agreement, Revised February 15, 2 018 

   
 

 

II. GENERAL TERMS 
 

A. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, DOES will receive the Agreement from 
the Contracting Agency no less than 7 calendar days in advance of the Project start date.  No 
work associated with the relevant Project can begin until the Agreement has been accepted by 
DOES. 
 

B. The Beneficiary and/or EMPLOYER shall require all Project contractors and subcontractors, 
under a Project receiving government assistance or benefits valued at $300,000 or more, to 
enter into an Agreement with DOES. 

 
C. Agreement will take affect once beneficiary/Employer awarded contract and start work on 

the government assisted Project and no work can begin prior to execution of the Agreement 
and will be fully effective through the duration, any extension or modifications of the Project 
and until such time as construction is complete and a certificate of occupancy is issued.   

 
D. If an EMPLOYER began work prior to the execution of a First Source Employment 

Agreement, the EMPLOYER shall cease work on the Project and sign a First Source 
Employment Agreement to be bound by the applicable First Source Employment Agreement 
requirements, retroactively, from the start of work throughout the duration of the contract. 

 
E. DOES will provide recruitment, referral, and placement services to the EMPLOYER, subject 

to the limitations in this Agreement. 
 

F. DOES and the EMPLOYER agree that, for purposes of this Agreement, new hires and jobs 
created for the Project (both union and nonunion) include all of EMPLOYER'S job openings 
and vacancies in the Washington Metropolitan Statistical Area created for the Project as a 
result of internal promotions, terminations, and expansions of the EMPLOYER'S workforce, 
as a result of this Project. 

 
G. This Agreement includes apprentices as defined in D.C. Official Code §§ 32-1401- 1431. 

 
DOES will make every effort to work within the terms of all collective bargaining 
agreements to which the EMPLOYER is a party. The EMPLOYER will provide DOES with 
written documentation that the EMPLOYER has provided the representative of any collective 
bargaining unit involved with this Project a copy of this Agreement and has requested 
comments or objections. If the representative has any comments or objections, the 
EMPLOYER will promptly provide them to DOES. 

 
The EMPLOYER who contracts with the District of Columbia government to perform 
construction, renovation work, or information technology work with a single contract, or 
cumulative contracts, of at least $500,000, within a 12-month period will be required to 
register an apprenticeship program with the District of Columbia Apprenticeship Council as 
required by DC Code 32-1431. 

 
H. If, during the term of this Agreement, the EMPLOYER should transfer possession of all or a 

portion of its business concerns affected by this Agreement to any other party by lease, sale, 
assignment, merger, or otherwise this First Source Agreement shall remain in full force and 
effect and transferee shall remain subject to all provisions herein. In addition, the 
EMPLOYER as a condition of transfer shall: 

 
1. Notify the party taking possession of the existence of this EMPLOYER'S First 

Source Employment Agreement. 
2. Notify DOES within 7 business days of the transfer. This notice will include the 



Page 6 of 11 First Source Employment Agreement, Revised February 15, 2 018 

   
 

 

name of the party taking possession and the name and telephone of that party's 
representative. 

 
I. The EMPLOYER and DOES may mutually agree to modify this Agreement. Any 

modification shall be in writing, signed by the EMPLOYER and DOES and attached to the 
original Agreement. 

 
J. To the extent that this Agreement is in conflict with any federal labor laws or governmental 

regulations, the federal laws or regulations shall prevail. 
 

III. TRAINING 
 

A. DOES and the EMPLOYER may agree to develop skills training and on-the-job training 
programs as approved by DOES; the training specifications and cost for such training will be 
mutually agreed upon by the EMPLOYER and DOES and will be set forth in a separate 
Training Agreement. 

 
IV. RECRUITMENT 

 
A. The EMPLOYER shall complete the attached Revised Employment Plan that will include the 

information outlined in Section I.P. 
 

B. The EMPLOYER shall register and post all job vacancies with the Job Bank Services of 
DOES at www.dcnetworks.org a minimum of 10 days. Should you need assistance posting 
job vacancies, please contact Job Bank Services at (202) 698-6001. 

 
C. The EMPLOYER shall notify DOES of all new jobs created for the Project within at least 7 

business days (Monday - Friday) of the EMPLOYERS’ identification/creation of the new 
jobs. The Notice of New Job Creation shall include the number of employees needed by job 
title, qualifications and specific skills required to perform the job, hiring date, rate of pay, 
hours of work, duration of employment, and a description of the work to be performed. This 
must be done before using any other referral source. 

 
D. Job openings to be filled by internal promotion from the EMPLOYER'S current workforce 

shall be reported to DOES for placement and referral, if the job is newly created. 
EMPLOYER shall provide DOES a Notice of New Job Creation that details such promotions 
in accordance with Section IV.C. 

 
E. The EMPLOYER will submit to DOES, prior to commencing work on the Project, a list of 

Current Employees that includes the name, social security number, and residency status of all 
current employees, including apprentices, trainees, and laid-off workers who will be employed 
on the Project. All EMPLOYER information reviewed or gathered, including social security 
numbers, as a result of DOES’ monitoring and enforcement activities will be held confidential 
in accordance with all District and federal confidentiality and privacy laws and used only for 
the purposes that it was reviewed or gathered. 

 
V. REFERRAL 

 
A. DOES will screen applicants through carefully planned recruitment and training events and 

provide the EMPLOYER with a list of qualified applicants according to the number of 
employees needed by job title, qualifications and specific skills required to perform the job, 
hiring date, rate of pay, hours of work, duration of employment, and a description of the work 
to be performed as supplied by the EMPLOYER in its Notice of New Job Creation set forth 
above in Section IV.C. 
 



Page 7 of 11 First Source Employment Agreement, Revised February 15, 2 018 

   
 

 

B. DOES will notify the EMPLOYER of the number of applicants DOES will refer, prior to the 
anticipated hiring dates. 

 
VI. PLACEMENT 

 
A. EMPLOYER shall in good faith, use reasonable efforts to select its new hires or employees 

from among the qualified applicants referred by DOES. All hiring decisions are made by the 
EMPLOYER. 

 
B. In the event that DOES is unable to refer qualified applicants meeting the EMPLOYER’S 

established qualifications, within 7 business days (Monday - Friday) from the date of 
notification from the EMPLOYER, the EMPLOYER will be free to directly fill remaining 
positions for which no qualified applicants have been referred. However, the EMPLOYER shall 
still be required to meet the First Source hiring requirements or hours worked percentages for 
all jobs created by the Project. 

 
C. After the EMPLOYER has selected its employees, DOES is not responsible for the employees' 

actions and the EMPLOYER hereby releases DOES, and the Government of the District of 
Columbia, the District of Columbia Municipal Corporation, and the officers and employees of 
the District of Columbia from any liability for employees' actions. 

 
VII. REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 

 
A. EMPLOYER with a single contract valued at $300,000 or more on a Project that received 

government assistance totaling between $300,000 and $5,000,000, a provision that at least 51% of 
the new employees hired to work on the Project shall be District residents.  
  

B. EMPLOYER shall register in the First Source Online Registration and Reporting System for 
electronic submission of all monthly Contract Compliance data, weekly certified payrolls and 
any other documents required by DOES for reporting and monitoring. 

 
C. EMPLOYER shall submit to the Department of Employment Services each month following the 

start of the Project a hiring compliance report for the Project that includes the: 
1. Number of new job openings created/available; 
2. Number of new job openings listed with DOES, or any other District Agency; 
3. Number of DC residents hired for new jobs; 
4. Number of employees transferred to the Project; 
5. Number of DC residents transferred to the Project; 
6. Direct or indirect labor cost associated with the project; 
7. Each employee’s name, job title, social security number, hire date, residence,  

and referral source; and 
8. Workforce statistics throughout the entire project tenure. 

 
D. EMPLOYER with a single contract valued at $300,000 or more on a Project that received 

government assistance totaling $5 million or more shall meet the following hours worked 
percentages for all jobs created by the Project: 

1. At least 20% of journey worker hours by trade shall be performed by DC residents; 
2. At least 60% of apprentice hours by trade shall be performed by DC residents; 
3. At least 51% of the skilled laborer hours by trade shall be performed by DC 

residents; and 
4. At least 70% of common laborer hours shall be performed by DC residents. 

 
 
 



Page 8 of 11 First Source Employment Agreement, Revised February 15, 2 018 

   
 

 

E. EMPLOYERS shall provide the following cumulative statistics, that will be used to create 
the monthly report, by uploading certified payrolls or payroll data into the LCPtracker 
reporting system: 

1. Number of journey worker hours worked by DC residents by trade; 
2. Number of hours worked by all journey workers by trade; 
3. Number of apprentice hours worked by DC residents by trade; 
4. Number of hours worked by all apprentices by trade; 
5. Number of skilled laborer worker hours worked by DC residents by trade; 
6. Number of hours worked by all skilled laborers by trade;      
7.   Number of common laborer hours worked by DC residents by trade; and 
8.   Number of hours worked by all common laborers by trade. 

 
F. EMPLOYER may “double count” hours for the “hard to employ” up to 15% of total hours 

worked by DC Residents; however, a collective bargaining agreement shall not be a basis for 
waiver of this requirement. 

 
G. For construction Projects that are not subject to Davis-Bacon law in which certified payroll 

records do not exist, EMPLOYER shall submit monthly documents of workers employed on 
the Project to DOES, including DC residents and all employment classifications of hours 
worked. 

 
H. EMPLOYER may also be required to provide verification of hours worked or hiring 

percentages of DC residents, such as internal payroll records for construction Projects that are 
not subject to Davis-Bacon. 

 
I. Monthly, EMPLOYER shall submit weekly certified payrolls from all subcontractors at any tier 

working on the Project to the Contracting Agency. EMPLOYER is also required to make 
payroll records available to DOES as a part of compliance monitoring, upon request at job sites. 

 
VIII. FINAL REPORT AND GOOD FAITH EFFORTS 

 
A. With  the  submission  of  the  final  request  for  payment  from  the  Contracting  Agency, 

the Beneficiary and/or EMPLOYER shall: 
 

1. Report to DOES its compliance with the hiring or hours worked percentage 
requirements for all jobs created by the Project, and report the hours that DC 
residents worked for each trade classifications in each area of the Project; or 

 
2. Submit to DOES a request for a waiver of the hiring or hours worked percentage 

requirements for all jobs created by the Project that will include the following 
documentation: 
a. Documentation supporting EMPLOYER’S good faith effort to comply; 
b. Referrals provided by DOES and other referral sources; and 
c. Advertisement of job openings listed with DOES and other referral sources. 

 
B. DOES may waive or partially waive the hiring or hours worked percentage requirements for 

jobs created by the Project, and/or the required hours of DC residents for each trade 
classifications, if DOES finds that the Beneficiary or EMPLOYER, including its contractors 
or subcontractors: 

 
1. DOES certified that Beneficiary or Employer demonstrated a good faith effort to 

comply, as set forth in Section VIII.C.; or 
 

 



Page 9 of 11 First Source Employment Agreement, Revised February 15, 2 018 

   
 

 

2. Is located outside the Washington Metropolitan Statistical Area, and none of the 
contract work is performed inside the Washington Metropolitan Statistical Area; 

 
3. The beneficiary published each job opening or part-time work needed for 7 calendar 

days in a District newspaper of city-wide circulation; and 
 

4. The DOES certified that there are insufficient eligible applicants from the First Source 
Register that possess the skills required by the positions, or the eligible applicants are not 
available for part-time work or do not have a means to travel to the onsite jobs; or 

 
5. Beneficiary/Employer entered into a special workforce development training or 

placement arrangement with DOES or with the District of Columbia Workforce 
Intermediary. 

 
C. DOES shall consider documentation of the following when making a determination of a 

good-faith effort to comply: 
 

1. DOES has certified that there are insufficient number of District residents in the labor 
market possessing the skills required by the EMPLOYER for the positions created as 
a result of the Project.  

 
2. Whether the EMPLOYER posted the jobs on the DOES job website for a minimum 

of 10 calendar days; 
 

3. Whether the EMPLOYER advertised each job opening in a District newspaper with 
city-wide circulation for a minimum of 7 calendar days; 

 
4. Whether the EMPLOYER advertised each job opening in special interest publications 

and on special interest media for a minimum of 7 calendar days; 
 

5. Whether the EMPLOYER hosted informational/recruiting or hiring fairs; 
 

6. Whether the EMPLOYER contacted churches, unions, and/or additional Workforce 
Development Organizations; 

 
7. Whether the EMPLOYER interviewed employable candidates; 

 
8. Whether the EMPLOYER created or participated in a workforce development 

program approved by DOES; 
 

9. Whether the EMPLOYER created or participated in a workforce development 
program approved by the District of Columbia Workforce Intermediary; 

 
10. Whether the EMPLOYER substantially complied with the relevant monthly reporting 

requirements set forth in this section; 
 

11. Whether the EMPLOYER has submitted and substantially complied with its most 
recent employment plan that has been approved by DOES; and 

 
12. Any additional documented efforts. 

 
 
 
 



Page 10 of 11 First Source Employment Agreement, Revised February 15, 2 018 

IX. MONITORING
A. DOES is the District agency authorized to monitor and enforce the requirements of the 

Workforce Intermediary Establishment and Reform of the First Source Amendment Act 
of 2011 (D.C. Official Code §§ 2 219.01 – 2.219.05), and relevant provisions of the 
Apprenticeship Requirements Amendment Act of 2004 (D.C. Official Code § 2-219.03 
and § 32-1431). As a part of monitoring and enforcement, DOES may require and 
EMPLOYER shall grant access to Project sites, employees, and documents.

B. EMPLOYER’S noncompliance with the provisions of this Agreement may result in the 
imposition of penalties.

C. All EMPLOYER information reviewed or gathered, including social security numbers, as a 
result of DOES’ monitoring and enforcement activities will be held confidential in 
accordance with all District and federal confidentiality and privacy laws and used only for the 
purposes that it was reviewed or gathered.

D. DOES shall monitor all Projects as authorized by law. DOES will:

1. Review all contract controls to determine if the Beneficiary or EMPLOYER, 
including any Contractors or Subcontractors, are subject to the Workforce 
Intermediary Establishment and Reform of the First Source Amendment Act of 2011.

2. Notify stakeholders and company officials and establish meetings to provide 
technical assistance involving the First Source Process.

3. Make regular construction site visits to determine if the Prime or Subcontractors’ 
workforce is in concurrence with the submitted Agreement and Monthly Compliance 
Reports.

4. Inspect and copy certified payroll, personnel records and any other records or 
information necessary to ensure the required workforce utilization is in compliance 
with the First Source Law.

5. Conduct desk reviews of Monthly Compliance Reports.

6. Educate EMPLOYERS about additional services offered by DOES, such as On-the-
Job training programs and tax incentives for EMPLOYERS who hire from certain 
categories.

7. Monitor and complete statistical reports that identify the overall project, contractor, 
and subcontractors’ hiring or hours worked percentages.

8. Provide formal notification of non-compliance with the required hiring or hours 
worked percentages, or any alleged breach of the First Source Law to all contracting 
agencies, and stakeholders. (Please note: EMPLOYERS are granted 30 days to 
correct any alleged deficiencies stated in the notification.)

X. PENALTIES

A. Willful Breach of the Agreement by the EMPLOYER, failure to submit the contract 
compliance reports, deliberate submission of falsified data may result in DOES imposing a 
fine of 5% of the total amount of the direct and indirect labor costs of the Project, in addition 
to other penalties provided by law. Failure to meet the required hiring requirements or failure 
to receive good faith waiver may result in the Department of Employment Services  



Page 11 of 11 First Source Employment Agreement, Revised February 15, 2 018 

imposing a penalty equal to 1/8 of 1% of the total amount of the direct and indirect labor 
costs of the Project for each percentage by which the beneficiary fails to meet the hiring 
requirements. 

B. EMPLOYERS who have been found in violation 2 times or more over a 10 year period may 
be debarred and/or deemed ineligible for consideration for Projects for a period of 5 years. 

C. Within 90 days of a Determination of a Penalty, the Beneficiary or Employer may appeal the 
violations or fines by filing a complaint with the Contract Appeals Board in accordance with 
D.C. Code §2-360.03 and §2-360.04.

I hereby certify that I have the authority to bind the EMPLOYER to this Agreement from the start of work 
on the Project, throughout the duration of the Project, and agree to all terms and conditions herein. 

By: 

_____________________________________   
EMPLOYER Senior Official (Print) 

Date 

______________________________________ 
EMPLOYER Senior Official (Signature) 

______________________________________ 
Name of Company 

______________________________________ 

______________________________________ 
Address 

______________________________________ 
Telephone 

______________________________________ 
Email 

______________________________________  ____________ ___________________ 
Signature Department of Employment Services    Date 

     ____________ ___________________ 
 Date 





GOVERNMENT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
REVISED EMPLOYMENT PLAN 

1 

I. REVISED FIRST SOURCE EMPLOYMENT PLAN

GOVERNMENT‐ASSISTED PROJECT/CONTRACT INFORMATION 
DISTRICT CONTRACTING AGENCY:    
CONTRACTING  OFFICER:   
TELEPHONE NUMBER:   
TOTAL CONTRACT AMOUNT:   
EMPLOYER CONTRACT AMOUNT:   
PROJECT NAME:   
PROJECT ADDRESS:   
CITY: STATE:  ZIP CODE:   
PROJECT DESCRIPTION OF WORK: 

PROJECT START DATE:  PROJECT END DATE:   
EMPLOYER START DATE: EMPLOYER END DATE: 

EMPLOYER INFORMATION 
EMPLOYER NAME:   
COMPANY NAME:   
EMPLOYER ADDRESS:   
CITY: STATE:  ZIP CODE: 
TELEPHONE NUMBER: FEDERAL IDENTIFICATION NO.: 
CONTACT PERSON:   
TITLE:   
E‐MAIL: TELEPHONE NUMBER: 
EMPLOYER DESCRIPTION OF WORK: 

ARE YOU A SUBCONTRACTOR          YES     NO 

IF YES, NAME OF PRIME CONTRACTOR: 

 PRIME CONTRACTOR WILL MEET HOURS WORKED PERCENTAGES REQUIREMENTS 
 FOR ENTIRE PROJECT          OR PER EACH SUBCONTRACTOR   

II. EMPLOYMENT HOURS TO BE WORKED PROJECTIONS

First Source law requires EMPLOYERS (winning bidders) to submit a revised Employment Plan. 

A. For construction projects receiving $5 million or more in government
assistance, E m pl oye rs  t o  provide projection of the total number of hours
to be worked on the project by trade.

  JOURNEY WORKER 
  Provide a projection of the total number of journey worker hours, by trade, to be worked on the 

project or contract and the total number of journey worker hours, by trade, to be worked by 
District residents. 

This page to be completed by Employer           ______________ 
      Employer Initials 

[
T
y
p
e

a

q
u
o
t
e

f
r
o
m

t

[
T
y
p
e

a

q
u
o
t
e

f
r
o
m

t

          Contracts over $5 Million Only

February 15, 2018



GOVERNMENT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
REVISED EMPLOYMENT PLAN 

2 

Projection of Total Number of 
Journey Worker Hours 

Trade Projection of Total Number of Journey 
Worker Hours by DC Residents 
(First Source Law requires 20%) 

APPRENTICE 
Provide a projection of the total number of apprentice hours, by trade, to be worked on the 
project or contract and the total number of apprentice hours, by trade, to be worked by District 
residents. 

Projection of Total Number of 
Apprentice Hours 

Trade Projection of Total Number of 
Apprentice Hours by DC Residents 
(First Source Law requires 60%) 

SKILLED WORKER 
Provide a projection of the total number of skilled laborer hours, by trade, to be worked on the 
project or contract and the total number of skilled laborer hours, by trade, to be worked by 
District residents. 

Projection of Total Number of 
Skilled Labor Hours 

Trade Projection of Total Number of 
Skilled Labor Hours by DC 
Residents 
(First Source Law requires 51%) 

(First Source Law requires 51%)

COMMON LABORER 
Provide a projection of the total number of common laborer hours to be worked on the project 
or contract and the total number of common laborer hours to be worked by District residents. 

Projection of Total Number of 
Common Laborer Hours 

Trade Projection of Total Number of Common 
Laborer Hours by DC Residents 
(First Source Law requires 70%) 

This page to be completed by Employer  ______________ 
 Employer Initials 

February 15, 2018



 
   

 
 

GOVERNMENT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
REVISED EMPLOYMENT PLAN 

 

3 
 

 

B. EMPLOYMENT HIRING PROJECTIONS  
 

ALL EMPLOYERS: 
 

Please indicate ALL new position(s) you will create as a result of the project. If you WILL NOT 
be creating any new employment opportunities, please complete the attached justification 
sheet with an explanation. Attach additional sheets as needed. 

 
 

JOB TITLE # OF JOBS 
F/T  P/T 

SALARY 
RANGE 

UNION MEMBERSHIP 
REQUIRED NAME LOCAL# 

PROJECTE
D HIRE 
DATE A      

B      

C      

D      

E      

F      

G      

H      

I      

J      

K      

 
 
 
 
 
  

This page to be completed by Employer                         ______________ 
                  Employer Initials 

February 15, 2018



 
   

 
 

GOVERNMENT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
REVISED EMPLOYMENT PLAN 

 

4 
 

 

C. JUSTIFICATION SHEET: Please provide a detailed explanation of why the Employer will not 
have any new hires on the project. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page to be completed by Employer                                                                ______________ 
              Employer Initials February 15, 2018



 
   

 
 

GOVERNMENT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
REVISED EMPLOYMENT PLAN 

 

5 
 

 

 

 

 

D. EMPLOYMENT  PROJECTIONS  
 

I. Provide a timetable outlining the total hours worked by trade over the life of the project or 
contract and an associated hiring schedule. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

II. Provide descriptions of the skill requirements by job title or position, including industry‐ 
recognized certifications required for the different positions. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

III. Provide a strategy to fill the hours required to be worked by District residents, including a 
component on communicating these requirements to contractors and subcontractors and a 
component on potential community outreach partnerships with the University of the District 
of Columbia, the University of the District of Columbia Community College, the Department 
of Employment Services, Jointly Funded Apprenticeship Programs, the District of Columbia 
Workforce Intermediary, or other government‐approved, community‐based job training 
providers. 

  

This page to be completed by Employer                                               ______________ 
                      Employer Initials February 15, 2018



 
   

 
 

GOVERNMENT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
REVISED EMPLOYMENT PLAN 

 

6 
 

 
 

D. EMPLOYMENT PROJECTIONS (Continued) 
 
 

IV. A remediation strategy to ameliorate any problems associated with meeting these worked 
hours percentage requirements, including any problems encountered with contractors and 
subcontractors. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

V. The designation of a senior official from the general contractor who will be responsible for 
implementing the hours worked percentages and reporting requirements. 

 
 
 
 

VI. Provide descriptions of the health and retirement benefits that will be provided to District 
residents working on the project or contract. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

VII. Provide a strategy to ensure that District residents who work on the project or contract 
receive ongoing employment and training opportunities after they complete work on the job 
for which they were initially hired and a review of past practices in continuing to employ 
District residents from one project or contract to the next. 

  

This page to be completed by Employer                                               ______________ 
                      Employer Initials 

February 15, 2018



 
   

 
 

GOVERNMENT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
REVISED EMPLOYMENT PLAN 

 

7 
 

 

D. EMPLOYMENT  PROJECTIONS  (continued) 
 

VIII. Provide a strategy to hire graduates of District of Columbia Public Schools, District of 
Columbia Public Charter Schools, community‐based job training providers, and hard‐to‐ 
employ residents. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IX. Please disclose past compliance with the First Source Employment Agreement Act of 1984 or 
the Workforce Intermediary Establishment and Reform of First Source Amendment Act of 
2011 and the Davis‐Bacon Act, where applicable, and the bidder or offeror's general District‐
resident hiring practices on projects or contracts completed within the last two (2) years. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

X. Please note that EMPLOYERS on construction projects must submit weekly certified payrolls 
from all subcontractors at any tier working on the project or contract, as well as make such 
payroll and personnel records available upon request at job sites to the contracting District of 
Columbia agency. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

This page to be completed by Employer                                               ______________ 
                      Employer Initials February 15, 2018



 
   

 
 

GOVERNMENT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
REVISED EMPLOYMENT PLAN 

 

8 
 

Once approved, this revised employment plan shall not be amended except with the approval of Department 
of Employment Services.   
 
 
By: 
______________________________________       
EMPLOYER Senior Official (Print)   Date 
 
______________________________________        
EMPLOYER Senior Official (Signature) 
 
______________________________________ 
Name of Company 
 
______________________________________                                    
 
______________________________________ 
Address 
      
______________________________________ 
Telephone 
        
______________________________________ 
Email 
 
 
 
______________________________________   ___________________   
Signature Department of Employment Services  Date 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

February 15, 2018



Attachment J.14

Past Performance Evaluation Form



Page 1 of 2 

GF-2023-R-0029 
 

Design Build Services 
Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization Project  

 
PAST PERFORMANCE EVALUATION FORM 

(Check appropriate box) 
OFFEROR   

 

Performance 
Elements 

 
Excellent 

 
Good 

 
Acceptable 

 
Poor 

 
Unacceptable 

Quality of Services/ 
Work 

     

Timeliness of 
Performance 

     

Cost Control 
     

Business 
Relations 

     

Customer 
Satisfaction 

     

 
 
1. Name and Title of Evaluator:  

 

2. Signature of Evaluator:  
 

3. Name of Organization:   
 

4. Telephone Number of Evaluator: _  
 

E-mail address of Evaluator:   
 

5. State type of service received:   
 

6. State Contract Number, Amount and Period of Performance   
 
 
 

7. Remarks on Excellent Performance: Provide data supporting this 
observation. Continue on separate sheet if needed) 

 
8. Remarks on unacceptable performance: Provide data supporting this observation. (Continue on 

separate sheet if needed) 
 
 



Page 2 of 2 

RATING GUIDELINES 

Summarize Contractor performance in each of the rating areas. Assign each area a rating of 0 (Unacceptable), 1 (Poor), 2 
(Acceptable), 3 (Good), 4(Excellent), or ++ (Plus). Use the following instructions for guidance in making these evaluations. 

Quality Timeless Business 
Product/Service Cost Control of Performance Relations 

-Compliance with
contract requirements

-Accuracy of reports
-Appropriateness of

personnel
-Technical excellence

-Within budget (over/
under target costs)

-Current, accurate, and
complete billings

-Relationship of negated
costs to actual

-Cost efficiencies

-Meet Interim milestones
-Reliable

-Responsive to technical
directions

-Completed on time,
including wrap-up and 

-contract administration

-Effective management
-Businesslike correspondence
-Responsive to contract

requirements
-Prompt notification of contract

problems 
-Reasonable/cooperative

-Change order issue -No liquidated damages
assessed

-Flexible
-Pro-active
-effective contractor

recommended solutions 
-Effective snail/small

disadvantaged business
Subcontracting program 

0. Zero Nonconformances are comprises 
the achievement of contract 
requirements, despite use of 

Cost issues are comprising 
performance of contract 
requirements. 

Delays are comprising 
the achievement of contract 
requirements, Despite use 

Response to inquiries, technical/ 
service/administrative issues is 
not effective and responsive. 

Agency resources of Agency resources. 

1. Unacceptable Nonconformances require major Cost issues require major Delays require major response to inquiries, technical/ 
Agency resources to ensure 
achievement of contract 
requirements. 

Agency resources to ensure 
achievement of contract 
requirements. 

Agency resources to ensure 
achievement of contract 
requirements. 

service/administrative issues is 
marginally effective and 
responsive. 

2. Poor Nonconformances require minor 
Agency resources to ensure 
achievement of contract 

Costs issues require minor 
Agency resources to ensure 
achievement of contract 

Delays require minor 
Agency resources to ensure 
achievement of contract 

Responses to inquiries, technical/ 
service/administrative issues is 
somewhat effective and 

requirements. requirements. requirements. responsive. 

3. Acceptable Nonconformances do not impact Cost issues do not impact Delays do not impact Responses to inquires, technical/ 
achievement of contract 
requirements. 

achievement of contract 
requirements. 

achievement of contract 
requirements. 

service/administrative issues is 
usually effective and responsive. 

4. Good There are no quality problems. There are no cost issues. There are not delays. Responses to inquiries, technical/ 
service/administrative issues is 
effective and responsive, 

5. Excellent The contractor has demonstrated an exceptional performance level in some or all of the above categories. 



Attachment J.15 



 
 
 
 
 

  
Office of Strategic Sourcing and Procurement 

 
 4200 Connecticut Avenue NW  |  Washington, DC 20008  |  202.274.5000  |  udc.edu 
 

COST / PRICE DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATION 
 
 
Solicitation Number:       Closing Date:    
 
Caption:   
 
Total Proposed Amount:     
 
The undersigned   
 
 
(please print name and title of offeror’s authorized signatory) hereby certifies that, to the best of 
my knowledge, the cost and pricing data (i.e. at the time of price agreement this certification 
represents all material facts which prudent buyers and sellers would reasonably expect to affect 
price negotiations in any significant manner) submitted is accurate, complete, and current as of 
_________________________ (date of RFP closing or conclusion of negotiations as appropriate).  
The undersigned further agrees that it is under a continuing duty to update cost or pricing data 
through the date that negotiations, if any, with the District are completed.  The undersigned 
further agrees that the price, including profit or fee, will be adjusted to exclude any significant 
price increases occurring because the cost or pricing data was inaccurate, incomplete or not 
current.  (See D.C. Procurement Regulations, 27 DCMR, Chapter 16, §1624 through §1626, 
Chapter 24, §2405 and Chapter 33; and Section 25 of the Standard Contract Provisions for Use 
with District of Columbia Government Construction, dated January 2007, as amended). 
 
Signed:              Date: ______________________ 
 
Title:     
 
Company:  
   
Address:   
 
 
         
DUNS #: 
 
Phone:  
 
Fax:     



Attachment J.16



EXPERIENCE QUESTIONNAIRE 

INSTRUCTIONS:  See Box 11, Remarks, if extra 
space is needed to answer any item below.  Mark "X" in 
appropriate boxes. 

1. CONTRACTOR NAME, ADDRESS AND TELEPHONE NUMBER

2. SUBMITTED TO (Office 
Name and Address) 

3. BUSINESS

Υ  Company         Υ  Co-partnership 
Υ  Corporation        Υ   Individual 
Υ  Non-profit Organization 

4. How many years do you or your firm have in the line of
work contemplated by this solicitation?

5. How many years experience in contracting have you or your business had as a (a) prime contractor_____ and/or (b) sub-contractor ______?

6. List below the projects your business has completed within the last five (5) years which are similar in scope and scale to this job. 

CONTRACT 
AMOUNT 

TYPE OF PROJECT DATE 
COMPLETED 

NAMES, ADDRESS AND TELEPHONE NO. OF OWNER/PERSON TO 
CONTACT FOR PROJECT INFORMATION 

7. List below all of your firm's contractual commitments running concurrently with the work contemplated by this solicitation: 

CONTRACT 
NUMBER 

DOLLAR 
AMOUNT 

NAME, ADDRESSS AND TELEPHONE 
NO. OF BUSINESS/GOVERNMENT 
AGENCY INVOLVED 

AWARDED 
(units) 

PERCENT 
COMPLETED 

DATE  
CONTRACT 
COMPLETED 

8a.  Have you ever failed to complete any work awarded to you?         Υ  Yes   Υ  No 
8b.  Has work ever been completed by performance bond?          Υ  Yes   Υ  No 
8c.  If "Yes" to either item 8a or 8b specify location(s) and reason(s) why: 

________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 1



 
9.  Organization and work that will be available for this project: 
 
a.  (1)  Minimum number of employees: ______   and   (2) Maximum number of employees:________ 
 
b.        Are employees regularly on your payroll:            Υ  Yes          Υ  No 
 
c.        Specify equipment available for this contract: __________________________________________________________________________________ 
           _______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
d.        Estimate rate of progress below (such as 2.0 acres/man/day): 
 
    (1)  Minimum progress rate: ___________________   and   (2) Maximum progress rate:_____________________ 
 
      
10.  List below the experience of the principal individuals of your business: 
 

INDIVIDUAL'S NAME PRESENT 
POSITION 

YEARS OF 
EXPERIENCE 

MAGNITUDE AND TYPE OF WORK 
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

11.  REMARKS - SPECIFY BOX NUMBERS (Attach sheets if extra space is needed to fully answer any of the above questions.) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

12a.  CERTIFYING OFFICIAL'S NAME AND TITLE 
 
 

CERTIFICATION 
 
I certify that all of the statements made by me are complete and 
correct to the best of my knowledge and that any persons named 
as references are authorized to furnish the District with any 
information needed to verify my capability to perform this 
project. 

12B.  SIGNATURE (Sign in ink) 13.  DATE 

 
 
 
 

Page 2 
 
 



J.17



Telephone # and ext.: Fax #:

Name: EIN: Status:

The person(s) completing this form must be knowledgeable about the Bidder's/Offeror's business and operations.  

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS
This form contains five (5) sections.  Section I concerns the bidder's/offeror's responsibility; Section II includes additional required certifications; Section III relates to 
the Buy American Act (if applicable); Section IV relates to the Walsh-Healey Act; and Section V requires the bidder's/offeror's signature. Please note, a determination 
that a prospective contract is found to be "not responsible" is final and not appealable.

RESPONSES
Every question must be answered.  Each response must provide all relevant information that can be obtained within the limits of the law.  Individuals and sole 
proprietors may use a Social Security number but are encouraged to obtain and use a federal Employer Identification Number (EIN).  Provide any explanation at the end 
of the section or attach additional sheets with numbered responses.  Include the Bidder's/Offeror's name at the top of each attached page.

Additional Legal Business Entity Identities:  If applicable, list any other DBA, Trade Name, Former Name, Other Identity and EIN used in the last five (5) years and the 
status (active or inactive).
Type:

Email Address:

1.1  Business Type (Please check the appropriate box and provide additional information if necessary.):

        Limited Liability Company (LLC or PLLC)

        Partnership (including LLP, LP or General)

        Corporation (including PC)

Date of Organization:

If "No" to Subpart 1.2, provide the jurisdiction where the bidder's/offeror's business was formed or incorporated.  Attach a Certificate or Letter of Good Standing from 
the applicable jurisdiction and a certified Application for Authority from the District, or provide an explanation if the documents are not available.

How many years in business?:

        Nonprofit Organization

Date of Organization:

Date of Registration or Establishment:

        Other Date established?:

  State _____________________________________ Country  __________________________________

If "Other," please explain:  

1.2  Was the bidder's/offeror's business formed or incorporated in the District of Columbia?

(a) Certify its intent to obtain the necessary license, registration or certification prior to contract award; or
(b) Explain its exemption from the requirement.

1.3  Please provide a copy of each District of Columbia license, registration or certification that the Bidder/Offeror is required by law to obtain (other than those 
provided in Subpart 1.2).  If the Bidder/Offeror is not providing a copy of its license, registration or certification to transact business in the District of Columbia, it shall 
either:  

BIDDER/OFFEROR CERTIFICATION FORM

Legal Business Entity Name: Solicitation #:

Address of the Principal Place of Business (street, city, state, zip code)

Website:

        Sole Proprietor

        Joint Venture Date of Organization:

PART 1:  BIDDER/OFFEROR INFORMATION

Date of Incorporation:

COMPLETION 

Instructions for Section I:  Section I contains eight (8) parts.  Part 1 requests information concerning the Bidder's/Offeror's business entity.  Part 2 inquires about 
current or former owners, partners, directors, officers or principals.  Part 3 relates to the responsibility of the Bidder's/Offeror's business.  Part 4 concerns the 
Bidder's/Offeror's business certificates and licenses.  Part 5 inquires about legal proceedings.  Part 6 relates to the Bidder's/Offeror's financial and organizational 
status.  Part 7 requires the Bidder/Offeror to agree to update the information provided.  Part 8 relates to disclosures under the District of Columbia Freedom of 
Information Act (FOIA).  

SECTION I.  BIDDER/OFFEROR RESPONSIBILITY CERTIFICATION

Yes No

Page 1 of 6 Revised for DGS Contracts Procurement 2-26-2020



2.2  Been under suspension, debarment, voluntary exclusion or determined ineligible under any federal, District or state statutes? 

Within the past five (5) years, has any current or former owner, partner, director, officer, principal or any person in a position involved in the administration of funds, or 
currently or formerly having the authority to sign, execute or approve bids, proposals, contracts or supporting documentation on behalf of the bidder/offeror with any 
government entity:
2.1  Been sanctioned or proposed for sanction relative to any business or professional permit or license?

Additional Instructions for Section I, Parts 2 through 8:  Provide an explanation of the issue(s), relevant dates, the government entity involved, any remedial or 
corrective action(s) taken and the current status of the issue(s).  

3.2  Been proposed for suspension or debarment?

Within the past five (5) years, has the Bidder/Offeror:

2.4  Been the subject of an investigation, whether open or closed, by any government entity for a civil or criminal violation for any 
business-related conduct?

2.6  Been suspended, cancelled, terminated or found non-responsible on any government contract, or had a surety called upon to 
complete an awarded contract?

PART 2:  INDIVIDUAL RESPONSIBILITY

2.5  Been charged with a misdemeanor or felony, indicted, granted immunity, convicted of a crime, or subject to a judgment or a 
plea bargain for:
(a)  Any business-related activity; or

(b)  Any crime the underlying conduct of which was related to truthfulness?

1.4   If your company, its principals, shareholders, directors, or employees own an interest or have a position in another entity in the same or similar line of business as 
the Bidder/Offeror, please describe the affiliation in detail.

1.5  If any officer, director, shareholder or anyone holding a financial interest in the Bidder/Offeror has a relationship with an employee of the Department or any 
District agency for whom the Department is procuring goods or services, please describe the nature of the relationship in detail.

2.8  In the past ten (10) years has the Bidder/Offeror ever been assessed liquidated damages, costs to re-procure, costs to complete, or any other monetary damages 
under a contract? If so, describe each such assessment in detail.

2.7  In the past ten (10) years has the Bidder/Offeror had a contract terminated, in whole or in part, for any reason? If so, describe each such termination in detail.

3.4  Been charged with a misdemeanor or felony, indicted, granted immunity, convicted of a crime, or subject to a judgment or 
plea bargain for:

4.1  Had a denial, decertification, revocation or forfeiture of District of Columbia certification of any Certified Business Enterprise 
or federal certification of Disadvantaged Business Enterprise status for other than a change of ownership?

Please provide an explanation for each "Yes" in Part 2 above.    

Within the past five (5) years, has the Bidder/Offeror:

3.6  Been denied a contract award (in whole or in part, for any reason) or had a bid or proposal rejected based upon a non-
responsibility finding by a government entity? If so, describe each such occurrence in detail. 
3.7 Had a low bid or proposal rejected on a government contract for failing to make good faith efforts on any Certified Business 
Enterprise goal or statutory affirmative action requirements on a previously held contract?
3.8  Been suspended, cancelled, terminated or found non-responsible on any government contract, or had a surety called upon to 
complete an awarded contract?

3.5  Been disqualified or proposed for disqualification on any government permit or license?

PART 3:  BUSINESS RESPONSIBILITY 

PART 4:  CERTIFICATES AND LICENSES

3.1   Been under suspension, debarment, voluntary exclusion or determined ineligible under any federal, District or state statutes?

2.3  Been proposed for suspension or debarment?

Please provide an explanation for each "Yes" in Part 3. 

(b)  Any crime the underlying conduct of which was related to truthfulness?

3.3  Been the subject of an investigation, whether open or closed, by any government entity for a civil or criminal violation for any 
business-related conduct?

(a)  Any business-related activity; or

Yes      No

Yes      No

Yes      No

Yes      No

Yes      No

Yes      No

Yes      No

Yes      No

Yes      No

Yes      No

Yes      No

Yes      No

Yes      No

Yes      No

Yes      No

Yes      No

Page 2 of 6 Revised for DGS Contracts Procurement 2-26-2020



If "Yes" to Subpart 5.1, provide an explanation of the issue(s), relevant dates, the Lien Holder or Claimant's name, the amount of the lien(s) and the current status of the 
issue(s).  

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.5, provide the years the Bidder/Offeror failed to file the return or pay the insurance, explain the situation and any remedial or corrective action(s) 
taken and the current status of the issue(s).  

6.5  During the past three (3) years, has the Bidder/Offeror failed to file a District of Columbia unemployment insurance return or 
failed to pay District of Columbia unemployment insurance?

PART 6:  FINANCIAL AND ORGANIZATIONAL INFORMATION

5.4  Engaged in any litigation with any government entity? If so, please identify and/or describe all threatened and pending 
litigation and/or claims, including but not limited to matters pending before any Boards of Contracts Appeals.

4.2  Please provide a copy of the bidder's/offeror's District of Columbia Office of Tax and Revenue Tax Certification Affidavit.

5.1  Had any liens or judgments (not including UCC filings) filed against it which remain undischarged?

5.2  Had a government entity find a willful violation of District of Columbia compensation or prevailing wage laws, the Service 
Contract Act or the Davis-Bacon Act?

Within the past five (5) years, has the Bidder/Offeror:
PART 5:  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Please provide an explanation for "Yes" in Subpart 4.1.   

6.6  During the past three (3) years, has the Bidder/Offeror failed to comply with any payment agreement with the Internal 
Revenue Service, the District of Columbia Office of Tax and Revenue and the Department of Employment Services?

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.7, provide an explanation of the issue(s), relevant dates, the government entity involved, any remedial or corrective action(s) taken and the current 
status of the issue(s). 

6.8  During the past three (3) years, has the Bidder/Offeror been audited by any government entity?

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.1, provide an explanation of the issue(s), relevant dates, the government entity involved, any remedial or corrective action(s) taken and the current 
status of the issue(s).  

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.2, provide an explanation of the issue(s), relevant dates, the government entity involved, the amount assessed and the current status of the issue(s).  

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.3, provide the bankruptcy chapter number, the court name and the docket number.  Indicate the current status of the proceedings as "initiated," 
"pending" or "closed".  

5.3  Received any OSHA citation and Notification of Penalty containing a violation classified as serious or willful?

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.4, provide the taxing jurisdiction, the type of tax, the liability year(s), the tax liability amount the bidder/offeror failed to file/pay and the current 
status of the tax liability.  

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.6, provide the years the Bidder/Offeror failed to comply with the payment agreement, explain the situation and any remedial or corrective action(s) 
taken and the current status of the issue(s).  

(a)  If "Yes" to Subpart 6.8, did any audit of the Bidder/Offeror identify any significant deficiencies in internal controls, fraud or 
illegal acts; significant violations of provisions of contract or grant agreements; significant abuse; or any material disallowance?

6.1  Within the past five (5) years, has the Bidder/Offeror received any formal unsatisfactory performance assessment(s) from any 
government entity on any contract?

6.2 Within the past five (5) years, has the bidder/offeror had any liquidated damages assessed by a government entity over 
$25,000?

6.4  During the past three (3) years, has the Bidder/Offeror failed to file a tax return or pay taxes required by federal, state, District 
of Columbia or local laws?

6.3  Within the last seven (7) years, has the Bidder/Offeror initiated or been the subject of any bankruptcy proceedings, whether or 
not closed, or is any bankruptcy proceeding pending?

Please provide an explanation for each "Yes" in Part 5. 

6.7  Indicate whether the Bidder/Offeror owes any outstanding debt to any state, federal or District of Columbia government.

Yes      No

Yes      No

Yes      No

Yes      No

Yes      No

Yes      No

Yes      No

No

Yes      No

Yes      No

Yes      No

Yes      No

Yes      No

Yes      No

Page 3 of 6 Revised for DGS Contracts Procurement 2-26-2020



Contract Number Labor Hours Allocated

             (a)  The contract prices have been arrived at independently without, for the purpose of restricting competition, any consultation, communication or agreement 
with any bidder/offeror or competitor related to:  

The Bidder/Offeror certifies that:

PART 7:  CONTRACTOR PROCUREMENT ACTIVITY WITHIN THE DEPARTMENT

7.1  What is your organization's Design Capacity (total labor hours) to conduct or purse business with the Department of General Services (DGS) in the current fiscal 
year? Design capacity is calculated by multiplying the total number of company employees dedicated to a particular line of business by no more than 12 hours per day. 
Person’s completing this form may be required to provide supporting documentation to substantiate allocable labor hours presented.

                  (a) Construction:_____________________________________labor hours

                  (b) Non-Construction:________________________________ labor hours

7.2 In the table below, please list:

                  (1) The active contracts your organization currently holds with the Department of General Services, please include the contract number(s) as a part of your
                  response; and

                  (2) The number of labor hours your organization has allocated to each active contract within the current fiscal year. (Note, if more entries are required, please
                  list an  attached addendum to this document).

SECTION II.  ADDITIONAL REQUIRED BIDDER/OFFEROR CERTIFICATIONS

1.1  The bidder/offeror certifies that no officer or employee of the District of Columbia will benefit from this contract.  List the name(s) of any officer or employee of 
the District of Columbia that may benefit from this contract in section 1.2 below.

2.1  The signature of the Bidder/Offeror is considered to be a certification by the signatory that:

Instructions for Section II:  Section II contains four (4) parts.  Part 1 requests information concerning District of Columbia employees.  Part 2 applies to the 
Bidder/Offeror's pricing.  Part 3 relates to equal employment opportunity requirements.  Part 4 relates to First Source requirements.

PART 1.  DISTRICT EMPLOYEES NOT TO BENEFIT

(a)  Within sixty (60) days of a material change to a response; and
(b)  Prior to the exercise of an option year contract.

PART 8:  RESPONSE UPDATE REQUIREMENT
8.1  In accordance with the requirement of Section 302(c) of the Procurement Practices Reform Act of 2010 (D.C. Official Code  § 2-353.02), the Bidder/Offeror shall 

d    id d i  S i  I f hi  f  d i  h   f hi  

PART 2:  INDEPENDENT PRICE DETERMINATION REQUIREMENTS 

                    (i)  Those prices; 
                    (ii)  The intention to submit a bid/proposal; or

                    (iii)  The methods or factors used to calculate the prices in the contract.

(b)  If "Yes" to Subpart 6.8(a), provide an explanation of the issue(s), relevant dates, the government entity involved, any remedial or corrective action(s) taken and the 
current status of the issue(s).  

             (b)  ____________________________________________________________________________________

              (b)  The prices in this contract have not been and will not be knowingly disclosed by the Bidder/Offeror, directly or  indirectly, to any other bidder/offeror or 
competitor before bid/proposal opening unless otherwise required by law;  and

1.2  The following officer or employee of the District of Columbia may benefit from this contract.  

             (a)  ____________________________________________________________________________________

PART 9:  FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT (FOIA)
9.1  Indicate whether the Bidder/Offeror asserts that any information provided in response to a question in Section I is exempt 
from disclosure under the District of Columbia Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), effective March 25, 1977 (D.C. Law 1-96; 
D.C. Official Code §§ 2-531, et seq.).  Include the question number(s) and explain the basis for the claim.  (The District will 
determine whether such information is, in fact, exempt from FOIA at the time of request for disclosure under FOIA.) 

              (c)  No attempt has been made or will be made by the Bidder/Offeror to induce any other concern to submit or not to submit a contract for the purpose of 
restricting competition.

Yes      No

Page 4 of 6 Revised for DGS Contracts Procurement 2-26-2020



 [Insert full name of person(s) in the organization responsible for determining the prices offered
in this contract and the title of his or her position in the bidder's/offeror’s organization]

                    (i)   As an authorized agent, certifies that the principals named in subparagraph 2.2(b) above have not participated, and will not participate, in any action 
contrary to subparagraphs 2.1(a)(i) through (a)(iii) above; and
                    (ii)  As an agent, has not participated and will not participate in any action contrary to subparagraphs 2.1(a)(i) through (a)(iii) above.

2.3  If the Bidder/Offeror deletes or modifies subparagraph 2.1(b) above, the bidder/offeror must furnish with its bid a signed statement setting forth in detail the 
circumstances of the disclosure.

4.2  I certify that the Initial Employment Plan submitted with my bid or proposal is true and accurate.

PART 4:  FIRST SOURCE OBLIGATIONS

4.1  I hereby certify that I am fully aware of the requirements of the Workforce Intermediary Establishment and Reform of the First Source Amendment Act of 2011 
(D.C. Law 19-84), and agree to enter into a First Source Employment Agreement with the Department of Employment Services if awarded any contract valued at 
$300,000 or more which receives funds or resources from the District, or funds or resources which, in accordance with a federal grant or otherwise, is administered by 
the District government.

With regards to 2.4 (b), if the Bidder/Offeror has knowledge of such a financial interest, please provide a detailed explanation.

2.4  The Bidder/Offeror certifies that:

(a) there are no other entities related to it that are responding to or bidding on the subject solicitation or invitation to bid.  Related entities include, but are not limited to, 
any entity that shares management positions, board positions, shareholders, or persons with a financial interest in the Bidder/Offeror.  

              (b)  Has been authorized, in writing, to act as an agent for the following principal in certifying that the principal has not participated, and will not participate, in 
any action contrary to subparagraphs 2.1(a)(i) through (a)(iii) above:

SECTION III.  DOMESTIC PREFERENCE CERTIFICATIONS

Instructions for Section III:  Section III contains one (1) part which should only be completed if goods are being provided that are subject to the requirements of the 
Buy American Act.  

PART 3:  EQUAL OPPORTUNITY AND HUMAN RIGHTS OBLIGATIONS

3.1  I hereby certify that I am fully aware of the contents of Mayor's Order 85-85, Mayor's Order 2017-313 and the Office of Human Rights' regulations in Chapter 11 of 
the DCMR, and agree to comply with them while performing this contract.

PART 1:  BUY AMERICAN ACT COMPLIANCE (Applies if the bidder/offeror will provide goods to the District that are subject to the requirements of the 
Buy American Act)  

PART 6:  LANGUAGE ACCESS OBLIGATIONS

6.1  For contracts where the contracting agency is a "covered entity" or "covered entity with major public contact" as defined in Sections 2(2) and 2(3) of the Language 
Access Act of 2004 (D.C. Official Code § 2-1931(2) and § 2-1931(3)), I hereby certify that I will comply with Language Access compliance requirements of the 
contracting agency while performing this contract.

1.1  In accordance with 41 USC 8301 et. seq . and implementing regulations, the bidder/offeror certifies that each end product, 
except the end products listed below, is a domestic end product.

              (a)  Is the person in the Bidder's/Offeror’s organization responsible for determining the prices being offered in this contract, and that the signatory has not 
participated and will not participate in any action contrary to subparagraphs 2.1(a)(i) through (a)(iii) above; or

________________________________________________________________________________________________

2.2  The signature on the bid/proposal is considered to be a certification by the signatory that the signatory:

PART 7: CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

7.1  The bidder/offeror certifies that it presently has no interest and shall not acquire any interest, direct or indirect, which would conflict in any manner or degree with 
the performance of its obligations under the contract.  

8.1  The bidder/offeror certifies that it has verified with the Department of Small and Local Business Development (DSLBD) the current certifications of its proposed 
certified business enterprise (CBE) subcontractors.
8.2  The bidder/offeror certifies that it has verified with the Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs (DCRA), and any other licensing authority, that its 
proposed subcontractors possess all applicable licenses and permits required to perform the work.  

PART 8: SUBCONTRACTING OBLIGATIONS

(b) there are no current or former owners, partners, officers, directors, principals, managers, employees or any persons with a financial interest in the Bidder/Offeror 
who have a financial interest in the request for proposal or invitation for bid or any asset, tangible or intangible, arising out of any contract or scope of work related to 
the request for proposal or invitation for bid.

PART 5:  EMPLOYMENT ELIGIBILITY OBLIGATIONS
5.1  I hereby certify that the Bidder/Offeror has verified the identity and employment eligibility of all its employees.

Yes      No

Page 5 of 6 Revised for DGS Contracts Procurement 2-26-2020



Telephone #: Fax #:

Date: Contract No: 

The District of Columbia is  authorized to verify the above information with appropriate government authorities. Penalty for making false statements is a fine of 
not more than $1,000.00, imprisonment for not more than 180 days, or both, as prescribed in D.C. Official Code § 22-2405. Penalty for false swearing is a fine of 
not more than $2,500.00, imprisonment for not more than three (3) years, or both, as prescribed in D.C. Official Code § 22-2404. 

Name [Print and sign]:
Title: Email Address:

Instruction for Section V:  This section must be completed by all bidder/offerors. 

(b) All employees whose work relates to this contract shall be paid not less than the minimum wage prescribed by regulations issued by the Secretary of Labor (41 CFR 
50-202.2) (41 U.S.C. §40). Learners, student learners, apprentices, and handicapped workers may be employed at less than the prescribed minimum wage (see 41 CFR 
50-202.3) to the same extent that such employment is permitted under Section 14 of the Fair Labor Standards Act (29 U.S.C. §214).

SECTION V.  CERTIFICATION

______________________________________________________  EXCLUDED END PRODUCTS

______________________________________________________  COUNTRY OF ORIGIN

I, [                                                                                        ], as the person authorized to sign these certifications, hereby certify that the information provided in this form 
is true and accurate. In accordance with the requirements of section 302(c) of the Procurement Practices Reform Act of 2010 (D.C. Official Code  § 2-353.02(c)), I shall 
update any response provided in this form within 60 days of a material change to a response and prior to the exercise of an option period.

2.1  In accordance with 23 CFR 635.410(b), the bidder/offeror certifies that only steel or iron materials manufactured in the 
United States will be used for permanent incorporation on the project. 

3.1  In accordance with 41 USC 8301 et. seq . and implementing regulations, the bidder/offeror certifies that only construction 
materials manufactured in the United States will be used on the project. 

PART 2:  FHWA BUY AMERICA ACT COMPLIANCE (Applies to FHWA-funded construction contracts)  

If this contract is for the manufacture or furnishing of materials, supplies, articles or equipment in an amount that exceeds or may exceed $10,000, and is subject to the 
Walsh-Healey Public Contracts Act, as amended (41 U.S.C. §§ 35-45) (the “Act”, as used in this section), the following terms and conditions apply:

(a) All representations and stipulations required by the Act and regulations issued by the Secretary of Labor (41 CFR 50-201.3) are incorporated by reference. These 
representations and stipulations are subject to all applicable rulings and interpretations of the Secretary of Labor that are now, or may hereafter, be in effect.

PART 3:  BUY AMERICAN ACT COMPLIANCE (Applies to locally-funded construction contracts)   

SECTION IV.  WALSH-HEALEY ACT
Instructions for Section IV:  Walsh-Healey Act.  

Yes      No

Yes      No

Page 6 of 6 Revised for DGS Contracts Procurement 2-26-2020



Amendments



(X)

X x

X

July 17, 2023

2. Amendment/Modification Number 3. Effective Date

Office of Contracting &  Procurement

6. Issued By: Code
GF-2023-R-0029-001

7. Administered By (If other than line 6)

9B. Dated (See Item 11)

University of the District of Columbia University of the District of Columbia
Office of Contracting &  Procurement
4200 Connecticut Avenue, NW 4200 Connecticut Avenue, NW
Building 39 Suite 200C

Washington, DC 20008
Building 39 Suite 200C

8. Name and Address of Contractor (No. Street, city, country, state and ZIP Code) 9A. Amendment of Solicitation No.
Washington, DC 20008

1. Contract Number Page of Pages
1 8

4. Requisition/Purchase Request No. 5. Solicitation Caption

AMENDMENT OF SOLICITATION/MODIFICATION OF CONTRACT

See item 16C
Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs 
Community College Modernization

GF-2023-B-0029

11. THIS ITEM ONLY APPLIES TO AMENDMENTS OF SOLICITATIONS
The above numbered solicitation is amended as set forth in Item 14. The hour and date specified for receipt of bids is extended. is not extended.
Offers must acknowledge receipt of this amendment prior to the hour and date specified in the solicitation or as amended, by one of the 
following methods: (a) By completing Items 8 and 15, and returning 1 copy of the amendment: (b) By acknowledging receipt of this
amendment on each copy of the offer submitted; or (c) By separate letter or fax which includes a reference to the solicitation and 
amendment number. FAILURE OF YOUR ACKNOWLEDGEMENT TO BE RECEIVED AT THE PLACE DESIGNATED FOR THE RECEIPT OF OFFERS
PRIOR TO THE HOUR AND DATE SPECIFIED MAY RESULT IN REJECTION OF YOUR OFFER. If by virtue of this amendment you desire to change
an offer already submitted, such change may be made by letter or fax, provided each letter or telegram makes reference to the 
solicitation and this amendment, and is received prior to the opening hour and date specified.

10A. Modification of Contract/Order No.

10B. Dated (See Item 13)
Code Facility

12. Accounting and Appropriation Data (If Required)

13. THIS ITEM APPLIES ONLY TO MODIFICATIONS OF CONTRACTS/ORDERS,
IT MODIFIES THE CONTRACT/ORDER NO. AS DESCRIBED IN ITEM 14

A. This change order is issued pursuant to: (Specify Authority)
The changes set forth in Item 14 are made in the contract/order no. in item 10A.
B. The above numbered contract/order is modified to reflect the administrative changes (such as changes in paying office, appropriation
date, etc.) set forth in item 14, pursuant to the authority of 27 DCMR, Chapter 36, Section 3601.2.
C. This supplemental agreement is entered into pursuant to authority of:

D. Other (Specify type of modification and authority)

16C. Date Signed15C. Date Signed

1 copy to the issuing office.E. IMPORTANT: Contractor is not, is required to sign this document and return

Request for Proposals No. GF-2023-R-0029, Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization

14. Description of amendment/modification (Organized by UCF Section headings, including solicitation/contract subject matter where feasible.)

ALL OTHER TERMS AND CONDITIONS REMAIN UNCHANGED

1. Questions & Answers (Attachment A)
2. Pre-proposal conference sign-in sheet (Attachment B)
3. Site visit sign-in sheet (Attachment C)
4. The submission of proposals have been extended to Monday, August 28, 2023, by 2:00 PM.

(Signature of person authorized to sign) (Signature of Contracting Officer)

 is amended as follows:

8/10/2023

16A. Name of Contracting Officer

Submission of bids should be submitted via email to Michiko Gadson at mgadson@udc.edu.

Eddie Whitaker

Eddie Whitaker
16B. District of Columbia

Except as provided herein, all terms and conditions of the document referenced in Item (9A or 10A) remain unchanged and in full force and effect
15A. Name and Title of Signer (Type or print)

15B. Name of Contractor



Questions & Answers (Attachment A)



No. Questions Answers
1 It appears that architectural services are to continue design based upon 30% 

Bridging Documents.  Are these documents available, and will they be 
provided before submission of our response to this RFP?

These documents will be provided after award of this RFP.

2 The Price Breakdown Form provided on page 4 of the RFP does not 
include a line item for A/E services. Shall fees for the required A/E 
Services to be included in 1) the General Conditions amount, 2) the Design-
Build Fee amount, or the Design Contingency amount?

Include the GC Fee and AE services fee as separate line items.

3  Section 4 Design Requirements of the RFP states that 30% Bridging 
Documents will be provided, and then references 50%, 85% and 100% 
submissions. It further states that the Design Builder shall provide 50% and 
100% Construction Documents.  During development of the Project, is 
UDC requesting 2 or 3 A/E document submissions?

50%, 85%, and 100% submissions are required.

4 Will the swing space work happen within the existing 3 wings for the 
subject Lamond Riggs Campus, or will the occupants be moved into swing 
space in another, offsite UDC location?

Swing space work will occure onsite withing the 3 wings.

5 Does the GC need to be a SBE/CBE, or is the 35% related to 
subcontracting requirements only?

The CBE must be the GC. The 35% is related to the subcontracting requirements 
only.

6 Should the Design-Build fee on the cost breakdown include GC fee and 
AE design services costs?

Include the GC Fee and AE services fee as separate line items.

7 Section 4.1 makes reference to buildings 39, 44 and 71. Confirm this is a 
typo.

This is a typo. This RFP is solely in reference to the Lamond Riggs Campus

8 There are multiple attachments in schedule J that are listed as “Attached”, 
but they are not included with the RFP. Can these be provided?

All documents were attached. Please email me at mgadson@udc.edu for copies 
of the bonding forms.

9 Is there a form of contract that can be provided? No
10 The cost breakdown shows a cost for builders risk. Are there specific 

requirements for coverage?
Please refer to section I of the solitication. 

11 What limits are required for insurance coverage? See section I of the solicitation.
12 Are there any preliminary design documents that can be provided? These documents will be provided after award of this RFP.

GF-2023-R-0029, Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 
Questions & Answers 

1 of 2



13 The RFP states wings A and B needs to have final completion in Fall 
2024 and Wing C needs to have final completion at the beginning of 
2025. When is substantial completion required? 

Wing C completion may occure before Wings A and B. All works needs to be 
coordinate with the academic calendar to minimize disruption to school 
activities.

14 Can a preliminary schedule be provided that provides additional detail? Target completion for the building is currently 2024-2025
15 What level of documents is the GMP to be based on? Refer to section 3.9.1
16 Does the owner expect any early release packages like 

Demolition/Abatement and Foundation to Grade?
Early release packages are likely and will be determined during post-bid 
coordination.

17  When will the 30% bridging documents be provided and are these 30% 
CD’s?

30% bridging documents will be provided after award.

18  When will the project be awarded? TBD
19 Is the prime contractor for this project required to be a CBE / MBE or any 

other designation or can we, as Gilbane Building Company, respond to the 
RFP with the understanding that there is a requirement for us to use CBE 
/MBE subcontractors for 35% of the direct cost value.  And if the answer is 
yes to the first question, would using an architectural firm with these 
designations count towards the 35% since this RFP states that it is design 
build.

Yes, the prime contractor is required to be a CBE. No, the 35% will not count 
toward the subcontracting requirements. The prime contractor has to subcontract 
at least 35% of the contract. 

20 Please confirm this an electronic submission only. Confirmed.
21 Page 37 of the RFP refers to Exhibit A. Please advise on the location of 

Exhibit A.
Refer to Attachment A

22 Please provide specific start and end dates for Wings A&B (Phase 1) and 
Wing C (Phase 2).  

Target completion for the building is currently 2024-2025

23 Section 4. Design Requirements references buildings 39, 44 & 71 on page 
8. Please clarify.

This is a typo. This RFP is solely in reference to the Lamond Riggs Campus

24 May the Offeror submit previous Past Performance Evaluations included 
in previous proposal submissions to UDC?

This is acceptable

2 of 2



Pre-proposal conference sign-in sheet (Attachment B)



NO NAME COMPANY TELEPHONE NO. EMAIL ADDRESS

1 Michiko Gadson UDC 202-274-5191 mgadson@udc.edu

2 Eddie Whitaker UDC 202-274-6941 eddie.whitaker@udc.edu

3 Alan Walsh UDC 202-274-6641 awalsh@udc.edu

4 Peter Caillouz CFR Engineering 240-678-9682 peter@cfrengineering.com

5 Greg Gouldin Salas O'Brien 240-832-7640 greg.gouldin@salasobrien.com

6 Vijay Kasimsetty Consys, Inc. 202-545-1333 vijay@consys-inc.net

7 Susan G. Moore Gilbane Building Company 571-225-8108 SMoore12@GilbaneCo.com

8 Jeffrey Luker Quinn Evans 202-744-7494 jeffrey.luker@quinnevans.co

9 Aaron Trout Gilbane Building Company 571-225-8108 ATrout@GilbaneCo.com

10 Kevin Wynter BRAILSFORD & DUNLAVEY  301-310-7879  kwynter@bdconnect.com

11

12

PRE-BID CONFERENCE ATTENDANCE   (July 20, 2023 at 11:00 am)

 GF-2023-R-0029, Design Build Services - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization Project



Site Visit  sign-in sheet (Attachment C)



GF-2023-R-0029, Design Build Services – Lamond Riggs Community College Modernization 

Site Visit Sign-in Log - 7/27/2023 

No. Name Company Telephone No. Email Address 

Jerry Johnson UDC 202-274-7014 jdjohnson@udc.edu 

1 Kevin Wynter B&D 301-310-7879 kwynter@bdconnect.com 
2 Rick Munford MCN Build 202-805-9975 rick.munford@mcnbuild.com 

3 Yonas Menji MCN Build 202-549-1162 yonas@mcnbuild.com 

4 Kyle Grays MCN Build 202-333-3424 kyle.grays@mcnbuild.com 

5 Vijay Kasimsetty Consys Inc 202-545-1333 vijay@consys-inc.net 
6 Elena Skotar R. McGhee & Associates 703-585-1454 eskotar@rmc-architects.com 

7 

8 

9 

10 



Certificate of Clean Hands



1101 4th Street, SW
Washington, DC 20024

Date of Notice: January 5, 2024 L0010666091Notice Number:

FEIN: **-***4741
Case ID: 1802016

 

Government of the District of Columbia
Office of the Chief Financial Officer
Office of Tax and Revenue 

SMOOT CONSTRUCTION COMPANY OF WASHINGTON DC
5335 WISCONSIN AVE NW
WASHINGTON DC  20015-2030
 

Branch Chief, Collection and Enforcement Administration
Authorized By Melinda Jenkins

To validate this certificate, please visit MyTax.DC.gov. On the MyTax DC homepage, click the
“Validate a Certificate of Clean Hands” hyperlink under the Clean Hands section.

CERTIFICATE OF CLEAN HANDS

As reported in the Clean Hands system, the above referenced individual/entity has no outstanding
liability with the District of Columbia Office of Tax and Revenue or the Department of Employment
Services. As of the date above, the individual/entity has complied with DC Code § 47-2862,  therefore
this Certificate of Clean Hands is issued.

TITLE 47. TAXATION, LICENSING, PERMITS, ASSESSMENTS, AND FEES
CHAPTER 28 GENERAL LICENSE

SUBCHAPTER II. CLEAN HANDS BEFORE RECEIVING A LICENSE OR PERMIT
D.C. CODE § 47-2862 (2006)

§ 47-2862 PROHIBITION AGAINST ISSUANCE OF LICENSE OR PERMIT

1101 4th Street SW, Suite W270, Washington, DC 20024/Phone: (202) 724-5045/MyTax.DC.gov

 

 

COPY



First Source Agreement Approval



Pending



Office of Human Rights



Pending



Business Licenses 





 

Payment and Performance Bonds 

  



























SUBCONTRACTING PLAN



NOTE: This is a Design-Build contract. There are no construction bid packages at this time. SBE/CBE participation is provided for the 
design phase only. . SBE/CBE contract amounts and lower tier participation will be verified and submitted at time of GMP.

�

�������������������������������������������������ALW�AbLlw����l����!,���7��=>?@=B��CDEFG�HIHJ�

KMNOPQR�STUMRMVPNPXYZ�XR[�KQ\PNPOXOPQR]NQROYXNO]K̂ QYOK�_X̀ MYPR̀ �
X̂ \̂PNXROPRVQYaXOPQR�
�
Kcdefgh�SXT������UMRMVPNPXYZ�PRVQYaXOPQR�
�

ijkmnopq�rrrrrrrrrrrrrr� ijosnts�uq�rrrrrrrrrr� vknxy�nzz{|}}q�rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr�

~s{||s��zz{|}}q�rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr� ixsp��~sns|���xm�ijz|q�rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr�

ijkmnop�}�mjxos�j��tjosnts��j{�n�|otp�tjos{nts��m{x�ns|�m{j�|ts��j{�~mj{s}��n�|{xo���xt|o}||q�

�jxos�j��ijosntsq�rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr� �xsy|q�rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr�

ijosnts�uq�rrrrrrrrrrrrr� vknxy�nzz{|}}q�rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr�

~s{||s��zz{|}}q�rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr�
�

�

Kcdefgh�SUT�����KQ\PNPOXOPQR]NQROYXNO]K̂QYOK�_X̀ MYPR̀ �X̂ \̂PNXRO�PRVQYaXOPQR�
�

~jyxtxsnsxjo��ijos{nts��mmyxtnos�j�q�rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr� ~jyxtxsnsxjo���|��ns|q�rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr�

��|otpq�rrrrrrrrrrrrr� �jsny��jyyn{��kj�os�j��ijos{ntsq�rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr�

�y|n}|�}|y|ts�nyy�s�|�nmmyxtn�y|�}��tjos{ntsxo��{|��x{|k|os}��j{�s�x}�
}jyxtxsnsxjoq�
�����~��tjos{ntsxo���|��x{|k|os�
�����~��tjos{ntsxo���|��x{|k|os�
��~����nmm{j�|z�no�nz��}s|z�}��tjos{ntsxo��{|��x{|k|osq�
�� �z��}s|z�~��tjos{ntsxo���|��x{|k|osq�rrrr��

�

�jsny��ny�|�j��X\\�i�v�~��tjos{nts}q�rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr�
���	
���������������������
�
��n��x{k�s�ns�s�|��ny�|�j��nyy�kp�i�v�~��tjos{nts}�k||s}�j{�
|�t||z}�s�|�}��tjos{ntsxo��{|��x{|k|os�{|��x{|z��oz|{�s�x}�
}jyxtxsnsxjo�j{�tjos{nts����{s�|{�����oz|{}snoz�s�ns��~�����xyy�
joyp�m{j�xz|�t{|zxs�sj�n{z}�kp�~�v�~��tjos{ntsxo���|��x{|k|os�
�j{��j{����|{|�p�n�i�v�m{j�xz|z�n�tjkk|{txnyyp��}|��y���otsxjo�
�xs��xs}�j�o�j{�nox�nsxjo�noz�{|}j�{t|}��
������vv�
�����~���vv�

�
�

�

Kcdefgh�SNT������NUM�UMRMVPNPXYZ� QR\Z�NQâ \MOM�PV�O"M�UMRMVPNPXYZ�PK�X�NMYOPVPM[�U#KPRMKK�MROMŶ YPKM$�

�
P%�e&c�Uchc%fdf'()�f*�'�Nc(ef%fc+�U-*fhc**�Mhec(.(f*c/�*c0cde�'00�e&'e�'..0)�'h+�.(g1f+c�e&c�%g00g2fh3�fh%g(4'efgh5�
���nk�n�i�v�s�ns�_P\\�m|{�j{k�6����j��s�|�tjos{ntsxo��|��j{s��xs��kp�j�o�j{�nox�nsxjo�noz�{|}j�{t|}�noz��xyy�ojs�}��tjos{nts�nop�

mj{sxjo�j��s�|�tjos{nts����|{|�j{|����nk��8��{|��x{|z�sj�}��kxs�no�~�v�~��tjos{ntsxo���yno�s�ns�z|kjo}s{ns|}�}��tjos{ntsxo���
���nk�n�i�v�s�ns�_P\\�RQO�m|{�j{k�6����j��s�|�tjos{ntsxo��|��j{s��xs��kp�j�o�j{�nox�nsxjo�noz�{|}j�{t|}�noz��xyy�}��tjos{nts�n�

mj{sxjo�j��s�|�tjos{nts����|{|�j{|�����oz|{}snoz���nk�{|��x{|z�sj�}��kxs�no�~�v�~��tjos{ntsxo���yno��yjtns|z�xo�~|tsxjo�jo�9��s�ns�
z|kjo}s{ns|}�s�ns�s�|�{|��x{|z�}��tjos{ntsxo��nkj�os��n}�xozxtns|z�n�j�|���xyy��j�sj���nyx�x|z�i�v}��
�
0̂c'*c�fhd0-+c�e&c�.c(dche'3c�g%�e&c�dghe('de�e&c�NUM�̂(f4c�2f00�.c(%g(4�-h+c(�e&c�dghe('de�g(�.(g:cdeT�
�� ��|�i�v��{xk|��xyy�}|y�;m|{�j{k�rrrr��j��s�|�tjos{nts�}�sjsny�zjyyn{��jy�k|�j��s�|�tjos{nts�j{�m{j�|ts��

0̂c'*c�.(g1f+c�e&c�d-((che�NUM�Nc(ef%fd'efgh�R-4<c(�g%�e&c�NUM�̂(f4cT�
�� i�v�i|{sx�xtnsxjo��j��rrrrrrrrrrrrrr�

�

�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

�

X

X

X

LXR63883052024

0

GF-2023-R-0029 August 28, 2023
University of the District of Columbia $5,060,681

$651,800

Smoot Construction Company of Washington, DC 202-243-6688 pmjohnson@smootbuilds.com
3939 Wisconsin Ave NW, 2nd floor Washington, DC 20016

pmjohnson@smootbuilds.com
3939 Wisconsin Ave NW, 2nd floor, Washington, DC 20016

Pamela Murray Johnson Vice President 
202-243-6688



NOTE: This is a Design-Build contract. There are no construction bid packages at this time. SBE/CBE participation is provided for the 
design phase only. . SBE/CBE contract amounts and lower tier participation will be verified and submitted at time of GMP.

�

�������������������������������������������������;FQ�;ZFep{���e�{��"-�{�6��789:7<��=>?@A�BCBD�

EGHGIJKJLMN�LOOGPOLOJRH�
�

S�TUVWXYU[�VUY\]̂_[�̀UY]̂_[�X\\Ua\[�XbT�a\X\U�cbTUY�dUbXW\_�f̂�dUYgcY_�\hX\�\hU�]b̂fYiX\]fb�dYf̀]TUT�Xjf̀U�]a�
\YcU�XbT�VfYYUV\�\f�\hU�jUa\�f̂�i_�kbflWUTmU�XbT�jUW]Ûn�ocYacXb\�\f�qnrn�ŝ ]̂V]XW�rfTU�t�uuvuwxu[�S�
cbTUYa\XbT�\hX\�X�dUYafb�Vfb̀]V\UT�f̂�dUYgcY_�ahXWW�jU�̂]bUT�bf\�ifYU�\hXb�yz[xxx�fY�]idY]afbUT�̂fY�bf\�
ifYU�\hXb�|x�_UXYa[�fY�jf\hn�S�cbTUYa\XbT�\hX\�Xb_�̂XWaU�fY�̂YXcTcWUb\�a\X\UiUb\�\hX\�S�dYf̀]TU�fY�XaaUY\�
iX_�jU�mYfcbTa�̂fY�YÙfVX\]fb�f̂�i_�r}~�YUm]a\YX\]fb�dcYacXb\�\f�qnrn�ŝ ]̂V]XW�rfTU�t�uvu|�n��n��cY\hUY[�
X�oY]iU�rfb\YXV\fY[�qÙUWfdUY[�r}~[��rUY\]̂]UT��f]b\��Ub\cYU[�fY��dfY\a��XmUY]bm��]VUbaUU�\hX\�̂X]Wa�\f�
VfidW_�l]\h�\hU�YU�c]YUiUb\a�f̂�\hU��iXWW�XbT�rUY\]̂]UT�}ca]bUaa�~b\UYdY]aU�qÙUWfdiUb\�XbT��aa]a\XbVU�
�iUbTiUb\��V\�f̂�uxxz[�Xa�XiUbTUT[��qnrn��Xl�uxv|x����\hU���V\��[�ahXWW�jU�acjgUV\�\f�dUbXW\]Ua�Xa�
fc\W]bUT�]b�\hU��V\n�

�
o�S������~������������������������������� �S������~�������������������������������

�s}��S��~������������������������������� q��~�������������������������������

�
�
�

�
P	
������� � PEG�KEG�P�EKRHOMLKORMP��IRM�GLK��OJGM���
�

KEG�P��
�����
�����
K�������H��	�

L  �	!!�
K	��#
�����

H���
$�
	�����	��� �����%	�
KEG�P��
�����
����

&	!
�������#�!��
�����
��!
��	�
�#�'��(�����	��	�#���	 ��%���!%�))�
�	�#�����
���	�
�))���!	#�)�
#��
��������%	�KEG�

�������������������� ������������������� ������ ����������������� �����������������

�
PEG�KEG�$�����#�K����
���
�

KEG�P��
�����
����P	)#*$	�#�����
	�J� 
������

�
�XiU������������
�
�]\WU����������
�
�UWUdhfbU��cijUY�����������
�
~iX]W��TTYUaa�����������
�

��h]a�r}~�l]WW�dUŶfYi�\hU�~��S�~�acjVfb\YXV\�l]\h�]\a�
flb�fYmXb]+X\]fb�XbT�YUafcYVUan��
��h]a�r}~�l]WW�acjVfb\YXV\�X�dfY\]fb�f̂�\hU�acjVfb\YXV\�XbT�

l]WW�dUŶfYi�����,�f̂�\hU�acjVfb\YXV\.a�\f\XW�TfWWXY�̀fWciUn�
HROG��J#��%	�KEG�'))�����!	)#*�	�#����/001��#��%	�
!��
�����
�2�����!��)!��	�
%�)�'	�*�	��KEG�
!��
�����
�����	)�'��

�

3R4GM�OJGM�
KEG�P��
�����
����

H��	�
L  �	!!� K	��#
�����H���

$�
	�����	��� �����%	�
KEG�P��
�����
����

&	!
�������#�
!��
�����
��!
��	��#�
'��(�����	��	�#���	 �
�%���!%�))��	�#�����

���	�
�))���!	#�)�
#��
��������%	�KEG�

O	��
�Unmn[�|a\[�
ubT[��YT[�
w\h[�U\Vn��

�������������������� ������������������� ������ 5������������������ ����������������� �����

�������������������� ������������������� ������ 5������������������ ����������������� �����

�������������������� ������������������� ������ 5������������������ ����������������� �����

�������������������� ������������������� ������ 5������������������ ����������������� �����

�������������������� ������������������� ������ 5������������������ ����������������� �����

�
�

Pamela Murray Johnson
Vice President      January 9, 2024

SK&A                   1155 Connecticut Ave NW,      LS89728092025    $60,000      Structural Engineer 
                       Washington, DC 20036

Scott Stewart

President & Managing Partner  

      202-659-2520

              scotts@skaengineers.com

X



NOTE: This is a Design-Build contract. There are no construction bid packages at this time. SBE/CBE participation is provided for the 
design phase only. . SBE/CBE contract amounts and lower tier participation will be verified and submitted at time of GMP.

p

ppppppppppppppppppppppppppppppppppppppppppppppppp�$/p�:$DOZe��DeZ�p���Zp�p�������pp�����p ! "p

p
p
p

#%&p'()*+,-.0*-+.pp
#+120,3p4015p

677.588p
#5.-9;9*0-9+,p

4+<p
=.9*5p-+p)5p2097p-+p->5p
#%&p'()*+,-.0*-+.p

?58*.92-9+,p+;p8()*+,-.0*-p8*+25p
+;p@+.Ap-+p)5p25.;+.157p->0-p8>0BBp
)5p;+.p0p*+115.*90BB3p(85;(Bp
;(,*-9+,p)3p->5p#%&p

CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCp pCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCp pCCCCp CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCp CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCp

p
'%&E#%&p=+9,-p+;p#+,-0*-Fp
p

#%&p'()*+,-.0*-+.p'5B;G=5.;+.10,*5pH,79*0-+.Fp

p
IJKLMpCCCCCCCCCp
p
NPQRLMpCCCCCCCp
p
NLRLSTUVLpIWKXLYMpCCCCCCCCp
p
[KJPRp\]]YL̂ M̂pCCCCCCCCp
p

pNTP̂p_̀ [paPRRpSLYbUYKpQTLp[INcd[p̂WXfUVQYJfQpaPQTpPQ̂p
UaVpUYgJVPhJQPUVpJV]pYL̂UWYfL̂ipp
pNTP̂p_̀ [paPRRp̂WXfUVQYJfQpJpSUYQPUVpUbpQTLp̂WXfUVQYJfQpJV]p

aPRRpSLYbUYKpCCCCjpUbpQTLp̂WXfUVQYJfQk̂pQUQJRp]URRJYplURWKLip
4mn&FpH;p->5p#%&p@9BBp,+-p85B;G25.;+.1po���p+;p->5p
8()*+,-.0*-�p9-p1(8-pB98-p50*>pB+@5.G-95.p#%&p
8()*+,-.0*-+.p)5B+@<p

p

�m�&�pnH&�p
#%&p'()*+,-.0*-+.p

4015p
677.588p #5.-9;9*0-9+,p4+<p

=.9*5p-+p)5p2097p-+p->5p
#%&p'()*+,-.0*-+.p

?58*.92-9+,p+;p
8()*+,-.0*-p8*+25p+;p
@+.Ap-+p)5p25.;+.157p
->0-p8>0BBp)5p;+.p0p
*+115.*90BB3p(85;(Bp
;(,*-9+,p)3p->5p#%&p

n95.p
�Ligi	p
Q̂	p
�V]	pY]	p
�QT	pLQfi�p

CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCp pCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCp pCCCCp �pCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCp CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCp CCCCp

CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCp pCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCp pCCCCp �pCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCp CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCp CCCCp

CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCp pCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCp pCCCCp �pCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCp CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCp CCCCp

CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCp pCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCp pCCCCp �pCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCp CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCp CCCCp

CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCp pCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCp pCCCCp �pCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCp CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCp CCCCp

p

#%&p'()*+,-.0*-+.pp
#+120,3p4015p

677.588p
#5.-9;9*0-9+,p

4+<p
=.9*5p-+p)5p2097p-+p->5p
#%&p'()*+,-.0*-+.p

?58*.92-9+,p+;p8()*+,-.0*-p8*+25p
+;p@+.Ap-+p)5p25.;+.157p->0-p8>0BBp
)5p;+.p0p*+115.*90BB3p(85;(Bp
;(,*-9+,p)3p->5p#%&p

CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCp pCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCp pCCCCp CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCp CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCp

p
'%&E#%&p=+9,-p+;p#+,-0*-Fp
p

#%&p'()*+,-.0*-+.p'5B;G=5.;+.10,*5pH,79*0-+.Fp

p
IJKLMpCCCCCCCCCp
p
NPQRLMpCCCCCCCp
p
NLRLSTUVLpIWKXLYMpCCCCCCCCp
p
[KJPRp\]]YL̂ M̂pCCCCCCCCp
p

pNTP̂p_̀ [paPRRpSLYbUYKpQTLp[INcd[p̂WXfUVQYJfQpaPQTpPQ̂p
UaVpUYgJVPhJQPUVpJV]pYL̂UWYfL̂ipp
pNTP̂p_̀ [paPRRp̂WXfUVQYJfQpJpSUYQPUVpUbpQTLp̂WXfUVQYJfQpJV]p

aPRRpSLYbUYKpCCCCjpUbpQTLp̂WXfUVQYJfQk̂pQUQJRp]URRJYplURWKLip
4mn&FpH;p->5p#%&p@9BBp,+-p85B;G25.;+.1po���p+;p->5p
8()*+,-.0*-�p9-p1(8-pB98-p50*>pB+@5.G-95.p#%&p
8()*+,-.0*-+.p)5B+@<p

p

�m�&�pnH&�p
#%&p'()*+,-.0*-+.p

4015p
677.588p #5.-9;9*0-9+,p4+<p

=.9*5p-+p)5p2097p-+p->5p
#%&p'()*+,-.0*-+.p

?58*.92-9+,p+;p
8()*+,-.0*-p8*+25p+;p
@+.Ap-+p)5p25.;+.157p
->0-p8>0BBp)5p;+.p0p
*+115.*90BB3p(85;(Bp

n95.p
�Ligi	p
Q̂	p
�V]	pY]	p
�QT	pLQfi�p

GES DC                  5225 Wisconsin Ave NW,      LSD39531122026    $416,800                 MEP Engineer and Technology 
                       Washington, DC 20015

Abdullah Ayazi, LEED AP

Sr. Vice President

      202.495.7746

 AbdullahA@theges.com

X

GordonDC             1112 16th St NW, Suite 910  L11869052025    $35,000                 Civil Engineer   
                             Washington, DC 20036

Jessie Ponce de Leon, PE

Managing Partner

       202.869.1601

 jponcedeleon@gordon.dc.us.com

X



NOTE: This is a Design-Build contract. There are no construction bid packages at this time. SBE/CBE participation is provided for the 
design phase only. . SBE/CBE contract amounts and lower tier participation will be verified and submitted at time of GMP.

�

�������������������������������������������������DOZ�DdOoz����o����"-���8��@ABC@E��FGHIJ�KLKM�

NPQRST�SURVWNSV�NXNWY�
�
[\]̂_̀a�bbbbbbbb�
cefg]�hîjek_jiea�bbbbbbbb�
hîjek_j�lmgn]ea�bbbbbbbb�
pkj]�qrs�qmn_îjek_jf̂\�ctk̂�[__]uj]va�bbbbbbbb�
pkj]�k\]̂_̀�_îjek_j�wf\̂]va�bbbbbbbb�
�
[̂jf_fukj]v�qjkej�pkj]�ix�hîjek_ja�bbbbbbbb�
[̂jf_fukj]v�ŝv�pkj]�ix�hîjek_ja�bbbbbbbb�
�
yijkt�pittke�[gim̂j�ix�hîjek_ja�{bbbbbbbb�
�
|}~����������������������~��������������������������������
�~�������������������~������~�����~����
�
����ix�j�]�yijkt�hîjek_j�[gim̂ja�{bbbbbbbb�
�
����ix�yijkt�pittke�[gim̂j�ix�hîjek_ja�{bbbbbbbbbbbbbb� �
�umewmk̂j�ji�p�h���k����	�
��
�
yijkt�[gim̂j�ix�[tt�qrshrs�qmn_îjek_jwa�{bbbbbbbb�
�������~�~�~�����~���
�

���fx�kuutf]w��
�rkw]�c]efiv�hîjek_j����ujfîs�j]̂wfî�c]efiva�bbbbbbbb�
��mtjf	̀]ke�hîjek_j�

�fewj��]ke��c]efiv��ix�hîjek_ja�bbbbbbbb��
hmee]̂j��]ke��c]efiv��ix�hîjek_ja�bbbbbbbb�

�p]wf\̂	rmftv���pkj]�ix��mkek̂j]]v�hîjek_ja�bbbbbbbb�
�
�h�]_��fx�uefg]�_îjek_jie�fw�k�hrs�k̂v��ftt�u]exieg�j�]�

sly��s�\i�]êg]̂j	kwwfwj]v�uei�]_j��k\]̂_̀�_îjek_j���fj������
� ��������!�����������~�����~������#$%�������������������������
�����~��~����~�������������
��

&W'(NVQ�&WU)QSV�*+,*'YT�NXNWY�
�

[\]̂_̀�cei�fvf̂\�qmnwfv̀a�bbbbbbbb�
pfwjef_j�qmnwfv̀a�bbbbbbbb�
p]�]tiu]ea�bbbbbbbb�
[gim̂j�ix�pfwjef_j�qmnwfv̀a�bbbbbbbb�
pkj]�pfwjef_j�qmnwfv̀�cei�fv]v�_îjek_j�wf\̂]va�bbbbbbbb�
�
[̂jf_fukj]v�qjkej�pkj]�ix�cei�]_ja�bbbbbbbb�
[̂jf_fukj]v�ŝv�pkj]�ix�cei�]_ja�bbbbbbbb�
�
cei�]_j�lkg]a�bbbbbbbb�
cei�]_j�[vve]wwa�bbbbbbbb�
�
yijkt�p]�]tiug]̂j�cei�]_j�rmv\]ja�{bbbbbbbb�
�������~���~��������������������������������������
�
����ix�j�]�yijkt�p]�]tiug]̂j�cei�]_j�rmv\]ja�{bbbbbbbb�
�
����ix�yijkt�pittke�[gim̂j�ix�hîjek_ja�{bbbbbbbbbbbbbb�
�umewmk̂j�ji�p�h���k����	�
��
�
yijkt�[gim̂j�ix�[tt�qrshrs�qmn_îjek_jwa�{bbbbbbbb�
�������~�~�~����� ~����~���
�
�h�]_��fx�v]�]tiu]e�fw�k�hrs�k̂v��ftt�u]exieg�j�]�sly��s�

\i�]êg]̂j	kwwfwj]v�uei�]_j��uef�kj]�uei�]_j���fj������� ��
������!�����������~�����~������#$%����������������������������
�~����~������������
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

�NPQRST�SURVWNSV'RP�U..'SQW/*�N..'W0NV'UR�UW� �NPQRST�&WU)QSV�0NRNPQW/*�N..'W0NV'UR�

1�23453�67794:;<�
�

y�]�n]ti��[\]̂_̀�hîjek_jf̂\��xxf_]e�ie�[\]̂_̀�cei�]_j��k̂k\]e�kxxfegw�j�]�xitti�f̂\����ji�kxxfeg�a��
��x�j�]�r]̂]xf_fkè�fw�k�hrs=�pq�rp��kw�_îjk_j]v�ji�_îxfeg�r]̂]xf_fkè>w�hrs�_]ejfxf_kjfî��

�
�y�]�xmtt̀�]�]_mj]v�hîjek_j��rkw]�ie��ujfî�ie�s�j]̂wfî�ie��mtjf	�]ke��ie�wmnwfv̀�vi_mg]̂j=�n]j�]]̂�j�]�r]̂]xf_fkè�k̂v�[\]̂_̀=��kw�

]gkft]v�ji�pq�rp�kj�higutfk̂_]�ŝxie_]g]̂j?v_�\i���fj�f̂�xf�]�����vk̀w�ix�wf\̂f̂\a�
�
�.UW�NPQRST�SURVWNSV�j�]�qrs�qmn_îjek_jf̂\�ctk̂=�wmngfjj]v�ǹ�r]̂]xf_fkè=��kw�]gkft]v�ji�pq�rp�kj�

higutfk̂_]�ŝxie_]g]̂j?v_�\i���fj�f̂�xf�]�����vk̀w�ix�wf\̂f̂\�j�]�_îjek_j�n]j�]]̂�j�]�r]̂]xf_fkè�k̂v�[\]̂_̀��
�
bbbbbbbb�
lkg]�ix�[\]̂_̀�hîjek_jf̂\��xxf_]e�ie�[\]̂_̀�cei�]_j��k̂k\]e�
�

bbbbbbbb�
yfjt]�ix�[\]̂_̀�hîjek_jf̂\��xxf_]e�ie�[\]̂_̀�cei�]_j��k̂k\]e�

�
bbbbbbbb�
qf\̂kjme]�

bbbbbbbb�
pkj]�

�

University of the District of Columbia
   Smoot Construction Company of Washington, DC
  GF-2023-R-0029
    1/09/24
          1/09/24

   1/09/24
   2/28/25

              24,456,179

     8,559,662

              12,228,089

       651,800 
    (Design only)

X 6/30/24



CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE







Bidder's Certification 



   Mary Ann Harris, MPA Office of Contracting and Procurement 
   Director  

DISCLAIMER 

This is to confirm that the contractor listed below has no legal claim(s) against the District of Columbia. If the 
contractor does have legal claim(s) against the District of Columbia, please list them below.   

Contractor:  Smoot Construction Company of Washington, DC

Address:  

Signature Date 

Title 

Claim(s) against the District: 

1. ____________________________________________________________________________________

2. ____________________________________________________________________________________

3. ____________________________________________________________________________________

4. ____________________________________________________________________________________

3939 Wisconsin Avenue, NW 2nd Floor

Washington, DC 20016

1/8/2024

Vice President

N/A



139 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 140LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Bidder/Offeror Certification Form

Telephone # and ext.: Fax #:

Name: EIN: Status:

The person(s) completing this form must be knowledgeable about the Bidder's/Offeror's business and operations.  

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS
This form contains five (5) sections.  Section I concerns the bidder's/offeror's responsibility; Section II includes additional required certifications; Section III relates to 
the Buy American Act (if applicable); Section IV relates to the Walsh-Healey Act; and Section V requires the bidder's/offeror's signature. Please note, a determination 
that a prospective contract is found to be "not responsible" is final and not appealable.

RESPONSES
Every question must be answered.  Each response must provide all relevant information that can be obtained within the limits of the law.  Individuals and sole 
proprietors may use a Social Security number but are encouraged to obtain and use a federal Employer Identification Number (EIN).  Provide any explanation at the end 
of the section or attach additional sheets with numbered responses.  Include the Bidder's/Offeror's name at the top of each attached page.

Additional Legal Business Entity Identities:  If applicable, list any other DBA, Trade Name, Former Name, Other Identity and EIN used in the last five (5) years and the 
status (active or inactive).
Type:

Email Address:

1.1  Business Type (Please check the appropriate box and provide additional information if necessary.):

        Limited Liability Company (LLC or PLLC)

        Partnership (including LLP, LP or General)

        Corporation (including PC)

Date of Organization:

If "No" to Subpart 1.2, provide the jurisdiction where the bidder's/offeror's business was formed or incorporated.  Attach a Certificate or Letter of Good Standing from 
the applicable jurisdiction and a certified Application for Authority from the District, or provide an explanation if the documents are not available.

How many years in business?:

        Nonprofit Organization

Date of Organization:

Date of Registration or Establishment:

        Other Date established?:

  State _____________________________________                                                    Country  __________________________________

If "Other," please explain:  

1.2  Was the bidder's/offeror's business formed or incorporated in the District of Columbia?

(a)  Certify its intent to obtain the necessary license, registration or certification prior to contract award; or
(b)  Explain its exemption from the requirement.

1.3  Please provide a copy of each District of Columbia license, registration or certification that the Bidder/Offeror is required by law to obtain (other than those 
provided in Subpart 1.2).  If the Bidder/Offeror is not providing a copy of its license, registration or certification to transact business in the District of Columbia, it shall 
either:  

1.4   If your company, its principals, shareholders, directors, or employees own an interest or have a position in another entity in the same or similar line of business as 
the Bidder/Offeror, please describe the affiliation in detail.

BIDDER/OFFEROR CERTIFICATION FORM

Legal Business Entity Name: Solicitation #:

Address of the Principal Place of Business (street, city, state, zip code)

Website:

        Sole Proprietor

        Joint Venture Date of Organization:

PART 1:  BIDDER/OFFEROR INFORMATION

Date of Incorporation:

COMPLETION 

Instructions for Section I:  Section I contains eight (8) parts.  Part 1 requests information concerning the Bidder's/Offeror's business entity.  Part 2 inquires 
about current or former owners, partners, directors, officers or principals.  Part 3 relates to the responsibility of the Bidder's/Offeror's business.  Part 4 concerns 
the Bidder's/Offeror's business certificates and licenses.  Part 5 inquires about legal proceedings.  Part 6 relates to the Bidder's/Offeror's financial and 
organizational status.  Part 7 requires the Bidder/Offeror to agree to update the information provided.  Part 8 relates to disclosures under the District of Columbia 
Freedom of Information Act (FOIA).  

SECTION I.  BIDDER/OFFEROR RESPONSIBILITY CERTIFICATION

     Co

       Limited Liabi

       Partnership (i

       Sole Proprieto

       Nonprofit Org

   Jo

       Other

Yes       No

Page 1 of 6 Revised for DGS Contracts Procurement 2-26-2020

Smoot Construction Company of Washington DC  GF-2023-R-0029

5335 Wisconsin Ave NW, Suite 940, Washington, DC 2015 202.243.6688   None

pmjohnson@smootbuilds.com     www.smootbuilds.com

   None

 X          07/06/1984

               X

                
     Attached to this form.

 A copy of our Basic Business License is attached to this form and is valid until January 31, 2024.

      Not applicable

Bidder/Offeror 
Certification Form



141 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 142LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

If "Yes" to Subpart 5.1, provide an explanation of the issue(s), relevant dates, the Lien Holder or Claimant's name, the amount of the lien(s) and the current status of the 
issue(s).  

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.5, provide the years the Bidder/Offeror failed to file the return or pay the insurance, explain the situation and any remedial or corrective action(s) 
taken and the current status of the issue(s).  

6.5  During the past three (3) years, has the Bidder/Offeror failed to file a District of Columbia unemployment insurance return or 
failed to pay District of Columbia unemployment insurance?

PART 6:  FINANCIAL AND ORGANIZATIONAL INFORMATION

5.4  Engaged in any litigation with any government entity? If so, please identify and/or describe all threatened and pending 
litigation and/or claims, including but not limited to matters pending before any Boards of Contracts Appeals.

PART 7:  CONTRACTOR PROCUREMENT ACTIVITY WITHIN THE DEPARTMENT

5.1  Had any liens or judgments (not including UCC filings) filed against it which remain undischarged?

5.2  Had a government entity find a willful violation of District of Columbia compensation or prevailing wage laws, the Service 
Contract Act or the Davis-Bacon Act?

Within the past five (5) years, has the Bidder/Offeror:

6.6  During the past three (3) years, has the Bidder/Offeror failed to comply with any payment agreement with the Internal 
Revenue Service, the District of Columbia Office of Tax and Revenue and the Department of Employment Services?

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.7, provide an explanation of the issue(s), relevant dates, the government entity involved, any remedial or corrective action(s) taken and the current 
status of the issue(s). 

6.8  During the past three (3) years, has the Bidder/Offeror been audited by any government entity?

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.1, provide an explanation of the issue(s), relevant dates, the government entity involved, any remedial or corrective action(s) taken and the current 
status of the issue(s).  

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.2, provide an explanation of the issue(s), relevant dates, the government entity involved, the amount assessed and the current status of the issue(s).  

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.3, provide the bankruptcy chapter number, the court name and the docket number.  Indicate the current status of the proceedings as "initiated," 
"pending" or "closed".  

5.3  Received any OSHA citation and Notification of Penalty containing a violation classified as serious or willful?

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.4, provide the taxing jurisdiction, the type of tax, the liability year(s), the tax liability amount the bidder/offeror failed to file/pay and the current 
status of the tax liability.  

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.6, provide the years the Bidder/Offeror failed to comply with the payment agreement, explain the situation and any remedial or corrective action(s) 
taken and the current status of the issue(s).  

(a)  If "Yes" to Subpart 6.8, did any audit of the Bidder/Offeror identify any significant deficiencies in internal controls, fraud or 
illegal acts; significant violations of provisions of contract or grant agreements; significant abuse; or any material disallowance?
(b)  If "Yes" to Subpart 6.8(a), provide an explanation of the issue(s), relevant dates, the government entity involved, any remedial or corrective action(s) taken and the 
current status of the issue(s).  

6.1  Within the past five (5) years, has the Bidder/Offeror received any formal unsatisfactory performance assessment(s) from any 
government entity on any contract?

6.2 Within the past five (5) years, has the bidder/offeror had any liquidated damages assessed by a government entity over 
$25,000?

6.4  During the past three (3) years, has the Bidder/Offeror failed to file a tax return or pay taxes required by federal, state, District 
of Columbia or local laws?

6.3  Within the last seven (7) years, has the Bidder/Offeror initiated or been the subject of any bankruptcy proceedings, whether or 
not closed, or is any bankruptcy proceeding pending?

Please provide an explanation for each "Yes" in Part 5. 

6.7  Indicate whether the Bidder/Offeror owes any outstanding debt to any state, federal or District of Columbia government.

Yes      
d th
  No

Yes        No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes        No

No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes        No

Yes       No

Yes      No No

Yes       No

Page 3 of 6 Revised for DGS Contracts Procurement 2-26-2020

X

X

X

X

X

X

X
1

X

X

X

X

X

X

2.2  Been under suspension, debarment, voluntary exclusion or determined ineligible under any federal, District or state statutes? 

Within the past five (5) years, has any current or former owner, partner, director, officer, principal or any person in a position involved in the administration of funds, or 
currently or formerly having the authority to sign, execute or approve bids, proposals, contracts or supporting documentation on behalf of the bidder/offeror with any 
government entity:
2.1  Been sanctioned or proposed for sanction relative to any business or professional permit or license?

Additional Instructions for Section I, Parts 2 through 8:  Provide an explanation of the issue(s), relevant dates, the government entity involved, any remedial or 
corrective action(s) taken and the current status of the issue(s).  

3.2  Been proposed for suspension or debarment?

Within the past five (5) years, has the Bidder/Offeror:

2.4  Been the subject of an investigation, whether open or closed, by any government entity for a civil or criminal violation for any 
business-related conduct?

2.6  Been suspended, cancelled, terminated or found non-responsible on any government contract, or had a surety called upon to 
complete an awarded contract?

PART 2:  INDIVIDUAL RESPONSIBILITY

2.5  Been charged with a misdemeanor or felony, indicted, granted immunity, convicted of a crime, or subject to a judgment or a 
plea bargain for:
(a)  Any business-related activity; or

(b)  Any crime the underlying conduct of which was related to truthfulness?

1.5  If any officer, director, shareholder or anyone holding a financial interest in the Bidder/Offeror has a relationship with an employee of the Department or any 
District agency for whom the Department is procuring goods or services, please describe the nature of the relationship in detail.

2.8  In the past ten (10) years has the Bidder/Offeror ever been assessed liquidated damages, costs to re-procure, costs to complete, or any other monetary damages 
under a contract? If so, describe each such assessment in detail.

2.7  In the past ten (10) years has the Bidder/Offeror had a contract terminated, in whole or in part, for any reason? If so, describe each such termination in detail.

4.2  Please provide a copy of the bidder's/offeror's District of Columbia Office of Tax and Revenue Tax Certification Affidavit.

3.4  Been charged with a misdemeanor or felony, indicted, granted immunity, convicted of a crime, or subject to a judgment or 
plea bargain for:

PART 5:  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

4.1  Had a denial, decertification, revocation or forfeiture of District of Columbia certification of any Certified Business 
Enterprise or federal certification of Disadvantaged Business Enterprise status for other than a change of ownership?

Please provide an explanation for each "Yes" in Part 2 above.    

Within the past five (5) years, has the Bidder/Offeror:

3.6  Been denied a contract award (in whole or in part, for any reason) or had a bid or proposal rejected based upon a non-
responsibility finding by a government entity? If so, describe each such occurrence in detail. 
3.7 Had a low bid or proposal rejected on a government contract for failing to make good faith efforts on any Certified Business 
Enterprise goal or statutory affirmative action requirements on a previously held contract?
3.8  Been suspended, cancelled, terminated or found non-responsible on any government contract, or had a surety called upon to 
complete an awarded contract?

3.5  Been disqualified or proposed for disqualification on any government permit or license?

PART 3:  BUSINESS RESPONSIBILITY 

PART 4:  CERTIFICATES AND LICENSES

3.1   Been under suspension, debarment, voluntary exclusion or determined ineligible under any federal, District or state statutes?

2.3  Been proposed for suspension or debarment?

Please provide an explanation for each "Yes" in Part 3. 

Please provide an explanation for "Yes" in Subpart 4.1.   

(b)  Any crime the underlying conduct of which was related to truthfulness?

3.3  Been the subject of an investigation, whether open or closed, by any government entity for a civil or criminal violation for any 
business-related conduct?

(a)  Any business-related activity; or

Yes        No

Yes        No

Yes        No

Yes        No

Yes        No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes        No

Yes        No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes        No

Page 2 of 6 Revised for DGS Contracts Procurement 2-26-2020

Not applicable

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

No

No

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

Attached to this form.

Bidder/Offeror Certification FormBidder/Offeror Certification Form



141 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 142LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

If "Yes" to Subpart 5.1, provide an explanation of the issue(s), relevant dates, the Lien Holder or Claimant's name, the amount of the lien(s) and the current status of the 
issue(s).  

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.5, provide the years the Bidder/Offeror failed to file the return or pay the insurance, explain the situation and any remedial or corrective action(s) 
taken and the current status of the issue(s).  

6.5  During the past three (3) years, has the Bidder/Offeror failed to file a District of Columbia unemployment insurance return or 
failed to pay District of Columbia unemployment insurance?

PART 6:  FINANCIAL AND ORGANIZATIONAL INFORMATION

5.4  Engaged in any litigation with any government entity? If so, please identify and/or describe all threatened and pending 
litigation and/or claims, including but not limited to matters pending before any Boards of Contracts Appeals.

PART 7:  CONTRACTOR PROCUREMENT ACTIVITY WITHIN THE DEPARTMENT

5.1  Had any liens or judgments (not including UCC filings) filed against it which remain undischarged?

5.2  Had a government entity find a willful violation of District of Columbia compensation or prevailing wage laws, the Service 
Contract Act or the Davis-Bacon Act?

Within the past five (5) years, has the Bidder/Offeror:

6.6  During the past three (3) years, has the Bidder/Offeror failed to comply with any payment agreement with the Internal 
Revenue Service, the District of Columbia Office of Tax and Revenue and the Department of Employment Services?

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.7, provide an explanation of the issue(s), relevant dates, the government entity involved, any remedial or corrective action(s) taken and the current 
status of the issue(s). 

6.8  During the past three (3) years, has the Bidder/Offeror been audited by any government entity?

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.1, provide an explanation of the issue(s), relevant dates, the government entity involved, any remedial or corrective action(s) taken and the current 
status of the issue(s).  

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.2, provide an explanation of the issue(s), relevant dates, the government entity involved, the amount assessed and the current status of the issue(s).  

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.3, provide the bankruptcy chapter number, the court name and the docket number.  Indicate the current status of the proceedings as "initiated," 
"pending" or "closed".  

5.3  Received any OSHA citation and Notification of Penalty containing a violation classified as serious or willful?

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.4, provide the taxing jurisdiction, the type of tax, the liability year(s), the tax liability amount the bidder/offeror failed to file/pay and the current 
status of the tax liability.  

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.6, provide the years the Bidder/Offeror failed to comply with the payment agreement, explain the situation and any remedial or corrective action(s) 
taken and the current status of the issue(s).  

(a)  If "Yes" to Subpart 6.8, did any audit of the Bidder/Offeror identify any significant deficiencies in internal controls, fraud or 
illegal acts; significant violations of provisions of contract or grant agreements; significant abuse; or any material disallowance?
(b)  If "Yes" to Subpart 6.8(a), provide an explanation of the issue(s), relevant dates, the government entity involved, any remedial or corrective action(s) taken and the 
current status of the issue(s).  

6.1  Within the past five (5) years, has the Bidder/Offeror received any formal unsatisfactory performance assessment(s) from any 
government entity on any contract?

6.2 Within the past five (5) years, has the bidder/offeror had any liquidated damages assessed by a government entity over 
$25,000?

6.4  During the past three (3) years, has the Bidder/Offeror failed to file a tax return or pay taxes required by federal, state, District 
of Columbia or local laws?

6.3  Within the last seven (7) years, has the Bidder/Offeror initiated or been the subject of any bankruptcy proceedings, whether or 
not closed, or is any bankruptcy proceeding pending?

Please provide an explanation for each "Yes" in Part 5. 

6.7  Indicate whether the Bidder/Offeror owes any outstanding debt to any state, federal or District of Columbia government.

Yes      
d th
  No

Yes        No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes        No

No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes        No

Yes       No

Yes      No No

Yes       No

Page 3 of 6 Revised for DGS Contracts Procurement 2-26-2020

X

X

X

X

X

X

X
1

X

X

X

X

X

X

2.2  Been under suspension, debarment, voluntary exclusion or determined ineligible under any federal, District or state statutes? 

Within the past five (5) years, has any current or former owner, partner, director, officer, principal or any person in a position involved in the administration of funds, or 
currently or formerly having the authority to sign, execute or approve bids, proposals, contracts or supporting documentation on behalf of the bidder/offeror with any 
government entity:
2.1  Been sanctioned or proposed for sanction relative to any business or professional permit or license?

Additional Instructions for Section I, Parts 2 through 8:  Provide an explanation of the issue(s), relevant dates, the government entity involved, any remedial or 
corrective action(s) taken and the current status of the issue(s).  

3.2  Been proposed for suspension or debarment?

Within the past five (5) years, has the Bidder/Offeror:

2.4  Been the subject of an investigation, whether open or closed, by any government entity for a civil or criminal violation for any 
business-related conduct?

2.6  Been suspended, cancelled, terminated or found non-responsible on any government contract, or had a surety called upon to 
complete an awarded contract?

PART 2:  INDIVIDUAL RESPONSIBILITY

2.5  Been charged with a misdemeanor or felony, indicted, granted immunity, convicted of a crime, or subject to a judgment or a 
plea bargain for:
(a)  Any business-related activity; or

(b)  Any crime the underlying conduct of which was related to truthfulness?

1.5  If any officer, director, shareholder or anyone holding a financial interest in the Bidder/Offeror has a relationship with an employee of the Department or any 
District agency for whom the Department is procuring goods or services, please describe the nature of the relationship in detail.

2.8  In the past ten (10) years has the Bidder/Offeror ever been assessed liquidated damages, costs to re-procure, costs to complete, or any other monetary damages 
under a contract? If so, describe each such assessment in detail.

2.7  In the past ten (10) years has the Bidder/Offeror had a contract terminated, in whole or in part, for any reason? If so, describe each such termination in detail.

4.2  Please provide a copy of the bidder's/offeror's District of Columbia Office of Tax and Revenue Tax Certification Affidavit.

3.4  Been charged with a misdemeanor or felony, indicted, granted immunity, convicted of a crime, or subject to a judgment or 
plea bargain for:

PART 5:  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

4.1  Had a denial, decertification, revocation or forfeiture of District of Columbia certification of any Certified Business 
Enterprise or federal certification of Disadvantaged Business Enterprise status for other than a change of ownership?

Please provide an explanation for each "Yes" in Part 2 above.    

Within the past five (5) years, has the Bidder/Offeror:

3.6  Been denied a contract award (in whole or in part, for any reason) or had a bid or proposal rejected based upon a non-
responsibility finding by a government entity? If so, describe each such occurrence in detail. 
3.7 Had a low bid or proposal rejected on a government contract for failing to make good faith efforts on any Certified Business 
Enterprise goal or statutory affirmative action requirements on a previously held contract?
3.8  Been suspended, cancelled, terminated or found non-responsible on any government contract, or had a surety called upon to 
complete an awarded contract?

3.5  Been disqualified or proposed for disqualification on any government permit or license?

PART 3:  BUSINESS RESPONSIBILITY 

PART 4:  CERTIFICATES AND LICENSES

3.1   Been under suspension, debarment, voluntary exclusion or determined ineligible under any federal, District or state statutes?

2.3  Been proposed for suspension or debarment?

Please provide an explanation for each "Yes" in Part 3. 

Please provide an explanation for "Yes" in Subpart 4.1.   

(b)  Any crime the underlying conduct of which was related to truthfulness?

3.3  Been the subject of an investigation, whether open or closed, by any government entity for a civil or criminal violation for any 
business-related conduct?

(a)  Any business-related activity; or

Yes        No

Yes        No

Yes        No

Yes        No

Yes        No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes        No

Yes        No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes        No

Page 2 of 6 Revised for DGS Contracts Procurement 2-26-2020

Not applicable

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

No

No

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

Attached to this form.

Bidder/Offeror Certification FormBidder/Offeror Certification Form



143 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 144LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Contract Number Labor Hours Allocated

             (a)  The contract prices have been arrived at independently without, for the purpose of restricting competition, any consultation, communication or agreement 
with any bidder/offeror or competitor related to:  

The Bidder/Offeror certifies that:

7.1  What is your organization's Design Capacity (total labor hours) to conduct or purse business with the Department of General Services (DGS) in the current fiscal 
year? Design capacity is calculated by multiplying the total number of company employees dedicated to a particular line of business by no more than 12 hours per day. 
Person’s completing this form may be required to provide supporting documentation to substantiate allocable labor hours presented.

                  (a) Construction:_____________________________________labor hours

                  (b) Non-Construction:________________________________ labor hours

7.2 In the table below, please list:

                  (1) The active contracts your organization currently holds with the Department of General Services, please include the contract number(s) as a part of your
                  response; and

                  (2) The number of labor hours your organization has allocated to each active contract within the current fiscal year. (Note, if more entries are required, 
please

SECTION II.  ADDITIONAL REQUIRED BIDDER/OFFEROR CERTIFICATIONS

1.1  The bidder/offeror certifies that no officer or employee of the District of Columbia will benefit from this contract.  List the name(s) of any officer or employee of 
the District of Columbia that may benefit from this contract in section 1.2 below.

2.1  The signature of the Bidder/Offeror is considered to be a certification by the signatory that:

Instructions for Section II:  Section II contains four (4) parts.  Part 1 requests information concerning District of Columbia employees.  Part 2 applies to the 
Bidder/Offeror's pricing.  Part 3 relates to equal employment opportunity requirements.  Part 4 relates to First Source requirements.

PART 1.  DISTRICT EMPLOYEES NOT TO BENEFIT

(a)  Within sixty (60) days of a material change to a response; and
(b)  Prior to the exercise of an option year contract.

PART 8:  RESPONSE UPDATE REQUIREMENT
8.1  In accordance with the requirement of Section 302(c) of the Procurement Practices Reform Act of 2010 (D.C. Official Code  § 2-353.02), the Bidder/Offeror shall 

PART 2:  INDEPENDENT PRICE DETERMINATION REQUIREMENTS 

                    (i)  Those prices; 
                    (ii)  The intention to submit a bid/proposal; or

                    (iii)  The methods or factors used to calculate the prices in the contract.

             (b)  ____________________________________________________________________________________

              (a)  Is the person in the Bidder's/Offeror’s organization responsible for determining the prices being offered in this contract, and that the signatory has not 
participated and will not participate in any action contrary to subparagraphs 2.1(a)(i) through (a)(iii) above; or

              (b)  The prices in this contract have not been and will not be knowingly disclosed by the Bidder/Offeror, directly or  indirectly, to any other bidder/offeror or 
competitor before bid/proposal opening unless otherwise required by law;  and

1.2  The following officer or employee of the District of Columbia may benefit from this contract.  

             (a)  ____________________________________________________________________________________

PART 9:  FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT (FOIA)
9.1  Indicate whether the Bidder/Offeror asserts that any information provided in response to a question in Section I is exempt 
from disclosure under the District of Columbia Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), effective March 25, 1977 (D.C. Law 1-96; 
D.C. Official Code §§ 2-531, et seq.).  Include the question number(s) and explain the basis for the claim.  (The District will 
determine whether such information is, in fact, exempt from FOIA at the time of request for disclosure under FOIA.) 

              (c)  No attempt has been made or will be made by the Bidder/Offeror to induce any other concern to submit or not to submit a contract for the purpose of 
restricting competition.
2.2  The signature on the bid/proposal is considered to be a certification by the signatory that the signatory:

Yes       No

Page 4 of 6 Revised for DGS Contracts Procurement 2-26-2020

Therapeutic Recreation Center       DCAM-21-CS-RFP-0002

Ft. Dupont Ice Arena        DCAM-21-CS-RFP-0007

DC Infrastructure Academy       DCAM-22-CS-RFP-0019

Franklin Park         DCAM-19-CS-RFP-0062

Thomas Elementary School       DCAM-23-CS-RFP-0003

X

Not applicable

 [Insert full name of person(s) in the organization responsible for determining the prices offered
in this contract and the title of his or her position in the bidder's/offeror’s organization]

                    (i)   As an authorized agent, certifies that the principals named in subparagraph 2.2(b) above have not participated, and will not participate, in any action 
contrary to subparagraphs 2.1(a)(i) through (a)(iii) above; and
                    (ii)  As an agent, has not participated and will not participate in any action contrary to subparagraphs 2.1(a)(i) through (a)(iii) above.

2.3  If the Bidder/Offeror deletes or modifies subparagraph 2.1(b) above, the bidder/offeror must furnish with its bid a signed statement setting forth in detail the 
circumstances of the disclosure.

4.2  I certify that the Initial Employment Plan submitted with my bid or proposal is true and accurate.

PART 4:  FIRST SOURCE OBLIGATIONS

4.1  I hereby certify that I am fully aware of the requirements of the Workforce Intermediary Establishment and Reform of the First Source Amendment Act of 2011 
(D.C. Law 19-84), and agree to enter into a First Source Employment Agreement with the Department of Employment Services if awarded any contract valued at 
$300,000 or more which receives funds or resources from the District, or funds or resources which, in accordance with a federal grant or otherwise, is administered by 
the District government.

With regards to 2.4 (b), if the Bidder/Offeror has knowledge of such a financial interest, please provide a detailed explanation.

2.4  The Bidder/Offeror certifies that:

(a) there are no other entities related to it that are responding to or bidding on the subject solicitation or invitation to bid.  Related entities include, but are not limited to, 
any entity that shares management positions, board positions, shareholders, or persons with a financial interest in the Bidder/Offeror.  

              (b)  Has been authorized, in writing, to act as an agent for the following principal in certifying that the principal has not participated, and will not participate, in 
any action contrary to subparagraphs 2.1(a)(i) through (a)(iii) above:

SECTION III.  DOMESTIC PREFERENCE CERTIFICATIONS

Instructions for Section III:  Section III contains one (1) part which should only be completed if goods are being provided that are subject to the requirements of the 
Buy American Act.  

PART 3:  EQUAL OPPORTUNITY AND HUMAN RIGHTS OBLIGATIONS

3.1  I hereby certify that I am fully aware of the contents of Mayor's Order 85-85, Mayor's Order 2017-313 and the Office of Human Rights' regulations in Chapter 11 of 
the DCMR, and agree to comply with them while performing this contract.

PART 1:  BUY AMERICAN ACT COMPLIANCE (Applies if the bidder/offeror will provide goods to the District that are subject to the requirements of the 
Buy American Act)  

______________________________________________________  EXCLUDED END PRODUCTS

______________________________________________________  COUNTRY OF ORIGIN

PART 6:  LANGUAGE ACCESS OBLIGATIONS

6.1  For contracts where the contracting agency is a "covered entity" or "covered entity with major public contact" as defined in Sections 2(2) and 2(3) of the Language 
Access Act of 2004 (D.C. Official Code § 2-1931(2) and § 2-1931(3)), I hereby certify that I will comply with Language Access compliance requirements of the 
contracting agency while performing this contract.

1.1  In accordance with 41 USC 8301 et. seq . and implementing regulations, the bidder/offeror certifies that each end product, 
except the end products listed below, is a domestic end product.

________________________________________________________________________________________________

PART 7: CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

7.1  The bidder/offeror certifies that it presently has no interest and shall not acquire any interest, direct or indirect, which would conflict in any manner or degree with 
the performance of its obligations under the contract.  

8.1  The bidder/offeror certifies that it has verified with the Department of Small and Local Business Development (DSLBD) the current certifications of its proposed 
certified business enterprise (CBE) subcontractors.
8.2  The bidder/offeror certifies that it has verified with the Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs (DCRA), and any other licensing authority, that its 
proposed subcontractors possess all applicable licenses and permits required to perform the work.  

PART 8: SUBCONTRACTING OBLIGATIONS

(b) there are no current or former owners, partners, officers, directors, principals, managers, employees or any persons with a financial interest in the Bidder/Offeror 
who have a financial interest in the request for proposal or invitation for bid or any asset, tangible or intangible, arising out of any contract or scope of work related to 
the request for proposal or invitation for bid.

PART 5:  EMPLOYMENT ELIGIBILITY OBLIGATIONS
5.1  I hereby certify that the Bidder/Offeror has verified the identity and employment eligibility of all its employees.

Yes       No

Page 5 of 6 Revised for DGS Contracts Procurement 2-26-2020

Pamela Murray Johnson, Vice President

X

Bidder/Offeror Certification FormBidder/Offeror Certification Form



143 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 144LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Contract Number Labor Hours Allocated

             (a)  The contract prices have been arrived at independently without, for the purpose of restricting competition, any consultation, communication or agreement 
with any bidder/offeror or competitor related to:  

The Bidder/Offeror certifies that:

7.1  What is your organization's Design Capacity (total labor hours) to conduct or purse business with the Department of General Services (DGS) in the current fiscal 
year? Design capacity is calculated by multiplying the total number of company employees dedicated to a particular line of business by no more than 12 hours per day. 
Person’s completing this form may be required to provide supporting documentation to substantiate allocable labor hours presented.

                  (a) Construction:_____________________________________labor hours

                  (b) Non-Construction:________________________________ labor hours

7.2 In the table below, please list:

                  (1) The active contracts your organization currently holds with the Department of General Services, please include the contract number(s) as a part of your
                  response; and

                  (2) The number of labor hours your organization has allocated to each active contract within the current fiscal year. (Note, if more entries are required, 
please

SECTION II.  ADDITIONAL REQUIRED BIDDER/OFFEROR CERTIFICATIONS

1.1  The bidder/offeror certifies that no officer or employee of the District of Columbia will benefit from this contract.  List the name(s) of any officer or employee of 
the District of Columbia that may benefit from this contract in section 1.2 below.

2.1  The signature of the Bidder/Offeror is considered to be a certification by the signatory that:

Instructions for Section II:  Section II contains four (4) parts.  Part 1 requests information concerning District of Columbia employees.  Part 2 applies to the 
Bidder/Offeror's pricing.  Part 3 relates to equal employment opportunity requirements.  Part 4 relates to First Source requirements.

PART 1.  DISTRICT EMPLOYEES NOT TO BENEFIT

(a)  Within sixty (60) days of a material change to a response; and
(b)  Prior to the exercise of an option year contract.

PART 8:  RESPONSE UPDATE REQUIREMENT
8.1  In accordance with the requirement of Section 302(c) of the Procurement Practices Reform Act of 2010 (D.C. Official Code  § 2-353.02), the Bidder/Offeror shall 

PART 2:  INDEPENDENT PRICE DETERMINATION REQUIREMENTS 

                    (i)  Those prices; 
                    (ii)  The intention to submit a bid/proposal; or

                    (iii)  The methods or factors used to calculate the prices in the contract.

             (b)  ____________________________________________________________________________________

              (a)  Is the person in the Bidder's/Offeror’s organization responsible for determining the prices being offered in this contract, and that the signatory has not 
participated and will not participate in any action contrary to subparagraphs 2.1(a)(i) through (a)(iii) above; or

              (b)  The prices in this contract have not been and will not be knowingly disclosed by the Bidder/Offeror, directly or  indirectly, to any other bidder/offeror or 
competitor before bid/proposal opening unless otherwise required by law;  and

1.2  The following officer or employee of the District of Columbia may benefit from this contract.  

             (a)  ____________________________________________________________________________________

PART 9:  FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT (FOIA)
9.1  Indicate whether the Bidder/Offeror asserts that any information provided in response to a question in Section I is exempt 
from disclosure under the District of Columbia Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), effective March 25, 1977 (D.C. Law 1-96; 
D.C. Official Code §§ 2-531, et seq.).  Include the question number(s) and explain the basis for the claim.  (The District will 
determine whether such information is, in fact, exempt from FOIA at the time of request for disclosure under FOIA.) 

              (c)  No attempt has been made or will be made by the Bidder/Offeror to induce any other concern to submit or not to submit a contract for the purpose of 
restricting competition.
2.2  The signature on the bid/proposal is considered to be a certification by the signatory that the signatory:

Yes       No

Page 4 of 6 Revised for DGS Contracts Procurement 2-26-2020

Therapeutic Recreation Center       DCAM-21-CS-RFP-0002

Ft. Dupont Ice Arena        DCAM-21-CS-RFP-0007

DC Infrastructure Academy       DCAM-22-CS-RFP-0019

Franklin Park         DCAM-19-CS-RFP-0062

Thomas Elementary School       DCAM-23-CS-RFP-0003

X

Not applicable

 [Insert full name of person(s) in the organization responsible for determining the prices offered
in this contract and the title of his or her position in the bidder's/offeror’s organization]

                    (i)   As an authorized agent, certifies that the principals named in subparagraph 2.2(b) above have not participated, and will not participate, in any action 
contrary to subparagraphs 2.1(a)(i) through (a)(iii) above; and
                    (ii)  As an agent, has not participated and will not participate in any action contrary to subparagraphs 2.1(a)(i) through (a)(iii) above.

2.3  If the Bidder/Offeror deletes or modifies subparagraph 2.1(b) above, the bidder/offeror must furnish with its bid a signed statement setting forth in detail the 
circumstances of the disclosure.

4.2  I certify that the Initial Employment Plan submitted with my bid or proposal is true and accurate.

PART 4:  FIRST SOURCE OBLIGATIONS

4.1  I hereby certify that I am fully aware of the requirements of the Workforce Intermediary Establishment and Reform of the First Source Amendment Act of 2011 
(D.C. Law 19-84), and agree to enter into a First Source Employment Agreement with the Department of Employment Services if awarded any contract valued at 
$300,000 or more which receives funds or resources from the District, or funds or resources which, in accordance with a federal grant or otherwise, is administered by 
the District government.

With regards to 2.4 (b), if the Bidder/Offeror has knowledge of such a financial interest, please provide a detailed explanation.

2.4  The Bidder/Offeror certifies that:

(a) there are no other entities related to it that are responding to or bidding on the subject solicitation or invitation to bid.  Related entities include, but are not limited to, 
any entity that shares management positions, board positions, shareholders, or persons with a financial interest in the Bidder/Offeror.  

              (b)  Has been authorized, in writing, to act as an agent for the following principal in certifying that the principal has not participated, and will not participate, in 
any action contrary to subparagraphs 2.1(a)(i) through (a)(iii) above:

SECTION III.  DOMESTIC PREFERENCE CERTIFICATIONS

Instructions for Section III:  Section III contains one (1) part which should only be completed if goods are being provided that are subject to the requirements of the 
Buy American Act.  

PART 3:  EQUAL OPPORTUNITY AND HUMAN RIGHTS OBLIGATIONS

3.1  I hereby certify that I am fully aware of the contents of Mayor's Order 85-85, Mayor's Order 2017-313 and the Office of Human Rights' regulations in Chapter 11 of 
the DCMR, and agree to comply with them while performing this contract.

PART 1:  BUY AMERICAN ACT COMPLIANCE (Applies if the bidder/offeror will provide goods to the District that are subject to the requirements of the 
Buy American Act)  

______________________________________________________  EXCLUDED END PRODUCTS

______________________________________________________  COUNTRY OF ORIGIN

PART 6:  LANGUAGE ACCESS OBLIGATIONS

6.1  For contracts where the contracting agency is a "covered entity" or "covered entity with major public contact" as defined in Sections 2(2) and 2(3) of the Language 
Access Act of 2004 (D.C. Official Code § 2-1931(2) and § 2-1931(3)), I hereby certify that I will comply with Language Access compliance requirements of the 
contracting agency while performing this contract.

1.1  In accordance with 41 USC 8301 et. seq . and implementing regulations, the bidder/offeror certifies that each end product, 
except the end products listed below, is a domestic end product.

________________________________________________________________________________________________

PART 7: CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

7.1  The bidder/offeror certifies that it presently has no interest and shall not acquire any interest, direct or indirect, which would conflict in any manner or degree with 
the performance of its obligations under the contract.  

8.1  The bidder/offeror certifies that it has verified with the Department of Small and Local Business Development (DSLBD) the current certifications of its proposed 
certified business enterprise (CBE) subcontractors.
8.2  The bidder/offeror certifies that it has verified with the Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs (DCRA), and any other licensing authority, that its 
proposed subcontractors possess all applicable licenses and permits required to perform the work.  

PART 8: SUBCONTRACTING OBLIGATIONS

(b) there are no current or former owners, partners, officers, directors, principals, managers, employees or any persons with a financial interest in the Bidder/Offeror 
who have a financial interest in the request for proposal or invitation for bid or any asset, tangible or intangible, arising out of any contract or scope of work related to 
the request for proposal or invitation for bid.

PART 5:  EMPLOYMENT ELIGIBILITY OBLIGATIONS
5.1  I hereby certify that the Bidder/Offeror has verified the identity and employment eligibility of all its employees.

Yes       No

Page 5 of 6 Revised for DGS Contracts Procurement 2-26-2020

Pamela Murray Johnson, Vice President

X

Bidder/Offeror Certification FormBidder/Offeror Certification Form



145 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 146LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Telephone #: Fax #:

Date: Contract No: 

The District of Columbia is  authorized to verify the above information with appropriate government authorities. Penalty for making false statements is a fine of 
not more than $1,000.00, imprisonment for not more than 180 days, or both, as prescribed in D.C. Official Code § 22-2405. Penalty for false swearing is a fine of 
not more than $2,500.00, imprisonment for not more than three (3) years, or both, as prescribed in D.C. Official Code § 22-2404. 

Name [Print and sign]:
Title: Email Address:

Instruction for Section V:  This section must be completed by all bidder/offerors. 

(b) All employees whose work relates to this contract shall be paid not less than the minimum wage prescribed by regulations issued by the Secretary of Labor (41 CFR 
50-202.2) (41 U.S.C. §40). Learners, student learners, apprentices, and handicapped workers may be employed at less than the prescribed minimum wage (see 41 CFR 
50-202.3) to the same extent that such employment is permitted under Section 14 of the Fair Labor Standards Act (29 U.S.C. §214).

SECTION V.  CERTIFICATION

I, [                                                                                        ], as the person authorized to sign these certifications, hereby certify that the information provided in this 
form is true and accurate. In accordance with the requirements of section 302(c) of the Procurement Practices Reform Act of 2010 (D.C. Official Code  § 2-353.02(c)), 
I shall update any response provided in this form within 60 days of a material change to a response and prior to the exercise of an option period.

2.1  In accordance with 23 CFR 635.410(b), the bidder/offeror certifies that only steel or iron materials manufactured in the 
United States will be used for permanent incorporation on the project. 

3.1  In accordance with 41 USC 8301 et. seq . and implementing regulations, the bidder/offeror certifies that only construction 
materials manufactured in the United States will be used on the project. 

PART 2:  FHWA BUY AMERICA ACT COMPLIANCE (Applies to FHWA-funded construction contracts)  

If this contract is for the manufacture or furnishing of materials, supplies, articles or equipment in an amount that exceeds or may exceed $10,000, and is subject to the 
Walsh-Healey Public Contracts Act, as amended (41 U.S.C. §§ 35-45) (the “Act”, as used in this section), the following terms and conditions apply:

(a) All representations and stipulations required by the Act and regulations issued by the Secretary of Labor (41 CFR 50-201.3) are incorporated by reference. These 
representations and stipulations are subject to all applicable rulings and interpretations of the Secretary of Labor that are now, or may hereafter, be in effect.

PART 3:  BUY AMERICAN ACT COMPLIANCE (Applies to locally-funded construction contracts)   

SECTION IV.  WALSH-HEALEY ACT
Instructions for Section IV:  Walsh-Healey Act.  

Yes       No

Yes       No

Page 6 of 6 Revised for DGS Contracts Procurement 2-26-2020

X

X

Pamela Murray Johnson

       Pamela Murray Johnson      202.243.6688
Vice President            pmjohnson@smootbuilds.com
8/14/2023        GF-2023-R-0029

Regulated Businesses
General Service and Repair Gen Contr/Construction Mngr

Director:                                                            
Ernest Chrappah

1661    0813

70100743

GOVERNMENT
OF THE 

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
Muriel Bowser, Mayor

5335 WISCONSIN AVE NW, STE 940
WASHINGTON, DC 20015

70654

4105

SMOOT CONSTRUCTION COMPANY OF 
WASHINGTON, D.C.

PERM NO.   

UNITS:  0CLASS:  A

5335 WISCONSIN AVENUE N.W.
 SUITE #940
WASHINGTON, DC 20015

SMOOT CONSTRUCTION COMPANY OF 
WASHINGTON, D.C.

*License Effective from the later of Issued or Start of License-Period Date 

-- THE LAW REQUIRES THIS LICENSE TO BE POSTED IN A CONSPICUOUS PLACE ON THE PREMISES -- 

 
SMOOT CONSTRUCTION COMPANY OF WASHINGTON, D.C.

C T CORPORATION SYSTEM

3/22/2022

Owner's Name
Corp. Name
Trade Name

2/1/2022 - 1/31/2024

1015 15TH STREET N.W. SUITE #1000
WASHINGTON DC20005

ANC:3Ward:Zone: SSL:   CofO/HOP#:

Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs
Business License Division

1100 4th Street S.W. 
Washington DC 20024

Registered Agent's Name and Address:Premise/Application's Name and Address:Billing Name and Address:

BASIC BUSINESS LICENSE 

Date Issued:
Category:
License#:
License Period:

Bidder/Offeror Certification FormBidder/Offeror Certification Form



Living Wage Act



GOVERNMENT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
Department of Employment Services 

 
MURIEL BOWSER  DR. UNIQUE MORRIS-HUGHES 

MAYOR  DIRECTOR 
                      
 

4058 Minnesota Ave, N.E.  • Suite 3600 • Washington, D.C. 20019 • Office: 202.671.1900 

LIVING WAGE ACT FACT SHEET 
 

The Living Wage Act of 2006, D.C. Code §§ 2-220.01 – 2-220.11, provides that District of Columbia government 
contractors and recipients of government assistance (grants, loans, tax increment financing), in the amount of 
$100,000 or more, shall pay affiliated employees wages at no less than the current living wage rate. 

Effective January 1, 2024 until June 30, 2024, the living wage rate is $17.05 
per hour. 

 Effective July 1, 2024, the District’s Minimum Wage and Living Wage will 
increase to $17.50 per hour.  

 
Subcontractors of D.C. government contractors, who receive $15,000 or more from the contract, and subcontractors 
of the recipients of government assistance, who receive $50,000 or more from the assistance, are also required to pay 
their affiliated employees no less than the current living wage rate. 

“Affiliated employee” means any individual employed by a recipient who receives compensation directly from 
government assistance or a contract with the District of Columbia government, including any employee of a 
contractor or subcontractor of a recipient who performs services pursuant to government assistance or a contract.  
The term “affiliated employee” does not include those individuals who perform only intermittent or incidental 
services with respect to the government assistance or contract, or who are otherwise employed by the contractor, 
recipient or subcontractor. 

Exemptions – The following contracts and agreements are exempt from the Living Wage Act: 

1. Contracts or other agreements that are subject to higher wage level determinations required by federal 
law (i.e., if a contract is subject to the Service Contract Act and certain wage rates are lower than the 
District’s current living wage, the contractor must pay the higher of the two rates); 

 
2. Existing and future collective bargaining agreements, provided that the future collective bargaining 

agreement results in the employee being paid no less than the current living wage; 
 

3. Contracts for electricity, telephone, water, sewer or other services provided by a regulated utility; 
 

4. Contracts for services needed immediately to prevent or respond to a disaster or imminent threat to 
public health or safety declared by the Mayor; 

 
5. Contracts or other agreements that provide trainees with additional services including, but not limited 

to, case management and job readiness services, provided that the trainees do not replace employees 
subject to the Living Wage Act; 

 



  

6. An employee, under 22 years of age, employed during a school vacation period, or enrolled as full-time 
student, as defined by the respective institution, who is in high school or at an accredited institution of 
higher education and who works less than 25 hours per week; provided that students not replace 
employees subject to the Living Wage Act; 

 
7. Tenants or retail establishments that occupy property constructed or improved by receipt of 

government assistance from the District of Columbia; provided, that the tenant or retail establishment 
did not receive direct government assistance from the District of Columbia; 

 
8. Employees of nonprofit organizations that employ not more than 50 individuals and qualify for taxation 

exemption pursuant to Section 501 (c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, approved August 16, 
1954 (68 A Stat. 163; 26.  U.S.C. §501(c)(3)); 

 
9. Medicaid provider agreements for direct care services to Medicaid recipients, provided, that the direct 

care service is not provided through a home care agency, a community residence facility, or a group 
home for persons with intellectual disabilities as those terms are defined in section 2 of the Health-Care 
and Community Residence Facility, Hospice, and Home Care Licensure Act of 1983; D.C. Official 
Code § 44-501; and 

 
10. Contracts or other agreements between managed care organizations and the Health Care Safety Net 

Administration or the Medicaid Assistance Administration to provide health services. 
 

Enforcement 
The Department of Employment Services (DOES) Office of Wage-Hour and the D.C. Office of Contracting and 
Procurement share monitoring responsibilities. 

Home Care Final Rule: The Department of Labor extended overtime protections to home care workers 
and workers who provide companionship services.  Employers within this industry are now subject to 
recordkeeping provisions.   

If you learn that a contractor subject to this law is not paying at least the current living wage, you should report it to 
the contracting officer. If you believe that your employer is subject to this law and is not paying at least the current 
living wage, you may file a complaint with the DOES Office of Wage - Hour, located at 4058 Minnesota Avenue, 
N.E. Suite 3600, Washington, D.C.  20019, call (202) 671-1880, or file your claim on-line: www.does.dc.gov.  Go to 
“File a Claim” tab. 

For questions and additional information, contact the Office of Contracting and Procurement at (202) 727-0252 or the 
Department of Employment Services on (202) 671-1880. 

Please note: This fact sheet is for informational purposes only as required by Section 106 of the Living Wage Act.  It should not 
be relied on as a definitive statement of the Living Wage Act or any regulations adopted pursuant to the law. 

http://www.does.dc.gov/


Living Wage Notice



THE LIVING WAGE ACT OF 2006 
D.C. Code §§ 2-220.01 – 2-220.11 

Recipients of new contracts or government assistance shall pay affiliated employees and subcontractors who 
perform services under the contracts no less than the current living wage. 

Effective January 1, 2024, until June 30, 2024, the living wage rate is $17.05 per hour. 
Effective July 1, 2024, the District’s Minimum Wage and Living Wage will increase to 

$17.50. 

The requirement to pay a living wage applies to: 
▪ All recipients of contracts in the amount of $100,000 or more, and all subcontractors that receive 

$15,000 or more from the funds received by the recipient from the District of Columbia, and 
▪ All recipients of government assistance in the amount of $100,000 or more, and all subcontractors of 

these recipients that receive $50,000 or more from the government assistance received by the 
recipient from the District of Columbia. 

“Contract” means a written agreement between a recipient and the District government. 
“Government assistance” means a grant, loan, or tax increment financing that result in a financial benefit 
from an agency, commission, instrumentality, or other entity of the District government. 
“Affiliated employee” means any individual employed by a recipient who received compensation directly 
from government assistance or a contract with the District of Columbia government, including employees of 
the District of Columbia, any employee of a contractor or subcontractor of a recipient who performs 
services pursuant to government assistance or contract. The term “affiliated employee” does not include 
those individuals who perform only intermittent or incidental services with respect to the contract or 
government assistance or who are otherwise employed by the contractor, recipient, or subcontractor. 

 

Certain exemptions apply: 1) Contracts or agreements subject to wage determinations required by federal law 
which are higher than the wage required by this Act; 2) Existing and future collecting bargaining agreements, 
provided that the future agreement results in employees being paid no less than the current living wage; 3) 
contracts for electricity, telephone, water , sewer performed by regulated utilities; 4) contracts for services needed 
immediately to prevent or respond to a disaster or imminent threat declared by the Mayor; 5) contracts awarded to 
recipients that provide trainees with services, including but not limited to case management and job readiness 
services, provided the trainee does not replace employees; 6) employees under 22 years of age employed during a 
school vacation period, or enrolled as a full-time student who works less than 25 hours per week; 7) tenants or 
retail establishments that occupy property constructed or improved by government assistance, provided there is no 
receipt of direct District government assistance; 8) employees of nonprofit organizations that employ not more 
than 50 individuals and qualify for 501(c)(3) status; 9) Medicaid provider agreements for direct care services to 
Medicaid recipients, provided, that the direct care service is not provided through a home care agency, a 
community residence facility, or a group home for persons with intellectual disabilities as those terms are defined 
in section 2 of the Health-Care and Community Residence Facility, Hospice, and Home Care Licensure Act of 
1983; D.C. Official Code § 44-501; and 10) contracts or agreements between managed care organizations and the 
Health Care Safety Net Administration or the Medicaid Assistance Administration to provide health services. 

 

Home Care Final Rule: The Department of Labor extended overtime protections to home care workers and 
workers who provide companionship services. Employers within this industry are now subject to recordkeeping 
provisions. 

 

Each recipient and subcontractor of a recipient shall provide this notice to each affiliated employee covered by this notice, and 
shall also post this notice in a conspicuous site in its place of business. All recipients and subcontractors shall retain payroll 
records created and maintained in the regular course of business under District of Columbia law for a period of at least 3 years. 

 

To file a claim, visit: Department of Employment Services , Office of Wage-Hour, 400 Virginia Ave., SW, 4th Flr, Washington, 
D.C. 20024; call: (202) 671-1880; or file your claim on-line: does.dc.gov. Go to “File a Claim” tab. 



Wage Determination 



          "General Decision Number: DC20240002 01/12/2024

Superseded General Decision Number: DC20230002

State: District of Columbia

Construction Type: Building

County: District of Columbia Statewide.

BUILDING CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS (does not include single family
homes or apartments up to and including 4 stories).

Note: Contracts subject to the Davis-Bacon Act are generally
required to pay at least the applicable minimum wage rate
required under Executive Order 14026 or Executive Order 13658.
Please note that these Executive Orders apply to covered
contracts entered into by the federal government that are
subject to the Davis-Bacon Act itself, but do not apply to
contracts subject only to the Davis-Bacon Related Acts,
including those set forth at 29 CFR 5.1(a)(1).

______________________________________________________________
|If the contract is entered    |. Executive Order 14026      |
|into on or after January 30,  |  generally applies to the   |
|2022, or the contract is      |  contract.                  |
|renewed or extended (e.g., an |. The contractor must pay    |
|option is exercised) on or    |  all covered workers at     |
|after January 30, 2022:       |  least $17.20 per hour (or  |
|                              |  the applicable wage rate   |
|                              |  listed on this wage        |
|                              |  determination, if it is    |
|                              |  higher) for all hours      |
|                              |  spent performing on the    |
|                              |  contract in 2024.          |
|______________________________|_____________________________|
|If the contract was awarded on|. Executive Order 13658      |
|or between January 1, 2015 and|  generally applies to the   |
|January 29, 2022, and the     |  contract.                  |
|contract is not renewed or    |. The contractor must pay all|
|extended on or after January  |  covered workers at least   |
|30, 2022:                     |  $12.90 per hour (or the    |
|                              |  applicable wage rate listed|
|                              |  on this wage determination,|
|                              |  if it is higher) for all   |
|                              |  hours spent performing on  |
|                              |  that contract in 2024.     |
|______________________________|_____________________________|

The applicable Executive Order minimum wage rate will be
adjusted annually. If this contract is covered by one of the
Executive Orders and a classification considered necessary for
performance of work on the contract does not appear on this
wage determination, the contractor must still submit a
conformance request.

Additional information on contractor requirements and worker
protections under the Executive Orders is available at
http://www.dol.gov/whd/govcontracts.

Modification Number     Publication Date
          0              01/05/2024
          1              01/12/2024



 ASBE0024-007 10/01/2023

                                  Rates          Fringes

ASBESTOS WORKER/HEAT & FROST   
INSULATOR........................$ 40.02          19.67+a

  Includes the application of all insulating materials,
  protective coverings, coatings and finishes to all types of
  mechanical systems

  a. PAID HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Martin Luther King Day,
  Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Veterans' Day,
  Thanksgiving Day,the day after Thanksgiving and Christmas
  Day provided the employee works the regular work day before
  and after the paid holiday.

----------------------------------------------------------------
 ASBE0024-008 04/01/2021

                                  Rates          Fringes

ASBESTOS WORKER:  HAZARDOUS   
MATERIAL HANDLER.................$ 24.46           8.69+a

  Includes preparation, wetting, stripping, removal, scrapping,
  vacuuming, bagging and disposing of all insulation
  materials, whether they contain asbestos or not, from
  mechanical systems

  a. PAID HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Martin Luther King Day,
  Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Veterans' Day,
  Thanksgiving Day,the day after Thanksgiving and Christmas
  Day provided the employee works the regular work day before
  and after the paid holiday.

----------------------------------------------------------------
 ASBE0024-014 04/01/2023

                                  Rates          Fringes

FIRESTOPPER......................$ 29.80           9.83+a

  Includes the application of materials or devices within or
  around penetrations and openings in all rated wall or floor
  assemblies, in order to prevent the pasage of fire, smoke
  of other gases. The application includes all components
  involved in creating the rated barrier at perimeter slab
  edges and exterior cavities, the head of gypsum board or
  concrete walls, joints between rated wall or floor
  components, sealing of penetrating items and blank openings.

  a. PAID HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Martin Luther King Day,
  Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Veterans' Day,
  Thanksgiving Day,the day after Thanksgiving and Christmas
  Day provided the employee works the regular work day before
  and after the paid holiday.

----------------------------------------------------------------
 BRDC0001-002 04/30/2023

                                  Rates          Fringes

BRICKLAYER.......................$ 36.50            13.47



----------------------------------------------------------------
* CARP0197-011 05/01/2023

                                  Rates          Fringes

CARPENTER, Includes Drywall   
Hanging, Form Work, and Soft   
Floor Laying-Carpet..............$ 33.21            13.87
----------------------------------------------------------------
 CARP0219-001 05/01/2023

                                  Rates          Fringes

MILLWRIGHT.......................$ 37.65            14.54
----------------------------------------------------------------
 CARP0441-001 05/01/2022

                                  Rates          Fringes

PILEDRIVERMAN....................$ 34.62            13.45
----------------------------------------------------------------
* ELEC0026-016 06/05/2023

                                  Rates          Fringes

ELECTRICIAN, Includes   
Installation of    
HVAC/Temperature Controls........$ 53.00            21.35
----------------------------------------------------------------
* ELEC0026-017 09/04/2023

                                  Rates          Fringes

ELECTRICAL INSTALLER  (Sound   
& Communication Systems).........$ 31.05            12.30

  SCOPE OF WORK: Includes low voltage construction,
  installation, maintenance and removal of teledata
  facilities (voice, data and video) including outside plant,
  telephone and data inside wire, interconnect, terminal
  equipment, central offices, PABX, fiber optic cable and
  equipment, railroad communications, micro waves, VSAT,
  bypass, CATV, WAN (Wide area networks), LAN (Local area
  networks) and ISDN (Integrated systems digital network).

  WORK EXCLUDED: The installation of computer systems in
  industrial applications such as assembly lines, robotics
  and computer controller manufacturing systems.  The
  installation of conduit and/or raceways shall be installed
  by Inside Wiremen. On sites where there is no Inside
  Wireman employed, the Teledata Technician may install
  raceway or conduit not greater than 10 feet. Fire alarm
  work is excluded on all new construction sites or wherever
  the fire alarm system is installed in conduit.  All HVAC
  control work.

----------------------------------------------------------------
 ELEV0010-001 01/01/2023

                                  Rates          Fringes

ELEVATOR MECHANIC................$ 52.49       37.335+a+b

  a. PAID HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Memorial Day, Independence
  Day, Labor Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas



  Day and the Friday after Thanksgiving.

  b. VACATIONS: Employer contributes 8% of basic hourly rate
  for 5 years or more of service; 6% of basic hourly rate for
  6 months to 5 years of service as vacation pay credit.

----------------------------------------------------------------
 IRON0005-005 06/01/2023

                                  Rates          Fringes

IRONWORKER, STRUCTURAL AND   
ORNAMENTAL.......................$ 36.10            25.19
----------------------------------------------------------------
 IRON0005-012 05/01/2023

                                  Rates          Fringes

IRONWORKER, REINFORCING..........$ 30.70            23.33
----------------------------------------------------------------
 LABO0011-009 06/01/2022

                                  Rates          Fringes

LABORER:  Skilled................$ 27.48             8.98

  FOOTNOTE:  Potmen, power tool operator, small machine
  operator, signalmen, laser beam operator, waterproofer
  (excluding roofing), open caisson, test pit, underpinning,
  pier hole and ditches, laggers and all work associated with
  lagging that is not expressly stated, strippers, operator
  of hand derricks, vibrator operators, pipe layers, or tile
  layers, operators of jackhammers, paving breakers, spaders
  or any machine that does the same general type of work,
  carpenter tenders, scaffold builders, operators of
  towmasters, scootcretes, buggymobiles and other machines of
  similar character, operators of tampers and rammers and
  other machines that do the same general type of work,
  whether powered by air, electric or gasoline, builders of
  trestle scaffolds over one tier high and sand blasters,
  power and chain saw operators used in clearing, installers
  of well points, wagon drill operators, acetylene burners
  and licensed powdermen, stake jumper,demolition.

----------------------------------------------------------------
 MARB0002-004 04/30/2023

                                  Rates          Fringes

MARBLE/STONE MASON...............$ 43.16            20.28

  INCLUDING pointing, caulking and cleaning of All types of
  masonry, brick, stone and cement EXCEPT pointing, caulking,
  cleaning of existing masonry, brick, stone and cement
  (restoration work)

----------------------------------------------------------------
 MARB0003-006 04/30/2023

                                  Rates          Fringes

TERRAZZO WORKER/SETTER...........$ 33.41            12.67
----------------------------------------------------------------
 MARB0003-007 04/30/2023



                                  Rates          Fringes

TERRAZZO FINISHER................$ 27.68            11.63
----------------------------------------------------------------
 MARB0003-008 04/30/2023

                                  Rates          Fringes

TILE SETTER......................$ 33.41            12.67
----------------------------------------------------------------
 MARB0003-009 04/30/2023

                                  Rates          Fringes

TILE FINISHER....................$ 27.68            11.63
----------------------------------------------------------------
 PAIN0051-014 06/01/2023

                                  Rates          Fringes

GLAZIER  
     Glazing Contracts $2 
     million and under...........$ 30.52            13.85
     Glazing Contracts over $2 
     million.....................$ 34.76            13.85
----------------------------------------------------------------
 PAIN0051-015 06/01/2023

                                  Rates          Fringes

PAINTER  
     Brush, Roller, Spray and 
     Drywall Finisher............$ 27.46            11.56
----------------------------------------------------------------
 PLAS0891-005 07/01/2023

                                  Rates          Fringes

PLASTERER (Including   
Fireproofing)....................$ 31.83             8.96
----------------------------------------------------------------
 PLAS0891-006 02/01/2023

                                  Rates          Fringes

CEMENT MASON/CONCRETE FINISHER...$ 30.00            12.99
----------------------------------------------------------------
 PLUM0005-010 08/01/2023

                                  Rates          Fringes

PLUMBER..........................$ 49.00          23.46+a

  a. PAID HOLIDAYS:  Labor Day, Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day
  and the day after Thanksgiving, Christmas Day, New Year's
  Day, Martin Luther King's Birthday, Memorial Day and the
  Fourth of July.

----------------------------------------------------------------
 PLUM0602-008 08/01/2023

                                  Rates          Fringes

PIPEFITTER, Includes  HVAC   
Pipe Installation................$ 50.27          23.32+a



  a. PAID HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Martin Luther King's
  Birthday, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day,
  Veterans' Day, Thanksgiving Day and the day after
  Thanksgiving and Christmas Day.

----------------------------------------------------------------
* ROOF0030-016 07/01/2023

                                  Rates          Fringes

ROOFER...........................$ 34.56            14.71
----------------------------------------------------------------
* SFDC0669-002 01/01/2024

                                  Rates          Fringes

SPRINKLER FITTER (Fire   
Sprinklers)......................$ 40.46            25.80
----------------------------------------------------------------
 SHEE0100-015 11/01/2021

                                  Rates          Fringes

SHEET METAL WORKER (Including   
HVAC Duct Installation)..........$ 44.37          21.33+a

  a. PAID HOLIDAYS: New Year's Day, Martin Luther King's
  Birthday, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day,
  Veterans Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day

----------------------------------------------------------------
*  SUDC2009-003 05/19/2009

                                  Rates          Fringes

LABORER:  Common or General......$ 13.04 **          2.80
  
LABORER:  Mason Tender -   
Cement/Concrete..................$ 15.40 **          2.85
  
LABORER: Mason Tender for   
pointing, caulking, cleaning   
of existing masonry, brick,   
stone and cement structures   
(restoration work); excludes   
pointing, caulking and   
cleaning of new or   
replacement masonry, brick,   
stone and cement.................$ 11.67 **              
  
POINTER, CAULKER, CLEANER,   
Includes pointing, caulking,   
cleaning of existing masonry,   
brick, stone and cement   
structures (restoration   
work); excludes pointing,   
caulking, cleaning of new or   
replacement   
masonry, brick, stone or   
cement...........................$ 18.88                 
----------------------------------------------------------------

WELDERS - Receive rate prescribed for craft performing
operation to which welding is incidental.



================================================================

** Workers in this classification may be entitled to a higher
minimum wage under Executive Order 14026 ($17.20) or 13658
($12.90).  Please see the Note at the top of the wage
determination for more information. Please also note that the
minimum wage requirements of Executive Order 14026 are not
currently being enforced as to any contract or subcontract to
which the states of Texas, Louisiana, or Mississippi, including
their agencies, are a party.

Note: Executive Order (EO) 13706, Establishing Paid Sick Leave
for Federal Contractors applies to all contracts subject to the
Davis-Bacon Act for which the contract is awarded (and any
solicitation was issued) on or after January 1, 2017.  If this
contract is covered by the EO, the contractor must provide
employees with 1 hour of paid sick leave for every 30 hours
they work, up to 56 hours of paid sick leave each year.
Employees must be permitted to use paid sick leave for their
own illness, injury or other health-related needs, including
preventive care; to assist a family member (or person who is
like family to the employee) who is ill, injured, or has other
health-related needs, including preventive care; or for reasons
resulting from, or to assist a family member (or person who is
like family to the employee) who is a victim of, domestic
violence, sexual assault, or stalking.  Additional information
on contractor requirements and worker protections under the EO
is available at
https://www.dol.gov/agencies/whd/government-contracts.

Unlisted classifications needed for work not included within
the scope of the classifications listed may be added after
award only as provided in the labor standards contract clauses
(29CFR 5.5 (a) (1) (iii)).

----------------------------------------------------------------

The body of each wage determination lists the classification
and wage rates that have been found to be prevailing for the
cited type(s) of construction in the area covered by the wage
determination. The classifications are listed in alphabetical
order of ""identifiers"" that indicate whether the particular
rate is a union rate (current union negotiated rate for local),
a survey rate (weighted average rate) or a union average rate
(weighted union average rate).

Union Rate Identifiers

A four letter classification abbreviation identifier enclosed
in dotted lines beginning with characters other than ""SU"" or
""UAVG"" denotes that the union classification and rate were
prevailing for that classification in the survey. Example:
PLUM0198-005 07/01/2014. PLUM is an abbreviation identifier of
the union which prevailed in the survey for this
classification, which in this example would be Plumbers. 0198
indicates the local union number or district council number
where applicable, i.e., Plumbers Local 0198. The next number,
005 in the example, is an internal number used in processing
the wage determination. 07/01/2014 is the effective date of the
most current negotiated rate, which in this example is July 1,
2014.



Union prevailing wage rates are updated to reflect all rate
changes in the collective bargaining agreement (CBA) governing
this classification and rate.

Survey Rate Identifiers

Classifications listed under the ""SU"" identifier indicate that
no one rate prevailed for this classification in the survey and
the published rate is derived by computing a weighted average
rate based on all the rates reported in the survey for that
classification.  As this weighted average rate includes all
rates reported in the survey, it may include both union and
non-union rates. Example: SULA2012-007 5/13/2014. SU indicates
the rates are survey rates based on a weighted average
calculation of rates and are not majority rates. LA indicates
the State of Louisiana. 2012 is the year of survey on which
these classifications and rates are based. The next number, 007
in the example, is an internal number used in producing the
wage determination. 5/13/2014 indicates the survey completion
date for the classifications and rates under that identifier.

Survey wage rates are not updated and remain in effect until a
new survey is conducted.

Union Average Rate Identifiers

Classification(s) listed under the UAVG identifier indicate
that no single majority rate prevailed for those
classifications; however, 100% of the data reported for the
classifications was union data. EXAMPLE: UAVG-OH-0010
08/29/2014. UAVG indicates that the rate is a weighted union
average rate. OH indicates the state. The next number, 0010 in
the example, is an internal number used in producing the wage
determination. 08/29/2014 indicates the survey completion date
for the classifications and rates under that identifier.

A UAVG rate will be updated once a year, usually in January of
each year, to reflect a weighted average of the current
negotiated/CBA rate of the union locals from which the rate is
based.

----------------------------------------------------------------

                   WAGE DETERMINATION APPEALS PROCESS

1.) Has there been an initial decision in the matter? This can
be:

*  an existing published wage determination
*  a survey underlying a wage determination
*  a Wage and Hour Division letter setting forth a position on
   a wage determination matter
*  a conformance (additional classification and rate) ruling

On survey related matters, initial contact, including requests
for summaries of surveys, should be with the Wage and Hour
National Office because National Office has responsibility for
the Davis-Bacon survey program. If the response from this
initial contact is not satisfactory, then the process described
in 2.) and 3.) should be followed.

With regard to any other matter not yet ripe for the formal
process described here, initial contact should be with the



Branch of Construction Wage Determinations.  Write to:

            Branch of Construction Wage Determinations
            Wage and Hour Division
            U.S. Department of Labor
            200 Constitution Avenue, N.W.
            Washington, DC 20210

2.) If the answer to the question in 1.) is yes, then an
interested party (those affected by the action) can request
review and reconsideration from the Wage and Hour Administrator
(See 29 CFR Part 1.8 and 29 CFR Part 7). Write to:

            Wage and Hour Administrator
            U.S. Department of Labor
            200 Constitution Avenue, N.W.
            Washington, DC 20210

The request should be accompanied by a full statement of the
interested party's position and by any information (wage
payment data, project description, area practice material,
etc.) that the requestor considers relevant to the issue.

3.) If the decision of the Administrator is not favorable, an
interested party may appeal directly to the Administrative
Review Board (formerly the Wage Appeals Board).  Write to:

            Administrative Review Board
            U.S. Department of Labor
            200 Constitution Avenue, N.W.
            Washington, DC 20210

4.) All decisions by the Administrative Review Board are final.

================================================================

          END OF GENERAL DECISION"

        



Contractor's Bid



1LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn Evans

SOLICITATION NUMBER: 

GF-2023-R-0029   

P R O P O S A L F O R  
D E S I G N-B U I L D S E R V I C E S 

VOLUME 2

PRICE PROPOSAL

LAMOND RIGGS 
COMMUNITY 
COLLEGE

P R O P O S A L F O R  
D E S I G N-B U I L D S E R V I C E S 



2LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn Evans

PRICE PROPOSAL

Cover Letter ............................................................................................03

Attachment A ..........................................................................................05

Table of Contents



3LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn Evans

Cover Letter



4LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn Evans

University of District of Columbia 
4200 Connecticut Avenue, NW 
Washington, DC  20008 

December 15, 2023

RE: Request for Best and Final Offer (BAFO) GF-2023-R-0029 
Design Build Services | Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization

Per your request, we have included Attachment A containing our Best and Final Offer (BAFO) for solicitation 
GF-2023-R-0029 - Lamond -Riggs Community College Modernization.

Please reach out to Pamela Murray Johnson at pmjohnson@smootbuilds.com or 202-243-6688 if there are 
any questions or concerns.

Sincerely,

Pamela Murray Johnson, P.E. 
Vice President

Smoot Construction Company of Washington DC 
p. 202-243-6688 | e. pmjohnson@smootbuilds.com



5LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn Evans

Attachment A



6LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn Evans

Anticipated Total Construction Cost: 24,456,179.00$ 
Mark-ups Unit Calculated Cost

General Conditions Ea $998,322
Design-Build Fee 2.80% $684,773

Design Contingency 1.84% $450,000
Construction Contingency 2.45% $600,000

Total Escalation Allowance Not Reguired -
P&P Bonds 1.10% $269,018

Sub-Guard Insurance 1.27% $310,593
Builders Risk Insurance 0.40% $97,825

Design Services Fee 6.75% $1,650,150
Other 0.00% $0
Other 0.00% $0

$5,060,681

Current Mark-up relative to current budgets and schedules: $5,060,681
BAFO: Provide best and final offer Inclusive of design fees per revised B.6





LAMOND RIGGS 
COMMUNITY 
COLLEGE

P R O P O S A L F O R  
D E S I G N-B U I L D S E R V I C E S 

VOLUME 1

TECHNICAL PROPOSAL 

SOLICITATION NUMBER: 

GF-2023-R-0029   



1 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 1LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn Evans

TECHNICAL PROPOSAL

Tab 1.  Cover Page................................. ................................................................01

Tab 2.  Executive Summary of Proposal ...............................................................03

Tab 3. General Team Information & Firm Data .....................................................07

Tab 4. Design-Build Team Relevant Experience and Capabilities .......................43

Tab 5. Project Design-Build Approach  ..................................................................63

Tab 6. Design-Build Team Key Personnel  ............................................................95

Tab 7. Representations, Certifications and other Statements of Offerors..........139

Table of Contents



VOLUME 1

TECHNICAL PROPOSAL 

Cover Page
TAB 1



1 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 2LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn Evans

Cover Page

��!,6,A!L!66,Ww l�����w�����w �"#�$��w!w%&'(��!L����w)(''���*+w)(�����w-(��"��.&*�(�w

,w

w

w

w

w
/01w23457w/8w94::;w<=3>:8781w/;w/0118?w>?0=?w7=w54/30550=@w7=w41<Bw

CDEwF&'�Gw)('H&�+wF&'�w&��wI��"���w(Jw���w("K�����"w

MN�*Ow.�Hw$(��Pw

CQEwR���HO(��wF(Ew

Mw Pw

CSEwL�'�**&�$�wI��"���wM�Jw

��JJ�"��*w*O&�w�*�'wCDPw

CTEwU!'&��w&��"���w

CWEwRO�wV��w("KV����"w&�"���w*(wH�"J("'w*O�wN("Xw"�Y��"��w&*w*O�wH"�$��w�H�$�J���wO�"���w&��w&$$("����w*(w*O�w�Zlw

 )[Ul\%UwM �$*�(�w�Pw&��w��w�*"�$*w&$$("�&�$�wN�*Ow*O�w*�"'�w(Jw*O��w�(��$�*&*�(�Gw�Jw*O��wV��KV��w��w&$$�H*��wV+w*O�w

\��#�"��*+wN�*O��ww w$&����&"w�&+�w&J*�"w*O�w�&*�wV���KV���w&"�w���Ew
,6EwRO�wV��w("KV����"w&�"���w*(wJ�"���Ow&�+w"�Y��"��wH�"J("'&�$�w&��wH&+'��*wV(���Ew

]̂_ẁ<a@=b:81c838@7w=9ẁ38@138@75w
RO�wV��w("KV����"w&$X�(N������w"�$��H*w(Jw&'���'��*�w*(w*O�w�(��$�*&*�(�wM��'V�"w&��w�&*�w�&$OPw ��w
 �$*�(�w%ECCw

I'���'��*w
F�'V�"w

w w w w w w w w w w

l&*�w w w w w w w w w w w

,,EwF&'�w&��wR�*��w(Jwd�"�(�w&�*O("�.��w

*(w����wV��KV��wMR+H�w(Jwd"��*Pw

,,IEw ���&*�"�w ,,�Ew���K���wl&*�w

b̀ ?̀1w27ewfgwheijkgmgnwfowmpgw4qrsgturmoBw

]v_ẁie�qmw ]�_ẁhhe�qmrq�w�qnẁjjtejtr�mrequwn�m�w

]�_w>̀ ;38@7wb0::w/8w3 1̀8w/;	w

\��#�"��*+w(Jw*O�wl��*"�$*w(Jw

)(��'V�&w
JJ�$�w(Jw*O�w

)(�*"(���"KI���$+w)�
w�,66w
)(���$*�$�*wI#����GwF�w

�&�O���*(�Gwl)w,666Sw

]_w5�firmwrqserhguw�uwrqumt�hmgnwrqw5ghmreqwcwe�wmpruw

uekrhrm�mreqw2<eqmt�hmẁnirqrumt�mreqw1�m�Bw

<=@7?̀ <70@cw=990<8?wb0::w<=3>:878w0783w]�w=?w]�ẁ5ẁ>>:0<̀ /:8w

]�_w��w@8c=70̀781ẁc?8838@7wMRO�w)(�*"&$*("w��w"�Y��"��w*(w

����w*O��w�($�'��*w&��w"�*�"�w$(H���w*(w*O�w�������w(JJ�$�EwRO�w

)(�*"&$*("w&�"���w*(wJ�"���Ow&��w����#�"w&��w�*�'�w("wH�"J("'w&��wN("Xw

"�Y��"�'��*�wJ("w*O�w$(�����"&*�(�w�*&*��w��w*O��w$(�*"&$*EwRO�w"��O*�w

&��w(V���&*�(��w(Jw*O�wH&"*���w(Jw*O��w$(�*"&$*w�O&��wV�w�(#�"���wV+wM&Pw

*O��w$(�*"&$*w&N&"�GwMVPw*O�w�(��$�*&*�(�Gw&��wM$Pw$�&����Gw"�H"����*&*�(��Gw

$�"*�J�$&*�(��Gw&��w�H�$�J�$&*�(��w��$("H("&*��wV+w"�J�"��$�w��w("w

&**&$O��w*(w*O��w$(�*"&$*Ew

]�_w��ẁb ?̀1wMRO�w$(�*"&$*("w��w�(*w"�Y��"��w*(w����w

*O��w�($�'��*PEw�(�"wV��w(�w*O��w�(��$�*&*�(�w��wO�"�V+w

&$$�H*��EwRO��w&N&"�w$(���''&*��w*O�w$(�*"&$*wNO�$Ow

$(����*�w(JwM&Pw*O�w�(��$�*&*�(�w&��w+(�"wV��Gw&��wMVPw*O��w

$(�*"&$*w&N&"�EwF(wJ�"*O�"w$(�*"&$*�&�w�($�'��*w��w

��$���&"+Ew

]�_w@�igw�qnw7rmkgwe�w<eqmt�hmetwe�w>gtueqẁ�mpetr�gnwmewur�qw27ojgwetw

>trqmBw

v�_w@�igwe�w<=w27ojgwe�w>trqmBw

]�̀_w5r�q�m�tgw ]�/_w1�mgw v�̀_w5r�q�m�tgw v�/_w1�mgw

\FZ�UL ZR�w
�wR[UwlZ RLZ)Rw
�w)
%\-�ZIw
��Z)Uw
�w)
FRLI)RZF�wIFlwdL
)\LU-UFRw

Pamela Murray Johnson
Smoot Construction Company of Washington, DC
5335 Wisconsin Avenue NW, Suite 940
Washington, DC 20015

5335 Wisconsin Avenue NW, 
Suite 940
Washington, DC 20015

202 243-6688

pmjohnson@smootbuilds.com

90

01

8/14/2023

Pamela Murray Johnson, Vice President August 28, 2023

Pamela Murray Johnson, Vice President

Smoot Construction Company of           08/14/2023
Washington, DC

Smoot Construction Company of Washington, DC
5335 Wisconsin Avenue NW, Suite 940
Washington, DC 20015



VOLUME 1

TECHNICAL PROPOSAL 

Executive Summary of Proposal
TAB 2



4LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn Evans

3 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

Executive Summary

The Lamond-Riggs Campus Modernization Project presents 
an opportunity to refine the already inspired facility with 
improvements that celebrate the University of the District 
of Columbia’s (UDC) collective commitment to educational 
excellence,  community resilience, health, and sustainability

To facilitate UDC in achieving its goals of designing 
and building a model of urban student success, Smoot 
Construction Company of Washington, DC (SmootDC) is 
teaming up with Quinn Evans (QE) to provide UDC with a 
locally renowned Design-Build team that brings exceptional 
construction quality, design excellence, and maximum 
community involvement.

Experienced and resourceful firms 
Primary Contractors

SmootDC is a construction management, design-build, and 
general contracting services firm, considered the largest 
black-owned commercial builder in the District of Columbia.  
We are a District of Columbia Certified Business Enterprise 
(CBE) headquartered in our nation’s capital with offices in 
Boston, Massachusetts, and Ohio. 

Mark S. Cain, grandson of Sherman R. Smoot, founder of 
Smoot Construction, is President and CEO of SmootDC. 
Under Mark Cain’s leadership, the company has a significant 
resume of marquee projects in the Washington, D.C. region 
including the restoration of historic federal buildings, 
construction of new / renovated schools, and construction /
renovations to many other public urban spaces.  

We have strong relationships with the CBE subcontracting 
community.  Our projects always exceed local participation 
goals.  SmootDC was the lead builder in charge of the 
design-build modernization of DCPS Dunbar and Roosevelt 
High Schools.  We were the lead construction manager 
for the Martin Luther King Jr. Memorial Library.  These 
significant projects are located in the District of Columbia 
and were constructed with CBE participation that exceeded 
our client’s goals.

Lead Architect
Founded in 1984, Quinn Evans continues to innovate 
forward. Today, the firm is over 200 strong with six 
office locations—Washington, DC; Ann Arbor and Detroit, 
Michigan; Baltimore, Maryland; Madison, Wisconsin; 
and Richmond, Virginia. We provide diverse expertise in 
architecture, preservation planning and design, interior 
design, and landscape architecture.  

Our higher education projects support campus 
communities as they grow and evolve, responding to the 
new standards of 21st-century student life, technology, 
security, and sustainable stewardship.  Our work spans the 
full range of campus life and student activities, from the 
design of academic, residential, recreational, and student 
service facilities to the restoration of historic buildings and 
landscapes.  

We have transformed a dilapidated two-story warehouse 
in the Station North Arts District of Baltimore into a 
vibrant, technology-rich studio and workshop environment 
that is now one of the largest nonprofit maker spaces 
in the country.  We transformed the previously deemed 
dysfunctional Percy Julian Science and Art Building at 
Coppin State University, into a dynamic School of Business 
and Graduate Studies that supports multiple academic 
dimensions.

Consulting Engineers

Our group of consulting /engineering companies, all are 
experienced working in the District of Columbia.  Global 
Engineering Solutions (GES) is our Mechanical/Plumbing/
Electrical/Fire Protection Engineering Consultant (CBE), 
SK&A, PLLC is our Structural Engineer (CBE), and GordonDC 
is our civil engineer, survey engineer, and civil dry utilities 
(CBE).  These companies have decades of experience 
working with the District of Columbia Public Schools and 
other buildings in the District of Columbia. 

Design Consideration 

Drawing from the Campus Development Master Plan and the Bridging Documents we will model, evaluate, and assess 
the existing conditions; develop a construction and swing space plan; and use the Bridging Documents to develop 
community oriented interior design that strengthens the College Educational program.  Through 50% CD, 85% CD 
and 100% CD design submissions we will develop designs that will create the opportunity for engaging active based 
learning, enhance the building character, stabilize the envelope, replace MEP systems, and provide a new elevator.

Construction Management Plan 

As design submissions are being developed, our preconstruction team will provide Cost Studies, Value Engineering, 
and Constructability Reviews, to keep the designs on-budget.  Our Team will provide regular schedule updates and work 
plans during the preconstruction phase to keep the project moving forward.  We have included a Preliminary Schedule 
with this RFP response.  Below are excerpts from our schedule.

We anticipate the Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) will be approved in time for construction to start in June 2024.

During Construction, the Critical Path follows the Roof Replacement, construction of the new Roof Top Penthouses, 
the installation of new Mechanical Equipment, and then Commissioning the MEP Systems for Wings A, B, and C, as 
required.  This work will need to be included with the Wing C Turnover Phase during the Winter of 2025.

A Team You Can Trust
Key Staff
We have assembled a team 
of construction and design 
professionals with experience 
building and designing in the 
District of Columbia. 

SmootDC + Quinn Evans are 
pleased to introduce our Key 
Staff.

Pamela
Project Executive

Shawn
Project Manager

Scott
Superintendent

Joseph
Educational

 Designer

Peter
Project Architect

Chad
Mechanical Engineer

Michael 
Electrical Engineer

Kahlil
Project Engineer

Erin
Interior Designer



5 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 6LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Construction

Our field operations team will manage the work in the field starting in June 2024 through the winter of 2025.  We 
have included a Preliminary Schedule that outlines our approach to accomplishing this work.  Management of the 
construction process includes: BIM coordination, site logistics planning, P6 schedule management, safety, quality 
control, and community outreach/ maximizing CBE participation.

The major risks identified include:

Working in the Occupied Building - Early during the preconstruction process during our initial kick-off meetings we 
will discuss swing space opportunities with the end user.  We consider issues like:

 � Is the building 100% occupied?

 � Can we build-out temporary spaces within the building and move classrooms or other programmatic functions 
into those temporary spaces?

 � Do we provide temporary trailers for classroom spaces and other programmatic functions, and then locate 
those trailers on site outside adjacent to the building.

These are discussions that will take place at the kick-off meeting and will be used to consider and recommend the 
most beneficial Swing Space Options to the College.

Mitigating/Eliminating Environmental Impacts to the College Community - Environmental impacts are mitigated by 
bringing an Industrial Hygienist (IH) to the process for an environmental assessment of the property.  The IH will 
then recommend destructive testing to determine environmental hazards if necessary.  This process will need to 
occur during preconstruction.  Once The SmootDC+QE Team is awarded the preconstruction contract, we can 
facilitate a competitive process to bring an IH to the College who can assess whether remediation is required for 
this work.  If a Remediation plan is required, the IH will develop that plan. 

Removal of hazardous materials is done under the direction of the IH, usually under a constructed containment.  
The IH and the Hazardous Materials removal contractor work inside the containment to remove hazards and 
document the process.  Then the IH develops a “Clean Letter” that identifies the areas that have been mitigated 
of hazardous materials.  This entire process would occur during preconstruction.  The IH and the hazardous 
materials abatement contractor can work directly for the SmootDC+QE Team or be contracted directly to UDC.  
Whatever decision is made for the appropriate contract vehicle for the hazardous materials removal process, the 
SmootDC+QE Team will work with UDC to manage the process and ensure success.



VOLUME 1

TECHNICAL PROPOSAL 

General Team Information & Firm(s) 
Data

TAB 3



8LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-00297 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn Evans

General Team Information and Firm(s) Data

Entity Name
Smoot Construction Company of Washington, DC 
(SmootDC)

Role
Design-Builder Prime Contractor

Address
5335 Wisconsin Ave NW, Suite 940 
Washington, DC 20015

CBE Type
LBE, LRB, ROB

A Team To Meet The Lamond Riggs Design and Construction Challenge

Our strategy in building our team is simple: choose experts in their fields, with experience appropriate to the 
requirements of the facility and the resources to meet our schedule as developed during the programming and 
concept design phase. We have worked with these proposed consultants across the District to successfully complete 
projects for our clients. We propose the following team for the Lamond Riggs Community College project.

Entity Name
Quinn Evans

Role
Architect of Record

Address 
2101 L Street, NW, Suite 950 
Washington, DC 20037

Name, Addresses, Roles of Offeror Team

Office:   202.243.6688
Mobile: 240.962.0974 
pmjohnson@smootbuilds.com

Pamela Murray Johnson, PE
Smoot Construction
VP, Project Executive

Single Point 
of Contact



10LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn Evans

9 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn Evans

Age
The company has continuously operated in Washington, DC 
since 1968 for 55 years.

Firm history
Smoot Construction Company of Washington, DC (SmootDC) 
is a construction management, design-build, and general 
contracting services firm. SmootDC, considered the largest 
black-owned commercial builder in the District of Columbia, is 
a certified business enterprise headquartered in our nation’s 
capital with offices in Boston, Massachusetts, and Ohio. Mark 
S. Cain, grandson of Sherman R. Smoot, founder of Smoot 
Construction, is President and CEO of SmootDC. Under Mark 
Cain’s leadership, the company has a significant resume of 
marquee projects in the Washington, D.C. region including the 
renovation of historic federal buildings and construction of 
DC Public Schools (DCPS) K-12 new and renovated schools, 
libraries, and other public spaces and community buildings.

Firm size
SmootDC has 43 full-time employees.

Areas of specialty/concentration
 � Construction Management
 � Design-Build
 � General Contracting
 � Preconstruction
 � Sustainability
 � Virtual Design & Construction
 � Community Engagement

Current firm workload(s) projected over the next year
Staffing and resources dedicated to this project will not 
impact SmootDC’s ongoing operations. Based on our current 
staff and anticipated workload, SmootDC has the capacity to 
manage this project.

Firm Profile:  Smoot Construction 
Company of Washington, DC (SmootDC)
Design-Builder Prime Contractor

A list of any contract held by the Offeror where the 
contract was terminated
None. SmootDC does not have any contract 
terminations.

Single point of contact for the Offeror
Pamela Murray Johnson, PE

Project Executive 
Office:   202.243.6688
Mobile: 240.962.0974 
pmjohnson@smootbuilds.com

SmootDC is a Local Business Enterprise (LBE), Longtime Resident Business (LRB), and Resident Owned Business (ROB).

250+ Construction 
craftsmanship 
awards won

100+
Libraries, Schools 
and Recreation 
Centers

85% Work from Public 
Building repeat clients

#1 Largest minority-owned 
construction firm in DC  

25+
Employees average 
years of experience in 
construction industry

40+
Employees  
in Washington, DC 

55
Years in  
the Washington 
Metropolitan Area  

Commitment to Diversity
It’s been said that diversity, equity and inclusion (DEI) is part of our DNA. As one of the largest minority-owned 
construction companies in the U.S. and an MBE-certified business, SmootDC is firmly rooted in diversity.

We understand the importance of DEI principles in creating a fully inclusive workplace. Our partnerships with 
community organizations and Historically Black Colleges and Universities (HBCUs)—as well as equitable hiring 
practices and outreach to women, veterans, individuals with disabilities, and the BIPOC and LGBTQIA+ communities—
have given us a unique perspective on diversity, equity and inclusion, which has afforded us the most talented 
workforce in the business.

SmootDC engages diverse businesses and residents by providing them subcontracting opportunities. But our efforts 
are not limited to subcontracting; we believe that the economic impact of urban construction projects extends 
beyond the construction fence. Many of the projects we build, either by contractual obligation or owner expectation, 
require us to engage a certain percentage of certified Minority/Women/Small Business Enterprise participation, and 
our goal is always to exceed that percentage.

Over the last five decades, Smoot Construction 
Company of Washington, DC (SmootDC) has led 
the successful completion of over 100 construction 
projects in Maryland, Virginia, and Washington, DC. 
We are the longest-standing minority contractor in the 
region and are proud of our self-performing roots.

SmootDC believes that every project is a unique 
opportunity to tell a story. We take a comprehensive 
approach, from doing preliminary research, to ensuring 
authenticity in each process, to checking every detail 
before completion. And clients are included in every 
step of the project as we offer open channels for 
communication and collaboration to ensure clarity, 
transparency, and quality.

A leader in all of the key markets that it serves, 
SmootDC offers its clients a combination of local 
knowledge, innovation and technical excellence in the 
successful planning, coordination and completion of 
projects, large and small, including high-rise buildings, 
retail complexes, K-12 and higher education facilities, 
and historic and monumental structures. Known 
for expertise in leading and participating in complex 
teams and managing virtually every delivery method, 
SmootDC’s past projects include Nationals Ballpark, 
Entertainment and Sports Arena, and Martin Luther 
King Jr. Memorial Library. 

SmootDC’s reputation as a builder of choice is matched 
by its commitment and industry leading approach to 
supplier diversity and workforce development. We are 
proud of our heritage as a minority-owned construction 
company and are committed to diversity, equity and 
inclusion in our business and hiring practices.



12LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn Evans

11 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn Evans

Age
38 years

Firm history
Since our founding in 1984, Quinn Evans has innovated 
forward. Today, the firm is over 200 strong with six office 
locations—Washington, DC; Ann Arbor and Detroit, Michigan; 
Baltimore, Maryland; Madison, Wisconsin; and Richmond, 
Virginia. Our inspired solutions evolve from diverse expertise 
in architecture, preservation planning and design, interior 
design, and landscape architecture. 

Our higher education projects support campus communities 
as they grow and evolve, responding to the new standards 
of 21st-century student life, technology, security, and 
sustainable stewardship. At the same time, we value the 
unique architectural character and sense of place that define 
each campus, and work with clients to preserve landmark 
buildings and settings while creating state-of-the-art 
environments. 

Our work spans the full range of campus life and student 
activities, from the design of academic, residential, 
recreational, and student service facilities to the restoration 
of historic buildings and landscapes. We recognize that 
collaboration and engaged learning can take place far beyond 
the classroom, requiring a creative, thoughtful approach to 
campus planning and design. 

Firm size

206 employees, 103 of which are registered architects across 
five offices

Areas of specialty/concentration.
 � Architecture
 � Renovations 
 � Interior Design
 � Public spaces
 � Learning environments
 � Sustainable design

Firm Profile: Quinn Evans
Architect of Record

210+ Higher Education 
Projects

45 “Excellence In Design”  
 Awards

500+ Award-Winning 
Projects

700+ Educational Projects 
In The Last 35 Years

40
Educational Projects 
Awarded For 
“EXCELLENCE IN DESIGN”

Current firm workload(s) projected over the next year
Staffing and resources dedicated to this project will 
not impact Quinn Evans’ ongoing operations.
Based on our current staff and anticipated workload, 
Quinn Evans has the capacity to manage this project.

A list of any contract held by the Offeror where the 
contract was terminated
Quinn Evans does not have any contract terminations.

Single point of contact for the Offeror
Jeff Luker, Principal in Charge | p. 202-591-2509 |  
e. jluker@quinnevans.com

TEAM SUBCONSULTANTS

FIRM SPECIALTY ADDRESS

Global Engineering Solutions 
MEP Engineer and Technology

5225 Wisconsin Ave NW,  
Suite 300 
Washington, DC 20015

GordonDC 
Civil Engineer and Landscape 
Architect

1112 16th St NW, 
Suite 910
Washington, DC 20036

SK&A 
Structural Engineer

1155 Connecticut Avenue, NW, 
Suite 800 
Washington, DC 20036

indicates Certified Business Enterprise (CBE)



13 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 14LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Age
6 years

Firm history
Established in 2017, GordonDC is recognized as a leading 
multi-discipline site design firm providing professional 
civil engineering, permitting, and consulting services. Its 
founding Members and employees bring over 45 years of 
experience designing iconic public, private, and Federal 
facilities located within the District of Columbia and 
metropolitan region.

GordonDC’s diverse group of professional engineers 
brings a passion focused on sustainability, creative 
problem solving, design collaboration, and community 
engagement. Our vast knowledge of DC’s unique historical 
fabric, environmental landscapes, and local and Federal 
permitting requirements has resulted in numerous 
successful projects and repeat clients.

Firm size
11 members, 9 employees

Areas of specialty/concentration.
 � Civil Engineering 
 � Stormwater Management
 � Permitting
 � Sustainable Design
 � Zoning & Entitlements
 � Feasibility Studies

Firm Profile: GordonDC
Civil Engineering

Current firm workload(s) projected over the next year
 � Maplewood Senior Living Facility - est. 2023
 � Southeast Neighborhood Library - est. 2024
 � US Botanic Garden Production Facility - est. 2025
 � Hilltop House Hotel - est. 2025
 � DPR Southeast Tennis and Learning Center - est. 

2025
 � DCPS Thomas Elementary School - est. 2026
 � Federal Reserve Headquarters - est. 2027

A list of any contract held by the Offeror where the 
contract was terminated
GordonDC has not experienced any terminated contracts, 
either by default or convenience.

Single point of contact for the Offeror
Jessie Ponce de Leon, PE
Managing Partner
T: 202.869.1601
E: jponcedeleon@gordon.dc.us.com

CBE# L11869052025
1112 16th St NW, Suite 910, Washington, DC 20036

Age
15 years

Firm history
Global Engineering Solutions of Washington DC (GES) is 
a CBE certified (LSD09012022024; 7 Preference points, 
2 for LBE; 3 for SBE; 2 for DBE) engineering, program 
management and construction management firm 
specializing in mechanical, electrical, plumbing and fire 
protection engineering and commissioning. GES focuses 
on the design of engineering-driven, technologically 
complex facilities for corporate, government and 
institutional clients. 

Our client list includes the DC DGS, DC Public Schools, 
DCPL, DMPED, Prince Georges County Public Schools , 
University of District of Columbia, George Washington 
University, Georgetown University, University of Maryland 
College Park, Salisbury University, National Institutes 
of Health, and the National Aeronautics and Space 
Administration, to 
name but a few. 

GES worked with Smoot on the modernization of 
Roosevelt High School and is currently on Quinn Evans’ 
IDIQ contract with UDC.

Firm size
19 employees

Areas of specialty/concentration
 � Mechanical
 � Electrical
 � Plumbing 
 � Fire Protection Engineering Services and 

Commissioning

Firm Profile: Global Engineering Solutions
MEP Engineer 

Current firm workload(s) projected over the next year
Currently we estimate that our existing workload accounts 
for 83% of our total capacity based on a total of 39,520 
man-hours per year.

A list of any contract held by the Offeror where the 
contract was terminated
GES has never been terminated from any contract nor any 
contracts that have resulted in litigation or arbitration

Single point of contact for the Offeror
Abdullah Ayazi, LEED AP
Sr. Vice President
T: 202.495.7746
E: AbdullahA@theges.com

CBE# LSD090120224
5225 Wisconsin Ave, NW Suite 300, Washington, DC 20015

Global Engineering Solutions of Washington DC is a Certified Business Enterprise (CBE) in Washington, DC, and is a 
Local Business Enterprise (LBE), a Small Business Enterprise (SBE), and a Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE).

GordonDC is a Certified Business Enterprise (CBE) in Washington, DC, and is a Local Business Enterprise (LBE).



16LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn Evans

15 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn Evans

Age
62 years

Firm history

SK&A Structural Engineers, PLLC (a District of Columbia 
Certified Business Enterprise) offers consulting structural 
engineering services, with specialization in the analysis 
and design of architectural projects, including new 
buildings and large-scale renovation projects, with 
construction costs up to $700 million. The firm’s project 
portfolio spans the full range of building types, from one-
story to high-rise commercial, office, residential, multi-
use, retail, municipal, federal, institutional, and academic 
buildings as well as parking structures.

SK&A provides clients with a full suite of structural-related 
consulting services, including structural analysis and 
design, repair and restoration, new and existing building 
enclosure, as well as testing and inspection, from their 
two offices in Potomac, MD and Washington, DC. SK&A 
has the capacity to meet the demands of large complex 
projects through the use of the most qualified personnel, 
appropriate staffing, and the utilization of the latest 
technologies, including Building Information Modeling. 

Firm size

SK&A has a staff of 93 professionals

Firm Profile: SK&A
Structural Engineer

Areas of specialty/concentration.
 � Structural Planning Consultation
 � Analysis and Design of Structural Systems
 � Building Information Modeling (BIM)
 � Preparation of Contract Documents  

and Specifications
 � Structural Design for Historic Renovations
 � Vertical and Horizontal Additions to Existing Buildings
 � Value Engineering and Constructability Review
 � Sustainable Design (LEED)
 � Construction Administration Services
 � Post Construction Services
 � New and Existing Building Enclosure Consulting

Current firm workload(s) projected over the
next year
The workload for SK&A’s DC office is projected to be less 
than their available capacity for the next year based on 
their current staffing level.

A list of any contract held by the Offeror where the 
contract was terminated
SK&A Structural Engineers, PLLC has not been involved in 
any contracts where the contract was terminated (either 
by default or convenience).

Single point of contact for the Offeror
Joshua Woolcock, PE, LEED AP
Principal 
T: 202-659-2520 
E: joshw@skaengineers.com

CBE# LS89728092025
1155 Connecticut Avenue, NW, Suite 800, Washington, DC 20036

SK&A is a Certified Business Enterprise (CBE) in Washington, DC, and is a Local Business Enterprise (LBE), and a Small 
Business Enterprise (SBE).



18LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn Evans

Organizational Chart

Organizational Chart Key

Key Team Member

Collaborative

Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 

Abbie Cronin, RA, LEED AP BD+C
Project Executive

SmootDC

Design Preconstruction

Jeffrey Luker, AIA, LEED AP
Principal in Charge

Quinn Evans

DESIGN/PRECONSTRUCTION

Construction Subject Matter Experts

Omar McIntosh
Executive Vice President

SmootDC

BUILDING SUPPORT

Single Point of Contact

Apryl Webb, AVS, LEED AP
Design Manager/Preconstruction 

Lead/Structural/Envelope
SmootDC

Peter Baker, AIA, RLA, NCARB, 
CLARB, ASLA, LEED BD+C

Project Architect
Quinn Evans

Erin Carver, CID, IIDA
Interior Designer

Quinn Evans

Joseph Cellucci, AIA
Educational Designer

Quinn Evans

Chad Sullivan, AIA, LEED AP
Senior Mechanical Engineer
Global Engineering Solutions

Chrystal Stowe, ASID, NCIDQ

Vice President, CBE Outreach
SmootDC

Shawn Miller, AIA, ABC, CSI 
Project Manager

SmootDC

Scott Davis, CQM
Superintendent

SmootDC

Kahlil Andrews
Project Engineer

SmootDC

Jobsite Foreman
SmootDC

David Pirnia, PE

Structural Project Manager
SK&A

Josh Woolcock, PE, LEED AP

Structural Principal in Charge
SK&A

Adam McConnell
Safety Manager

SmootDC

Jessie Ponce de Leon, PE

Lead Civil Engineer
GordonDC

Pamela Murray Johnson, PE
Vice President, Project Executive

SmootDC

Jackie Washington, LEED AP BD+C

MEP/Civil Estimator
SmootDC

Brendan McHugh
Interiors Estimator

SmootDC

Michael Soong, PE
Senior Electrical Engineer

Global Engineering Solutions

Abdullah Ayazi, LEED AP

Sr. Vice President
Global Engineering Solutions

LEED SCHEDULING BIM

Dave Seiling PE, RCDD, PSP, CTS, PMP

Lead AV/IT/Security Consultant
Salas O’Brien



20LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn Evans

*Denotes Key Personnel

Provide an availability matrix table that identifies the specific key personnel that will be assigned to this project. The table should include for every team member that will be assigned to the project.

Personnel/Firm Project Role G
en

er
al

 C
on

di
tio

ns
 B

ud
ge

t F
un

de
d

De
si

gn
-B

ui
ld

 F
ee

 F
un

de
d

Project Availability 

Remarks on AvailabiltyDe
si

gn
/P

re
co

ns
tr

uc
tio

n

Co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n

Pamela Murray Johnson, VP, SmootDC Project Executive  25% 25% Available to start the preconstruction phase of Lamond-Riggs Community College

Shawn Miller, SmootDC Construction Project Manager  25% 100%
DC Infrastructure Academy: currently in GMP development with 4th QTR 2023 construction start
DCRA Phase II: currently in preconstruction with 3rd QTR 2024 construction start
MLK Library Restoration: ongoing tenant improvements

Scott Davis, SmootDC Construction Field Superintendent  10% 100% Available immediately upon notice to proceed with construction.

Kahlil Andrew, SmootDC Project Engineer  0% 100% Our preconstruction team is currently working on multiple projects; available to start preconstruction this fall

Apryl Webb, SmootDC Design Manager  50% 25% Our preconstruction team is currently working on multiple projects; available to start preconstruction this fall

Jackie Washington, SmootDC Executive Support  25% 0% Our preconstruction team is currently working on multiple projects; available to start preconstruction this fall

Brendan McHugh, SmootDC Interiors Estimator  25% 0% Our preconstruction team is currently working on multiple projects; available to start preconstruction this fall

Peter Baker, Quinn Evans Project Architect  75% 25% Available for the Project

Erin Carver, Quinn Evans Interior Designer  25% 0% Available for the Project

Joseph Cellucci, Quinn Evans Educational Designer  25% 0% Available for the Project

Josh Woolcock, SK&A Structural Principal in Charge  20% 20% Available for the Project

David Pirnia, SK&A Structural Project Manager  40% 20% Available for the Project

Chad Sullivan, Global Engineering Solutions Senior Mechanical Engineer  50% 25% Available for the Project

Michael Soong, Global Engineering Solutions Senior Electrical Engineer  50% 25% Available for the Project

Abdullah Ayazi, Global Engineering Solutions Sr. Vice President  10% 10% Available for the Project

Jessie Ponce de Leon, Gordon Lead Civil Engineer  25% 0% Available for the Project

Dave Seiling, Salas O’Brien Lead AV/IT/Security Consultant  30% 20% Available for the Project

Omar McIntosh, EVP,  SmootDC Executive Support  10% 10% Currently working on multiple projects; available for all phases

Jeffrey Luker, Quinn Evans Principal in Charge  25% 25% Available for the Project

Chrystal Stowe, VP, SmootDC  CBE Outreach  10% 25% Currently working on multiple projects; available for all phases
Adam McConnell, SmootDC Safety  Currently working on multiple projects; available for all phases



22LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn Evans

Provide an availability matrix table that identifies the specific key personnel that will be assigned to this project. The table should include for every team member that will be assigned to the project. 
The chart should indicate the experience that the key team members have working together

Smoot DC Quin Evans GES Gordon SK&A

SmootDC   

Quinn Evans    

GES    

Gordon   

SK&A    



23 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 24LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Relevant Experience

District of Columbia Public School Construction                                                            
Washington, DC

Project Executive and Corporate Executive: Phelps AEC High School, The 
School Without Walls High School, Eastern High School, Takoma Education 
Campus, Mann Elementary School, Brookland Middle School, Lafayette 
Elementary School, Orr/Boone Elementary School. Ms. Murray Johnson was 
account manager/ project executive providing staff and risk management 
for the successful construction of these District of Columbia new and 
renovated High School, Middle School and Elementary School construction 
projects.

Tysons Corner Tower 3 Construction, Washington Headquarters Services 
IDIQ, SCIF for Government Client; Project E for Government Client                                                                                                                               
Virginia/Washington, DC                                                                                                  
Corporate Executive: Ms. Murray Johnson was corporate executive 
responsible for management and oversight of TS staff providing 
Construction and Management of Sensitive Compartmented Information 
Facilities VERSION 1.5.1, IC Tech Spec – for ICD/ICS, 705, An 
Intelligence Community Technical Specification Prepared by the National 
Counterintelligence and Security Center (dated July 26, 2021).

Montgomery College, Prince Georges Community College, and 
Marymount University                                                           
Maryland/Virginia

Project Executive: Ms. Murray Johnson was project executive responsible 
for construction and construction management at risk for these Higher 
Education Clients. Responsibilities included: cultivating client relations, 
preconstruction, GMP development; staff management and supervision; 
subcontract management and supervision; budgets, schedules and risk 
management; contract/change order negotiations; claims mitigation; and 
quality control.

NIH Building 10 ‘A’ Wing Addition, 
Washington Hospital Center Renovations                                                                                                                                
Washington, DC                                                                                                            
Assistant Project Manager/Engineer: For these Healthcare projects, Ms. 
Murray Johnson was responsible for developing scopes of work, writing 
subcontract agreements, coordinating the work of trades, working with the 
design team to solve daily construction issues, and managing the flow of 
information, including RFIs, meeting minutes, submittals/shop drawings, 
safety incidences. She also worked with the preconstruction team to 
develop budgets and pricing for changes. 

Pamela Murray Johnson, PE
Vice President, Project Executive

EDUCATION 
Bachelor’s of Science (BS)  
Civil Engineering Howard University

OSHA 30 Certified 

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

Construction Industry: 35
Experience in Current Role: 1

Prior Roles: 34
(= Highlighted Project in the Past 
Performance Section)

% OF TIME DEVOTED TO PROJECT

Pre-construction: 25%
Construction: 25%

CURRENT WORKLOAD OVER THE 
NEXT YEAR 

Pamela is currently available to start 

the preconstruction phase of Lamond-

Riggs Community College

JOHNSON  resume
page 2 of 2

Lafayette Elementary School
Washington, DC
Project Executive: This $72 million, 120,000-SF design-build facility 
included modernization and expansion project in a tight, urban location. The 
modernization involved restoration of the existing schoolhouse façade; a 
slight enlargement of the parking lot; renovation of all exterior play and field 
surfaces; installation of green roofs; and stormwater management features. 
The project also included fast-track construction of an 82-classroom trailer 
swing space located on existing ball fields at the rear of the school. LEED 
Gold certified.

Brookland Middle School
Washington, DC
Project Executive: This $58 million, 107,000-SF design-build renovation 
project. Phase one consisted of preconstruction services and the demolition 
of existing building. Phase two consisted of construction of a new building 
with admin offices, cafeteria, media center, classrooms, labs and teacher 
work center. Ball fields and running track were reconstructed. New basketball 
and tennis courts, bioretention stormwater management system, sidewalks, 
landscaping, fencing, site lighting and electrical parking gate arm were 
installed. LEED Platinum certified.

Horace Mann Elementary School 
Washington, DC
Project Executive: The $38 million, 57,830-SF design-build facility included 
modernization and expansion of an existing Pre-K through 5 elementary 
school in a tight, urban location. The original 20,000-SF facility was built in 
1931 and now complete it includes two new additions totaling 37,830-SF. 
Phase one included the modernization of the existing facility on a fast track, 
two and a half month schedule. Phase two included construction of two 
additional steel framed buildings with an open atrium entrance connecting 
the additions to the existing structure. Phase three included completion of 
multi-purpose spaces and final sitework, playgrounds, basketball court and 
fields. Michael Marshall and Pamela Murray Johnson were the designer and 
builder for this project. The project is seeking LEED® Gold certification.



25 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 26LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Relevant Experience

Martin Luther King, Jr. Memorial Library Modernization | $113.8M
Washington, DC
Project Manager:  Shawn managed early phases of the major 
modernization of the Martin Luther King Jr. Memorial Library (Central 
Library) that included a new auditorium with seating for over 200 people 
within the existing footprint. The early phases of the project involved 
coordination with multiple stakeholders, including Metro and DDOT, with a 
major focus on traffic control and pedestrian safety on the heavily traveled 
area at 9th and G Street NW. Construction services provided on the 400,000-
sf facility included abatement, demolition, new MEP, and life safety and 
conveying systems throughout the building.

Children’s National Hospital Research and Innovation Campus | $100M
Washington, DC
Project Manager:  The project is part of a 400,000 SF medical research 
and innovation hub that sits on 12 acres of the Historic Walter Reed site 
in NW DC. The facility supports precision medicine and genomic research 
and has a pediatric outpatient center and presentation hall. Shawn led 
the team tasked with the three-building renovation and parking garage 
included retrofitting the interiors of each facility; completely restoring the 
exteriors; adding underground telecommunications; providing storm, sewer, 
and water improvements; and enhancing the landscaping. Shawn ensured 
subcontractor engagement and execution and ensured that the economic 
inclusion goals were met and upheld the quality of work expected by the 
client.

Franklin Park | $18.5M
Washington, DC
Project Manager: Shawn managed transformation of Franklin Park into 
an active, flexible, sustainable and historic urban park and community 
gathering place. Renovations to the park included restoring and replacing 
the tree canopy, restoring the soil, significant regrading and relocation of 
paths, rain gardens for on-site surface stormwater management, restoration 
of the central flag-stone plaza with a redesigned interactive fountain, 
restoration and augmentation of historic light-fixtures, benches and fencing, 
creation of a new “children’s garden” informal play area, and a Cafe-Pavilion, 
deck and plaza, located at the southern edge of the site.

Shawn Miller, AIA, ABC, CSI
Construction Project Manager

EDUCATION
Bachelor of Science in Architecture, 
University of the District of Columbia
Project Managers’ and 

Superintendents’ Academy, ABC

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

Construction Industry: 28
Experience in Current Role:  11

Prior Roles: 17
(= Highlighted Project in the Past 
Performance Section)

% OF TIME DEVOTED TO PROJECT

Pre-construction: 25%
Construction: 100%

CURRENT WORKLOAD OVER THE 
NEXT YEAR

DC Infrastructure Academy: currently 
in GMP development with 4th QTR 
2023 construction start

DCRA Phase II: currently in 
preconstruction with 3rd QTR 2024 
construction start

MLK Library Restoration: ongoing 
tenant improvements

MILLER resume
page 2 of 2

506 Longfellow Arms Condominiums |  $50M
Washington, DC
Project Manager: Existing three story with basement, (30 units), 
apartment building. Complete interior gut and rehabilitation with 
cosmetic exterior work and the addition of a pedestrian bridge at 
entrance. Construction Management and CA services rendered.

National Law Enforcement Officers Memorial Fund Museum/Retail | 
$5M
Washington, DC
Project Manager:  Downtown DC, existing photo retail space on first 
floor of large office building. Completed an interior gut. Interior fit-out 
of new space to be used as a Museum/ retail store for the NLEOMF 
Headquarters located in same building. Architectural redesign required, 
Interior design services, electrical work needed. Permit services 
rendered. Obtained various trade bids, negotiated contracts of various 
subs and awarded the work. Monitored strict adherence to the 
design documents during all phases of construction. Formulated and 
monitored budgets, RFIs, Submittals, and project schedule. Called and 
ran meetings with various consultants, Owner, GC, A/E, owner provided 
subs, etc. Performed Project close-out. Generated and monitored punch 
list for closeout and turn over to client.



27 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 28LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Relevant Experience

Entertainment and Sports Arena | $70M                                                                 
Washington, DC

Superintendent: The 118,000-sf facility includes separate sections for 
practices, training, and other public uses. The practice facility boasts 
two full-size courts, locker rooms, team offices, conference rooms, 
specialty treatment spaces, and more training areas. The 4,200-seat 
arena has multiple configuration capabilities and consists of restaurant 
space and cutting-edge audio and lighting systems. Sitework included 
extensive Bioretention areas and stormwater storage facilities, plazas, and 
landscaping. The building achieved LEED® Gold status.                                                            

Joy Evans Therapeutic Recreation Center | $40.4M                                                            
Washington, DC

Superintendent: Scope of work includes HAZMAT abatement and 
demolition of an existing Ward 7 therapeutic recreation center to make way 
for a new building of approximately 37,000-sf. The new facility will include a 
therapy pool, spa, locker center, senior room, caregiver room, multipurpose 
room, kitchen,lobby, administrative spaces as well as associated 
playgrounds, splash pad, gardens, landscaping, walk paths and parking. This 
urban site required multiple site utilization plans and close coordination with 
the community to ensure success. 

Ward 3 Temporary Housing | $28.3M                                                                  
Washington, DC

Superintendent: The Ward 3 Family Housing project is a new 45,000-
sf facility for homeless families. The structure consists of a one-story 
conventional concrete podium, with five stories of composite wall panels 
and a façade. In addition to the 50 “dorm style” rooms, indoor and outdoor 
community spaces are provided. This LEED® gold project includes a 
green roof, bioretention rain garden, and features for enhanced indoor 
environmental quality. The building placement was a challenge as the 
property was on a tight urban site next to an existing police station and 
adjacent properties with site walls that could not be removed.plazas, and 
landscaping. The building achieved LEED® Gold status.

Navy Federal Credit Union*                                                                 
Vienna, VA

Wilson Secondary School*                                                                 
Arlington, VA

USAMRIID *                                                               
Fort Detrick

EDUCATION

OSHA 30 Certification

First Aid and CPR Training

USACE/NAVFAC CQM

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

Construction Industry: 30+
Experience in Current Role:  12

Prior Roles: 18
(= Highlighted Project in the Past 
Performance Section)

% OF TIME DEVOTED TO PROJECT

Pre-construction: 20%
Construction: 100%

CURRENT WORKLOAD OVER THE 
NEXT TWO YEARS

Paul Mueller is available immediately 

upon notice to proceed with 

construction.

Museum Support Center *                                                                
Fort Belvoir

US Capitol Visitors Center*                                                                
Washington, DC

Barracks Complex *                                                               
Fort Myers

Runway project *                                                          
Dulles Airport

*completed in previous association

DAVIS resume
page 2 of 2

EDUCATION

Bachelor of Science (BS)  
Construction Engineering  
East Tennessee State University

OSHA 10-hour

Emergency Care and Safety Institute 
First Aid

AHA Heartsaver CPR AED

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

Construction Industry: 20
Experience in Current Role:  1

Prior Roles: 14
(= Highlighted Project in the Past 
Performance Section)

% OF TIME DEVOTED TO PROJECT

Pre-construction: 10%
Construction: 100%

CURRENT WORKLOAD OVER THE 
NEXT YEAR

Scott Davis is available immediately 

upon notice to proceed with 

construction.

Scott Davis, CQM
Construction Field Superintendent



29 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 30LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

EDUCATION
Master of Architecture, University of 
Michigan, 1984

Bachelor of Science in Architecture, 
University of Michigan, 1984 

Bachelor of Arts, Dartmouth College, 
1980 

CERTIFICATIONS/TRAINING/
LICENSES
Registered Architect

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

Construction Industry: 40
Experience in Current Role: 20
Prior Roles: 20

% OF TIME DEVOTED TO PROJECT

Pre-construction: 25%
Construction: 15%

CURRENT WORKLOAD OVER THE 
NEXT YEAR
Available for the Project

Relevant Experience

Jeffrey Luker, AIA, LEED AP
Principal in Charge

University of the District of Columbia - Academic Commons & Center for 
Advanced Learning | $10.4M
Washington, DC
Principal in Charge: Renovation of the renewal of the Learning Resource 
Division LRD library. The project is located between the University Student 
Center and Denard Plaza, and develops a newly envisioned Center for 
Advanced Learning. The project provides a mix of quiet study, group 
meeting rooms, computer resources and faculty spaces. The Center 
for Advanced Learning wing features a technology gym, exhibit, digital 
production studios, information technology areas, classrooms, and faculty 
offices.

University of the District of Columbia - CAS and CAUSE Building | 
Preliminary Design
Washington, DC
Principal in Charge: Adaptation of the 4250 Connecticut Avenue Building 
to serve UDC’s College of Arts, (CAS) and College of Agriculture, Urban 
Sustainability and Environmental Sciences (CAUSE) programs.

Gallaudet University - Living and Learning Residence Hall | $16.7M
Washington, DC
Principal in Charge: Design-build development of a new 60,000-SF 
residence hall to accommodate 175 students. The new facility integrates 
collaborative learning into campus living by promoting interaction among 
students, faculty, and staff. In addition to integrating the University’s new 
Deaf Space Guidelines, the design demonstrates sustainable features such 
as geothermal wells for heating and cooling. LEED®-Silver certified.

Gallaudet University - Ballard and Fay Houses | $3.1M
Washington, DC
Principal in Charge and Project Manager: Renovation of the Ballard House, 
Fay House and Dawes House for Gallaudet University. The renovation 
repurposed the houses from administrative offices to Living and Learning 
College Houses. Dawes House was renovated to accommodate academic 
and research office uses. All three Houses are designated on the National 
Register of Historic Places.

Trinity Washington University - Alumnae Hall | $35M
Washington, DC
Principal in Charge: Concept Plan for a comprehensive modernization 
of the 67,000-sf Alumnae Hall, a historically significant building designed 
by Maginnis & Walsh and constructed by Cassidy and Associates in 
1927. The building includes dining hall, dorm rooms, kitchen and athletic 
facilities.

Marie Reed Community Learning Center | $68.6M
Washington, DC
Principal in Charge: Comprehensive modernization of a 140,000-sf 
combined elementary school, recreation center, and community health 
center. The responsive design integrates the multi-block building into the 
surrounding urban fabric while establishing an enhanced sense of place 
and community identity. The elementary school accommodates 440 
students, and its spaces also support public use outside of school hours. 
The project site provides dynamic, vibrant and active civic spaces for 
active play, nature discovery, and outdoor learning. LEED®-Gold certified.

District of Columbia Public Schools |  Multiple projects | $12M-$25M each
Washington, DC
Principal in Charge: Led the design of many projects for DCPS, including: 
Van Ness Elementary School and Joy Evans Park, Ludlow-Taylor 
Elementary School, HD Cooke Elementary School, Alice Deal Middle 
School, Amidon-Bowen Elementary School, McKinley Middle School, 
Patterson Elementary School, and Kramer Middle School.

New Community Center and Park at the McMillan Site | Confidential cost
Washington, DC
Principal in Charge: A new public park and community center that will 
anchor a new mixed-use development on the site of a 19th-century water 
treatment site. QE provided initial preservation planning services to guide 
the adaptation of the site for modern uses, and subsequently designed 
an 8-acre park and 17,500-sf community center that will provide residents 
with educational and recreational opportunities.

Ongoing Projects

University of the District of Columbia
Multiple projects in construction (12/2023 est. completion - 25% involvement)
Principal in Charge  

DC Department of General Services / DC Public Schools - Thomas 
Elementary School
Washington, DC (Ongoing, 2026)
Principal in Charge

LUKER resume
page 2 of 2



31 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 32LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

EDUCATION
Master of Architecture, University of
Oregon, 2010

Master of Landscape Architecture,
University of Oregon, 2010

Bachelor or Science Architecture, 
University of Virginia, 2000

CERTIFICATIONS/TRAINING/
LICENSES
Registered Architect
Professional Landscape Architect 
National Council of Architectural
Registration Boards - Certified
LEED Accredited Professional, 
Building Design + Construction
Council of Landscape Architectural
Registration Boards - Certified

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

Construction Industry: 16
Experience in Current Role: 1
Prior Roles: 15

% OF TIME DEVOTED TO PROJECT

Pre-construction: 75%
Construction: 30%

CURRENT WORKLOAD OVER THE 
NEXT YEAR
Available for the Project

Relevant Experience

Peter Baker, AIA, RLA, NCARB, CLARB, ASLA, 
LEED BD+C
Project Architect

Frostburg State University – Education and Health Science Center | $66.5M
Frostburg, MD
Project Architect: The Education and Health Science Center at Frostburg 
State University is an excellent example of inclusive design that activates 
the buildings perimeter/edge to engage the surrounding community by 
creating a variety of places to gather that also provide glimpses into the 
interior program of the building. The goal being to sew/stitch the building 
within its context instead of treating it as an isolated object.

Salisbury University – Academic Commons | $108M
Salisbury, MD
Project Architect: While the atrium space of the Academic Commons at 
Salisbury University is an indoor space, it represents a design-build project 
that strove to create a highly collaborative centralize core/hub that links the 
various aspects of learning (initial inquiry, group study, individual exploration, 
advanced research) together through connectivity. The adjoining spaces 
are visually linked to one another and the same goals would be applied to 
the UDC LR project to ensure that the courtyard place is a vibrant place to 
gather and share of knowledge.

Providence Innovation Center | $53M
Providence, RI
Project Architect: The District Hall at the Providence Innovation District 
building is a unique community outreach facility that is dedicated to drawing 
in the wider community to encourage collaboration and the sharing of 
resources/knowledge with the building occupants. It is designed to provide 
a human scale point of integration with the urban context and provide an 
appropriate street scape face for the larger building.

US Botanic Gardens Production Facility Renewal | $210M
Washington, DC
Project Architect: The US Botanic Garden Production Facility Renewal 
project is a multi-phase project that recognizes the importance and need to 
factor in continued use of a facility while adapting to future conditions. The 
life/growth of the project, like a community college, is not a static event that 
can be isolated but rather it is a dynamic transformation that recognizes 
and reflects the ever evolving nature of the client.

BAKER resume
page 2 of 2 Smithsonian National Zoological Park – Perimeter improvements | 

Cost undisclosed
Washington, DC
Project Manager: Worked with Smithsonian stakeholders to visualize 
various ways to enhance the visitor experience when entering the zoo 
while also maintaining perimeter security.  Navigated the local DC 
agency review process for the Commission of Fine Arts (CFA), National 
Capital Planning Commission (NCPC) and State Historic Preservation 
Office (DC SHPO).

Sagamore Distillery | Cost undisclosed
Baltimore, MD
Project Architect: Work on the development and detailing of the entry 
volumes for a collection of 3 buildings that framed a courtyard in order 
to activate both the interior and exterior spaces.  These volumes helped 
the buildings engage with its context and provide appropriately scaled 
points of entry.

George Washington University Law Clinic | Cost undisclosed
Washington, DC
Project Architect: The Law Clinic was an adaptive reuse of three 
townhouses into a law school outreach facility with offices and a 
moot court to support the universities outreach and hands on learning 
program for law students.  It made use of current building infrastructure 
while creatively reprograming the interior so the facility worked as a 
collective and collaborative series of spaces within the envelope that 
maintained its historic looked of 3 discreet townhouse from the exterior.

Ongoing Projects

Suffolk Central Library
Suffolk, VA (Ongoing, 2023)
Project Architect 

US Botanic Gardens Production Facility
Washington, DC (Ongoing, 2030)
Project Architect



33 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 34LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Relevant Experience
Coppin State University - College of Business/School of Graduate Studies  | 
$32.5M
Baltimore, MD
Principal in Charge: Renovation and expansion of the four-story 62,000 SF 
former Percy Julian Science Building to provide cutting-edge spaces for the 
University’s College of Business  and Graduate Studies Program. A dynamic 
12,000 SF one-story addition is added to the top level of the existing building 
to create new technologically advanced classroom space and reimagine the 
building as an exciting new gateway to the university.

Eastern Michigan University - College of Business  | $15M
Ypsilanti, MI
Education Specialist/Design Principal: Programming, planning, and design 
of a 21st-century learning environment for the College of Business that 
encourages collaboration and connections on campus while maintaining the 
unique identity of the College. The College of Business is moving its faculty 
offices, classrooms, labs, student organization and support facilities to central 
campus from a former location in downtown Ypsilanti. Currently in design, the 
program includes 54,330 of assignable SF / 98,782 GSF, to be consolidated in a 
renovated and expanded Boone Hall, and relocating general academic spaces 
to other facilities on campus

University of Delaware - Mechanical Hall | $3M
Newark, DE
Project Manager/Architect: Renovation of a historic armory to house the Paul 
R. Jones Collection, one of the largest and most complete holdings of African 
American art in the nation. The project includes galleries, a study, conservation 
lab, art receiving/storage and graduate faculty offices. The collection is the 
centerpiece for interdisciplinary study between the University’s art, art history, 
and museum programs, and its American culture and social science programs. 
Work at previous firm.
 
St. John’s College - Mellon Hall | $11M
Annapolis, MD
Project Manager/Architect: Renovation and additions to Mellon Hall and 
the Francis Scott Key Auditorium complex on St. John’s College Campus 
in Annapolis. The historic building serves as the main classroom facility on 
campus, and includes science laboratories, 2D and 3D visual arts studios, 
a large ceramics studio, photography darkroom, faculty offices, a 600-seat 
auditorium, and a new cafe addition run by St. John’s College students. The 
project was completed in multiple phases. Work at previous firm.

EDUCATION
Bachelor of Architecture, University of
Cincinnati, 1993 

CERTIFICATIONS/TRAINING/
LICENSES
Registered Architect
National Architectural Accrediting 
Board - Certified

(= Highlighted Project in the Past 
Performance Section)

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

Construction Industry: 40
Experience in Current Role: 20
Prior Roles: 20

% OF TIME DEVOTED TO PROJECT

Pre-construction: 25%
Construction: 0%

CURRENT WORKLOAD OVER THE 
NEXT YEAR
Available for the Project

Ongoing Projects

Coppin State University - College of Business/School of Graduate Studies
Baltimore, MD  (Ongoing, 2023)
Principal in Charge

William Schmidt Outdoor Environmental Education Center
Brandywine, MD  (Ongoing, 2023)
Principal in Charge

Eastern Michigan University - College of Business
Ypsilanti, MI  (Ongoing, 2024)
Education Specialist/Design Principal

CELLUCCI resume
page 2 of 2

Joseph Cellucci, AIA
Educational Designer



35 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 36LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

EDUCATION
Master of Fine Arts in Design, Interior
Environments, Virginia  Commonwealth 
University, 2010

Bachelor of Arts in Studio Art, 
University of Mary Washington, 2008

CERTIFICATIONS/TRAINING/
LICENSES
Certified Interior Designer

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

Construction Industry: 14
Experience in Current Role: 13
Prior Roles: 1

% OF TIME DEVOTED TO PROJECT

Pre-construction: 25%
Construction: 0%

CURRENT WORKLOAD OVER THE 
NEXT YEAR
Available for the Project

Relevant Experience

Eastern Michigan University - College of Business  | $15M
Ypsilanti, MI
Interior Designer: Programming, planning, and design of a 21st-century 
learning environment for the College of Business that encourages 
collaboration and connections on campus while maintaining the unique 
identity of the College. The College of Business is moving its faculty 
offices, classrooms, labs, student organization and support facilities to 
central campus from a former location in downtown Ypsilanti. Currently 
in design, the program includes 54,330 of assignable SF / 98,782 GSF, to 
be consolidated in a renovated and expanded Boone Hall, and relocating 
general academic spaces to other facilities on campus

Career and Technical Center at Hull | $24.6M
Chesterfield, VA
Interior Designer: A multi-functional facility that combines career and 
technical education, school administration and an event center, all within the 
walls of an abandoned high school building. The design provides the County 
an opportunity to re-use existing space while building new programs for 
students and administrators in an innovative atmosphere.

Virginia Commonwealth University - College of Humanities and Sciences 
STEM Building | $125M
Richmond, VA
Interior Designer: A new state-of-the-art undergraduate teaching lab 
building on VCU’s Monroe Park Richmond campus for the College of 
Humanities and Sciences. The 164,000-SF building’s form and massing 
complement the historic Franklin Street context and mediate the scale 
between the larger and smaller structures on the street. Transparent 
features of the interior will create a dynamic open environment for 
collaboration to foster team-based learning, a spirit of scientific curiosity, 
and connections between departments and disciplines.

University of Richmond - Humanities Building | $15.9M
Richmond, VA
Interior Designer: Renovation of one of the most architecturally significant 
and historic buildings on campus. The renovation upgraded the systems 
and interior environment for the entire building, and repaired and improved 
the building envelope for energy efficiency. As part of the renovation, 
accessibility throughout the building was improved in all aspects, which 
included a new elevator and common space addition.

Erin Carver, CID, IIDA
Interior Designer

University of Richmond - Gottwald Center for Sciences Alterations | 
$1M
Richmond, VA
Project Manager/Senior Interior Designer: A laboratory renovation to 
support the university’s Integrative & Inclusive Science program, which 
introduces freshmen to STEM disciplines and careers. The renovation 
created a combination wet lab and classroom that can accommodate 
lectures, computation, and experiments in biology, chemistry, and 
physics, and either collaborative or group work.

Virginia Commonwealth University - Da Vinci Center Renovations | 
$400K
Richmond, VA
Interior Designer: A transformation of a historic row house into 
an innovation hub. A collaboration between the Schools of Arts, 
Engineering, and Business, the da Vinci Center features a dynamic and 
open environment for research and design at the intersection of the 
three disciplines. The new spaces create a collaborative environment 
with transparent, flexible work areas, setting the tone for the creative 
work of the Center.

Federal Reserve Board Headquarters | Confidential cost
Washington, DC
Interior Designer: restoration, renovation, and expansion of two of the 
Federal Reserve Headquarters’ three buildings: the Marriner Eccles 
Building, the Board’s historic home; and 1951 Constitution Avenue, a 
new acquisition across 20th Street from Eccles. The design for the 
modernization respects and maintains the buildings’ historic character 
while almost doubling their size (from 390,000 sf to 770,000 sf) via 
infill additions. Modern building, information technology, and security 
systems will be seamlessly integrated into the historic fabric. The 
project is targeting LEED®-Gold certification.

Ongoing Projects

Eastern Michigan University - College of Business
Ypsilanti, MI (Ongoing, 2024)
Interior Designer

Spotsylvania Middle School
Spotsylvania Courthouse, VA (Ongoing, 2023)
Interior Designer

Huntington Middle School
Newport News, VA (Ongoing, 2024)
Interior Designer

CARVER  resume
page 2 of 2



37 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 38LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Relevant Experience

University of the District of Columbia - Relocation of the Learning Research 
Division/Library | $7M
Washington, DC
Senior Mechanical Engineer: A 27,000 SF renovation to relocate the Learning 
Research Division/Library from Building 41 to Building 38/39. As part of the 
renovation all the MEP systems will be replaced with energy efficient systems 
that are integrated into the BACnet based energy management system.

University of the District of Columbia - Upgrades to the Van Ness Campus 
Athletic Facilities  | $3M
Washington, DC
Senior Mechanical Engineer: Conversion of grass fields to synthetic fields, new 
site lighting, new seating restrooms and new restroom/concessions pavilion.
 
University of the District of Columbia - 4250 Connecticut Ave - Programming 
& Spatial Layout | Unbuilt
Washington, DC
Senior Mechanical Engineer: A survey of the existing conditions, then prepare 
a POR/ narrative describing the changes to the MEP systems to accommodate 
the architect’s proposed fit out for College of Arts and Sciences (CAS) and 
College of Agriculture, Urban Sustainability and Environmental Sciences 
(CAUSES).

Howard University - Building 6 & 7, Walter Reed Campus | $75M
Washington, DC
Senior Mechanical Engineer: A study and schematic design of two buildings at 
the old Walter Reed campus for Howard University to convert one building into 
an Ambulatory Care Center and the other historic building into an Academic 
facility.

Ongoing Projects

Garfield Elementary School
Washington, DC (Ongoing, 2024)
Senior Electrical Engineer

Adams Education Campus
Washington, DC (Ongoing, 2025)
Senior Electrical Engineer

Michael Soong, PE
Senior Electrical Engineer

EDUCATION
Bachelor of Science, Electrical 
Engineering

CERTIFICATIONS/TRAINING/
LICENSES
Professional Engineer in DC, Maryland, 
and Virginia

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

Construction Industry: 31
Experience in Current Role: 3
Prior Roles: 28

% OF TIME DEVOTED TO PROJECT

Pre-construction: 30%
Construction: 20%

CURRENT WORKLOAD OVER THE 
NEXT YEAR
Available for the Project

Wilson Building
Washington, DC (Ongoing, 2024)
Senior Electrical Engineer

Tompkins Hall - George 
Washington University
Washington, DC (Ongoing, 2024)
Senior Electrical Engineer

Relevant Experience

University of the District of Columbia - Relocation of the Learning Research 
Division/Library | $7M
Washington, DC
Senior Mechanical Engineer: A 27,000 SF renovation to relocate the Learning 
Research Division/Library from Building 41 to Building 38/39. As part of the 
renovation all the MEP systems will be replaced with energy efficient systems 
that are integrated into the BACnet based energy management system.

University of the District of Columbia - Upgrades to the Van Ness Campus 
Athletic Facilities  | $3M
Washington, DC
Senior Mechanical Engineer: Conversion of grass fields to synthetic fields, new 
site lighting, new seating restrooms and new restroom/concessions pavilion.
 
University of the District of Columbia - 4250 Connecticut Ave - Programming 
& Spatial Layout | Unbuilt
Washington, DC
Senior Mechanical Engineer: A survey of the existing conditions, then prepare 
a POR/ narrative describing the changes to the MEP systems to accommodate 
the architect’s proposed fit out for College of Arts and Sciences (CAS) and 
College of Agriculture, Urban Sustainability and Environmental Sciences 
(CAUSES).

Howard University - Building 6 & 7, Walter Reed Campus | $75M
Washington, DC
Senior Mechanical Engineer: A study and schematic design of two buildings at 
the old Walter Reed campus for Howard University to convert one building into 
an Ambulatory Care Center and the other historic building into an Academic 
facility.

Georgetown University - Law Campus HVAC Study | $25M
Washington, DC
Senior Mechanical Engineer: Responsible for developing three HVAC system 
alternatives and energy models to replace the aging mechanical central plants 
on the campus. 

Ongoing Projects

Garfield Elementary School
Washington, DC (Ongoing, 2024)
Senior Mechanical Engineer

Adams Education Campus
Washington, DC (Ongoing, 2025)
Senior Mechanical Engineer

Chad Sullivan, PE, LEED AP
Senior Mechanical Engineer

EDUCATION
Bachelor of Science, Mechanical 
Engineering

CERTIFICATIONS/TRAINING/
LICENSES
Professional Engineer in DC

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

Construction Industry: 21
Experience in Current Role: 3
Prior Roles: 18

% OF TIME DEVOTED TO PROJECT

Pre-construction: 30%
Construction: 20%

CURRENT WORKLOAD OVER THE 
NEXT YEAR
Available for the Project

Wilson Building
Washington, DC (Ongoing, 2024)
Senior Mechanical Engineer

Tompkins Hall - George Washington 
University
Washington, DC (Ongoing, 2024)
Senior Mechanical Engineer



39 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 40LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Overall Years of Experience
27

Education
MBA; BS, Civil Engineering

Omar provides executive oversight of Smoot’s regional office serving Washington, D.C., 
Maryland and Virginia. The team is comprised of more than 35 construction management 
professionals managing a variety of municipal, public works and private development 
projects. He leads the team by managing the overall operations and resources; developing 
and implementing key strategies for profitability, performance, and growth; ensuring staff has 
resources and direction required to fulfill contractual obligations; and acting as the primary 
senior level contact for various clients

Relevant Project Experience:
� Bowie State University, Learning Residence Hall and Entrepreneurship Center  

� Mazza Gallerie, Tishman Speyer

� Harvard University Treehouse Conference Center

� American University, Nebraska Hall

Omar Mcintosh
Executive Vice President | SmootDC

Overall Years of Experience
20+

Education
MBA; Master of Engineering-
Civil/Structural Engineering, 
Bachelor of Engineering-Civil 
Engineering

Apryl Webb brings 20 years of estimating experience working as a design manager and Vice 
President of Preconstruction on major design-build and CM at risk K-12 Schools projects 
for the District of Columbia. She will work closely with the Department to manage the 
design submission process of our design-build team for delivery of Tubman designs within 
your budget. She has vast experience managing the design phase and delivering accurate 
estimates for GMP contracts. 

Relevant Project Experience:
� Horace Mann Elementary School
� Brookland Middle School
� Lafayette Elementary School
� Boone Elementary School 

Apryl Webb, AVS, LEED® AP
VP, Preconstruction/Design Manager/ Structural and Envelope Estimator | SmootDC

TEAM SUPPORT

Overall Years of Experience
20+

Education
Master of City and Regional 
Planning;
Bachelor of Architecture

Jacquelyn (Jackie) Washington has over 20 years of experience in high-volume commercial 
and government preconstruction and cost estimating, specializing in interior construction, 
exterior closure, roofing and specialties. Her areas of expertise include design management, 
procurement, project controls, contract development, constructibility review, document 
control, and cost and schedule management. As Sr. Preconstruction Services Manager, 
Jackie will coordinate a team of in-house mechanical, civil, and electrical estimators to 
prepare detailed estimates. 

Relevant Project Experience:
� Bowie State University, Learning Residence Hall and Entrepreneurship Center 
� Roosevelt High School Modernization
� Dunbar Senior High School  
� Martin Luther King, Jr. Library Restoration 
� Entertainment and Sports Arena

Jackie Washington, LEED AP BD+CP
MEP and Civil Estimator | SmootDC

Overall Years of Experience
5

Education
BS; Business Administration

Brendan McHugh has experience in high-volume commercial and government 
preconstruction and cost estimating. His areas of estimating expertise are for the interior 
build-out of spaces, including classrooms, offices, kitchens, science laboratories, toilet rooms, 
auditorium and gymnasium spaces, and other common areas. He supports constructability 
reviews, GMP Development, and procurement. 

Relevant Project Experience:
� Bowie State University, Entrepreneurship Living Learning Center 
� Mazza Gallerie, Tishman Speyer
� Harvard University Treehouse Conference Center
� American University, Nebraska Hall

Brendan McHugh
Interiors Estimator | SmootDC

Overall Years of Experience
6

Education
ME, Civil Engineering;  
BA, Physics

Kahlil is a skilled project engineer currently driving the engineering services at the new 
PEPCO Mt. Vernon substation in Northeast Washington, DC. The scope of work includes 
the installation of 230kV GIS; three-story concrete and structural steel structure with an 
insulated precast panel facade and integrated bricks to blend with the neighborhood. The 
panels weighed approximately 60,000 pounds. The new 230kV/13kV indoor substation, with 
an ultimate capacity of 210MVA, supports load growth, has improved reliability, and is an 
interconnection site for PEPCO’s Capital Grid Program.

Relevant Project Experience:
� The New Mt. Vernon PEPCO Substation, Washington, DC 
� Franklin Park Renovation, Washington, DC 

� BNA Terminal Garage and Administration Building, Nashville TN 

Kahlil Andrews 
Project Engineer | SmootDC

Overall Years of Experience
15

Education
Bachelor of Science, Electrical 
Engineering, Northern Illinois 
University

Dave has over 15 years of experience in the design and implementation of electrical and 
technology systems. His dedication to technical mastery provides clients with a trusted advisor 
to navigate the constantly changing world of technology. Dave oversees a highly qualified 
team of engineers and practitioners providing coordinated designs for Audiovisual, Security, 
Telecommunications Cabling and Wireless systems. 

Relevant Project Experience:
� Annenberg Hall Maker Space, Northwestern University 

� Building 6 & 7, Walter Reed Campus, Howard University

� Galter Library, Northwestern University

� School of Music Auditorium, DePaul University

Dave Seiling, PE, RCDD, PSP, CTS, PMP
Lead AV/IT/Security Consultant | Salas O’Brien 



41 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 42LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Overall Years of Experience
15

Education
BS; Civil Engineering

Ms. Ponce de Leon has over 15 years of experience in civil engineering working on historic, 
cultural, adaptive reuse, residential, commercial, and mixed-use projects. As Managing 
Partner of GordonDC, Jessie is responsible for all consulting, engineering, and permitting 
operations within the District of Columbia. She is a member of ULI Washington and is 
currently co-chair of the WLI Steering Committee. Jessie is also an active alumna of Virginia 
Tech (VT); a member of the Civil Engineering Alumni and Land Development Executive 
Boards, and recently awarded the VT Outstanding Young Alumni achievement. In 2022, 
Jessie was recognized as one of Washington DC’s “40 Under 40” by the Washington Business 
Journal. 

Relevant Project Experience:
� Southeast Neighborhood Library, DC Public Library, 
� Thomas Elementary School Modernization, DC Public Schools
� Carnegie Library
� Federal Reserve Headquarters
� US Botanic Gardens Production Facility

Jessie Ponce de Leon, PE
Lead Civil Engineer | GordonDC

Overall Years of Experience
19

Education
Master of Architectural 
Engineering

As a Principal with SK&A, Josh is responsible for project oversight and mentoring of 
design teams for a wide range of projects, including new structures, as well as adaptive 
reuse, renovation, and expansion of existing structures.  He is actively engaged in projects, 
providing technical and managerial guidance of project teams, overseeing structural concept 
development, and inspiring teams to deliver efficient, creative solutions. 

Relevant Project Experience:
� DC Office of Public Records and Archives at the University of the District of Columbia, 
� Howard University STEM Center 
� Howard University Wonder Plaza Mixed-Use
� Virginia Tech Innovation Campus, North Potomac Yards Block 10
� Thomas Elementary School Modernization

David Pirnia, PE
Structural Project Manager | SK&A

Overall Years of Experience
15

Education
ME; Structural Engineering

An Associate with SK&A, David Pirnia, PE, is the structural design team lead and serves as 
our day-to-day point of contact on key projects.  Drawing on his years of experience, David 
guides and overseas the structural team, including implementation and refinement of the 
structural analysis and design efforts, document development, coordination, and construction 
administration services on their projects. 

Relevant Project Experience:
� Howard University STEM Center 
� Stateview Hotel and Conference Center at North Carolina Sate University,
� The George Washington University Duquès Hall Renovation
� Jefferson Middle School Modernization
� Thomas Elementary School Modernization, DC Public Schools

Josh Woolcock, PE, LEED AP
Structural Principal in Charge | SK&A

Overall Years of Experience
28

Education
Master Compliance 
Administrator (MCA)

Chrystal has more than two decades of experience in the construction and development 
industry, concentrating on community involvement programs such as contractor diversity 
and local workforce participation. Chrystal has the overall responsibility for the administration 
of project-specific diversity and inclusion plans with a focus on apprenticeships and 
construction career development, community engagement plans, and contracting 
opportunities for diverse businesses. She has a strong record of accomplishments with 
achieving and/or exceeding participation goals on complex, large scale and fast-track 
construction and development projects.

Relevant Project Experience:

� Bowie State University, Learning Residence Hall and Entrepreneurship Center 
� Roosevelt High School Modernization 
� Dunbar Senior High School  
� American University, Nebraska Hall

Chrystal Stowe, ASID, NCIDQ
Vice President, CBE/Outreach Consulting | SmootDC

Overall Years of Experience
13

Education
Bachelor of English

Safety is a critical issue on any construction project, but it is even more critical on schools 
where students will remain on site during construction. Adam will ensure the safety of all 
students, workers, visitors and staff throughout the construction project. As an Occupational 
Health and Safety professional, his duties include building and maintaining a safety 
database which tracks incidents, injuries, and hazards, auditing jobsite safety, ensuring 
the implementation of corrective action, and conducting inspections to oversee safety 
compliance.

Relevant Project Experience:

� Bowie State University, Learning Residence Hall and Entrepreneurship Center 
� Roosevelt High School Modernization; Safety Manager 
� Dunbar Senior High School; Safety Manager 
� Martin Luther King, Jr. Library Restoration;   Safety Manager

Adam McConnell
Safety Manager | SmootDC

Overall Years of Experience
39

Education
Bachelor of Science, Electrical 
Engineering

Mr. Ayazi is a seasoned project manager with over 38 years of experience. Abdullah works 
collaboratively with his clients and project teams to develop solutions that encourage quality 
project delivery.  He fosters growth, communication and teamwork on all of his projects, with 
an eye toward client satisfaction. Abdullah is well known for delivering projects that meet or 
exceed clients’ goals for cost and schedule. 

Relevant Project Experience:
� Roosevelt High School Modernization 
� University of the District of Columbia - Relocation of the 801 North Capital Street 

Community College 
� 4250 Connecticut Ave - Programming & Spatial Layout, University of the District of 

Columbia
� Building 6 & 7, Walter Reed Campus, Howard University
� Law Campus HVAC Study, Georgetown University

Abdullah Ayazi, LEED AP
Sr. Vice President | Global Engineering Solutions



VOLUME 1

TECHNICAL PROPOSAL 

Design-Build Team Relevant 
Experience and Capabilities

TAB 4



44LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn Evans

43 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

01. Design-Build Team Relevant Experience and Capabilities 

SmootDC has more than 30 years of new 
construction and renovation experience on college 
campuses in the DC metro region. From our 
first project at Howard University in 1991, Smoot 
Construction has successfully delivered a wide 
range of projects for colleges and universities 
throughout DC and Maryland. 

These campus projects include Residence Halls 
for American University, Catholic University and 
Georgetown University; Living and Learning 
Centers for Bowie State University; Academic and 
Research Buildings for Johns Hopkins University 
and Howard University, and Sporting Venues for 
the University of Maryland at College Park.

We are constructors and design-builders of new 
construction, building additions, renovations, 
tenant improvements, and site upgrades.  We 
understand what is required to implement 
successful design-build projects in the District of 
Columbia and beyond.  

PARTNERSHIP

COST CERTAINTY
O

n-
tim

e 
de

liv
er

y

Sustainability

Connectivity

Community engagement

Th
ou

gh
t-l

ea
de

rs
hi

p

M
od

er
ni

za
tio

n

Celebrate historic character

De
si

gn
-b

ui
ld

In
no

va
tio

n

Historic renovation

Celebrate historic character

Collaboration

Optimization

Pl
ac

e-
m

ak
in

g

WELLNESS

RIGHT-SIZING

FLEXIBILITY

MARKET ENGAGEMENT

AD
A 

AC
CE

SS

PROJECT EXPERIENCE

3 
KE

Y 
PR

O
JE

CT
S

Martin Luther King Jr. Library

Sm
oo

tD
C

 ■ Contract Value: $168M
 ■ Size: 420,000 SF renovation, 23,000 SF new

Bowie State Entrepreneurship Living Learning Community

Sm
oo

tD
C 

 ■ Contract Value: $44M
 ■ Size: 170,000 SF

Coppin State University

Q
ui

nn
 E

va
ns  ■ Contract Value: 

■ Pedestrian Bridge - $2.3M
■ Quad and Cafe - $2.2M 
■ College of Business - $32.5M 

 ■ Size: 
■ Pedestrian Bridge - 12,000 SF 
■ Quad and Cafe - 1.3 Acres; 3,000 SF
■ College of Business - 64,400 SF

A
DD

IT
IO

N
A

L 
EX

PE
RI

EN
CE

Open Works

Q
ui

nn
 E

va
ns  ■ Contract Value: $6.3M

 ■ Size: 34,800 SF

Dunbar Senior High School

Sm
oo

tD
C

 ■ Contract Value: $113.8M
 ■ Size: 280,000 SF

Science Complex at Montgomery College

Q
ui

nn
 E

va
ns  ■ Contract Value: $92M

 ■ Size: 270,000 SF

Church Hill North at J. Sargent Reynolds  Community College
Q

ui
nn

 E
va

ns  ■ Contract Value: Cost info withheld by owner
 ■ Size: 50,000 SF

This partnership with Quinn Evans brings unique 
skills, capacity and depth to our design/build team. 
Lifelong learning and rehabilitation architecture 
has been central to the QE practice since their 
founding in 1984. They are renowned for design 
excellence, and have received over 40 design 
excellence awards for educational projects during 
the past 39 years. 

As partners on the Smithsonian Air & Space 
Museum renovations and the DGS Thomas 
Elementary School modernization, the SmootDC 
+ Quinn Evans Design-Build Team are bringing 
experience working together, and a strong resume 
of projects.

Over the years, we have built up a solid portfolio of 
higher education work, learning from our university 
partners how to build spaces in which students 
can unlock their full learning potential. On the 
following pages, we have profiled a few projects 
similar in size, cost or complexity to the Lamond 
Riggs Community College Modernization project, 
including the recently completed Entrepreneurship 
Living Learning Community at Bowie State 
University. Let’s take a closer look.



46LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn Evans

45 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

Three Key Projects
R E L E V A N T  E X P E R I E N C E  A N D  C A P A B I L I T I E S



47 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 48LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Project Description

Martin Luther King Jr. Library Modernization
 Washington, DC
SIZE
420,000 SF renovation, 
23,000 SF new

DELIVERY METHOD
Construction Management at 
Risk

CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE
10/2016 - 05/2020

ENGAGEMENT / POINT 
DURING DESIGN
10/2015;  Design Development

COMPLETION OF DESIGN 
DOCUMENTS BASED ON 
INITIAL CONTRACT VALUE
50% Design Development 
Documents

INITIAL SUBSTANTIAL 
COMPLETION
Date: 06/20191

Contract Value: $165M
Contract Type: GMP

ACTUAL SUBSTANTIAL 
COMPLETION
Date: 05/2020
Contract Value: $168M2

LEED® CERTIFIED

SmootDC led this major renovation project to modernize the existing four-story, 
420,000-GSF library and add a one-story rooftop penthouse event space/public 
garden. The Library was redesigned as a community hub with resources for all 
City services/programs and the administrative and executive offices for the Library 
System. The first floor gives access to the Great Hall and informal performance 
space, the digital commons, café, and patio. The 23,000-sf fab lab (i.e. “maker 
space”), creative lab, and rehearsal spaces are located below on Level A.

The second floor features the Children’s and Teens spaces which includes a slide 
down to the first floor landing. The third floor has a grand reading room along with 
the conference center, and the fourth floor is where the auditorium and special 
collections are located. The new rooftop also serves a large event space with a 
garden roof deck that overlooks the City.

Aspects of the project required sensitive handling of neighborhood interests, delicate 
preservation of original building fabric, and balance of programmatic needs of the 
end user.

1The delayed start was due to historic preservation board approval of design for roof addition.
2Owner requested enhancements, transfer of owner allowances to contractor, and unforeseen
structural restoration that was uncovered during construction contributed to the $7M cost
increase.

01 New outdoor hardscape and 
landscape

02 The central plant was a critical The central plant was a critical 
item for coordination including item for coordination including 
new equipment and tie-in to new equipment and tie-in to 
existing utilities.  existing utilities.  

03 Intensive green rooftop and 
outdoor seating/entertainment 
area

01

03

02

SIMILARITIES TO LAMOND RIGGS:

 � Major renovation of Existing 
Facility

 � Phased Occupancy
 � Restricted Site
 � Limited Space for Staging
 � Requirements for 

Maintaining Pedestrian/ 
Vehicular Traffic flow

 � Government Agency District 
of Columbia

 � Exceeded Local 
Subcontracting Goals

 � LEED Certified
 � Occupied Facility
 � Over $25M
 � Larger than 40,000SF



49 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 50LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Project Description

Bowie State Entrepreneurship Living Learning 
Community 
 Washington, DC
SIZE
170,000 SF

DELIVERY METHOD
Design-Build

CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE
02/2020 - 09/2021 

ENGAGEMENT / POINT 
DURING DESIGN
Concept Design, 02/2020

COMPLETION OF DESIGN 
DOCUMENTS BASED ON 
INITIAL CONTRACT VALUE
50% Design Development

INITIAL SUBSTANTIAL 
COMPLETION
Date:08/2021
Contract Value: $43.9M
Contract Type: GMP

ACTUAL SUBSTANTIAL 
COMPLETION
Date: Aug 2021
Contract Value:  $47.6M

LEED® GOLD CERTIFIED

The 170,000 SF facility includes 557 beds with amenities including lounges, flexible 
classroom space, a fitness center, laundry facilities, community kitchens and parking. A 
portion of the lower level is allocated for retail space and a convenience store. A key feature 
of the project is the 6,000 SF entrepreneurship learning center that will help students develop 
their own business opportunities and become innovative thinkers and problem-solvers for 
established companies. 

The entrepreneurship center is designed as a two-story, light-filled, dynamic room with 
large central maker space as well as offices and classrooms. The project houses the Bowie 
Business Innovation Center (BIC), the first business accelerator located at a Maryland 
historically black university. Offices, multipurpose rooms, a maker space and conference 
rooms are included in the design to support both programs. 

As part of the public-private partnership (P3) project, the P3 team delivered an on-campus 
housing community featuring an entrepreneurship center designed to accommodate 
business organizations run by the university.

With regard to the planning and design of the community and entrepreneur center, the P3 
team collaborated with BSU and Maryland Economic Development Corporation (MEDCO).

Construction of the 170,000ft² development started February 2020, and was completed 
September 2021. 

01 -A common gathering space for 
residents with a TV/ gaming area, 
large community kitchen and 
fitness room .

-Single and double residential 
suites grouped in 40-person 
communities.

02--17 Study lounges and flexible 
active spaces to encourage 
interaction and collaboration .

Two 16-seat flexible classrooms.

03  - Hatchery space for collaborative 
idea sharing and maker space for 
prototyping new products. 

- Incubator space for startups.  

01

03

09

10

11

02

SIMILARITIES TO LAMOND RIGGS:

 � New Construction
 � University
 � Phased Occupancy
 � Modern Education Facility
 � Government Agency State 

of Maryland
 � Multi-Building Campus
 � Requirements for 

Maintaining Pedestrian/ 
Vehicular Traffic Flow

 � Design-Build
 � LEED Certified
 � Greater than $25MM
 � Larger than 40,000SF



51 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 52LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Project Description

Coppin State University, Multiple Projects
Baltimore, MD

SIZE
12,000 SF Pedestrian Bridge

1.3 Acres; 3,000 SF  
Quad & Cafe

64,400 SF College of Business

DELIVERY METHOD
CM at Risk

CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE
08/2022 - 12/2023 

CONSTRUCTION COST:
Pedestrian Bridge - $2.3 M

Quad and Cafe - $2.2 M 

College of Business - $32.5 M

College of Business. Previously deemed dysfunctional for the sciences, the Percy Julian Science 
and Art Building for the College of Business and the School of Graduate Studies at Coppin State 
University can now support other academic dimensions. The project consisted of a second-story 
vertical expansion by 12,200 GSF to bring the College of Business to 64,400 GSF. Though it was 
a challenging renovation, the addition brought state-of-the-art classrooms, specialized class 
labs, open labs, research space, office space, disciplined-based study space, and clinical space. 
In addition, the creation of a multi-story ‘heart’ space - a new central hub of activity - encourages 
“creative collisions” between learners and provides a renewed sense of orientation and identity for 
the College.  Seen as a gateway to the university, the expanded and renovated College of Business 
will create a strong, positive, and welcoming statement about Coppin State University’s educational 
values. State-of-the-art, technologically-based classrooms and learning environments will propel 
Business and Graduate students through their collegiate years. The project is targeting LEED Gold.

Pedestrian Bridge. This two-story stair/elevator tower replaced a temporary wood stair structure 
and acts as the cap end of an existing pedestrian bridge across a major campus thoroughfare. 
The tower connects the North campus quad directly into the Health & Human Services Building 
and other newer buildings to the south. Additionally, a service road extension and extensive civil 
work was utilized to complete the connection. The tower visually extends the bridge using its 
existing material language of metal panels and louvers. The bridge’s tube form threads through 
a naturally ventilated glass and steel volume which houses the vertical circulation. A cap for 
the bridge cantilevers over the entry as an awning and features a window to extend the sight 
line of bridge pedestrians. Included are landscaped retaining walls with bench seating areas in 
both the interior and exterior of the tower. The benches echo the existing Quad seating details of 
concrete and ipe wood benches and paving materials that express the material palette of Coppin 
University’s quad. Along with providing needed security for pedestrians, the ADA compliant tower 
and bridge provide a fully illuminated path for student and staff to travel both day and night.

Quad and Cafe. The Coppin Quad project represents a major overhaul of the 1.3 acre central quad 
area of Coppin State University. A formerly stark, hard paved plaza surrounded by three uninviting 
buildings from the ‘70’s, this newly reimagined open space transformed into a welcoming heart 
for the campus with stronger connections, activated edges, a much used green space, and an 
appealing array of formal and informal landscape elements. The new Quad features a large lawn 
area shaded by trees and surrounded by a variety of landscaped and paved spaces, including a 
new fountain, outdoor sitting rooms, arbor and trellis area, café seating in a grove-type setting, 
and an outdoor classroom with chalkboard and benches. A formerly windowless storage area was 
transformed into a fully glazed café. The café appears to double in size and reflects the new quad 
with a playful design feature that incorporates mirrors and abstract tree silhouettes. Sustainability 
enhancements include a water cistern for sprinkling. Winner of the AIA Maryland Public Building 
of the Year and the AIA Baltimore Grand Design Award.

03

10

11

01 The two-story tower stands as 
a beacon connecting the North 
campus quad directly into the 
Health & Human Services Building 
and other newer buildings to the 
south.  

02 A formerly windowless office/
storage area in the student 
center that fronted the quad was 
transformed into a fully glazed 
café with outdoor seating beneath 
the trees. 

03 The addition and renovation to the 
four-story Percy Julian Science 
and Art Building extends Coppin’s 
role as an educational anchor 
and as a resource to the central 
Baltimore community as a whole.

01

03

09

10

11

02

SIMILARITIES TO LAMOND RIGGS:

� Modern education facility
� Construction cost over  

$25 million
� Tight urban site in active 

neighborhood
� Targeting LEED Gold



54LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn Evans

53 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

Additional Project Experience
R E L E V A N T  E X P E R I E N C E  A N D  C A P A B I L I T I E S



55 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 56LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Project Description

Open Works
Baltimore, MD

SIZE
34,800 SF 

DELIVERY METHOD
CM at Risk

CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE
01/2015 - 9/2016 

CONSTRUCTION COST:
$6.3M

An early 19th-century building continues to support Baltimore’s industrial 
heritage as an inclusive, community-oriented maker space. 

The transformation of a dilapidated two-story warehouse in the Station North 
Arts District of Baltimore has created a vibrant, technology-rich studio and 
workshop environment that is now one of the largest nonprofit maker spaces in 
the country. Emblematic of the city’s resourceful and entrepreneurial past, Open 
Works welcomes local artists and craftspeople in support of their small-scale 
manufacturing and innovative start-up endeavors.

The vacant warehouse was renovated to provide an inclusive source of 
economic, creative, and social opportunities. The building offers a host 
of fabrication and machine shops for working with textiles, metal, wood, 
electronics, 3D printing, and digital media. A computer lab provides extensive 
technological resources, while conference rooms, classroom space, and 
a kitchenette support meetings and instruction. A multi-use gathering and 
performance space encourages artistic and entrepreneurial collaboration. The 
building also accommodates a popular first-floor coffee shop. Since its opening, 
Open Works has anchored a significant neighborhood transition while helping to 
renew Baltimore’s proud legacy as a center of innovation and manufacturing.

By reusing the existing building and keeping the materials palette simple, the 
project used only a quarter of the embodied carbon of a comparable new 
building. This adaptation saved 675 metric tons of carbon – equivalent to 143 
cars driving for a year.

01 Open Works members have 
access to a host of fabrication 
and machine shops for working 
with wood, metal, textiles, and 
electronics. A computer lab offers 
digital media resources and 3D 
printing, while micro studios 
provide a shared workspace for 
small businesses.  

02 Streetside entrances and a lobby 
café invite foot traffic. 

03 The design opens the site to 
the community by replacing 
a perimeter wall with outdoor 
public spaces.  The the parking 
lot doubles as a festival venue, 
complete with a stage and a 
terrace that provides stadium 
seating. 

01

03

09

10

11

02

SIMILARITIES TO LAMOND RIGGS:

� Tight urban site in active 
neighborhood 

� Renovation of existing 
building for educational and 
community-oriented use

� Project design incorporates 
sustainable design 
principles and materials



57 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 58LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Project Description

Dunbar Senior High School Modernization
 Washington, DC
SIZE
280,000 SF New Construction

DELIVERY METHOD
Design-Build

CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE
11/2011 - 08/2015 

ENGAGEMENT / POINT 
DURING DESIGN
Concept Design, 11/2011

COMPLETION OF DESIGN 
DOCUMENTS BASED ON 
INITIAL CONTRACT VALUE
50% Design Development

INITIAL SUBSTANTIAL 
COMPLETION
Date: 06/2014
Contract Value: $103,000,000
Contract Type: GMP

ACTUAL SUBSTANTIAL 
COMPLETION
Date: May 2014 (Ph I), Aug 
2015 (Ph II)
Contract Value:  $113.8M

LEED® CERTIFIED

Smoot Construction provided preconstruction and construction services for the new brick, 
glass, and steel structure. The public high school is a four-story facility with an L-shaped 
structure (one wing for academics and the other for sports and arts) overlooking an adjoining 
athletic field. 

The completely new high school includes energy-efficient building systems, clean and 
maintainable interior finishes, bright and healthy classrooms, and joint-use spaces for DPR 
and community gatherings.

The LEED® Platinum high school is fostering four academies, including an innovative 
9th-grade academy for 1,100 students that also encourages active community use. Energy-
saving features include photovoltaic panels (also known as PV or solar panels), geothermal 
wells, rainwater cisterns, and extensive interior day-lighting. The new school is decidedly 
21st century, fostering four academies, including an innovative 9th grade academy and 
encouraging active community use. The shell is masonry and cast stone, with a curtain 
wall and punched openings. Interior work includes a gymnasium, natatorium, cafeteria, 
auditorium, and museum. The site work included creating a new athletic field and bleachers.
The shell is masonry and cast stone with a curtain wall and punched openings. Interior work 
includes a gymnasium, natatorium, cafeteria, auditorium, and museum.

Phase 2 work included the demolition of the 1977 school and site work. A new athletic field 
with bleachers, a field house, and a concession area for food service were also completed, 
along with a new street with plazas and irrigation systems.

Dunbar boasts a rich history as the first public high school in the nation for African 
Americans. The Dunbar Alumni Federation, as the stewards of this legacy, championed the 
construction of a new state-of-the art school and community center for future generations 
inspired by history. During preconstruction, Smoot worked with the design team and 
Alumni Federation to realize this goal by developing a detail with our trade partners to 
inscribe 118 floor plaques throughout the school to celebrate a generation of black leaders, 
lawyers, athletes, and artists. Another 130 blank plaques were installed, hinting that any 
future graduate of the school could see their name featured on them. When a museum 
to showcase historic artifacts was added to the program during construction, SmootDC 
managed to adapt our construction sequence to realize this commemorative space in time 
for substantial completion.

It was discovered during excavation that the original school was demolished and buried on 
site with hazardous materials and other materials, resulting in an $8M change order. The 
additional $2.5 went towards enhancements requested by the owner/alumni group.

01  The new media center serves 
as a multipurpose space for 
research, collaboration, and alumni 
gatherings.

02 The east end of the Armory 
accommodates student dining and 
collaboration spaces, overlooked 
by the new career center.

03 As a gathering place for both 
school and community members, 
the new state-of-the-art theater 
features enhanced acoustics 
and visual connections to the 
surrounding neighborhood.

01

03

09

10

11

02

SIMILARITIES TO LAMOND RIGGS:

 � Design-build led by 
SmootDC

 � Exceeded local 
subcontracting goals

 � LEED® Platinum - First 
DCPS/DGS school to 
receive this certification

 � New Construction
 � Modern Education Facility
 � Multi-building Campus
 � Restricted Site-Limited 

Space for Staging
 � Requirements for 

Maintaining Pedestrian/ 
Vehicular Traffic flow

 � Government Agency District 
of Columbia

 � Over $25MM
 � Larger than 40,000SF



59 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 60LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Project Description

Science Complex at Montgomery College
Rockville, MD

SIZE
270,000 SF 

DELIVERY METHOD
Design/Bid/Build

CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE
2009 - 2017 

CONSTRUCTION COST:
$92M

LEED® GOLD CERTIFIED

A transformative new construction and renovation project has created a monumental gateway to 
Montgomery College’s Rockville campus, signaling the college’s commitment to STEM learning.
Situated at the campus’s main entrance point, the new Science Center acts as a campus portal 
joining with two existing science buildings, Science East and West, renovated to house the College’s 
math program. This multi-building project was developed in three phases to accommodate the 
College’s continued educational needs while providing for their growing STEM programs. The project 
includes classrooms, physical and life science labs, mathematics labs, a learning resource center, 
faculty offices, conference rooms, and a public atrium.

The campus master plan prepared by Quinn Evans was an important first step in locating the 
new science building on the project site addressing its gateway presence for the campus and the 
establishment of a new central lawn, as well as responding to two major pedestrian pathways for 
students across and through the site. The new building was designed in response to the existing 
scale and massing of other buildings on the campus.

Created as “neighborhoods,” each department is identified by floor in the new four-story Science 
Center. The plan alternates between lab preparatory and support spaces. The monumental atrium 
acts as a hub and connects all departments both physically and visually and contains casework 
for student research project exhibitions as well as monitoring systems that display the building’s 
environmental performance in real time. Lounges and alcoves integrated into circulation spaces 
provide areas for informal encounters and for the exchange of ideas and experiences across 
disciplines.

Throughout the complex, science and technology concepts are on display and emphasized to 
students in design features. Exposing the mechanics of the elevator and the giant power foil fan in 
the atrium; expressing the basic concrete structure of the Science Center building and the truss in the 
bridge between Science East and West; and using recycled and renewable finish materials, rainwater 
collection cisterns, and other sustainable elements all demonstrate science and engineering in the 
architecture and encourage student’s active interest every time they enter each of the buildings in the 
complex.

The buildings also highlight the science of sustainable technologies to a larger population of students 
beyond the building users. Science curriculum spills into the landscape design in amphitheaters, a 
greenhouse, and outdoor classrooms that give students direct contact to environmental research 
and learning. The bio-retention pond and the stormwater management pond, planted with indigenous 
flora, become hands-on living laboratories for outdoor experimentation and data collection.

BIM was used from design through production detailing to create construction documents for 
delivery to the client and contractor for construction. Three dimensional studies were used for design 
in visualizing design concepts, through construction documents in calculating difficult technical 
details, and during CA to maintain an accurate and up-to-date model of the project that reflected field 
conditions as they were encountered and resolved.

01

03

09

10

11

02

SIMILARITIES TO LAMOND RIGGS:

� New construction and 
renovation University facility

� Multi-phased project
� Multi-building complex
� Construction cost over  

$25 million
� LEED Gold Certified

01 The site provides outdoor 
classrooms placed among native 
plantings and rain gardens that 
trap and filter stormwater before 
returning it to the water table. A 
bioretention pond doubles as a 
pleasant setting for a walk.  

02 A variety of spaces are available 
for active, problem-based learning 
as well as quiet study throughout 
encouraging formal and informal 
engagement between student to 
faculty and student to student. 

03 A state-of-the art Math and 
Science Learning Resource Center 
supports students’ educational 
development outside the 
classroom. 



61 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 62LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Project Description

Church Hill North at J. Sargent Reynolds  
Community College
Richmond, VA

SIZE
50,000 SF 

DELIVERY METHOD
CM at Risk

CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE
3/2018 - 3/2020

CONSTRUCTION COST:
$6.3M

Giving a long time economically depressed neighborhood a fresh outlook 
and hope, this new mixed-use facility includes apartments, office space, a 
future restaurant, and a large culinary arts school.

Developed in conjunction with a health clinic and grocery store across 
the street, this mixed-use building is aimed at improving public health and 
food availability in Richmond’s Church Hill North neighborhood. 

The facility houses the J. Sargent Reynolds Community College’s culinary 
school on the first two floors. These spaces include: an expansive 
teaching kitchen connected to a demonstration kitchen with a large 
theater for teaching students, as well as hosting community events; a 
pastry kitchen; a large short order kitchen connected to both a small 
serving room/bar area; as well as a café with a kitchen that will sell 
student prepared meals and baked goods. 

Other areas include 12 apartments on portions of the 3rd and 4th floors, 
office space on the 3rd floor, and an open space on the 4th floor for a 
restaurant. The restaurant space includes large doors that open to the 
cantilevered balcony with fabulous views of the downtown Richmond 
skyline. 

01 Classrooms and other spaces 
include mobile furniture and 
equipment that provide flexibility 
and ease of configuration. All 
spaces are used at all times for 
teaching, learning, and engaging. 

02 One of several large teaching 
kitchens on site. Students learn all 
forms of culinary skills and safety 
requirements

03 An expansive teaching kitchen 
is connected to a demonstration 
kitchen with a large theater for 
teaching students, as well as 
hosting community events. 

01

03

09

10

11

02

SIMILARITIES TO LAMOND RIGGS:

� New Construction
� Renovation of University 

facility
� Tight urban site in active 

neighborhood
� Mixed-use education and 

community complex



VOLUME 1

TECHNICAL PROPOSAL 

Project Design-Build Approach
TAB 5



64LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn Evans

63 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

Offerors shall include with their proposals a Design-Build Approach that complies with the scope of work and final completion dates in Exhibit A. The approach will be used to determine whether it is responsive (i.e., whether it 
supports all of the required programmatic elements described in Exhibit A).

02. Project Design-Build Approach 

INTRODUCTION
The Lamond-Riggs Campus Modernization Project 
presents an opportunity to create an inspirational place 
for learning that celebrates our collective commitment 
to community resilience, health, and sustainability. 

Our Smoot + QE Team is excited to help you transform 
the current facility into a place that celebrates and 
makes best use of what you already have while 
creating a place that is accessible and welcoming to  
generations of future students. Our team’s expertise 
in construction, schedule, and budget management, 
existing building renewal, sustainability, and educational 
design will support this exceptional project.

To accomplish this ambitious vision, our Smoot + QE 
Team will invite input from community groups, students, 
faculty, and the facilities department via a variety of 
engagement styles and we will work collaboratively 
with many stakeholders. We regularly include 
interdisciplinary collaboration in our projects and believe 
this rich and diverse representation provides a unique 
perspective of the community and student populations 
and leads to great design solutions that will be specific 
to the opportunities and needs here at Lamond-Riggs 
and for UDC. We promise to listen carefully to all 
involved, to define inspired design solutions, share in 
collaborative decision-making and to provide excellent 
construction. Together we propose to develop a project 
that makes optimum use of the project budget and 
results in a fully modernized and wonderfully inspired 
Lamond-Riggs Community College facility.

The building is currently 119,029 SF with a Master Plan 
for modernizing the facility in phases of delivery.  This 
RFP is procuring design-build services for Phase 1. 
The work for Phase 1 includes upgrades to the existing 
Wings A, B, and C, as well as sitework, sidewalks, 
parking, and landscaping upgrades.  All work will be 
underway while the building is occupied by students 
and staff.  We are to create Swing Spaces throughout 
the building to allow for the end user stakeholder to 
successfully continue daily operations while the building 
is being modernized.

We excel at problem solving and are eager to work 
with you to design and construct the project. We 
will celebrate the building’s best characteristics and 
introduce improvements and additions that will result 
in a cohesive campus and transform the facility into a 
state-of-the-art educational facility. 

We commit to accomplishing this together by 
communicating regularly, engaging early with 
stakeholders and regulatory reviewers, and pro-actively 
managing the budget and schedule.

Leadership
SmootDC is the builder and prime contractor for 
the team.  Quinn Evans is the leader of the design 
team.  Our team offers experience directly relevant 
to the project challenges. We will be led by Design 
Principal-in-Charge for Quinn Evans, Jeffrey 
Luker, and Construction Vice President and Project 
Executive Pamela Murray Johnson of SmootDC.  
Consistent with the Design/Build Approach, design 
and construction leadership will be merged from 
the outset, and our collaborative relationship will 
assure comprehensive solutions, reduced risk, and an 
accelerated redevelopment process.

Management of the Quinn Evans design team will be 
provided by our Project Architect, Peter Baker and he 
will be supported by Education Designer, Joe Cellucci 
and Interior Designer, Erin Carver, in addition to QE’s 
design staff. Together, this group: Jeffrey, Peter, Joe 
and Erin will lead an iterative process that explores 
design ideas, evaluates, identifies preferred solutions, 
and then fully communicates the recommended 
design. They will draw input from the larger consultant 
team, and organize a design process that captures 
best ideas, defines inspired solutions, and assures 
successful development of the Project.  

SmootDC leads the preconstruction phase with a 
preconstruction/ operations partnership, to include 
the Design Manager Apryl Webb from the SmootDC 
preconstruction estimating group and the construction 
project manager Shawn Miller of our construction 
operations division.  The purpose of this partnership is 
budget control and quality control, to ensure the design 
progresses according to your schedule, budget, and 
other contract requirements.

Once the Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) is 
approved, and development of the construction set 
is complete, leadership responsibility shifts to a full-
time operations team, led by Shawn, and our Field 
Superintendent Scott Davis.  The operations team 
will coordinate the construction efforts to maintain 
the budget, confirm constructability, and manage the 
overall schedule.

 FIGURE 1:   Aerial Image of the former Bertie Backus, now Lamond Riggs Campus.

We anticipate the following work:
Wings A and B

• Minimal interior fit-out
• MEP replacement
• Access control augmentation
• PV ready roof replacement
• Efficient lighting
• Program to serve offices, classrooms, labs and student lounge

 
Wing C

• Interior fit-out
• Structural remediation
• MEP replacement
• IT Infrastructure
• Access control
• Roof Replacement
• Window Replacement
• Façade remediation
• Program to serve offices, classrooms, gymnasium and lab
• Swing space to support programing shifts (offices classrooms and labs)

 
Sitework will be deferred to a later phase.



LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 66

SmootDC + Quinn Evans

Schedule and Preconstruction Schedule and Preconstruction 
ManagementManagement

Consistent with the RFP, our Team is prepared to 
deliver Wings A and B of the renewed Lamond-Riggs 
Community College Facility ready for operations in Fall 
of 2024 and completion of Wing C during the Winter of 
2025. Briefly summarized, we anticipate the following 
activity schedule: 

See our full schedule at the end of this schedule discussion.

Our Schedule shows the project being Awarded in 
September 2023. 

During the month of September, we will receive Bridging 
Documents.

At the start of Preconstruction, we will implement our 
Due Diligence process and survey the building to verify 
existing conditions and create a plan for Swing Space, 
Schedule, and project Logistics. 

Our team will develop and submit initial deliverables 
to include a Construction Management Plan outlining 
our approach to managing the project and the plan will 
include submittal Log information. 

We will also include our approach to meeting Labor and 
CBE Compliance Requirements.

The 50% Construction Document Submission will be 
our Schematic Verification Submission.  We anticipate 
delivering the SD Verification Submission during 
December 2023.

The 85% CD Submission will be delivered in March 2024 
and used for the Building Permit.

The 85% Submission will also be used for formulating 
the GMP.  We anticipate submitting the GMP in April 
2024 with final approval by UDC in June 2024.  This 
allows work to start on site in June.

We anticipate buying out trades in 2 phases. We will 
require an early start Agreement to purchase Long Lead 
Equipment and in the Process we will bring Design-Build 
MEP Trades to the team.

We will then Buy-Out the trades in Tiered Priorities 
after the GMP is approved and the construction phase 
contract is awarded.  

All Work will Start during the Summer of 2024.  The 
scope of work includes interior upgrades for Wings A, B, 
and Wing C.

The work for the new Elevator and the major 
mechanical/ electrical equipment replacements with 
the new Mechanical Penthouses will start during the 
summer of 2024.  MEP upgrades are on the critical 
path.

Wings A and B Will be Substantially Complete during the 
fall of 2024.

Commissioning for All Equipment will be underway 
during the Fall of 2024.

The Critical Path for the project follows the completion 
of the Roof Top Penthouse Equipment installation, 
then Balancing and Commissioning of the System 
throughout.

Wing C will be Substantially Complete during the Winter 
of 2025.

Schedule and Preconstruction Management



LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 68

SmootDC + Quinn Evans



LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 70

SmootDC + Quinn Evans



LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 72

SmootDC + Quinn Evans



LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 74

SmootDC + Quinn Evans



LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 76

SmootDC + Quinn Evans



LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 78

SmootDC + Quinn Evans



79 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 80LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Ongoing Communication

Ongoing communication will be central to the effort. 
The SmootDC + QE Team will maintain a shared 
ProjectTeam platform to track details and organize 
communication throughout both the design and 
construction phases. We will establish a rhythm of 
regular informational meetings that are designed to 
build and maintain momentum. We will come prepared 
with agendas and presentation materials to encourage 
participation and inform the discussions. We will be 
organized and keep within scheduled time frames. Input 
received at the meetings will be valued, and we will 
publish focused and complete meeting notes within a 
few days after each gathering. 

For the Lamond-Riggs Community College Project, we 
anticipate regular meetings with the following groups:

• Owner Design Build Meetings with UDC  – We 
plan to administer weekly Owner Design-Build 
(ODB) Team Meetings throughout the design 
phase and well into the construction phase of the 
Lamond Riggs Community College Project.  

• Stakeholder/ Team-building meetings as required 
by the College  – Stakeholder meetings allow us 
to engage stakeholders, including facilities, the 
school administration, students, and others. The 
feedback from this process is vital in conducting 
facility modernizations and is reflected in the 
elements of the final project.

• Community and Advisory Neighborhood Council 
(ANC) Presentations – The SmootDC + QE 
Team recommends convening a series of work 
sessions designed to engage with and gather 
ideas and opinions from the neighborhood. 
Preliminary sketch designs will be distributed to 
a set of participant groups for a detailed study. 
Groups will be challenged to consolidate their 
comments and present their findings to the 
architects and the UDC project leadership. The 
SmootDC + QE Team will listen for and capture 
excellent ideas salient to the Lamond Riggs 
Community College Project.

Concurrent with our ongoing work with the UDC 
Leadership group, we anticipate early and ongoing 
work with the immediate community and many review 
agencies and utility companies responsible for work in 
the District of Columbia, including:

• Lamond Riggs Citizens Association

• The Advisory Neighborhood Council - ANC 4B

• The DOB (formerly DCRA), DOE, DDOT, and the 
DC Office of Planning

• DC Water, PEPCO, and Washington Gas

• DC OCTO and Internet Providers

Schedule Updates

The SmootDC + QE Team will manage, not simply 
monitor, the overall project schedule. As part of 
our standard operating procedures, the field team 
will update the schedule bi-weekly. The following 
procedures and tasks are part of our pre-planning 
and proactive schedule awareness to ensure trade 
subcontractors are prepared for the work that lies 
ahead: 

• Procurement Log – SmootDC will use the 
subcontractor buyout log to complete 
subcontractor contracts in the time necessary 
so they can submit, fabricates, and deliver their 
material in adherence with the schedule.

• Submittal Register and Material Tracking 
Log – After carefully reviewing the project 
specifications, SmootDC can identify the 
required submittals and materials and provide 
the schedule dates for design team review and 
coordination to ensure specified products are on-
site for installation. 

• Three-Week Look Ahead – Our team meets with 
all subcontractors, vendors, and suppliers at the 
foreman level to lay out the planned work for 
the next three weeks. Each Monday morning, 
this is discussed as part of the mandatory 
Subcontractor Foreman’s Meeting. Scott will 
coordinate all weekly deliveries, identify where 
each subcontractor will be working, and identify 
the number of personnel each company will 
provide to the site. This excel spreadsheet will 
be issued weekly during the Owner Design-
Build Meetings with UDC and shared with trade 
subcontractors.

• Monthly Updates – To ensure the Lamond 
Riggs Community College schedule is on task 
for all activities, our field management team 
will perform an overall schedule comparison 
between the initial baseline schedule and the 
current updated master schedule monthly. 
This allows our team to implement plans, re-
sequencing, and/or acceleration as needed 
for the critical trade contractors to ensure that 
the project remains on schedule. Our monthly 
schedule update will be shared with UDC in PDF 
and XER formats as part of the monthly report 
submission. DESIGN

Together, with the UDC Leadership, our Team will lead 
a series of meetings that encourage participation and 
input from all involved. We will open with preliminary 
ideas and invite the participants to offer thoughts and 
suggest ideas. Concurrent with these meetings, we 
will assemble background information and develop 
models that are designed to understand and illustrate 
the existing context. We will develop an in-depth 
understanding of your program, aspirations, and the 
existing property. 

Throughout the design phase, SmootDC will be 
integrally involved to contribute to and evaluate the 
many design ideas, and to assure that they are fully 
informed as to the site constraints and the project 
objectives. Their early and consistent involvement will 
accelerate development of the project, reduce the risks 
associated with constructability, and guarantee on time 
and on budget completion of the project.

Following is a phase-by-phase summary of our 
proposed Activity Plan:

 FIGURE 3:   The SmootDC/QE team looks forward to 
substantially improving Wing C to better serve the 
Lamond Riggs Community College Program

 FIGURE 2:   The SmootDC/QE Team looks forward to 
improving Wings A & B to better serve the Lamond-Riggs 
Community College Program.



81 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 82LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Drawing from the Campus Development Master Plan and the Bridging Documents we anticipate the following tasks:

1.	 Model, evaluate, and assess existing conditions throughout the site and building. We will provide detailed 
survey of the site and the existing building and develop a report that identifies current conditions, needed repairs 
and remaining useful life of the building architecture and the MEP/FP/IT systems. A primary objective will be to 
develop a well-developed model of the existing site and building, and a clear understanding of the component 
parts that will be retained in the renewed building design.

2.	 Inventory the existing tenant spaces fixtures, furnishings, and equipment.  In addition to the above defined 
building and system survey, we will review and confirm the project program with the building tenants and 
develop a detailed inventory of the spaces and items they currently use or are needed to serve their respective 
educational programs. 

3.	 Develop a construction and swing space plan for the Phase 1 Project. Our Team will develop both a detailed 
construction and swing space schedule that is designed to both accomplish the work called for in the Bridging 
Documents and support continued occupancy of the Campus.

4.	 Design refinement. In addition to verifying both feasibility and compliance with the Bridging Documents, our 
Team looks forward to augmenting and refining the subject design. During schematic design and thereafter we 
look forward to fully addressing goals and objectives relevant to the Project including:

i. Community-oriented project development.
ii. Interior design in ways that strengthen the College educational program.
iii. Enhancement of the building character.
iv. Setting the stage for a successful Phase 2 development.

Schematic Verification
50% Contract Documents

 FIGURE 3:   From the outset, SmootDC and QE will work with the UDC Leadership to optimize your investment and realize 
the vision called for in the recent, 2023 Masterplan.

Design Development (Pricing and Permits)
85% Contract Documents

 FIGURE 5:   As your Design/Build Partner, SmootDC and Quinn Evans will identify opportunities where we might leverage 
your investment to create an optimal Community College Campus.

During this phase, close collaboration with SmootDC, QE will develop construction documentation to a level sufficient 
to confirm sub-contractor pricing, and to apply for permits. We anticipate the following tasks:

1.	 We will develop envelope enhancement and limited site improvement details that not only perform from a 
technical (energy/moisture/etc.), standpoint but that help engage the urban context and improve the streetscape 
interface of UDC within its local community.

2.	 We will develop a MEP system improvement design that will both continue use of still valuable HVAC and 
lighting equipment, assure viable operations, and improve the system efficiency.

3.	 We will provide furnishing, fixture, and equipment (FF&E) plans, and recommend interior improvements in the 
identified A, B, and C Wings.

4.	 We will review the anticipated phasing plan and define a base bid and alternates CD Package that is designed to 
both address the project priorities, and ensure a successful sub-contract bid process.



83 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 84LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

GMP Confirmation & For Construction 
Documentation
100% Contract Documents

Given an approved GMP, QE and our Team will develop a 
confirmed, for construction document set.  This set will 
fully define both the Lamond Riggs Community College 
construction project.

A/E Service During Construction
Construction Administration Services
Consistent with the contract provisions, QE will provide 
support throughout the construction process and will 
provide the following contract administration services:

• Respond to contractor requests for information 
(RFI’s)

• Submittal Reviews

• Biweekly Site Visits

• Review and development of Change Orders

• Completion and Punch-list Reviews

Construction Management Plan

Preconstruction Planning 

As soon as we receive notice to proceed (NTP) with 
preconstruction, we will schedule collaborative kickoff 
and planning meetings to fully understand expectations 
of the College.  We want to initiate a supportive team 
relationship among the stakeholder Team Members.

As an initial deliverable, we will confirm the budget by 
developing cost models using cost studies, providing 
information to help steer the design decisions in 
the direction that will meet your budget.  During the 
initial estimate development, we will use the Bridging 
Documents to identify areas where the design seems 
to be headed and base any assumptions on the cost 
impact of those assumptions.  

Cost Studies include the following details:

1.	 On-screen take-off using the bridging documents 
and any other information provided.

2.	 Detailed estimate developed in CSI master format 
cost breakdown structure.

3.	 Design and construction contingencies.

4.	 Alternate design options are included as needed.

5.	 Assumptions and qualifications.

6.	 Cost estimate document listing.

7.	 Value analysis as required.

8.	 Comparison to other cost estimates of similar 
building types.

As the designs are being further developed our team 
will provide budget, schedule and logistics updates for 
the 50% CD, and the 85% CD Submissions.  We want to 
ensure no surprises when the GMP is submitted. 

Value Engineering

We utilize a Preconstruction Cost Event (PCE) Log to 
track all major design, scope, and value decisions during 
the entire design process, identifying their beneficial 
or added cost impact. This tool keeps the entire team 
abreast of the project’s overall budget status and 
the design process on track. Value management is a 
continuous process to examine all building products, 

systems and program functions to determine 
viable alternatives as they relate to cost savings, 
constructability, life cycle costs, efficiency, schedule 
impact, quality control and program.

Constructability Reviews

The goals of the constructability review are to 
minimize or eliminate potential problems during project 
construction, to incorporate into the construction 
documents the materials, systems and elements that 
will facilitate the efficiency and safety of construction 
and to minimize the impact of change orders 
without impacting the functional or aesthetic design 
components. We continually review constructability and 
focus on key items:

• Swing space locations and process for 
implementation.

• Identification of environmental risks and 
identifying mitigation techniques.

• Verification and inclusion of existing conditions.

• Complete, correct, and coordinated documents.

• Scheduling sequences to improve subcontractor 
workflow, and manpower.

• Bid packaging and opportunities to strategically 
combine trade work (to include small and 
Disadvantaged CBEs).

• Plan for working in the occupied buildings.

As we have discussed in our design approach, the 85% 
CD Submission will be used to develop the Building 
Permit Submission to the DOB and for preparation of 
the GMP.

GMP Estimate & Final GMP Development

The SmootDC+QE Team starts the GMP process on 
day one, capturing the program intent, purpose and 
performance of the building and design decisions 
to date so that we can maintain final intent for all 
deliverables throughout the process. Preparation of the 
GMP will be an open-book process. We will incorporate 
all system quantities, unit and assembly costs, trade 
contractor and vendor input, as well as preconstruction 
results. You will also receive a complete narrative 
outlining the basis of the GMP.

Similar to the 50%CD estimate process there will be 
a GMP estimate using the 85%CD submission and a 
validation of scope to budget review.  We will make 
final VE suggestions if necessary.  The purpose is to be 
sure that prior to the final formal development of the 
GMP, we are all in agreement of the scope, budget and 
schedule in order for there to be no surprises when the 
GMP is finalized.  We will complete a GMP estimate and 
then hold a workshop with the entire project team to 
review the scope, cost and assumptions..

Once the estimate is approved, we anticipate UDC 
leadership will provide approval for The SmootDC+QE 
Team to proceed with providing a final GMP for 
construction approval.  The final GMP process includes:

• Development of Final bid packages.

• Conduct pre-bid meetings.

• Facilitating the bid process.

• De-scoping the trades.

• Developing the Final GMP for submission to the 
University.

We will develop bid tabulation sheets to validate the 
recommended pricing and meet continuously with the 
team to reconcile all costs and finalize the GMP. 

1.	 A list of Drawings, Specifications, and Addenda.

2.	 A list of Unit prices and Allowances.

3.	 Assumptions & Clarifications.

4.	 The Proposed Guaranteed Maximum Price.

5.	 An updated Project Schedule.

6.	 CBE and Work force Utilization documents. 



85 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 86LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

We anticipate the GMP to be finalized and the 
construction contract to be issued in June 2024.  
See the Schedule graphic showing the outline of the 
process.

Purchasing 

The SmootDC + QE Team works diligently to maximize 
competition, starting during the constructability review 
process during preconstruction, by eliminating barriers 
to open competition, recommending systems that are 
not over specialized for installation, minimizing sole 
source types of building components, and taking an 
over interest and responsibility for ensuring the design is 
clear and attractive to the trade contracting community. 

We understand the trade contracting community and 
we develop bid packages and scopes of work to appeal 
to large and small businesses. We will develop bid 
procedures and a purchasing strategy for UDC approval, 
in the Construction Management Plan submitted with 
our initial deliverables. These procedures will include 
outreach communications and advertisements to the 
trade contracting community. 

We send out advance bulk e-mail and communications; 
and we hold subcontracting outreach events. We are 
constantly communicating with the trades formally and 
informally about our projects. We make personal phone 
calls requesting that trades submit bids for our work..

All of these procedures have been outlined in our schedule, 
included at the beginning of the Design-Build Approach.

Construction Phase Approach

Risks, Challenges and Opportunities

The major risks affecting the Lamond-Riggs 
Community College Modernization project are:

• Working in the Occupied Building. - Early during 
the preconstruction process during our initial 
kick-off meetings we will discuss swing space 
opportunities with the end user.  We consider 
issues like is the building 100% occupied; can we 
build-out temporary spaces within the building 
and move classrooms or other programmatic 
functions into those temporary spaces.  Or, do we 
provide temporary trailers for classroom spaces 
and other programmatic functions, and then 
locate those trailers on site outside adjacent to 
the building.  These are discussions that will take 
place at the kick-off meeting and will be used to 
consider and recommend the most beneficial 
Swing Space Options to the College.

• Mitigating/Eliminating Environmental Impacts 
to the College Community - Environmental 
impacts are mitigated by bringing an Industrial 
Hygienist (IH) to the process for an environmental 
assessment of the property.  The IH will then 
recommend destructive testing to determine 
environmental hazards if necessary.  This process 
will need to occur during preconstruction.  
Once The SmootDC+QE Team is awarded the 
preconstruction contract, we can facilitate a 
competitive process to bring an IH to the College 
who can assess whether remediation is required 
for this work.  If a Remediation plan is required, 
the IH will develop that plan.   
 
Removal of hazardous materials is done 
under the direction of the IH, usually under 
a constructed containment.  The IH and the 
Hazardous Materials removal contractor work 
inside the containment to remove hazards and 
document the process.  Then the IH develops a 
“Clean Letter” that states the areas that have been 
mitigated of hazardous materials.  This entire 
process would occur during preconstruction.  
The IH and the hazardous materials abatement 
contractor can work directly for the SmootDC+QE 
Team or be contracted directly to UDC.  Whatever 
decision is made for the appropriate contract 
vehicle for the hazardous materials removal 
process, the SmootDC+QE Team will work with 
UDC to manage the process and ensure success.

Building Information Modeling

The SmootDC + QE Team will make immediate and 
active use of our BIM model for specific review and 
coordination activities phasing and site logistics, clash 
detection, installation sequencing, and coordination 
amongst the various trades. This will start in the design 
phase and continue to the construction phase, as 
our team ensures that relevant trade subcontractor 
information and documentation are incorporated 
into the BIM model of the Lamond-Riggs Community 
College.  

Meetings and Trade coordination

Pamela, our project executive, along with the 
preconstruction team led by Apryl, and our project 
manager Shawn, will facilitate weekly Owner 
Architect Contractor (OAC) meetings throughout the 
preconstruction and construction phases of the project.  
During these meetings, our goal will be to ensure team 
collaboration and communication to build consensus 
around the many decisions needed to progress.  The 
SmootDC + QE Team works to establish acceptable 
timeframes for the turn-over of submittals, RFIs and 
other required information. Then we facilitate weekly 
design meetings to address the required information 
and keep important “hot topics” resolved quickly. 

Prior to commencing work, The SmootDC field 
superintendent team led by Scott, will hold pre-
proposal and preconstruction conferences with the 
subcontractors and vendors. Our conferences will 
assure that each firm understands our expectations 
and to offer guidance in developing successful, safe 
planning and execution methodologies. This not only 
includes material, equipment, labor and other required 
coordination but also subcontracting plan strategies, 
networking sessions and scope review. 

Additional pre-planning meetings will be facilitated 
by Shawn and Scott, and used to familiarize 
subcontractors and vendors with procedures for 
working with UDC.  During construction, Scott’s 
field team will conduct regular subcontractor and 
vendor coordination meetings to guarantee proper 
coordination of the work and that necessary scheduling 
and procurement take place. During coordination 
meetings, conflicts between the trades will be identified, 
and every effort will be made to resolve them without 
cost or schedule impact. A subcontractor contract 
review meeting will be held at the start of each trade’s 
work, instrumental in assuring that the proper materials, 
methodologies and safety procedures are utilized. 

Scott’s field team will conduct weekly meetings with 
subcontractors’ foremen and hold monthly field 
construction schedule sessions. During our meetings 
with foremen, we will conduct weekly tool box topics 
that focus on safety. Our engineer will facilitate BIM 
trade coordination and clash detection meetings. 
We will meet with subcontractors to negotiate 
change orders and manage the subcontract change 
order process within the GMP. We will conduct daily 
construction and safety inspections.  We will manage 
and coordinate the work of our trade contractors.

Reporting and Cost Control /Procore Electronic 
Project Management System

Shawn and Kahlil, our engineer, will track and maintain 
the exchange of project information using Procore. 
They will track project deliverables and milestones and 
maintain project management system reporting. Using 
Procore, we will track and manage submittals, RFIs, 
meeting minutes, correspondences, safety incidents, 
subcontract change orders and project costs. The 
SmootDC + QE Team will set up and use this web-
based Collaboration Team Site housed on a Microsoft 
SharePoint Server to store the project documents 
with all drawing changes and updates catalogued and 
housed in separate folders. Shawn will manage the 
project costs, budget and spending, providing monthly 
project status reports for UDC. Sections will include 
cost and schedule status; use of contingencies; safety 
updates; a photographic record of the construction 
process and other elements requested by UDC. We 
will prepare monthly payment requests for approval in 
established UDC formats. 



87 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 88LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Approach To Sustainable Construction

LEED Certification and sustainable buildings are always our goal, starting with the preconstruction process and 
continuing to the completion of the project.  Our objective is to deliver buildings with optimized energy efficiency, 
excellent indoor air quality and low operation and maintenance costs.  We will develop and implement all processes 
required for the appropriate sustainable certification required for the project.

Preliminary Site Utilization

We are including possible Site Utilization Options for the Lamond-Riggs Community College campus.  This project is 
primarily interior renovations to an occupied facility.  Our logistics plans will include the interior layout of the facility 
and include the Swing Plan for this project.  For the purpose of this proposal response, we offer possible locations 
for dumpsters and cranes, when rigging is required for roof top penthouse work.  This is all preliminary, since 
discussions with UDC leadership and the Lamond-Riggs end user will need to occur prior to development of a site 
utilization plan.

Delivery Routes

As shown in our site utilization plan, we plan to access the site from the northwest of the site on Hamilton Street.  
This appears to be the loading area and will create the least number of disruptions to daily operations.  Once finalized, 
we will clearly message delivery routes to all subcontractors and vendors to ensure that construction traffic does not 
traverse any of the adjacent residential streets.  

Lay Down Areas

The SmootDC + QE Team intends to primarily use lay down areas within the current property line.  As shown on 
the Site Utilization Plan, the northwest side of the site, accessible from Hamilton Street, is the preferred location for 
laydown. 

Utility Coordination

The SmootDC + QE Team will include a Utility Coordinator that will manage approvals of Authority Having Jurisdiction 
(AHJ’s) separate from the permit submission to ensure we are tracking properly on schedule and adhering to 
best practices of each AHJ such as PEPCO, Washington Gas, and Verizon. Including their standard details and 
requirements early in the design process makes for a swift approval during the coordination process.

Reserved for exec summary

The complete P6 Preliminary schedule is included on the following pages.

The complete Site Utilization Plan is 
included on the following page.



LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 90

SmootDC + Quinn Evans

A

B

C

AB

C

Hamilton Street NE
South Dak

ota 
Ave

 NE

South Dakota Ave NE

Hamilto
n Street NE

Dumpster

Construction Key

Laydown Area

Possible Crane Paths

Delivery Routes

Possible Location for a
Construction Trailer

Lamond-Riggs Site Utilization Strategy

- Identify Swing Space plan for the end user school Community.

- Construction sound attenuation walls and Privacy Screens.

- Establish Construction Trailer location and temp facilities.

- Maintain existing building’s emergency egress routes.

- Coordinate invasive and noisy activities to ensure limited disruption to the student body.

- Perimeter/block clean-up.

- Minimize truck idling off and on-site.

- Coordinate deliveries of material and equipment for off peak hours only.

Managing Construction to Minimize Disruptions to School &
Community



91 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 92LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Three Phases of QA/QC

SmootDC will 
utilize a three-
phase system to 
manage QA/QC 
for each definable 
feature of work.

The process begins with the preconstruction/design meetings at the beginning of the 
preparatory phase. These meetings will be led by Scott Davis. The attendees for this 
meeting will include all construction personnel for this specific scope of work and all 
applicable trade subcontractors. Scott will focus on the upcoming work activities to 
ensure they are thoroughly planned, and the materials and installation techniques comply 
with the issued construction documents. 

 · Re-review of the project specific requirements.
 · Review of the specifications, drawings, approved submittals, and the testing.
 · Requirements for this specific trade requirements for procedures for inspections and 

testing.
 · Review the Activity Hazard Analysis (AHA) safety information.

Preparatory Phase

This phase meeting is held directly after the work begins. Scott Davis will lead this 
operation. During these thorough inspections, Scott will examine the quality of 
workmanship, material acceptance, contract compliance, and installation techniques. It 
provides an important, early opportunity to identify and correct any deficiencies as well 
as setting the benchmark of quality for that specific scope of work. The initial phase 
should be repeated for each new crew to work on-site. 

 · Establish level of workmanship and verify that it meets minimum acceptable 
workmanship standards.

 · Develop a checklist of issues requiring additional attention. Discuss observations.
 · Resolve all difference.
 · Verify required control inspection and testing.
 · Review adherence to the AHA.

Initial Phase

The third phase of QA/QC is the follow-up phase. The intent of these inspections is to ensure 
the work continues to conform to the construction documents and the items discussed in 
both the preparatory and initial meetings. Follow-up inspections are completed throughout 
the sequence of work on a regular basis by the on-site SmootDC team. At no point will the 
SmootDC team allow deficient work to be built upon or concealed. This continual monitoring 
makes certain that each area is at a uniform level of quality that meets or exceeds the 
standards set forth in the QA/QC Plan. 

 · These are daily checks to assure control activities, including control testing, are in 
compliance with contract requirements, until completion of the work.

 · The checks are recorded in the QC documentation.
 · Final follow-up checks will be conducted, and all deficiencies will be corrected.

Follow-Up Phase

Safety Plan

PRE-TASK PLAN 
Sub-contractors working on the project are required to complete a Pre-Task Plan (PTP) daily for each 
individual job task prior to starting the work shift. The Pre-Task Plan is utilized to promote employee 
participation and accountability into each job task being performed from the supervisor and all workers. 
The PTP identifies the Environmental Health and Safety (EHS) concerns, tools and equipment to used/ 
inspection criteria, workers involved with job task, personal protective equipment required, safety permits 
required and also identifies job steps, hazards associated with job steps and preventive/control measures 
to be implemented. 

SITE-SPECIFIC SAFETY PLAN 
A Site-Specific Safety Plan is developed and implemented for each project. The Site-Specific Safety Plan is 
a written document that describes procedures, measures, and controls to be implemented for each activity 
performed on the project and is developed in accordance with 29 CRF 1926 OSHA Construction Standard. 
A detailed Site-Specific Safety Plan is provided to UDC at the project kick-off meeting for review and 
acceptance prior to mobilization on-site. 

SAFETY PLANS REQUIRED PER OSHA 
SmootDC ensures that all required safety plans for specific activities per 29 CFR 1926 construction 
standard are submitted by subcontractors for review and acceptance by SmootDC’s Safety Department 
prior to starting work e.g. Exposure Control Plan for crystalline silica dust exposure, Lead Abatement Plan, 
Asbestos Abatement Plan and more. 

ON-SITE SUPERINTENDENT COMPETENCY 
SmootDC’s On-Site Superintendent Scott Davis  is our designated Competent Person, for the Lamond-
Riggs Community College modernization project with OSHA 30-hour Construction training. This is a 
mandatory requirement for all SmootDC Superintendents per company policy. 

JOBSITE SAFETY INSPECTIONS 
On-Site Superintendents perform daily jobsite safety inspections on the project and findings are 
documented on SmootDC’s Weekly Jobsite Safety Inspection Report. On-Site Superintendents are 
Competent Persons able to identify existing hazards and can take prompt corrective action to eliminate 
potential hazards. The SmootDC Safety Manager Adam McConnell, performs weekly safety inspections 
on projects and a detailed written safety inspection report is sent to the project team including the Project 
Executive Pamela Murray Johnson and the Executive Leadership (Omar McIntosh). Senior Management 
is committed to providing a safe work environment for each employee.

Our Safety Plan will be adjusted as required to reflect any to address any new national or local COVID-19 regulations.

The SmootDC Safety Manager Adam McConnell, oversees the implementation 
of the Health and Safety Program, reviewing its functions, and keeping it 
relevant to industry best practice. Adam reviews all subcontractor’s submitted 
safety documentation (AHA’s, Employee Training Record and Required Safety 
Plans). Adam is a Certified Safety Professional (CSP) and a Construction 
Health and Safety Technician (CHST) designated by the Board of Certified 
Safety Professionals and has OSHA-500 construction training. Chrystal Stowe, 
our community engagement consultant will assure community outreach and 
site activity coordination for the project.  See more details in the community 
engagement section of this proposal.

The SmootDC + QE Team will develop a project-specific Quality Assurance and Quality Control (QA/QC) Plan for 
Lamond-Riggs Community College, which will establish a QA/QC Team and delineate the procedures that the team 
will employ. Procedures will address all aspects of the construction process and it will provide samples of Quality 
Control/Assurance documentation that will be utilized throughout construction and project turnover.  Our QA/QC Plan 
will be based on our Best Practices and company Standards for Quality.



93 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 94LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Closeout

Commissioning

Our commissioning process will start at the beginning of the design process to document project requirements. 
Our efforts will continue through the remainder of the design phase, through construction and testing.  We will start 
the commissioning process in the field during the Fall of 2024.  Commissioning and Balancing Wings A, B, and C 
will go together at the same time.  Wings A and B will already be turned over for substantial completion.  This time 
is necessary in order to properly install the equipment and provide the appropriate quality control procedures to the 
process.  

We conclude our commissioning support after one year of occupancy. The process will include functional and 
performance testing to confirm the performance requirements have been met. Start-up and commissioning will be 
fully documented, and we will assist with troubleshooting any identified problems.

Project Turnover and Warranties 

The SmootDC + QE Team will start planning for a successful project turnover upon Notice of Award.  This critical 
transition will be guided by the UDC standard guidelines.  Many activities must occur near the completion of the 
project including:

• Submitting all closeout documentation including As-Built Drawings, Operation and Maintenance manuals 
and warranties.

• Completing all training and demonstrations.

• We will pre-punch all work before inspection by the UDC leadership. 

• Attic stock items are delivered and stored.

• Final change orders are processed.

• All lien waivers are submitted prior to final payment.

• Project accounting is reconciled. 

• We will manage a timely punch list completion process.

Warranty Inspections

Our goal is to assure that UDC is completely happy with our services and the overall end product at the school. Our 
project team does not want warranty call-backs after the facility is turned over.  We will facilitate the eleven-month 
warranty walk.



VOLUME 1

TECHNICAL PROPOSAL 

Design-Build Team Key Personnel
TAB 6



95 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 96LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

The information in this Tab 6 Design-Build Key Personnel is a 
duplicate from the information provided in Tab 3 General Team 
Information. This duplication is based on our understanding of the 
requested information for this section in the RFP.

D E S I G N - B U I L D  T E A M  K E Y  P E R S O N N E L



LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 98LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn Evans

97

03. Design-Build Team Key Personnel 

The University desires that the Design-Build Team assign the appropriate number of personnel having the necessary seniority to implement a project of this type. The personnel should have experience working together and each such 
individual should have relevant experience on similar projects and the necessary level of experience and education for his or her proposed role. They should have a resume that demonstrates ability to deliver fast-track projects on-time 
and on-budget.

Organizational Chart

Organizational Chart Key

Key Team Member

Collaborative

Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization 

Abbie Cronin, RA, LEED AP BD+C
Project Executive

SmootDC

Design Preconstruction

Jeffrey Luker, AIA, LEED AP
Principal in Charge

Quinn Evans

DESIGN/PRECONSTRUCTION

Construction Subject Matter Experts

Omar McIntosh
Executive Vice President

SmootDC

BUILDING SUPPORT

Single Point of Contact

Apryl Webb, AVS, LEED AP
Design Manager/Preconstruction 

Lead/Structural/Envelope
SmootDC

Peter Baker, AIA, RLA, NCARB, 
CLARB, ASLA, LEED BD+C

Project Architect
Quinn Evans

Erin Carver, CID, IIDA
Interior Designer

Quinn Evans

Joseph Cellucci, AIA
Educational Designer

Quinn Evans

Chad Sullivan, AIA, LEED AP
Senior Mechanical Engineer
Global Engineering Solutions

Chrystal Stowe, ASID, NCIDQ

Vice President, CBE Outreach
SmootDC

Shawn Miller, AIA, ABC, CSI 
Project Manager

SmootDC

Scott Davis, CQM
Superintendent

SmootDC

Kahlil Andrews
Project Engineer

SmootDC

Jobsite Foreman
SmootDC

David Pirnia, PE

Structural Project Manager
SK&A

Josh Woolcock, PE, LEED AP

Structural Principal in Charge
SK&A

Adam McConnell
Safety Manager

SmootDC

Jessie Ponce de Leon, PE

Lead Civil Engineer
GordonDC

Pamela Murray Johnson, PE
Vice President, Project Executive

SmootDC

Jackie Washington, LEED AP BD+C

MEP/Civil Estimator
SmootDC

Brendan McHugh
Interiors Estimator

SmootDC

Michael Soong, PE
Senior Electrical Engineer

Global Engineering Solutions

Abdullah Ayazi, LEED AP

Sr. Vice President
Global Engineering Solutions

LEED SCHEDULING BIM

Dave Seiling PE, RCDD, PSP, CTS, PMP

Lead AV/IT/Security Consultant
Salas O’Brien



99 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 100LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Provide an availability matrix table that identifies the specific key personnel that will be assigned to this project. The table should include for every team member that will be assigned to the project.

*Denotes Key Personnel

Personnel/Firm Project Role G
en

er
al

 C
on

di
tio

ns
 B

ud
ge

t F
un

de
d

De
si

gn
-B

ui
ld

 F
ee

 F
un

de
d

Project Availability 

Remarks on AvailabiltyDe
si

gn
/P

re
co

ns
tr

uc
tio

n

Co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n

Pamela Murray Johnson, VP, SmootDC Project Executive  25% 25% Available to start the preconstruction phase of Lamond-Riggs Community College

Shawn Miller, SmootDC Construction Project Manager  25% 100%
DC Infrastructure Academy: currently in GMP development with 4th QTR 2023 construction start
DCRA Phase II: currently in preconstruction with 3rd QTR 2024 construction start
MLK Library Restoration: ongoing tenant improvements

Scott Davis, SmootDC Construction Field Superintendent  10% 100% Available immediately upon notice to proceed with construction.

Kahlil Andrew, SmootDC Project Engineer  0% 100% Currently working on multiple projects; available to start preconstruction this fall

Apryl Webb, SmootDC Design Manager  50% 25% Currently working on multiple projects; available to start preconstruction this fall

Jackie Washington, SmootDC Executive Support  25% 0% Currently working on multiple projects; available to start preconstruction this fall

Brendan McHugh, SmootDC Interiors Estimator  25% 0% Currently working on multiple projects; available to start preconstruction this fall

Peter Baker, Quinn Evans Project Architect  75% 25% Available for the Project

Erin Carver, Quinn Evans Interior Designer  25% 0% Available for the Project

Joseph Cellucci, Quinn Evans Educational Designer  25% 0% Available for the Project

Josh Woolcock, SK&A Structural Principal in Charge  20% 20% Available for the Project

David Pirnia, SK&A Structural Project Manager  40% 20% Available for the Project

Chad Sullivan, Global Engineering Solutions Senior Mechanical Engineer  50% 25% Available for the Project

Michael Soong, Global Engineering Solutions Senior Electrical Engineer  50% 25% Available for the Project

Abdullah Ayazi, Global Engineering Solutions Sr. Vice President  10% 10% Available for the Project

Jessie Ponce de Leon, Gordon Lead Civil Engineer  25% 0% Available for the Project

Dave Seiling, Salas O’Brien Lead AV/IT/Security Consultant  30% 20% Available for the Project

Omar McIntosh, EVP,  SmootDC Executive Support  10% 10% Currently working on multiple projects; available to for all phases

Jeffrey Luker, Quinn Evans Principal in Charge  25% 25% Available for the Project

Chrystal Stowe, VP, SmootDC  CBE Outreach  10% 25% Currently working on multiple projects; available to for all phases
Adam McConnell, SmootDC Safety  Currently working on multiple projects; available to for all phases



101 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 102LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Relevant Experience

District of Columbia Public School Construction                                                            
Washington, DC

Project Executive and Corporate Executive: Phelps AEC High School, The 
School Without Walls High School, Eastern High School, Takoma Education 
Campus, Mann Elementary School, Brookland Middle School, Lafayette 
Elementary School, Orr/Boone Elementary School. Ms. Murray Johnson was 
account manager/ project executive providing staff and risk management 
for the successful construction of these District of Columbia new and 
renovated High School, Middle School and Elementary School construction 
projects.

Tysons Corner Tower 3 Construction, Washington Headquarters Services 
IDIQ, SCIF for Government Client; Project E for Government Client                                                                                                                               
Virginia/Washington, DC                                                                                                  
Corporate Executive: Ms. Murray Johnson was corporate executive 
responsible for management and oversight of TS staff providing 
Construction and Management of Sensitive Compartmented Information 
Facilities VERSION 1.5.1, IC Tech Spec – for ICD/ICS, 705, An 
Intelligence Community Technical Specification Prepared by the National 
Counterintelligence and Security Center (dated July 26, 2021).

Montgomery College, Prince Georges Community College, and 
Marymount University                                                           
Maryland/Virginia

Project Executive: Ms. Murray Johnson was project executive responsible 
for construction and construction management at risk for these Higher 
Education Clients. Responsibilities included: cultivating client relations, 
preconstruction, GMP development; staff management and supervision; 
subcontract management and supervision; budgets, schedules and risk 
management; contract/change order negotiations; claims mitigation; and 
quality control.

NIH Building 10 ‘A’ Wing Addition, 
Washington Hospital Center Renovations                                                                                                                                
Washington, DC                                                                                                            
Assistant Project Manager/Engineer: For these Healthcare projects, Ms. 
Murray Johnson was responsible for developing scopes of work, writing 
subcontract agreements, coordinating the work of trades, working with the 
design team to solve daily construction issues, and managing the flow of 
information, including RFIs, meeting minutes, submittals/shop drawings, 
safety incidences. She also worked with the preconstruction team to 
develop budgets and pricing for changes. 

Pamela Murray Johnson, PE
Vice President, Project Executive

EDUCATION 
Bachelor’s of Science (BS)  
Civil Engineering Howard University

OSHA 30 Certified 

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

Construction Industry: 35
Experience in Current Role: 1

Prior Roles: 34
(= Highlighted Project in the Past 
Performance Section)

% OF TIME DEVOTED TO PROJECT

Pre-construction: 25%
Construction: 25%

CURRENT WORKLOAD OVER THE 
NEXT YEAR 

Pamela is currently available to start 

the preconstruction phase of Lamond-

Riggs Community College

JOHNSON  resume
page 2 of 2

Lafayette Elementary School
Washington, DC
Project Executive: This $72 million, 120,000-SF design-build facility 
included modernization and expansion project in a tight, urban location. The 
modernization involved restoration of the existing schoolhouse façade; a 
slight enlargement of the parking lot; renovation of all exterior play and field 
surfaces; installation of green roofs; and stormwater management features. 
The project also included fast-track construction of an 82-classroom trailer 
swing space located on existing ball fields at the rear of the school. LEED 
Gold certified.

Brookland Middle School
Washington, DC
Project Executive: This $58 million, 107,000-SF design-build renovation 
project. Phase one consisted of preconstruction services and the demolition 
of existing building. Phase two consisted of construction of a new building 
with admin offices, cafeteria, media center, classrooms, labs and teacher 
work center. Ball fields and running track were reconstructed. New basketball 
and tennis courts, bioretention stormwater management system, sidewalks, 
landscaping, fencing, site lighting and electrical parking gate arm were 
installed. LEED Platinum certified.

Horace Mann Elementary School 
Washington, DC
Project Executive: The $38 million, 57,830-SF design-build facility included 
modernization and expansion of an existing Pre-K through 5 elementary 
school in a tight, urban location. The original 20,000-SF facility was built in 
1931 and now complete it includes two new additions totaling 37,830-SF. 
Phase one included the modernization of the existing facility on a fast track, 
two and a half month schedule. Phase two included construction of two 
additional steel framed buildings with an open atrium entrance connecting 
the additions to the existing structure. Phase three included completion of 
multi-purpose spaces and final sitework, playgrounds, basketball court and 
fields. Michael Marshall and Pamela Murray Johnson were the designer and 
builder for this project. The project is seeking LEED® Gold certification.



103 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 104LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Relevant Experience

Martin Luther King, Jr. Memorial Library Modernization | $113.8M
Washington, DC
Project Manager:  Shawn managed early phases of the major 
modernization of the Martin Luther King Jr. Memorial Library (Central 
Library) that included a new auditorium with seating for over 200 people 
within the existing footprint. The early phases of the project involved 
coordination with multiple stakeholders, including Metro and DDOT, with a 
major focus on traffic control and pedestrian safety on the heavily traveled 
area at 9th and G Street NW. Construction services provided on the 400,000-
sf facility included abatement, demolition, new MEP, and life safety and 
conveying systems throughout the building.

Children’s National Hospital Research and Innovation Campus | $100M
Washington, DC
Project Manager:  The project is part of a 400,000 SF medical research 
and innovation hub that sits on 12 acres of the Historic Walter Reed site 
in NW DC. The facility supports precision medicine and genomic research 
and has a pediatric outpatient center and presentation hall. Shawn led 
the team tasked with the three-building renovation and parking garage 
included retrofitting the interiors of each facility; completely restoring the 
exteriors; adding underground telecommunications; providing storm, sewer, 
and water improvements; and enhancing the landscaping. Shawn ensured 
subcontractor engagement and execution and ensured that the economic 
inclusion goals were met and upheld the quality of work expected by the 
client.

Franklin Park | $18.5M
Washington, DC
Project Manager: Shawn managed transformation of Franklin Park into 
an active, flexible, sustainable and historic urban park and community 
gathering place. Renovations to the park included restoring and replacing 
the tree canopy, restoring the soil, significant regrading and relocation of 
paths, rain gardens for on-site surface stormwater management, restoration 
of the central flag-stone plaza with a redesigned interactive fountain, 
restoration and augmentation of historic light-fixtures, benches and fencing, 
creation of a new “children’s garden” informal play area, and a Cafe-Pavilion, 
deck and plaza, located at the southern edge of the site.

Shawn Miller, AIA, ABC, CSI
Construction Project Manager

EDUCATION
Bachelor of Science in Architecture, 
University of the District of Columbia
Project Managers’ and 

Superintendents’ Academy, ABC

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

Construction Industry: 28
Experience in Current Role:  11

Prior Roles: 17
(= Highlighted Project in the Past 
Performance Section)

% OF TIME DEVOTED TO PROJECT

Pre-construction: 25%
Construction: 100%

CURRENT WORKLOAD OVER THE 
NEXT YEAR

DC Infrastructure Academy: currently 
in GMP development with 4th QTR 
2023 construction start

DCRA Phase II: currently in 
preconstruction with 3rd QTR 2024 
construction start

MLK Library Restoration: ongoing 
tenant improvements

MILLER resume
page 2 of 2

506 Longfellow Arms Condominiums |  $50M
Washington, DC
Project Manager: Existing three story with basement, (30 units), 
apartment building. Complete interior gut and rehabilitation with 
cosmetic exterior work and the addition of a pedestrian bridge at 
entrance. Construction Management and CA services rendered.

National Law Enforcement Officers Memorial Fund Museum/Retail | 
$5M
Washington, DC
Project Manager:  Downtown DC, existing photo retail space on first 
floor of large office building. Completed an interior gut. Interior fit-out 
of new space to be used as a Museum/ retail store for the NLEOMF 
Headquarters located in same building. Architectural redesign required, 
Interior design services, electrical work needed. Permit services 
rendered. Obtained various trade bids, negotiated contracts of various 
subs and awarded the work. Monitored strict adherence to the 
design documents during all phases of construction. Formulated and 
monitored budgets, RFIs, Submittals, and project schedule. Called and 
ran meetings with various consultants, Owner, GC, A/E, owner provided 
subs, etc. Performed Project close-out. Generated and monitored punch 
list for closeout and turn over to client.



105 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 106LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Relevant Experience

Entertainment and Sports Arena | $70M                                                                 
Washington, DC

Superintendent: The 118,000-sf facility includes separate sections for 
practices, training, and other public uses. The practice facility boasts 
two full-size courts, locker rooms, team offices, conference rooms, 
specialty treatment spaces, and more training areas. The 4,200-seat 
arena has multiple configuration capabilities and consists of restaurant 
space and cutting-edge audio and lighting systems. Sitework included 
extensive Bioretention areas and stormwater storage facilities, plazas, and 
landscaping. The building achieved LEED® Gold status.                                                            

Joy Evans Therapeutic Recreation Center | $40.4M                                                            
Washington, DC

Superintendent: Scope of work includes HAZMAT abatement and 
demolition of an existing Ward 7 therapeutic recreation center to make way 
for a new building of approximately 37,000-sf. The new facility will include a 
therapy pool, spa, locker center, senior room, caregiver room, multipurpose 
room, kitchen,lobby, administrative spaces as well as associated 
playgrounds, splash pad, gardens, landscaping, walk paths and parking. This 
urban site required multiple site utilization plans and close coordination with 
the community to ensure success. 

Ward 3 Temporary Housing | $28.3M                                                                  
Washington, DC

Superintendent: The Ward 3 Family Housing project is a new 45,000-
sf facility for homeless families. The structure consists of a one-story 
conventional concrete podium, with five stories of composite wall panels 
and a façade. In addition to the 50 “dorm style” rooms, indoor and outdoor 
community spaces are provided. This LEED® gold project includes a 
green roof, bioretention rain garden, and features for enhanced indoor 
environmental quality. The building placement was a challenge as the 
property was on a tight urban site next to an existing police station and 
adjacent properties with site walls that could not be removed.plazas, and 
landscaping. The building achieved LEED® Gold status.

Navy Federal Credit Union*                                                                 
Vienna, VA

Wilson Secondary School*                                                                 
Arlington, VA

USAMRIID *                                                               
Fort Detrick

Scott Davis, CQM
Construction Field Superintendent

EDUCATION

OSHA 30 Certification

First Aid and CPR Training

USACE/NAVFAC CQM

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

Construction Industry: 30+
Experience in Current Role:  12

Prior Roles: 18
(= Highlighted Project in the Past 
Performance Section)

% OF TIME DEVOTED TO PROJECT

Pre-construction: 20%
Construction: 100%

CURRENT WORKLOAD OVER THE 
NEXT TWO YEARS

Paul Mueller is available immediately 

upon notice to proceed with 

construction.

 
Museum Support Center *                                                                
Fort Belvoir

US Capitol Visitors Center*                                                                
Washington, DC

Barracks Complex *                                                               
Fort Myers

Runway project *                                                          
Dulles Airport

*completed in previous association

DAVIS resume
page 2 of 2

EDUCATION

Bachelor of Science (BS)  
Construction Engineering  
East Tennessee State University

OSHA 10-hour

Emergency Care and Safety Institute 
First Aid

AHA Heartsaver CPR AED

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

Construction Industry: 20
Experience in Current Role:  1

Prior Roles: 14
(= Highlighted Project in the Past 
Performance Section)

% OF TIME DEVOTED TO PROJECT

Pre-construction: 10%
Construction: 100%

CURRENT WORKLOAD OVER THE 
NEXT YEAR

Scott Davis is available immediately 

upon notice to proceed with 

construction.



107 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 108LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

EDUCATION
Master of Architecture, University of 
Michigan, 1984

Bachelor of Science in Architecture, 
University of Michigan, 1984 

Bachelor of Arts, Dartmouth College, 
1980 

CERTIFICATIONS/TRAINING/
LICENSES
Registered Architect

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

Construction Industry: 40
Experience in Current Role: 20
Prior Roles: 20

% OF TIME DEVOTED TO PROJECT

Pre-construction: 25%
Construction: 15%

CURRENT WORKLOAD OVER THE 
NEXT YEAR
Available for the Project

Relevant Experience

Jeffrey Luker, AIA, LEED AP
Principal in Charge

University of the District of Columbia - Academic Commons & Center for 
Advanced Learning | $10.4M
Washington, DC
Principal in Charge: Renovation of the renewal of the Learning Resource 
Division LRD library. The project is located between the University Student 
Center and Denard Plaza, and develops a newly envisioned Center for 
Advanced Learning. The project provides a mix of quiet study, group 
meeting rooms, computer resources and faculty spaces. The Center 
for Advanced Learning wing features a technology gym, exhibit, digital 
production studios, information technology areas, classrooms, and faculty 
offices.

University of the District of Columbia - CAS and CAUSE Building | 
Preliminary Design
Washington, DC
Principal in Charge: Adaptation of the 4250 Connecticut Avenue Building 
to serve UDC’s College of Arts, (CAS) and College of Agriculture, Urban 
Sustainability and Environmental Sciences (CAUSE) programs.

Gallaudet University - Living and Learning Residence Hall | $16.7M
Washington, DC
Principal in Charge: Design-build development of a new 60,000-SF 
residence hall to accommodate 175 students. The new facility integrates 
collaborative learning into campus living by promoting interaction among 
students, faculty, and staff. In addition to integrating the University’s new 
Deaf Space Guidelines, the design demonstrates sustainable features such 
as geothermal wells for heating and cooling. LEED®-Silver certified.

Gallaudet University - Ballard and Fay Houses | $3.1M
Washington, DC
Principal in Charge and Project Manager: Renovation of the Ballard House, 
Fay House and Dawes House for Gallaudet University. The renovation 
repurposed the houses from administrative offices to Living and Learning 
College Houses. Dawes House was renovated to accommodate academic 
and research office uses. All three Houses are designated on the National 
Register of Historic Places.

Trinity Washington University - Alumnae Hall | $35M
Washington, DC
Principal in Charge: Concept Plan for a comprehensive modernization 
of the 67,000-sf Alumnae Hall, a historically significant building designed 
by Maginnis & Walsh and constructed by Cassidy and Associates in 
1927. The building includes dining hall, dorm rooms, kitchen and athletic 
facilities.

Marie Reed Community Learning Center | $68.6M
Washington, DC
Principal in Charge: Comprehensive modernization of a 140,000-sf 
combined elementary school, recreation center, and community health 
center. The responsive design integrates the multi-block building into the 
surrounding urban fabric while establishing an enhanced sense of place 
and community identity. The elementary school accommodates 440 
students, and its spaces also support public use outside of school hours. 
The project site provides dynamic, vibrant and active civic spaces for 
active play, nature discovery, and outdoor learning. LEED®-Gold certified.

District of Columbia Public Schools |  Multiple projects | $12M-$25M each
Washington, DC
Principal in Charge: Led the design of many projects for DCPS, including: 
Van Ness Elementary School and Joy Evans Park, Ludlow-Taylor 
Elementary School, HD Cooke Elementary School, Alice Deal Middle 
School, Amidon-Bowen Elementary School, McKinley Middle School, 
Patterson Elementary School, and Kramer Middle School.

New Community Center and Park at the McMillan Site | Confidential cost
Washington, DC
Principal in Charge: A new public park and community center that will 
anchor a new mixed-use development on the site of a 19th-century water 
treatment site. QE provided initial preservation planning services to guide 
the adaptation of the site for modern uses, and subsequently designed 
an 8-acre park and 17,500-sf community center that will provide residents 
with educational and recreational opportunities.

Ongoing Projects

University of the District of Columbia
Multiple projects in construction (12/2023 est. completion - 25% involvement)
Principal in Charge  

DC Department of General Services / DC Public Schools - Thomas 
Elementary School
Washington, DC (Ongoing, 2026)
Principal in Charge

LUKER resume
page 2 of 2



109 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 110LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

EDUCATION
Master of Architecture, University of
Oregon, 2010

Master of Landscape Architecture,
University of Oregon, 2010

Bachelor or Science Architecture, 
University of Virginia, 2000

CERTIFICATIONS/TRAINING/
LICENSES
Registered Architect
Professional Landscape Architect 
National Council of Architectural
Registration Boards - Certified
LEED Accredited Professional, 
Building Design + Construction
Council of Landscape Architectural
Registration Boards - Certified

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

Construction Industry: 16
Experience in Current Role: 1
Prior Roles: 15

% OF TIME DEVOTED TO PROJECT

Pre-construction: 75%
Construction: 30%

CURRENT WORKLOAD OVER THE 
NEXT YEAR
Available for the Project

Relevant Experience

Peter Baker, AIA, RLA, NCARB, CLARB, ASLA, 
LEED BD+C
Project Architect

Frostburg State University – Education and Health Science Center | $66.5M
Frostburg, MD
Project Architect: The Education and Health Science Center at Frostburg 
State University is an excellent example of inclusive design that activates 
the buildings perimeter/edge to engage the surrounding community by 
creating a variety of places to gather that also provide glimpses into the 
interior program of the building. The goal being to sew/stitch the building 
within its context instead of treating it as an isolated object.

Salisbury University – Academic Commons | $108M
Salisbury, MD
Project Architect: While the atrium space of the Academic Commons at 
Salisbury University is an indoor space, it represents a design-build project 
that strove to create a highly collaborative centralize core/hub that links the 
various aspects of learning (initial inquiry, group study, individual exploration, 
advanced research) together through connectivity. The adjoining spaces 
are visually linked to one another and the same goals would be applied to 
the UDC LR project to ensure that the courtyard place is a vibrant place to 
gather and share of knowledge.

Providence Innovation Center | $53M
Providence, RI
Project Architect: The District Hall at the Providence Innovation District 
building is a unique community outreach facility that is dedicated to drawing 
in the wider community to encourage collaboration and the sharing of 
resources/knowledge with the building occupants. It is designed to provide 
a human scale point of integration with the urban context and provide an 
appropriate street scape face for the larger building.

US Botanic Gardens Production Facility Renewal | $210M
Washington, DC
Project Architect: The US Botanic Garden Production Facility Renewal 
project is a multi-phase project that recognizes the importance and need to 
factor in continued use of a facility while adapting to future conditions. The 
life/growth of the project, like a community college, is not a static event that 
can be isolated but rather it is a dynamic transformation that recognizes 
and reflects the ever evolving nature of the client.

BAKER resume
page 2 of 2 Smithsonian National Zoological Park – Perimeter improvements | 

Cost undisclosed
Washington, DC
Project Manager: Worked with Smithsonian stakeholders to visualize 
various ways to enhance the visitor experience when entering the zoo 
while also maintaining perimeter security.  Navigated the local DC 
agency review process for the Commission of Fine Arts (CFA), National 
Capital Planning Commission (NCPC) and State Historic Preservation 
Office (DC SHPO).

Sagamore Distillery | Cost undisclosed
Baltimore, MD
Project Architect: Work on the development and detailing of the entry 
volumes for a collection of 3 buildings that framed a courtyard in order 
to activate both the interior and exterior spaces.  These volumes helped 
the buildings engage with its context and provide appropriately scaled 
points of entry.

George Washington University Law Clinic | Cost undisclosed
Washington, DC
Project Architect: The Law Clinic was an adaptive reuse of three 
townhouses into a law school outreach facility with offices and a 
moot court to support the universities outreach and hands on learning 
program for law students.  It made use of current building infrastructure 
while creatively reprograming the interior so the facility worked as a 
collective and collaborative series of spaces within the envelope that 
maintained its historic looked of 3 discreet townhouse from the exterior.

Ongoing Projects

Suffolk Central Library
Suffolk, VA (Ongoing, 2023)
Project Architect 

US Botanic Gardens Production Facility
Washington, DC (Ongoing, 2030)
Project Architect



111 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 112LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Relevant Experience
Coppin State University - College of Business/School of Graduate Studies  | 
$32.5M
Baltimore, MD
Principal in Charge: Renovation and expansion of the four-story 62,000 SF 
former Percy Julian Science Building to provide cutting-edge spaces for the 
University’s College of Business  and Graduate Studies Program. A dynamic 
12,000 SF one-story addition is added to the top level of the existing building 
to create new technologically advanced classroom space and reimagine the 
building as an exciting new gateway to the university.

Eastern Michigan University - College of Business  | $15M
Ypsilanti, MI
Education Specialist/Design Principal: Programming, planning, and design 
of a 21st-century learning environment for the College of Business that 
encourages collaboration and connections on campus while maintaining the 
unique identity of the College. The College of Business is moving its faculty 
offices, classrooms, labs, student organization and support facilities to central 
campus from a former location in downtown Ypsilanti. Currently in design, the 
program includes 54,330 of assignable SF / 98,782 GSF, to be consolidated in a 
renovated and expanded Boone Hall, and relocating general academic spaces 
to other facilities on campus

University of Delaware - Mechanical Hall | $3M
Newark, DE
Project Manager/Architect: Renovation of a historic armory to house the Paul 
R. Jones Collection, one of the largest and most complete holdings of African 
American art in the nation. The project includes galleries, a study, conservation 
lab, art receiving/storage and graduate faculty offices. The collection is the 
centerpiece for interdisciplinary study between the University’s art, art history, 
and museum programs, and its American culture and social science programs. 
Work at previous firm.
 
St. John’s College - Mellon Hall | $11M
Annapolis, MD
Project Manager/Architect: Renovation and additions to Mellon Hall and 
the Francis Scott Key Auditorium complex on St. John’s College Campus 
in Annapolis. The historic building serves as the main classroom facility on 
campus, and includes science laboratories, 2D and 3D visual arts studios, 
a large ceramics studio, photography darkroom, faculty offices, a 600-seat 
auditorium, and a new cafe addition run by St. John’s College students. The 
project was completed in multiple phases. Work at previous firm.

Joseph Cellucci, AIA
Educational Designer

EDUCATION
Bachelor of Architecture, University of
Cincinnati, 1993 

CERTIFICATIONS/TRAINING/
LICENSES
Registered Architect
National Architectural Accrediting 
Board - Certified

(= Highlighted Project in the Past 
Performance Section)

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

Construction Industry: 40
Experience in Current Role: 20
Prior Roles: 20

% OF TIME DEVOTED TO PROJECT

Pre-construction: 25%
Construction: 0%

CURRENT WORKLOAD OVER THE 
NEXT YEAR
Available for the Project

Ongoing Projects

Coppin State University - College of Business/School of Graduate Studies
Baltimore, MD  (Ongoing, 2023)
Principal in Charge

William Schmidt Outdoor Environmental Education Center
Brandywine, MD  (Ongoing, 2023)
Principal in Charge

Eastern Michigan University - College of Business
Ypsilanti, MI  (Ongoing, 2024)
Education Specialist/Design Principal

CELLUCCI resume
page 2 of 2



113 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 114LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

EDUCATION
Master of Fine Arts in Design, Interior
Environments, Virginia  Commonwealth 
University, 2010

Bachelor of Arts in Studio Art, 
University of Mary Washington, 2008

CERTIFICATIONS/TRAINING/
LICENSES
Certified Interior Designer

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

Construction Industry: 14
Experience in Current Role: 13
Prior Roles: 1

% OF TIME DEVOTED TO PROJECT

Pre-construction: 25%
Construction: 0%

CURRENT WORKLOAD OVER THE 
NEXT YEAR
Available for the Project

Relevant Experience

Eastern Michigan University - College of Business  | $15M
Ypsilanti, MI
Interior Designer: Programming, planning, and design of a 21st-century 
learning environment for the College of Business that encourages 
collaboration and connections on campus while maintaining the unique 
identity of the College. The College of Business is moving its faculty 
offices, classrooms, labs, student organization and support facilities to 
central campus from a former location in downtown Ypsilanti. Currently 
in design, the program includes 54,330 of assignable SF / 98,782 GSF, to 
be consolidated in a renovated and expanded Boone Hall, and relocating 
general academic spaces to other facilities on campus

Career and Technical Center at Hull | $24.6M
Chesterfield, VA
Interior Designer: A multi-functional facility that combines career and 
technical education, school administration and an event center, all within the 
walls of an abandoned high school building. The design provides the County 
an opportunity to re-use existing space while building new programs for 
students and administrators in an innovative atmosphere.

Virginia Commonwealth University - College of Humanities and Sciences 
STEM Building | $125M
Richmond, VA
Interior Designer: A new state-of-the-art undergraduate teaching lab 
building on VCU’s Monroe Park Richmond campus for the College of 
Humanities and Sciences. The 164,000-SF building’s form and massing 
complement the historic Franklin Street context and mediate the scale 
between the larger and smaller structures on the street. Transparent 
features of the interior will create a dynamic open environment for 
collaboration to foster team-based learning, a spirit of scientific curiosity, 
and connections between departments and disciplines.

University of Richmond - Humanities Building | $15.9M
Richmond, VA
Interior Designer: Renovation of one of the most architecturally significant 
and historic buildings on campus. The renovation upgraded the systems 
and interior environment for the entire building, and repaired and improved 
the building envelope for energy efficiency. As part of the renovation, 
accessibility throughout the building was improved in all aspects, which 
included a new elevator and common space addition.

Erin Carver, CID, IIDA
Interior Designer

University of Richmond - Gottwald Center for Sciences Alterations | 
$1M
Richmond, VA
Project Manager/Senior Interior Designer: A laboratory renovation to 
support the university’s Integrative & Inclusive Science program, which 
introduces freshmen to STEM disciplines and careers. The renovation 
created a combination wet lab and classroom that can accommodate 
lectures, computation, and experiments in biology, chemistry, and 
physics, and either collaborative or group work.

Virginia Commonwealth University - Da Vinci Center Renovations | 
$400K
Richmond, VA
Interior Designer: A transformation of a historic row house into 
an innovation hub. A collaboration between the Schools of Arts, 
Engineering, and Business, the da Vinci Center features a dynamic and 
open environment for research and design at the intersection of the 
three disciplines. The new spaces create a collaborative environment 
with transparent, flexible work areas, setting the tone for the creative 
work of the Center.

Federal Reserve Board Headquarters | Confidential cost
Washington, DC
Interior Designer: restoration, renovation, and expansion of two of the 
Federal Reserve Headquarters’ three buildings: the Marriner Eccles 
Building, the Board’s historic home; and 1951 Constitution Avenue, a 
new acquisition across 20th Street from Eccles. The design for the 
modernization respects and maintains the buildings’ historic character 
while almost doubling their size (from 390,000 sf to 770,000 sf) via 
infill additions. Modern building, information technology, and security 
systems will be seamlessly integrated into the historic fabric. The 
project is targeting LEED®-Gold certification.

Ongoing Projects

Eastern Michigan University - College of Business
Ypsilanti, MI (Ongoing, 2024)
Interior Designer

Spotsylvania Middle School
Spotsylvania Courthouse, VA (Ongoing, 2023)
Interior Designer

Huntington Middle School
Newport News, VA (Ongoing, 2024)
Interior Designer

CARVER  resume
page 2 of 2



115 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 116LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Relevant Experience

University of the District of Columbia - Relocation of the Learning Research 
Division/Library | $7M
Washington, DC
Senior Mechanical Engineer: A 27,000 SF renovation to relocate the Learning 
Research Division/Library from Building 41 to Building 38/39. As part of the 
renovation all the MEP systems will be replaced with energy efficient systems 
that are integrated into the BACnet based energy management system.

University of the District of Columbia - Upgrades to the Van Ness Campus 
Athletic Facilities  | $3M
Washington, DC
Senior Mechanical Engineer: Conversion of grass fields to synthetic fields, new 
site lighting, new seating restrooms and new restroom/concessions pavilion.
 
University of the District of Columbia - 4250 Connecticut Ave - Programming 
& Spatial Layout | Unbuilt
Washington, DC
Senior Mechanical Engineer: A survey of the existing conditions, then prepare 
a POR/ narrative describing the changes to the MEP systems to accommodate 
the architect’s proposed fit out for College of Arts and Sciences (CAS) and 
College of Agriculture, Urban Sustainability and Environmental Sciences 
(CAUSES).

Howard University - Building 6 & 7, Walter Reed Campus | $75M
Washington, DC
Senior Mechanical Engineer: A study and schematic design of two buildings at 
the old Walter Reed campus for Howard University to convert one building into 
an Ambulatory Care Center and the other historic building into an Academic 
facility.

Ongoing Projects

Garfield Elementary School
Washington, DC (Ongoing, 2024)
Senior Electrical Engineer

Adams Education Campus
Washington, DC (Ongoing, 2025)
Senior Electrical Engineer

Michael Soong, PE
Senior Electrical Engineer

EDUCATION
Bachelor of Science, Electrical 
Engineering

CERTIFICATIONS/TRAINING/
LICENSES
Professional Engineer in DC, Maryland, 
and Virginia

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

Construction Industry: 31
Experience in Current Role: 3
Prior Roles: 28

% OF TIME DEVOTED TO PROJECT

Pre-construction: 30%
Construction: 20%

CURRENT WORKLOAD OVER THE 
NEXT YEAR
Available for the Project

Wilson Building
Washington, DC (Ongoing, 2024)
Senior Electrical Engineer

Tompkins Hall - George 
Washington University
Washington, DC (Ongoing, 2024)
Senior Electrical Engineer

Relevant Experience

University of the District of Columbia - Relocation of the Learning Research 
Division/Library | $7M
Washington, DC
Senior Mechanical Engineer: A 27,000 SF renovation to relocate the Learning 
Research Division/Library from Building 41 to Building 38/39. As part of the 
renovation all the MEP systems will be replaced with energy efficient systems 
that are integrated into the BACnet based energy management system.

University of the District of Columbia - Upgrades to the Van Ness Campus 
Athletic Facilities  | $3M
Washington, DC
Senior Mechanical Engineer: Conversion of grass fields to synthetic fields, new 
site lighting, new seating restrooms and new restroom/concessions pavilion.
 
University of the District of Columbia - 4250 Connecticut Ave - Programming 
& Spatial Layout | Unbuilt
Washington, DC
Senior Mechanical Engineer: A survey of the existing conditions, then prepare 
a POR/ narrative describing the changes to the MEP systems to accommodate 
the architect’s proposed fit out for College of Arts and Sciences (CAS) and 
College of Agriculture, Urban Sustainability and Environmental Sciences 
(CAUSES).

Howard University - Building 6 & 7, Walter Reed Campus | $75M
Washington, DC
Senior Mechanical Engineer: A study and schematic design of two buildings at 
the old Walter Reed campus for Howard University to convert one building into 
an Ambulatory Care Center and the other historic building into an Academic 
facility.

Georgetown University - Law Campus HVAC Study | $25M
Washington, DC
Senior Mechanical Engineer: Responsible for developing three HVAC system 
alternatives and energy models to replace the aging mechanical central plants 
on the campus. 

Ongoing Projects

Garfield Elementary School
Washington, DC (Ongoing, 2024)
Senior Mechanical Engineer

Adams Education Campus
Washington, DC (Ongoing, 2025)
Senior Mechanical Engineer

Chad Sullivan, PE, LEED AP
Senior Mechanical Engineer

EDUCATION
Bachelor of Science, Mechanical 
Engineering

CERTIFICATIONS/TRAINING/
LICENSES
Professional Engineer in DC

YEARS OF EXPERIENCE

Construction Industry: 21
Experience in Current Role: 3
Prior Roles: 18

% OF TIME DEVOTED TO PROJECT

Pre-construction: 30%
Construction: 20%

CURRENT WORKLOAD OVER THE 
NEXT YEAR
Available for the Project

Wilson Building
Washington, DC (Ongoing, 2024)
Senior Mechanical Engineer

Tompkins Hall - George Washington 
University
Washington, DC (Ongoing, 2024)
Senior Mechanical Engineer



117 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 118LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Overall Years of Experience
27

Education
MBA; BS, Civil Engineering

Omar provides executive oversight of Smoot’s regional office serving Washington, D.C., 
Maryland and Virginia. The team is comprised of more than 35 construction management 
professionals managing a variety of municipal, public works and private development 
projects. He leads the team by managing the overall operations and resources; developing 
and implementing key strategies for profitability, performance, and growth; ensuring staff has 
resources and direction required to fulfill contractual obligations; and acting as the primary 
senior level contact for various clients

Relevant Project Experience:
� Bowie State University, Learning Residence Hall and Entrepreneurship Center  

� Mazza Gallerie, Tishman Speyer

� Harvard University Treehouse Conference Center

� American University, Nebraska Hall

Omar Mcintosh
Executive Vice President | SmootDC

Overall Years of Experience
20+

Education
MBA; Master of Engineering-
Civil/Structural Engineering, 
Bachelor of Engineering-Civil 
Engineering

Apryl Webb brings 20 years of estimating experience working as a design manager and Vice 
President of Preconstruction on major design-build and CM at risk K-12 Schools projects 
for the District of Columbia. She will work closely with the Department to manage the 
design submission process of our design-build team for delivery of Tubman designs within 
your budget. She has vast experience managing the design phase and delivering accurate 
estimates for GMP contracts. 

Relevant Project Experience:
� Horace Mann Elementary School
� Brookland Middle School
� Lafayette Elementary School
� Boone Elementary School 

Apryl Webb, AVS, LEED® AP
VP, Preconstruction/Design Manager/ Structural and Envelope Estimator | SmootDC

TEAM SUPPORT

Overall Years of Experience
20+

Education
Master of City and Regional 
Planning;
Bachelor of Architecture

Jacquelyn (Jackie) Washington has over 20 years of experience in high-volume commercial 
and government preconstruction and cost estimating, specializing in interior construction, 
exterior closure, roofing and specialties. Her areas of expertise include design management, 
procurement, project controls, contract development, constructibility review, document 
control, and cost and schedule management. As Sr. Preconstruction Services Manager, 
Jackie will coordinate a team of in-house mechanical, civil, and electrical estimators to 
prepare detailed estimates. 

Relevant Project Experience:
� Bowie State University, Learning Residence Hall and Entrepreneurship Center 
� Roosevelt High School Modernization
� Dunbar Senior High School  
� Martin Luther King, Jr. Library Restoration 
� Entertainment and Sports Arena

Jackie Washington, LEED AP BD+CP
MEP and Civil Estimator | SmootDC

Overall Years of Experience
5

Education
BS; Business Administration

Brendan McHugh has experience in high-volume commercial and government 
preconstruction and cost estimating. His areas of estimating expertise are for the interior 
build-out of spaces, including classrooms, offices, kitchens, science laboratories, toilet rooms, 
auditorium and gymnasium spaces, and other common areas. He supports constructability 
reviews, GMP Development, and procurement. 

Relevant Project Experience:
� Bowie State University, Entrepreneurship Living Learning Center 
� Mazza Gallerie, Tishman Speyer
� Harvard University Treehouse Conference Center
� American University, Nebraska Hall

Brendan McHugh
Interiors Estimator | SmootDC

Overall Years of Experience
6

Education
ME, Civil Engineering;  
BA, Physics

Kahlil is a skilled project engineer currently driving the engineering services at the new 
PEPCO Mt. Vernon substation in Northeast Washington, DC. The scope of work includes 
the installation of 230kV GIS; three-story concrete and structural steel structure with an 
insulated precast panel facade and integrated bricks to blend with the neighborhood. The 
panels weighed approximately 60,000 pounds. The new 230kV/13kV indoor substation, with 
an ultimate capacity of 210MVA, supports load growth, has improved reliability, and is an 
interconnection site for PEPCO’s Capital Grid Program.

Relevant Project Experience:
� The New Mt. Vernon PEPCO Substation, Washington, DC 
� Franklin Park Renovation, Washington, DC 

� BNA Terminal Garage and Administration Building, Nashville TN 

Kahlil Andrews 
Project Engineer | SmootDC

Overall Years of Experience
15

Education
Bachelor of Science, Electrical 
Engineering, Northern Illinois 
University

Dave has over 15 years of experience in the design and implementation of electrical and 
technology systems. His dedication to technical mastery provides clients with a trusted advisor 
to navigate the constantly changing world of technology. Dave oversees a highly qualified 
team of engineers and practitioners providing coordinated designs for Audiovisual, Security, 
Telecommunications Cabling and Wireless systems. 

Relevant Project Experience:
� Annenberg Hall Maker Space, Northwestern University 

� Building 6 & 7, Walter Reed Campus, Howard University

� Galter Library, Northwestern University

� School of Music Auditorium, DePaul University

Dave Seiling, PE, RCDD, PSP, CTS, PMP
Lead AV/IT/Security Consultant | Salas O’Brien 



119 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 120LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Overall Years of Experience
15

Education
BS; Civil Engineering

Ms. Ponce de Leon has over 15 years of experience in civil engineering working on historic, 
cultural, adaptive reuse, residential, commercial, and mixed-use projects. As Managing 
Partner of GordonDC, Jessie is responsible for all consulting, engineering, and permitting 
operations within the District of Columbia. She is a member of ULI Washington and is 
currently co-chair of the WLI Steering Committee. Jessie is also an active alumna of Virginia 
Tech (VT); a member of the Civil Engineering Alumni and Land Development Executive 
Boards, and recently awarded the VT Outstanding Young Alumni achievement. In 2022, 
Jessie was recognized as one of Washington DC’s “40 Under 40” by the Washington Business 
Journal. 

Relevant Project Experience:
� Southeast Neighborhood Library, DC Public Library, 
� Thomas Elementary School Modernization, DC Public Schools
� Carnegie Library
� Federal Reserve Headquarters
� US Botanic Gardens Production Facility

Jessie Ponce de Leon, PE
Lead Civil Engineer | GordonDC

Overall Years of Experience
19

Education
Master of Architectural 
Engineering

As a Principal with SK&A, Josh is responsible for project oversight and mentoring of 
design teams for a wide range of projects, including new structures, as well as adaptive 
reuse, renovation, and expansion of existing structures.  He is actively engaged in projects, 
providing technical and managerial guidance of project teams, overseeing structural concept 
development, and inspiring teams to deliver efficient, creative solutions. 

Relevant Project Experience:
� DC Office of Public Records and Archives at the University of the District of Columbia, 
� Howard University STEM Center 
� Howard University Wonder Plaza Mixed-Use
� Virginia Tech Innovation Campus, North Potomac Yards Block 10
� Thomas Elementary School Modernization

David Pirnia, PE
Structural Project Manager | SK&A

Overall Years of Experience
15

Education
ME; Structural Engineering

An Associate with SK&A, David Pirnia, PE, is the structural design team lead and serves as 
our day-to-day point of contact on key projects.  Drawing on his years of experience, David 
guides and overseas the structural team, including implementation and refinement of the 
structural analysis and design efforts, document development, coordination, and construction 
administration services on their projects. 

Relevant Project Experience:
� Howard University STEM Center 
� Stateview Hotel and Conference Center at North Carolina Sate University,
� The George Washington University Duquès Hall Renovation
� Jefferson Middle School Modernization
� Thomas Elementary School Modernization, DC Public Schools

Josh Woolcock, PE, LEED AP
Structural Principal in Charge | SK&A

Overall Years of Experience
20+

Education
Master Compliance 
Administrator (MCA)

Chrystal has more than two decades of experience in the construction and development 
industry, concentrating on community involvement programs such as contractor diversity 
and local workforce participation. Chrystal has the overall responsibility for the administration 
of project-specific diversity and inclusion plans with a focus on apprenticeships and 
construction career development, community engagement plans, and contracting 
opportunities for diverse businesses. She has a strong record of accomplishments with 
achieving and/or exceeding participation goals on complex, large scale and fast-track 
construction and development projects.

Relevant Project Experience:

� Bowie State University, Learning Residence Hall and Entrepreneurship Center 
� Roosevelt High School Modernization 
� Dunbar Senior High School  
� American University, Nebraska Hall

Chrystal Stowe, ASID, NCIDQ
Vice President, CBE/Outreach Consulting | SmootDC

Overall Years of Experience
13

Education
Bachelor of English

Safety is a critical issue on any construction project, but it is even more critical on schools 
where students will remain on site during construction. Adam will ensure the safety of all 
students, workers, visitors and staff throughout the construction project. As an Occupational 
Health and Safety professional, his duties include building and maintaining a safety 
database which tracks incidents, injuries, and hazards, auditing jobsite safety, ensuring 
the implementation of corrective action, and conducting inspections to oversee safety 
compliance.

Relevant Project Experience:

� Bowie State University, Learning Residence Hall and Entrepreneurship Center 
� Roosevelt High School Modernization; Safety Manager 
� Dunbar Senior High School; Safety Manager 
� Martin Luther King, Jr. Library Restoration;   Safety Manager

Adam McConnell
Safety Manager | SmootDC

Overall Years of Experience
39

Education
Bachelor of Science, Electrical 
Engineering

Mr. Ayazi is a seasoned project manager with over 38 years of experience. Abdullah works 
collaboratively with his clients and project teams to develop solutions that encourage quality 
project delivery.  He fosters growth, communication and teamwork on all of his projects, with 
an eye toward client satisfaction. Abdullah is well known for delivering projects that meet or 
exceed clients’ goals for cost and schedule. 

Relevant Project Experience:
� Roosevelt High School Modernization 
� University of the District of Columbia - Relocation of the 801 North Capital Street 

Community College 
� 4250 Connecticut Ave - Programming & Spatial Layout, University of the District of 

Columbia
� Building 6 & 7, Walter Reed Campus, Howard University
� Law Campus HVAC Study, Georgetown University

Abdullah Ayazi, LEED AP
Sr. Vice President | Global Engineering Solutions



121 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 122LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Past Performance Reference Letters
K E Y  P E R S O N N E L



123 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 124LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Past Performance Reference Letters - Pamela Murray Johnson, Project Executive Past Performance Reference Letters - Pamela Murray Johnson, Project Executive

 

2201 Wisconsin Avenue, NW, Suite 305, Washington, DC 20007
Phone: 202.537.1107 | www.michaelmarshalldesign.com

 

 

 

 

July 31, 2023 
 
 
 
Mary Ann Harris 
Chief Contracting Officer  
c/o Michiko Gadson 
Contract Specialist 
University of the District of Columbia 
Office of Contracting and Procurement 
4200 Connecticut Ave, NW  
Bldg 39 Suite 200C 
Washington, DC 20008 
 
Re: Professional Reference for Pamela Murray Johnson 
 
Dear Ms. Harris, 
 
My name is Michael Marshall and I am a registered architect in the District of Columbia.  I have worked 
with Pamela for more than ten (10) years.  Our projects together include work for the District of 
Columbia Public Schools, the District of Columbia Superior Courts, as well as private work in Bethesda, 
Maryland.  She has always been an advocate for quality and integrity for the work in the construction 
industry. 
 
As an alum of the University of the District of Columbia and architect of the new Student Center, I highly 
recommend Pamela Johnson for your project.  If you need to speak with me directly, I am most easily 
reachable by email, michael@mmarshalldesign.com. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
 
Michael Marshall, FAIA, NOMA, NCARB 
President / Principal 
Michael Marshall Design LLC 
 
 

July 31, 2023 
 
Mary Ann Harris 
Chief Contracng Officer  
c/o Michiko Gadson 
Contract Specialist 
University Of the District of Columbia 
Office of Contracng and Procurement 
4200 Conneccut Ave, NW  
Bldg 39 Suite 200C 
Washington, DC 20008 
 
Re: Professional Reference for Pamela Murray Johnson 
 
Dear Ms. Harris, 
 
My name is Philip Arn, and I was a Senior Vice President at McKissack & McKissack in charge of the 
District of Columbia Public Schools Modernizaon and Construcon Program from June 2007 unl 
December 2017. Pamela Johnson was the builder-in charge of many of those schools.  She works hard to 
ensure client success.  Her projects have always been on me, on budget, and of high quality.   I highly 
recommend her for your project. I have worked with Pamela for more than 30 years on other project 
types too. Her aenon and passion to execute the construcon project’s objecves and goals were 
always of the highest quality and what a construcon project’s owner would like to see and have. 
 
If you need to speak with me directly, I am most easily reachable by email at Philiparn83@gmail.com. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Philip Artin 
 
Philip Arn, CCM, PMP, LEED AP BD+C 
 
Construcon Execuve / Advisor 
 
 



125 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 126LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Past Performance Reference Letters - Shawn Miller, Project Manager Past Performance Reference Letters - Shawn Miller, Project Manager

August 1, 2023 
 
Mary Ann Harris 
Chief Contracng Officer  
c/o Michiko Gadson 
Contract Specialist 
University Of the District of Columbia 
Office of Contracng and Procurement 
4200 Conneccut Ave, NW  
Bldg. 39 Suite 200C 
Washington, DC 20008 
 
Re: Professional Reference for Shawn Miller 
 
Dear Ms. Harris, 
 
My name is Ed Hunter, and I am a Senior Project Manager. I am currently, working for Harvey Cleary 
Builders.  I have worked with Shawn Miller for more than 6 years while at WCS Construcon.  Our 
projects together include work on the Park Chelsea at the Collecve Mul-story mixed use development.  
 
Shawn is a very talented and skilled manager. In addion to displaying excellent management skills on 
her projects by working well with the Owners, design consultants, Subcontractors/Vendors and team 
members, Shawn is a leader that follows up on assignments and details.  
 
Shawn is well rounded and can do it all from design review, to schedule development, subcontractor 
buyout, project management (at a very high level), esmang to project closeout. 
 
I have also witnessed Shawn, on several occasions incorporate her experience from other projects to 
Idenfy potenal issues before they occur.  
 
If you need to speak with me directly, I am most easily reachable by cell phone at 703-622-1287. Please 
feel free to call. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 

Ed Hunter 
 
Ed Hunter 



127 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 128LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Past Performance Reference Letters - Scott Davis,  Field Superintendent Past Performance Reference Letters - Scott Davis,  Field Superintendent

August 4, 2023 
 
Mary Ann Harris 
Chief Contracting Officer  
c/o Michiko Gadson 
Contract Specialist 
University Of the District of Columbia 
Office of Contracting and Procurement 
4200 Connecticut Ave, NW  
Bldg 39 Suite 200C 
Washington, DC 20008 
 
Re: Professional Reference for Scott Davis 
 
Dear Ms. Harris, 
 
My name is James Yonkos and I am a senior project manager with the architectural firm DLR. I have 
worked with Scott Davis for more than year and half. Our projects together include work on the Joy 
Evans Therapeutic Receation Center in Wahington DC.  He is a strong leader and has a true command of 
all field activities and has been exceptionally good at anticipating and proposing solutions for potential 
constructability issues. 
 
If you need to speak with me directly, I am most easily reachable by email, jyonkos@gmail.com. 
 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
James Yonkos 

August 3, 2023 
 
Mary Ann Harris 
Chief Contracng Officer  
c/o Michiko Gadson 
Contract Specialist 
University Of the District of Columbia 
Office of Contracng and Procurement 
4200 Conneccut Ave, NW  
Bldg 39 Suite 200C 
Washington, DC 20008 
 
Re: Professional Reference for Sco Davis 
 
Dear Ms. Harris, 
 
My name is Michael Etherton, and I am a Senior Project Manager Consultant for the Department of 
General Services (DGS) for the Department of Park and Recreaons (DPR).  I have worked with Sco 
Davis for more than two (2) years.  Our projects together include work for the Joy Evans Therapeuc 
Recreaon Center.  First let me state Sco is a strong leader and has a true command of all field 
acvies.   He is very professional and respecul with the client agency.  Sco is very knowledgeable 
about all aspects of the construcon industry.  He is very cost and schedule conscience and is proacve 
with any cost issues or schedule issues that arise.  Sco informs the client team immediately and 
provides costs savings and schedule alternaves if possible.  He is respected by all his subcontractors and 
consultants on the project.   Sco is a very important team member on the project and would 
recommend him for any future DGS work. 
 
If you need to speak with me directly, I am most easily reachable by email, Michael.etherton@dc.gov or 
by cell phone (202) 421-4977. 
 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
 
MICHAEL ETHERTON 
Senior Project Manager - Capital Construction Services  
Contractor with Department of General Services 
3924 Minnesota Ave, NE 5th Floor                    
Washington, DC 20019 
Mobile:  (202) 421-4977 
Email: Michael.Etherton@dc.gov  



129 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 130LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Past Performance Reference Letters- Jeffrey Luker, Principal in Charge Past Performance Reference Letters - Jeffrey Luker, Principal in Charge

 
246 Eighth Street, Southeast, Washington DC, 20003   

brian@curramor.com 

BRIAN J. HANLON AIA LEED AP®  

 
August 5, 2023 
 
To Whom it May Concern –  
 
Please accept this as my firm recommendation for the SmootDC, QUINN EVANS team with 
regard to the UDC Lamond Riggs Community College project.   
 
As the former director of the District of Columbia Department of General Services (DGS), I have 
extensive experience with this team and direct knowledge of their capabilities.  These projects 
include*: 
 

• HD Cooke Elementary School, in Adams Morgan, Washington, DC.  
• Amidon Bowen Elementary School, I Street SE, Washington, DC.  
• McKinley Middle School, T Street NE, Washington, DC.  
• Kramer Middle School, Anacostia SE, Washington, DC.  
• Marie Reed Community Learning Center, Adams Morgan, Washington, DC.  

   
As Director of DGS, I maintained close oversight of these and numerous other projects and 
focused on the highest quality outcomes in the built environment.  I focused on capabilities, 
responsiveness, creativity, quality of work (design and execution, and the overall commitment to 
elevating the quality of life for the District of Columbia. 
   
The SmootDC, QUINN EVANS team gets my strong recommendation.  I welcome any questions 
you may have.    
 
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
Brian J. Hanlon, AIA LEED AP®  

 

 

*Jeffrey Luker served as Principal in Charge for the five projects listed above. 



131 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 132LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Past Performance Reference Letters - Peter Baker, Project Architect Past Performance Reference Letters - Peter Baker, Project Architect

1

Peter Baker

From: Valer Larry Marcu <lmarcu@umd.edu>
Sent: Sunday, August 6, 2023 11:19 PM
To: Peter Baker
Subject: Reference for Mr. Peter Baker

Peter; 
 
Please see the professional reference email below. 
I'd also be happy to talk with whomever is on the receiving end of this email if additional dialogue would be beneficial. 
 
Best for now; 
 
--------- 
 
To whom it may concern; 
 
Please accept this email as a professional reference for Mr. Peter Baker of Quinn Evans Architects. 
 
Peter was the Project Architect for a Capital Construction program for which I was the Senior Project Manager for the 
University of Maryland.  During our collaboration, I was very impressed by Peter's commitment to our program, and his 
attention to detail throughout the design process.  He was particularly effective at flushing out concerns or 
challenges relative to design details while also not losing sight of the big picture. 
 
Peter was a consummate team player and a genuine pleasure to work with.  His participation in this manner was vital to 
the program's success as this effort had a significant number of stakeholders from various academic groups, and 
effective collaboration was key to our advancing successfully. 
 
Peter would be an undeniable asset to any program requiring a collaborative attitude and sound design experience.  I 
offer this as a positive recommendation for Peter and remain available to discuss additional details if it would be 
beneficial. 
 
with sincere respects; 

 
Larry Marcu 
Senior Project Manager 
Department of Planning & Construction 
Facilities Management 
University of Maryland, College Park 
Cell Phone: 240-882-2620 



133 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 134LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Past Performance Reference Letters - Joseph Cellucci, Educational Designer Past Performance Reference Letters - Joseph Cellucci, Educational Designer

August 7, 2023 

University of the District of Columbia 
Lamond Riggs campus project 
 
Quinn Evans Reference 
Principal Joe Cellucci 
 

Dear Selection Committee, 

I write this letter of reference in support of Quinn Evans as the architect firm of design and record for 
the Lamond Riggs campus renovation. I also have great confidence in Joe Cellucci to contribute to the 
architectural design and project management. From my experience this team will prove to have 
rewarding and remarkable results. 

My qualifications to verify this reference are twenty-two years as the Director/VP of Facilities and 
Exhibits at Port Discovery Children’s Museum and five years as a designer with Gallagher and Associates 
in Washington, DC working mainly on Smithsonian Exhibition Designs. I have worked with numerous 
award-winning architect firms on projects ranging from one to thirty-million-dollars. 

My closest collaborative project with Joe Cellucci was the stunning renovation of a high priority exhibit 
at Port Discovery Children’s Museum, Tot Trails. Some elements that made this renovation both 
challenging and rewarding were: 

• The target age range of zero to thirty-six months 
• The ability to proceed through the entire project with full occupancy 
• The high expectations of the Board of Trustees and staff with a wide array of desires 
• A modest budget and restricted funding 
• The ability to lead our team of staff and contractors for a seamless final product  

Joe exceeded all expectations for each of these qualifying aspects. He was a joy to work with. You could 
immediately sense his ability to thoroughly listen and respond with surgical questioning that identified 
the core of each objective. Our constituents, contractors and staff were unanimously impressed with 
Joe’s work, which was foundational for building codes and specifications and inspirational for creative 
design solutions. 

Without hesitation, I highly recommend Joe Cellucci and the Quinn Evans team for your capital project 
to modernize the Lamond Riggs campus.  They are sure to help you advance your vision, mission and 
goals towards the Equity Imperative.  

Sincerely, 
David Berman 
Former VP of Exhibits and Facilities 
Port Discovery Children’s Museum  
Baltimore, MD 21202 
T. 443-509-2633 
E. David.Berman.DBD@gmail.com 
 

 

July 31, 2023 

 
Re: Reference for Joe Cellucci, Quinn Evans Architectural Services at Coppin State University 
 
In my capacity as Director of Campus and Capital Projects for Coppin State University, I am pleased to provide a letter of 
high recommendation for Joe Cellucci, Principal at Quinn Evans, related to our College of Business Renovation and 
Addition, Elevator and Overhead Connector Addition, redevelopment of the Coppin State University Main Quad, and 
various other design and feasibility studies. 
 
Joe was instrumental in working with CSU through all phases, from programming through construction for these 
successful and award-winning projects. Through a process of engaging work sessions with our various and diverse user 
groups, our program for the College of Business was adjusted to accommodate both shared space amongst academic 
departments, as well as to identify collaboration space that students would be able to use outside of classrooms and 
faculty areas in the public parts of the building. The programming process was highly interactive and provided detailed 
layouts of the learning spaces and various specialties spaces that now make up the building.   
 
Quinn Evans design approach for the College of Business and the Elevator Connector Addition projects  was to explore 
many design options, knowing that these would be campus gateway buildings for us. Both projects achieved the design 
goals set forth during the design phase. The Coppin Main Quad redevelopment project was a welcome addition to our 
campus. It replaced a brutal brick paved gathering area and converted it into a warm and inviting campus green space 
with shade trees, a fountain, an outdoor classroom, and seating areas. The project also included opening up the façade 
of an existing adjacent building and creating a student café to activate the new campus quad.  It was the first project on 
CSU’s campus to use water harvesting techniques for the irrigation system that has now become a campus standard. 
The project won AIA Maryland Public Building of the Year award, as well as the AIA Baltimore Grand Design Award. The 
Elevator Connector project received an AIA Baltimore Design Excellence award.   
 
All the projects achieved their overall budget and schedule goals.  We had productive discussions at phase deliverables 
to manage scope and address value engineering suggestions that both the design team and the construction manager 
brought to the table.  Many of those suggestions were accepted and incorporated into the projects. 
 
We enjoy working with Joe and the Quinn Evans team throughout the process and as we worked through the final 
details of the projects, they were always responsive and able to solve issues to our satisfaction. 
 
Joe is an incredible representative for Quinn Evans. He is prepared and ensures a positive approach to working with the 
entire Coppin team. He is a pleasure to work with.  His professional skills and attention to detail, and the ability to 
provide CSU with a quality service and within a timely manner, is a testament to the design Industry.   

We are proud of our facilities and most of all, excited about what it has meant to our student and faculty community.  I 
would highly recommend Joe and Quinn Evans Architects. Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions or 
require further details. 
 
Sincerely, 
Sam Patterson 
Director of Campus and Capital Projects 
SPatterson@coppin.edu 
410 951 3769 



135 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 136LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Past Performance Reference Letters - Erin Carver, Interior Designer Past Performance Reference Letters - Erin Carver, Interior Designer

 
 
 
 
 

9 August 2023 
 
 
To Whom It May Concern: 
 
I have worked with Erin Carver on several projects at the University of Richmond, most 
recently at the Humanities Building (formerly known as Ryland Hall). This renovation 
and addition to one of the original buildings on campus, built in 1914, was both a 
restoration of a historic gem as well as a transformational upgrade which created new 
and exciting spaces for current and future students. 
 
Erin was a key member of the design team, leading the programming and planning effort 
and driving the design of the interior space. She created warm and inviting spaces for 
students to work both independently and in small groups through the thoughtful 
selection of finishes and furniture. She was involved in the project from the initial kickoff 
meetings throughout design and construction and post-occupancy. Her continuous 
involvement allowed her to fully understand the project needs to create the most 
appropriate solution. 
 
Erin attends meetings with an open mind, asking questions, and looking for the best 
possible way to serve the students, faculty, staff, and visitors through the spaces she 
designs. She is personable, engaging, and a joy to have on the team.  
 
I look forward to working with Erin on future projects on our campus and 
wholeheartedly recommend her as a design partner on any project.  
 
Sincerely, 

 
Chuck Rogers 
University Architect 
 

 

An equal opportunity/affirmative action university 

 

 
August 1, 2023 
 
Quinn Evans Architects 
1840 West Broad St., Suite 400 
Richmond, VA 23220 
 
 
 
RE:  Reference Letter for Erin Carver 
 
To Whom It May Concern: 
 
I have worked with Erin Carver on several interior design projects at VCU over the last several years and with each 
project, she brings energy and enthusiasm to create the best design possible to meet our unique needs for each 
project. 
 
Most recently I worked with Erin on our new 6-story STEM Laboratory/Classroom building which is opening for use this 
semester.  We worked primarily on the interior finishes for this building which has resulted in a very vibrant and exciting 
facility for students and faculty use.  The initial comments are overwhelmingly positive and we are excited to see how 
these folks use, create and learn in this environment.  Erin was eager to propose finishes to meet our long-term 
use/abuse requirements. 
 
Erin has also worked on several renovation projects on both of our campuses, including historic office spaces as well 
as creating modern and open office spaces for the VCU School of the Arts Dean and their staff. These are just a 
couple of the examples of work Erin has done. Each are very different, but both address the needs and wants of the 
users to create welcoming and functional spaces. 
 
I have enjoyed working with Erin and look forward to future projects with her. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Caren R. Girard, CID 
Manager of Interior Design 
700 W. Grace St., Suite 1500 
Richmond, VA 23284 
crgirard@vcu.edu 
804.938.1106 
 
 
 

Virginia Commonwealth University 
Facilities Management  
Planning and Design 

700 West Grace Street, Suite 1500  
Box 843049 
Richmond, Virginia 23284-3049 

804-828-0182 • Fax: 804-828-2528 
TDD: 1-800-828-1140 
fmd@vcu.edu 
 



137 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 138LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Past Performance Reference Letters - Chad Sullivan, Senior Mechanical Engineer Past Performance Reference Letters - Chad Sullivan, Senior Mechanical Engineer 

MSStudioarchitecture LLC 11110 Sunset Hills Road #2472, Reston,VA 20195 v:202.642.3155    msstudioarchitecture.com             
  

 
 
 
          Sent via email  
 
 
7/13/20 
 
 
Mr. Chad Sullivan, PE, LEED AP 
Sr. Mechanical Engineer/Project Manager  
Global Engineering Solutions 
5225 Wisconsin Ave,  Suite 300 
Washington, DC 20015  
 
 
RE: Secure Room Design, 6th Floor,  Health and Human Services HQ 
 
Dear Chad, 
 
We wanted to take this opportunity to thank you and your staff for your work on the Level 
6 Secure Room design at Health and Human Services.  Your design analysis,  technical 
evaluation, production guidance and leadership on the project clearly enabled the project 
to be a success.  We very much appreciate the timeliness and accuracy of your team’s 
contract document production product, which was top notch. Your role proved you to be 
an invaluable partner and resource in the overall architectural and engineering process 
management and execution of the project.  Thank you for the time spent as an integral 
part of our team, and we look forward to additional opportunities to work together again 
in the future. 
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
Maury S. Saunders, AIA | NCARB 
President 
 
MSStudioarchitecture LLC 
11110 Sunset Hills Road #2472 
Reston, Virginia 20195 
  
 



139 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 140LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Past Performance Reference Letters - Michael Soong, Senior Electrical Engineer Past Performance Reference Letters - Michael Soong, Senior Electrical Engineer

 
 

 

 

December 3, 2020 
 
 
Mr. Michael Soong, PE 
Director of Electrical Engineering  
Global Engineering Solutions 
5225 Wisconsin Ave 
Suite 300 
Washington, DC 20015  
202-495-7746 
 
RE: National Institutes of Health, Building 10 F-wing Renovation 
 
Mike, 
 
I would like to take this opportunity to thank you and your team for your work on the NIH Bldg. 
10, F-Wing Renovation Project.  You were an invaluable partner and resource during the design 
and execution of the project.  Our clients tasked us with the herculean goal to increase the size 
of the project 3-fold, and keep the same design schedule, halfway through the design phase, in 
order to accommodate funding deadlines.  You and your electrical team supported LSY every 
step of the way and allowed NIH to take advantage of the funding.  This effort resulted in the 
construction of over 240,000 SF of modern research labs, ready for discovery, ahead of the NIH 
master plan. 
 
I appreciate your design expertise & management skills, and hope that we will find future 
opportunities to work together. 
 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Heather K. Johnson, AIA, LEED AP BD + C, NCARB 
Principal 
 
 
 



VOLUME 1

TECHNICAL PROPOSAL 

Representations, Certifications and 
other Statements of Offerors

TAB 7



139 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 140LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Bidder/Offeror Certification Form

Telephone # and ext.: Fax #:

Name: EIN: Status:

The person(s) completing this form must be knowledgeable about the Bidder's/Offeror's business and operations.  

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS
This form contains five (5) sections.  Section I concerns the bidder's/offeror's responsibility; Section II includes additional required certifications; Section III relates to 
the Buy American Act (if applicable); Section IV relates to the Walsh-Healey Act; and Section V requires the bidder's/offeror's signature. Please note, a determination 
that a prospective contract is found to be "not responsible" is final and not appealable.

RESPONSES
Every question must be answered.  Each response must provide all relevant information that can be obtained within the limits of the law.  Individuals and sole 
proprietors may use a Social Security number but are encouraged to obtain and use a federal Employer Identification Number (EIN).  Provide any explanation at the end 
of the section or attach additional sheets with numbered responses.  Include the Bidder's/Offeror's name at the top of each attached page.

Additional Legal Business Entity Identities:  If applicable, list any other DBA, Trade Name, Former Name, Other Identity and EIN used in the last five (5) years and the 
status (active or inactive).
Type:

Email Address:

1.1  Business Type (Please check the appropriate box and provide additional information if necessary.):

        Limited Liability Company (LLC or PLLC)

        Partnership (including LLP, LP or General)

        Corporation (including PC)

Date of Organization:

If "No" to Subpart 1.2, provide the jurisdiction where the bidder's/offeror's business was formed or incorporated.  Attach a Certificate or Letter of Good Standing from 
the applicable jurisdiction and a certified Application for Authority from the District, or provide an explanation if the documents are not available.

How many years in business?:

        Nonprofit Organization

Date of Organization:

Date of Registration or Establishment:

        Other Date established?:

  State _____________________________________                                                    Country  __________________________________

If "Other," please explain:  

1.2  Was the bidder's/offeror's business formed or incorporated in the District of Columbia?

(a)  Certify its intent to obtain the necessary license, registration or certification prior to contract award; or
(b)  Explain its exemption from the requirement.

1.3  Please provide a copy of each District of Columbia license, registration or certification that the Bidder/Offeror is required by law to obtain (other than those 
provided in Subpart 1.2).  If the Bidder/Offeror is not providing a copy of its license, registration or certification to transact business in the District of Columbia, it shall 
either:  

1.4   If your company, its principals, shareholders, directors, or employees own an interest or have a position in another entity in the same or similar line of business as 
the Bidder/Offeror, please describe the affiliation in detail.

BIDDER/OFFEROR CERTIFICATION FORM

Legal Business Entity Name: Solicitation #:

Address of the Principal Place of Business (street, city, state, zip code)

Website:

        Sole Proprietor

        Joint Venture Date of Organization:

PART 1:  BIDDER/OFFEROR INFORMATION

Date of Incorporation:

COMPLETION 

Instructions for Section I:  Section I contains eight (8) parts.  Part 1 requests information concerning the Bidder's/Offeror's business entity.  Part 2 inquires 
about current or former owners, partners, directors, officers or principals.  Part 3 relates to the responsibility of the Bidder's/Offeror's business.  Part 4 concerns 
the Bidder's/Offeror's business certificates and licenses.  Part 5 inquires about legal proceedings.  Part 6 relates to the Bidder's/Offeror's financial and 
organizational status.  Part 7 requires the Bidder/Offeror to agree to update the information provided.  Part 8 relates to disclosures under the District of Columbia 
Freedom of Information Act (FOIA).  

SECTION I.  BIDDER/OFFEROR RESPONSIBILITY CERTIFICATION

     Co

       Limited Liabi

       Partnership (i

       Sole Proprieto

       Nonprofit Org

   Jo

       Other

Yes       No

Page 1 of 6 Revised for DGS Contracts Procurement 2-26-2020

Smoot Construction Company of Washington DC  GF-2023-R-0029

5335 Wisconsin Ave NW, Suite 940, Washington, DC 2015 202.243.6688   None

pmjohnson@smootbuilds.com     www.smootbuilds.com

   None

 X          07/06/1984

               X

                
     Attached to this form.

 A copy of our Basic Business License is attached to this form and is valid until January 31, 2024.

      Not applicable

Bidder/Offeror 
Certification Form



141 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 142LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

If "Yes" to Subpart 5.1, provide an explanation of the issue(s), relevant dates, the Lien Holder or Claimant's name, the amount of the lien(s) and the current status of the 
issue(s).  

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.5, provide the years the Bidder/Offeror failed to file the return or pay the insurance, explain the situation and any remedial or corrective action(s) 
taken and the current status of the issue(s).  

6.5  During the past three (3) years, has the Bidder/Offeror failed to file a District of Columbia unemployment insurance return or 
failed to pay District of Columbia unemployment insurance?

PART 6:  FINANCIAL AND ORGANIZATIONAL INFORMATION

5.4  Engaged in any litigation with any government entity? If so, please identify and/or describe all threatened and pending 
litigation and/or claims, including but not limited to matters pending before any Boards of Contracts Appeals.

PART 7:  CONTRACTOR PROCUREMENT ACTIVITY WITHIN THE DEPARTMENT

5.1  Had any liens or judgments (not including UCC filings) filed against it which remain undischarged?

5.2  Had a government entity find a willful violation of District of Columbia compensation or prevailing wage laws, the Service 
Contract Act or the Davis-Bacon Act?

Within the past five (5) years, has the Bidder/Offeror:

6.6  During the past three (3) years, has the Bidder/Offeror failed to comply with any payment agreement with the Internal 
Revenue Service, the District of Columbia Office of Tax and Revenue and the Department of Employment Services?

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.7, provide an explanation of the issue(s), relevant dates, the government entity involved, any remedial or corrective action(s) taken and the current 
status of the issue(s). 

6.8  During the past three (3) years, has the Bidder/Offeror been audited by any government entity?

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.1, provide an explanation of the issue(s), relevant dates, the government entity involved, any remedial or corrective action(s) taken and the current 
status of the issue(s).  

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.2, provide an explanation of the issue(s), relevant dates, the government entity involved, the amount assessed and the current status of the issue(s).  

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.3, provide the bankruptcy chapter number, the court name and the docket number.  Indicate the current status of the proceedings as "initiated," 
"pending" or "closed".  

5.3  Received any OSHA citation and Notification of Penalty containing a violation classified as serious or willful?

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.4, provide the taxing jurisdiction, the type of tax, the liability year(s), the tax liability amount the bidder/offeror failed to file/pay and the current 
status of the tax liability.  

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.6, provide the years the Bidder/Offeror failed to comply with the payment agreement, explain the situation and any remedial or corrective action(s) 
taken and the current status of the issue(s).  

(a)  If "Yes" to Subpart 6.8, did any audit of the Bidder/Offeror identify any significant deficiencies in internal controls, fraud or 
illegal acts; significant violations of provisions of contract or grant agreements; significant abuse; or any material disallowance?
(b)  If "Yes" to Subpart 6.8(a), provide an explanation of the issue(s), relevant dates, the government entity involved, any remedial or corrective action(s) taken and the 
current status of the issue(s).  

6.1  Within the past five (5) years, has the Bidder/Offeror received any formal unsatisfactory performance assessment(s) from any 
government entity on any contract?

6.2 Within the past five (5) years, has the bidder/offeror had any liquidated damages assessed by a government entity over 
$25,000?

6.4  During the past three (3) years, has the Bidder/Offeror failed to file a tax return or pay taxes required by federal, state, District 
of Columbia or local laws?

6.3  Within the last seven (7) years, has the Bidder/Offeror initiated or been the subject of any bankruptcy proceedings, whether or 
not closed, or is any bankruptcy proceeding pending?

Please provide an explanation for each "Yes" in Part 5. 

6.7  Indicate whether the Bidder/Offeror owes any outstanding debt to any state, federal or District of Columbia government.

Yes      
d th
  No

Yes        No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes        No

No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes        No

Yes       No

Yes      No No

Yes       No

Page 3 of 6 Revised for DGS Contracts Procurement 2-26-2020

X

X

X

X

X

X

X
1

X

X

X

X

X

X

2.2  Been under suspension, debarment, voluntary exclusion or determined ineligible under any federal, District or state statutes? 

Within the past five (5) years, has any current or former owner, partner, director, officer, principal or any person in a position involved in the administration of funds, or 
currently or formerly having the authority to sign, execute or approve bids, proposals, contracts or supporting documentation on behalf of the bidder/offeror with any 
government entity:
2.1  Been sanctioned or proposed for sanction relative to any business or professional permit or license?

Additional Instructions for Section I, Parts 2 through 8:  Provide an explanation of the issue(s), relevant dates, the government entity involved, any remedial or 
corrective action(s) taken and the current status of the issue(s).  

3.2  Been proposed for suspension or debarment?

Within the past five (5) years, has the Bidder/Offeror:

2.4  Been the subject of an investigation, whether open or closed, by any government entity for a civil or criminal violation for any 
business-related conduct?

2.6  Been suspended, cancelled, terminated or found non-responsible on any government contract, or had a surety called upon to 
complete an awarded contract?

PART 2:  INDIVIDUAL RESPONSIBILITY

2.5  Been charged with a misdemeanor or felony, indicted, granted immunity, convicted of a crime, or subject to a judgment or a 
plea bargain for:
(a)  Any business-related activity; or

(b)  Any crime the underlying conduct of which was related to truthfulness?

1.5  If any officer, director, shareholder or anyone holding a financial interest in the Bidder/Offeror has a relationship with an employee of the Department or any 
District agency for whom the Department is procuring goods or services, please describe the nature of the relationship in detail.

2.8  In the past ten (10) years has the Bidder/Offeror ever been assessed liquidated damages, costs to re-procure, costs to complete, or any other monetary damages 
under a contract? If so, describe each such assessment in detail.

2.7  In the past ten (10) years has the Bidder/Offeror had a contract terminated, in whole or in part, for any reason? If so, describe each such termination in detail.

4.2  Please provide a copy of the bidder's/offeror's District of Columbia Office of Tax and Revenue Tax Certification Affidavit.

3.4  Been charged with a misdemeanor or felony, indicted, granted immunity, convicted of a crime, or subject to a judgment or 
plea bargain for:

PART 5:  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

4.1  Had a denial, decertification, revocation or forfeiture of District of Columbia certification of any Certified Business 
Enterprise or federal certification of Disadvantaged Business Enterprise status for other than a change of ownership?

Please provide an explanation for each "Yes" in Part 2 above.    

Within the past five (5) years, has the Bidder/Offeror:

3.6  Been denied a contract award (in whole or in part, for any reason) or had a bid or proposal rejected based upon a non-
responsibility finding by a government entity? If so, describe each such occurrence in detail. 
3.7 Had a low bid or proposal rejected on a government contract for failing to make good faith efforts on any Certified Business 
Enterprise goal or statutory affirmative action requirements on a previously held contract?
3.8  Been suspended, cancelled, terminated or found non-responsible on any government contract, or had a surety called upon to 
complete an awarded contract?

3.5  Been disqualified or proposed for disqualification on any government permit or license?

PART 3:  BUSINESS RESPONSIBILITY 

PART 4:  CERTIFICATES AND LICENSES

3.1   Been under suspension, debarment, voluntary exclusion or determined ineligible under any federal, District or state statutes?

2.3  Been proposed for suspension or debarment?

Please provide an explanation for each "Yes" in Part 3. 

Please provide an explanation for "Yes" in Subpart 4.1.   

(b)  Any crime the underlying conduct of which was related to truthfulness?

3.3  Been the subject of an investigation, whether open or closed, by any government entity for a civil or criminal violation for any 
business-related conduct?

(a)  Any business-related activity; or

Yes        No

Yes        No

Yes        No

Yes        No

Yes        No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes        No

Yes        No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes        No

Page 2 of 6 Revised for DGS Contracts Procurement 2-26-2020

Not applicable

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

No

No

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

Attached to this form.

Bidder/Offeror Certification FormBidder/Offeror Certification Form



141 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 142LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

If "Yes" to Subpart 5.1, provide an explanation of the issue(s), relevant dates, the Lien Holder or Claimant's name, the amount of the lien(s) and the current status of the 
issue(s).  

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.5, provide the years the Bidder/Offeror failed to file the return or pay the insurance, explain the situation and any remedial or corrective action(s) 
taken and the current status of the issue(s).  

6.5  During the past three (3) years, has the Bidder/Offeror failed to file a District of Columbia unemployment insurance return or 
failed to pay District of Columbia unemployment insurance?

PART 6:  FINANCIAL AND ORGANIZATIONAL INFORMATION

5.4  Engaged in any litigation with any government entity? If so, please identify and/or describe all threatened and pending 
litigation and/or claims, including but not limited to matters pending before any Boards of Contracts Appeals.

PART 7:  CONTRACTOR PROCUREMENT ACTIVITY WITHIN THE DEPARTMENT

5.1  Had any liens or judgments (not including UCC filings) filed against it which remain undischarged?

5.2  Had a government entity find a willful violation of District of Columbia compensation or prevailing wage laws, the Service 
Contract Act or the Davis-Bacon Act?

Within the past five (5) years, has the Bidder/Offeror:

6.6  During the past three (3) years, has the Bidder/Offeror failed to comply with any payment agreement with the Internal 
Revenue Service, the District of Columbia Office of Tax and Revenue and the Department of Employment Services?

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.7, provide an explanation of the issue(s), relevant dates, the government entity involved, any remedial or corrective action(s) taken and the current 
status of the issue(s). 

6.8  During the past three (3) years, has the Bidder/Offeror been audited by any government entity?

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.1, provide an explanation of the issue(s), relevant dates, the government entity involved, any remedial or corrective action(s) taken and the current 
status of the issue(s).  

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.2, provide an explanation of the issue(s), relevant dates, the government entity involved, the amount assessed and the current status of the issue(s).  

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.3, provide the bankruptcy chapter number, the court name and the docket number.  Indicate the current status of the proceedings as "initiated," 
"pending" or "closed".  

5.3  Received any OSHA citation and Notification of Penalty containing a violation classified as serious or willful?

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.4, provide the taxing jurisdiction, the type of tax, the liability year(s), the tax liability amount the bidder/offeror failed to file/pay and the current 
status of the tax liability.  

If "Yes" to Subpart 6.6, provide the years the Bidder/Offeror failed to comply with the payment agreement, explain the situation and any remedial or corrective action(s) 
taken and the current status of the issue(s).  

(a)  If "Yes" to Subpart 6.8, did any audit of the Bidder/Offeror identify any significant deficiencies in internal controls, fraud or 
illegal acts; significant violations of provisions of contract or grant agreements; significant abuse; or any material disallowance?
(b)  If "Yes" to Subpart 6.8(a), provide an explanation of the issue(s), relevant dates, the government entity involved, any remedial or corrective action(s) taken and the 
current status of the issue(s).  

6.1  Within the past five (5) years, has the Bidder/Offeror received any formal unsatisfactory performance assessment(s) from any 
government entity on any contract?

6.2 Within the past five (5) years, has the bidder/offeror had any liquidated damages assessed by a government entity over 
$25,000?

6.4  During the past three (3) years, has the Bidder/Offeror failed to file a tax return or pay taxes required by federal, state, District 
of Columbia or local laws?

6.3  Within the last seven (7) years, has the Bidder/Offeror initiated or been the subject of any bankruptcy proceedings, whether or 
not closed, or is any bankruptcy proceeding pending?

Please provide an explanation for each "Yes" in Part 5. 

6.7  Indicate whether the Bidder/Offeror owes any outstanding debt to any state, federal or District of Columbia government.

Yes      
d th
  No

Yes        No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes        No

No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes        No

Yes       No

Yes      No No

Yes       No

Page 3 of 6 Revised for DGS Contracts Procurement 2-26-2020

X

X

X

X

X

X

X
1

X

X

X

X

X

X

2.2  Been under suspension, debarment, voluntary exclusion or determined ineligible under any federal, District or state statutes? 

Within the past five (5) years, has any current or former owner, partner, director, officer, principal or any person in a position involved in the administration of funds, or 
currently or formerly having the authority to sign, execute or approve bids, proposals, contracts or supporting documentation on behalf of the bidder/offeror with any 
government entity:
2.1  Been sanctioned or proposed for sanction relative to any business or professional permit or license?

Additional Instructions for Section I, Parts 2 through 8:  Provide an explanation of the issue(s), relevant dates, the government entity involved, any remedial or 
corrective action(s) taken and the current status of the issue(s).  

3.2  Been proposed for suspension or debarment?

Within the past five (5) years, has the Bidder/Offeror:

2.4  Been the subject of an investigation, whether open or closed, by any government entity for a civil or criminal violation for any 
business-related conduct?

2.6  Been suspended, cancelled, terminated or found non-responsible on any government contract, or had a surety called upon to 
complete an awarded contract?

PART 2:  INDIVIDUAL RESPONSIBILITY

2.5  Been charged with a misdemeanor or felony, indicted, granted immunity, convicted of a crime, or subject to a judgment or a 
plea bargain for:
(a)  Any business-related activity; or

(b)  Any crime the underlying conduct of which was related to truthfulness?

1.5  If any officer, director, shareholder or anyone holding a financial interest in the Bidder/Offeror has a relationship with an employee of the Department or any 
District agency for whom the Department is procuring goods or services, please describe the nature of the relationship in detail.

2.8  In the past ten (10) years has the Bidder/Offeror ever been assessed liquidated damages, costs to re-procure, costs to complete, or any other monetary damages 
under a contract? If so, describe each such assessment in detail.

2.7  In the past ten (10) years has the Bidder/Offeror had a contract terminated, in whole or in part, for any reason? If so, describe each such termination in detail.

4.2  Please provide a copy of the bidder's/offeror's District of Columbia Office of Tax and Revenue Tax Certification Affidavit.

3.4  Been charged with a misdemeanor or felony, indicted, granted immunity, convicted of a crime, or subject to a judgment or 
plea bargain for:

PART 5:  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

4.1  Had a denial, decertification, revocation or forfeiture of District of Columbia certification of any Certified Business 
Enterprise or federal certification of Disadvantaged Business Enterprise status for other than a change of ownership?

Please provide an explanation for each "Yes" in Part 2 above.    

Within the past five (5) years, has the Bidder/Offeror:

3.6  Been denied a contract award (in whole or in part, for any reason) or had a bid or proposal rejected based upon a non-
responsibility finding by a government entity? If so, describe each such occurrence in detail. 
3.7 Had a low bid or proposal rejected on a government contract for failing to make good faith efforts on any Certified Business 
Enterprise goal or statutory affirmative action requirements on a previously held contract?
3.8  Been suspended, cancelled, terminated or found non-responsible on any government contract, or had a surety called upon to 
complete an awarded contract?

3.5  Been disqualified or proposed for disqualification on any government permit or license?

PART 3:  BUSINESS RESPONSIBILITY 

PART 4:  CERTIFICATES AND LICENSES

3.1   Been under suspension, debarment, voluntary exclusion or determined ineligible under any federal, District or state statutes?

2.3  Been proposed for suspension or debarment?

Please provide an explanation for each "Yes" in Part 3. 

Please provide an explanation for "Yes" in Subpart 4.1.   

(b)  Any crime the underlying conduct of which was related to truthfulness?

3.3  Been the subject of an investigation, whether open or closed, by any government entity for a civil or criminal violation for any 
business-related conduct?

(a)  Any business-related activity; or

Yes        No

Yes        No

Yes        No

Yes        No

Yes        No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes        No

Yes        No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes       No

Yes        No

Page 2 of 6 Revised for DGS Contracts Procurement 2-26-2020

Not applicable

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

No

No

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

Attached to this form.

Bidder/Offeror Certification FormBidder/Offeror Certification Form



143 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 144LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Contract Number Labor Hours Allocated

             (a)  The contract prices have been arrived at independently without, for the purpose of restricting competition, any consultation, communication or agreement 
with any bidder/offeror or competitor related to:  

The Bidder/Offeror certifies that:

7.1  What is your organization's Design Capacity (total labor hours) to conduct or purse business with the Department of General Services (DGS) in the current fiscal 
year? Design capacity is calculated by multiplying the total number of company employees dedicated to a particular line of business by no more than 12 hours per day. 
Person’s completing this form may be required to provide supporting documentation to substantiate allocable labor hours presented.

                  (a) Construction:_____________________________________labor hours

                  (b) Non-Construction:________________________________ labor hours

7.2 In the table below, please list:

                  (1) The active contracts your organization currently holds with the Department of General Services, please include the contract number(s) as a part of your
                  response; and

                  (2) The number of labor hours your organization has allocated to each active contract within the current fiscal year. (Note, if more entries are required, 
please

SECTION II.  ADDITIONAL REQUIRED BIDDER/OFFEROR CERTIFICATIONS

1.1  The bidder/offeror certifies that no officer or employee of the District of Columbia will benefit from this contract.  List the name(s) of any officer or employee of 
the District of Columbia that may benefit from this contract in section 1.2 below.

2.1  The signature of the Bidder/Offeror is considered to be a certification by the signatory that:

Instructions for Section II:  Section II contains four (4) parts.  Part 1 requests information concerning District of Columbia employees.  Part 2 applies to the 
Bidder/Offeror's pricing.  Part 3 relates to equal employment opportunity requirements.  Part 4 relates to First Source requirements.

PART 1.  DISTRICT EMPLOYEES NOT TO BENEFIT

(a)  Within sixty (60) days of a material change to a response; and
(b)  Prior to the exercise of an option year contract.

PART 8:  RESPONSE UPDATE REQUIREMENT
8.1  In accordance with the requirement of Section 302(c) of the Procurement Practices Reform Act of 2010 (D.C. Official Code  § 2-353.02), the Bidder/Offeror shall 

PART 2:  INDEPENDENT PRICE DETERMINATION REQUIREMENTS 

                    (i)  Those prices; 
                    (ii)  The intention to submit a bid/proposal; or

                    (iii)  The methods or factors used to calculate the prices in the contract.

             (b)  ____________________________________________________________________________________

              (a)  Is the person in the Bidder's/Offeror’s organization responsible for determining the prices being offered in this contract, and that the signatory has not 
participated and will not participate in any action contrary to subparagraphs 2.1(a)(i) through (a)(iii) above; or

              (b)  The prices in this contract have not been and will not be knowingly disclosed by the Bidder/Offeror, directly or  indirectly, to any other bidder/offeror or 
competitor before bid/proposal opening unless otherwise required by law;  and

1.2  The following officer or employee of the District of Columbia may benefit from this contract.  

             (a)  ____________________________________________________________________________________

PART 9:  FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT (FOIA)
9.1  Indicate whether the Bidder/Offeror asserts that any information provided in response to a question in Section I is exempt 
from disclosure under the District of Columbia Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), effective March 25, 1977 (D.C. Law 1-96; 
D.C. Official Code §§ 2-531, et seq.).  Include the question number(s) and explain the basis for the claim.  (The District will 
determine whether such information is, in fact, exempt from FOIA at the time of request for disclosure under FOIA.) 

              (c)  No attempt has been made or will be made by the Bidder/Offeror to induce any other concern to submit or not to submit a contract for the purpose of 
restricting competition.
2.2  The signature on the bid/proposal is considered to be a certification by the signatory that the signatory:

Yes       No

Page 4 of 6 Revised for DGS Contracts Procurement 2-26-2020

Therapeutic Recreation Center       DCAM-21-CS-RFP-0002

Ft. Dupont Ice Arena        DCAM-21-CS-RFP-0007

DC Infrastructure Academy       DCAM-22-CS-RFP-0019

Franklin Park         DCAM-19-CS-RFP-0062

Thomas Elementary School       DCAM-23-CS-RFP-0003

X

Not applicable

 [Insert full name of person(s) in the organization responsible for determining the prices offered
in this contract and the title of his or her position in the bidder's/offeror’s organization]

                    (i)   As an authorized agent, certifies that the principals named in subparagraph 2.2(b) above have not participated, and will not participate, in any action 
contrary to subparagraphs 2.1(a)(i) through (a)(iii) above; and
                    (ii)  As an agent, has not participated and will not participate in any action contrary to subparagraphs 2.1(a)(i) through (a)(iii) above.

2.3  If the Bidder/Offeror deletes or modifies subparagraph 2.1(b) above, the bidder/offeror must furnish with its bid a signed statement setting forth in detail the 
circumstances of the disclosure.

4.2  I certify that the Initial Employment Plan submitted with my bid or proposal is true and accurate.

PART 4:  FIRST SOURCE OBLIGATIONS

4.1  I hereby certify that I am fully aware of the requirements of the Workforce Intermediary Establishment and Reform of the First Source Amendment Act of 2011 
(D.C. Law 19-84), and agree to enter into a First Source Employment Agreement with the Department of Employment Services if awarded any contract valued at 
$300,000 or more which receives funds or resources from the District, or funds or resources which, in accordance with a federal grant or otherwise, is administered by 
the District government.

With regards to 2.4 (b), if the Bidder/Offeror has knowledge of such a financial interest, please provide a detailed explanation.

2.4  The Bidder/Offeror certifies that:

(a) there are no other entities related to it that are responding to or bidding on the subject solicitation or invitation to bid.  Related entities include, but are not limited to, 
any entity that shares management positions, board positions, shareholders, or persons with a financial interest in the Bidder/Offeror.  

              (b)  Has been authorized, in writing, to act as an agent for the following principal in certifying that the principal has not participated, and will not participate, in 
any action contrary to subparagraphs 2.1(a)(i) through (a)(iii) above:

SECTION III.  DOMESTIC PREFERENCE CERTIFICATIONS

Instructions for Section III:  Section III contains one (1) part which should only be completed if goods are being provided that are subject to the requirements of the 
Buy American Act.  

PART 3:  EQUAL OPPORTUNITY AND HUMAN RIGHTS OBLIGATIONS

3.1  I hereby certify that I am fully aware of the contents of Mayor's Order 85-85, Mayor's Order 2017-313 and the Office of Human Rights' regulations in Chapter 11 of 
the DCMR, and agree to comply with them while performing this contract.

PART 1:  BUY AMERICAN ACT COMPLIANCE (Applies if the bidder/offeror will provide goods to the District that are subject to the requirements of the 
Buy American Act)  

______________________________________________________  EXCLUDED END PRODUCTS

______________________________________________________  COUNTRY OF ORIGIN

PART 6:  LANGUAGE ACCESS OBLIGATIONS

6.1  For contracts where the contracting agency is a "covered entity" or "covered entity with major public contact" as defined in Sections 2(2) and 2(3) of the Language 
Access Act of 2004 (D.C. Official Code § 2-1931(2) and § 2-1931(3)), I hereby certify that I will comply with Language Access compliance requirements of the 
contracting agency while performing this contract.

1.1  In accordance with 41 USC 8301 et. seq . and implementing regulations, the bidder/offeror certifies that each end product, 
except the end products listed below, is a domestic end product.

________________________________________________________________________________________________

PART 7: CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

7.1  The bidder/offeror certifies that it presently has no interest and shall not acquire any interest, direct or indirect, which would conflict in any manner or degree with 
the performance of its obligations under the contract.  

8.1  The bidder/offeror certifies that it has verified with the Department of Small and Local Business Development (DSLBD) the current certifications of its proposed 
certified business enterprise (CBE) subcontractors.
8.2  The bidder/offeror certifies that it has verified with the Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs (DCRA), and any other licensing authority, that its 
proposed subcontractors possess all applicable licenses and permits required to perform the work.  

PART 8: SUBCONTRACTING OBLIGATIONS

(b) there are no current or former owners, partners, officers, directors, principals, managers, employees or any persons with a financial interest in the Bidder/Offeror 
who have a financial interest in the request for proposal or invitation for bid or any asset, tangible or intangible, arising out of any contract or scope of work related to 
the request for proposal or invitation for bid.

PART 5:  EMPLOYMENT ELIGIBILITY OBLIGATIONS
5.1  I hereby certify that the Bidder/Offeror has verified the identity and employment eligibility of all its employees.

Yes       No

Page 5 of 6 Revised for DGS Contracts Procurement 2-26-2020

Pamela Murray Johnson, Vice President

X

Bidder/Offeror Certification FormBidder/Offeror Certification Form



143 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 144LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Contract Number Labor Hours Allocated

             (a)  The contract prices have been arrived at independently without, for the purpose of restricting competition, any consultation, communication or agreement 
with any bidder/offeror or competitor related to:  

The Bidder/Offeror certifies that:

7.1  What is your organization's Design Capacity (total labor hours) to conduct or purse business with the Department of General Services (DGS) in the current fiscal 
year? Design capacity is calculated by multiplying the total number of company employees dedicated to a particular line of business by no more than 12 hours per day. 
Person’s completing this form may be required to provide supporting documentation to substantiate allocable labor hours presented.

                  (a) Construction:_____________________________________labor hours

                  (b) Non-Construction:________________________________ labor hours

7.2 In the table below, please list:

                  (1) The active contracts your organization currently holds with the Department of General Services, please include the contract number(s) as a part of your
                  response; and

                  (2) The number of labor hours your organization has allocated to each active contract within the current fiscal year. (Note, if more entries are required, 
please

SECTION II.  ADDITIONAL REQUIRED BIDDER/OFFEROR CERTIFICATIONS

1.1  The bidder/offeror certifies that no officer or employee of the District of Columbia will benefit from this contract.  List the name(s) of any officer or employee of 
the District of Columbia that may benefit from this contract in section 1.2 below.

2.1  The signature of the Bidder/Offeror is considered to be a certification by the signatory that:

Instructions for Section II:  Section II contains four (4) parts.  Part 1 requests information concerning District of Columbia employees.  Part 2 applies to the 
Bidder/Offeror's pricing.  Part 3 relates to equal employment opportunity requirements.  Part 4 relates to First Source requirements.

PART 1.  DISTRICT EMPLOYEES NOT TO BENEFIT

(a)  Within sixty (60) days of a material change to a response; and
(b)  Prior to the exercise of an option year contract.

PART 8:  RESPONSE UPDATE REQUIREMENT
8.1  In accordance with the requirement of Section 302(c) of the Procurement Practices Reform Act of 2010 (D.C. Official Code  § 2-353.02), the Bidder/Offeror shall 

PART 2:  INDEPENDENT PRICE DETERMINATION REQUIREMENTS 

                    (i)  Those prices; 
                    (ii)  The intention to submit a bid/proposal; or

                    (iii)  The methods or factors used to calculate the prices in the contract.

             (b)  ____________________________________________________________________________________

              (a)  Is the person in the Bidder's/Offeror’s organization responsible for determining the prices being offered in this contract, and that the signatory has not 
participated and will not participate in any action contrary to subparagraphs 2.1(a)(i) through (a)(iii) above; or

              (b)  The prices in this contract have not been and will not be knowingly disclosed by the Bidder/Offeror, directly or  indirectly, to any other bidder/offeror or 
competitor before bid/proposal opening unless otherwise required by law;  and

1.2  The following officer or employee of the District of Columbia may benefit from this contract.  

             (a)  ____________________________________________________________________________________

PART 9:  FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT (FOIA)
9.1  Indicate whether the Bidder/Offeror asserts that any information provided in response to a question in Section I is exempt 
from disclosure under the District of Columbia Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), effective March 25, 1977 (D.C. Law 1-96; 
D.C. Official Code §§ 2-531, et seq.).  Include the question number(s) and explain the basis for the claim.  (The District will 
determine whether such information is, in fact, exempt from FOIA at the time of request for disclosure under FOIA.) 

              (c)  No attempt has been made or will be made by the Bidder/Offeror to induce any other concern to submit or not to submit a contract for the purpose of 
restricting competition.
2.2  The signature on the bid/proposal is considered to be a certification by the signatory that the signatory:

Yes       No

Page 4 of 6 Revised for DGS Contracts Procurement 2-26-2020

Therapeutic Recreation Center       DCAM-21-CS-RFP-0002

Ft. Dupont Ice Arena        DCAM-21-CS-RFP-0007

DC Infrastructure Academy       DCAM-22-CS-RFP-0019

Franklin Park         DCAM-19-CS-RFP-0062

Thomas Elementary School       DCAM-23-CS-RFP-0003

X

Not applicable

 [Insert full name of person(s) in the organization responsible for determining the prices offered
in this contract and the title of his or her position in the bidder's/offeror’s organization]

                    (i)   As an authorized agent, certifies that the principals named in subparagraph 2.2(b) above have not participated, and will not participate, in any action 
contrary to subparagraphs 2.1(a)(i) through (a)(iii) above; and
                    (ii)  As an agent, has not participated and will not participate in any action contrary to subparagraphs 2.1(a)(i) through (a)(iii) above.

2.3  If the Bidder/Offeror deletes or modifies subparagraph 2.1(b) above, the bidder/offeror must furnish with its bid a signed statement setting forth in detail the 
circumstances of the disclosure.

4.2  I certify that the Initial Employment Plan submitted with my bid or proposal is true and accurate.

PART 4:  FIRST SOURCE OBLIGATIONS

4.1  I hereby certify that I am fully aware of the requirements of the Workforce Intermediary Establishment and Reform of the First Source Amendment Act of 2011 
(D.C. Law 19-84), and agree to enter into a First Source Employment Agreement with the Department of Employment Services if awarded any contract valued at 
$300,000 or more which receives funds or resources from the District, or funds or resources which, in accordance with a federal grant or otherwise, is administered by 
the District government.

With regards to 2.4 (b), if the Bidder/Offeror has knowledge of such a financial interest, please provide a detailed explanation.

2.4  The Bidder/Offeror certifies that:

(a) there are no other entities related to it that are responding to or bidding on the subject solicitation or invitation to bid.  Related entities include, but are not limited to, 
any entity that shares management positions, board positions, shareholders, or persons with a financial interest in the Bidder/Offeror.  

              (b)  Has been authorized, in writing, to act as an agent for the following principal in certifying that the principal has not participated, and will not participate, in 
any action contrary to subparagraphs 2.1(a)(i) through (a)(iii) above:

SECTION III.  DOMESTIC PREFERENCE CERTIFICATIONS

Instructions for Section III:  Section III contains one (1) part which should only be completed if goods are being provided that are subject to the requirements of the 
Buy American Act.  

PART 3:  EQUAL OPPORTUNITY AND HUMAN RIGHTS OBLIGATIONS

3.1  I hereby certify that I am fully aware of the contents of Mayor's Order 85-85, Mayor's Order 2017-313 and the Office of Human Rights' regulations in Chapter 11 of 
the DCMR, and agree to comply with them while performing this contract.

PART 1:  BUY AMERICAN ACT COMPLIANCE (Applies if the bidder/offeror will provide goods to the District that are subject to the requirements of the 
Buy American Act)  

______________________________________________________  EXCLUDED END PRODUCTS

______________________________________________________  COUNTRY OF ORIGIN

PART 6:  LANGUAGE ACCESS OBLIGATIONS

6.1  For contracts where the contracting agency is a "covered entity" or "covered entity with major public contact" as defined in Sections 2(2) and 2(3) of the Language 
Access Act of 2004 (D.C. Official Code § 2-1931(2) and § 2-1931(3)), I hereby certify that I will comply with Language Access compliance requirements of the 
contracting agency while performing this contract.

1.1  In accordance with 41 USC 8301 et. seq . and implementing regulations, the bidder/offeror certifies that each end product, 
except the end products listed below, is a domestic end product.

________________________________________________________________________________________________

PART 7: CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

7.1  The bidder/offeror certifies that it presently has no interest and shall not acquire any interest, direct or indirect, which would conflict in any manner or degree with 
the performance of its obligations under the contract.  

8.1  The bidder/offeror certifies that it has verified with the Department of Small and Local Business Development (DSLBD) the current certifications of its proposed 
certified business enterprise (CBE) subcontractors.
8.2  The bidder/offeror certifies that it has verified with the Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs (DCRA), and any other licensing authority, that its 
proposed subcontractors possess all applicable licenses and permits required to perform the work.  

PART 8: SUBCONTRACTING OBLIGATIONS

(b) there are no current or former owners, partners, officers, directors, principals, managers, employees or any persons with a financial interest in the Bidder/Offeror 
who have a financial interest in the request for proposal or invitation for bid or any asset, tangible or intangible, arising out of any contract or scope of work related to 
the request for proposal or invitation for bid.

PART 5:  EMPLOYMENT ELIGIBILITY OBLIGATIONS
5.1  I hereby certify that the Bidder/Offeror has verified the identity and employment eligibility of all its employees.

Yes       No

Page 5 of 6 Revised for DGS Contracts Procurement 2-26-2020

Pamela Murray Johnson, Vice President

X

Bidder/Offeror Certification FormBidder/Offeror Certification Form



145 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 146LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Telephone #: Fax #:

Date: Contract No: 

The District of Columbia is  authorized to verify the above information with appropriate government authorities. Penalty for making false statements is a fine of 
not more than $1,000.00, imprisonment for not more than 180 days, or both, as prescribed in D.C. Official Code § 22-2405. Penalty for false swearing is a fine of 
not more than $2,500.00, imprisonment for not more than three (3) years, or both, as prescribed in D.C. Official Code § 22-2404. 

Name [Print and sign]:
Title: Email Address:

Instruction for Section V:  This section must be completed by all bidder/offerors. 

(b) All employees whose work relates to this contract shall be paid not less than the minimum wage prescribed by regulations issued by the Secretary of Labor (41 CFR 
50-202.2) (41 U.S.C. §40). Learners, student learners, apprentices, and handicapped workers may be employed at less than the prescribed minimum wage (see 41 CFR 
50-202.3) to the same extent that such employment is permitted under Section 14 of the Fair Labor Standards Act (29 U.S.C. §214).

SECTION V.  CERTIFICATION

I, [                                                                                        ], as the person authorized to sign these certifications, hereby certify that the information provided in this 
form is true and accurate. In accordance with the requirements of section 302(c) of the Procurement Practices Reform Act of 2010 (D.C. Official Code  § 2-353.02(c)), 
I shall update any response provided in this form within 60 days of a material change to a response and prior to the exercise of an option period.

2.1  In accordance with 23 CFR 635.410(b), the bidder/offeror certifies that only steel or iron materials manufactured in the 
United States will be used for permanent incorporation on the project. 

3.1  In accordance with 41 USC 8301 et. seq . and implementing regulations, the bidder/offeror certifies that only construction 
materials manufactured in the United States will be used on the project. 

PART 2:  FHWA BUY AMERICA ACT COMPLIANCE (Applies to FHWA-funded construction contracts)  

If this contract is for the manufacture or furnishing of materials, supplies, articles or equipment in an amount that exceeds or may exceed $10,000, and is subject to the 
Walsh-Healey Public Contracts Act, as amended (41 U.S.C. §§ 35-45) (the “Act”, as used in this section), the following terms and conditions apply:

(a) All representations and stipulations required by the Act and regulations issued by the Secretary of Labor (41 CFR 50-201.3) are incorporated by reference. These 
representations and stipulations are subject to all applicable rulings and interpretations of the Secretary of Labor that are now, or may hereafter, be in effect.

PART 3:  BUY AMERICAN ACT COMPLIANCE (Applies to locally-funded construction contracts)   

SECTION IV.  WALSH-HEALEY ACT
Instructions for Section IV:  Walsh-Healey Act.  

Yes       No

Yes       No

Page 6 of 6 Revised for DGS Contracts Procurement 2-26-2020

X

X

Pamela Murray Johnson

       Pamela Murray Johnson      202.243.6688
Vice President            pmjohnson@smootbuilds.com
8/14/2023        GF-2023-R-0029

Regulated Businesses
General Service and Repair Gen Contr/Construction Mngr

Director:                                                            
Ernest Chrappah

1661    0813

70100743

GOVERNMENT
OF THE 

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
Muriel Bowser, Mayor

5335 WISCONSIN AVE NW, STE 940
WASHINGTON, DC 20015

70654

4105

SMOOT CONSTRUCTION COMPANY OF 
WASHINGTON, D.C.

PERM NO.   

UNITS:  0CLASS:  A

5335 WISCONSIN AVENUE N.W.
 SUITE #940
WASHINGTON, DC 20015

SMOOT CONSTRUCTION COMPANY OF 
WASHINGTON, D.C.

*License Effective from the later of Issued or Start of License-Period Date 

-- THE LAW REQUIRES THIS LICENSE TO BE POSTED IN A CONSPICUOUS PLACE ON THE PREMISES -- 

 
SMOOT CONSTRUCTION COMPANY OF WASHINGTON, D.C.

C T CORPORATION SYSTEM

3/22/2022

Owner's Name
Corp. Name
Trade Name

2/1/2022 - 1/31/2024

1015 15TH STREET N.W. SUITE #1000
WASHINGTON DC20005

ANC:3Ward:Zone: SSL:   CofO/HOP#:

Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs
Business License Division

1100 4th Street S.W. 
Washington DC 20024

Registered Agent's Name and Address:Premise/Application's Name and Address:Billing Name and Address:

BASIC BUSINESS LICENSE 

Date Issued:
Category:
License#:
License Period:

Bidder/Offeror Certification FormBidder/Offeror Certification Form



147 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 148LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

           GOVERNMENT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA  
                                 Office of the Chief Financial Officer 
                                                     Office of Tax and Revenue  
                

Authorized Agent 
Name of Organization/Entity 
Business Address (include zip code) 
Business Phone Number

I hereby authorize the District of Columbia, Office of the Chief Financial Officer, Office of Tax and Revenue  to 
release my tax information to an authorized representative of the District of Columbia agency with which I am 
seeking to enter into a contractual relationship.  I understand that the information released  will be limited to 
whether or not I am in compliance with the District of Columbia tax laws and regulations solely for the purpose of 
determining my eligibility to enter into a contractual relationship with a District of Columbia agency.  I further 
authorize that this consent be valid for one year from the date of  this authorization. 
  
I hereby certify that I am in compliance with the applicable tax filing and payment requirements of the District of 
Columbia. The Office of Tax and Revenue is hereby authorized to verify the above information with the appropriate 
government authorities.   
  
  
 

                                            
                       TAX CERTIFICATION AFFIDAVIT

Date

________________________________________________________________________________     
                                                   Office of Tax and Revenue, PO Box 37559, Washington, DC 20013

THIS AFFIDAVIT IS TO BE COMPLETED ONLY BY THOSE WHO ARE REGISTERED TO CONDUCT BUSINESS IN 
THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA.

  
Authorized Agent 
Principal Officer Name and Title 
Square and  Lot Information 
Federal Identification Number 
Contract Number 
Unemployment Insurance Account No. 
 

Signature of Authorizing Agent Title

The penalty for making false statement is a fine not to exceed $5,000.00, imprisonment for not more than 180 days, 
or both, as prescribed by D.C. Official Code §47-4106.                                      
                       

8/14/2023

Pamela Murray Johnson, Vice President
Smoot Construction Company of Washington, DC
5335 Wisconsin Ave NW, Suite 940, Washington, DC 20015
202.243.6688

Pamela Murray Johnson, Vice President
Square and Lot Information:  Not Applicable
31-1104741
GF-2023-R-0029
039-785

Vice President

Bidder/Offeror Certification Form

This page intentionally left blank.



149 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 150LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Past Performance Evaluations
On the following pages, SmootDC and Quinn Evans enclose copies of Past Performance Evaluation forms submitted to  support of our 
qualifications to serve as your Design-Builder.



151 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 152LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

PPE - Bowie State Entrepreneurship Living Learning Community

���$o9oDOoZo

d�������������o
o

������o� �!"o#�%&�'��o
()*+�",-����o.+** ��/0o.+!!���o1+"�%��2)/�+�o3%+4�'/oo

o
5678o5:��;�<6=>:o:?6@A68B;=o�;�<o

CEF$GHo�IIJDIJK�L$oMDNPo

QRRS-Q-oo o
o

3�%T+%*)�'�o
S!�*��/�o

o
SU'�!!��/o

o
V++"o

o
W''�X/)Y!�o

o
3++%o

o
[�)''�X/)Y!�o

\ )!�/0o+To#�%&�'��]o

^+%_o

o o o o o

�̀*�!�����o+To

3�%T+%*)�'�o

o o o o o

.+�/o.+�/%+!o
o o o o o

� ������o
-�!)/�+��o

o o o o o

. �/+*�%o
#)/��T)'/�+�o

o o o o o

o
o

9ao b�c$o�efogKLh$oDOoij�hk�LDJlo o
o

Zao mK�e�LkJ$oDOoij�hk�LDJlo o
o

nao b�c$oDOo�J��eK��LKDeloo o
o

�ao g$h$IFDe$obkcM$JoDOoij�hk�LDJlo�o o
o

i�c�Kho�ffJ$		oDOoij�hk�LDJloo o
o


ao mL�L$oL�I$oDOo	$JjKG$oJ$G$Kj$floo o
o

�ao mL�L$oEDeLJ�GLobkcM$Jo�cDkeLo�efo�$JKDfoDOo�$JODJc�eG$oo o
o

o
o

�ao �$c�JH	oDeoiNG$hh$eLo�$JODJc�eG$lo�JDjKf$of�L�o	kIIDJLKe�oLFK	o
DM	$Jj�LKDeaoEDeLKek$oDeo	$I�J�L$o	F$$LoKOoe$$f$fPo

o
�ao �$c�JH	oDeoke�GG$IL�Mh$oI$JODJc�eG$lo�JDjKf$of�L�o	kIIDJLKe�oLFK	oDM	$Jj�LKDeaoCEDeLKek$oDeo

	$I�J�L$o	F$$LoKOoe$$f$fPo

o

o

SMOOT CONSTRUCTION COMPANY OF WASHINGTON, DC

Michael Harris, Assistant Director of Planning, Design and 
 Construction  Facilities Management

Bowie State University 

 (301) 860-4191

 miharris@bowiestate.edu

 Construction Management at Risk Services JV

     $42M, Feb 2020 to August 2021

X

X

X

X

X

PPE - Coppin State University

���$o9oDOoZo

d�������������o
o

������o� �!"o#�%&�'��o
()*+�",-����o.+** ��/0o.+!!���o1+"�%��2)/�+�o3%+4�'/oo

o
5678o5:��;�<6=>:o:?6@A68B;=o�;�<o

CEF$GHo�IIJDIJK�L$oMDNPo

QRRS-Q-oo o
o

3�%T+%*)�'�o
S!�*��/�o

o
SU'�!!��/o

o
V++"o

o
W''�X/)Y!�o

o
3++%o

o
[�)''�X/)Y!�o

\ )!�/0o+To#�%&�'��]o

^+%_o

o o o o o

�̀*�!�����o+To

3�%T+%*)�'�o

o o o o o

.+�/o.+�/%+!o
o o o o o

� ������o
-�!)/�+��o

o o o o o

. �/+*�%o
#)/��T)'/�+�o

o o o o o

o
o

9ao b�c$o�efogKLh$oDOoij�hk�LDJlo o
o

Zao mK�e�LkJ$oDOoij�hk�LDJlo o
o

nao b�c$oDOo�J��eK��LKDeloo o
o

�ao g$h$IFDe$obkcM$JoDOoij�hk�LDJlo�o o
o

i�c�Kho�ffJ$		oDOoij�hk�LDJloo o
o


ao mL�L$oL�I$oDOo	$JjKG$oJ$G$Kj$floo o
o

�ao mL�L$oEDeLJ�GLobkcM$Jo�cDkeLo�efo�$JKDfoDOo�$JODJc�eG$oo o
o

o
o

�ao �$c�JH	oDeoiNG$hh$eLo�$JODJc�eG$lo�JDjKf$of�L�o	kIIDJLKe�oLFK	o
DM	$Jj�LKDeaoEDeLKek$oDeo	$I�J�L$o	F$$LoKOoe$$f$fPo

o
�ao �$c�JH	oDeoke�GG$IL�Mh$oI$JODJc�eG$lo�JDjKf$of�L�o	kIIDJLKe�oLFK	oDM	$Jj�LKDeaoCEDeLKek$oDeo

	$I�J�L$o	F$$LoKOoe$$f$fPo

o

o

Quinn Evans

Sam Patterson, Director of Capital and Campus Projects

Coppin State University

410.951.3769

SPatterson@coppin.edu

Architecture & Engineering Services
MD Contract No.: C-00860 
MD Project No.: 15-337R AE-AA

Contract Amount: $32.5 million; Period of Performance: 2019 - 2023

x

x
x
x

x



153 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 154LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

PPE - Martin Luther King Jr. Library Modernization

GF-2023-R-0029– Design Build Services – Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization Project

OFFEROR   __ __________________  

Performance 
Elements Excellent Good Acceptable Poor Unacceptable 

Quality of Services/ 
Work 

Timeliness of 
Performance 

Cost Control 

Business 
Relations 

Customer 
Satisfaction 

Smoot Constuction Company of Washington, DC

James Fennelly, VP of Development

Jair Lynch Development

 202.462.1092

jdf@jairlynch.com

CMAR for MLK Library Renovation

     DCPL-2016-C-005 

$167,806,837    2016-2020

    See attached.

X

X

X

X

X

PPE -  Martin Luther King Jr. Library Modernization

As part of the modernization of the District of Columbia’s Public Library’s(DCPL) historically designated 
central library, Smoot Construction was brought in during the design phase of the project to assist with 
budget development, schedule analysis, and constructability reviews. Smoot was also instrumental in 
providing ancillary assistance on the complex project entitlements by working closely with DCPL/Jair 
Lynch and its consultants to provide information necessary to secure approvals from seven district and 
federal agencies. During the construction phase, the project faced a host of challenges throughout the 3 
year construction duration ranging from the more typical construction hurdles such as complex 
infrastructure coordination, tight site constraints, and coordination of shared utilities for neighboring 
buildings, to unprecedented challenges such as a global pandemic and associated workforce/supply 
chain issues. Smoot’s project team was able to provide swift, proactive, and thoughtful responses to the 
many project challenges and deliver the building on time and under budget. Additionally, as a testament 
to their investment and partnered approach with DCPL, Smoot stayed on to assist DCPL with the 
management of some additional smaller scopes of betterment work which lasted over a year after the 
project’s successful completion.   



155 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 156LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

PPE - Open Works

���$o9oDOoZo

d�������������o
o

������o� �!"o#�%&�'��o
()*+�",-����o.+** ��/0o.+!!���o1+"�%��2)/�+�o3%+4�'/oo

o
5678o5:��;�<6=>:o:?6@A68B;=o�;�<o

CEF$GHo�IIJDIJK�L$oMDNPo

QRRS-Q-oo o
o

3�%T+%*)�'�o
S!�*��/�o

o
SU'�!!��/o

o
V++"o

o
W''�X/)Y!�o

o
3++%o

o
[�)''�X/)Y!�o

\ )!�/0o+To#�%&�'��]o

^+%_o

X o o o o

�̀*�!�����o+To

3�%T+%*)�'�o
X o o o o

.+�/o.+�/%+!o X o o o o

� ������o
-�!)/�+��o

X o o o o

. �/+*�%o
#)/��T)'/�+�o

X o o o o

o
o

9ao b�c$o�efogKLh$oDOoij�hk�LDJlo o
o

Zao mK�e�LkJ$oDOoij�hk�LDJlo o
o

nao b�c$oDOo�J��eK��LKDeloo o
o

�ao g$h$IFDe$obkcM$JoDOoij�hk�LDJlo�o o
o

i�c�Kho�ffJ$		oDOoij�hk�LDJloo o
o


ao mL�L$oL�I$oDOo	$JjKG$oJ$G$Kj$floo o
o

�ao mL�L$oEDeLJ�GLobkcM$Jo�cDkeLo�efo�$JKDfoDOo�$JODJc�eG$oo o
o

o
o

�ao �$c�JH	oDeoiNG$hh$eLo�$JODJc�eG$lo�JDjKf$of�L�o	kIIDJLKe�oLFK	o
DM	$Jj�LKDeaoEDeLKek$oDeo	$I�J�L$o	F$$LoKOoe$$f$fPo

o
�ao �$c�JH	oDeoke�GG$IL�Mh$oI$JODJc�eG$lo�JDjKf$of�L�o	kIIDJLKe�oLFK	oDM	$Jj�LKDeaoCEDeLKek$oDeo

	$I�J�L$o	F$$LoKOoe$$f$fPo

o

o

Will Holman, Executive Director

Open Works Inc.

410.862.0424

will@openworksbmore.com

Architecture & Engineering Services

Contract Amount: $6.37 nillion; Period of Performance: 1/2015 - 5/2018

State Contract Number: N/A

Quinn Evans

PPE - Open Works

Quinn Evans Past Performance Evaluation

Open Works / 8/1/2023

Quality of Services

Quinn Evans provided high-quality design services that were responsive to a complex program
and relatively low budget. The final product won several local awards from the AIA, and the
design has had a direct impact on our organizational success by making Open Works a
pleasant, attractive, light-filled space to work.

Timeliness

The project was delivered on time.

Cost of Services

The project ended up with substantial unspent contingency that was able to help offset early
operational costs and make some exterior upgrades.

Business Relations

Quinn Evans was professional, responsive, and accommodating. Billing and milestone payments
were handled smoothly.

Customer Satisfaction

High. We are hoping to work with QE again on an expansion project in the near future.

A makerspace serving the greater Baltimore region / 1400 Greenmount Avenue / Baltimore, MD 212021



157 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 158LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

PPE - Church Hill North at J. Sargent Reynolds Community College PPE - Roosevelt High School Modernization

    GF-2023-R-0029– Design Build Services – Lamond-Riggs Modernization Project 

OFFEROR   __ __________________  

Performance 
Elements Excellent Good Acceptable Poor Unacceptable 

Quality of Services/ 
Work 

Timeliness of 
Performance 

Cost Control 

Business 
Relations 

Customer 
Satisfaction 

Smoot Constuction Company of Washington, DC

Paul Blackman, Jr.

Trusted Advisory Group

 202.246.9456

paul.blackman@TrustedAGI.com

CMAR for Roosevelt High School Modernization (JV Lead)

     DCAM-13-CS-0136 

$128,386,354 October 2013 - October 2015

    See below.

As the former deputy director for DGS Capital Construction, I expected general contractors to be proactive 
problem solvers and SmootDC successfully executed accordingly. This includes alignment on schedule as well as
budget. The SmootDC team demonstrated a committment to their work when faced with a mechanical manufacturing 
issue and insured full and timely resolution upon recognition of the issue. They also demonstrated high technical 
performance standards for safety, quality and subcontractor diversity. Based on their past performance, I am confident 
in the company’s ability to do more work for DGS as a CM at Risk and Design Builder, and I highly recommend Smoot 
Construction of Washington DC for large construction projects.

X

X

X

X

X



159 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 160LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

PPE - Science Complex at Montgomery College

���$o9oDOoZo

d�������������o
o

������o� �!"o#�%&�'��o
()*+�",-����o.+** ��/0o.+!!���o1+"�%��2)/�+�o3%+4�'/oo

o
5678o5:��;�<6=>:o:?6@A68B;=o�;�<o

CEF$GHo�IIJDIJK�L$oMDNPo

QRRS-Q-oo o
o

3�%T+%*)�'�o
S!�*��/�o

o
SU'�!!��/o

o
V++"o

o
W''�X/)Y!�o

o
3++%o

o
[�)''�X/)Y!�o

\ )!�/0o+To#�%&�'��]o

^+%_o

o o o o o

�̀*�!�����o+To

3�%T+%*)�'�o

o o o o o

.+�/o.+�/%+!o
o o o o o

� ������o
-�!)/�+��o

o o o o o

. �/+*�%o
#)/��T)'/�+�o

o o o o o

o
o

9ao b�c$o�efogKLh$oDOoij�hk�LDJlo o
o

Zao mK�e�LkJ$oDOoij�hk�LDJlo o
o

nao b�c$oDOo�J��eK��LKDeloo o
o

�ao g$h$IFDe$obkcM$JoDOoij�hk�LDJlo�o o
o

i�c�Kho�ffJ$		oDOoij�hk�LDJloo o
o


ao mL�L$oL�I$oDOo	$JjKG$oJ$G$Kj$floo o
o

�ao mL�L$oEDeLJ�GLobkcM$Jo�cDkeLo�efo�$JKDfoDOo�$JODJc�eG$oo o
o

o
o

�ao �$c�JH	oDeoiNG$hh$eLo�$JODJc�eG$lo�JDjKf$of�L�o	kIIDJLKe�oLFK	o
DM	$Jj�LKDeaoEDeLKek$oDeo	$I�J�L$o	F$$LoKOoe$$f$fPo

o
�ao �$c�JH	oDeoke�GG$IL�Mh$oI$JODJc�eG$lo�JDjKf$of�L�o	kIIDJLKe�oLFK	oDM	$Jj�LKDeaoCEDeLKek$oDeo

	$I�J�L$o	F$$LoKOoe$$f$fPo

o

o

Quinn Evans

Architecture & Engineering Services

Contract Amount: Over $90 million for several projects; Period of Performance: 2009 - 2017

Jamie Karn, Campus Planner

Montgomery College

240.567.4288

Jamie.Karn@montgomerycollege.edu

X

X

X

X

X

JK-See attached sheet

JK-See attached sheet

CC-01-429 and others

PPE - Science Complex at Montgomery College

8/1/2023 

MC-JKARN RESPONSE TO REVIEW ITEM #7 (Remarks on Excellent Performance . . .): Quinn Evans 
(Formerly Cho Benn Holbeck) has performed numerous projects with Montgomery College.  In general 
terms, their design work, construction documents, construction administration and technical expertise 
are well above average among DC area AE firms.  The QE team pushes us (MC) to participate in 
developing the best projects that MC can afford, including aesthetic design, technical solutions and 
energy conservation strategies.  Generally speaking, Montgomery College students love the buildings, 
and use them to their advantage for classroom learning, studying, and community building. 

 

MC-JKARN RESPONSE FOR REVIEW ITEM #8 (Remarks on unacceptable performance):   The positive 
review provided for Item #7 is the bigger picture description.  There are occasional design or technical 
failings, delays, failures to communicate, etc.  These failings, however are a small percentage of the 
overall project performance.  There are times when it is apparent that the QE team is too busy, is 
focused on projects other than ours, and are falling behind schedule or delivering progress documents 
that are behind schedule (not as advanced and well-worked out as should be the case).  Generally 
speaking, these items get corrected during Quality Control processes, and issues are resolved before 
there is any significant impact on the project or budget.  



161 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 162LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Contractor’s Experience 
Questionnaire Form

Contractor’s Experience Questionnaire Form



163 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 164LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Contractor’s Experience Questionnaire Form

This page intentionally left blank.



165 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 166LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Tax Certification 
Affidavit

Tax Certification Affidavit



167 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 168LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Subcontracting Plan 
Form

Subcontracting Plan Form

NOTE: This is a Design-Build contract with no bid packages at this time. Subcontract values are estimates and are not based on actual 
bids. SBE contract amounts and lower tier participation will be verified and submitted at time of GMP.

SECTION 1.BENEFICIARY AND SOLICITATION/CONTRACT/SPORTS WAGERING 
APPLICANTINFORMATION 

Section 1A.      BENEFICIARY INFORMATION 

Contact #: 202-243-6688__ Email address: pmjohnson@smootbuilds.com Company: Smoot Construction Co. of Washington DC 

Street Address: 5335 Wisconsin Avenue NW, Suite 940 City/ State/ Zip Code: _Washington, DC 20015________ 

Company’s point of contact for agency contract, private project, or Sports Wagering Licensee: 

Title: _Vice President__________ 

Email address: pmjohnson@smootbuilds.com

Point of Contact: Pamela Murray Johnson_ 

Contact #: _202-243-6688____________ 

Street Address: 5335 Wisconsin Avenue NW, Suite 940____

Section 1B.     SOLICITATION/CONTRACT/SPORTS WAGERING APPLICANT INFORMATION 

Solicitation /Contract/ApplicantNo.: _DCAM-23-CS-RFP-0017___ 

Agency: _DGS____________ 

Please select all the applicable subcontracting requirements for 
this solicitation: 

35% Subcontracting Requirement 
50% Subcontracting Requirement 
DSLBD approved an adjusted subcontracting requirement: 

Adjusted Subcontracting Requirement: ____%

Solicitation Due Date: _July 14, 2023___________ 

Total Dollar Amount of Contract: _$72,500,000__________ 
Total Value of ALL CBE Subcontracts: _$25,375,000________ 
 (Include all lower tiers) 

I affirm that the value of all my CBE Subcontracts meets or 
exceeds the subcontracting requirement required under this 
solicitation or contract. Further, I understand that DSLBD will 
only provide credit towards my SBE Subcontracting Requirement 
for work whereby a CBE provided a commercially useful function 
with its own organization and resources. 

I AGREE 
I DISAGREE 

Section 1C.      CBE BENEFICIARY (ONLY COMPLETE IF THE BENEFICIARY IS A CERTIFIED BUSINESS ENTERPRISE) 

If the Beneficiary is a Certified Business Enterprise, select all that apply and provide the following information: 
 I am a CBE that WILL perform 100% of the contracting effort with my own organization and resources and will not subcontract any 

portion of the contract. Therefore, I am NOT required to submit an SBE Subcontracting Plan that demonstrates subcontracting. 
 I am a CBE that WILL NOT perform 100% of the contracting effort with my own organization and resources and will subcontract a 

portion of the contract. Therefore, I understand I am required to submit an SBE Subcontracting Plan (located in Section on 2) that 
demonstrates that the required subcontracting amount, as indicated above, will go to qualified CBEs. 

Please include the percentage of the contract the CBE Prime will perform under the contract or project. 
The CBE Prime will self-perform ____% of the contract’s total dollar volume of the contract or project.

Please provide the current CBE Certification Number of the CBE Prime. 
CBE Certification No. ______________

X

X

X

LXR63883052024

6

GF-2023-R-0029 August 14, 2023
University of the District of Columbia $24, 456,179

$8,559,662



169 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 170LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

NOTE: This is a Design-Build contract with no bid packages at this time. Subcontract values are estimates and are not based on actual 
bids. SBE contract amounts and lower tier participation will be verified and submitted at time of GMP.

 

BENEFICIARY ATTESTATION 
 

I declare, certify, verify, attest, and state under penalty of perjury that the information provided above is 
true and correct to the best of my knowledge and belief. Pursuant to D.C. Official Code § 22-2402, I 
understand that a person convicted of perjury shall be fined not more than $5,000 or imprisoned for not 
more than 10 years, or both. I understand that any false or fraudulent statement that I provide or assert 
may be grounds for revocation of my CBE registration pursuant to D.C. Official Code § 2-218.63. Further, 
a Prime Contractor, Developer, CBE,  Certified Joint Venture, or Sports Wagering Licensee that fails to 
comply with the requirements of the Small and Certified Business Enterprise Development and Assistance 
Amendment Act of 2005, as amended, (D.C. Law 20-108) (the “Act”), shall be subject to penalties as 
outlined in the Act. 

 
PRINT NAME: ____________________________ SIGNATURE: ____________________________ 

JOB TITLE: ____________________________ DATE: ____________________________ 
 
 
 
 
Section 2.  SBE/CBE SUBCONTRACTORS (FOR EACH TIER): 
 

CBE Subcontractor  
Company Name Address Certification 

No. 
Price to be paid to the 

CBE Subcontractor 

Description of subcontract scope 
of work to be performed that shall 

be for a commercially useful 
function by the CBE 

___________________  _________________  ____ ________________ ________________ 

 
SBE/CBE Point of Contact: 
 

CBE Subcontractor Self-Performance Indicator: 

 
Name: _________ 
 
Title: _______ 
 
Telephone Number: ________ 
 
Email Address: ________ 
 

 This CBE will perform the ENTIRE subcontract with its 
own organization and resources.  

 This CBE will subcontract a portion of the subcontract and 
will perform ____% of the subcontract’s total dollar volume. 
NOTE: If the CBE will not self-perform 100% of the 
subcontract, it must list each lower-tier CBE 
subcontractor below. 

 

LOWER TIER 
CBE Subcontractor 

Name 
Address Certification No. Price to be paid to the 

CBE Subcontractor 

Description of 
subcontract scope of 
work to be performed 
that shall be for a 
commercially useful 
function by the CBE 

Tier 
(e.g., 1st, 
2nd, 3rd, 
4th, etc.) 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

 
 

Pamela Murray Johnson
Vice President      August 14, 2023

HRGM 2021 Shannon Place 
SE Washington, DC 
20020

LSZXR50456092024 $1,015,650     Earthwork, Roofing

Rachna Butani Butt                X
Director
     202-889-8400
______rachna@hrgm.com 

*TBD

Subcontracting Plan Form

NOTE: This is a Design-Build contract with no bid packages at this time. Subcontract values are estimates and are not based on actual 
bids. SBE contract amounts and lower tier participation will be verified and submitted at time of GMP.

 

 
 
 

CBE Subcontractor  
Company Name Address Certification 

No. 
Price to be paid to the 

CBE Subcontractor 

Description of subcontract scope 
of work to be performed that shall 

be for a commercially useful 
function by the CBE 

___________________  _________________  ____ ________________ ________________ 

 
SBE/CBE Point of Contact: 
 

CBE Subcontractor Self-Performance Indicator: 

 
Name: _________ 
 
Title: _______ 
 
Telephone Number: ________ 
 
Email Address: ________ 
 

 This CBE will perform the ENTIRE subcontract with its 
own organization and resources.  

 This CBE will subcontract a portion of the subcontract and 
will perform ____% of the subcontract’s total dollar volume. 
NOTE: If the CBE will not self-perform 100% of the 
subcontract, it must list each lower-tier CBE 
subcontractor below. 

 

LOWER TIER 
CBE Subcontractor 

Name 
Address Certification No. Price to be paid to the 

CBE Subcontractor 

Description of 
subcontract scope of 
work to be performed 
that shall be for a 
commercially useful 
function by the CBE 

Tier 
(e.g., 1st, 
2nd, 3rd, 
4th, etc.) 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

 

CBE Subcontractor  
Company Name Address Certification 

No. 
Price to be paid to the 

CBE Subcontractor 

Description of subcontract scope 
of work to be performed that shall 

be for a commercially useful 
function by the CBE 

___________________  _________________  ____ ________________ ________________ 

 
SBE/CBE Point of Contact: 
 

CBE Subcontractor Self-Performance Indicator: 

 
Name: _________ 
 
Title: _______ 
 
Telephone Number: ________ 
 
Email Address: ________ 
 

 This CBE will perform the ENTIRE subcontract with its 
own organization and resources.  

 This CBE will subcontract a portion of the subcontract and 
will perform ____% of the subcontract’s total dollar volume. 
NOTE: If the CBE will not self-perform 100% of the 
subcontract, it must list each lower-tier CBE 
subcontractor below. 

 

LOWER TIER 
CBE Subcontractor 

Name 
Address Certification No. Price to be paid to the 

CBE Subcontractor 

Description of 
subcontract scope of 
work to be performed 
that shall be for a 
commercially useful 

Tier 
(e.g., 1st, 
2nd, 3rd, 
4th, etc.) 

JJ Prime 1421 Kenilworth Ave 
NE, Washington, DC 
20019

LSD64283022025    $336,996     Site Utilities

Juan Aguirre                 X
Operations
     202-399-0060
______contact@jjprimeservices.com 

*TBD

First Choice Masonry 1818 New York Ave 
NE, Washington, DC 
20002

LSDZ23893122024  $671,880     Masonry

Cory Jones                 X
President
     202-529-0195
______cory@firstchoicemasonry.net

*TBD

Subcontracting Plan Form



171 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 172LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

NOTE: This is a Design-Build contract with no bid packages at this time. Subcontract values are estimates and are not based on actual 
bids. SBE contract amounts and lower tier participation will be verified and submitted at time of GMP.

 

function by the CBE 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

 

CBE Subcontractor  
Company Name Address Certification 

No. 
Price to be paid to the 

CBE Subcontractor 

Description of subcontract scope 
of work to be performed that shall 

be for a commercially useful 
function by the CBE 

___________________  _________________  ____ ________________ ________________ 

 
SBE/CBE Point of Contact: 
 

CBE Subcontractor Self-Performance Indicator: 

 
Name: _________ 
 
Title: _______ 
 
Telephone Number: ________ 
 
Email Address: ________ 
 

 This CBE will perform the ENTIRE subcontract with its 
own organization and resources.  

 This CBE will subcontract a portion of the subcontract and 
will perform ____% of the subcontract’s total dollar volume. 
NOTE: If the CBE will not self-perform 100% of the 
subcontract, it must list each lower-tier CBE 
subcontractor below. 

 

LOWER TIER 
CBE Subcontractor 

Name 
Address Certification No. Price to be paid to the 

CBE Subcontractor 

Description of 
subcontract scope of 
work to be performed 
that shall be for a 
commercially useful 
function by the CBE 

Tier 
(e.g., 1st, 
2nd, 3rd, 
4th, etc.) 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Continental Construction 3419 14th Street 
NW, Washington, DC 
20010

LSDZ14165022024   $1,669,800     Glass & Glazing

Jim Simpson                 X
Operations Director
     202-299-9407
______
 jsimpson@contconstr.com

*TBD

Subcontracting Plan Form

NOTE: This is a Design-Build contract with no bid packages at this time. Subcontract values are estimates and are not based on actual 
bids. SBE contract amounts and lower tier participation will be verified and submitted at time of GMP.

 

 
 
 

CBE Subcontractor  
Company Name Address Certification 

No. 
Price to be paid to the 

CBE Subcontractor 

Description of subcontract scope 
of work to be performed that shall 

be for a commercially useful 
function by the CBE 

___________________  _________________  ____ ________________ ________________ 

 
SBE/CBE Point of Contact: 
 

CBE Subcontractor Self-Performance Indicator: 

 
Name: _________ 
 
Title: _______ 
 
Telephone Number: ________ 
 
Email Address: ________ 
 

 This CBE will perform the ENTIRE subcontract with its 
own organization and resources.  

 This CBE will subcontract a portion of the subcontract and 
will perform ____% of the subcontract’s total dollar volume. 
NOTE: If the CBE will not self-perform 100% of the 
subcontract, it must list each lower-tier CBE 
subcontractor below. 

 

LOWER TIER 
CBE Subcontractor 

Name 
Address Certification No. Price to be paid to the 

CBE Subcontractor 

Description of 
subcontract scope of 
work to be performed 
that shall be for a 
commercially useful 
function by the CBE 

Tier 
(e.g., 1st, 
2nd, 3rd, 
4th, etc.) 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

 

CBE Subcontractor  
Company Name Address Certification 

No. 
Price to be paid to the 

CBE Subcontractor 

Description of subcontract scope 
of work to be performed that shall 

be for a commercially useful 
function by the CBE 

___________________  _________________  ____ ________________ ________________ 

 
SBE/CBE Point of Contact: 
 

CBE Subcontractor Self-Performance Indicator: 

 
Name: _________ 
 
Title: _______ 
 
Telephone Number: ________ 
 
Email Address: ________ 
 

 This CBE will perform the ENTIRE subcontract with its 
own organization and resources.  

 This CBE will subcontract a portion of the subcontract and 
will perform ____% of the subcontract’s total dollar volume. 
NOTE: If the CBE will not self-perform 100% of the 
subcontract, it must list each lower-tier CBE 
subcontractor below. 

 

LOWER TIER 
CBE Subcontractor 

Name 
Address Certification No. Price to be paid to the 

CBE Subcontractor 

Description of 
subcontract scope of 
work to be performed 
that shall be for a 
commercially useful 

Tier 
(e.g., 1st, 
2nd, 3rd, 
4th, etc.) 

Pro Air 1319 F Street NW,  
Washington, DC 
20004

 LZ61652032025  $2,003,670     Mechanical & Plumbing

Paul Hemme                 X
Operations
     202-455-0044
______phemme@pro-air.com 

*TBD

A. Wash & Associates 4649 Nannie Helen 
Burroughs  Ave, NE 
Washington, DC 20019

LSZXR61329042025   $1,501,368     Electrical & Fire Alarm

Anthony Wash                 X
President
     202-388-4000
______cwash@awashassociates.com 

*TBD

Subcontracting Plan Form



173 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 174LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

NOTE: This is a Design-Build contract with no bid packages at this time. Subcontract values are estimates and are not based on actual 
bids. SBE contract amounts and lower tier participation will be verified and submitted at time of GMP.

 

function by the CBE 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

 

CBE Subcontractor  
Company Name Address Certification 

No. 
Price to be paid to the 

CBE Subcontractor 

Description of subcontract scope 
of work to be performed that shall 

be for a commercially useful 
function by the CBE 

___________________  _________________  ____ ________________ ________________ 

 
SBE/CBE Point of Contact: 
 

CBE Subcontractor Self-Performance Indicator: 

 
Name: _________ 
 
Title: _______ 
 
Telephone Number: ________ 
 
Email Address: ________ 
 

 This CBE will perform the ENTIRE subcontract with its 
own organization and resources.  

 This CBE will subcontract a portion of the subcontract and 
will perform ____% of the subcontract’s total dollar volume. 
NOTE: If the CBE will not self-perform 100% of the 
subcontract, it must list each lower-tier CBE 
subcontractor below. 

 

LOWER TIER 
CBE Subcontractor 

Name 
Address Certification No. Price to be paid to the 

CBE Subcontractor 

Description of 
subcontract scope of 
work to be performed 
that shall be for a 
commercially useful 
function by the CBE 

Tier 
(e.g., 1st, 
2nd, 3rd, 
4th, etc.) 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 

___________________  _________________  ____ $ ________________ ________________ ____ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The Justin Company 5980 Sligo Mill Road 
NE, Washington, DC 
20011

LSD26628092024    $2,671,680     Drywall & Acoustical

Diana Owens                 X
Operations
     202-291-3111
______justin@justindc.com 

*TBD

Subcontracting Plan Form

NOTE: This is a Design-Build contract with no bid packages at this time. Subcontract values are estimates and are not based on actual 
bids. SBE contract amounts and lower tier participation will be verified and submitted at time of GMP.

 

AGENCY CONTRACT AWARD 
 
Agency: ________ 
Prime Contractor: ________ 
Contract Number: ________ 
Date SBE Subcontracting Plan Accepted: ________ 
Date agency contract signed: ________ 
 
Anticipated Start Date of Contract: ________ 
Anticipated End Date of Contract: ________ 
 
Total Dollar Amount of Contract: $________ 
 
*Design-Build must include total contract amount for both 
design and build phase of the project. 
 
35% of the Total Contract Amount: $________ 
 
50% of Total Dollar Amount of Contract: $______________  
(pursuant to D.C. Law 24-39) 
 
Total Amount of All SBE/CBE Subcontracts: $________ 
(include every tier) 
 
(  if applies) 

 Base Period Contract – Option/Extension Period: ________ 
 Multi-year Contract 

First Year (Period) of Contract: ________  
Current Year (Period) of Contract: ________ 

 Design-Build – Date of Guaranteed Contract: ________ 
 

 Check if prime contractor is a CBE and will perform the 
ENTIRE government-assisted project (agency contract) with its 
own organization and resources and NOT subcontract any portion 
of the services or goods.  
  

PRIVATE PROJECT SUBSIDY AWARD 
 

Agency Providing Subsidy: ________ 
District Subsidy: ________ 
Developer: ________ 
Amount of District Subsidy: ________ 
Date District Subsidy Provided/ contract signed: ________ 
 
Anticipated Start Date of Project: ________ 
Anticipated End Date of Project: ________ 
 
Project Name: ________ 
Project Address: ________ 
 
Total Development Project Budget: $________ 
(include pre-construction and construction costs) 
 
35% of the Total Development Project Budget: $________ 
 
50% of Total Dollar Amount of Contract: $______________ 
(pursuant to D.C. Law 24-39) 
 
Total Amount of All SBE/CBE Subcontracts: $________ 
(include every lower tier) 
 

 Check if developer is a CBE and will perform the ENTIRE 
government-assisted project (private project) with its own 
organization and resources and NOT subcontract any portion of 
services or goods. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 AGENCY CONTRACTING OFFICER’S AFFIRMATION OR  AGENCY PROJECT MANAGER’S AFFIRMATION 
(  which applies) 

 
The below Agency Contracting Officer or Agency Project Manager affirms the following (  to affirm):  

 If the Beneficiary is a CBE, DSLBD was contacted to confirm Beneficiary’s CBE certification. 
 

 The fully executed Contract (Base or Option or Extension or Multi-Year) or subsidy document, between the Beneficiary and Agency, was 
emailed to DSLBD at Compliance.Enforcement@dc.gov within five (5) days of signing: 
 

 FOR AGENCY CONTRACT the SBE Subcontracting Plan, submitted by Beneficiary, was emailed to DSLBD at 
Compliance.Enforcement@dc.gov within five (5) days of signing the contract between the Beneficiary and Agency. 
 
________ 
Name of Agency Contracting Officer or Agency Project Manager 
 
________ 
Title of Agency Contracting Officer or Agency Project Manager 
 
________ 
Signature 

________ 
Date 

 

UDC
 Smoot Construction Company of Washington DC
 GF-2023-R-0029

Subcontracting Plan Form



175 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 176LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Equal Employment 
Form

Equal Employment Form



177 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 178LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Equal Employment Form Equal Employment Form



179 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 180LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Equal Employment Form Equal Employment Form



181 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 182LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Equal Employment Form

This page intentionally left blank.



183 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 184LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

First Source Agreement 
and Employment Plan 
Forms

First Source Agreement and Employment Plan Forms



185 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 186LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

First Source Agreement and Employment Plan Forms First Source Agreement and Employment Plan Forms



187 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 188LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

First Source Agreement and Employment Plan Forms First Source Agreement and Employment Plan Forms



189 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 190LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

First Source Agreement and Employment Plan Forms First Source Agreement and Employment Plan Forms



191 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 192LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

First Source Agreement and Employment Plan Forms First Source Agreement and Employment Plan Forms



193 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 194LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

First Source Agreement and Employment Plan Forms First Source Agreement and Employment Plan Forms



195 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 196LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

First Source Agreement and Employment Plan Forms First Source Agreement and Employment Plan Forms



197 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 198LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

First Source Agreement and Employment Plan Forms First Source Agreement and Employment Plan Forms



199 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 200LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

First Source Agreement and Employment Plan Forms First Source Agreement and Employment Plan Forms



201 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 202LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

First Source Agreement and Employment Plan Forms First Source Agreement and Employment Plan Forms



203 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 204LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Cost Price Disclosure 
Form

Cost Price Disclosure Form



205 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 206LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Proposal Bond Form

Proposal Bond Form



207 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 208LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Proposal Bond Form Proposal Bond Form



209 LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029 210LAMOND RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE  |  DESIGN BUILD SERVICES  |  GF-2023-R-0029

SmootDC + Quinn EvansSmootDC + Quinn Evans

Proposal Bond Form Proposal Bond Form





 
Office of the Chief Operating Officer 

  

4200 Connecticut Avenue NW | Washington, DC 20008 | Phone: 202.274.6409 | www.udc.edu 

MEMORANDUM  

 

TO:  Board of Trustees - Operations Committee 

 

FROM: David A. Franklin, Chief Operating Officer 

 

DATE:  February 6, 2024 

 

SUBJECT: Contract GF-2023-C-0029, Design Build Services – Lamond-Riggs Community 

College Modernization Project 
 

 

The following is a synopsis of the project to renovate and modernize the Lamond Riggs 

Community College Campus. 

 

The project will renovate the existing building at the Lamond-Riggs campus.  With the transfer 

of the Community College headquarters from 801 N. Capitol St. NE, the University is in the 

process of expanding services and footprint at the Lamond-Riggs Campus. The intended 

programming needs for the building stem from the recently developed campus master plan 

and will include 119,029 square feet of programming space to accommodate shared 

classrooms & labs, office spaces for faculty and staff, student support and collaboration areas, 

multipurpose rooms, fitness rooms, a library, and cafeteria/eatery. The renovations will 

incorporate upgrades of the infrastructure including the HVAC systems, window 

replacements, LED lighting, and state-of-the-art AV/IT technology.  The spaces will be 

constructed to promote a culture of collaboration and interdisciplinary learning, and the 

renewed facilities will celebrate learning and strengthen ties within and beyond the UDC 

community. 

 

The project will be completed in phases to allow for continued operation of the Community 

College during the renovations.  The building is made up of three wings – A, B, & C as shown 

in Exhibit 1 – and construction will be done in a way that can take advantage of the distinct 

separation of the areas. The renovations will also include exterior improvements such as 

additional green infrastructure for stormwater retention. 

 

The Design Build Agreement is a cost-plus fixed fee with a GMP (Guaranteed Maximum 

Price) type contract. The design/builder fee, including pre-construction activities and an 

allowance to expedite the start of construction, is the initial contract amount that is currently 

being approved. The GMP will be developed later in the design phase of the project based on 

the 50% Construction Documents, and the contract will be increased to the agreed upon GMP 

amount. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



4200 Connecticut Avenue NW | Washington, DC 20008 | Phone: 202.274.5050 | www.udc.edu 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Exhibit 1 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 

 

Fiscal Impact Statement 
  

4200 Connecticut Avenue NW | Washington, DC 20008 

 

TO:  The Board of Trustees 

FROM: Managing Director of Finance   

DATE: February 6, 2024 

SUBJECT: Contract GF-2023-C-0029, Design Build Services – Lamond-Riggs Community 

College Modernization Project 
 

Conclusion 

It has been concluded that the University has sufficient funding in the FY2024 capital 

construction budget to fund the $5,060,681.00 costs for the design and pre-construction phase 

of the project at the Lamond-Riggs Community College Campus. 

 

Background 

The University Systems mission of providing educational programs that encourage, promote, 

and increase student enrollment and student retention will be enhanced by this completed 

project. With the transfer of the Community College Headquarters from 801 N. Capitol St. 

NE, the University is in the process of expanding the footprint at the Lamond-Riggs campus. 

In support of the University’s priorities to invest in student success, create capacity for growth, 

and to best leverage capital improvement plan (CIP) funding, the University is engaging in a 

holistic programming effort to optimize student success and strengthen UDC’s reputation by 

increasing access to high-quality spaces through increasing efficiency, promoting shared 

spaces, designing for adaptability, and creating more hi-flex/hybrid spaces. The intended 

programming needs for the building stem from the recently developed campus master plan 

and will include 119,029 square feet of programming space to accommodate shared 

classrooms & labs, office spaces for faculty and staff, student support and collaboration areas, 

multipurpose rooms, fitness rooms, a library, and cafeteria/eatery. The renovations will 

include upgrades of the infrastructure including the HVAC systems, window replacements, 

LED lighting, and state-of-the-art AV/IT technology.  The spaces will be constructed to 

promote a culture of collaboration and interdisciplinary learning, and the renewed facilities 

will celebrate learning and strengthen ties within and beyond the UDC community. The 

improvements will have a tremendous impact on the continued growth of the Community 

College, which is vital to the educational advancement of many of the District’s most 

vulnerable residents. 

 

Risk Assessment 

Based on the information provided there are no known risks to the University at this time.  

 

Financial Impact 

Based on the information provided, there are no anticipated negative financial impacts.   


	Resolution - DB Lamond Riggs 2024-01-26
	SUBJECT: APPROVAL OF PROPOSED CONTRACT NO. GF-2023-C-0029 FOR PHASE I OF THE DESIGN-BUILD SERVICES FOR THE LAMOND-RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE MODERNIZATION PROJECT BY AND BETWEEN SMOOT CONSTRUCTION COMPANY OF WASHINGTON, D.C. AND THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF ...

	Contract - Design Build -Lamond-Riggs 1-4 2024-01-26
	Board Package - Smoot Construction - Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization Project
	Resolution - DB Lamond Riggs 2024-01-22
	SUBJECT: APPROVAL OF PROPOSED CONTRACT NO. GF-2023-C-0029 FOR PHASE I OF THE DESIGN-BUILD SERVICES FOR THE LAMOND-RIGGS COMMUNITY COLLEGE MODERNIZATION PROJECT BY AND BETWEEN SMOOT CONSTRUCTION, CO. AND THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE UNIVERSITY OF THE D...

	Contract-GF-2023-R-0029-Design Build -Lamond-Riggs 01232024 r
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page

	Memo - Design Build Services – Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization Project
	FIS - Design Build Services – Lamond-Riggs Community College Modernization Project




